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PART ONE 

The Bud and the beginning 





CHAPTER ONE 

Death Before Prayers 

At 4:30 P.M., Abha brought in the last meal he was ever to eat; it con¬ 

sisted of goat's milk, cooked and raw vegetables, oranges, and a concoc¬ 

tion of ginger, sour lemons, and strained butter with juice of aloe. 

Sitting on the floor of his room in the rear of Birla House in New Delhi, 
Gandhi ate, and talked with Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel, Deputy Prime 

Minister of the new government of independent India. Maniben, Patels 

daughter and secretary, was also present. The conversation was impor¬ 
tant. There had been rumors of difiFerences between Patel and Prime 

Minister Jawaharlal Nehru. This problem, like so many others, had 

been dropped into the Mahatma's lap. 
Abha, alone with Gandhi and the Patels, hesitated to interrupt. But 

she knew Gandhi's attachment to punctuality. Finally, therefore, she 

picked up the Mahatma's nickel-plated watch and showed it to him. 
‘‘I must tear myself away," Gandhi remarked, and so saying he rose, 

went to the adjoining bathroom, and then started toward the prayer 
ground in the large park to the left of the house. Abha, the young wife 

of Kanu Gandhi, grandson of the Mahatma's cousin, and Manu, the 

granddaughter of another cousin, accompanied him; he leaned his fore¬ 

arms on their shoulders. '‘My walking sticks," he called them. 

During the daily two-minute promenade through the long, red- 

sandstone colonnade that led to the prayer ground, Gandhi relaxed and 
joked. Now, he mentioned the carrot juice Abha had given him that 
morning. 

"So you are serving me cattle fare," he said and laughed. 

"Ba used to call it horse fare," Abha replied. Ba was Gandhi's deceased 
wife. 

"Isn't it grand of me," Gandhi bantered, "to relish what no one else 

wants?" 

"Bapu (father)," said Abha, "your watch must be feeling very neg¬ 

lected. You would not look at it t^ay." 

3 
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■ “Why should I, since you are my timekeepers?" Gandhi retorted. 
“But you don’t look at the timekeepers," Manu noted. Gandhi laughed 

again. 
By this time he was. walking on the grass near the prayer ground. A 

congr^don of about five hundred had assembled for the regular eve¬ 
ning devotions. “I am late by ten minutes," Gandhi mused aloud. “I 
hate being late. I should be here at the stroke of five." 

He quickly cleared the five low steps up to the level of the prayer 
^und. It was only a few yards now to the wooden platform on which 
he sat during services. Most of the people rose; many edged forward; 
some helped to clear a lane for him; those who were neared bowed low 
to his feet. Gandhi removed his arms from the shoulders of Abha and 
Manu and touched his palms together in the tradidonal Hindu greeting. 

Just then, a man elbowed his way out of the congregation into the 
lane. He looked as if he wished to jvostrate himself in the customary 
obeisance of the devout. But since they were late, Manu tried to stop 
him and caught hold of his hand. He pushed her away so that she fell 
and, planting himself about two feet in front of Gandhi, fired three 
shots from a small automatic pistol. 

As the first bullet struck, Gandhi’s foot, which was in motion, de¬ 
scended to the ground, but he remained standing. The second bullet 
struck; blood began to stain Gandhi’s white clothes. His face turned 

I ashra pale. His hands, which had been in the touch-palm position, de¬ 
scended slowly, and one arm remained momentarily on Abha’s neck. 

Gandhi murmured, “Hey, Rama (Oh, God).” A third shot rang out. 
The limp body settled to the ground. His spectacles dropped to the earth. 
The leather sandals slipped from his feet. 

Abha and Manu lifted Gandhi’s head, and tender hands raised him 
from the ground and carried him into his room in Birla House. The 
eyes were half closed and he seemed to show signs of hfe. Sardar Patel, 
who had just left the Mahatma, was back at Gandhi’s side; he felt the 
pulse and thought he detected a faint beat. Someone searched frantically 
in a medicine chest fc» adrenalin but found none. 

An alert spectator fetched Dr. D. P. Bhargava. He arrived ten minutes 
ate the shooting. “Nothing on earth could have saved him,” Dr. Bhar¬ 
gava reports. "He had been dead hr ten minutes.” 

The first bullet entered Gandhi’s abdomen three and a half inches to 
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the right of a line down the middle of the body and two and a haU 
inches above the navel, and came out through the bacL The second 
penetrated the seventh intercostal space one inch to the ri^t of the 
middle line and likewise came out at the back. The third shot hit one 
inch above the right nipple and four inches to the right of the middle 
line and embedded itself in the lung. 

One bullet. Dr. Bhargava says, probably passed through the heart, 
and another might have cut a big blood vessel. "The intestines,” he adds, 
"were also injured, as next day 1 found the abdomen distended.” 

The young men and women who had been Gandhi’s constant attend¬ 
ants sat near the body and sobbed. Dr. Jivraj Mehta arrived and con¬ 
firmed the death. Presently a murmur went through the group: "Jawa- 
harlal.” Nehru had rushed from his office. He knelt beside Gandhi, 
buried his face in the bloody clothes, and cried. Then came Devadas, 
Gandhi’s youngest son, and Maulana Abul Kalam Azad, Minister of 
Education, followed by many prominent Indians. 

Devadas touched his father's skin and gently pressed his arm. The 
body was still warm. The head still lay in Abha’s lap. Gandhi's face 
wore a peaceful smile. He seemed asleep. “We kept vigil the whole 
of that night,” Devadas wrote later. “So serene was the face and so mellow 
the halo of divine light that surrounded the body that it seemed almost 
sacrilegious to grieve. . . .” 

Diplomats paid formal visits; some wept. 
Outside, a vast multitude gathered and asked for one last view of die 

Mahatma. The body was accordingly placed in an inclined position on 
the roof of Birla House and a searchlight played upon it Thousands 
passed in silence, wrung their hands, and wept 

Near midnight the body was lowered into the house. All night 
mourners sat in the room and, between sobs, recited from the Bhagavad 
Gita and other holy Hindu scriptures. 

With the dawn arrived “the most unbearably poignant moment for 
all of us,” Devadas says. They had to remove the large woolen shawl 
and the cotton shoulder wrap which the Mahatma was wearing for 
warmth when he was shot. These pure white clothes showed clots and 
blotches of blood. As they unfolded the shawl the shell a cartridge 
dropped out 

Gwdhi now lay before them dressed only in the white loincloth as 
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they and the world had always known him. Most of those present broke 
down and cried without control. The sight inspired the suggestion that 
the body be embalmed for at least a few days so that friends, co-workers, 
and relatives who lived at a distance from New Delhi might see it before 
it was cremated. But Devadas, Pyarelal Nayyar, Gandhi’s chief secre¬ 
tary, and others objected. It was against Hindu sentiment, and “Bapu 
would never forgive us.” Also, they wished to discourage any move to 
preserve the Mahatma’s earthly remains. It was decided to burn the 
body the next day. 

In the early hours of the morning disciples washed the body according 
to ancient Hindu rites and placed a garland of handspun cotton strands 
and a chain of beads around its neck. Roses and rose petals were strewn 
over the blanket that covered all but the head, arms, and chest. T asked 
for the chest to be left bare,” Devadas explains. “No soldier ever had a 
finer chest than Bapu’s.” A pot of incense burned near the body. 

During the morning the body was again placed on the roof for pubhc 
view. 

Ramdas, third son of Gandhi, arrived by air from Nagpur, in the 
Central Provinces of India, at 11 a.m. The funeral had waited for him. 
The body was brought down into the house and then carried out to the 
terrace. A wreath of cotton yam encircled Gandhi’s head; the face 
looked peaceful yet profoundly sad. The saffron-white-green Bag of in¬ 
dependent India was draped over the bier. 

During the night the chassis of a Dodge fifteen-hundredweight army 
weapon-carrier had been replaced by a new superstructure with a raised 
floor so that all spectators could see the body in the open coffin. Two 
hundred men of the Indian Army, Navy, and Air Force drew the vehicle 
by fomr stout ropes. The motor was not used. Non-commissioned officer 
Naik Ram Ghand sat at the steering wheel. Nehru, Patel, several other 
leaders, and several of Gandhi’s young associates rode on the carrier. 

'The corte^, two miles long, left Birla House on Albuquerque Road 
in New Delhi at 11:45 a.m., and, moving forward inch by inch through 
derrse masses of humanity, reached the Jumna River, five and a half 
miles away, at 4:20 p.m. A million and a half marched and a further 
million watched. Branches of New'Delhi’s splendid shade trees bent 
under the weight of persons who had climbed upon them to get a better 
view. The base of the big white monument of King George V, which 
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stands in the middle of a broad pond, was covered with hundreds of 
Indians who had waded through the water. 

Now and then the voices of Hindus, Moslems, Sikhs, Parsis, an^ 
Anglo-Indians mingled in loud shouts of "Mahatma Gandhi hi jof^CLong 
live Mahatma Gandhi).” At intervals the multitude broke into sacred 
chants. Three Dakota aircraft flew over the procession, dipped in salute, 
and showered countless rose petals. 

Four thousand soldiers, a thousand airmen, a thousand policemen, 
and a hundred sailors, in varied and varicolored uniforms and head¬ 
dress, marched before and after the bier. Prominent among them were 
mounted lancers bearing aloft red and white pennants—the bodyguard 
of Governor-General Lord Mountbatten. Armored cars, police, and sol¬ 
diers were present to maintain order. In charge of the death parade was 
Major General Roy Bucher, an Englishman chosen by the Indian gov¬ 
ernment to be the first commander-in-chief of its army. 

By the holy waters of the Jumna, close to a million people had stood 
and sat from early morning waiting for the cortege to arrive at the 
cremation grounds. The predominant color was white, the white of 
women’s saris and men’s garments, caps, and turbans. 

Several hundred feet from the river, at Rajghat, stood a fresh funeral 
pyre made of stone, brick, and earth; it was about two feet high and 
eight feet square. Long thin sandalwood logs sprinkled with incense had 
been stacked on it. Gandhi’s body was laid on the pyre with the head 
to the north and the feet to the south. In this position Buddha had met 
his end. 

At 4:45 P.M., Ramdas set fire to his father’s funeral pyre. The logs 
burst into flame. A groan went up from the vast assemblage Women 
wailed. With elemental force the crowd surged toward the fire and 
broke through the military cordon. But in a moment the people seemed 
to realize what they were doing and dug in their bare toes and pre¬ 
vented an accident. 

The logs crackled and seethed and the flames united in a single fire. 
Now there was silence.... Gandhi’s body was being reduced to cinders 
and ashes. 

The pyre burned for fourteen hours. All the while prayers were sung; 
the entire text of the Gita was read. Twenty-seven hours later, when 
the last embers had grown cold, priests, officials, friends, and relatives 
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hdid a special service in the guarded nvire enclosure around the pyre 
and collected the ashes and the splinters of bone that had defeated the 
^re. The ashes were tenderly scooped into a homespun cotton hag. A 
bullet was found in the ashes. The bones were sprinkled with water 
&om the Jumna and deposited in a copper um. Ramdas placed a gar¬ 
land fragrant flowers around the neck of the um, set it in a wicker 
basket filled with rose petals, and, pressing it to his breast, carried it 
back to Birla House. 

Several personal friends of Gandhi asked for and received pinches of 
his ashes. One encased a few grains of ash in a gold signet ring. Family 
and followers decided against gratifying the requests for ashes which 
came ficom all the six continents. Some Gandhi ashes were sent to 
Burma, Tibet, Ceylon, and Malaya. But most of the remains were im¬ 
mersed in the rivers of India exactly fourteen days after death—as pre¬ 
scribed by Hindu ritual. 

Ashes were given to provincial prime minsters or other dignitaries. 
The jvovindal capitals shared their portions with lesser urban centers. 
Everywhere the public display of the ashes drew huge pilgrimages, and 
so did the final ceremonies of immersion in the rivers or, as at Bombay, 
in die sea. 

The chief immersion ceremony took place at Allahabad, in the United 
{Provinces, at the confluence of the sacred Ganges, the Jumna, and the 
Saraswad. A special train of five third-class carriages left New Delhi 
at 4 A.M. on Febmary nth; Gandhi had always traveled third. The 
compartment in the middle of the train containing the um of ashes and 
bones was piled almost to the ceiling with flowers and guarded by Abha, 
Manu, Pyarelal Nayyar, Dr. Sushila Najryar, Prabhavad Narayan, and 
others who had been Gandhi’s daily companions. The train stopped at 
eleven towns en route; at each, hundreds of thousands bowed reverently, 
prayed, and laid garlands and wreaths on the carriages. 

In Allahabad, on the 12th, the um was placed under a miniature 
wooden palanquin and, moimted on a motor tmck, it worked its way 
through a throng of a million and a half people Rom the city and the 
surrounding countryside. Wtnnen and men in white preceded the tmck 
sing^g h3mms. One musician played on an ancient instmment. The 
vehicle looked like a portable rose garden; Mrs. Naidu, Governor of 
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the United Provinces, Azad, Ramdas, and Patel were amcnig those who 
rode on it. Nehru, fists clenched, chin touching his chest, walked. 

Slowly the truck moved to the river bank where the urn was trans- 
fened to an American military "duck” painted white. Other "ducks” 
and craft accompanied it downstream. Tens of thousands waded far 
into the water to be nearer Gandhi’s ashes. Cannon on Allahabad Fwt 
fired a salute as the um was turned over and its contents fell into the 
river. The ashes spread. The little bones flowed quickly toward the sea. 

Gandhi’s assassination caused dismay and pain throughout India. It 
was as though the three bullets that entered his body had pierced the 
flesh of tens of millions. The nation was baifled, stunned, and hurt by 
the sudden news that this man of peace, who loved his enemies and 
would not have killed an insect, had been shot dead by his own country¬ 
man and co-religionist. 

Never in modem history has any man been mourned more deeply 

and more widely. 
'The news was conveyed to the country by Prime Minister Nehru. 

He was shaken, shocked, and cramped with sorrow. Yet he went to the 
radio station shortly after the bullets struck, and, speaking extempo¬ 
raneously, driving back tears and choking with emotion, he said, 

'The light has gone out our lives and there is darkness everywhere 
and I do not quite know what to tell you and how to say it. Our beloved 
leader, Bapu as we call him, the father of our nation, is no more. Per¬ 
haps I am wrong to say that. Nevertheless, we vrill not see him again 
as we have seen him these many years. We will not mn to him for 
advice and seek solace from him, and that is a terrible blow not to me 
only but to millions and millions in this country. And it is difficult to 
soften the blow by any advice that I or anyone else can give you. 

The light has gone out, I said, and yet I was wrong. For the light 
that shone in this country was no ordinary light. The light that has 
illumined this country for these many years will illumine this country 
for many more years, and a thousand years later that light will still be 
seen in this country, and the world will see it and it will give solace to 
inmunerable hearts. For that light represented the living truth, and die 
eternal man was with us with his eternal truth reminding us of the 
right path, drawing us from error, taking this ancient country to fireedmn. 
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All this has happened. There is so much more to do. There was so 
much mcoe for him to do. We could never think that he was unneces¬ 
sary cnr that he had done his task. But now, particularly, when we are 
faced with so many difficulties, his not being with us is a blow most 
terrible to bear. 

A mad man has put an end to his life.... 

On January 30, 1948, the Friday he died, Mahatma Gandhi was what 
he had always been: a private citizen without wealth, property, official 
tide, official post, academic disdncdon, sciendfic achievement, or ardsdc 

Yet men with governments and armies behind them paid homage 
to the litde brown man of seventy-eight in a loincloth. The Indian author- 
ides received 3,441 messages of S3m)pathy, all unsolicited, from fmeign 
countries. For Gandhi was a moral man, and a civilizadon not richly 
endowed with morality felt sdll further impoverished when the assassin’s 
bullets ended his life. “Mahatma Gandhi was the spokesman for the 
conscience of all mankind,” said General George C. Marshall, United 
States Secretary of State. 

Pope Pius, the Dalai Lama of Tibet, the Archbishop of Canterbury, 
the Chief Rabbi of London, the King of England, President Truman, 
Chiang Kai-shek, the President of France, indeed the polidcal heads of 
all impcHtant countries (except Soviet Russia) and most minor ones 
publicly expressed their grief at Gandhi’s passing. 

Lton Blum, the French Socialist, put on paper what millions felt, “I 
never saw Gandhi,” Blum wrote. ‘1 do not know his language. I never 
set foot in his country and yet I feel the same sorrow as if 1 had lost 
someone near and dear. The whole world has been plunged into 
mourning by the death of this extraordinary man.” 

"Gandhi had demonstrated,” Professor Albert Einstein asserted, “that 
a powerful human following can be assembled not only through the 
cunning game of the usual polidcal maneuvers and trickeries but 
through the cogent example of a morally superior conduct of life. In 
our dme of utter moral decadence he was the only statesman to stand 
for a hig^ human reladonship in the polidcal sphere.” 

The Security Council of the United Nadons paused for its members 
to pay tribute to the dead man. Philip Noel-Baker, the Bridsh repre¬ 
sentative, praised Gandhi as “the friend of the poorest and the loneliest 
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and the lost.” Gandhi’s "greatest achievements,” he predicted, "are sdll 
to come.” Other members of the Security Council extolled Gandhi’s 
spiritual qualities and lauded his devotion to peace and non-violence. 
Mr. Andrei Gromyko, of the Soviet Union, called Gandhi “one of the 
outstanding poh'tical leaders of India” whose name "will always be 
linked with the struggle of the Indian people for their national libera¬ 
tion which has lasted over such a long period.” Soviet Ukraine delegate 
Tarasenko also stressed Gandhi’s politics. 

The U.N. lowered its flag to half-mast 
Humanity lowered its flag. 
The worldwide response to Gandhi’s death was in itself an important 

fact; it revealed a widespread mood and need. “There is still some hope 
for the world which reacted as reverently as it did to the death of 
Gandhi,” Albert Deutsch declared in the New York newspaper PM. 
“The shock and sorrow that followed the New Delhi tragedy shows we 
still respect sainthood even when we cannot fully understand it.” 

Gandhi "made humility and simple truth more powerful than em¬ 
pires,” U. S. Senator Arthur H. Vandenberg said. Pearl S. Buck, novel¬ 
ist, described Gandhi’s assassination as "another crucifixion.” Justice 
Felix Frankfurter called it “a cruel blow against the forces of good in 
the world.” 

General Douglas MacArthur, supreme Allied military commander in 
Japan, said: "In the evolution of civilization, if it is to survive, all men 
cannot fail eventually to adopt Gandhi’s belief that the process of mass 
application of force to resolve contentious issues is fundamentally not 
only wrong but contains within itself the germs of self-destruction.” 
Lord (Admiral) Mountbatten, last British Viceroy in India, expressed 
the hope that Gandhi’s life might “inspire our troubled world to save 
itself by following his noble example.” The spectacle of the general and 
the admiral pinning their faith on the little ascetic would certainly seem 
to justify the verdict of Sir Hartley Shawcross, British Attraney General, 
that Gandhi was "the most remarkable man of the century.” 

To the statesmen and politicians who eulogized him Gandhi was at 
least a reminder of their own inadequacies. 

A California gjrl of thirteen wrote in a letter: "I was really teiribly 
sad to hear about Gandhi’s death. I never knew I was that interested in 
him but I found myself quite imhappy about the great man’s death." 
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In New Y(»rk, a twelve-year-old girl had gone into the kitchen (or 
Ixeakfast The radio was on and it Irought the news o( the shooting o( 
Gandhi. Right there, the litde girl, the maid, and the gardens held a 
prayer meeting, and prayed and wept. Just so, millions in all coiuitries 
mourned Gandhi’s death as a personal loss. They did not quite know 
why; they did not quite know what he stood (or. But he was “a good 
man” and good men are rare. 

T know no other man of any time or indeed in recent history,” wrote 
Sir Stafford Cripps, "who so forcefully and convincingly demcmstrated 
the power of spirit over material things.” This is what the people sensed 
when they mourned. All around them, material things had power over 
sjurit The sudden flash of his death revealed a vast darkness. No one 
who survived him had tried so hard—and with so much success—to live 
a life of truth, kindness, self-effacement, humility, service, and non¬ 
violence throughout a long, dif&cult struggle against mighty adversaries. 
He fought passionately and unremittingly against British rule of his 
country and against the evil in his own countrymen. But he kept his 
hmids clean in the midst of battle. He fought without malice or (alse- 
luod or hate. 

CHAPTER TWO 

The Beginnings of an Extraordinary Man 

Gandhi belonged to the Vaisya caste. In the old Hindu social scale, the. 
Vaisyas stood third, far below the Brahmans who were the number one 
caste, and the Kshatriyas, or rulers and soldiers, who ranked second. 
The Vaisyas, in fact, were only a notch above the Sudras, the working 
class. Originally, they devoted themselves to trade and agriculture. 

The Gandhis belonged to the Modh Bania subdivision of their caste. 
Bania is a synonym in India for a sharp, shrewd businessman. Far back, 
die Gandhi family were retail grocers; "Gandhi” means grocer. But the 
profosiimal baniets between castes began to crumble generations ago, 
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and Gandhi’s grandfather Uttamchand served as prime minister to the 

princeling of Porbandar, a tiny state in the Kathiawar peninsula, western 

India, about halfway between the mouth of the Indus and the city of 

Bombay. Uttamchand handed the office down to his son Karamchand 

who passed it to his brother Tulsidas. The job had almost become the 

family’s private property. 

Karamchand was the father of Mohandas Karamchand Gandhi, the 

Mahatma. 
The Gandhis apparently got into trouble often. Political intrigues 

forced grandfather Uttamchand out of the prime ministership of Porban¬ 

dar and into exile in the nearby little state of Junagadh. There he once 

saluted the ruling Nawab with his left hand. Asked for an explanation, 

he said, “The right hand is already pledged to Porbandar.” Mohandas 

was proud of such loyalty; “My gjrandfather,” he wrote, “must have 

been a man of principle.” 

Gandhi’s father likewise quit his position as prime minister to Rana 

Saheb Vikmatji, the ruler of Porbandar, and took the same office in 

Rajkot, another miniature Kathiawar principality 120 miles to the north¬ 

west. Once, the British Political Agent spoke disparagingly of Thakor 

Saheb Bawajiraj, Rajkot’s native ruler. Karamchand sprang to the de¬ 

fense of his chief. The Agent ordered Karamchand to apologize. Karam¬ 

chand refused and was forthwith arrested. But Gandhi’s father stood his 

ground and was released after several hours. Subsequently he became 

prime minister of Wankaner. 

In the 1872 census, Porbandar state had a population of 72,077, 

Rajkot 36,770, and Wankaner 28,750. 'Their rulers behaved like petty 

autocrats to their subjects and quaking sycophants before the British. 

Karamchand Gandhi “had no education save that of experience,” his 

son, Mohandas, wrote; he was likewise “innocent” of history and geog¬ 

raphy; "but he was incorruptible and had earned a reputation fw strict 

impartiality in his family as well as outside.” He “was a lover of his 

clan, truthful, brave and generous, but short-tempered. To a certain 

extent he might have been even given to carnal pleasures. For he 

married for the fourth time when he was over forty.” The other three 

wives had died. 

Mohandas Karamchand Gandhi was the fourth and last rbild of 

his father’s fourth and last marriage. He was bom at Porbandar on 
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October 2, 1869. That year the Suez Canal was opened, Thomas A. 
Edison patented his first invention, France celebrated the hundredth 
anniversary of the birth of Napoleon Bonaparte, and Charles W. Eliot 
became ptesident of Harvard University. K^l Marx had just published 
Capital, Bismarck was about to launch the Franco-Prussian War, and 
Victcvia ruled over England and India. 

Mohandas was bom in the dark, right-hand corner of a room, 11 feet 
by i9Vi feet and 10 feet high, in a three-story humble house on the 
bwder town. The house is still standing. 

The little town of Porbandar, or Porbunder, rises strai^t out of the 
Arabian Sea and “becomes a vision of glory at sunrise and sunset when 
the slanting rays beat upon it, turning its turrets and pinnacles into 
gold,” wrote Charles Freer Andrews, a British disciple of the Mahatma. 
It and Rajkot and Wankaner were quite remote, at the time of Gandhi's 
youth, from the Eiuopean and Western influences which had invaded 
less isolated parts of India. Its landmarks were its temples. 

Gandhi’s hon^ life was cultured and the family, by Indian standards, 
was well-to-do. /iTiere were books in the house; they dealt chiefly with 
religion and mythology, ^ohandas played tunes on a concertina pur¬ 
chased especially for .Mm. Karamchand wore a gold necklace and a 
Mother of Mohandas had a heavy, solid gold armlet. Karamchand once 
owned a house in Porbandar, a second in Rajkot, and a third in Kutiana. 
But in his last three years of illness he lived modestly on a pension from 
the Rajkot prince. He left little property. 

Gandhi’s elder brother Laxmidas practiced law in Rajkot and later 
became a treasury official in the Porbandar government. He spent 
money freely and married his daughters with a pomp worthy of petty 
Indian royalty. He owned two houses in Rajkot. Karsandas, the other 
Mother, serv^ as sub-inspector of police in Porbandar and ultimately 
of die princeling’s harem. His income was small. 

Both brothers died while Mohandas K. Gandhi was still alive. A 
sbter, Raliatbehn, four years his senior, survived him. She remained 
resident in Rajkot. 

Mohania, as the family affectionately called Mohandas, received the 
special treatment often accorded a youngest child. A nurse named 
Rambha vm hired for him and he formed an attachment to her which 
continued into mature life. His warmest affection went to his mother 
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Putlibai. He sometimes (eared his father, but he loved his mother and 
always remembered her "saintlin^” and he^"deeply religous" nature,^ 
She never a^' m^T without prayer, and atten<^ ti^pe services daily.* 

^ Long fasts did not dismay her, and arduous vows, voluntarily made, 
' were s^dfastly performed. In the annual Chaturmas, a kind of Lent 
lasting through the four-month rainy season, she habitually lived on 
a single meal a day, and, one year, she observed, in addition, a complete 
fast on alternate days. Another Chaturmas, she vowed not to eat unless 
the sun appeared. Mohandas and his sister and brothers would watch 
for the sun, and when it showed through the clouds they would rush 
into the house and announce to Putlibai that now she could eat But 
her vow required her to see the sun herself and so she would go out* 
doors and by then the sun was hidden again. "That does not matter,” 
she would cheerfully comfort her children. "God does not want me to 
eat today.” 

As a boy, Mohandas amused himself with rubber balloons and 
revolving tops. He played tennis and cricket and also "gilli danda,” a 
game, encountered in so many widely separated coimtries, which con* 
sists in striking a short, sharpened wooden peg with a long stick: 
"peggy” or "pussy” some call it. 

Gandhi started school in Porbandar. He encountered more difficulty 
mastering the multiplication table than in learning naughty names for 
the teacher. "My intellect must have been sluggish, and my memory 
raw,” the adult Mahatma charges against the child of six. In Rajkot, 
whither the family moved a year later, he was again a "mediocre stu* 
dent,” but punctual. His sister recalls that rather than be late he would 
eat the food of the previous day if breakfast was not ready. He preferred 
walking to going to school by carriage. He was timid: "my books and 
lessons were my sole companions.” At the end of the school day, he ran 
home. He could not bear to talk to anybody; "I was even afraid lest 
anyone should poke fun at me.” When he grew older, however, he 
found some congenial mates and played in the streets. He also played 
by the sea. 

In his first year at the Alfred High School in Rajkot, when Mohandas 
was twelve, a British educational inspector named Mr. Giles came to 
examine the pupils. They were asked to spell five English words. 
Gandhi misspell^ ‘Icettle.” Walking up and down the aisles, the regu- 
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lar teadia saw the mistake and motioned Mohandas to copy £com his 
neigjhh(»’s slate. Mohandas refused. Later the teacher chi^ him for 
this “stupidity" which spoiled the record of the class; everybody elfo 

, had written the words correctly. 
The incident, however, did not diminish Gandhi’s respect for his 

teacher. ‘1 was by natiue blind to the faults of elders.... I had learned 
to carry out the orders of elders, not to scan their actions.” But obedf- 
ence did not include ch^dng with .teacher’s permission. 

} Perhaps the refusal to cheat was a form of self-assertion or rebelBon. 
In any case, compliance at school did not preclude revolt outside it. 
At die age of twelve, Gandhi began to smoke. And he stole from elders 
in the house to finance the trans^ession. His partner in the adventure 
was a young relative. Sometimes both were penniless; then they made 
d^rettes from the porous stalks of a wild plant. This interest in botany 
led to the discovery that the seeds of a jungle weed named dhatura 

poisonous. Off they went to the jungle on the successful quest. 
Tired of life under parental supervision, they joined in a suidde pact. 
'Th^ would die, aj^sopriately, in the temple of God. 

Having made thdr obeisances, Mohandas and pal sought out a lonely 
oxnec for the final act. But maybe death would be long in coming, and 
meanwhile they might suffer pain. Maybe it was better to live in 
slavery. To salvage a vestige of self-respect they each swallowed two oc 
three seeds. 

Presently, serious matters claimed the juvenile’s attention. 
Mohan^ K. Gandhi married when he was a high school sophomore 

—age thirteen. He had been engaged three times, of course vnthout his 
knowled^. Betrothals were compacts between parents, and the children 
rarely learned about them. Gandhi happened to hear that two girls 
to whom he had been engaged—probably as a toddler—had died. T have 
a faint recollection,” he reports, “that the third betrothal took place in 
my seventh year,” but he was not informed. He was told six years later, 
a shmt time before the wedding. The bride was Kasturbai, the daughter 
of a Porbairdar merchant named Gokuldas Nakanji. The marriage lasted 
sixty-two years. 

Writing about the wedding more than forty years later, Gandhi re¬ 
membered,tdl die details of the ceremony, as well as the trip to Por- 
bandar wliore it took place. "And oh! that first night,” he added. "Two 



The Beginnings of an ExtraorMnary Mm 17 

innocent children all unwittingly hurled themselves into the ocean of 
life.” Kastuihai, too, was thirteen. "My brother’s wife had thoroug^y 
coached me about my behavior on the first night. 1 do not know who 
had coached my wife.” Both were nervous and “the coaching could 
not carry me far,” Gandhi urrote. "But no coaching is really necessary 
in such matters. The impressions of the former birth are potent enough 
to make all coaching superfluous.” Presumably, they remembered their 
experiences in an earlier incarnation. 

The newlyweds, Gandhi confesses, were “married children” and 
behaved accordingly. He was jealous and "therefore she could not go 
anywhere without my permission” for "I took no time in assuming the 
authority of a husband.” So when the thirteen-year-old wife wanted to 
go out to play she had to ask the thirteen-year-old Mohandas; he would 
often say no. ’The restraint was virtually a sort of imprisonment. And 
Kasturbai was not the girl to brook any such thing. She made it a point 
to go out whenever and wherever she liked.” The little husband got 
"more and more cross”; sometimes they did not speak to each other for 
days. 

He loved Kasturbai. His “passion was entirely centered on one 
woman” and he wanted it reciprocated, but the woman was a child. 
Sitting in the high school classroom he daydreamed about her. "1 used 
to keep her awake dll late at night with my idle talk.” 

"The cruel custom of child marriage,” as Gandhi subsequently casd- 
gated it, would have been impossible but for the ancient Indian insd- 
tudon of the joint family: parents and their children and their sons’ 
wives and children, somedmes thirty or more persons altogether, lived 
under one roof; newly wed adolescents therefore had no worry about 
a home, furniture, or board. Later, Bridsh law, seconding In^an re¬ 
formers, raised the minimum marriage age. In its dme the evil was 
midgated by enforced separadons for as much as six months per year 
when the bride went to live with her parents. The first five years of 
Gandhi’s marriage—from thirteen to eighteen—included only three years 
of common life. 

The "shackles of lust” tormented Gandhi. They gave him a feeling 
of guilt. The feeling grew when sex seemed to clash with the keen 
sense of duty which developed in him at an early age. One instance 
such a conflict impressed itself indelibly. When Mohandas was sixteen 
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his father Kaiamchand became bedridden with a fistula. Gandhi helped 
his modier and an old servant tend the patient; he dressed the wound 
and mixed the medicines and administered them. He also massaged his 
Other’s leg^ every night until the sufferer fell asleep or asked his son 
to go to bed. ‘1 loved to do this service,” Gandhi recalls. 

Kastuibai had become pregnant at fifteen and she was now in an 
advanced stage. Nevertheless, “every night whilst my hands were busy 
massaging my father’s legs,” Gandhi states in his autobiography, “my 
mind was hovering about [my wife’s] bedroom—and that too at a time 
when religion, medical science, and common sense alike forbade sexual 
intercourse.” 

One evening, between ten and eleven, Gandhi’s uncle relieved him 
at massaging Karamchand. Gandhi went quickly to his wife’s bedroom 
and woke her. A few minutes later the servant knocked at the door and 
urgently summoned Gandhi. He jumped out of hed, but when he 
reached the sickroom his father was dead. “If passion had not blinded 
me,”'Gandhi ruminated forty years later, "I should have been spared 
the torture of separation from my father during his last moments. 1 
should have been massaging him, and he would have died in my arms. 
But now it was my uncle who had had this privilege.” 

^' The “i^iame of my carnal desire at the critical moment of my father’s 
death ... is a blot I have never been able to efface or forget,” Gandhi 
wrote when he was near sixty. Moreover, Kasturbai’s baby died three 
days after birth, and Mohandas blamed the death on intercourse late 
in pregnancy. This doubled his sense of guilt. 

Kasturbai was illiterate. Her husband had every intention of teaching 
her, but she disliked studies and he preferred lovemaking. Private tutors 
also got nowhere with her. Yet Gandhi took the blame upon himself 
and felt that if his affection “had been absolutely untainted with lust, 
she would be a learned lady today.” She never learned to read or write 
anything but elementary Gujarati, her native language. 

Gandhi himself lost a year at high school through getting married. 
Modestly he asserts he "was not regarded as a dunce.” Every year he 
brought home a report on study progress and character; it was never 
bad. He even won some prizes but that, he says, was only because there 
^vere few competitors. 

' When Mohandas merited a teacher’s rebuke it pained him and he 
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sometimes cried. Once he was beaten at school. The punishment hurt 
less than being considered worthy of it; "I wept piteously." 

Gandhi neglected penmanship and thought it unimportant. Geometry 
was taught in English, which was then a new language for him, and 
he had difficulty in following. But "when I reached the thirteenth prop¬ 
osition of Euclid the utter simplicity of the subject was suddenly re¬ 
vealed to me. A subject which only required a piue and simple use of 
one’s reasoning powers could not be difficult Ever since that time 
geometry has been both easy and interesting for me." He likewise had 
trouble with Sanskrit, but after the teacher, Mr. Krishnashanker, re¬ 
minded him that it was the language of Hinduism’s sacred scriptures, 
the future Mahatma persevered and succeeded. 

In the upper grades, gymnastics and cricket were compulsory. Gandhi 
disliked both. He was shy, and he thought physical exercises did not 
belong in education. But he had read that long walks in the open air 
were good for the health, and he formed the habit. "These walks gave 
me a fairly hardy constitution.” 

Mohandas envied the bigger, stronger boys. He was frail compared 
to his older brother and especially compared to a Moslem friend named 
Sheik Mehtab who could run great distances with incredible speed. 
Sheik Mehtab was spectacular in the broad and high jumps as well. 
'These exploits dazzled Gandhi. 

Gandhi regarded himself a coward. "I used to be haunted,” he asserts, 
"by the fear of thieves, ghosts, and serpents. I did not dare to sdr out of 
doors at night." He could not sleep without a light in bis room; his wife 
had more courage than he and did not fear serpents or ghosts or dark¬ 
ness. “I felt ashamed of myself.” 

Sheik Mehtab played on this sentiment. He boasted that he could 
hold live snakes in his hand, feared no burglars, and did not believe in 
ghosts. Whence all this prowess and bravery? He ate meat. Gandhi ate 
^o meat; it was forbidden by his religion. 

The boys at school used to recite a poem which went: 

Behold the mighty Englishman, 
He rules the Indian small. 
Because being a meat-eater 
He is five cubits tall. 
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y If eM bidlans ate meat they could ei^pel the British and make India 
fieside^ aigued Sheik Mebtab, boys who ate meat did not get boils; 

Aiesf cf dieir teacbas and some of the most prominent citizens of 
Baj]^ Ste meat secretly, and drank wine, too. 

Day in, day out. Sheik Mehtah propagandized Mohandas, whose 
older brother bad already succumbed. Finally, Mohandas yielded. 

At the appointed hour the tempter and his victim met in a secluded 
spot on the river bank. Sheik Mehtab brought cooked goat's meat and 
bread. Gandhi rarely touched baker’s bread (the substitute was chap-' 
pads, an unleavened dough cushion filled with ait), and he had never 
even seen meat. The family was stricdy vegetarian and so, in fact, were 
almost all the inhabitants of the Gujurat district in Kathiawar. But firm 
in the resolve to make himself an effecdve liberator of his country, 
Gandhi bit into the meat. It was tough as leather. He chewed and 
chewed and then swallowed. He became sick immediately. 

That night he had a nightmare: a live goat was blearing in his 
stomach. However, “meat-earing was a duty,” and, in the midst of the 
terrible dream, therefore, he decided to continue the experiment. 

It amtinued ftnr a whole year. Irregularly throughout that long period 
he met Sheik Mehtab at secret rendezvous to partake of meat dishes, 
libw tastier than the first, and bread. Where Sheik got the money for 
these feasts Gandhi never knew. 

The sin of consuming and liking meat was compounded by the sin of 
lying. In the end he could not stand the dishonesty and, though still 
ctmvinced that meat-earing was “essential” for patriotic reasons, he 
vowed to abjure it until his parents’ death enabled Itim to be a carnivore 
openly. 

By now Gandhi developed an urge to reform Sheik Mehtab. This 
prolonged the relationship. But the naive and younger Gandhi was no 
match for the shrewd, moneyed wastrel who offered revolt and adven¬ 
ture. Sheik also knew how to arrange things. Once he led Gandhi to 
the entrance of a brotbel. The institution had been told and paid in 
advance. Gandhi went in. “1 was almost struck blind and dumb in this 
deh of vice. I sat near the wmnan on her bed, but I was tongue-tied. 
She naturally lost patience with me, and showed me the door, with 

, abuses and insults.” Providence, he explains, interceded and saved him 
jd^pite himself. 
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About that dme—Mohandas must have been fifteen—he pilfered a 
bit of gold from his older brother. This produced a moral crisis. He had 
gnawing pangs of conscience and resolved never to steal again. But he 
needed the cleansing effect of a confession: he would tell his father. 
He made a full, written statement of the crime, asked for due penalty, 
promised never to steal again, and, with emphasis, begged his father not 
to punish himself for his son’s dereliction. 

Karamchand sat up in his sickbed to read the letter. Tears filled his ' 
eyes and fell to his cheeks. Then he tore up the paper and lay down. 
Mohandas sat near him and wept. 

Gandhi never forgot that silent scene. Sincere repentance and con- 
fession induced by love, rather than fear, won him his father’s “subhme 
forgiveness" and affection. 

Lest he give pain to his father, and especially his mother, Mohandas 
did not tell them that he absented himself from temple. He did not 
like the “glitter and pomp” of the Hindu temples. Religion to him 
meant irksome restrictions like vegetarianism which intensified his youth¬ 
ful protest against society and authority. And he had no “living faith 
in God.” Who made the world; who directed it, he asked. Elders could 
not answer, and the sacred books were so unsatisfactory on such mat¬ 
ters that he inclined “somewhat towards atheism.” He even began to 
believe that it was quite moral, indeed a duty, to kill serpents and bugs. 

Gandhi’s anti-religious sentiments quickened his interest in religion, 
and he listened attentively to his father’s frequent discussions with Mos¬ 
lem and Parsi friends on the differences between their faiths and 
Hinduism. He also learned much about the Jain religion. Jain monks 
often visited the house and went out of their way to accept food from 
the non-Jain Gandhis. 

When Karamchand died, 1885, Mohandas’s mother Putlibai took 
advice on family matters from a Jain monk named Becharji Swami, 
originally a Hindu of the Modh Bania subeaste. Jain influence was 
strong in the Gujarat region. And Jainism prohibits the killing of any 
living creature, even insects. Jain priests wear white masks over their 
mouths lest they breathe in, and thus kill, an insect. They are not sup¬ 
posed to walk diit at night lest they unwittingly step on a worm. 

Gandhi was always a great absorber. Jainism, as well as Buddhism, 
perceptibly colored Gandhi’s thoughts and shaped his works. Both 
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'nete attempts to refbnn the Hindu religion, India's dominant faith; 
hoth caiginated in the sixth century b.c. in northeastern India, in what 
is now the province of Bihar. 

The Jain monk, Becharji Swami, helped Gandhi go to England. Aftet 
graduating from high school, Gandhi enrolled in Samaldas College, in 
Bhavnagar, a town on the inland side of the Kathiawar peninsula. But 
he found the studies difficult and the atmosphere distasteful. A friend 
of the family suggested that if Mohandas was to succeed his father as 
prime minister he had better hurry and become a lawyer; the qiu'ckest 
way was to take a three-year course in England. Gandhi was most ^ger 
to go. But he was afraid of law; could he pass the examinations? Might 
it not be preferable to study medicine? He was interested in medicine. 

Mohandas’s brother objected that their father was opposed to the 
dissection of dead bodies and intended Mohandas for the bar. A Brah¬ 
man hriend of the family did not take the same dark view of the medical 
profession; but could a doctor become prime minister? 

Mother Putlibai disliked parting with her last-born. “What will uncle 
say? He is the head of the family, now that father is no more." And 
where will the money come from? 

Mohandas had set his heart on England. He developed energy and 
unwonted coura^. He hired a bullock cart for the five-day journey to 
Poibandar where his uncle lived. To save a day, he left the cart and 
rode on a camel; it was his first camel ride. 

Uncle was not encouraging; European-trained lawyers forsook Indian 
traditions; cigars were never out of their mouths; they ate everything; 
they dressed “as shamelessly as Englishmen.” But he would not stand 
in the way. If Putlibai agreed, he would too. 

So Mohandas was back where he had started. His mother sent him 
to uncle and uncle passed to mother. Meanwhile, Gandhi tried to get 
a scholarship firom the Porbandar government. Mr. Lely, the British 
administrator of the state, rebuffed him curtly vnthout even letting him 
present his case. 

Mohandas returned to Rajkot. Pawn his wife’s jewels? They were 
valued at two to three thousand rupees. Finally, his brother promised 
to supply the funds, but there remained his mother's doubts about 
young men’s morals in England. Here Becharji Swami, the Jain monk, 
came to the rescue. He administered an oath tp Mohandas who then 



"M. K. Gandhi. Attomey-at-Law’’ '23 

solemnly took three vows: not to touch wine, women, or meat. There¬ 
with, Putlibai consented. 

Joyfully, in June, 1888, Gandhi left for Bombay with his brother, who 
carried the money. That did not end his tribulations. People said the 
Arabian ^a was too rough during the summer monsoon season; one 
ship had simk in a gale. Departure was delayed. Meanwhile, the Modh 
Banias of Bombay heard about the projected trip. They convened a 
meeting of the clan and summoned Mohandas to attend. No Modh 
Bania had ever been to England, the elders argued; their religion for¬ 
bade voyages abroad because Hinduism could not be practiced there. 

Gandhi told them he would go nevertheless. At this, the headman 
ostracized Mohandas. “This boy shall be treated as an outcaste from 
today,” the elder declared. 

Undaunted, Gandhi bought a steamer ticket, a necktie, a short jacket, 
and enough food, chiefly sweets and fruit, for the three weeks to South¬ 
ampton. On September 4th, he sailed. He was not yet eighteen. Several 
months earlier, Kasturbai had borne him a male child, and they called 
it Harilal. Now the trip to England gave Gandhi “a long and healthy 
separation” from his wife. 

CHAPTER THREE 

"M. K. Gandhi. Attorney-at-Law” 

Gandhi had himself photographed shortly after he arrived in London 
in 1888. His hair is thick, black, and carefully combed with the part 
slighdy to the right of center. The ear is big. The nose is big and 
pointed. The eyes and lips are the impressive features. The eyes seem 
to mirror puzzlement, fright, yearning they seem to be moving and 
looking for something. The lips are full, sensuous, sensitive, sad, and 
defensive. The face is that of a person who fears coming stru^les with 
himself and the world. Will he conquer his passions, he wonders; can 
he make good? He has either been injured or is afraid of injury. 
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In an out-of-doors group picture of the 1890 Vegetarians' Conference 
at Portsmouth, Gandhi was wearing a white tie, hard white cuffs, and 
a white dress handkerchief in his front pocket. His hair is neatly dressed. 
He used to spend ten minutes combing and brushing it. 

Dr. Sachchidananda Sinha, an Indian then a student in London, 
recalls meeting Gandhi in February, 1890, in Piccadilly Circus; Gandhi, 
he says, ''was wearing at the time a high silk top hat 'burnished bright,' 
a stiflF and starched collar (known as a Gladstonian), a rather flashy tie 
displa)dng all the colors of the rainbow, under which there was a fine 
striped silk shirt. He wore as his outer clothes a morning coat, a double- 
breasted vest, and dark striped trousers to match, and not only patent- 
leather shoes but spats over them. He also carried leather gloves and a 
silver-mounted stick, but wore no spectacles. His clothes were regarded 
as the very acme of fashion for young men about town at that time, 
and were largely in vogue among the Indian youth prosecuting their 
studies in law at one of the four institutions called the Inns of Court." 
There were four Inns of Court: Lincoln s Inn, Grey's Inn, the Middle 
Temple, and the Inner Temple, and the last, where Gandhi had en¬ 
rolled, was, says Dr. Sinha, considered by Indians "the most aristocratic." 

Gandhi says his "punctiliousness in dress persisted for years." His top 
hat, he writes, was expensive, and he spent ten pounds for an evening 
dress suit tailored to order in Bond Street. He asked his brother to send 
him a double watch chain of gold. He abandoned his ready-made cravat 
and learned to tie one himself. Further "aping the English gentleman," 
he invested three pounds in a course of dancing lessons. But "I could 
not follow the piano" or "achieve anything like rhythmic motion." Ada¬ 
mant and logical, he thought he would develop an ear for music by 
mastering the violin. He purchased an instrument and found a teacher. 
But he gave up the eCFort and sold the violin. He acquired Bell's Stand¬ 
ard Elocutionist and took elocution lessons. Very soon he abandoned 
that too. 

Playing the gentleman would, Gandhi mistakenly thought, bring him 
into key with the dominant note in British life. He always needed har¬ 
mony, and the need helped him develop delicate antennae of leadership. 

Throughout life, Gandhi concentrated on man's day-to-day behavior. 
In London, his central concern was the day-to-day behavior of M. K. 
Gandhi. His autobio^aphical reminiscences of London student days 



**M. K. Gandhi. Attomey-at-Law** 25 

deal entirely with his food, clothes, shyness, relations with acquaint' 
ances, and his religious attitude. 

George Santayana, the American philosopher of Spanish descent, 
visited London as a young man when Gandhi was there. Decades later, 
in The Middle Span, the second volume of his memoirs, he described 
the visit and commented on the quality of the theater, the character of 
Englishmen, and the appearance of London houses, parks, and streets; 
there are references to literature and philosophy. Santayana, the artist, 
attempts to reconstruct a life and an era. Gandhi, the reformer, omits 
the cultural and historical background and dissects himself for the 
instruction of others. 

Experiences are the interaction between self and the objective world. 
But Gandhi's autobiography is called Experiments in Truth; an experi¬ 
ment in this sense is induced by the objective world, but it is essentially 
an operation within and upon oneself. To the end of his days, Gandhi 
attempted to master and remake himself. 

Gandhi always focused attention on the personal. English friends 
tried to persuade Gandhi to eat meat. One of them read to him from 
Benthams Theory of Utility. ‘These abstruse things are beyond me," 
Gandhi pleaded; he would not break the vow he had given his mother. 

Gandhi s “capacious stomach" demanded filling, but the family with 
which he lived served no more than two or three slices of bread per 
meal. Later the two daughters of the household gave him a few extra 
slices; he could have done with a loaf. “I practically had to starve." He 
found a vegetarian eating house in Farringdon Street, near Fleet Street, 
not far from the Inner Temple. He invested a shilling in Henry Salt s 
A Plea for Vegetarianism which was being sold at the entrance. Inside, 
he ate his first hearty meal in England: “God had come to my aid." 

The Salt treatise made him a vegetarian by choice. In the beginning 
was the act, and only then the conviction. 

Frugal eating led to frugal spending. Even during the brief spree of 
“aping the gentleman," Gandhi kept minutely accurate accounts of all 
outlays for food, clothing, postage, bus fares, newspapers, books, etc. 
Before going to bed each night he balanced his finances. Now, after an 
experiment in boarding with a family, he took rooms about half an 
hours walk from school. He thus saved on transportation as well as rent 
and, to boot, got some exercise. He walked eight to ten miles a day. 
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The example of poor Indian students in London and the guilty sense 
of being prodigal with his brother s money impelled Gandhi to econo¬ 
mize still further. He abandoned his suite and moved to one room. He 
cooked his own breakfast of oatmeal porridge and cocoa. For lunch he 
went to his favorite vegetarian eatery; dinner consisted of bread and 
cocoa prepared at home. Food cost him only a shilling and threepence 
per day. 

All the while sweets and spices had been coming to him by sea from 
India. He discontinued this luxury. He began to eat, and enjoy, boiled 
spinach with no condiments. ‘'Many such experiments,” he remarked, 
“taught me that the real seat of taste was not the tongue but the mind,” 
and Gandhi had commenced that remarkable lifelong task of changing 
his mind. 

Under the influence of food reformers Gandhi varied his menu, giv¬ 
ing up starches for a period, or living on bread and fruit, and again 
oa cheese, milk, and eggs for weeks at a time. He had become a member 
of the executive committee of the Vegetarian Society of England. An 
expert convinced him that eggs were not meat; the consumption of 
eggs injured no living creatures. After a while, however, Gandhi 
thought better of it. His mother, he reasoned, regarded eggs as meat, 
and since she had received his vow, her definition was binding. He gave 
up eggs; he gave up dishes, cakes, and puddings made with eggs, even 
when they were served at the vegetarian restaurant. This was an addi¬ 
tional privation, but the pleasure of observing the vow produced “an 
inward relish distinctly more healthy, delicate, and permanent” than 
food. 

Gandhi had reduced his weekly budget to fifteen shillings. He learned 
to prepare English dishes. Carrot soup yvas a specialty. Sometimes he 
invited Narayan Hemchandra to partake of a meal in his room. Narayan 
was a young Indian who had just arrived from home after having earned 
a reputation as a writer. “His dress was queer,” Gandhi reports. 

Gandhi's English was still far from perfect but Narayan's was worse, 
and Mohandas began giving him lessons. Once Narayan arrived at 
Gandhi's home clothed in a shirt and a loincloth. When the landlady 
opened the door she ran back in fright to tell Gandhi that “a madcap” 
wanted to see him. “I was shocked” at Narayan's clothes, Gandhi wrote. 

Narayan planned to learn French and visit France, to learn German 
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and visit Gennany, and to travel to America. He did go to France and 
translated French books. Gandhi revised several of the translations. 
Narayan also visited America, where he was arrested for indecent 
exposure. 

Stirred by Narayan Hemchandra, Gandhi crossed the Channel in 
1890 to tour the great Paris Exhibition. '1 had heard of a vegetarian 
restaurant in Paris. So I engaged a room there and stayed seven days,*' 
Gandhi recalls. "I managed everything very economically. ... I remem¬ 
ber nothing of the Exhibition except its magnitude and variety. I have 
a fair recollection of the Eiffel Tower as I ascended it twice or thrice. 
There was a restaurant on the first platform, and just for the satisfaction 
of being able to say that I had my lunch at a great height, 1 threw away 
seven shillings on it.” 

Count Leo Tolstoy had called the Eiffel Tower a monument to man's 
folly. Gandhi read this disparaging remark and concurred. '‘The Tower,” 
Gandhi felt, “was a good demonstration of the fact that we are all chil¬ 
dren attracted by trinkets”; neither beauty nor art recommended it, only 
its size and novelty. However, Gandhi did enjoy the grandeur and peace 
of the ancient churches of Paris, notably Notre Dame with its elaborate 
interior decorations and sculptures. After the noisy, frivolous streets and 
boulevards, Gandhi found dignity and reverence in the houses of God. 
French people kneeling before a statue of the Virgin were “not wor¬ 
shiping mere marble” but rather “the divinity of which it is symbolic.” 

Gandhi made no comment on British churches. In England, he 
played bridge, wore his “visiting suit” on occasions and evening dress 
for festivities, and took an active organizational part in several vegetarian 
societies. But he could not make the most informal remarks, and had to 
write out his views and ask others to read them. “Even when I paid a 
social call the presence of half a dozen or more people would strike me 
dumb.” 

The purpose for which Gandhi came to England receives only a few 
lines in his reminiscences, far fewer than his dietetic adventures. He 
was admitted as a student at the Inner Temple on November 6, 1888, 
and matriculated at London University, in June, 1890. He learned 
French and Latin, physics, and Common and Roman law. He read 
Roman law in Latin and bought many law books. He improved his 
English. He had no difficulty passing the final examinations. Called to 
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the bar on Jime lo, 1891, he enrolled in the High Court on June nth, 

and sailed for India on June 12th. He had no wish to spend a single 

extra day in England. 

Gandhi does not seem to have been happy in England. It was a neces¬ 

sary interim period; he had to be there to get professional status. His 

chief English contacts were a group of aged, crusading vegetarians 

"who,” he later declared, "had the habit of talking of nothing but food 

and nothing but disease.” He neither received nor gave warmth. 

Gandhi did not yet feel at home in English. Later, as a Mahatma, 

he constantly stressed the importance of studying and speaking in ones 

native tongue; otherwise one lost much mental effort bridging the gulf 

of language. British life was very foreign to him. 

At first, Gandhi had thought he could become an "Englishman.” 

Hence the fervor with which he seized the instruments of conversion: 

clothes, dancing, elocution lessons, etc. Then he realized how high the 

barrier was. He understood he would remain Indian. Therefore he 

became more Indian. 

Gandhi’s two years and eight months in England came at a formative 

phase of his life and must have shaped his personality. But their influ¬ 

ence was probably less than normal. For Gandhi was not the student 

type; he did not learn essential things by studying. He was the doer, 

and he grew and gained knowledge through action. Books, people, and 

conditions affected him. But the real Gandhi, the Gandhi of history, 

did not emerge, did not even hint of his existence in the years of school¬ 

ing and study. Perhaps it is unfair to expect too much of the frail pro¬ 

vincial Indian transplanted to metropolitan London at the green age 

of eighteen. Yet the contrast between the mediocre, unimpressive, handi¬ 

capped, floundering M. K. Gandhi, attomey-at-law, who left England 

in 1891, and the Mahatma leader of millions is so great as to suggest 

that until public service tapped his enormous reserves of intuition, will 

power, energy, and self-confidence, his true personality lay dormant. 

To be sure, he fed it unconsciously; his loyalty to the vow of no meat, 

no wine, no women, was a youthful exercise in will and devotion which 

later flowered into a way of life. But only when it was touched by the 

magic wand of action in South Africa did the personality of Gandhi 

burgeon. In Young India of September 4, 1924, he said his college days 

were before the time "when ... I began life.” 
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Gandhi advanced to greatness by doing. The Gita, Hinduism s holy 
scripture, therefore became Gandhi $ gospel, for it glorifies action. 

CHAPTER FOUR 

Gandhi and the Gita 

At one time Gandhi lived in the Bayswater section of London. There he 

organized a neighborhood vegetarian club and became its secretary. Dr. 

Josiah Oldfield, bearded editor of The Vegetarian, was elected president, 

and Sir Edwin Arnold vice-president. Sir Edwin had translated the Gita 

from Sanskrit into English and published it under the title of The 

Song Celestial in 1885, just a few years before Gandhi met him. 

Gandhi first read the Gita in Sir Edwin Arnold s translation while he 

was a second-year law student in London. He admits it was shameful 

not to have read it until the age of twenty, for the Gita is as sacred to 

Hinduism as the Koran is to Islam, the Old Testament to Judaism, and 

the New Testament to Christianity. 

Subsequently, however, Gandhi read the original Sanskrit of the Gita 

and many translations. In fact, he himself translated the Gita from 

Sanskrit, which he did not know very well, into Gujarati and annotated 

it with comments. His Gujarati translation was in turn translated into 

English by Mahadev Desai. 
Gita or song is short for Bhagavad Gita, the song of God, the song 

of Heaven. Gandhi ascribed great virtues to it. '‘When doubts haunt me, 
when disappointments stare me in the face, and I see not one ray of 
light on the horizon,” Gandhi wrote in the August 6, 1925, issue of 
Young India magazine, ‘1 turn to the Bhagavad Gita, and find a verse 
to comfort me; and I immediately begin to smile in the midst of over¬ 
whelming sorrow. My life has been full of external tragedies and if 
they have not left any visible or invisible effect on me, I owe it to the 
teaching of the Bhagavad Gita** Mahadev Desai declared that "every 
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moment of [Gandhi’s] life is a conscious effort to live the message of 
the Gita.” 

The Bhagavad Gita is an exquisite poem of seven hundred stanzas. 
Most stanzas consist of two lines; a few run to four, six, or eight lines. 
The entire hook is divided into eighteen discourses or chapters; each, 
according to an appended colophon, deals with a specific branch of the 
science of yoga. The Gita is thus a book on the science and practice of 
yoga. 

The Bhagavad Gita is part of a much bigger book, the Mahabharata, 
the greatest Indian epic and the world’s longest poem seven times as 
long as the Iliad and Odyssey combined. The Mahalfharata sings of 
men and wars in the distant past, ten centuries before Christ. Like 
European classics, it describes battles in which gods mix with humans 
until it is impossible to know who was historical, who mythological. It 
contain fables, philosophical dissertations, theological discussions; and 
it contains the Gita, its brightest gem. 

The Bhagavad Gita was written by one person. Scholars agree that it 
came into existence between the fifth and second centuries B.c. It is a 
ccmversadon between Krishna and Arjuna. Krishna, the hero of the 
Bhagavad Gita, and of the Mahabharata as well, is worshiped in India 
as God; many Hindu homes and most Hindu temples have statues or 
other likoiesses of Lord Krishna. In the story of Krishna’s life, legend 
competes with hazy prehistoric fact. He was apparently the son of a 
king’s sister. Lest a rival for the throne arise, the king had been killing 
all newborn royal children. But God incarnated himself in the womb 
of the king’s sister, and Krishna, having thus been bom without the 
intervention of man, was secretly transferred by divine hand to the 
family of a lowly herdsman in place of its own infant daughter. As a 
child Krishna miraculously defeated all the nether world’s efforts to 
destroy him. Later he tended the cows with other youngsters. Once 
during a flood he lifted up a mountain with his little finger and held 
it so for seven days and nights that the people might save themselves 
and their animals. Not suspecting his divinity, all the village maidens 
loved him and he danced with them. Grown to young manhood, Krishna 
killed his tyrant uncle and won renown throughout the land. After 
many advmtures, Krishna retired into a forest where a hunter, mistak¬ 
ing Um foe a deer, shot an arrow into his heel. As the huntsman drew 
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near he recognized Krishna and was stricken with grief, but Krislma 
smiled, blessed him, and died. 

Krishna is Lord Krishna. "The representation of an individual as 
identical with the Universal Self is familiar to Hindu thought,” writes 
Sir Sarvepali Radhakrishnan, a Hindu philosopher and Oxford profes¬ 
sor who also translated the Gita. "Krishna," he says, "is the human em¬ 
bodiment of Vishnu,” the Supreme God. 

The opening couplets of the Gita find Krishna on the battlefield as 
the unarmed charioteer of Arjuna, chief warrior of a contending fraction. 
Opposite are Arjuna's royal cousins arrayed for the fratricidal fray. 
Arjuna says: 

As I look upon these kinsmen, O Krishna, assembled here 
eager to fight, my limbs fail, my mouth is parched, a tremor 
shakes my frame and my hair stands on end. 
Gandiva slips from my hand, my skin is on fire, 
I cannot keep my feet, and my mind reels. 

Gandiva is Arjuna’s bow. 

I have unhappy forebodings, O Keshava, 
and I see no good in slaying kinsmen in battle. 
I seek not victory, nor sovereign power, nor earthly joys. 
What good are sovereign power, worldly pleasures, and 
even life to us, O Govinda? 

Keshava and Govinda are among the many names of Lord Krishna. 
Rather than murder members of his own family, Arjuna would let 

them kill him: “Happier far would it be for me if Dhritarashtra’s sons, 
weapons in hand, should strike me down on the battlefield, unresisting 
and unarmed.” 

With a firm "I will not fight,” Arjuna now stands speechless awaiting 
Krishna’s reply. The Lord remonstrated: 

Thou moumest for them whom thou shouldst not mourn, 
and utterest vain words of wisdom. The wise mourn neither 
for the living nor for the dead. 
For never was I not, nor thou nor these kings; nor will 
any of us cease to be hereafter. 
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The Atman or soul, Krishna explains, is eternal and unattainable by 
man s weapons of destruction. Calling the soul 'This,” Krishna says, 

This is never born nor ever dies, nor having been will 
ever not be any more; unborn, eternal, everlasting, 
ancient. This is not slain when the body is slain. . . . 
As a man casts oflF worn-out garments and takes others that 
are new, even so the embodied one casts off worn-out 
bodies and passes on to others new. 

Here, succinctly, is the Hindu doctrine of the transmigration of This, 
of Atman, the soul. Krishna adds: 

This no weapons wound. This no fire burns; This no 
waters wet. This no wind doth dry. . . . 
For certain is the death of the born, and certain is the 
birth of the dead; therefore what is unavoidable thou 
shouldst not regret. 

Moreover, Krishna insists, Arjuna is a member of the Kshatriya war- 
rior caste, and therefore he must fight: "Again, seeing thine own duty 
thou shouldst not shrink from it: for there is no higher good for a 
Kshatriya than a righteous war.” 

Interpreting these texts literally. Orthodox Hindus regard the Gita 
as the historic account of a battle in which one martial leader sought 
to avoid bloodshed but was soon reminded by God of his caste obliga¬ 
tion to commit violence. 

Gandhi, apostle of non-violence, obviously had to propound a differ¬ 
ent version. 

On first reading the Gita in 1888-89, Gandhi felt that it was "not a 
historical work.” Nor, he wrote later, is the Mahabharata. The Gita is 
an allegory, Gandhi said. The battlefield is the human soul wherein 
Arjuna, representing higher impulses, struggles against evil. "Krishna,” 
according to Gandhi, "is the Dweller vrithin, ever whispering to a pure 
heart. . • . Under the guise of physical warfare,” Gandhi asserted, the 
Gita "described the duel that perpetually went on in the hearts of man¬ 
kind. . . . Physical warfare was brought in merely to make the descrip¬ 
tion of the internal duel more alluring.” Gandhi often questioned doc¬ 
trinal, and temporal, authority. 
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The Gita was Gandhi s "spiritual reference hook/' his daily guide. L 

condemned inaction, and Gandhi always condemned inaction. Mor^ 

important, it showed how to avoid the evils that accompany action; thi* 

Gandhi asserted, is the "central teaching of the GitaJ* Krishna says: 

Hold alike pleasure and pain, gain and loss, victory 

and defeat, and gird up thy loins for the fight; so 

doing thou shalt not incur sin. 

That is one facet of yoga: selflessness in action. 

"Act thou, O Dhananjaya [Arjuna], without attachment, steadfast m 

Yoga, even-minded in success and failure. Even-mindedness is Yoga.” 

Then has the yogi no reward? He has, Gandhi replies: "As a matteir 

of fact he who renounces reaps a thousandfold. The renunciation of the 

Gita is the acid test of faith. He who is ever brooding over result often 

loses nerve in the performance of duty. He becomes impatient and then 

gives vent to anger and begins to do unworthy things; he jumps from 

action to action, never remaining faithful to any. He who broods over 

results is like a man given to objects of senses; he is ever distracted, he 

says good-by to all scruples, everything is right in his estimation and he 

therefore resorts to means fair and foul to attain his end.” Renunciation 

gives one the inner peace, the spiritual poise, to achieve results. 

But Arjuna could renounce fruit and not hanker after fruit yet obey 

Krishna and kill. This troubles Gandhi. "Let it be granted,” he wrote 

in 1929 in an introduction to his Gujarati translation of the Gita, "that 

according to the letter of the Gita it is possible to say that warfare is 

consistent with renunciation of fruit. But after forty years unremitting 

endeavor fully to enforce the teaching of the Gita in my own life, I 

have, in all humility, felt that perfect renunciation is impossible with¬ 

out perfect observance of ahimsa [non-violence] in every shape and 

form.” Gandhi decides that loyalty to the Gita entitles him to amend it. 

He often refused to be bound by uncongenial texts, concepts, and situ¬ 

ations. 
The Gita says, in effect: since only the body dies and not This, the 

soul, why not kill when it is your soldiery duty to do so? Gandhi says: 

since we are all bits of God who is perfect, how can we and why should 

we kill? 

Apart from the summons to action, violent according to the Gita and 
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non-violent according to Gandhi, the core of the Gita is the description 
of the man of action vtrho renounces its fruits. Arjuna, still puzzled, asks 
for the distinguishing marks of the yogi. *‘How does he talk? How sit? 
How move?" 

Krishna says: 

When a man puts away, O Partha, all the cravings 
that arise in the mind and finds comfort for 
himself only from Atman, then is he called 
the man of secure understanding. 

Gandhi comments: “The pleasure I may derive from the possession 
of wealth, for instance, is delusive; real spiritual comfort or bliss can 
be attained only if I rise superior to every temptation even though 
troubled by poverty and hunger.” 

Krishna continues his definition of the Yogi: 

Whose mind is untroubled in sorrow and longeth 
not for joys, who is free from passion, fear, 
and wrath—he is called the ascetic of 
secure understanding. 
The man who sheds all longing and moves without 
concern, free from the sense of‘T and "Mine”— 
he attains peace. 

Yet a person might “draw in his senses from their objects” and “starve 
his senses” and nevertheless brood about them. In this case, attachment 
returns; “attachment begets craving and craving begets wrath.” Hence, 
Krishna teaches, “The Yogi should sit intent on Me.” 

“This means,” Gandhi notes, “that without devotion and the conse¬ 
quent grace of God, man’s endeavor is vain.” Above all, Gandhi says, 
there must he mental control, for a man might hold his tongue yet swear 
mentally, or curb sex and crave it. Repression is not enough. Repression 
must be vnthout regrets; ultimately repression should yield to sub¬ 
limation. 

Krishna teaches, 

He, O Arjuna, who keeping all the senses imder 
control of the mind, engages the organs in Karma 
yoga, without attachment—that man excels. 
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Soon after reading the Gita, and especially in South Africa, Gandhi 
began his strivings to become a Karma yogi. Later, defining a Karma 
yogi, Gandhi wrote, “He will have no relish for sensual pleasures and 
will keep himself occupied with such activity as ennobles the soul. That 
is the path of action. Karma yoga is the yoga [means] which will de¬ 
liver the self [soul] from the bondage of the body, and in it there is no 
room for self-indulgence.” 

Krishna puts it in a nutshell couplet: 

For me, O Partha, there is naught to do in the 
three worlds, nothing worth gaining that I have 
not gained; yet I am ever in action. 

In a notable comment on the Gita, Gandhi further elucidates the 
ideal man or the perfect Karma yogi: “He is a devotee who is jealous 
of none, who is a fount of mercy, who is without egotism, who is self¬ 
less, who treats alike cold and heat, happiness and misery, who is ever 
forgiving, who is always contented, whose resolutions are firm, who has 
dedicated mind and soul to God, who causes no dread, who is not 
afraid of others, who is free from exultation, sorrow and fear, who is 
pure, who is versed in action yet remains unaffected by it, who re¬ 
nounces all fruit, good or bad, who treats friend and foe alike, who is 
untouched by respect or disrespect, who is not puffed up by praise, who 
does not go under when people speak ill of him, who loves silence and 
sohtude, who has a disciplined reason. Such devotion is inconsistent 
with the existence at the same time of strong attachments.” 

The Gita defines detachment precisely: 

Freedom from pride and pretentiousness; non¬ 
violence, forgiveness, uprightness, service of the 
Master, purity, steadfastness, self-restraint. 
Aversion from sense-objects, absence of conceit, 
realization of the painfulness and evil of birth, 
death, age and disease. 
Absence of attachment, refusal to be wrapped up 
in one’s children, wife, home and family, even- 
mindedness whether good or evil befall. . . . 
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By practicing these virtues, the yogi will achieve "union with the 
Supreme” or Brahman, “disunion from all union with pain,” and “an 
impartial eye, seeing Atman in all beings and all beings in Atman.” 

Gandhi summarized it in one word: “Desirelessness.” 
Desirelessness in its manifold aspects became Gandhi’s goal and it 

created innumerable problems for his wife and children, his followers, 
and himself. Krishna declares. 

But there is a unique reward. The great yogis, the 
Mahatmas or Great souls having come to Me, 
reach the highest perfection; they come not 
again to birth, unlasting and abode of misery. 

Thus the yogi’s highest recompense is to become so firmly united 
with God that he need never again return to the status of migrating 
mortal man. Several times during his life Gandhi expressed the hope 
not to be bom anew. 

In the end, having learned the art of yoga from Krishna, the Supreme, 
who is “Master of Yoga,” Arjuna abandons doubt. Now he understands 
the innermost secrets of action without attachment. Now therefore he 
can act “I will do thy bidding,” he promises. 

There are devout Hindus, and mystic Hindus, who sit and meditate 
and fast and go naked and live in Himalayan caves. But Gandhi aimed 
to be ever active, ever useful, and ever needless. This was the realiza¬ 
tion he craved. Like everybody else, Gandhi had attachments. He sought 
to slough them ofiE. 

Hindu detachment includes but also transcends unselfishness; it con¬ 
notes the religious goal of auto-disembodiment or non-violent self- 
e£Facement whereby the devotee discards his physical being and becomes 
one with God. This is not death; it is Nirvana. The attainment of 
Nirvana is a mystic process which eludes most Western minds and is 
difficult of achievement even by Hindus who assume, however, that 

mortals like Buddha and some modem mystics have accomplished the 
transfonnadon. Gandhi did not accomplish it. 

Gandhi did, however, achieve the status of yogi. A yogi may be a 
man of contempladon, or he may be a man of action. Both yogi and 
commissar mav devote their lives to action. The difference between 
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them is in the quality and purpose of their acts and the purpose of their 
lives. 

The Gita concentrates attention on the purpose of life. In the West 
a person may ponder the purpose of life after he has achieved maturity 
and material success. A Hindu, if moved by.the Gita, ponders the pur¬ 
pose of life when he is still on its threshold. Gandhi was very much 
moved by the spirit of the Gita. 

CHAPTER FIVE 

Indian Interlude 

In London, Gandhi never got beyond Leviticus and Numbers; the first 

books of the Old Testament bored him. (Later in life he enjoyed the 

Prophets, Psalms, and Ecclesiastes.) The New Testament was more 

interesting, and the Sermon on the Mount 'went straight to my heart.*' 

He saw similarities between it and the Gita. 

"But I say unto you, that ye resist not evil; but whosoever shall smite 

thee on thy right cheek, turn to him the other also. And if any man take 

away thy coat let him have thy cloak too.” These words of Christ 

"delighted” Gandhi. Other verses struck a sympathetic chord in the 

Mahatma-to-be: "Blessed are the meek. . . . Blessed are ye, when men 

shall revile you and persecute you . . . whosoever is angry with his 

brother without a cause shall be in danger of the judgment. . . . Agree 

with thine adversary quickly . . . whosoever looketh on a woman to 

lust after her hath committed adultery already in his heart. . . . Love 

your enemies, bless them that curse you ... forgive men their trespasses. 

... Lay not up for yourselves treasures upon earth. . . . For where your 

treasure is, there will your heart be also. . . 

It was thanks to a Bible salesman in England that Gandhi read the 
Old and New Testaments. At the suggestion of a friend, he read 
Thomas Carlyle's essay on the prophet Mohammed. Having met 
Madame H. P. Blavatsky and Mrs. Annie Besant in London, he studied 
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their books on theosophy. Gandhi’s religious reading was accidental and 

desultory. Nevertheless, it apparently met a need, for he was not a great 

reader and, apart from law tomes, had not read much, not even a history 

of India. 

Gandhi refused to join Britain’s new theosophist movement, but he 

rejoiced in Mrs. Besant’s renunciation of godlessness. He himself had 

already traversed “the Sahara of atheism’’ and emerged from it thirsty 

for religion. 

In this state he returned to India in the summer of 1891. He was more 

vrorldly but no more articulate. He quickly recognhed his failures yet 

stubbornly insisted on having his way. He was sclf-critical and self- 

confident, temperamentally shy and intellectually sure. 

On landing at Bombay, his brother told him that Putlibai, their 

mother, was dead. The news had been kept iirom Mohandas because 

the family knew his devotion to her. He was shocked, but his grief, 

greater than when his father died, remained under control. 

Gandhi’s son Harilal was four; his brothers had several older children, 

boys and girls. The returned barrister led them in physical exercises and 

hikes, and played and joked with them. He also had time for quarrels 

with his wife; once, in fact, he sent her away from Rajkot to her parents’ 

home in Porbandar; he was still jealous. He still performed all the 

duties of a husband except support his wife and child; he had no money. 

Laxmidas Gandhi, a lawyer in Rajkot, had built high hopes on his 

younger brother. But Mohandas was a complete failure as a lawyer in 

Rajkot as well as in Bombay where he could not utter a word during a 

ten-dollar case in court. 

Laxmidas, who had financed Gandhi’s studies in England, was even 

more disappointed at his brother’s failure to carry out a delicate mission 

for him. Laxmidas had been the secretary and adviser of the heir to the 

throne of Porbandar. He was thus destined, it seemed, to follow in his 

father’s and grandfather’s footsteps and become prime minister of the 

little state. But he lost favor with the British Political Agent. Now 

Mohandas had casually met the agent in London. Laxmidas therefore 

wanted his brother to see the Englishman and adjust matters. Gandhi 

did npt think it right to presume on a slight acquaintance and ask an 

interview for such a purpose. But he yielded to his brother’s importun- 
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ing. The agent was cold: Laxmidas could apply through the proper 

channels if he thought he had been wronged. Gandhi persisted. The 

agent showed him the door; Gandhi stayed to argue; the agents peon 

or messenger took hold of Gandhi and put him out. 

The shock of the encounter with the British agent, Gandhi declares 

in his autobiography, 'changed the course of my entire life.'' He had 

been doing odd legal jobs for the ruling prince. He and his brother 

hoped he would finally obtain a position as judge or minister in the 

government which might lead to further advancement in the tradition 

of the family. But his altercation with the agent upset these plans. Only 

a fawning sycophant could get ahead. The episode intensified his ab¬ 

horrence of the atmosphere of petty intrigue, palace pomp, and snob¬ 

bery which prevailed in Porbandar, Rajkot, and the other minuscule 

principalities of the Kathiawar peninsula. It was poison to character. 

Gandhi yearned to escape from it. 

At this juncture a business firm of Porbandar Moslems offered to 

send him to South Africa for a year as their lawyer. He seized the oppor¬ 

tunity to see a new country and get new experiences; '1 wanted some¬ 

how to leave India." So, after less than two unsuccessful years in his 

native land, its future leader boarded a ship for Zanzibar, Mozambique, 

and Natal. He left behind him his wife and two children; on October 

28, 1892, a second son named Manilal had been bom. '‘By way of 

consolation," Gandhi assured Kasturbai that “We are bound to meet 

again in a year." 

In Bombay, Gandhi had met Raychandbai. “No one else," Gandhi 

said, “has ever made on me the impression that Raychandbai did." Ray¬ 

chandbai was a jeweler-poet with a phenomenal memory. He was rich, 

a connoisseur of diamonds and pearls, and a good businessman. Gandhi 

was impressed by his religious learning, his spotless character, and his 

passion for self-realization. Raychandbai's deeds, Gandhi felt, were 

guided by his desire for truth and godliness. Gandhi trusted him com¬ 

pletely. In a crisis, Gandhi ran to Raychandbai for confession and 

comfort. From South Africa, Gandhi sought and obtained Raychandbai's 

advice. Nevertheless, Gandhi did not accept Raychandbai as his guru. 

Hindus believe that every man should acknowledge a guru, a superior 

person, near or far, living or dead, as one's teacher, guide, or mentor. 

But Raychandbai lacked the perfection that Gandhi sought in a guru. 
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Gandhi never did find a guru; “The throne has remained vacant,” he 

said. For a Hindu, this is tremendously significant and for Gandhi it is 

endlessly revealing. In the presence of prominent men he felt respect, 

humility, and awe, but, wrapped in these sentiments, he sometimes 

became impervious to their thoughts. With all his diffidence he was 

spiritually independent. Ideas came to him occasionally through books 

but chiefly through his own acts. He remade himself by tapping his own 

inner resources. 

Gandhi was a self-remade man and the transformation began in 

South Africa. It is not that he turned failure into success. Using the 

clay that was there he turned himself into another person. His was a 

remarkable case of second birth in one lifetime. 

CHAPTER SIX 

Toward Greatness 

When Gandhi landed at Durban, Natal, in May, 1893, his mission was 

simply to win a lawsuit, earn some money, and perhaps, at long last, 

start his career: “Try my luck in South Africa,” he said. As he left the 

boat to meet his employer, a Moslem businessman named Dada Abdulla 

Sheth, Gandhi wore a fashionable frock coat, pressed trousers, shining 

shoes, and a turban. 

South African society was sharply divided by color, class, religion, 

and profession, and each group jealously defended the words and sym¬ 

bols which demarcated it from the others. Englishmen called all Indians 

"coolies” or “samis,” and they referred to “coqlie teachers,” “coolie mer¬ 

chants,” “coolie barristers,” etc., forgetting, defiberately, that if coolie 

meant anything it meant manual laborer. To rise above the coolie level, 

Parsis from India styled themselves Persians, and Moslems from India 

chose to be regarded as “Arabs” which they were not. A turban was 

officially recognized as part of the costume of an “Arab” but not of a 

Hindu. 
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Several days after arriving, Gandhi went to court. The magistrate 

ordered him to remove his turban. Gandhi demuned and left the court 

To obviate further trouble, he decided to wear an English hat No, said 

Dada Abdulla Sheth, a hat on a colored man is the symbol of a waiter. 

The lawsuit required Gandhi’s presence in Pretoria, the capital of 

Transvaal. First-class accommodations were purchased for him at Dur¬ 

ban where he boarded the train for the overnight journey. At Maritz- 

burg, the capital of Natal, a white man entered the compartment, eyed 

the brown intruder, and withdrew to reappear in a few moments with 

two railway officials who told Gandhi to transfer to the van car. Gandhi 

protested that he held a first-class ticket. That didn’t matter; he had to 

leave. He stayed. So they fetched a policeman who threw him out with 

his luggage. 

Gandhi could have returned to the train and found a place in the 

third-class car. But he chose to remain in the station waiting room. It 

was cold in the mountains. His overcoat was in his luggage which the 

station people were holding; afraid to be insulted again, he did not ask 

for it. All night long he sat and shivered, and brooded. 

Should he return to India? This episode reflected a much larger situ¬ 

ation. Should he address himself to it or merely seek redress of his 

personal grievance, finish the case, and go home to India? He had 

encountered the dread disease of color prejudice. It was his duty to com¬ 

bat it. To flee, leaving his countrymen in their predicament, would be 

cowardice. The frail lawyer began to see himself in the role of a David 

assailing the Goliath of racial discrimination. 

Many years later, in India, Dr. John R. Mott, a Christian missionary, 

asked Gandhi, "What have been the most creative experiences in your 

life?” In reply, Gandhi told the story of the night in the Maritzburg 

station. 
Why, of all people, did it occur to Gandhi to resist the evil? The 

next morning Indians he met recounted similar experiences. They made 

the best of conditions; ‘Tou cannot strike your head against a stone 

wall.” But Gandhi intended to test its hardness. His father and grand¬ 

father had defied authority. His own meager contacts with it in India 

were unhappy. He had rejected the authoritative, time-and-tradition- 

honored version of the Bhagavad Gita for his own. Was it this inherent 

anti-authoritarianism that made him rebel against the government color 
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line? Was he more sensitive, resentful, unfettered, and ambitious be¬ 

cause his bfe, so far, had been a failure? Did he aspire to be stnmg 

morally because he was weak physically? Did challenging immoral 

practices in an uncrowded arena present greater opportunities for service 

than the pursuit of personal gain in crowded courts? Was it destiny, 

hratage, luck, the Gita, or some other immeasurable quantity? 

That frigid night at Maritzburg the germ of social protest was bom 

in Gandhi. But he did nothing. He proceeded on his business to Pretoria. 

The Charlestown-to-Johannesburg lap was negotiated stagecoach. 

There were three seats on the coachbox, usually occupied by the driver 

and the “leader” of the trip. On this occasion, the “leader” sat inside and 

told Gandhi to ride with the driver and a Hottentot. There was space 

for Gandhi inside, but he did not want to make a fuss and miss the 

coach, so he mounted to the driver’s perch. Later, however, the “leader” 

decided he wanted to smoke and get some air; he spread a piece of dirty 

sacking at the driver’s feet on the footboard and instmcted Gandhi to 

sit on it. Gandhi complained; why could he not go inside? At this, the 

"leader” began to curse and tried to drag him off the coach. Gandhi 

clung to the brass rail though he felt that his wrists would break. But 

he did not relax his hold. The “leader” continued alternately to pummel 

and pull him until the white passengers intervened: “Don’t beat him,” 

they shouted. "He is not to blame. He is right.” The "leader," yielding 

to the customers, relented, and Gandhi entered the coach. 

The next day, Gandhi wrote to the coach company and received a 

written assurance that he would not be molested again. 

In Johannesburg, Gandhi went to a hotel, but failed to get a room. 

Indians laughed at his naivete. “This country is not for men like you,” 

a rich Indian merchant said to him. “For making money we do not 

mind pocketing insults, and here we are.” The same person advised 

Gandhi to travel third-class to Pretoria because conditions in the 

Transvaal were much worse than in Natal. But Gandhi was obdurate. 

He ordered the railway regulaticms brought to him, read them, and 

found that the prohibition was not precise. He therefore penned a note 

to the station master stating that he was a barrister and always traveled 

first (it was his ninth day and first journey in South Africa) and would 

soon apply in person for a ticket. 

The station master proved sympathetic. He sold Gandhi the ticket on 



Toward Greatness 43 

condition that he would not sue the company if the guards or the pas¬ 

sengers ejected him. The trainman came to examine the tickets and 

held up three fingers. Gandhi vehemently refused to move to third class. 

The sole other passenger, an Englishman, scolded the guard and invited 

Gandhi to make himself comfortable. 

“If you want to travel with a coolie, what do I care,^' the guard 

grumbled. 

At the Pretoria station, Gandhi asked a railway official about hotels, 

but got no helpful information. An American Negro, who overheard 

the conversation, offered to take Gandhi to an inn run by an American: 

Johnston s Family Hotel. Mr. Johnston cheerfully accommodated him 

but suggested, with apologies, that since all the other guests were white, 

he take dinner in his room. 

Waiting for his food, Gandhi pondered the adventures he had had 

on this strange trip. Not everybody was prejudiced; some whites felt 

uncomfortable about it all. Presently Mr. Johnston knocked and said, 

“I was ashamed of having asked you to take your dinner here, so I spoke 

to the other guests about you, and asked them if they would mind your 

having dinner in the dining room. They said they had no objection, and 

they did not mind your staying here as long as you liked.*^ Gandhi en¬ 

joyed the meal downstairs. But lodgings in a private home were cheaper 

than Mr. Johnston s hotel. 

Within a week of his arrival Gandhi summoned all of Pretoria's 

Indians to a meeting. He wanted “to present to them a picture of their 

condition." He was twenty-four. This was his first public speech. The 

audience consisted of Moslem merchants interspersed with a few 

Hindus. He urged four things: Tell the truth even in business; Adopt 

morS sanitary habits; Forget caste and religious divisions; Learn Eng¬ 

lish. A barber, a clerk, and a shopkeeper accepted his offer of English 

lessons. The barber merely wished to acquire the vocabulary of his 

trade. Gandhi dogged them for months and would not let them be lazy 

or lax in their studies. 

Other meetings followed, and soon Gandhi knew every Indian in 

Pretoria. He communicated with the railway authorities and elicited the 

promise that “properly dressed" Indians might travel first or second 

class. Though open to arbitrary interpretation, this represented progress. 
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Gandhi was encouraged. The Pretoiian Indians formed a permanent 

organization. 

The lawsuit for which Gandhi came to South Africa brought him 

into contact with Roman Catholics, Protestants, Quakers, and Plymouth 

Brethren. Some of them tried to convert him to Christianity. Gandhi did 

not discourage their efforts. He promised that if the inner voice com- 

manded it he would embrace the Christian faith. He read the books 

they gave him and tried to answer their searching questions about 

Indian religions. When he did not know the answers he wrote to friends 

in England and to Raychandbai, the jeweler-poet of Bombay. 

Once Michael Coates, a Quaker, urged Gandhi to discard the beads 

which, as a member of the Hindu Vaishnava sect, he always wore 

around his neck. 

“This superstition does not become you,” Coates exclaimed. "Come, 

let me break the necklace.” 

“No, you will not,” Gandhi protested. “It is a sacred gift from my 

mother.” 

“But do you believe in it?” Coates questioned. 

'1 do not know its mysterious significance,” Gandhi said, defensively. 

“1 do not think I should come to harm if 1 did not wear it. But I cannot, 

without sufficient reason, give up a necklace which she put round my 

neck out of love and in the conviction that it would be conducive to my 

welfare. When, with the passage of time, it wears away, and breaks of 

its own accord, I shall have no reason to get a new one. But this neck¬ 

lace cannot be broken.” Later in life he did not wear beads. 

Gandhi’s Christian friends taught him the essence of Christianity. 

They said if he believed in Jesus he would find redemption. “I do not 

seek redemption from the consequences of sin,” Gandhi replied. “I seek 

to be redeemed from sin itself.” They said that was impossible. Nor 

could Gandhi understand why, if God had one son, He could not have 

another. Why could he go to Heaven and attain salvation only as a 

Christian? Did Christianity have a monopoly of Heaven? Was God a 

Christian? Did He have prejudices against non-Christians? 

Gandhi liked the sweet Christian hymns and many of the Christians 

he met But he could not regard Christianity as the perfect religion or 

the greatest religion; “From the point of view of sacrifice, it seemed to 

me that the Hindus greatly surpassed the Christians.” And Raychandbai 
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assured him that Hinduism was unexcelled in subtlety and profundity. 

On the other hand, Gandhi doubted that the sacred Hindu Vedas were 

the only inspired word of God. “Why not also the Bible and the Koran}" 
He recoiled from the competitiveness of religions. 

He also disliked the competitiveness of lawyers. His client, Dada 

Abdulla Sheth, and the opposing party, Tyeb Sheth, were relatives, and 

the cost of the litigation, dragging out for more than a year, was ruining 

both. Gandhi suggested a compromise out of court. Finally, the plaintiff 

and defendant agreed on an arbitrator who heard the case and decided 

in favor of Dada Abdulla. Now a new problem confronted Gandhi. 

Tyeb was called upon to pay thirty seven thousand pounds and costs. 

This threatened him with bankruptcy. Gandhi induced Dada Abdulla 

to permit the loser to pay in installments stretched over a very extended 

period. 

In preparing the case, Gandhi learned the secrets of bookkeeping and 

some of the fine points of law. Above all, it reinforced his opinion that 

settlements out of court were preferable to trials. He followed this prac¬ 

tice during his twenty years as a lawyer: “I lost nothing thereby—not 

even money, certainly not my soul.” 

The lawsuit settled, Gandhi returned to Durban and prepared to 

sail for India. He had been in South Africa almost twelve months. Be¬ 

fore his departure, associates gave him a farewell party. During the 

festivities someone handed him the day’s Natal Mercury, and in it he 

found a brief item regarding the Natal government’s proposed hill to 

deprive Indians of their right to elect members of the legislature. Gandhi 

stressed the necessity of resisting this move. His friends were ready but 

they were “unlettered, lame” men, they said, and powerless without him. 

He consented to stay a month. He remained twenty years fighting the 

battle for Indian rights. He won. 
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CHAPTER SEVEN 

A Moh Scene 

Natal, in 1896, had 400,000 Negro inhabitants, 50,000 whites, and 

51,000 Indians. The Cape of Good Hope Colony had 900,000 Negroes, 

400,000 Europeans, and 10,000 Indians; the Transvaal Republic, 

650,000 Negroes, 120,000 whites, and about 5,000 Indians. Similar pro¬ 

portions obtained in other areas. In 1914, the five million Negroes 

easily outnumbered a million and quarter whites. 

Indians or no Indians, the whites were a permanent minority in South 

Africa. But the Indians were thrifty, able, and ambitious, and they 

worked hard. Given normal opportunities, they became rivals of the 

whites in business, agriculture, law, and the other professions. 

Is that why the Indians were persecuted? 

The Dutch, who first settled South Africa in the sixteenth century, 

brought their slaves from Malaya, Java, and other Pacific islands; they 

concentrated in Transvaal and the Orange Free State. The British 

arrived much later. In Natal, they found they could grow sugar cane, 

tea, and coffee. But the Negroes were reluctant to work for them. Ar¬ 

rangements were accordingly made for the shipment of indentured 

laborers from India. “The Indian had come to South Africa,” wrote 

Chancellor Jan H. Hofmeyer of the Witwatersrand University in 

Johannesburg, “because it was deemed to be in the white man’s interest 

that he should. It seemed to be impossible to exploit the Natal coastal 

belt without indentured labor. So the Indians came—and brought pros¬ 

perity to Natal.” 

The first Indian contract workers landed in Natal on November 16, 

i860. That was the g^esis of the Gandhi saga in South Africa. 

The indentured Indians were term serfs. They came from India 

volimtarily or, frequently, involuntarily and not knovring where they 

were goin^ many were untouchables snatched from semi-starvation. 

The system tied them for five years to private farms. They were given 

free board and lodging for themselves and their families and ten shil¬ 

ling! a month in the first year and an additional shilling (twenty-five 
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cents) a month each year. At the end of five years the contractor paid 

their passage back to India. He did likewise if they remained an addi¬ 

tional five years as free laborers. In numerous cases, the indentured 

laborers chose to become permanent residents. 

When Gandhi had been in South Africa just over twelve months— 

on August 18, 1894—these conditions were altered. At the end of the 

first five-year period, the indentured laborer was obliged to return to 

India or agree to be a serf in South Africa forever. But if he wished to 

stay as a free workingman, he had to pay an annual tax of three pounds 

for himself and for each of his dependents. Three pounds was the 

equivalent of six months' pay of an indentured laborer. 

This aroused a storm at the center of which stood Gandhi. 

Indentured Indian immigration drew after it thousands of free 

Indians who came as hawkers, tradesmen, artisans, and members of the 

professions, like Gandhi. They numbered perhaps fifty thousand in 

1900. The peddlers carried their wares on their backs hundreds of miles 

into Zulu villages where no white man would try to do business. Grad¬ 

ually, many of them acquired riches and property. Indians even owned 

steamship lines. 

In 1894, 250 free Indians in Natal, being subjects of Her British 

Majesty, Queen Victoria, and having met the wealth qualification, en¬ 

joyed the right to vote. But that year the Natal legislature passed a law 

explicitly disfranchising Asiatics. 

This was the second serious Indian complaint. 

Throughout Natal, an Indian had to carry a pass to be on the streets 

after 9 p.m. Persons without passes were imprisoned. The Orange Free 

State, a Boer republic, forbade Indians to own property, to trade, or to 

farm. In the Crown Colony of Zululand, Indians were not allowed to 

own or buy land. The same proscription applied in the Transvaal 

where, moreover, Indians had to pay a three-pound fee for the right to 

reside; but residence was restricted to slums. In the Cape Colony, some 

municipalities prohibited Indians from walking on footpaths. Elsewhere, 

Indians avoided footpaths and sidewalks because they might be kicked 

off. Gandhi himself was once kicked. Indians in South Africa were 

legally barred from buying South African gold. They were described 

in statute books as “semi-barbarous Asiatics." 

In three years in South Africa, Gandhi had become a prosperous 
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lawyer and the outstanding Indian political figure. He was widely 

known as the champion of indentured laborers. He addressed confer¬ 

ences, drafted memorials to government ministers, wrote letters to news¬ 

papers, circulated petitions (one was signed by ten thousand Indians), 

and made many friends among whites, Indians, and Negroes. He 

learned a few Zulu words and found the language “very sweet." He 

also achieved some knowledge of Tamil, a Dravidian tongue spoken by 

natives of Madras and other south-Indian provinces. When work per¬ 

mitted he read books, chiefly on religion. He published two pamphlets: 

An Appeal to Every Briton in South Africa, and The Indian Franchise, 
an Appeal. 

“Appeal” was the key to Gandhi’s politics. He appealed to the com¬ 

mon sense and morality of his adversary. “It has always been a mystery 

to me,” he says in his autobiography, "how men can feel themselves 

honored by the humiliation of their fellow-beings.” This was the essence 

of Gandhi’s appeal. 

Gandhi’s struggle in South Africa did not aim to achieve equal treat¬ 

ment for the Indians there. He recognized that the whites thought they 

needed protection against a colored majority consisting of Indians and 

Negroes. He also knew, as he wrote in a letter to the Times of India 
of June 2, 1918, that “prejudices cannot be removed by legislation. . . . 

They will yield only to patient toil and education.” 

Nor were the Indians protesting segregation. “They feel the ostracism 

but they silently bear it,” Gandhi wrote. 

This too was a long-range problem. 

Gandhi’s immediate quarrel with the white governments of Natal, 

Transvaal, the Orange Free State, and Cape Colony was “for feeding 

the prejudice by legalizing it.” At least the laws must be just; often they 

are not. “I refuse to believe in the infallibility of legislators,” he said. 

“I believe that they are not always guided by generous or even just 

sentiments in their dealings with unrepresented classes.” They may 

react to non-existent perils; they may serve the interests of white mer¬ 

chants irked by Indian competitors. 

Gandhi wished to establish one principle: that Indians were citizens 

of the British Empire and therefore entitled to equality under its laws. 

He did not expect fair administration of the laws; the whites would 

. always be favored. But once the principle of legal equality was fixed he 
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would be content to let life work out its own complicated pattern, trust¬ 

ing honest citizens to brighten the design. If, however, the Indians 

supinely acknowledged their inferiority they would lose dignity and 

deteriorate. So would the whites who imposed the inferiority. 

Gandhi aimed to save the dignity of Indians and whites. 

Thus far in South Africa, Gandhi had displayed unflagging energy, 

an inexhaustible capacity for indignation, an eagerness to serve the 

community, honesty which inspired trust, and a talent for easy personal 

relations with the lowly and the prominent. 2^al and a cause dissolved 

his timidity and loosened his tongue. Though there was only slight 

visible evidence, as yet, of the great Gandhi of history, he had proved 

himself an effective leader and an excellent organizer. His Indian co¬ 

workers felt acutely, and he could not fail to see, that without him the 

struggle for Indian rights would collapse or at least lag. 

Gandhi accordingly took six months' leave and went to India to fetch 

his family. 
Arrived in the homeland in the middle of 1896, the twenty-seven- 

year-old man with a mission developed a furious activity. In Rajkot 

Gandhi spent a month in the bosom of his family WTiting a pamphlet 

on Indian grievances in South Africa. Bound in green and consequently 

known as “The Green Pamphlet," it was printed in ten thousand copies 

and sent to newspapers and prominent Indians. Many publications re¬ 

viewed it. To mail the rest of the edition Gandhi, always eager to keep 

down expenses, mobilized the children of the neighborhood who wrote 

the addresses, licked the wrappers, and pasted the stamps when there 

was no school. He rewarded them with used stamps and his blessing. 

The children were delighted. Two of them grew up to be Gandhi s 

close disciples. 

At this juncture, the bubonic plague appeared in Bombay, and Rajkot 

was in panic. Gandhi volunteered his services to the state and joined 

the official committee in charge of preventive measures. He stressed the 

need of supervising toilets and accepted that task himself. “The poor 

people," he remarks in his memoirs, “had no objection to their latrines 

being inspected, and what is more, they carried out the improvements 

suggested to them. But when we went to the houses of the upper ten, 

some of them even refused us admission. It was our common experience 

that the latrines of the rich were more unclean.” Next, GandH urged 
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that the committee investigate the untouchables’ quarter. Only one 

committee member would go with him. It was Gandhi’s first visit to 

the slums. He had never known how outcastes live. He discovered 

that they did not have latrines or any enclosed facilities. But their 

houses were clean. 

From Rajkot Gandhi went to Bombay to arran^ a public meeting 

on South Africa. He introduced himself to the leading citizens and 

enlisted their support. Meanwhile he nursed his sister’s husband who 

was ill, and later moved the dying patient into his own room. Gandhi 

always boasted of an “aptitude for nursing which gradually developed 

into a passion.” 

The Bombay meeting was a tremendous success because of the spon¬ 

sors and the topic. Gandhi had a written speech but could not make 

himself heard in the big hall. Somebody on the platform read it for him. 

At Poona, inland from Bombay, Gandhi interviewed two of the great 

men of India: Gopal Krishna Gokhale, President of the Servants of 

India Society, and Lokamanya Tilak, a giant intellect and towering 

political leader. Tilak, Gandhi said later, was like the ocean and you 

could not readily launch yourself on it; Gokhale was like the Ganges 

in whose refireshing, holy waters one longed to bathe. He fell in love 

with Gokhale but did not take him as his guru. Gandhi described a 

guru in Young India of October 6, 1921, as a rare combination of 

"perfect purity and perfect learning.” Gokhale, as Gandhi saw him, 

failed to meet those requirements. He did, however, become Gandhi’s 

political guru, his ideal in politics. 

"They treat us as beasts,” Gandhi cried out at a mass meeting in 

Madras on October 26, 1896. “The policy is to class us with the Kafir 

whenever possible," he said. South Africa depressed the living stand¬ 

ards of Indians and locked them up in unsanitary districts; then the 

whites condemned the dirty Indian habits. 

"Submission” to these “iiisults and indignities,” Gandhi told the 

meeting, "means degradation.” He urged resistance. He urged, too, that 

if no amelioration took place, emigration from India to South Africa be 

suspended. 

At the Bombay, Poona, and Madras meetings, Gandhi quoted from 

"The Green Pamphlet” and asked the audience to buy it on the way 

out. In Madras, the proud author, noting the brochure’s success, brought 
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out a second ten-thousand edition which, at first, ''sold like hot cakes’^; 

but he had overestimated the market and was left with a remainder. 

Gandhi hoped to repeat the performance in Calcutta and talked with 

newspaper editors and eminent citizens. But a cable recalled him to 

Natal, South Africa, to cope with an emergency. He therefore rushed 

back to Bombay where, with his wife, two sons, and widowed sister s 

only son, he boarded the S. S. Courland, a ship belonging to his client, 

Dada Abdulla Sheth, who gave the whole family a free trip. The 

S. S. Naderi sailed for Natal at the same time. The two ships carried 

about eight hundred passengers. 

Gandhi s efforts to arouse Indian public opinion on the South African 

issue had been reported, with exaggeration, in the South African press. 

Now he was arriving with eight hundred free Indians. This provoked 

fierce resentment among the whites: Gandhi, they charged, intended 

to flood Natal and the Transvaal with unwanted, unindentured colored 

people. Gandhi was, of course, innocent of recruiting or encouraging the 

travelers. 

At first the ships were kept in quarantine, ostensibly because of the 

plague in Bombay. But after the five-day quarantine period, nobody was 

permitted to come ashore. In Durban, meetings of whites demanded 

that the ships and their passengers, including Gandhi, be returned to 

India. Dada Abdulla received offers of reimbursement of losses if he 

sent the steamers back. The oflFers were accompanied by veiled threats. 

He stood firm. 

On January 13, 1897, at the end of twenty-three days' rocking out¬ 

side the harbor (following a three-week voyage from Bombay) the 

Courland and Naderi were permitted to dock. But Mr. Harry Escombe, 

Attorney-General of the Natal government, who had openly participated 

in the anti-Gandhi agitation, sent a message to Gandhi to land at dusk 

to avoid trouble. Mr. F. A. Laughton, an Englishman and legal coun¬ 

sellor of Dada Abdulla, advised against this procedure. Nor did Gandhi 

wish to enter the city by stealth. Mrs. Gandhi, who was pregnant, and 

the two boys accordingly disembarked in normal fashion and were 

driven to the home of an Indian named Rustomji, while, by agreement, 

Gandhi and Laughton followed on foot. The clamoring crowds had 

dispersed; but two small boys recognized Gandhi and shouted his name. 

Several whites appeared. Fearing a fight, Laughton hailed a Negro* 
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drawn ricksha. Gandhi had never used one and was reluctant to do so 

now. The ricksha boy, in any case, ran away from fright. As Gandhi 

and Laughton proceeded, the crowd swelled and became violent. They 

isolated Gandhi from Laughton and threw stones, bricks, and eggs at 

him. Then they came closer, seized his turban, and beat and kicked 

him. Gandhi fainted from pain but caught hold of the iron railings of 

a house. White men continued to smack his face and strike his body. 

At this juncture, Mrs. Alexander, the wife of the Police Superintendent, 

who knew Gandhi, happened to pass, and she intervened and placed 

herself between the maddened mob and the miserable Gandhi. 

An Indian boy summoned the police. Gandhi refused asylum in the 

police station but accepted a police escort to Rustomii's house. He was 

bruised all over and received immediate medical attention. 

The city now knew Gandhi s whereabouts. White gangs surrounded 

Rustomji s home and demanded that Gandhi be delivered to them. 

'Well burn him,” they yelled. Superintendent Alexander was on the 

scene and tried, vainly, to calm or disperse the howling whites. To 

humor them, Alexander led the singing of 

And well hang old Gandhi 

On the sour apple tree, 

but he sensed that the temper of the lynch mob was rising and that the 

house with all its inmates would be burned. Night had set in. Alexander 

secretly sent a message to Gandhi to escape in disguise. The Superin¬ 

tendent put two detectives at Gandhi's disposal. Gandhi donned an 

Indian policeman's uniform and a headgear that looked like a helmet 

while the two white detectives painted their skins dark and decked 

themselves out as Indians. The three then left by the rear of the house 

and, threading their way through side streets, reached the police station. 

When Alexander knew that Gandhi was safe, he informed the 

crowd of the fact. This new situation required diplomatic handling, and 

fortunately the police chief proved equal to it. 

Gandhi remained in the safety of the police station for three days. 

News of the assault on Gandhi disturbed London. Joseph Chamber- 

lain, British Secretary of State for Colonies, cabled the Natal authorities 

to prosecute the attackers. Gandhi knew several of his assailants but 

refused to prosecute. He said it was not their fault; the blame rested 
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on the community leaders and on the Natal government. “This is a 

religious question with me/' Gandhi told Attorney-General Escombe, 

and he would exercise “self-restraint/' 

“Gandhi ought to have hated every white face to the end of his life/' 

wrote Professor Edward Thompson of Oxford. But Gandhi forgave the 

whites in Durban who assembled to lynch him and he forgave those 

who mauled and beat him. His soul kept no record of past sins against 

his body. Instead of prosecuting the guilty he pursued the more creative 

task of lightening his countrymen's lot. 

Gandhi had been called back to South Africa to seize a happy oppor¬ 

tunity. Under pressure exerted from London by Colonial Secretary 

Joseph Chamberlain and from the British government in India, the 

Natal legislature was debating a law to annul racial discrimination and 

replace it with an educational test. This had been Gandhi's goal. The 

Natal Act, passed in 1897, met his demand of equal electoral rights for 

British subjects, Indians included; the attempt to disfranchise the few 

hundred Indians was abandoned. Gandhi felt some satisfaction. Tem¬ 

pers cooled and tensions relaxed. 

CHAPTER EIGHT 

Gandhi Goes to War 

In the Boer War, which was waged in South Africa from 1899 to 1902 

between Dutch settlers and the British, Gandhi s personal sympathies 

“were all with the Boers." Yet he volunteered to serve with the British. 

“Every single subject of a state," he explained, “must not hope to enforce 

his opinion in all cases. The authorities may not always be right, but 

as long as the subjects owe allegiance to a state, it is their clear duty 

generally to accommodate themselves, and to accord their support, to 

the acts of the state.” 
This is not the language or sentiment of a pacifist. Although the 

Ipdians, Gandhi knew, were “helots in the Empire,” they were still 
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hoping to improve thdr condition within that empire and here was 

“a golden opportunity” to do so by supporting the British in the Boer 

War. 
The Indians’ claim for equal rights and fair treatment in South 

Africa, lawyer Gandhi submitted, was based on their status as British 

subjects, and since they sought the advantages of British citizenship 

they should also accept its obligations. 

Then Gandhi made a fine point: it could be said that this war and 

any war was immoral or anti-religious. Unless, however, a person had 

taken that position and actively defended it before the wat he could 

not use it as a justification for abstention after hostilities had com¬ 

menced. 

Gandhi would have been more popular with his countrymen had he 

advocated a do-nothing neutral policy. But it was unlike Gandhi to be 

evasive. He accordingly offered to organize Indians as stretcher bearers 

and medical orderlies at the front or for menial work in hospitals. Tire 

Natal government rejected the offer. Nevertheless, Gandhi and other 

Indians began, at their own expense, to train as nurses. They conveyed 

this information to the authorities together with certificates of physical 

fitness. Another rejection came. But the Boers were advancing the dead 

were piling up on the battlefield, and the wounded were receiving 

inadequate care. 

After much procrastination from prejudice, Natal sanctioned the 

formation of an Indian Ambulance Corps. Three hundred free Indians 

volunteered together with eight hundred indentured laborers furloughed 

by their masters. England and South Africa were impressed. 

Gandhi led the corps. A photograph taken at the time shows him in 

khaki imiform and broad-brimmed, jaunty, felt cowboy hat seated in 

the center of twenty-one men similarly dressed. Gandhi has a drooping 

mustache and, like the others, wears a Red Cross armband. He looks 

stem and small. Next to him is Dr. Booth, a bulky English physician 

in goatee who trained the volunteers. The man standing above Gandhi 

has both his hands on Gandhi’s shoulders. 

The corps members were African-bom and Indian-bom Hindus, Mos¬ 

lems, and Christians who lived together in natural amity. Their relations 

with the Tommies were very friendly. The public and the army ad¬ 

mired the endurance and courage of Gandhi’s corps. In one sanguinary 
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engagement at Spion Kop in January, 1900, the British were being 

forced to retire and General Buller, the commanding officer, sent 

through a message saying that although, by the terms of enlistment, 

the Indians were not to enter the firing line he would be thankful if 

they came up to remove the wounded. Gandhi led his men on to the 

battlefield. For days they worked under the fire of enemy guns and 

carried moaning soldiers back to base hospital. The Indians sometimes 

walked as much as twenty-five miles a day. 

Mr. Vere Stent, British editor of the Pretoria News, wrote an article 

in the July, 1911, issue of the Johannesburg Illustrated Star about a 

visit to the front during the Spion Kop battle. “After a night’s work, 

which had shattered men with much bigger frames,” he reported, ‘1 

came across Gandhi in the early morning sitting by the roadside eating 

a regulation army biscuit. Every man in Buller’s force was dull and 

depressed, and damnation was invoked on everything. But Gandhi was 

stoical in his bearing, cheerful, and confident in his conversations, and 

had a kindly eye. He did one good. It was an informal introduction, 

and it led to a friendship. I saw the man and his small imdisciplined 

corps on many a battlefield during the Natal campaign. When succor 

was to be rendered they were there. Their unassuming dauntlessness 

cost them many lives, and eventually an order was published forbidding 

them to go into the firing line.” 

Later in 1900 seasoned units arrived from England, fortune smiled 

on British arms, and the Indian Ambulance Corps was disbanded. 

Gandhi and several comrades received the War Medal, and the corps 

was mentioned in dispatches. 

Gandhi hoped that the fortitude of the Indians in war would appeal 

to South Africa’s sense of fair play and help moderate white hostility 

toward colored Asiatics. Perhaps the two communities would slowly 

grow closer together. He himself had no unspent belligerence and no 

further plans or ambitions in South Africa; nothing foreshadowed the 

epic opportunity for leadership and realization that awaited him there. 

He yearned to go home to India, and did—at the end of 1901. He took 

his family. He settled down in Bombay to practice law and enter 

politics. 

Gandhi was forging ahead in both fields. In fact, he was beginning 

to tread a path which led to the routine success of a mediocre lawyer 
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who made money, joined committees, and grew a paunch, when a tele¬ 

graphic summons from South Africa asked him to return. He had 

promised to return if called. It pained him to break up his new life but 

it pleased him to be needed. Kasturbai and the boys remained in Bom¬ 

bay. Gandhi estimated that he might be away four months to a year, 

Joseph Chamberlain, British Colonial Secretary, was making a trip 

to South Africa which the Indian community regarded as fateful, and 

they wanted their grievances presented to him by Gandhi. Hence the 

summons. 

Gandhi arrived in Durban near the end of 1902. 

Chamberlain, Gandhi assumed, had come to get a gift of thirty-fiVe 

million pounds from South Africa and to cement the postwar bonds 

between Boers and British. The Colonial Secretary certainly did not 

propose to antagonize the Boers. On the contrary, every possible con¬ 

cession would be made to them. Very soon, in fact, General Louis Botha, 

the Boer leader, became Prime Minister of the British-dominated Union 

of South Africa, and Jan Christiaan Smuts, another Boer general and 

lawyer, its Minister of Finance and Defense. Britain was tending Boer 

wounds and did not intend, therefore, to wound Boer susceptibilities 

by redressing Indian grievances. In British Natal, accordingly, Cham¬ 

berlain received an Indian delegation, listened to Gandhi's plea, and 

answered with chilling evasiveness; in the former Boer republic of 

Transvaal Gandhi was not even admitted into Chamberlain s presence, 

and those Indian representatives who were admitted got no greater satis¬ 

faction than seeing him. 

From repeated rumblings in the Transvaal it seemed that a political 

volcano might any day erupt and wipe out the entire Indian settlement. 

Gandhi therefore pitched his tent close to the crater; he became a resi¬ 

dent of Johannesburg, the largest city of the Transvaal, opened a law 

office there, and, without objection from the bar association, won the 

right to practice before the Supreme Court. 

The Transvaal government established an Asiatic Department to deal 

with Indians. This in itself was ominous; it suggested a racial approach. 

The Department, which Gandhi charged with corruption, was manned, 

in the main, by British army officers who had come from India during 

the Boer War and elected to stay. Their mentality was that of the white 

sahib in a colonj of colored inferiors. 
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One of the top Asiatic-Department ideologues was Lionel Curtis, 

assistant Colonial Secretary of the Transvaal, who later attained wider 

fame as a liberal apologist of imperialism. Gandhi went to see him in 

1903 and Mr. Curtis wrote subsequently: '‘Mr. Gandhi was, I believe, 

the first Oriental I ever met”; but ignorance has ever facilitated policy¬ 

making. Gandhi, Curtis says, "started by trying to convince me of the 

good points in the character of his countrymen, their industry, frugality, 

their patience.” Still the same Gandhian hope of winning friends by 

disproving calumnies! But Curtis replied, "Mr. Gandhi, you are preach¬ 

ing to the converted. It is not the vices of Indians that Europeans in 

this country fear but their virtues.” 

If the Indians in South Africa had consented to be "hewers of wood 

and drawers of water” they would have had no trouble. But the whites, 

afraid to meet the Indians in equal combat, used their monopoly of 

political power to handicap the brown men from another part of the 

Empire. The purjx)se was unmistakable because frankly avowed. Gen¬ 

eral Botha put it bluntly in an election speech at Standerton in Jan¬ 

uary, 1907, when he declared, "If my party is returned to office we will 

undertake to drive the coolies out of the country within four years.” 

And Smuts asserted in October, 1906, "The Asiatic cancer, which has 

already eaten so deeply into the vitals of South Africa, ought to be 

resolutely eradicated.” These were the Asiatic Department s marching 

orders. 

Gandhi stopped the whites far short of this goal. 

Throughout 1904, 1905, and the first part of 1906, the Transvaal 

Asiatic Department diligently carried out all anti-Indian regulations 

and showed special aptitudes in inventing new ones. It looked as though 

the existence of the ten thousand Indians of the Transvaal and of the 

more than one hundred thousand in South Africa was in jeopardy; the 

threats of Botha and Smuts appeared on the eve of being translated into 

actuality. 

Gandhi was now the recognized leader of South Africa's Indian com¬ 

munity. Tension between whites and Indians was waxing. Nevertheless, 

Gandhi forsook the political arena when the Zulu "rebellion” occurred 

in the first half of 1906, and joined the British army with a small group 

of twenty-four Indian volunteers to serve as stretcher bearers and sani¬ 

tary aids. Gandhi said he joined because he believed that "the British 
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Empire existed for the welfare of the world”; he had a "genuine sense 

of loyalty” to it 

The “rebellion” was really a punitive expedition or “police action” 

which opened with the exemplary hanging of twelve Zulus and con¬ 

tinued to the last as a ghastly procession of shootings and floggings. Since 

white physicians and nurses would not tend sick and dying Zulus, the 

task was left to the Indians who witnessed all the horrors of black men 

whipped till their skin came off in strips. Gandhi’s party sometimes 

came on the scene five or six days after the British had passed by and 

found the victims suffering agony from open, suppurating wounds. The 

Indians marched as many as forty miles a day. 

After a month’s service, the Indian unit was demobilized and each 

man honored with a special medal. Gandhi had held the rank of ser¬ 

geant major. All members wore khaki uniform, this time with puttees. 

When Gandhi returned from this one-sided war he was obliged to 

plunge into a cold war with the British which ended in an historic 

victtHy for moral force and brought him honor in India and fame 

throughout the world. 

CHAPTER NINE 

The Transformation Begins 

The Gandhi who worsted the South African government in prolonged 

combat had first conquered himself and transformed his living habits 

and inner essence. That alter^ his relations with Kasturbai and their 

children. 

A photograph of Mrs. Gandhi on her first arrival in South Africa in 

1897—at twenty-eight—shows her a beautiful woman, elegantly dressed 

in a rich, silk sari. The fine oval face with eyes wdde apart, well-formed 

nose, delicately curved lips, and perfectly shaped chin must have made 

her very attractive indeed. She was not as tall as Gandhi. He was photo¬ 

graphed on the same occasion in a European suit, stiff white collar and 



The Transformation Begins 59 

sti£F white shirt, a gay, striped necktie, and a round button in his lapel 

buttonhole. On his head is a thin skull cap. In a second exposure he is 

without headdress. His full lips begin to reflect the will power tempered 

by powerful emotional self-control which they later expressed so elo¬ 

quently. But on the whole he looks the average Indian Europeanized 

by constant imitation of the white world. 

Harilal and Manilal, their two sons who came with them to South 

Africa, were dressed in knee-length coats and long. Western trousers. 

They wore shoes and stockings; they had not worn them in India. 

Neither had Kasturbai. All three dishked them and complained to the 

head of the family that their feet felt cramped and the stockings stank. 

But Gandhi used his authority to compel obedience. He also inflicted 

the Western torture of knives and forks at meals; finger-eating had 

been so much more comfortable and tasty. 

Gandhi earned five to six thousand pounds, or twenty-five to thirty 

thousand dollars’ a year from his legal work—a gigantic income in those 

days in South Africa. At one time, in Durban, he rented an English villa 

at the beach a few doors from the Attomey-General's home, and always 

his life resembled that of the professional man who had made good. 

Before going to study law in London, Gandhi had yearned to be a 

doctor, and in effect he always was. He offered free medical advice to 

most of his legal clients. One of them, Lutavasinh, was asthmatic. 

Gandhi induced him to fast and give up smoking. Later, Gandhi put 

him on a diet of rice, milk, and marmalade for a month. “At the end of 

the month,” Gandhi boasted years later, “he was free from asthma.” 

An Indian businessman's son took sick suddenly; the doctor advised 

an operation. Gandhi was summoned. To calm the father, Gandhi 

agreed to be present at the operation. The child died under the knife; 

Gandhi never shook off the impression. 

Gandhi was also Kasturbai’s midwife. He had studied a book endded 

Advice to a Mother, which constituted a full course in obstetrics and 

infant care, and when labor came too swiftly for professional help to 

be fetched, Gandhi himself delivered his fourth son, Devadas, May 22, 

1900. “I was not nervous,” he said. For two months after the birth of 

Devadas, and also for a while after the birth of Ramdas, his third son, 

in South Africa in 1897, Gandhi employed a nurse; she helped Kasturbai 

in the household. But caring for infants "I did myself,” Gandhi writes. 
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Gandhi was constantly interfering in household matters; that incensed 

Kasturbai. He considered himself her teacher, which riled her. He al¬ 

ways imposed new, rigid rules of behavior. The “blind, infatuated'' love 

he gave Kasturbai was a diminishing recompense for these tribulations. 

But “A Hindu wife," Gandhi declared, “regards implicit obedience to 

her husband as the highest religion. A Hindu husband regards himself 

as the lord and master of his wife who must ever dance attendance upon 

him." Gandhi, in this period, was a very Hindu husband. He thought 

himself “a cruelly kind" spouse. At times, Kasturbai would have failed 

to notice the kindness. 

Frequently, Gandhi's friends, and his law clerks and assistants whom 

he treated like sons, stayed with him. Among these non-paying boarders 

was Sheik Mehtab, his athletic, meat-eating boyhood chum. Gandhi 

had brought him along on his second trip from India. Sheik had hardly 

settled in the Gandhi household when he began secretly to introduce 

prostitutes into his room. Gandhi was informed but he refused to be¬ 

lieve it until on one occasion he caught Sheik in the act. Sheik had to 

leave the house. Later Sheik married and reformed and wrote mediocre 

inspirational verse for the Gandhian passive resisters; his wife went to 

prison as a passive resister. 

There was no running water in the Gandhi home; each room had a 

chamber pot. Gandhi would not employ an untouchable “sweeper" who 

in India does all “unclean" tasks. He and Kasturbai carried out the 

pots. She had no choice; he insisted. But one clerk had been an un¬ 

touchable himself and had become a Christian in order lo escape the 

ugly disabilities which Hindus inflict on their “outcastes." To the ortho¬ 

dox Kasturbai, however, he remained an untouchable and she balked 

at cleaning his pot. In fact she hated the whole business and did not 

see why she, or her husband for that matter, should perform suchjasks. 

Gandhi compelled her to obey^ he considered it part of her “education." 

But she cried and her eyes were red with anger and tears. He protested; 

not only must she do this chore but she had to do it cheerfully, and 

when he saw her weep, he shouted, “I will not have this nonsense in my 

house." 

“Keep your house to yourself and let me go," she screamed. 

Gandhi grabbed her by the hand, dragged her to the gate, opened it, 

and was about to push her out. 
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"Have you no shame?'* she exclaimed through copious tears. "Where 

am I to go? 1 have no parents or relatives here. For Heaven s sake, be¬ 

have yourself and shut the gate. Let us not be found making scenes like 

this." 

This brought Gandhi to his senses. He possessed a temper and temper¬ 

ament, and his subsequent Mahatma-calm was the product of training. 

In 1901 Gandhi decided to return to India. On the eve of his de- 

parture—with his family—the Indian community outdid itself in con¬ 

crete demonstrations of gratitude. He was presented with numerous 

gold and silver objects and diamond ornaments. For Kasturbai there 

was a very valuable gold necklace. 

Gandhi had received gifts when he left for India in 1896. They 

were not like these; they were small, personal tokens of appreciation 

which he had accepted easily in that spirit. Since then, moreover, 

his view of personal possessions had been gradually changing. He 

was beginning to see danger in wealth and property. He had been 

pleading with people to conquer their infatuation for jewelry. Yet 

now he himself owned more than anybody whom he had tried to 

convert. 

After the presentation party he went home and spent a sleepless 

night. The gifts might be construed as payment for services which 

he had rendered with no thought of material gain. He wanted to 

give them up. But he saw the advantage of retention. Torn between 

the yearning for financial security and the desire for the freedom 

derived from owning nothing, he paced up and down for hours 

arguing with himself. He was also aware that he faced a family crisis 

if he decided to return the gifts. Kasturbai w^ould protest; he would 

be making her unhappy. But by morning his mind was made up: 

the gifts must go. 

He had won his own battle. Gould he convince Kasturbai? 

First, in order to make the renunciation a fact beyond family dis¬ 

pute, he drafted a letter which elaborated a plan of using the gifts 

to create a community fund. Then he proceeded to recruit Harilal 

and Manilal, his first and second born. They were readily persuaded 

They had no interest in jewels and no objection to his emerging new 

philosophy of austerity. Besides, Papa was a compelling debater. 

"Lets return them," they agreed. 
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‘Then you will plead with your mother, won’t you?” Gandhi 

hinted. 

"Certainly,” the young boys said with alacrity. “Just leave it to us. She 

does not need ornaments. She would want them for us, and if we 

don’t want them why should she not part with them?” 

But the boys failed to move Kasturbai. Gandhi came to their aid. 

‘It’s all very well for you,” Kasturbai started calmly. “You don’t 

care for jewels. You don’t wear them. And it’s easy enough for you 

to get around the boys. They’ll always dance to your tune. As for me, 

I have already obeyed your order not to wear trinkets. After all the 

talking you’ve done about other people not wearing jewels it would 

not do for me to wear them. But what about my daughters-in-law?” 

she said with bitterness and growing determination. “They will be 

sure to want them.” 

“Well,” Gandhi put in mildly, “the children aren’t married yet. 

We’ve always said they must not marry young. When they are grown 

up they can take care of themselves. And surely we will not choose 

brides for our sons who are fond of jewelry.” 

“Young things like pretty things,” argued Kasturbai. 

Gandhi tried to soothe. ‘Well,” he said, “if they do, if after all we 

have to provide them with ornaments, I shall be here. You will ask 

me then.” 

That infuriated Kasturbai. “Ask you! I know you by this time. 

You took my jewelry away from me. Imagine you offering to get 

jewels for your daughters-in-law! You, who are trying to make monks 

of my boys. 

“No,” she shouted, “the ornaments will not be returned.” 

The Hindu wife was defiant. “Besides,” she exclaimed, “the neck¬ 

lace is mine. You have no right to return that.” This was a retreat. 

She had given up hope of their keeping all the jewels. At least, the 

necklace. 

Eager to mollify her, Gandhi nevertheless was hard. ‘Was the 

necklace given to you for your service or for my service?” he asked 

rhetorically. 

Kasturbai burst into tears. “It’s the same thing,” she sobbed. “Serv¬ 

ice rendered by you is as though rendered by me. I have toiled and 

moiled for you day and night. Is that no service? You forced all and 
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sundry guests upon me^ making me weep bitter tears, and I slaved 

for them/' 

Gandhi knew this was a just reproach. But he did not admit it at 

the moment. He was determined to return the jewels and create the 

community fund. He was ‘‘definitely of the opinion that a public 

worker should accept no costly gifts.'' He was beginning to believe 

that he should own nothing costly, whether given or earned. Against 

this powerful impulse which would soon reach full flower and alter 

his entire mode of life, Kasturbai had no argument. Hers was the 

instinctive, million-year-old female desire for adornment and the fear, 

equally primitive, of material want. But a plea for acquisitiveness 

could not stand against Gandhi's penchant for renunciation, nor 

could Kasturbai induce him to prefer self-enrichment to community 

service. In the end, he simply asserted his male authority and an¬ 

nounced that the 1901 gifts, and those of 1896, would be surrendered 

to trustees. So it was, and the fund, augmented from other sources, 

served South African Indians for decades thereafter. 

Shortly after this episode, Gandhi, having returned to India and rented 

a home and chambers in Bombay, received a call in his office from an 

American insurance agent. The agent had a “pleasant countenance" 

and “a sweet tongue." He discussed Gandhi's future “as though we 

were old friends." In America, the agent said, “a person like you 

would always carry insurance; life is uncertain." Moreover, “It's a 

religious duty to be insured." This impressed Gandhi; he had be¬ 

lieved that faith in God made an insurance policy superfluous. “And 

what about your family?" the agent continued. Gandhi knew that 

his surrender of the fortune in jewels had intensified Kasturbai's 

insecurity. What would happen to her and the boys if he died; would 

it be right again to burden his generous brother who had already 

spent so much money on them? So Gandhi took out an insurance 

policy for ten thousand rupees or, roughly, five thousand dollars in 

values of that time. The glib American agent subverted the future 

Mahatma. The future Mahatma had not yet solved his psychological 

problems. 

Hardly had the family found itself in Bombay than Manilal, aged 

ten, came down with a severe case of typhoid complicated, before 

long, by pneumonia. At night, the boy had a very high temperature. 
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A Parsi doctor was called. He said there was no effective medicine. 

Everything depended on proper diet and good nursing. He recom¬ 

mended chicken broth and eggs. 

“But we are absolute vegetarians,” Gandhi told the doctor. 

“Your son’s life is in danger,” the doctor cautioned. “We could 

give him milk diluted with water but that will not provide enough 

nourishment.” The Parsi physician said many of his flindu patients 

were vegetarians but in serious illnesses they obeyed his instructions. 

Gandhi replied, “Even for life itself we may not do certain things. 

Rightly or wrongly it is part of my religious conviction that man may 

not eat eggs and meat. It is in crises such as this that a person’s faith 

is truly tested.” To be a vegetarian in normal circumstances and take 

meat when the body is under stress would mock vegetarianism. 

Gandhi accordingly told the doctor he would persist. “I propose, in 

addition,” Gandhi declared, “to try some hydropathic remedies which 

I happen to know.” He had been reading pamphlets on water cure 

by a Dr. Kuhne of Leipzig. 

Gandhi informed Manilal about this conversation. The boy was 

too weak to do more than assent. The father now assumed complete 

charge of the patient. He gave Manilal several three-minute hot hip 

baths a day and starved him on diluted orange juice for three days. 

But the temperature remained at 104. Manilal was delirious. 

Gandhi worried. He worried about what people would say, what his 

elder brother Laxmidas, now the head of the family, would say. And 

Kasturbai was anxious and angry. Should he try another physician, 

or perhaps consult an expert in ancient Indian aryuvedic medicine? 

On the other hand, he said to himself, “the thread of life is in 

God’s hand; and God must be pleased by my adherence to vegetarian¬ 

ism and natural cures.” 

The boy’s condition became extremely critical. Gandhi decided to 

give him a wet pack. He dipped a bedsheet in water, wrung it out, 

wrapped it around Manilal’s body, covered him with two blankets, 

and put a wet towel to the head. 

Manilal’s body was hot and dry. Gandhi was frantic. The boy was 

not perspiring. Kasturbai fretted. Gandhi put her in charge, telling 

her strictly not to alter anything; he himself felt he had to leave the 
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house to lessen the tension within him. He walked the streets and 

prayed, calling, ‘^God, God, God, God, please, God."' 

Excited, exhausted, he returned home. 

“It is you Bapu,'' Manilal said to his father. 

“Yes, darling,’* Gandhi replied. 

“I am burning, take me out/* 

“Just a few more minutes, son. You are perspiring. You will soon 

be well.** 

“No, Bapu, I cannot stand it any longer. I am burning up.'* 

“Another minute. It will relieve you.** 

Gandhi opened the sheet and wiped the body dry. Then they both 

fell asleep in the same bed. Next morning the fever was down. 

Gradually, it disappeared. Gandhi held the boy on diluted milk and 

fruit juices for forty days until he was completely recovered. 

Was it hydropathy? Or diet? It happens that Gandhi did the right 

thing from the medical point of view. Orange juice and milk were at 

least as good, i^erhaps better than, eggs and chicken. But Gandhi 

ascribed ManilaVs delivery to “God’s grace.** 

“God saved my honor,” he said. 

Gandhi had settled down in Bombay, but in 1902 he was again 

recalled to South Africa. He now realized that he would be there 

for a long time and sent for his wife and three boys; Harilal, the 

eldest, remained in India. Gandhi resumed his lucrative law practice 

in Johannesburg. 

Gandhi insisted that his clients tell him the whole truth; he 

dropped many cases when he discovered that he had been deceived. 

The lawyer’s duty, he held, was not to prove the guilty innocent but 

to help the court arrive at the truth. 

If a person, wishing to retain him, made a confession of wrong¬ 

doing, Gandhi would say, “Why don’t you plead guilty and take the 

penalty?” He thought there was too much litigation for community 

health and individual morality. “A true lawyer,** he declared, “is one 

who places truth and service in the first place and the emoluments 

of the profession in the next place only.” But the true lawyer, he 

found, was a rare bird. Lawyers often lied, money talked, and wit¬ 

nesses consciously perjured themselves. 
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Even as a lawyer his primary impulse was to change men. He 

respected no precedent, tradition, enactment, or habit that obstructed 

a change he aspired to introduce. He changed his own habits with 

the greatest alacrity. 

Gandhi suffered from occasional rheumatic inflammation, head¬ 

aches, and constipation. Though a vegetarian he was a heavy eater. 

He concluded that he overate. Having heard of the formation in 

Manchester, England, of a No-Breakfast Association, he dispensed 

with the morning meal, and the headaches and other physical ail¬ 

ments disappeared. Thereafter he took no more laxatives or medi¬ 

cines. Instead, if necessary, he applied a poultice of clean earth 

moistened with cold water to his abdomen; this worked alimentary 

miracles. Simultaneously, he adopted a diet based on sun-baked fruits 

and nuts. Grapes and almonds, according to his researches, were 

adequate nourishment for the tissues and nerves. 

He walked to and from his law office. As long as the family was 

in Johannesburg the children accompanied him—a distance of five 

miles in all. In the oflBce he became an expert typist. 

Once a white barber refused to cut Gandhi s hair. Without blaming the 

barber (‘^There was every chance of his losing his custom if he should 

serve black men. We do not allow our barbers to serve our untouch¬ 

able brethren”) Gandhi bought a pair of clippers and thenceforth 

cut his own hair and that of the boys. 

Gandhi wore stiff white collars, but the laundry was expensive 

and, besides, it returned work so slowly that he had to have several 

dozen collars. He took to washing and starching them himself. The 

first time he did it he used too much starch and the iron was not hot 

enough. In court, the starch began dropping off the collar, and 

Gandhi’s colleagues laughed. But ' m the course of time I became an 

expert washerman.” He saw "'the beauty of s6lf-help.” 

In 1903 Gandhi joined a group of Christians and Theosophists 

called the Seekers’ Club. They frequently read the Bhagavad Gita 
together. Spurred by this activity Gandhi began studying the Gita 
again. His morning toilet required thirty-five minutes, ^'fifteen min¬ 

utes for the toothbrush,” an old Indian custom, and twenty minutes 

for bathing. While cleaning his teeth, he memorized the Gita. Its 

outstanding lesson to him now was *'non-possession.” Straightaway 
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he allowed his Bombay American insurance policy to lapse. “God 

would take care” o£ the family. 

But “were not wife and children possessions?” 

The discussions at the Seekers led him to introspection. He concluded 

that his emotions were undisciplined and that he lacked “equability.” 

To be equable he would have to treat family, friend, and foe alike. This 

was Gita “detachment.” 

One evening Gandhi went to an “At Home” of the proprietress of 

his favorite vegetarian restaurant. There he met a young man named 

Henry S. L. Polak, bom at Dover, England, in 1882, who had become 

a vegetarian after reading Count Leo Tolstoy. Polak also knew Adolf 

Just’s Return to Nature, a treatise on nature cures which Gandhi cher¬ 

ished. They talked, found much in common, and became friends. Polak 

was assistant editor of the Transvaal Critic. He had “a wonderful fac¬ 

ulty,” Gandhi said, “of translating into practice anything that appealed 

to his intellect. Some of the changes he had made in his hfe were as 

prompt as they were radical.” This description of what Gandhi liked in 

Polak is a description of Gandhi. 

Some months earlier, in 1903, Gandhi had helped start a weekly 

magazine called Indian Opinion. The paper was in difficulties, and to 

cope with them at first hand Gandhi took a trip to Durban where the 

magazine was published. Polak saw him off at the Johannesburg station 

and gave him a book to read for the long journey. It was John Ruskin’s 

Unto This Last. 

Ruskin (1819-1900) was a British essayist and critic of art and books 

who, to the surprise of his large literary following, suddenly devoted 

himself to sociology and economics. His monumental Fors Clavigera 

(eight volumes published between 1871 and 1874) preached the dig¬ 

nity of manual labor, urged the simple life, and stressed the debilitating 

complexities of the modern economic system. 

Ruskin was sometimes contemptuous of the society in which he lived. 

“How much,” he demanded in Sesame and Lilies, “do you think we 

spend on libraries, public and private, as compared with what we spend 

on our horses? . . . Or, to go lower still, how much do you think the 

contents of the book-shelves of the United Kingdom, private and public, 

would fetch, as compared with the contents of its wine<ellars?” 

'The same iconoclastic spirit permeates Unto This Last: Four Essays 
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on the First Principles of Political Economy, Published serially in the 

London Comhill Magazine, and in Harpers, New York, from Septem¬ 

ber to December, i860, they appeared two years later as a book. Gandhi 

said it was written with “blood and tears.'' 

“Riches," Ruskin declared, “are a power like that of electricity, acting 

through inequalities or negations of itself. The force of the guinea you 

have in your pocket depends wholly on the default of a guinea in your 

neighbor's pocket. If he did not want it, it would be of no use to you." 

When he is poor and long out of work the guinea is more valuable to 

you. Therefore, “what is really desired, under the name of riches, is, 

essentially, power over men." 

Consequently, men should seek “not greater wealth, but simpler 

pleasure; not higher fortune but deeper felicity; making the first of 

possessions, self-possession; and honoring themselves in the harmless 

pride and calm pursuits of peace." 

Remembering that “what one person has, another cannot have," rhe 

rich should abstain from luxuries until all, the poorest too, shall have 

enough, “until the time come, and the kingdom, when Christ's gift of 

bread and bequest of peace shall be Unto this last as unto thee. . . ." 

To Gandhi it meant: only that economy is good which conduces to 

the good of all. This Gandhi had known. The second lesson, which he 

had “dimly realized," was that “a lawyer's work has the same value as 

the barber's, inasmuch as all have the same right of earning their liveli¬ 

hood for their work." Gandhi derived this interpretation from one 

sentence in Ruskin's book: “A laborer serves his country with his spade, 

^ just as a man in the middle rank of life serves it with the sword, the 

pen, or the lancet," But Ruskin did not say, as Gandhi did, that the 

work of all “has the same value." On the contrary, Ruskin stresses, more 

than anything else, “the impossibility of Equality" between men. He 

merely contended that the underprivileged must find protection in the 

morality of the fortunate. Ruskin hoped to alleviate the hardships of 

inequality by an appeal to the conscience of the devout. 

The third lesson of Unto This Last—“that the life of labor, that is, 

the life of the tiller of the soil and the handicraftsman, is the life worth 

living"—was completely new to Gandhi, But these are Gandhi's words; 

the teaching, though not alien to Ruskin, is scarcely to be found in the 

four essays. Ruskin merely suggested, in a footnote, that the rich would 
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be healthier with “lighter dinner and more work” while the poor could 

do with more dinner and lighter work. 

Gandhi, who had never read Ruskin, started reading Unto This Last 

the moment the train left Johannesburg and read all night. “That book,” 

he said in October, 1946, “marked the turning point in my life.” He 

immediately decided “to change my life in accordance with the ideals 

of the book.” He would go to live on a farm with his family and 

associates. 

As Gandhi read his deepest convictions into the Gita, so he wove his 

own notions into Ruskin. Those books appealed to him most which 

were closest to his concept of life, and, where they deviated, he brought 

them closer by interpreting them. “It was a habit with me,” Gandhi 

once wrote, “to forget what I did not like and to carry out in practice 

whatever I liked.” 

Ruskin, Gandhi observed in 1932, “was content to revolutionize his 

mind” but lacked the strength to change his life. Gandhi suffered from 

no such deficiency. Bent on establishing a Walden on the veldt, he 

acted quickly. He bought a farm near Phoenix, a town fourteen miles 

from Durban. Situated on a hill, it consisted of a hundred acres with 

a well, some orange, mulberry, and mango trees, and one dilapidated 

cottage. It cost a thousand pounds. Several rich Indians helped with 

money. One Indian friend contributed quantities of corrugated iron for 

houses. Gandhi would have preferred mud huts with thatched roofs, but 

his colleagues vetoed that. 

Without delay, the presses and offices of Indian Opinion were trans¬ 

ferred to the farm. Albert West, the British editor of the magazine, 

whom Gandhi had met in a vegetarian restaurant, gave instant agree¬ 

ment to this startling project, Tliey fixed a monthly allowance of three 

pounds for editor, errand boy, and compositor. That was in 1904. The 

magazine is still published in the same place by Manilal Gandhi. 

For a while, Gandhi s law practice required his presence in Johannes¬ 

burg. He could not yet liberate himself for the new life at Phoenix. He 

wrote much of the matter that went into Indian Opinion and personally 

covered most of its deficits, which amounted to hundreds of dollars per 

month. He did a great deal of legal work for Indians who entrusted him 

not only with their litigations but also with their saving^. The Indian 

indentured laborers knew Gandhi as their champion with the author- 
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ities and in the courts. He also doctored them. Those who became free 

and accumulated wealth often gave him their money to keep; they had 

no knowledge of banking and no faith in whites. 

A proprietor was seeking funds to expand a vegetarian dining room. 

Gandhi had a large sum belonging to Badri, a former serf. “Badri,” said 

Gandhi, “may I use your money to help this restaurant? It requires a 

thousand pounds.” 

“Brother,” Badri replied, “give away the money if you like. I know 

nothing in these matters. I know only you.” 

Gandhi lent the proprietor the money. In three months the restaurant 

failed. Gandhi paid back the money out of his own pocket. 

Henry Polak was assisting with the magazine, but Gandhi needed 

him in his law business too, and so Polak, who had settled on the 

Phoenix farm, came to live in Gandhi’s Johannesburg home which al¬ 

ways resembled an Indian joint family except that in the Gandhi house¬ 

hold not only blood relatives but friends, co-workers, employees, and 

political associates resided under one roof. Gandhi paid the expenses. 

Polak wanted to get married; he had postponed it for financial reasons. 

But having made him a member of the joint Gandhi family, Gandhi 

prodded him to marry. “You are now mine,” Gandhi said. ‘Tour con¬ 

cern about yourself and your children is my concern. It is I who am 

marrying you, and I do not see any objection to your marrying immedi¬ 

ately." Polak brought his bride from England. She was a Christian, 

Polak a Jew, but their real religion, Gandhi said, “was the religion of 

ethics.” Ever shaping others’ lives, Gandhi also persuaded Albert West 

to marry. West went to Scotland and returned with a wife, a mother- 

in-law, and a sister. They were embraced in the joint family. At this 

stage of his life, Gandhi was interested in marrying off all his bachelor 

&iends. 

'The expanding Johannesburg household adopted the practice of max¬ 

imum manual self-service. Instead of buying bread, unleavened whole¬ 

meal biscuits were baked at home after a recipe of the remote but omni¬ 

present Dr. Kuhne of Leipzig, author of The New Science of Healing. 

For health and economy reasons, the flour was ground in a handmill 

with a huge iron wheel. Gandhi, the children, and the Polaks took turns 

at this arduous labor. “Good exercise for the boys,” said their exacting 

papa. The bo)ts also did the chamber-pot chores. 
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During 1904 and 1905, Gandhi, Kasturbai, and their sons lived now 

in Johannesburg, now at Phoenix Farm. In both places, the problem of 

restraint and self-control preoccupied him. He began to fast, like his 

mother, whenever an occasion presented itself. On the other days, he 

ate two meager meals of fruits and nuts. But after a fast, he enjoyed his 

food more and wanted to eat more. Fasts therefore could lead to indul¬ 

gence! Gandhi s goal was the ''disembodiment'' and "desirelessness" 

which, in Hindu thought, conduces to union with God. Mere absten¬ 

tion does not meet the Gita ideal; craving too must be absent. If reduced 

food consumption stimulated the appetite the restraint was negated. 

His task, therefore, was to conquer the palate. As a minimum, he 

dispensed with spices and seasoning. Now began his lifelong search for 

a diet which, while sustaining animal man, lifted the mind above the 

animal. 

If he did not curb his passion for food, how could he curb stronger 

passions: anger, vanity, and sex? We live, Gandhi argued, not in order 

to provide food, clothing, and shelter for the body. We provide food, 

clothing, and shelter for the body in order to live. Material things are 

only the means to a spiritual end. When they become the end, the sole 

end, as they usually are, life loses content and discontent afflicts man¬ 

kind. The soiil, alas, needs a temporary abode, but a clean mud hut will 

do as well as a palace, much better in fact. The body must be kept alive, 

not pampered. To achieve release for the spirit, the body must be sub¬ 

jected to the discipline of the mind. 

The denial of ordinary pleasures is masochism, a Westerner might 

say. Yet the Christian ethic is ascetic, and sainthood in all religions is 

related to self-denial. 

The year 1906 marked a crisis in Gandhi's struggle with his passions. 

He had given up the house in Johannesburg, sent the family to Phoenix 

Farm, and volunteered for medical work in the Zulu "war." The sup¬ 

pression of the tribesmen, with its insensate cruelty of man to man, 

depressed him. The long treks to the hamlets of the suffering Negroes 

afforded ample opportunity for self-analysis; he must do more to make a 

better world. Also, he had a premonition of further discriminatory 

measures against Indians in South Africa. He must dedicate himself 

completely to public service. 

To Gandhi, selfless service did not mean the sacrifice of part of ones 
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assets; it required the investment of all of ones being. A dedicated 

person could not belong to wife or children, for if he did, then they 

and not the work would be the first consideration. To lead others he 

had to be immune to all temptations and in command of all his desires. 

Gandhi accordingly resolved to give up sexual intercourse. Twice 

before, he had tried to become continent. Kasturbai was willing. They 

began to sleep in separate beds, and he never retired until he was phys¬ 

ically exhausted. Both times he succumbed to temptation. 

This time, however, he took a vow. 

On demobilization from the Zulu uprising, Gandhi went to the farm 

and told Kasturbai of his pledge to forswear sex. She made no protest. 

''She was never the temptress,*' Gandhi asserted; he determined the 

character of their intimate relations. 

Gandhi remained celibate from 1906, when he was thirty-seven, until 

his death in 1948. 

The Indian word for continence is "Brahmacharya,** and a celibate 

man or woman is called a "Brahmachari." Brahmacharya “fully and 

properly understood,** Gandhi wrote in 1924, “means search after 

Brahma,** or God. “Brahmacharya,** he added, “signifies control of all 

the senses at all times and at all places in thought, word, and deed.** It 

thus includes yet transcends sexual restraint; it embraces restraint in 

diet, emotions, and speech. It rules out hate, anger, violence, and un¬ 

truth. It creates equability. It is desirelessness. 

“Perfect Brahmacharis,** Gandhi wrote, “are perfectly sinless. They 

are therefore near to God. They are like God.** To that he aspired. It was 

the ultimate in self-transformation. 

It is difficult to plumb Gandhi*s motives; it was difficult even for him 

to know them. Gandhi believed his celibacy was “a response to the calls 

of public duty.** On the other hand, “My main object was to escape 

having more children.** 

But why avoid additional children? Phoenix Farm was one big joint 

family into which Gandhi invited many adults and children. Their care 

was a common responsibility and expense. More of his own would not 

have increased the burden. 

Kasturbai was anemic. She was once near death from internal hemor¬ 

rhage. A gynecological operation, performed without chloroform because 

she was too emaciated, brought relief but no cure. 
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Brahmacharya is encountered frequently in Indian lore and life. But 

it is unusual for a married man to take the vow at the early age at which 

Gandhi adopted it. Kasturbai s biology and Hinduism are part of the 

explanation. ‘The sight of women/' he admitted in the June 15, 1947, 

Harijan magazine, “had ceased to arouse any sexual urge in me in South 

Africa." That was a third factor. Perhaps, too, he harked back to his 

behavior while his father was dying. 

In retrospect, Gandhi naturally did not attribute the chastity vow to 

his own physiology or to Kasturbai s, nor to his psychology. On the 

contrary, he identified effect with motive, and the effect was spiritual. 

The chaste life apparently reinforced his passion and determination to 

sacrifice for the common weal. Less carnal, he became less self-centered. 

He seemed suddenly lifted above the material. A new inner drive pos¬ 

sessed him. Storms continued to rage within, but now he could harness 

them for the generation of more power. 

A new Gandhi faced the South African government. 

CHAPTER TEN 

Septemher ii, 1906 

Nearly three thousand persons filled the Imperial Theatre in Johannes¬ 

burg. The big hall throbbed with the din of voices which spoke the 

Tamil and Telugu languages of southern India, Gujarati, and Hindi. 

The few women wore saris. The men wore European and Indian 

clothes; some had Hindu turbans and caps, some Moslem headgear. 

Among them were rich merchants, miners, lawyers, indentured laborers, 

waiters, ricksha boys, domestic servants, hucksters, and poor shopkeepers. 

Many were delegates representing the eighteen thousand Indians of 

the Transvaal, now a British colony; they were meeting to decide what 

to do about pending discriminatory enactments against Indians. Abdul 

Gani, chairman of the Transvaal British-Indian Association and the 
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manager of a big business firm, presided. Sheth Haji Habib delivered 

the main address. Mohandas K. Gandhi sat on the platform. 

Gandhi had convened the meeting. On returning from service to the 

Zulus, and after acquainting Kasturbai with his celibacy vow, he had 

rushed off to Johannesburg in answer to a summons from the Indian 

community. The Transvaal Government Gazette of August zz, 1906, 

had printed the draft of an ordinance to be submitted to the legislature. 

If adopted, Gandhi decided, it would spell “absolute ruin for the Indians 

of South Africa. . . . Better die than submit to such a law.” 

“But how are we to die?” Gandhi wondered. He had no idea what 

to do. He only knew that the ordinance must be resisted; nowhere in the 

world, he believed, had free men been subjected to such humiliating, 

restrictive legislation. 

The proposed ordinance required all Indian men and women, and 

children over eight, to register with the authorities, submit to finger- 

jmndng, and accept a certificate which they were to carry with them 

at all times. A person who failed to register and leave his fingerprints 

l<Kt his right of residence and could be imprisoned, fined, or deported 

from the Transvaal. An Indian apprehended on the street or anywhere 

without certificate could likewise be imprisoned, fined, or deported even 

though he owned valuable property or engaged in important commercial 

transactions. 

The Indians were incensed. This act was directed specifically against 

Indians and was therefore an affront to them and to India. If passed it 

would be the beginning of similar laws in other parts of South Africa; 

in the end, no Indian could remain in South Africa. Moreover, the ordi¬ 

nance would permit a police officer to accost an Indian woman on the 

street or enter her home and ask for her registration document. In view 

of the complete or partial aloofness in which Indian women lived, this 

feature of the measure was highly offensive both to Moslems and 

Hindus. “If anyone came forward to demand a certificate from my 

wife,” exclaimed an irate Indian at a preliminary committee meeting 

attended by Gandhi, “I would shoot him on the spot and take the 

consequences.” 

That was the mood of the mass meeting in the Imperial Theatre. 

Orchestra, balcony, and gallery were jammed hours before the chair¬ 

man opened the proceedings. Angry speeches in four languages stined 
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the volatile audience to a high emotional pitch, and then Sheth Haji 

Habib read a resolution, which Gandhi had helped prepare, demanding 

non-compliance with the registration provisions. Haji Habib called on 

the assembly to adopt it, but not in the usual manner. They must vote, 

he urged, 'with God as their witness.” 

Gandhi jumped. A sensitive ear and a keen intuition quickly told 

him that this was an extraordinary event. An action with God as witness 

was a religious vow which could not be broken. It was not the ordinary 

motion passed by a show of hands at a public function and immediately 

forgotten. 

Gandhi requested the floor. He begged them to consider coolly what 

they were doing. "Notwithstanding the differences of nomenclature in 

Hinduism and Islam,” he declared, "we all believe in one and the same 

God. To pledge ourselves or to take an oath in the name of God or with 

Him as a witness is not something to be trifled with. If having taken 

such an oath we violate our pledge we are guilty before God and man. 

Personally, I hold that a man who deliberately and knowingly takes a 

pledge and breaks it forfeits his manhood. ... A man who lightly 

pledges his word and then breaks it becomes a man of straw and fits 

himself for punishment here as well as hereafter.” 

Having warned them, he tried to stir them. If ever a crisis in com¬ 

munity affairs warranted a vow, now was the time. Caution had its place 

but also its limits. "The government has taken leave of all sense of 

decency. We will be betraying our unworthiness and cowardice if we 

cannot stake our all in the face of the conflagration that envelops 
» 

us. . . . 

The purpose of the resolution was not to impress the outside world. 

A vote in favor constituted a personal vow, and each one of them had 

to decide whether he possessed the inner strength to keep it. In conse¬ 

quence of the vow, they might be jailed; they might he beaten and 

insulted in jail. They might go hungry and be exposed to heat and cold. 

They might lose tlteir jobs, their wealth. They might be deported. The 

struggle might last a long time, years. “But I can boldly declare and 

with certainty,” Gandhi exclaimed, “that so long as there is even a hand¬ 

ful of men true to their pledge, there can be only one end to the struggle 

—and that is victory.” 

The audience applauded. He lowered his voice. Many in the hall, 
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moved by the enthusiasm and indignation which dominated the meet¬ 

ing, might pledge themselves that evening and repent the next morning 

or the next month. Perhaps only a handful would be left to face the 

final contest with the powerful government. To him it would make no 

difference. “There is only one course open to me,” Gandhi asserted, “to 

die but not to submit to the law. Even if the unlikely happened and 

everyone else flinched, leaving me to face the music alone, I am con¬ 

fident that 1 will never violate my pledge. Please do not misunderstand 

me. I am not saying this out of vanity. But 1 wish to put you, and 

especially the leaders on the platform, on your guard. ... If you have 

not the will or the ability to stand firm even when you are perfectly 

isolated you must not only not take the pledge but you must declare 

your opposition before the resolution is put. .. . Although we are going 

to take the pledge in a body, no one may imagine that default on the 

part of one or of many can absolve the rest from their obligation. Every 

one must be true to his pledge even unto death, no matter what others 

do." 

Gandhi sat down. The chairman added his sobering words. Then the 

vote was taken. Everyone present rose, raised his hand, and swore to 

God not to obey the proposed anti-Indian ordinance if it became law. 

The next day, September 12th, the Imperial Theatre was completely 

destroyed by fire. Many Indians regarded it as an omen that the ordi¬ 

nance would meet a similar fate. To Gandhi it was a coincidence. He 

did not believe in such omens. Fate did not beckon to Gandhi with 

mute signs. The future spoke in him through that awesome, Himalayan 

self-assurance which he displayed at the meeting. He knew he could 

stand alone. 
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CHAPTER ELEVEN 

Gandhi Goes to Jail 

There was nothing passive about Gandhi. He disliked the term ‘"Passive 

Resistance.'' Following the collective vow at the Imperial Theatre, 

Gandhi offered a prize for a better name for this new kind of mass-yet- 

individual opposition to government unfairness. 

Maganlal Gandhi, a second cousin of Gandhi who lived on Phoenix 

Farm, suggested “Sadagraha": “firmness in a good cause." Gandhi 

amended it to “Satyagraha"; satya is truth, which equals love, and 

agraha is firmness or force. "Satyagraha," therefore, means truth-force 

or love-force. Truth and love are attributes of the soul. 

This became Gandhi’s target: to be strong not with the strength of 

the brute but with the strength of the spark of God. 

Satyagraha, Gandhi said, is “the vindication of truth not by infliction 

of suffering on the opponent but on one's self." That requires self- 

control. The w^eapons of the Satyagrahi are within him. 

Satyagraha is peaceful. If words fail to convince the adversary perhaps 

purity, humility, and honesty will. The opponent must be “weaned from 

error by patience and sympathy," weaned, not crushed; converted, not 

annihilated. 
Satyagraha is the exact opposite of the policy of an-eye-for-an-eye-for- 

an-eye-for-an-eye which ends in making everybody blind. 

You cannot inject new ideas into a man's head by chopping it off; 

neither will you infuse a new spirit into his heart by piercing it with a 

dagger. 
Acts of violence create bitterness in the survivors and brutality in the 

destroyers; Satyagraha aims to exalt both sides. 

Gandhi hoped that if he practiced the Sermon on the Mount, Smuts 

would recall its precepts. Satyagraha assumes a constant beneficent inter¬ 

action between contestants with a view to their ultimate reconciliation. 

Violence, insults, and superheated propaganda obstruct this achieve¬ 

ment. 

Several days after the spiritual baptism in Satyagraha at the Imperial 
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Theatre, the Transvaal government released Asiatic women from the 

necessity of registration. This may or may not have been a result of the 

new Indian movement, but Indians felt encouraged by the success of 

the Gandhi tactic. 

Before confronting the government with Satyagraha, Gandhi thought 

it desirable to go to London. Transvaal was a Crown Colony; the King 

could, on advice of his ministers, withhold royal assent from legislation. 

Accompanied by a Moslem soda water manufacturer named H. O. Ali, 

Gandhi sailed for England. It was his first visit since his shy law-student 

days. Now he was the vocal lobbyist. He interviewed Lord Elgin, the 

Secretary of State for Colonies and Mr. (later Lord) Morley, Secretary 

of State for India, and, like many champions of causes before and since, 

addressed a meeting of M.P. s in a committee room of the House of 

Commons. It gave Gandhi special pleasure to work with Dadabhai 

Naoroji, "The Grand Old Man of India." Dadabhai, as everybody called 

him, was president of the London Indian Society for more than fifty 

years, a teacher of Gujarati in University College, London, a past presi¬ 

dent of the Indian National Congress party, and on July 6, 1892, at the 

age of sixty-one, won election to the British Parliament as the Liberal 

Member for Central Finsbury by a majority of three votes. Before the 

pcdl. Lord Salisbury, the British Prime Minister, had said, T doubt if 

we have got to that point of view where a British constituency would 

elect a black man.” The gibe gave Dadabhai his seat and fame. As a 

student in the Inner Temple, Gandhi once sat, reverent and silent, at 

the feet of Dadabhai. Now, autumn, 1906, Gandhi and Dadabhai were 

associates in a political enterprise. 

Througllout the six weeks’ sojourn, Englishmen assisted Gandhi in 

winning friends, arranging meetings, licking stamps, pasting envelopes, 

etc. Their generous co-operation led him to remark that "benevolence is 

by no means peculiar to the brown skin.” 

When the ship on which they were returning to South Africa stopped 

at the Portuguese island of Madeira, Gandhi and Ali received a cable 

from London announcing that Lord Elgin would not sanction the 

Transvaal anti-Asiatic bill. In the next two weeks on shipboard, Gandhi 

and Ali were happy; they had won. 

It transpired, however, that Lord Elgin had employed a "trick.” He 

had told the Transvaal Commissioner in London that the King would 
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disallow the legistration ordinance. But since Transvaal would cease 

being a Crown Colony on January i, 1907, it could then re-enact the 

ordinance without royal approval. Gandhi condemned this as a “crooked 

policy." 

In due course, Transvaal set up responsible government and adopted 

the Asiatic Registration Act to go into effect on July 31, 1907. Indians 

stigmatized it as the “Black Act," morally black, aimed at black, brown, 

and yellow men. Gandhi, who was light brown, often referred to himself 

as “black.” 

Gandhi confidently told the Indian community that "even a crooked 

policy would in time turn straight if only we are true to ourselves.” The 

Indians prepared to offer Satyagraha. Uneasy, Prime Minister General 

Botha sent them a message saying he “was helpless”; the white popula¬ 

tion insisted on the legislation. Therefore the government would be firm. 

So would the Indians. One Moslem, Ahmad Mohammed Kachhalia, 

apparently speaking for many Satyagrahis, said, “I swear in the name of 

God that 1 will be hanged but I will not submit to this law.” 

Some Indians took out permits under the Act, but most did not A 

number of Indians were accordingly served. with official notices to 

register or leave the Transvaal. Failing to do either, they were hailed 

before a magistrate on January ii, 1908. Gandhi was among them. He 

had attended the same court as a lawyer. Now he stood in the dock. 

Respectfully he told the judge that as leader he merited the heaviest 

sentence. Judge Jordan unobligingly gave him only two months’ simple 

imprisonment “without hard labor." 

It was Gandhi’s first term in jail. 

Gandhi recorded this jail experience in an article printed at the time. 

The prison authorities were friendly, the meals bad, the cells over¬ 

crowded. Gandhi went in with four other Satyagrahis. From notes kept 

in prison with his customary meticulousness, he knew how many 

joined them each day, and the figures are reproduced in the published 

account. By January 29th, their number had risen to 155. 

Gandhi read the Gita in the morning and the Koran, in English trans¬ 

lation, at noon. He used the Bible to teach English to a Chinese Chris¬ 

tian fellow prisoner. He also read Ruskin, Socrates, Tolstoy, Huxley, 

Bacon’s essays, and Carlyle’s Lives. He was happj; he believed that 

“whoever has a taste for reading good books is able to bear loneliness 
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in any place with great ease.” Indeed, he seemed to regret that his 

sentence was so short for he had commenced to do a Gujarati transla¬ 

tion of a book by Carlyle and of Ruskin s Unto This Last, and **1 

would not have become tired even if I had got more than two months.” 

Reading and translating were interrupted by a visitor from the out¬ 

side; he was Albert Cartwright, editor of the Johannesburg Transvaal 

Leader and a friend of Gandhi; he came as an emissary from General 

Jan Christiaan Smuts. Cartwright brought a compromise solution drafted 

by Smuts. 

Smuts' proposal required the Indians to register voluntarily. Then 

the ‘‘Black Act” would be repealed. 

On January 30th, the Johannesburg Chief of Police came to the jail 

and personally conducted Gandhi to Pretoria for a meeting with Smuts. 

The prisoner, in prison uniform, and the general had a long talk. 

Gandhi wanted assurances of the repeal, and he stipulated that public 

mention be made of the Indians' resistance. 

Smuts said, “I could never entertain a dislike for your people. You 

know I too am a barrister. I had some Indian fellow students in my 

time. But I must do my duty. The Europeans want this law. ... I 

accept the alterations you have suggested in the draft. I have consulted 

General Botha and I assure you that I will repeal the Asiatic Act as 

soon as most of you have undergone voluntary registration.” 

Smuts rose. 

“Where am I to go?” Gandhi asked. 

“You are free this very moment.” 

“What about the other prisoners?” Gandhi asked. 

“I am phoning the prison officials to release the other prisoners to¬ 

morrow morning.” 

It was evening, and Gandhi did not have a copper in his pockets. 

Smuts' secretary gave him the fare to Johannesburg. 

In Johannesburg Gandhi encountered stormy opposition. “Why was 

not the Act repealed first, before registration?” Indians demanded at a 

public meeting. 

“That would not be in a nature of a compromise,” Gandhi replied. 

“What if General Smuts breaks faith with us?” they argued. 

“A Satyagrahi,” Gandhi said, “bids good-by to fear. He is therefore 

never afraid of trusting the opponent. Even if the opponent plays him 
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false twenty times, the Satyagrahi is ready to trust him for the twenty- 

first time—for an implicit trust in human nature is the very essence of 

his creed/' 

Optimism about human nature was the starting post of all Gandhi s 

activities; it sometimes made him sound naive. His optimism sprang 

from a belief that * man can change his temperament, can control it" 

although he "cannot eradicate it. God has given him no such liberty. ' 

Change and control, therefore, require constant effort. 

Smuts had made the point that unless Indians in the Transvaal regis¬ 

tered, there would be no check on Indian immigration, and the state 

might be inundated with unwanted Asiatics. Gandhi accepted this and 

told the public meeting that voluntary registration would indicate that 

"we do not intend to bring a single Indian into the Transvaal surrepti¬ 

tiously or by fraud." 

Gandhi took into consideration the pressure on the government from 

race-prejudiced whites. Therefore he was ready to accept voluntary 

registration. But he objected to compulsory registration by statute be¬ 

cause a government must treat all citizens equally. He did not want 

Indians to bow to force: that reduced the dignity and stature of indi¬ 

viduals. On the other hand, Gandhi explained to the meeting, collabora¬ 

tion freely given—in view of the opponents known difficulties—was 

generous and hence ennobling. Smuts had withdrawn the compulsion 

from registration; that changed the entire situation. 

A giant Pathan from the wild mountains of northwest India near the 

Khyber Pass stood up and said, 'We have heard that you have betrayed 

the community and sold it to General Smuts for fifteen thousand 

pounds. We will never give the fingerprints nor allow others to do so. 

I swear with Allah as my witness that I will kill the man who takes the 

lead in applying for registration." 

Gandhi's book on Satyagraha records this charge for posterity. He 

defended himself against it, and declared, despite the threat, that he 

would be the first to give his fingerprints. Then he added, "Death is the 

appointed end of all life. To die by the hand of a brother, rather than 

by disease or in such other way, cannot be for me a matter of sorrow. 

And if, even in such a case, I am free from the thought of anger or 

hatred against my assailant, I know that that will redound to my eternal 

welfare, and even the assailant will later on realize my perfect inno- 
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cence.” The audience listened in silence; it could not have foreseen a 

near-fatal assault in the inunediate future or the death of Gandhi, forty 

years later, at the hands of a brother. 

Gandhi ananged to register on February loth, the hrst to do so. He 

went to his law office in the morning as usual. Outside he saw a group 

of big Pathans. Among them was Mir Alam, a client of Gandhi’s, six 

feet tall and of powerful build. Gandhi greeted the Pathans, but their 

response was ominously cold. 

After a little while, Gandhi and several companions left the office 

and commenced walking to the registration bureau. The Pathans fol¬ 

lowed close behind. Just before Gandhi had reached his destination, 

Mir Alam stepped forward and said, "Where are you going?” 

“I propose to take out a certificate of registration,” Gandhi replied. 

Before he could finish the explanation a heavy blow struck Gandhi 

on the top of his head. "I at once fainted with the words ‘Hey, Rama 

(Oh, God)’ on my lips,” reads his own account. Those were his last 

words on January 30, 1948, the day he died. 

Other blows fell on Gandhi as he lay on the ground; and the Pathanc 

kicked him for good measure. 

He was carried into an office. When he regained consciousness, tha 

Reverend Joseph J. Doke, a bearded Baptist idealist, was bending over 

him. "How do you feel?” said Doke. 

‘1 am all right,” Gandhi answered, "but I have pains in the teeth and 

ribs. Where is Mir Alam?” 

“He has been arrested with the other Pathans,” Doke said. 

"They should be released,” Gandhi murmured. "They thought they 

were doing right, and I have no desire to prosecute them.” 

Gandhi was taken to the Doke home, and the wounds in his cheek 

and lip were stitched. He asked that Mr. Chamney, the Registrar for 

Asiatics, be brought to him so he could give his fingerprints without 

delay. The process hurt Gandhi physically; every movement was pain¬ 

ful. Chamney began to weep. "I had often to write bitterly against him,” 

Gandhi declared, "but this showed me how man’s heart may be softened 

by events.” 

Gandhi remained under the tender care of the "godly family” for ten 

days. Several times, Gandhi, feeling the need of comfort, asked Olive, 
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the little Doke daughter, to sing “Lead, Kindly Light.” It was one of 

his favorite Christian hynms. 

After recovering, Gandhi indefatigably preached loyalty to his regis¬ 

tration settlement. Kasturbai and the boys had worried alx)ut him after 

Mir Alam’s attack; Gandhi visited them on Phoenix Farm and spent 

most of the time there writing for Indian Opinion in explanation of his 

compromise with Smuts for voluntary hngeipinting. Many Indians 

followed Gandhi without really agreeing, and he tried to convince them. 

What was Gandhi’s embarrassment, therefore, when Smuts refused 

to fulfill his promise to repeal the “Black Act.” Instead, Smuts offered 

the legislature a bill which validated the voluntary certificates but kept 

the compulsory-registration law. 

“There you are,” the Indians taunted Gandhi. “We have been telling 

you that you are very credulous.” 

In a charitable and objective mood two decades later, when Satya- 
graha in South Africa was published, Gandhi asserted, “It is quite 

possible that in behaving to the Indians as he did in 1908, General 

Smuts was not guilty of a deliberate breach of faith.” But in the heat of 

the battle, in 1908, Gandhi contributed articles to Indian Opinion under 

the caption, “Foul Play,” and called Smuts a “heartless man.” 

The Indian community’s temper gradually rose to fever pitch. A 

meeting was convoked at the Hamidia Mosque in Johannesburg for 

4 o’clock in the afternoon, August 16, 1908. A large iron cauldron rest¬ 

ing on four curved legs was placed conspicuously on a raised platform. 

The speeches finished, more than two thousand registration certifi¬ 

cates collected from the spectators were thrown into the cauldron and 

burned in paraffin as a mighty cheer went up from the brown throng. 

The London Dmly Mail conespondent in Johannesburg compared it 

with the Boston Tea Party. 

The issue between the Indians and the government was now joined. 

Under the Smuts-Gandhi compromise, most of the permanent resi¬ 

dents registered voluntarily. Thereafter, any Indian discovered without 

a registration certificate would be subject to deportation as a new, illegal 

entrant. The compromise thus stopped immigration', and that was the 

original purpose of the Black Act. 

Then why did Smuts now reintroduce compulsory registration? "To 
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insult us/* the Indians said. 'To stress our inequality. To force us to 

admit our inferiority.** 

This, Gandhi declared, is one of the virtues of Satyagraha: it un¬ 

covers concealed motives and reveals the truth. It puts the best possible 

interpretation on the opponent’s intentions and thereby gives him an¬ 

other chance to discard baser impulses. If he fails to do so, his victims 

see more clearly and feel more intensely, while outsiders realize who is 

wrong. 

The Indians now decided not to register under compulsion and to 

defy the ban on immigration into the Transvaal. 

For the impending contest with the government of the Transvaal, 

Gandhi commenced to muster his resources. His law office at the corner 

of Rissik and Anderson Streets in Johannesburg had now been con¬ 

verted, largely, into a Satyagraha headquarters. It consisted of two small 

and meagerly furnished rooms, an outer one for a secretary and an inner 

one where Gandhi worked amidst photographs of his ambulance unit, 

of Mrs. Annie Besant, and some Indian leaders, and a picture of Jesus. 

Gandhi also had an office on Phoenix Farm, and he spent more time 

there than before because he needed the support of the Natal Indians 

who far outnumbered the thirteen thousand of the Transvaal. At the 

farm, he led a chaste, frugal, Spartan existence. Except when it rained 

he slept in the open on a thin cloth. He eschewed all material pleasures, 

and concentrated on the coming battle. "A Satyagrahi,** he said, "has to 

be, if possible, even more single-minded than a rope dancer.** 

To the Johannesburg office and Phoenix Farm came a steady stream 

of Indians and whites. Gandhi*s circle of friends was large; he attracted 

people and they usually remained loyal to him. 

Olive Schreiner, author of The Story of an African Farm and Dreams, 

was one of Gandhi's best friends in the Cape Colony. "Love was written 

in her eyes,** he said. Though she came of a rich, distinguished, and 

learned family, "she was so simple in habits that she cleansed utensils 

in her house herself/* and did her own cooking and sweeping. "Such 

physical labor,** Gandhi held, "stimulated her literary ability.** Color 

prejudice was repugnant to her. She lent her great influence in South 

Africa to the cause of fairness-to-Indians. So did her brother, Senator 

W. P. Schreiner, the Attorney-General and, at one time, the Prime 

Minister of the Colony. Other prominent persons and high officials 



Gandhi Goes to Jcnl 85 

openly aided Gandhi s movement. Many Christian clergymen supported 

him. They saw Satyagraha as Christianity in action against a system 

that merely called itself Christian. Gandhi worked through moral con¬ 

version. He preferred it to physical coercion and even to moral coercion. 

No true devotee of Christ could resist this. Christian editors, idealists, 

and ministers atoned for the white man s sins by helping the little brown 

Hindu. 

Of all Gandhi s South African collaborators—Indian or white—the 

most intimate, he said, were Henry S. L. Polak, Herman Kallenbach, 

an extremely wealthy Johannesburg architect, and Sonya Schlesin, a lass 

from Scotland. 

Kallenbach was a tall, thick-set, squareheaded German Jew with a 

long handlebar mustache and pince-nez. He met Gandhi by chance; a 

mutual interest in Buddhism brought them closer together, and there¬ 

after, until Gandhi returned to India, they were inseparable. If anybody 

can be called Gandhi s second-in-command of the Satyagraha movement 

it was Kallenbach. Gandhi characterized him as **a man of strong feel¬ 

ings, wide sympathies, and child-like simplicity.*' 

When Gandhi needed a private secretary and stenographer Kallen¬ 

bach recommended Miss Schlesin, who was of Russian-Jewish origin. 

Gandhi thought her 'noble** and the finest person among his European 

associates. She wore boyish-bobbed hair and a collar and necktie. She 

never married. Though she was young, Indian leaders went to her for 

advice, and Reverend Doke, when he ran Indian Opiniony hked her to 

pass on his editorials. Gandhi put her in charge of Satyagraha*s treasury 

and books. 

For the financing of the resistance movement, Indians and Europeans 

in South Africa and Indians in India contributed considerable sums. 

Gandhi believed that an organization whose cause is just and imper¬ 

sonal, and which operates in full public view, will not lack money. He 

likewise believed in rigidly economical spending and scrupulous, de¬ 

tailed accounting. 

Suggestions poured in on Gandhi to raise the entire question of 

Indian disabilities in South Africa and to mobilize the whole Indian 

community of the continent. But he decided that it was against the 

principles of Satyagraha to expand or even to shift one's goal in the 
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midst of battle. The issue was the right of Indians to live in and enter 

the Transvaal, nothing else. 

Gandhi now made a move of arresting and dramatic simplicity. A 

Parsi Indian from Natal named Sorabji Shapurji Adajania, who spoke 

English and had never visited the Transvaal, was chosen, at his own 

request, to test the bar on immigrants. He was to notify the government 

of his intentions, present himself at the Transvaal frontier station of 

Volksrust, and court arrest. But the border authorities let him in and he 

proceeded unmolested to Johannesburg. 

When their astonishment subsided, the Indians interpreted this de¬ 

velopment as a triumph; the government had refused to fight. Even 

when Sorabji was sentenced to a month s imprisonment for not leaving 

the Transvaal, their enthusiasm for the Gandhi method remained 

strong. It was accordingly decided that a number of English-speaking 

Indians in Natal, including Harilal, Gandhis eldest son, who had 

returned from India, should enter the Transvaal. They were arrested 

at Volksrust and given three months in jail. 'The Transvaal Indians,'^ 

Gandhi comments, "were now in high spirits. . . . The movement was 

now in full swing.'* The movement fed on jail sentences. 

Gandhi was besieged by people seeking permission to be arrested. He 

gratified the wish of some Natal Indians. Transvaal Indians applied for 

the same pleasure; they had only to tell the police that they had no 

registration certificates. 

Gandhi, too, was arrested and confined in the Volksrust prison. His 

prison card has been preserved by Manilal. It is cream-colored and iVs 

inches wide by ^Vs. His name is mistakenly given as "M. S. Gandhi" 

instead of M. K. Gandhi. "Trade: Solicitor." No alias. "Sentence and 

date: Twenty-five pounds or two months. October lo, 1908." (Like all 

other Indians, Gandhi preferred prison to fines.) "Due for discharge: 

December 13, 1908." On the reverse side, under "Prison Offenses," is a 

blank. He was a model prisoner. 

Gandhi had seventy-five compatriots with him in jail, and he became 

their cook. "Thanks to their love for me," he wrote in a contemporary 

article, "my companions took without a murmur the half-cooked por¬ 

ridge I prepared without sugar." In addition he performed hard labor- 

digging the earth with a shovel—which blistered his hands. The blisters 

opened and caused pain. 
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Once the warden wanted two men to clean the toilets. Gandhi 

volunteered. 

He had brought this suffering on himself and, by his agitation, on 

others. Would it not be better to pay the fine and stay home? 

^'Such thoughts,'* Gandhi asserted, ‘'make one really a coward.** Be¬ 

sides, jail has its good sides: only one warden, whereas in the free life 

there are many; no worry about food; work keeps the body healthy; no 

'Vicious habits**; "the prisoner's soul is thus free** and he has time to 

pray to God. "The real road to happiness,** Gandhi perorated, "lies in 

going to jail and undergoing sufferings and privations there in the in¬ 

terest of one's country and religion.*' 

This account of life and reflections in jail ends with a quotation from 

Thoreau's famous essay on "Civil Disobedience** which Gandhi had 

borrowed from the prison library. "I saw," Thoreau wrote, "that if there 

was a wall of stone between me and my townsmen, there was a still 

more difficult one to climb or break through before they could get to be 

as free as I was. I did not feel for a moment confined, and the walls 

seemed a great waste of stone and mortar. . . . 

"As they could not reach me," Thoreau continued, "they had resolved 

to punish my body. ... I saw that the state was half-witted, that it 

was timid as a lone woman with her silver spoons, and that it did not 

know its friends from its foes, and I lost all my remaining respect for 

it and pitied it." 

Gandhi cherished this excerpt from Thoreau. He studied the entire 

essay. 

It has often been said that Gandhi took the idea of Satyagraha from 

Thoreau. Gandhi denied this in a letter, dated September 10, 1935, and 

addressed to Mr. P. Kodanda Rao of the Servants of India Society; 

Gandhi wrote, "The statement that I had derived my idea of Civil Dis¬ 

obedience from the writings of Thoreau is wrong. The resistance to 

authority in South Africa was well advanced before I got the essay of 

Thoreau on Civil Disobedience. But the movement was then known as 

passive resistance. As it was incomplete I had coined the word Satya¬ 

graha for the Gujarati readers. When I saw the title of Thoreau's great 

essay, I began to use his phrase to explain our struggle to the English 

readers. Biit I found that even 'Civil Disobedience* failed to convey the 



88 The Life of Mahatma Gandhi 

full meaning of the struggle. I therefore adopted the phrase Civil 

Resistance.” 

Nevertheless, Thoreaus “Civil Disobedience” essay did influence 

Gandhi; he called it a “masterly treatise”; “it left a deep impression on 

me,” he afflrmed. There is a Thoreau imprint on much that Gandhi did. 

Thoreau had read the Bhagavad Gita and some of the sacred Hindu 

Upanishads; so had Ralph Waldo Emerson who was Thoreau*s friend 

and frequent host. Thoreau, the New England rebel, borrowed from 

distant India and repaid the debt by throwing ideas into the world pool 

of thought; ripples reached the Indian lawyer-politician in South Africa. 

Henry David Thoreau, poet and essa)ist, was born in 1817 and died 

of tuberculosis at the age of forty-five. He hated Negro slavery and the 

individuals slavery to the church, the state, property, customs, and tra¬ 

ditions. With his own hands he built himself a hut at Walden Pond 

outside Concord, Massachusetts, and dwelt there alone, doing all the 

work, growing his food, and enjoying full contact with nature. 

Two years at Walden proved to Thoreau's own satisfaction that he 

had the courage and inner strength to be free in isolation. He accord¬ 

ingly returned to Concord to discover whether he could be free inside 

the community. He decided that the least he could do was “not lend 

myself to the wrong which I condemn.” So he refused to pay taxes and 

was clapped into jail. A friend paid the tax for him, and Thoreau came 

out after twenty-four hours, but the experience evoked his most provok¬ 

ing political essay, “Civil Disobedience.” 

“The only obligation which I have a right to assume,” Thoreau de¬ 

clared in “Civil Disobedience,” “is to do at any time what I think 

right.” To be right, he insisted, is more honorable than to be law-abiding. 

Thoreau democracy was the cult of the minority. “Why does [the 

government] not cherish its wise minority?” be cried. “Why does it 

always crucify Christ?” 

It was 1849. Thoreau was thinking of Negro slavery and the invasion 

of Mexico. The majority which tolerated these measures was wrong, 

and he was right. Could he obey a government that committed such 

sins? He held that dissent without disobedience was consent and there¬ 

fore culpable. 

Thoreau described civil disobedience in exact terms, as Gandhi under¬ 

stood it: “I know this well,” Thoreau wrote, “that if one thousand, if 
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one hundred, if ten men whom I could name—if ten honest men only- 

ay, if one HONEST man, in this state of Massachusetts, ceasing to hold 

slaves, were actually to withdraw from this copartnership, and be locked 

up in the county jail therefor, it would he the abolition of slavery in 

America. For it matters not how small the beginning may seem to be: 

what is once well done is done forever. But we love better to talk 

about it. . . . 

“There are thousands who are in opinion opposed to slavery and war, 

who yet in effect do nothing to put an end to them,” Thoreau con¬ 

tinued. ‘There are nine hundred and ninety-nine patrons of virtue to 

every virtuous man.” Thoreau despised professions without actions. He 

asked, “How does it become a man to behave toward this American 

government today? I answer, that he cannot without disgrace be asso¬ 

ciated with it.” His program was “peaceful revolution.” "All men recog¬ 

nize the right to revolution,” he wrote, “that is, the right to refuse 

allegiance to, and to resist, the government when its tyranny and effi¬ 

ciency are great and unendurable.” 

This is why Gandhi was in jail at the very moment he read "Civil 

Disobedience.” 

Like Ruskin, Thoreau sought a closer correspondence between man’s 

acts and man’s goal. The artist in both required the integration of word 

and faith with deed. The great poet, the great artist has integrity. 

Millions had read Ruskin and Thoreau, and agreed with them. Many 

Hindus had read them and agreed with them. But Gandhi took words 

and ideas seriously, and when he accepted an idea in principle he felt 

that not to practice it was dishonest. How can you believe in a moral 

or religious precept and not live it? 

The gulf between word and belief is untruth. The dissonance be¬ 

tween creed and deed is the root of innumerable wrongs in our civiliza¬ 

tion; it is the weakness of all churches, states, parties, and persons. It 

gives institutions and men split personalities. 

In attempting to establish a harmony between words, beliefs, and 

acts Gandhi was attacking man’s central problem. He was seeking the 

formula for mental health. 
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CHAPTER TWELVE 

Letter to a Son 

Gandhi's second jail term ended on December 13, 1908, but, since civil 

resistance against the immigration ban continued, he received a third 

three-month sentence and was back in Volksrust prison on February 25, 

1909. Five days later, carrying a few possessions on his head and walk¬ 

ing in thick rain, he was escorted to a train for Pretoria where he sat 

out his term in the newly built local penitentiary. On arriving, the 

warden said, ''Are you the son of Gandhi?" He apparently looked so 

youthful that the official mistook him for his son Harilal who was serv¬ 

ing a six-month period in Volksrust. Gandhi was forty. 

In jail, Gandhi received a gift of two religious books from General 

Smuts; he also read Stevenson's Dr. Jekyll and Mr. Hyde, Carlyle's 

French Revolution, and many Indian religious volumes. "My books 

saved me," he wrote in his reminiscences. 

From prison, Gandhi mailed a letter to Manilal who has preserved it 

to this day. It was Avritten by hand, with purple indelible ink pencil, on 

both sides of five long cream-colored foolscap sheets of prison stationery 

and is in English. Normally, Gandhi would have addressed Manilal in 

Gujarati, but printed instructions in the left-hand margin of each page 

say, in English, Dutch, and Kafir, that correspondence must be con¬ 

ducted in English, Dutch, German, French, or Kafir. The letter is dated 

March 25, 1909; Gandhi's number was 777; the censor initialed it two 

days later. 

Manilal was seventeen, and since nobody else worried, he worried 

about his profession and future. He had had practically no formal edu¬ 

cation. Now he was his father's agent on the farm and in Indian 

Opinion, and probably a very harassed young man. 

My dear son [Gandhi began], I have a right to write one letter per 

month and receive also one letter per month. It became a question with 

me as to whom I should write to. I thought of Mr. Ritch [the editor of 
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Indian Opinion], Mr. Polak and you. I chose you because you have 

been nearest my thoughts in all my reading. 

As for myself I must not, I am not allowed to say much. I am quite 

at peace & none need worry about me. 

I hope mother is now quite well. I know several letters from you have 

been received but they have not been given to me. The Deputy Gover¬ 

nor however was good enough to tell me that she was getting on well. 

Does she walk about freely? I hope she and all of you would continue 

to take sago & milk in the morning. 

And how is Chanchi? [The nickname of Harilals wife, Gulab.] Tell 

her I think of her every day, I hope she has got rid of all the sores she 

had and that she & Rami [Harilals little daughter] are quite well. 

I hope Ramdas and Devadas are keeping well, learning their lessons 

and not causing any worry. Has Ramdas got rid of his cough? 

I hope you all treated Willie well while he was with you. Any bal¬ 

ance of the food stuff left by Mr. Cordes I should wish you have re¬ 

turned to him. 

And now about yourself. How are you? Although I think that you 

are well able to bear all the burden I have placed on your shoulders and 

that you are doing it quite cheerfully, I have often felt that you required 

greater personal guidance than I have been able to give you. I know too 

that you have sometimes felt that your education was being neglected. 

Now I have read a great deal in the prison. I have been reading 

Emerson, Ruskin and Mazzini. I have also been reading the Upanishads. 

All confirm the view that education does not mean a knowledge of 

letters but it means character building. It means a knowledge of duty. 

Our own [Gujarati] word literally means training. If this is the true 

view, and it is to my mind the only true view, you are receiving the 

best education-training possible. What can be better than that you 

should have the opportunity of nursing mother & cheerfully bearing her 

ill temper, or than looking after Chanchi & anticipating her wants and 

behaving to her so as not to make her feel the absence of Harilal or again 

than being guardian to Ramdas and Devadas? If you succeed in doing 

this well, you have received more than half your education. 

I was much struck by one passage in Nathuramji s introduction to the 

Upanishads. He says that the Brahmacharya stage—i.e., the first stage, is 

like the last, i.e., the sanyasin [monk] stage. This is true. Amusement 
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only continues during the age of innocence, i.e., up to twelve years only. 
As soon as a boy reaches the age of discretion, he is taught to realise his 
responsibilities. Every boy from such age onward should practise con¬ 
tinence in thought & dee^ truth likewise and the not-taking of any life. 
This to him must not be an irksome learning and practise but it should 
be natural to him. It should be his enjoyment. I can recall to my mind 
several such boys in Rajkot. Let me tell you that when I was younger 
than you are my keenest enjoyment was to nurse my father. Of amuse¬ 
ment after I was twelve, I had little or none. If you practise the three 
virtues, if they become part of your life, so far as I am concerned you 
will have completed your education—your training. Armed with them, 
believe me you will earn your bread in any part of the world & you will 
have paved the way to acquire a true knowledge of the soul, yourself 
and God. This does not mean that you shd not receive instruction in 
letters. That you shd & you are doing. But it is a thing over which you 
need not fret yourself. You have plenty of time for it and after all you 
are to receive such instruction in order that your training may be of use 
to others. 

Remember please that henceforth our lot is poverty. The more I think 
of it the more I feel that it is more blessed to be poor than to be rich. 
The uses of poverty are far sweeter than those of riches. 

There follow one hundred and five lines of instructions, messages, 
and greetings to persons at Phoenix Farm, . . . Then, 

And now again yourself. Do give ample work to gardening, actual 
digging, hoeing, etc. We have to live upon it in future. And you shd 
be the expert gardener of the family. Keep your tools in their respective 
places and absolutely clean. In your lessons you shd give a great deal of 
attention to mathematics and Sanskrit. The latter is absolutely necessary 
for you. Both these studies are difficult in after life. You will not neglect 
your music. You shd make a selection of all good passages, hymns and 
verses, whether in English, Gujarati or Hinffi and write them out in 
your best hand in a book. The collection at the end of a year will be 
most valuable. All these thiiigs you can do easily if you are methodical. 
Never get agitated and think you have too much to do and then worry 
over what to do first. This you will find out in practise if you are patient 



Letter to a Son 93 

and take care of your minutes. I hope you are keeping an accurate 
account as it should be kept of every penny spent for the household. 

The next paragraph is for a student at the farm. Ojntinuing, Gandhi 
writes, 

Please tell Maganlalbhai that I would advise him to read Emerson’s 
essays. They can be had for nine pence in Durham. There is a cheap 
reprint out. These essays are worth studying. He shd read them, mark 
the important passages and then finally copy them out in a notebook. 
The essays to my mind contain the teaching of Indian wisdom in a 
western guru. It is interesting to see our own sometimes thus dilferently 
fashioned. He should also try to read Tolstoy's Kingdom of God is 
within you. It is a most logical book. The English of the translation is 
very simple. What is more Tolstoy practises what he preaches. 

Gandhi told Manilal to make copies of this letter and send one to 
Polak, another to Kallenbach, and a third to a swami who had left for 
India. He was to wait for Polak’s and Kallenbach’s replies and incor¬ 
porate them into his own which, however, "should not contain any 
information about the struggle.” The censor did not allow that. 

In the last breath Gandhi asked for "a copy of algebra. Any edition 
will do. 

“And now I close with love to all and kisses to Ramdas, Devadas & 
Rami. 

from 
Father.” 

Solicitude in the writer may be irritation to the recipient. Gandhi’s 
warm and tender concern to mold Manilal into his own image probably 
sounded like a sermon interlarded with countless obnoxious chores. 
Gandhi’s selfless injunctions were for his son’s good, but the prospect 
of chastity, poverty, and hard work, under a strict taskmaster who wanted 
the tools stacked neatly in the storeroom offered few thrills to the young 
man on the threshold of life. 

Married at thirteen, Gandhi never had a boyhood and therefore never 
understood his own boys. The letter to Manilal showed this. As a blue- 
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print of the future it had the virtue of truth, but the truth was forbid¬ 

ding. The fact that his father had not enjoyed life from the age of twelve 

would have saddened a sensitive son or, indeed, frightened him. Such a 

father is difficult to live with. Such a father writes such a letter. The 

letter said, in effect, 'Tour life will remain tied to mine; you cannot go 

your own way.'* Gandhi wanted a helper; Manilal wanted freedom. He 

thought of becoming a lawyer or doctor. His father was training liim to 

be a minor saint. 

Eyes fixed on a distant, glorious goal, Gandhi, at this stage, sometimes 

failed to see those who were nearest. He expected them to meet the 

exacting standards he cheerfully imposed on himself. But he was not 

cruel; very likely, it never occurred to him that his letter conveyed 

anything but deep love and paternal care. 

CHAPTER THIRTEEN 

Tolstoy and Gandhi 

In central Russia, a Slav aristocrat grappled with the same spiritual 

problems that occupied the Hindu lawyer in South Afric i. Across con¬ 

tinents, Count Leo Tolstoy guided Mohandas K. Gandhi and found 

solace in his struggle. 

In Gandhi s law office there were several books by Tolstoy on religious 

subjects. But it was only during the leisure of jail that the Indian ab¬ 

sorbed the great Russian s teachings. 

War and Peace, probably the world s finest novel. Resurrection, Anna 

Karenina, and other works of art brought Tolstoy colossal success and 

universal recognition. But his soul was always in torment. The discrep¬ 

ancy between Christ s message and man's way of life troubled him. 

Bom in 1828 to wealth and an ancient title, Tolstoy abandoned high 

society and, at the age of fifty-seven, adopted the simple life: he went 

barefoot, wore a plain muzhik smock and trousers, plowed, harrowed, 

and planted by the side of the peasants, gave up smoking, meat-eating, 
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and hunting, and began to take long cross-country walks and bicycle 

rides. In 1891, in order to escape from ‘‘intolerable luxury,” he gave his 

ample properties to his wife and children and devoted himself to village 

education, famine relief, and writing about vegetarianism, marriage, 

and theology. Though he excoriated church institutions, men and 

women in search of a faith made his home at Yasnaya Polyana their 

Mecca; Christians, Jews, Moslems, and Buddhists from the four corners 

of the earth came to sit at the feet of the famous, brilliant nobleman 

who had drunk his fill of material pleasures and now, nearing seventy, 

sought God. Among his foreign guests were Jane Addams, of Hull 

House, Chicago, William Jennings Bryan, subsequently United States 

Secretary of State, Rabbi Joseph Krauskopf of Philadelphia, George 

Kennan, an American publicist who visited Siberia with the permission 

of the Tsarist authorities and then denounced their cruelty to prisoners, 

Rainer-Maria Rilke, the German poet, and Thomas G. Masaryk, later 

President of Czechoslovakia. 

To these pilgrims, Tolstoy was the strong one who had renounced. 

His attraction was his attempt to create, in his own way of life, a syn¬ 

thesis between creed and conduct. This involved manual labor, mini¬ 

mum needs, no holding of property, no killing. He called landlordism 

“a great sin,” extolled Henry George's Single Tax, condemned military 

conscription, defended conscientious objectors, helped the pacifist 

Dukhobors to emigrate to Canada, denounced the pogromists of Kishe- 

nev, praised William Lloyd Garrison s “non-resistance,” taught in a 

village primary school, and refused the Nobel Prize because he did not 

accept money. 

The Orthodox Church of Russia excommunicated him. 

To a friend in prison Tolstoy wrote, “Unfortunately, I am not in 

jail. . . 

The titles of his tracts reveal his mind: Thou Shalt Kill No One, 

Love One Another, Why Christian People in General and the Russian 

People Especially Pall into Distress, The Teachings of Christ for Chil¬ 

dren, Capital Punishment and Christianity, Religious Tolerance, Self- 

Perfection, and many more like these. 

Tolstoy died on November 20, 1910, after fleeing from his wife in 

the hope of finding peace in a monastery or a Tolstoyan settlement. 
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Gandhi came to know Tolstoy through The Kingdom of God Is 

Within You. The name of the volume is the gospel of its author. 

‘The history of the church,” Tolstoy bluntly affirmed, “is the history 

of cruelties and horror. . . . Every Church, with its doctrines of re¬ 

demption and salvation, and above all the Orthodox faith with its 

idolatry, excludes the doctrine of Christ.” Impartially, and with icy logic 

and myriad quotations, Tolstoy proved to his own satisfaction that all 

Christian churches try “to conceal the true meaning of the doctrine of 

Christ.” 

Tolstoy was equally critical of governments. From the dimmest ages, 

he declared, “Peace unto you” has been man s greeting to man, yet in 

Europe Christian nations keep twenty-eight million men under arms 

to settle problems by killing. Approvingly he quoted Guy de Maupas¬ 

sant, the French writer: “It is stupefying that society does not revolt as 

a unit against the very sound of the word War.' ” 

Alexander Herzen, Russia's great literary critic, had said that mount¬ 

ing militarism made every modem government “a Genghis Khan with 

telegraphic equipment.” Tolstoy concurred and added, “In the matter 

of oppression, the Christian nations are worse than the pagans.” 

T believe it is Max Mueller [foremost authority on Asia],” Tolstoy 

recalled, “who describes the astonishment of an Indian converted to 

Christianity who, having learned the essence of Christian doctrine, came 

to Europe and beheld the life of Christians.” This was Tolstoy s, as it 

was Thoreau s, perpetual theme: the chasm between doctrire and doing. 

What to do? Tolstoys answer was simple: Live as a Christian should. 

Concretely, “A Christian enters into no dispute with his neighbor, he 

neither attacks nor uses violence; on the contrary, he suflFers himself, 

without resistance, and by his very attitude toward evil not only sets 

himself free, but helps to free the world at large from all outward 
authority.” 

The Gita and the Sermon on the Mount had led Gandhi to the same 

conclusion. 

Tolstoy preached peaceful, painful refusal to serve or obey evil gov¬ 

ernments. He specified: no oath of allegiance, no oath in court “for an 

oath is distinctly forbidden by the Gospel,” no police duty, no military 

duty, no payment of taxes. 

‘What are governments to do with these men?” Tolstoy inquired. 
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That became Smuts s problem. He did not know what to do with the 

Indians. ‘‘The position of governments in the presence of men who 

profess Christianity/' Tolstoy wrote, “is so precarious that very little is 

needed to shake their power to pieces." Thoreau said the same thing. 

Gandhi began by freeing himself. It was an involved process. For man 

is bound by many chains, and the stoutest are forged in the inner 

smithy, not by church or state. “The Kingdom of God is within you." 

You are what you make yourself. You are not free because you do not 

free yourself. 

“The Kingdom of God," Tolstoy wrote, “is attained by. . . . sacrificing 

outward circumstances for the sake of truth." 

Gandhi s path was strewn with the outward possessions and pleasures 

which he cast off en route to the kingdom of God within him. 

Gandhi s first personal contact with Tolstoy was in the form of a 

long letter, written in English, dated “Westminster Palace Hotel, 4 

Victoria Street, S.W., London, October i, 1909," and mailed from 

there to Tolstoy at Yasnaya Polyana, in central Russia. In it, he ac¬ 

quainted the Russian novelist with the civil disobedience movement in 

the Transvaal, 

In Tolstoys diary entry for September 24, 1909 (the Russian calen¬ 

dar was then thirteen days behind the Western calendar), he wrote, 

“Received a pleasant letter from a Hindu of the Transvaal." Four days 

later, Tolstoy wrote a letter to Vladimir G. Chertkov, his intimate friend 

and, later, the editor of his collected works, saying, “The letter of the 

Transvaal Hindu has touched me." 

Under date of Yasnaya Polyana, October 7 (20), 1909, Tolstoy wrote 

a reply to Gandhi in Russian. The Russian text was translated into 

English by Tolstoys daughter, Tatiana, who mailed it to Gandhi. 

Tolstoy wrote, “I have just received your most interesting letter, which 

has given me great pleasure. God help our dear brothers and co-workers 

in the Transvaal. The same struggle of the soft against the harsh, of 

meekness and love against pride and violence, is making itself felt every 

year more and more among us here. ... I greet you fraternally and am 

happy to have contact with you. (signed) Tolstoy." 

Gandhi s second letter to Tolstoy was written in Johannesburg on 

April 4, 1910, and was accompanied by a copy of Gandhi s little book, 

Hind Swaraj or Indian Home Rule, In the letter Gandhi said, “As a 
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humble follower of yours, I send you herewith a booklet which I have 

written. It is my own [English] translation of a Gujarati writing. ... I 

am most anxious not to worry you, but if your health permits it, and if 

you could find the time to go through the booklet, needless to say I 

shall value very highly your criticism of the writing.” 

On April 19, 1910, Tolstoy wrote as follows in his iary: “This morn¬ 

ing two Japanese arrived. Wild men in ecstasy over European civiliza¬ 

tion. On the other hand, the book and the letter of the Hindu reveal 

an understanding of all the shortcomings of European civilization and 
even of its total inadequacy.” 

Next day there was another entry in Tolstoy’s diary: ‘Testerday I 

read Gandhi on civilization. Very good.” And again the next day: “Read 

a book about Gandhi. Very important. I must write to him.” The book 

about Gandhi was the Biography of Gandhi by J. J. Doke, which 
Gandhi had sent to Tolstoy. 

A day later, Tolstoy wrote a letter to his friend Chertkov in which he 

referred to Gandhi as “a person very close to us, to me.” 

Tolstoy replied to Gandhi on April 25 (May 8), 1910, from Yasnaya 
Polyana. He wrote, 

Dear Friend: I just received your letter and your book, Indian Home 

Rule. I read your book with great interest because of the things and 

questions you treat in it: passive resistance is a question of the greatest 

importance, not only for India, but for the whole of humanity. 

I cannot find your former letters, but came across your biography by 

J. Doss [this is a mistake made by Tolstoy] which too interested me 

much and gave me the possibility to know and understand your letter. 

I am not quite well at present and therefore abstain from writing to 

you all what I have to say about your book and all your work, which I 

appreciate very much, but I will do it as soon as I will feel better. 
Your friend and brother, L. Tolstoy. 

This was the English translation, sent to Gandhi, of Tolstoy’s perfect 
Russian. 

Gandhi’s third letter to Tolstoy is dated “21-24 Court Chambers, 

comer Rissik and Anderson Streets, Johannesburg, August 15, 1910.” 

In it Gandhi acknowledged Tolstoy’s letter of May 8th, with thanks, 

and added: '1 shall look forward to your detailed criticism of the work 
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which you have been so good as to promise in your letter/' Gandhi also 

informed Tolstoy of the establishment of Tolstoy Farm by Kallenbach 

and himself. He said that Kallenbach was writing to Tolstoy about the 

farm. The letters of Gandhi and Kallenbach, accompanied by several 

issues of Gandhi's weekly, Indian Opinion, heightened Tolstoy s in¬ 

terest in Gandhi. In his diary of September 6(19), 1910, Tolstoy wrote, 

'Tleasant news from Transvaal about the passive resistance colony." 

Tolstoy was at this time in a state of serious spiritual depression and 

physically ill. Nevertheless, he replied to Gandhi's letter on the day he 

received it. Tolstoy dictated the letter on the evenings of the 5th and 

6th of September (18 and 19). On the 7th C20), Tolstoy corrected the 

letter and sent it in Russian to Chertkov for English translation. 

It was Chertkov who mailed Tolstoy's letter to Gandhi. Chertkov 

included in the letter a letter of his own in which he said. 

My friend, Leo Tolstoy, has requested me to acknowledge the receipt 

of your letter to him of August 15th and to translate into English his 

letter to you of September 7 (new style-20 Sept.) written originally 

in Russian. 

All you communicate about Mr. Kallenbach has greatly interested 

Tolstoy, who has asked me to answer for him Mr. Kallenbach s letter. 

Tolstoy sends you and your co-workers his heartiest greetings and warm¬ 

est wishes for the success of your work, his appreciation of which you 

will gather from the enclosed translation of his letter to you. I must 

apologize for my mistakes in English in the translation, but living in the 

country in Russia, I am unable to profit by the assistance of any English¬ 

man for correcting my mistakes. 

With Tolstoy's permission his letter to you will be published in a 

small periodical printed by some friends of ours in London. A copy of 

the magazine with the letter shall be forwarded to you, as also some 

English publications of Tolstoy's writings issued by ‘The Free Age 

Press." 

As it seems to me most desirable that more should be known in 

English about your movement, I am writing to a great friend of mine 

and Tolstoy, Mrs. Mayo, of Glasgow, proposing that she should enter 

into communication with you. . . . 

Chertkov sent a separate letter to Mr. Kallenbach. 
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Tolstoy’s own letter to Gandhi was the longest in the whole corre¬ 

spondence. Dated September 7 (20), 1910, and translated into English 

by Chertkov, it was mailed to an intermediary in England for posting 

to Gandhi. The intermediary was ill at the time and only mailed the 

letter on November ist, so that Gandhi received the letter in the 

Transvaal several days after the death of Count Leo Tolstoy. 

Tolstoy said, 

The longer I live, and especially now when I vividly feel the near¬ 
ness of death, I want to tell others what I feel so particularly clearly 
and what to my mind is of great importance—namely, that which is 
called passive resistance, but which in reality is nothing else than the 
teaching of love uncorrupted by false interpretations. 

That love ... is the highest and only law of human life and in the 
depths of his soul every human being (as we see most clearly in chil¬ 
dren) feels and knows this; he knows this until he is entangled by the 
false teachings of the world. This law was proclaimed by all, by the 
Indian as well as by the Chinese, Hebrew, Greek and Roman sages of 
the world. . . . 

In reality, as soon as force was admitted into love, there was no more 
and there could he no more love as the law of life, and as there was no 
law of love, there was no law at all, except violence—i.e., the power of 
the strongest. Thus Christian mankind has lived for nineteen cen¬ 
turies. . . . 

This was a very old man on the brink of death writing to a very 
young man; Gandhi was young, usually twenty-five years younger in 
spirit than his age. Tolstoy was profoundly unhappy. Anyone with the 
insight of War and Peace yet conscious of humanity’s refusal, or inabil¬ 
ity, to use the key to happiness available in Christ’s teachings would 
have to be unhappy. Gandhi, however, believed he could reform himself 
and others. He was doing it. It made him happy. 
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CHAPTER FOURTEEN 

The Shape of Things to Come 

Gandhi never despaired of the worst reprobate. During the South Afri¬ 

can struggle, Gandhi learned that one of his close Indian associates was 

a government informer. Later the man openly opposed Gandhi, yet 

when he became ill and impecunious Gandhi visited him and gave him 

financial aid. In time, the backslider repented. 

It was not easy for Gandhi to hold his followers. Government punitive 

measures caused many Satyagrahis to abandon the movement. Some 

resisters were deported to India with loss of property. Satyagraha put 

even the strongest character to a withering test. At one time, of the 

thirteen thousand Indians in Transvaal, twenty-five hundred were in 

jail and six thousand had fled the province. Only as self-abnegating, 

high-minded, determined, and indefatigable a leader as Gandhi could 

have kept the movement alive. The worst setbacks did not shake his 

faith in victory. This faith, plus the fact that in and out of jail he shared 

his followers' hardships and thereby won their love, was the binding 

cement of the loyal band which at times dwindled alarmingly. Some 

resisters served five prison terms in quick succession, courting a new 

jail sentence the moment they finished the old one. They merely left 

the Transvaal for Natal and immediately crossed into the Transvaal 

again. That, under the immigration ban, was their crime. 

Presently, a bigger danger loomed: a federal Union of South Africa 

was projected; it might, probably would, enact anti-Indian legislation 

like that of the Transvaal. Gandhi decided to lobby in London. Gen¬ 

erals Botha and Smuts were already there making arrangements for the 

creation of the Union, 

Gandhi always set his sights high. This time he won the active sup¬ 

port of Lord Ampthill, former Governor of Madras and acting Viceroy 

of India in 1904. From his arrival in England on July 10, 1909, to his 

return to South Africa in November, Gandhi met editors, M.P. s, offi¬ 

cials, and private citizens of all races; his fervor fascinated and infected 

many of them. 
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Liberal Englishmen regretted overt color discrimination in an empire 

overwhelmingly non-white. Imperialistic Englishmen were concerned 

with the effects of South Africa's anti-Indian legislation on India. 

While Gandhi worked in England, Henry Polak was in India explain¬ 

ing the Transvaal situation and stirring protests which echoed in White¬ 

hall. The British government in London tried to reconcile the differences 

between Smuts and Gandhi; but the general yielded too little. Smuts 

was ready to repeal the compulsory registration act and permit the 

immigration into the Transvaal of a limited number of English-speaking, 

educated, professional Indians to serve the Indian community. 

Gandhi, however, asked the removal of the ‘"badge of inferiority” and 

the “implied racial taint”; he wanted “legal or theoretical equality in 

respect of immigration.” Small material concessions neither impressed 

nor mollified him. When, therefore. Lord Crewe, the British Secretary 

of State for Colonies, informed Gandhi in writing that “Mr. Smuts was 

unable to accept the claim that Asiatics should be placed in a position 

of equality with Europeans in respect of right of entry or otherwise,” 

the militant barrister, admitting defeat in diplomatic negotiation, fore¬ 

saw a renewal of civil disobedience. 

Gandhi s trip to England, nevertheless, made the South African In¬ 

dian question a major imperial concern. Therein lay a seed of ultimate 

triumph in South Africa. 

Moreover, and apparently for the first time, Gandhi began, during 

his London sojourn, to connect himself with the pro])lem of India's 

independence. In England he sought out Indians of all shades of 

political belief: nationalists, Home-Rulers, anarchists, and advocates of 

assassination. While he debated with them far into many nights, his 

own political views and philosophy were taking shape. Some of the 

tenets which later formed the tissue of the Mahatma s creed found their 

first expression in a letter addressed to Lord Ampthill by Gandhi on 

October 9, 1909, from the Westminster Palace Hotel. 

Judging by the Indians in England, Gandhi wrote, impatience with 

British rule was widespread in India as was Indian hatred of the British. 

Partisans of violence were gaining ground. Against this, repression 

would be futile. Yet he feared that “the British rulers will not give 

liberally, and in time. The British people seem to be obsessed by the 

demon of commercial selfishness. The fault is not of men but of the 
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system. . . . India is exploited in the interests of foreign capitalists. The 

true remedy lies, in my humble opinion, in England discarding modem 

civilisation . . . which is a negation of the spirit of Christianity."' One 

hears Tolstoy's gentle voice here and echoes, too, of the raucous voices 

of Indian students in Bloomsbury. 

"But this is a large order," Gandhi admits. "The railways, machin¬ 

eries, and the corresponding increase of indulgent habits are the true 

badge of slavery of the Indian people, as they are of Europeans. I there¬ 

fore have no quarrel with the mlers. I have every quarrel with their 

methods. ... To me the rise of cities like Calcutta and Bombay is a 

matter of sorrow rather than congratulations. India has lost in having 

broken up a part of her village system. 

"Holding these views," Gandhi continues, prophetically though un¬ 

consciously enunciating the program of his entire career in India, "I 

share the National spirit, but I totally dissent from the methods, whether 

of the extremists or of the moderates, for either party relies on violence 

ultimately. Violent methods must mean an acceptance of modem civi¬ 

lisation, and therefore of the same ruinous composition we notice here, 

and the consequent destruction of morality. I should be uninterested in 

the fact as to who rules. I should expect rulers to rule according to my 

wish, otherwise I cease to help them to rule me. I become a passive 

resister against them." 

Long before Gandhi had any warrant to regard himself as a factor 

or leader in the liberation of India he knew, and indicated in this letter 

to Ampthill, that his aim was not merely substitution of Indian rule for 

British rule. Not governments but methods and objectives interested 

him, not whether a William or a Chandra sat in the seat of power but 

whose deeds were more civilized. 

This is what distinguished Gandhi from other politicians. The argu¬ 

ment—Was Gandhi a saint or politician?—is endless yet barren. Polak 

quotes Gandhi as having said in South Africa, "Men say I am a saint 

losing myself in politics. The fact is that I am a politician tr3dng my 

hardest to be a saint." The important fact is that in politics Gandhi 

always cleaved to religious and moral considerations, and as a saint he 

never thought his place was in a cave or cloister but rather in the hurly- 

burly of the popular struggle for rights and right. Gandhi's religion 
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cannot be divorced from his politics. His religion made him political. 

His politics were religious. 

When Gandhi returned from England to South Africa at the end of 

1909, political necessity forced him to establish ‘'a sort of co-operative 

commonwealth'* on a diminutive scale where civil resisters ‘would be 

trained to live a new and simple life in harmony with one another." 

There he took further steps toward sainthood, mahatmaship, and Gita 

detachment. 

Previously, when Satyagrahis were imprisoned, the organization 

attempted to support their dependents in their accustomed style of liv¬ 

ing. This led to inequality and sometimes to fraud. Gandhi consequently 

decided that the movement needed a rural commune for civil resisters 

and their families. Phoenix Farm was thirty hours by tram and hence 

too remote from the epicenter of the Transvaal struggle. 

Accordingly, Herman Kallenbach bought 1,100 acres of land at Law- 

ley, twenty-one miles outside Johannesburg, and, on May 30, 1910, gave 

it to the Satyagrahis free of any rent or charge. Here religion was wed 

to politics. Gandhi called it The Tolstoy Farm. 

The farm had over a thousand orange, apricot and plum trees, two 

wells, a spring, and one house. Additional houses were built of corru¬ 

gated iron. Gandhi and his family came to live on the farm, and so did 

Kallenbach. 

“I prepare the bread that is required on the farm," Gandhi wrote to 

a friend in India. “The general opinion about it is that it is well made. 

We put in no yeast and no baking powder. We grind our own wheat. 

We have just prepared some marmalade from the oranges grown on 

the farm. I have also learned how to prepare caramel coffee. It can be 

given as a beverage even to babies. The passive resisters on the farm 

have given up the use of tea and coffee, and taken to caramel coffee 

prepared on the farm. It is made from wheat which is first baked in a 

certain way and then ground. We intend to sell our surplus production 

of the above three articles to the public later on. Just at present, we are 

working as laborers on the construction work. . . ." There were no 

servants. 

Gandhi was baker and caramel and marmalade maker, and much 

more besides. Kallenbach went to stay in a Trappist monastery for 

German Catholic monks to master the art of sandal making. Tbds he 
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then taught to Gandhi who taught it to others. Surplus sandals were 

sold to friends. As an architect, Kallenbach knew something of carpentry 

and headed that department. Gandhi learned to make cabinets, chests 

of drawers, and school benches. But they had no chairs and no beds; 

everybody slept on the ground and, except in inclement weather, in the 

open. Each person got two blankets and a wooden pillow. Gandhi like¬ 

wise sewed jackets for his wife, and he later boasted that she wore them. 

Gandhi was general manager. The population of the farm, which 

varied with arrests and other circumstances, consisted originally of forty 

young men, three old men, five women, and between twenty and thirty 

children, of whom five were girls. There were Hindus, Moslems, Chris¬ 

tians, and Parsis among them, vegetarians and meat-eaters, smokers and 

non-smokers, and they spoke Tamil, Telugu, Gujarati, etc. As if these 

conditions did not create enough problems, Gandhi created some more. 

Smoking and alcohol drinking were strictly prohibited. Residents 

could have meat if they wished but, after a little propaganda from the 

general manager, none ever asked for it. Gandhi assisted in the cook¬ 

house and kept the women there from quarreling. 

He also supervised the sanitation, which was primitive, and taught 

people not to spit. “Leaving nightsoil, cleaning the nose, or spitting on 

the road is a sin against God and humanity,'' he told the community. 

Occasionally, Kallenbach had business in town, and Gandhi still had 

legal cases. The rule was that if you went on an errand or shopping trip 

for the commune you could travel by train, third class; but if the journey 

was private or for fun (children liked to go on picnics to Johannesburg) 

you had to walk and, for economy, take dry refreshments with you. 

Gandhi frequently walked the twenty-one miles to the city, starting at 

2 A.M., and returning the same night. He said it did them all a lot of 

good. One day, he recalls, “I walked fifty miles on foot." 

Gandhi attributed his physical stamina and that of the other com¬ 

munards to pure living and healthy diet. Breakfast was at 7, lunch at 11, 

dinner at 5:30, prayers at 7:30, bedtime at 9. All meals were light. But 

to make them lighter still, Gandhi and Kallenbach resolved to avoid 

cooked food and limit themselves to a “fruitarian" menu of bananas, 

dates, lemons, peanuts, oranges, and olive oil. Gandhi had read some¬ 

where of the cruelties practiced in India to make cows and water buf¬ 

faloes yield the maximum in milk. So he and Kallenbach dispensed with 
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milk. Kallenbach, who owned a beautiful and spacious house on a hill¬ 

top above Johannesburg, and who always had lived in luxury, shared 

every deprivation, chore, and dietary experiment on the farm. He also 

divided with Gandhi the task of teaching the children religion, geog¬ 

raphy, history, arithmetic, etc., and very rudimentary it all was. 

Gandhi s ideas on coeducation were unconventional. He encouraged 

boys and girls, some of them adolescents, to bathe at the spring at the 

same time. For the girls' safety, he was always present, and *‘My eyes 

followed the girls as a mothers eye follows a daughter." No doubt, the 

boys’ eyes did likewise, and less innocently. At niglit, everybody slept 

on an open veranda, and the young folks grouped their sleeping places 

around Gandhi. Beds were only three feet apart. But Gandhi said the 

young folks knew he loved them ‘with a mother’s love,’’ and hadn’t he 

explained the duty of self-restraint to them? 

After an incident involving two girls, he searched for a method “to 

sterilise the sinner’s eye’’ of males. The quest kept him awake all night, 

but in the morning he had it: he summoned the girls and suggested 

that they shave their heads. They w'ere shocked, but he had an irresisti¬ 

ble way, and finally they consented. He himself did the cutting. 

Years later, Gandhi explained this innocence by ignorance, but he 

did not explain why he should have been ignorant. I le dispelled some 

of the mystery by adding that his “faith and courage were at their high¬ 

est in Tolstoy Farm.’’ Boundless faith in human beings sometimes 

blinded him to their faults. It was the sort of blindness which blots out 

obstacles and thus leads to brave ventures. He measured other people’s 

capacities by his own. This often spurred them to unwonted effort. It 

was good pedagogy if it worked; it worked better with adults and little 

children than with adolescents. 

In October, 1912, Gopal Krishna Gokhale, Professor of English and 

economics. President of the Servants of India Society in India, came to 

South Africa for a month in order to assess the Indian community’s 

condition and assist Gandhi in ameliorating it. Gokhale, and Lokamanya 

Tilak, were Gandhi’s forerunners in pre-Gandhian India. Gokhale was 

a revered leader of the Indian Nationalist movement, a brilliant intel¬ 

lectual, and an impressive person. Gandhi acknowledged him an excel¬ 

lent judge of character. In South Africa, Gokhale once said to Gandhi, 

'Tou will always have your own way. And there is no help for me as 
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I am here at your mercy.’’ llie dictum was spoken in friendship and in 

earnest, 

Gandhi s selflessness fortified his assurance. Certain in his heart that 

he sought neither material gain, nor power, nor praise, he had none of 

the guilty and deterring feeling which might have prevented him from 

insisting on his point of view. Sure he was right, he was sure of victory. 

Then why yield? When Gokhale asked for a list of the really reliable 

civil resisters, Gandhi wrote down sixty-six names. That was maximum. 

The number, however, might sink to sixteen. This was Gandhi’s “army 

of peace.” Yet he never flinched; the government would surrender. 

Gokhale’s tour was a triumphal procession through South Africa. 

Gandhi was always by his side. In Cape I’own, where Gokhale landed, 

the Schreiners welcomed him, and Europeans as well as Indians at¬ 

tended his big public meeting. From the Transvaal frontier to Johannes¬ 

burg he traveled by sj:)ecial train. At every town he stopped for a meeting 

over which the Icx'al mayor presided. The principal railroad stations had 

been decorated by Indians. At the Park Tenninal in Johannesburg a 

large ornamental arch designed by Kallenbach was erected. During his 

stay in Johannesburg Gokhale had the use of the mayor’s automobile. 

At Pretoria, capital of the Transvaal, the government entertained him. 

The South African authorities wanted Gokhale to carry back a good 

impression to India. 

After making many speeches and talking to many Indians and whites, 

Gokhale had a two-hour interview with Generals Botha and Smuts, the 

heads, now, of the Union government. Gandhi, of his own accord, ab¬ 

sented himself; he was a controversial figure who might spoil the 

atmosphere. 

When Gokhale came back from the interview, he reported that the 

racial bar in the Immigration Act would be removed together with the 

three-pound annual tax collected from indentured laborers who re¬ 

mained in South Africa as free men. 

“I doubt it verv much,” Gandhi retorted. “You do not know the 

Ministers as I do.” 

“What I have told you is bound to come to pass,” Gokhale cried. 

“General Botha promised me that the Black Act would be repealed and 

the three-pound tax abolished. You must return to India within twelve 

months, and I will not have any of your excuses.” 
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Gandhi was glad of the government s promise; it proved the justice 

of the Indian cause. But he did not think his job in the Union of South 

Africa would be completed before many more Indians, and he too, went 
to jail. 

At Gokhale s request, Gandhi and Kallenbach took the steamer with 

him as far as Zanzibar in Tanganyika. On board, Gokhale talked at 

length about Indian politics, economics, superstitions, problems. He was 

introducing Gandhi to the future. Then Gokhale ailed on to India, 

and Gandhi and Kallenbach returned to Natal for the final struggle. 

Addressing an assembly in Bombay Town Hall in December, 1912, 

Gokhale said, “Gandhi has in him the marvelous spiritual jx^wer to turn 

ordinary men around him into heroes and martyrs.'' Gokhale, who 

looked critically at Gandhi and sometimes rebuked him, added that in 

Gandhi’s presence one is “ashamed to do anything unworthy,” indeed 

one is “afraid of thinking anything unworthy.” 

Gandhi proved this to the hilt in the final chapter of the South Africa 

epic. 

CHAPTER FIFTEEN 

The Victory 

Smuts precipitated the final contest by announcing in the House of 

Assembly that the Europeans of Natal, who were the original employers 

of Indian contract labor, would not permit the lifting of the three-pound 

annual tax on ex-serfs. That was the signal for the renewal of civil 

disobedience. Indentured laborers and former indentured laborers con¬ 

sidered this a breach of the promise given to Professor Gokhale; they 

volunteered en masse for Satyagraha. 

Gandhi closed Tolstoy Farm. Kasturbai, Gandhi, the Gandhi children, 

and several others moved to Phoenix Farm. Adults prepared for jail. 

There were two issues: the tax and the ban on Asiatic immigrants. 

Presently, a third was added. On March 14, 1913, a Justice of the Cape 



The Victory 109 

Colony Supreme Court ruled that only Christian marriages were legal 

in South Africa. This invalidated Hindu, Moslem, or Parsi marriages 

and turned all Indian wives into concubines without rights. 

For the first time, large numbers of women joined the resisters. Kas- 

turbai also joined. 

As the ojxining move in the new campaign a group of women volun¬ 

teers were to cross from the Transvaal into Natal and thereby court 

arrest. If the border police ignored them, they would proceed to the 

Natal coal field at Newcastle and urge the indentured miners to go on 

strike. Simultaneously, a chosen handful of Natal 'sisters,’" as Gandhi 

called them, would invite arrest by entering the Transvaal without 

permission. 

The Natal "sisters" were arrested and imprisoned. Indignation flared 

and brought new recruits. The Transvaal "sisters'" were not arrested. 

They went to Newcastle and |x^rsuaded the Indian workers to pur down 

their tools. Then the government arrested these women, too, and lodged 

them in jail for three montlis. As a result, the miners" strike spread. 

Gandhi rushed from Phoenix Farm to Newcastle. 

The miners lived in company houses. The company turned off their 

light and water. 

Gandhi believed the strike would last and therefore counseled the 

indentured laborers to leave their compounds, taking their blankets and 

some clothes, and pitch camp outside the home of Mr. and Mrs. D. M. 

Lazarus, a Christian couple from India, who had invited Gandhi to stay 

with them despite the risks such hospitality entailed. 

The strikers slept under the sky. Newcastle Indian merchants con¬ 

tributed food and cooking and eating utensils. Before long, five thou¬ 

sand strikers had assembled within sight of the Lazarus house. 

Gandhi was astonished and baffled. What could he do with this mul¬ 

titude? They might be on his hands for months. He decided to "see 

them safely deposited in jail"" in the Transvaal. He informed them of 

this pros[iect, described prison at its blackest, and urged waverers to 

return to the mines. None did. It was then agreed that on a fixed day 

they would all march the thirty-six miles from Newcastle to Charles¬ 

town, on the Natal-Transvaal border, walk into the Transvaal, and 

thereby earn jail sentences. A few women with children, and disabled 

men, were to travel by rail toward the same goal. 



no The Life of Mahatma Gandhi 

While plans were being made, more strikers arrived. Again Gandhi 

attempted, without success, to dissuade them from following him. Ac¬ 

cordingly, October 13th was set as the day of departure from Newcastle. 

He was able to furnish each ‘Wdier" with a pound and a half of bread 

and an ounce of sugar. Instructions were: Conduct yourselves morally, 

hygienically, and pacifically. Submit to police flogging and abuse. Do 

not resist arrest. 

Charlestown was reached without incident. Prej‘arations to receive 

the Gandhi army had been made in advance by Kalkaibiich and others. 

The Indian merchants of Charlestown (normal population one thou¬ 

sand) contributed rice, vegetables, kitchen equipmer»r, etc. Gandhi was 

chef and head waiter. Complaints about inadequate jx)rtions were met 

with an infectious smile and a report on the total amount of food avail¬ 

able and the volume of each person s equal ration. 

Women and children were accommodated in houses; the men slept 

in the grounds of the local mosque. 

Before moving on, Gandhi communicated his intentions to the gov¬ 

ernment. He and his people were coming into the Transvaal to demon¬ 

strate against the breach of the Botha-Smuts pledge and to assert their 

self-respect: '1 cannot conceive a greater loss to a man than the loss of 

his self-respect.'' Of course, he added, the Natal government could arrest 

them in Charlestown and thus spare them further treks. On the other 

hand, if the government annulled the three-pound tax the strikers 

would resume the mining of coal. 

The government did not oblige by arresting them at Charlestown, 

nor did it eliminate the three-pound levy. In fact, Gandhi suspected 

that the authorities might not stop the * army" even if it penetrated into 

the Transvaal. In that case, he contemplated advancing on Tolstoy Farm 

by eight day-marches of twenty miles each. 

How would he feed his peace troops on the road for eight days? A 

European baker at Volksrust, the Transvaal border town, undertook to 

supply them in Volksrust and then to ship the necessary quantity of 

bread by rail each day to an appointed S}X)t en route to the farm. 

Gandhi counted his forces. There were 2,037 men, 127 women, and 

57 children. At 6:30 on the morning of November 6, 1913, Gandhi 

recalls, 'we offered prayers and commenced the march in the name of 

God." 
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From Charlestown on the Natal side to Volksrust is one mile, A large 

detachment of Transvaal mounted border guards was on emergency 

duty. Two days earlier the Volksrust whites had held a meeting at 

which several speakers declared they would personally shoot any Indian 

who attempted to enter the Transvaal. Kallenbach, who attended to 

defend the Indians, was challenged to a duel. He was a pupil of the 

great Sandow, and an accomplished pugilist and wrestler, but the Gan- 

dhian German arose and said, ‘'As I have accepted the religion of peace 

I may not accept the challenge. . . . The Indians do not want what 

you imagine. , . . The Indians are not out to challenge your position 

as rulers. They do not wish to fight with you or to fill the country. . . . 

They propose to enter the Transvaal not with a view to settle there, 

but only as an effective demonstration against the unjust tax which is 

levied upon them. They are brave men. They will not injure you in 

person or in property, they will not fight with you, but enter the Trans¬ 

vaal they will, even in the face of your gijnfire. They are not the men 

to beat a retreat from the fear of your bullets or spears. They propose to 

melt, and I know they w^ill melt, your hearts by self-suffering.'' 

Nobody shot anybody; perhaps Kallenbach s speech turned away the 

white wrath. Perhaps the police reinforcements at the border sobered 

the hotheads. The guards let the Indians pass. 

The first halt was made at Palmford, eight miles beyond Volksrust. 

The marchers ate a meager meal and stretched out on the earth for 

^leep. Gandhi had surveyed his slumbering resisters and was about to 

lie down when he heard steps and a moment later saw a policeman 

approaching, lantern in hand. 

“I have a warrant to arrest you,” the officer said politely to Gandhi. 

“I want to arrest you.” 

“When?” Gandhi asked. 

“Now,” the policeman replied. 

“Where will you take me?” 

“To the adjoining station first,” the officer explained democratically, 

“and to Volksrust when there is a train.” 

Gandhi woke Mr. P. K. Naidoo, a faithful lieutenant, and gave him 

instructions for continuing the march to Tolstoy Farm. Gandhi was 

transported to Volksrust and arraigned in court. The prosecutor de¬ 

manded imprisonment, but the judge released Gandhi on bail furnished 
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by Kallenbach. Gandhi had asked for release on bail because of his 
responsibilities to the marchers. Kallenbach, stationed in Volksrust to 
send on stragglers and new recruits, had a car ready and quickly drove 
Gandhi back to the Indian ‘army.'* 

The next day the Indians halted at Standerton. Gandhi was handing 
out bread and marmalade when a magistrate stepped up and said to 
Gandhi, 'Tou are my prisoner.” 

'It seems I have been promoted,” Gandhi commeni.ed with a laugh, 
"since magistrates take the trouble to arrest me instead of mere police 
officials.” 

Again Gandhi was freed on bail. Five co-workers were imprisoned. 
Two days later, November 9th, as Gandhi and Polak were walking 

at the head of the long column, a cart came up and the officer in it 

ordered Gandhi to come along. Gandhi passed the command to Polak. 

The officer permitted Gandhi to inform the marchers of his arrest, but 

when the little "general" began to exhort the Indians to remain peace¬ 

ful, the officer exclaimed, "You are now a prisoner and cannot make any 

speeches.” 

In four days, Gandhi had been arrested three times. 
The march continued without the leader. 
On the morning of the loth, on reaching Balfour, the Indians saw 

three special trains drawn up at the station to deport them from the 
Transvaal to Natal, At first they refused to submit to arrest, and it was 
only through the co-operation of Polak, Ahmed Kachhalia, and others 
that the police were able to herd the marchers into the trains. 

Polak was thanked for his services and arrested and confined in Volks¬ 
rust jail. There he found Kallenbach. 

On November 14th, Gandhi was brought to trial in Volksrust. He 

pleaded guilty. The court, however, "would not convict a prisoner,” 

Gandhi wrote, "merely upon his pleading guilty.” It therefore requested 

him to supply the witnesses against himself, and Gandhi did so. Kallen¬ 

bach and Polak testified against him. 

Twenty-four hours later, Gandhi appeared as a witness against Kal¬ 
lenbach, and two days after that, Gandhi and Kallenbach testified 
against Polak. Judge Theodore Jooste reluctantly gave each of them 
three months' hard labor in the Volksrust prison. 



The Victory 113 

Fresh prisoners kept Gandhi informed on Satyagraha developments 

outside. The arrest of the leaders and marchers had stirred new enthusi¬ 

asm, and the number of resisters throughout South Africa mounted fast. 

Occasionally, Gandhi could send messages to followers still at liberty. 

Meanwhile, Gandhi rejoiced in congenial company. This was too much 

of a good thing, and the government shifted him to Bloemfontein where 

he was with Europeans and Negroes, but no Indians. 

The striking miners met a worse fate. Trains carried them back to 

the mines, where they were forced into wire-enclosed stockades and 

placed under company employees who had been sworn in as special 

constables. Despite whips, sticks, and kicks, they refused to descend to 

the coal face. 

News of these events was cabled to India and England. India roared 

with resentment; the authorities grew alarmed. Lord Hardinge, the British 

Viceroy, felt impelled to deliver a strong speech at Madras in which, 

breaking precedent, he trenchantly criticized the South African govern¬ 

ment and demanded a commission of inquiry. 

Meanwhile, more indentured laborers left their work in sympathy 

with the rebellious Newcastle miners. The state regarded such laborers 

as slaves wdthout the right to strike, and sent soldiers to suppress them. 

In one place the military killed and wounded several. 

The tide of resistance rose higher. Approximately fifty thousand in¬ 

dentured laborers were on strike; several thousand free Indians were in 

prison. From India came a stream of gold. At a meeting in Lahore, in 

the Punjab, a Christian missionary named Charles F. Andrews donated 

all the money he owned to the South African movement. Others made 

similar sacrifices. 

By arrangement, several leading Indians, and Albert West, who 

edited Indimi Opinion, and Sonya Schlesin, Gandhi’s secretary, avoided 

arrest to conduct propaganda, handle finances, and communicate with 

India and England. The government nevertheless arrested Mr. West. 

Thereupon, Gokhale sent Andrews from India to replace him. He came 

with W. W. Pearson, another high-minded Englishman. 

Cables between the Viceroy s office and London and between London 

and South Africa hummed with voluminous official messages. 

Unexpectedly, the government liberated Gandhi, Kallenbach, and 
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Polak on December i8, 1913. ‘'AH three of us/' Gandhi writes, “were 

disappointed upon our release." Civil disobedience, properly launched 

and inspired, needed no leaders. 

If Gandhi wanted to be free he need not have gone to jail at all; ha 

could have refrained from op{X)sing the government. Going into and 

coming out of prison had to advance the cause, and this time coming 

out did not. Linder pressure from the Viceroy and the British authorities 

in Whitehall, a commission had been app)inted to investigate the 

grievances of the Indians in South Africa, and it was hojx^d that the 

release of Gandhi and his colleagues would testify to the bona fides of 

Botha and Smuts in appointing it. 

But upon regaining his liberty Gandhi asserted in a public statement 

that the commission "is a packed body and intended to hoodwink the 

government and the public opinion both of England and of India." He 

did not doubt the “integrity and impartiality" of the chairman. Sir 

William Solomon, but Mr. Ewald Esselen, he said, was prejudiced. 

And Colonel J. S. Wylie, the third member, had, in January, 1897, 

“led a mob to demonstrate against the landing of Indians who had 

arrived at Durban in two vessels, advocated at a public meeting the 

sinking of two ships with all Indians on board and commending a re¬ 

mark made by another speaker that he would willingly put down a 

month s pay for one shot at the Indians. . . . He has consistently been 

our enemy all these years." Gandhi was injured in that 1897 assault. 

Three days after leaving prison, Gandhi appeared at a mass meeting 

in Durban. He was no longer dressed in shirt and dungaree trousers. 

He wore a knee-length white smock, a white wrapping around his legs 

(an elongated loincloth), and sandals. He had abandoned Western 

clothing. He did so, he told the meeting, to mourn comrades killed 

during the miners’ strike. 

Reviewing the situation, Gandhi advised “still greater purifying suf¬ 

fering until at last the government may order the military to riddle us 

also with bullets. 

“My friends," he exclaimed, “are you prepared for this?" 

‘Tes, yes," the audience shouted. 

“Are you prepared to share the fate of those of our countrymen whom 

the cold stone is resting upon today?" 

“Yes, yes," they shouted. 
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“I hope,” Gandhi proceeded, “that every man, woman, and grown-up 

child will . , . not consider their salaries, trades, or even families, or 

their own bodies. . . 

The struggle, he emphasized, is “a struggle for human liberty, and 

therefore a struggle for religion.” 

After the meeting Gandhi wrote to Smuts condemning the choice of 

Esselen and Wylie, the anti-Asiatic commission members. “Man,” he 

philosophized, “cannot change his temj^iament all at once. It is against 

the laws of nature to suppose that these gentlemen will suddenly be¬ 

come different. . . .” 

Smuts replied three days later, rejecting Gandhi s proposal to add 

Indians or pro-Indians to the commission. 

Gandhi accordingly announced that on January i, 1914, he and a 

group of Indians would march from Durban, Natal, to court arrest. 

They would not agitate for free immigration into the Union, nor for 

political franchise in the near future, he declared. They merely wished 

to regain lost rights. 

While this embarrassing threat of an Indian mass march hung over 

the government s head, the white employees of all the South African 

railroads went on strike. Gandhi immediately called off his march. It 

was not part of the tactics of Satyagraha, he explained, to destroy, hurt, 

humble, or embitter the adversary, or to win a victory by weakening 

him. Civil rcsisters hope, by sincerity, chivalry, and self-suffering, to 

convince the opponent’s brain and conquer his heart. They never take 

advantage of the government s difficulty or form unnatural alliances. 

Congratulations poured in on Gandhi; Lord Ampthill wired from 

England, so did others; messages of appreciation came from India and 

many points in South Africa. 

Smuts, busy with the railway strike (martial law had been declared), 

nevertheless summoned Gandhi to a talk. The first talk led to another. 

The government had accepted the principle of negotiation. Gandhi s 

friends warned him against deferring the march again. They recalled 

Smuts s broken pledge in 1908. 

“Forgiveness,” Gandhi replied, quoting the Sanskrit, “is the ornament 

of the brave.” 

Gandhi s knightly forebearance in canceling the march created an 

atmosphere favorable to a settlement. Gandhi s hand, moreover, was 



ii6 The Life of Mahatma Gandhi 

strengthened by the arrival, on a fast, special steamer, of Sir Benjamin 

Robertson, extraordinary envoy of the Viceroy who was worried about 

hostile reactions in India to South African persecutions. 

Gandhi postponed the march a second time. 

''Gandhi,'* Smuts said at one of their interviews, "this time we want 

no misunderstanding, we want no mental or other reservations, let all 

the cards be on the table, and I want you to tell mt wherever you think 

that a particular passage or word does not read in av corvlance with your 

own reading." 

This spirit, recognized as friendly by Gandhi, cimduced to steady if 

slow progress in the talks. “You can t put twenty thousand Indians into 

jail,*' Smuts declared in defense of his new, conciliatory atiitudc. 

Smuts and Gandhi placed their cards and texts on the table. Memo¬ 

randa passed from one side to the other. For weeks, each word was 

weighed, each sentence sharpened for precision. On June 30, 1914, the 

two subtle negotiators finally exchanged letters confirming the Unins of 

a complete agreement. 

This document was then translated into the Indian Relief Bill and 

submitted to the Union Parliament in Cape Town. Smuts pleaded with 

Members to approach the problem “in a non-controversial spirit. ” The 

bill became South African law in July. 

The terms were: 

I. Hindu, Moslem, and Parsi marriages are valid. 

■ 2. The three-pound annual tax on indentured laborers who wish to 

remain in Natal is abolished; arrears are canceled. 

3. Indentured labor will cease coming from India by 1920. 

4. Indians could not move freely from one province of the Union to 

another, but Indians born in South Africa might enter the Cape Colony. 

Smuts promised publicly that the law v/ould be administered "in a 

just manner and with due regard to vested rights" of Indians. 

The settlement was a compromise which pleased both sides. Gandhi 

noted that Indians would still be "cooped up" in their provinces, they 

could not buy gold, they could not hold land in the Transvaal, and 

they had difficulty obtaining trade licenses. But he regarded the agree¬ 

ment as the "Magna Charta" of South African Indians. The gain, he 

told a farewell banquet in Johannesburg—he was feted at a dozen 

dinners—was not "the intrinsic things" in the law but the vindication 
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of the abstract principle of racial equality and the removal of the 'racial 

taint/^ 

The victory, moreover, was a vindication of civil resistance. "It is a 

force which,'' Gandhi wrote in Indian Opinion, "if it became universal, 

would revolutionize social ideals and do away with despotisms and the 

ever-growing militarism under which the nations of the West arc groan¬ 

ing and are being almost crushed to death, and which fairly promises 

to overwhelm even the nations of the East." 

Having won the battle, Gandhi, accompanied by Mrs. Gandhi and 

Mr. Kallcnbach, sailed for England on July 18, 1914. Gandhi was in 

European clothes, and lcx)ked gentle, thoughtful, and tired. Kasturbai 

wore a white sari with a gay flower design and showed signs of suffering 

as well as beauty. Like her husband, she was forty-five. 

Just before leaving South Africa forever, Gandhi gave Miss Schlesin 

and Polak a pair of sandals he had made in prison and asked that they 

be delivered to General Smuts as a gift. Smuts wore them every summer 

at his own Doornkloof farm at Irene, near Pretoria. In 1939, on Gandhi’s 

seventieth birthday, he returned them to Gandhi in a gesture of friend¬ 

ship. Invited to contribute to a Gandhi memorial volume on that 

occasion. Smuts, by then a world-famous statesman and war leader, com¬ 

plied, and, graciously calling himself "an opponent of Gandhi a gener¬ 

ation ago, " declared that men like the Mahatma "redeem us from a 

sense of commonplace and futility, and arc an inspiration to us not to 

weary in well-doing. . . . 

"The story of our clash in the early days of the Union of South 

Africa," Smuts wrote, "has been told by Gandhi himself and is well 

known. It was my fate to be the antagonist of a man for whom even 

then I had the highest respect. , . . He never forgot tfie human back¬ 

ground of the situation, never lost his temper or succumbed to hate, and 

preserved his gentle humor even in the most trying situations. His man¬ 

ner and spirit even then, as well as later, contrasted markedly with the 

ruthless and brutal forcefulness which is the vogue in our day. . . . 

"I must frankly admit," Smuts continued, "that his activities at that 

time were very trying to me. . . . Gandhi . . . showed a new tech¬ 

nique. . . . His method was deliberately to break the law, and to 

organize his followers into a mass movement. ... In both provinces 

a wild and disconcerting commotion was created, large numbers of 
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Indians had to be imprisoned for lawless behavior, and Gandhi himself 

received—what no doubt he desired—a period of rest and quiet in jail. 

For him everything went according to plan. For me—the defender of 

law and order—there was the usual trying situation, the odium of carry¬ 

ing out a law which had not strong public support, and finally the 

discomfiture when the law was repealed.” 

Speaking of Gandhi's present, Smuts remarked, 1 have worn these 

sandals for many a summer since then, even though I may feel that I 

am not worthy to stand in the shoes of so great a man.” Such humor 

and generosity proved him worthy of Gandhi s mettle. 

Part of Gandhi s effectiveness lay in evoking the best Gandhian im¬ 

pulses of his adversary. 

The purity of Gandhi s methods made it difficult for Smuts to 

oppose him. Victory came to Gandhi not when Smuts had no more 

strength to fight him but when he had no more heart to fight him. 

Professor Gilbert Murray of Oxford wrote: ‘'Be careful in dealing with 

a man who cares nothing for sensual pleasures, nothing for comfort or 

praise or promotion, but is simply determined to do what he believes to be 

right. He is a dangerous and uncomfortable enemy because his body 

which you can always conquer gives you so little purchase over his soul.” 

That was Gandhi, the leader. 

Gandhi once recited these verses of Shelley to a Christian gathering 

in India: 

Stand ye calm and resolute. 

Like a forest close and mut^, 

With folded arms and looks which are 

Weapons in unvanquished war. 

And if then the tyrants dare. 

Let them ride among you there, 

Slash, and stab, and maim, and hew— 

What they like, that let them do. 

With folded arms and steady eyes. 

And little fear, and less surprise, 

Look upon them as they slay. 

Till their rage has died away. 
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Then they will return with shame 

To the place from which they came, 

And the blood thus shed will speak 

In hot blushes on their cheek. 

Rise like lions after slumber 

In unvanquishable number— 

Shake your chains to earth, like dew 

Which in sleep has fallen on you— 

Ye are many, they are few. 

Those were the followers, the Indian civil resisters in South Africa. 

In 1949, the Indian population of South Africa was a quarter of a 

million, of whom two hundred thousand lived in the province of Natal. 

Though they had multiplied and prospered, they still did not have the 

franchise or guaranteed civil rights. They were subject to white and 

Zulu violence. Their condition was precarious. Manilal Gandhi’s Indian 
Opnion of February 25, 1949, noted that in 1914 passive resistance was 

“only suspended" and “may have to be reintroduced.” Every generation 

re-enacts the battle for its rights—or it loses them. But while individuals 

in several continents have practiced passive resistance, nobody except 

Mohandas K. Gandhi has ever led a successful, non-violent, mass, civil 

disobedience campaign. He possessed the personal qualities which 

aroused the necessary responses in the community. 
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CHAPTER SIXTEEN 

Home in India 

**Do I contradict myself?’' Gandhi asked. ‘‘Consistency is a hobgoblin.’' 

No ism held him rigid in its grip. No theory guided his thoughts oi 

actions. He never hewed to a line that came to meet him. He reserved 

the right to differ with himself. 

His life, Gandhi said, was an unending experiment. He experimented 

even in his seventies. There was nothing stodgy about him. He was not 

a conforming Hindu or a conforming nationalist or a conforming pacifist. 

Gandhi was independent, unfettered, unpredictable, hence exciting 

and difficult. A conversation with him was a voyage of discovery: he 

dared to go anywhere without a chart. 
Under attack, he rarely defended himself. Happily adjusted in India, 

he never condemned anyone. Humble and simple, he did not have to 

pretend dignity. Thus relieved of uncreative mental tasks, he was free 

to be creative. 
Nor did he say or do anything merely to gain popularity or win or 

mollify followers. He upset the applecart frequently. His inner need to 

perform a given act took precedence over its possible effects on his 

supporters. 
Two days before Gandhi, Mrs. Gandhi, and Kallenbach reached 

England from South Africa, the First World War broke out. Gandhi 

felt that Indians ought to do their bit for Britain. He accordingly volun¬ 
teered to raise an ambulance corps headed by himself. Eighty Indians, 

most of them university students in the United Kingdom, volunteered. 
Gandhi had no delusions: “Those who confine themselves to attending 

to the wounded in battle cannot be absolved from the guilt of war.” 

Then how, Gandhi’s friends protested, could he, the man of non¬ 

violence, participate in a war? 
Gandhi answered in effect: I accept the benefits and protection of 

the British Empire; I have not tried to destroy it; why should I allow it 

to be destroyed? 

123 
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A modem nation is only quantitatively less violent in peacetime than 

in wartime, and unless one non-collaborates in peacetime one is merely 

salving ones conscience by non-collaborating in wartime. Why pay taxes 

to make the arms which kill? Why obey the kind of officials who will 

make a war? Unless you surrender citizenship or go to jail before the 

war, you belong in the army during the war. 

Gandhi’s support of the war was personally painful and politically 

harmful. But he preferred truth to comfort. 

While the minor tempest over his pro-war attitude raged around 

Gandhi’s head, his pleurisy, aggravated by too much fasting, took a 

serious turn and the doctor ordered him home to India. He arrived in 

Bombay with Kasturbai on Januar)^ 9, 1915. Kallenbach, being a Ger¬ 

man, was not permitted to travel to India and returned to South Africa. 

Except in his native Gujarat region, in the cities of Bombay and 

Calcutta, and in the Madras area, home of the many Tamil indentured 

laborers in South Africa, Gandhi’s support of the war made little im¬ 

pression. He was not well known in India. Nor did he know India. 

Professor Gokhale accordingly ‘commanded” Gandhi to spend the 

first year in India with “his ears open but his mouth shut.” What he 

learned in those twelve months about the past and present, Gandhi 

matched against the hopes for the future which he had formulated as 

early as 1909 in his first book. Hind Swaraj or Indian Home Rule, He 

wrote this brief volume in Gujarati, using right and left hands to do so, 

while returning from England to South Africa, and had it published 

in installments in Indian Opinion and then printed as a book in Gujarati 

and English. He allowed it to be republished in India in 1921 without 

change, and, in an introduction to still another edition in 1938, he said, 

“I have seen nothing to make me alter the views expanded in it.” The 

seventy-six-page pamphlet, therefore, stands as his social credo. 

Indian Home Rule records discussions Gandhi had with Indians in 

London, one of them an anarchist, some of them terrorists. “If we act 

justly,” Gandhi said to them, “India will be free sooner. You will see, 

too, that if we shim every Englishman as an enemy, Home Rule will be 

delayed. But if we are just to them, we shall receive their support. .. 

This was prophetic. 

Gandhi asked his interlocutors, whom he groups as “Reader,” how 

they see the future independence of India. “As is Japan,” Reader replies. 
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‘‘so must India be. We must own our own navy, our army, and we must 

have our own splendor, and then will India s voice ring through the 
world."' 

In other words, Gandhi comments, you want “English rule without 

the Englishman. You want the tigers nature without the tiger. . . . 

You would make India English. . . . This is not the Swaraj I want.” 

Gokhale told Gandhi in South Africa that the booklet was “crude 

and hastily conceived,” and some parts, notably those on British domes¬ 

tic politics, are. On the other hand. Count Leo Tolstoy praised its phi¬ 

losophy. It has abiding interest for Gandhi's definition of Swaraj or 

home-rule. “Some Englishmen,” Gandhi wrote, “state that they took and 

hold India by the sword. Both statements are wrong. The sword is en¬ 

tirely useless for holding India. We alone keep them. . . . We like their 

commerce; they please us by their subtle methods and get what they 

want from us. . . . We further strengthen their hold by quarreling 

amongst ourselves. . . . India is being ground down not under the 

British heel but under that of modern civilisation.” Then he inveighed 

against India's use of railroads and machinery. 

Foreigners, and Indians, frequently challenged Gandhi on his hos¬ 

tility to the modern machine. The several editions of Hind Swaraj 

report some of these discussions. In 1924, for instance, Gandhi was 

asked whether he objected to all machinery. 

“How can I,” he replied, “when I know that even this body is a most 

delicate piece of machinery? The spinning wheel is a machine; a little 

toothpick is a machine. What I object to is the craze for machinery, not 

machinery as such. 
“Today,” Gandhi continued, “machinery merely helps a few to ride 

on the back of the millions. . . . The machine should not tend to atrophy 

the limbs of man. For instance, I would make intelligent exceptions. 

Take the case of the Singer sewing machine. It is one of the few useful 

things ever invented, and there is a romance about the device itself.” 

He had learned to sew on it. 
And would you not need big factories to produce little devices like 

Singers? 

“Yes,” Gandhi agreed. 
Then, since he liked to close the circle of every argument and come 

back to his starting point, Gandhi said, “Ideally, I would rule out all 
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machinery, even as I would reject this very body, which is not helpful 

to salvation, and seek the absolute liberation of the soul. From that 

point of view I would reject all machinery, but machines would remain 

because, like the body, they are inevitable."' Thus he upheld the prin¬ 

ciple yet admitted the contention. 

Gandhi was not anti-machine. He merely realized earlier than many 

others the dangers and horrors of a civilization in which the individual 

is somewhat in the position of a savage who makes an idol and then 

makes sacrifices to appease it. The faster machines move the faster man 

lives and the greater his nervous tensions and his cultural and social 

tributes to speed. Gandhi would have had less objection to machinery if 

it merely served the body; he did not want it to invade the mind and 

maim the spirit. He believed that India's mission was to * elevate the 

moral being." Therefore, “if the English become Indianized we can 

accommodate them." 

Such a thing has never happened. Reader objected. 

“To believe that what has not occurred in history will not occur at 

all," Gandhi replied, “is to argue disbelief in the dignity of man." He 

had the soul of an Eastern prophet and the spirit of a Western pioneer. 

Reader scorned Gandhi s moral preoccupations. He wanted India 

liberated from the British as Mazzini and Garibaldi had liberated Italy 

from Austria. The analogy enabled Gandhi to drive home the central 

thesis that guided him to greatness before and especially after India's 

independence: 

“If you believe that because Italians rule Italy the Italian nation is 

happy you are groping in darkness. . . . According to Mazzini [freedom] 

meant the whole of the Italian people, that is, its agriculturists. The 

Italy of Mazzini still remains in a state of slavery. . . . 

“It would be folly to assume," Gandhi added, “that an Indian Rocke¬ 

feller would be better than an American Rockefeller." 

Gandhi saw the Haws in Western culture, but he took much from it. 

His defense of the individual against the community and of man against 

the machine is in tune with Ruskin, Thoreau, Mazzini, and the Utopian 

(not Marxist) socialists. Ideologically, Gandhi stood with one foot in 

the deep individualistic current of the first half of Europe's nineteenth 

century and the other in the turbulent nationalistic current of the 

second half of that century; the two streams merged in him, and he 
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endeavored to achieve the same synthesis in the Indian independence 
movement. 

Gandhi asked England to quit India, but he did not want India to 

quit England. He cultivated cultural and other ties with Britain. In 

1936, for instance, he gave an Indian student named Kamalnayan Bajaj 

a letter of introduction to Henry Polak in London in which he said, 

‘‘However much we may fight Great Britain, London is increasingly 

our Mecca. ... I have advised him to take up a course in the London 

School of Economics.'* His nationalism lacked the usual concomitants 

of nationalism: exclusiveness and hostility toward other countries. “My 

patriotism," Gandhi declared, “is subservient to my religion." He was 

too religious to serve one land, one race, one caste, one family, one 

person, or even one religion. His religion was humanity. 

Gandhi planted these ideas as he moved up and down India during 

that probationary first year Gokhale had enjoined upon him; he studied 

and learned, but contrary to orders he talked. He talked at banquets 

celebrating his South African exploits. He attended them with the 

silent Kasturbai whom he lauded as his helpful partner. 

At a dinner in April, 1915, in Madras, he defended his recruiting 

campaign for the British army; this speech was pro-West. “I discovered," 

he said, “that the British Empire had certain ideals with which I have 

fallen in love, and one of those ideals is that every subject of the British 

Empire has the freest scope possible for his energy and honor and what¬ 

ever he thinks is due to his conscience. I think that is true of the British 

government as it is true of no other government. ... I have more than 

once said that that government is best which governs least. I have found 

that it is possible for me to be governed least under the British Empire. 

Hence my loyalty to the British Empire." 

He took the unpopular side. 

Gandhi's speeches were delivered in a weak, unimpressive, conversa¬ 

tional tone. He had been heralded as the hero of Natal and the Trans¬ 

vaal, the person who defeated Smuts. The Indian nationalists had 

expected a new giant, a lion of a man who might lead them to inde¬ 

pendence. (Gokhale died in 1915O They were disappointed. Instead of 

a likely candidate for the succession, they saw a thin little figure dressed 

in a ridiculously large turban and flapping loincloth who could scarcely 
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make himself heard (there were no loudspeakers) and neither thrilled 

nor stimulated his audience. 

Yet Gandhi would soon remake the entire nationalist movement of 

India. 

Simultaneous with Gandhi’s departure from Phoenix Farm, his own 

family, with other families, also left South Africa for India. As the 

best place for the temporary sojourn of the boys in this group Gandhi 

chose Shandnike'tan, a school in Bengal, eastern India, maintained by 

Rabindranath Tagore, India’s great novelist and poet laureate who won 

the Nobel Prize for Literature in 1913. 

Gandhi and Tagore were contemporaries and closely linked as chief 

agents of India’s twentieth-century regeneration. But Gandhi was the 

wheat field and Tagore the rose garden, Gandhi was the working arm, 

Tagore the singing voice, Gandhi the general, Tagore the herald, 

Gandhi the emaciated ascetic with shaven head and face, Tagore the 

large, white-maned, white-bearded aristocrat-intellectual with a face of 

classic, patriarchal beauty. Gandhi exemplified stark renunciation; 

Tagore felt “the embrace of freedom in a thousand bonds of delight.’’ 

Yet both were united by their love of India and mankind. Tagore wept 

at seeing his India “the eternal ragpicker at other people’s dustbins’’ and 

prayed for “the magnificent harmony of all human races.” 

'Tagore believed, with Gandhi, that India’s shackles were self-made: 

Prisoner, tell me who was it that wrought this unbreakable chain? 

It was I, said the prisoner, who forged this chain very carefully. 

Tagore and Gandhi, the greatest Indians of the first half of the 

twentieth century, revered one another. It was Tagore, apparently, who 

conferred on Gandhi the title of Mahatma; ‘“rhe Great Soul in beggar’s 

garb,” Tagore said. Gandhi called Tagore “The Great Sentinel.” Senti¬ 

mentally inseparable, soulmates to the end, they waged verbal battles, 

for they were different. Gandhi faced the past and out of it made future 

history; religion, caste, Hindu mythology were deeply ingrained in him. 

Tagore accepted the present, with its machines, its Western culture, 

and, despite it, made Eastern poetry. Perhaps, since provincial origins 

are so important in India, it was the difference between isolated Gujarat 

and cosmopolitan Bengal. Gandhi was frugal. Tagore was prodigal. 

"The suffering millions,” Gandhi wrote to Tagore, "ask for one poem. 
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invigorating food.” Tagore gave them music. At Shandniketan, Tagore's 
pupik sang and danced, wove garlands, and made life sweet and beau¬ 
tiful. When Gandhi arrived there, shortly after his return to India, to 
see how his Phoenix Farm boys were faring, he ttimed the place upside 
down. With the help of Charles Freer Andrews and William W. 
Pearson, his friends in South Africa, Gandhi persuaded the entire com¬ 
munity of 125 boys and their teachers to run the kitchen, handle the 
garbage, clean the toilets, sweep the grounds, and, in general, forsake 
the muse for the monk. Tagore acquiesced tolerantly and said, “The 
experiment contains the key to Swaraj” or home-rule. But austerity was 
uncongenial, and when Gandhi left to attend Gokhale’s funeral, the 
experiment collapsed. 

Gandhi, however, sought his own hermitage or ashram where he, his 
family, and friends and nearest co-workers would make their perma¬ 
nent home in an atmosphere of renunciation and service. Gandhi’s life 
now had no room for private law practice or private relations with wife 
and sons. A foreigner once said to Gandhi, "How is your family?” 

"All of India is my family,” Gandhi replied. 
Thus dedicated, Gandhi founded the Satyagraha Ashram first at 

Kochrab and then, permanently, at Sabarmad, across the Sabarmad 
River from the city of Ahmedabad. There, rooted in the soil and sand 
and people of India, Gandhi grew to full stature as the leader of his 
nation. 

Ahmedabad’s textile magnates and Bombay’s shipping barons gave 
the money to keep the inmates of Gandhi’s ashram in poverty. The 
Sabarmad Ashram consists of a group of low, whitewashed huts in a 
grove of spreading trees. A mile away stands the Sabarmad prison where 
fighters for India’s freedom were later incarcerated. Below the ashram 
compound is the river in which women wash their larmdry and cows 
and buffaloes wade. All around, the scene is gently pastoral, but not too 
distant are the closely packed houses of Ahmedabad hedged in by ugly 
factory smokestacks. 

Gandhi’s room is about the size of a cell; its one window has iron 
bars. The room opens on a small terrace where Gandhi slept even in the 
coldest nights and worked during the day. Except for intervals in prison, 
Gandhi occupied that cell for sixteen years. 

On the high bank which slopes down sharply to the river, Gandhi 
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held his daily prayer meetings. Nearby is the grave of Maganlal Gandhi, 

the Mahatma s second cousin, who managed the ashram and died in 

1928. "His death has widowed me. M. K. Gandhi,” reads the inscrip¬ 

tion on the stone. 

With the years, new houses were erected to accommodate the Indians 

who wished to be Gandhi s disciples. Some of the most active leaders of 

the independence movement began their political careers at the feet of 

the Mahatma in Sabarmati. The population of the settlement fluctuated 

from 30 at the start to a maximum of 230. They tended the fruit trees, 

planted grain, spun, wove, studied, and taught in surrounding villages. 

In ancient India, ashrams and religious retreats for monks were a 

well-known phenomenon. Pilgrimages to four ashrams in different parts 

of the land signified that ones legs had proved the unity of India. 

Ashramites resigned from the world and, contemplating themselves 

inside and out, waited for the end while torturing the body to hasten it. 

Gandhi and his ashram, however, remained in closest contact with the 

world. The ashram, in fact, became the navel of India. Contemplating 

the ashram, Indians attached themselves to its first citizen. Nor did 

Gandhi ever purposely hurt his body. He had it massaged; he slept 

adequately; he walked for strength; all his dietetic aberrations, queer to 

many Westerners and even to many Indians, were designed to make 

him a biologically perfect instrument for the attainment of spiritual 

goals. Though he drastically reduced his food intake he did not want 

to be famished, and in South Africa he always carried chocolate-coated 

almonds to still sudden hunger. He remained, until the bullets struck, 

a healthy specimen. Who but a very healthy man could have fasted as 

often and as long as he did yet reach the age of seventy-oight? 

A photograph taken shortly after his return to India shows him seated 

on a platform, legs crossed, nude but for a short loincloth, making a 

speech while around him stand Indian politicians in European clothes. 

He soon told them to shed those garments. How could persons in Bond 

Street suits or Bombay coats and trousers win peasant support? 

Peasants? Politicians had nothing to do with peasants. They were 

hoping to persuade the British to withdraw or, at least, to ameliorate 

the imperial regime; to achieve this end you either had to shoot well or 

appear in striped pants to deliver petitions in impeccable English to 

English bureaucrats. India's Independence Hall, they thought, would 
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be papered with petitions and memoriak addressed to a most gracious 

sovereign or the sovereign’s satrap. 

But Gandhi told them to get out among the people. To do so they 

would have to drop English and use the native languages of India: 

Hindi, Urdu, Tamil, Telugu, Malayalam, Kannarese, Bengali, Punjabi, 

etc., each spoken by many millions who had had no benefit of Western 

education or perhaps any education. Village uplift was Gandhi’s First 

Freedom. Over 80 per cent of India lived in villages. India’s liberation 

from England would be vain, he held, without peasant liberation from 

poverty, ignorance, and idleness. The British might go, but would that 

help the fifty to sixty million outcast untouchables, victims of cruel 

Hindu discrimination? Independence must mean more than Indian 

office-holders in the places and palaces of British office-holders. 

Gandhi wanted a new Indian today, not just a new India tomorrow. 

Gandhi’s message touched India with a magic wand. Gradually, a 

new vision opened. The Indian’s heart aches for the lost glory of his 

country. Gandhi brought it balm. Gandhi in loincloth, imperturbable, 

prayerful, seated amid trees, not aping the British gentleman but re¬ 

sembling a saint of antiquity, reminded the nation that India had seen 

many conquerors and conquered them all by remaining true to itself. 

Gandhi kindled India’s pride and faith. His magic wand became a 

ramrod. 
Gandhi’s message stood the Indian National Congress party on its 

head. 
The Congress, as Indians call it, was born in Bombay on December 

28, 1885. Its father and first general secretary was an Englishman, Allan 

Octavian Hume, who had the blessing of Lord Dufferin, the British 

Viceroy. Hume at first proposed that Indian politicians should meet 

regularly, under the chairmanship of British governors, as a grievance 

court, but the Viceroy thought that Indians would speak more freely 

if one of their number presided. Hume placed both proposals before 

prominent Indians and they chose the Viceroy’s variant. This was the 

origin of the Congress. Hume remained secretary, sometimes alone, 

sometimes with Indian colleagues, until 1907. The Congress president 

for 1888 was George Yule, an Englishman; for 1894, Alfred Webb, an 

Irish member of the British Parliament; for 1904, Sir Henry Cotton, a 

retired Indian Civil Service official; and for 1910, Sir William Wedder- 
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bum, former Secretary to the Government of Bombay. Gandhi praised 

Hume and Wedderbum for their devotion to India. They and all the 

Congressmen of this early period saw India’s welfare through constitu¬ 

tional reforms and administrative measures. 

The Congress was organized to channel popular protest into legal 

moderation. But into the channel flowed the fresh waters of national 

revivalism, spurred, in the second half of the nineteenth century, by the 

Tagore family, Sri Aurobindo, Swami Vivekananda, a dynamic, elo¬ 

quent disciple of the mystic Ramakrishna, Dadabhai Naoroji, and Raja 

Rammohan Roy, the first translator of the Upanishads into English. 

The world theosophist movement, which paid permanent tribute to the 

ancient religious and cultural wealth of India, likewise fed the pride in 

the past that lay at the foundation of the movement for national 

regeneration. 

Thanks, in part, to the unification and orderly administration of the 

country by the British, Indian industrialists, Hindus and Parsis in par¬ 

ticular, grew rich and began to buy out their British partners. The 

emergence of Indian capitalism, and of a new Indian middle class, gave 

a powerful impetus to the urge for self-rule. 

Under these multiple influences, the Congress slowly outgrew its 

collaborationist boyhood and became a demanding youth. The 'Sprayers’ 

to British governors were couched in firmer terms, though as late as 

1921, Tagore complained of their 'correct grammatical whine.” Polite 

irritations supplanted polite invitations to high imperial officials to 

attend Congress functions. Some speeches and resolutions pressed for 

ultimate home-rule. But only a few "extremists” dreamt of converting 

the Congress into an active agent that would win Indian independence 

by mass action. 

Gandhi, too, was a collaborationist when he returned to India in 1915. 

Yet there was a revolutionary, anti-collaborationist potential in his yearn¬ 

ing for an India that was Indian instead of a replica of the West in 

clothing, language, mores, and pohtics. Gandhi craved for his country 

a cultural regeneration and spiritual renaissance which would give it 

inner freedom and hence, inevitably, outer freedom, for if the people 

acquired individual and collective dignity they would insist on their 

rights, and then nobody could hold them in bondage. 

The national metamorphosis Gandhi envisaged could not be the 
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achievement of a small upper class or the gift of a foreign power. This 

made him conscious and critical of the shortcomings of the Congress. 

Before Gandhi sat securely in the saddle of the Congress he was the 

burr under the saddle, and it got him into trouble. 

CHAPTER SEVENTEEN 

“Sit Down, Gandhi” 

Under the impact of the First World War, the tide of protest rose higher 

in India and even moderate Congressmen began to ask home-rule. In 

September, 1915, Mrs. Annie Besant, a remarkable Englishwoman who 

has written her name permanently into the history of modem India, 

announced the formation of a Home-Rule League and persuaded the 

veteran Dadabhai to become its president. 

Mrs. Besant was then approaching seventy. Bom in 1847, she had 

lived a stormy life as atheist, socialist, women’s rights advocate, and 

theosophist. She regarded herself as a reincarnation of Hypathia of Alex¬ 

andria and Giordano Bmno, both of whom met violent deaths, and in 

her autobiography she says she longed to be the “bride of Christ.” 

Though a foreigner, she was an accepted and respected leader of India. 

An eloquent speaker, trenchant writer, and brave politician, she edited 

Indian publications and made India her home. She died in 1933. 

In 1892, Mrs. Besant started a school at Benares, the holy city on the 

Ganges, and in 1916 this institution, guided by Pandit Malaviya, was 

expanded into the Hindu University Central College. An illustrious 

gathering of notables attended the three-day opening ceremonies in 

February, 1916. The Viceroy was there and so were numerous be jeweled 

maharajas, maharanis, rajas, and high officials in all their dazzling 

panoply. 
On February 4th, Gandhi addressed the meeting. It broke up before 

he could finish. 
India had never heard such a forthright, unvarnished speech. Gandhi 
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spared no one, least of all those present. ‘‘His Highness, the Maharaja, 

who presided yesterday over our deliberations,'* Gandhi said, “spoke 

about the poverty of India. Other speakers laid great stress upon it. 

But what did we witness in the great pandal in which the foundation 

ceremony was performed by the Viceroy [Lord Hardinge]? Certainly a 

most gorgeous show, an exhibition of jewelry which made a splendid 

feast for the eyes of the greatest jeweler who chose to come from Paris. 

I compare with the richly bedecked noblemen the millions of the poor. 

And I feel like saying to those noblemen: ‘There is no salvation for 

India unless you strip yourselves of this jewelry and hold it in trust for 

your countrymen in India.'" 

“Hear, hear," students in the audience exclaimed. Many dissented. 

Several princes walked out. 

Gandhi was not deterred. “Whenever I hear of a great palace rising 

in any great city of India," he went on, “be it in British India or be it 

in the India ruled by our great chiefs, I become jealous at once and 

say, ‘Oh, it is the money that has come from the agriculturists.' . . . 

There cannot be much spirit of self-government about us," he exclaimed, 

“if we take away or allow others to take away from the peasants almost 

the whole of the results of their labor. Our salvation can only come 

through the farmer. Neither the lawyers, nor the doctors, nor the rich 

landlords are going to secure it." Congress beware! 

Gandhi was unfurling his flag before the mighty of India. It was 

the flag of the lowly. 

“If you of the student world to which my remarks are supposed to 

be addressed this evening," Gandhi declared, “consider for one moment 

that the spiritual life, for which this country is noted and for which this 

country has no rival, can be transmitted through the lip, pray believe 

me you are wrong. You will never be able metely through the lip to 

give the message that India, I hope, will one day deliver to the world. 

... I venture to suggest to you that we have now reached almost *the 

end of our resources in speech-making, and it is not enough that our 

ears be feasted, that our eyes be feasted, but it is necessary that our 

hearts have got to be touched and that our hands and feet have got to 

be moved. 

“It is a matter of deep humiliation and shame for us," Gandhi con¬ 

tinued, “that I am compelled this evening under the shadow of this 
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great college, and in this sacred city, to address my countrymen in a 

language that is foreign to me. 

“Suppose,” Gandhi mused, “that we had been receiving education 

during the past fifty years through our vernaculars, what should we be 

today? We should have today a free India, we should have our educated 

men not as if they were foreigners in their own land, but speaking to 

the heart of the nation; they would be working amongst the poorest of 

the poor, and whatsoever they would have gained during the past fifty 

years would be a heritage of the nation.” 

This sentiment provoked scattered applause. 

Turning to the essence of his philosophy, Gandhi, using words that 

shocked the assembled aristocrats, said, “No paper contribution will 

ever give us self-government. No amount of speeches will ever make 

us fit for self-government. It is only our conduct that will fit us for it. 

And how are we trying to govern ourselves? ... If you find me this 

evening speaking without reserve, pray consider that you are only shar¬ 

ing the thoughts of a man who allows himself to think audibly, and if 

you think that I seem to transgress the limits that courtesy imposes 

upon me, pardon me for the liberty I may be taking. I visited the 

Viswanath Temple last evening and as I was walking through those 

lanes these were the thoughts that touched me. ... I speak feelingly as 

a Hindu. Is it right that the lanes of our sacred temple should be as 

dirty as they are? The houses round about are built anyhow. The lanes 

are narrow and tortuous. If even our temples are not models of roomi¬ 

ness and cleanliness what can our self-government be? Shall our temples 

be abodes of holiness, cleanliness, and peace as soon as the British have 

retired from India . . . ?” 
Gandhi stayed close to earth; even the most delicate ears should hear 

the facts of life. “It is not comforting to think,” he said, “that people 

walk about the streets of Indian Bombay under the perpetual fear of 

dwellers in the storeyed buildings spitting upon them.” Many Indian 

eyebrows were lifted. Was it right for an Indian to say this with English¬ 

men present? And what had spitting to do with the Benares University 

or independence? 
Gandhi sensed-the audience antagonism, yet he was relentless. He 

traveled a good deal in third-class railway carriages, he said. Conditions 

were not altogether the fault of the management. Indians spat where 
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others had to sleep. Students misbehave in the trains. ''They can speak 

English/’ he commented sarcastically, "and they have worn Norfolk 

jackets and therefore claim the right to force their way in and command 

seating accommodations. ... I am setting my heart bare. Surely we 

must set these things right in our progress toward self-government." 

The day s ration of unpalatable thoughts was still incomplete. There 

remained the unmentionable. "It is my bounden duty," Gandhi asserted, 

"to refer to what agitated our minds these last two or three days. All of 

us have had many anxious moments while the Viceroy was going 

through the streets of Benares. There were detectives sLationed in many 

places." A movement went through the invited guests. This was not to 

be talked about in public. It was for Gandhi. “We were horrified," he 

revealed. "We asked ourselves, 'Why this distrust? Is it not better that 

even Lord Hardinge should die than live a living death?’ But a repre¬ 

sentative of the mighty Sovereign may not. He might find it necessary 

even to live a living death. But why was it necessary to impose these 

detectives on us?" 

Gandhi not only asked the unpalatable question. He gave the more 

unpalatable reply. "We may foam, we may fret," Gandhi said about 

the Indian reaction to the detectives, "we may resent, but let us not 

forget that the India of today in her impatience has produced an army 

of anarchists. I am myself an anarchist, but of another type. . . . Their 

anarchism ... is a sign of fear. If we trust and fear God, we shall have 

to fear no one, not Maharajas, not Viceroys, not the detectives, not 

even King George.” 

The audience was growing unruly and arguments broke out in vari¬ 

ous parts of the assembly, Gandhi uttered a few more sentences when 

Mrs. Besant, who presided, called out to him: "Please stop it." 

Gandhi turned around to her and said, "I await your orders. If you 

consider that, by my speaking as I am, I am not serving the country 

and the empire I shall certainly stop." 

Mrs. Besant, coldly: 'Tlease explain your object." 

Gandhi: "I am explaining my object. I simply . . ." He could not 

be heard above the din. 

"Go on," some shouted. 

"Sit down, Gandhi," others shouted. 

Decorum restored, Gandhi defended Mrs. Besant. It is because "she 
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loves India so well, and she considers that I am erring in thinking 

audibly before you young men." But he preferred to speak frankly. "I 

am turning the searchlight toward ourselves. ... It is well to take the 

blame sometimes." 

At this moment, many dignitaries left the platform, the commotion 

mounted, and Gandhi had to stop. Mrs. Besant adjourned the meeting. 

From Benares Gandhi went home to Sabarmati. 

Distances are great in India and communications bad; few people 

can read and fewer possess radios. Therefore the ear of India is big and 

sensitive. In 1916, the ear began to catch the voice of a man who was 

courageous and indiscreet, a little man who lived like a poor man and 

defended the poor to the face of the rich, a holy man in an ashram. 

Gandhi was not yet a national figure. The hundreds of millions did 

not know him. But the fame of the new Mahatma was spreading. India 

stands in awe of power and wealth. But it loves the humble servant of 

the poor. Possessions, elephants, jewels, armies, palaces win India's 

obedience. Sacrifice and renunciation win its heart. 

Macaulay wrote: 

The East bowed low before the West 

In patient, deep disdain. 

And it bowed low, with the same disdain, before the East that 

coveted riches and might. 

The Indian, therefore, understands as well as appreciates renunci¬ 

ation. India has many monks and ascetics. But Gandhi’s renunciation 

caused a larger echo because he opposed renunciation "for the mere 

sake of renunciation." "A mother,” he observed in a letter, "would never 

by choice sleep in a wet bed but she would gladly do so in order to 

spare the dry bed for her child.” 

Gandhi renoimced in order to serve. 
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CHAPTER EIGHTEEN 

''Children of God” 

'India/' Jawaharlal Nehru said, "contains all that is disgusting and all 

that is noble.” Nothing it contains is more disgusting than "the hideous 

system,” as Gandhi called it, of untouchability, the "canker eating at 

the vitals of Hinduism.” Orthodox Hindus did not share this view, nor 

did they welcome Gandhi's effort to extirpate the evil. 

In attempting to eradicate untouchability, Gandhi was tugging at 

roots several thousand years long. They originated in the prehistoric 

Aryan invasion of India and grew into the hearts, superstitions, and 

social habits of hundreds of millions of people. Many Western nations 

have their "untouchables,” but the stubborn Hindu phenomenon of 

untouchability stems from peculiar historic and economic circumstances 

which are tied together into an ugly bundle by the sanction of religion. 

In the long, unchronicled night before the dawn of history, a fair¬ 

skinned folk called Aryans inhabited an area north of India. Perhaps 

they hailed from the distant Caucasian isthmus between the Caspian 

Sea and the Black, or from Turkestan, or even from the more remote 

Russian valleys of the Don and the Terek where exquisite gold orna¬ 

ments of the ancient Scythians have been unearthed. Nehru notes that 

Pathan dancing resembles Cossack dancing. Six or seven thousand 

years ago the Aryans began pushing south; one tide of the migration 

swept into India about two or three thousand b.c., another moved into 

Iran; a third descended into Europe. 

Hence, the "Indo-European” language family. There is an evident 

bond between the Sanskrit of India and many Western tongues: 

Sanskrit pitri, Latin pater, Greek pater, English father; Sanskrit matri, 

Ladn mater^ Greek meter, English mother, Russian mat; Sanskrit 

duhirti, English daughter, German Tochter, Russian doch. 

Gradually, the Aryans, which means "noblemen,” conquered north¬ 

west India. They found there an older civilization related to that of 

Babylon, Assyria, and presumably Egypt. 

In 1922, at a place called Mohenjo-daro, about two hundred miles 
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north of Karachi, an Indian archeologist, examining the ruins of a com¬ 

paratively new Buddhist temple seventeen hundred years old, found, 

beneath the temple, proof of a much more antique city. Scientific 

excavations at the site brought to light a treasure of clay seals, beads, 

bricks, pots, utensils, and ornaments. One jar had a Sumero-Babylonian 

inscription in the hieroglyphic writing of Mesopotamia which dated it 

between 2800 and 2500 b.c. Many of the discoveries at Mohenjo-daro 

and other excavated spots in the same area resemble those at Ur of the 

Chaldees, Kish and Tell-Asmar in the region of the Tigris and 

Euphrates. Explorers have since traced the abandoned caravan routes 

over which northwest India and the Biblical Near East exchanged goods 

and culture. 

When the silt, sand, and debris were carted away, the town of 

Mohenjo-daro, founded fifty-five hundred years ago and continuously 

inhabited for six centuries, was exposed. It covers more than 240 acres. 

One can now see its principal avenue, which was thirty-three feet wide, 

and many broad, straight north-south, east-west streets once lined with 

burnt-brick homes, two or more stories high, that had wells and bath¬ 

rooms. A sewage system using clay pipes helped keep the city clean. 

In a silver jar found under a floor lay a piece of cotton cloth, the 

oldest in the world. Bronze razors, chairs, spoons, cosmetic boxes, silver 

drinking cups, ivory combs, bracelets, nose studs for women, necklaces, 

bronze statuettes showing that ladies wore skirts and girdles, gold beads, 

gambling dice, and thousands of other historic objects have been re¬ 

trieved from the dust of ages in this most exciting unveiling of India’s 

past. 
Either a flood or an epidemic destroyed this earliest-known Indian 

civilization. The Aryans brought their own gods and goods and put a 

new stamp on the country. They used horses and chariots, battleaxes, 

bows, and javelins. 
The Rig-Veda, consisting of 1,028 hymns and written in liturgical 

Sanskrit, pictures the life of these conquering Indo-Aryans four to five 

thousand years ago. Said to be the oldest book in the world, the Rig- 

Veda reveals the origin of the Hindu caste system and of the untouch¬ 

able outcastesr 
No caste divisions, as far as can be ascertained, encumbered the 

Aryans on their arrival in India. But conquest brought social differentia- 
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tion. Though the subjugated territory was hardly the home of bar¬ 

barians, or blacks, the Rig-Veda speaks of the inhabitants contemptu¬ 

ously as ‘‘black-skinned,” “noseless,” and “malignant,” who did not know 

enough to appease the gods with burnt offerings of animals. The Aryans 

employed these “inferiors” to till their fields, tend their herds, barter 

their products, and fashion their tools and ornaments. The merchants 

and farmers constituted the Vaisya or third caste, the craftsmen the 

Sudra or fourth caste. 

Power and wealth sowed discord among the Aryans and they called 

upon a raja or king to rule over their several districts. He and his cour¬ 

tiers and their fighting men and their families constituted the master- 

warrior Kshatriya caste who were served by hymn-singing, Veda-writing, 

ritual-performing, myth-making, animal-sacrificing Brahmans or priests. 

Such was the ascendancy of religion and intelligence, however, that the 

Brahmans became the top caste, while the Kshatriyas occupied the next 

rung down. 

The Aryans who entered India poor in women, intermarried with the 

local population. This healthy mixing of the blood continued even after 

the conquerors penetrated into south India where they subdued the 

Dravidians. These races had evolved an interesting culture of their own, 

but they were dark-skinned, and the color-conscious Aryans conse¬ 

quently increased the height of their caste barriers. Dravidians became 

Brahmans, Kshatriyas and Vaisyas, but a larger percentage than in the 

north were impressed into the Sudra caste, and millions were left outside 

of all castes. 

The Aryan invasion frightened many natives into the hills and 

jungles where they lived by hunting and fishing. In time, they timidly 

approached the Aryan and Sudra villages to sell their wicker baskets 

and other handicraft products. Occasionally, they were allowed to settle 

permanently on the edges of the settlements and do menial tasks, such 

as handling dead animals and men, removing refuse, etc. These were 

the untouchables. 

Since modern times, vocation no longer follows caste. A Brahman 

can be a cab driver, a Kshatriya a bookkeeper, and a Vaisya a prince s 

prime minister. On the other hand, the ban against marriage between 

castes is observed to this day, and when Gandhi appeared on the scene 

in 1915 few violated it. Indeed, the four castes are divided into three 
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to four thousand sub-castes, some of them resembling craft guilds, others 

the equivalent of blood or provincial groups; and parents preferred to 

find a wife for their son within the sub-castes. Marriage of a caste 

member with an untouchable was, of course, unthinkable. Lx)ve mar¬ 

riages were considered rather indecent, certainly ill-omened. Marriages 

were arranged by parents; and why would a father demean his family 

by admitting a pariah bride into it? 

Untouchables were confined to tasks which Hindus spumed: street¬ 

cleaning, scavenging, tanning, etc. In some regions, wheelwrights, 

hunters, weavers, and potters are considered untouchable. To escape 

the humiliation, untouchables have adopted Christianity or Islam. Yet 

forty or fifty million have chosen to stay in the fold even though they 

are kept outside the pale. Why? 

To perpetuate caste it has been clothed in the sacred formula of 

immutable fate: you are a Brahman or Sudra or untouchable because 

of your conduct in a previous incarnation. Your misbehavior in the 

present life might result in caste demotion in the next. A high-caste 

Hindu could be reborn an untouchable. The soul of a sinner might even 

be transferred to an animal. An untouchable could become a Brahman. 

“The human birth,” Mahadev Desai writes in his introduction to the 

Gita, “is regarded by the Hindu as a piece of evolutionary good fortune 

which should be turned to the best and noblest account”; then he quotes 

an old Indian poem: 

I died as mineral and became a plant, 

I died as plant and rose to animal. 

I died as animal and 1 was man. 

What should I fear? When was I less by dying? 

A woman might become a man in the next incarnation, and vice 

versa. Some Hindus would like to feel that at rebirth they will still be 

members of the same family though their relationship may be altered; 

a husband and wife may be brother and sister, for instance, or sist« 

and brother. Men with feminine propensities might turn women in 

the coming incarnation; a person who is bloodthirsty and vicious may 

fall to animal status; a spiritual merchant may be reborn a Brahman. 

A greedy Brahman may be reborn in the merchant caste. Thus conduct 

alters inheritance, but once caste tank is fixed in any one incarnation 
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it becomes destiny. According to this doctrine, an untouchable is merely 

doing penance; to interrupt it by raising his status robs him of a possible 

ticket to a high caste in the next incarnation. This prospect reconciles 

religious untouchables to their current misery. 

An untouchable is exactly that: he must not touch a caste Hindu or 

anything a caste Hindu touches. Obviously, he should not enter a 

Hindu temple, home, or shop. In villages, the untouchables live on the 

lowest outskirts into which dirty waters drain; in cities they inhabit the 

worst sections of the world s worst slums. If, by mischance, a Hindu 

should come into contact with an untouchable or something touched 

by an untouchable he must purge himself through leligiously prescribed 

ablutions. Indeed, in some areas, this is incumbent upon him even if 

the shadow of an untouchable falls on him, for that too pollutes. On 

the Malabar coast, untouchables are warned by a loud noise to quit the 

road and its immediate environs at the approach of a caste Hindu. 

Hindus are expected to bathe once a day, and water for washing the 

hands and private parts is available in the most primitive toilets. Hindus 

also take special pride in the cleanliness of their personal pots, pans, 

and drinking vessels. A Hindu will smoke a huka water pipe or a 

cigarette through his fist without letting it touch his lips, and he often 

pours water into his mouth instead of sipping it. “This sense of cleanli¬ 

ness,” Nehru notes, “is not scientific and the man who bathes twice a 

day will unhesitatingly drink water that is unclean and full of germs. 

. . . The individual will keep his own hut fairly clean but throw all 

the rubbish in the village street in front of his neighbor s house. . . .” 

Cleanliness, he adds, is a religious rite, not an end in itself. If it were, 

Hindus would be concerned with the cleanliness of others, untouch¬ 

ables included. 

Untouchability is segregation gone mad. Theoretically a device 

against contamination, it actually contaminates the country that allows 

it. Mahatma Gandhi knew this and he fought untouchability for the 

sake of the castes as well as the outcastes, but in fighting it he defied a 

thousand taboos and roused a million fears, superstitions, hates, and 

vested interests. Buddhism and many Hindu reformers had attacked 

untouchability; Gandhi said little against it until he had taken action 

against it. 

In his youth, Gandhi played with an untouchable boy. Putlibai for- 
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bade it. Though he loved her he disobeyed her, his first rebellion against 

authority. “I used to laugh at my dear mother,” he wrote to Charles 

Freer Andrews, “for making us ^the when we brothers touched any 

pariah.” In South Africa, too, he associated with untouchables. In May, 

1918, in Bombay, he went to a meeting called to improve the lot of 

untouchables. When he got up to deliver his address, he said, “Is there 

an untouchable here?” No hand was raised. Gandhi refused to speak. 

Now there came to Gandhi's ashram near Ahmedabad an imtouch- 

able family and asked to become permanent members. He admitted 
them. 

A tempest broke. 

The presence of the untouchable father, mother, and their little 

daughter Lakshmi polluted the entire ashram, and how could the 

wealthy Hindus of Bombay and Ahmedabad finance a defiled place? 

They withdrew their contributions. Maganlal, who kept the accounts, 

reported that he was out of funds and had no prospects for the next 

month. 

“Then we shall go to live in the untouchable quarter,” Gandhi 

quietly replied. 

One morning a rich man drove up in a car and inquired whether the 

community needed money. "Most certainly,” Gandhi replied. Gandhi 

had met the man only once and that casually. 

The next day the anonymous benefactor put thirteen thousand rupees 

in big bills into Gandhi’s hand and went away. That would keep the 

ashram for a year. 
This did not end Gandhi’s troubles. The women of the ashram re¬ 

fused to accept the untouchable woman. Kasturbai, revolted at the idea 

of having Danibehn in the kitchen cooking food and washing dishes, 

complained to her husband. Gandhi heard her patiently and appealed 

to her reason. But belief in untouchability resides in some remote nerv¬ 

ous recess where, with racial intolerance, dogma, and color prejudice 

among its neighbors, it eludes common sense and humaneness. Gandhi 

therefore had to meet Kasturbai on her own terms: she was a loyal 

Hindu wife; did she wish to leave him and go to live in Porbandar? 

He was responsible for her acts; if he forced her to commit a sin it was 

his sin not hers and she would not be punished. Kasturbai was growing 

accustomed to her husband’s strange ways. She could never refute his 
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arguments. He had become a Mahatma; who was she, the almost illit¬ 

erate Gujarat woman, to question the man of God? He was now the 

loving teacher, no longer the lustful spouse. She resented him less and 

listened to him more. Within her nerve tissue, to be sure, the hostility 

to the untouchables continued to twitch. But her mind was gradually 

learning hospitality to his ideas. In the worshipful air of India, husband 

became hero. 

Presently, Gandhi announced that he had adopted T^kshmi as his 

own daughter. Kasturbai thus became the mother of an untouchable! 

It was like bringing a Negro daughter-in-law into the pre-Civil War 

mansion of a Southern lady. 

Gandhi insisted that untouchabihty was not part of early Hinduism. 

Indeed, his war on the * miasma'' of untouchability was conducted in 

terms of Hinduism. '1 do not want to be reborn," he stated, “but if I 

have to be reborn I should be reborn an untouchable so that I may 

share their sorrows, sufferings, and the affronts leveled against them in 

order that I may endeavor to free myself and them from their miserable 

condition." 

If this prayer of the Mahatma has been answered he is now an un¬ 

touchable child in India and his devout followers might be mistreating 

him. 

But before being transformed into an untouchable in the next incar¬ 

nation he tried to live like one in this. So he took to cleaning the lava¬ 

tories of the ashram. His disciples voluntarily joined him. Nobody was 

an untouchable because everybody did the untouchable's work without 

considering themselves contaminated thereby. 

The outcastes were called “untouchables," “pariahs," “depressed 

classes," “scheduled classes." Gandhi understood psychology; he began 

calling them “Harijans" (Children of God), and later named his weekly 

magazine after them. Gradually, “harijan" was hallowed by usage. 

Fanatic Hindus never forgave Gandhi his love of untouchables and 

were responsible for some of the political obstructions he encountered 

during his career. But to vast multitudes he was the Mahatma; they 

asked his blessing; they were happy to touch his feet; some kissed his 

footprints in the dust. They accordingly had to overlook, they forgot, 

that he was as contaminated as an untouchable because he did scaveng¬ 

ing and lived with untouchables and had an untouchable daughter. 
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Over the years, tens of thousands of high-caste Hindus came to Gandhi's 

ashram to interview him, to eat with him, to stay with him. A few 

undoubtedly purged themselves thereafter, but most of them could not 

be such hypocrites. Untouchability lost some of its curse, Gandhians 

began to use untouchables in their households; were they better than 

their saint? He taught by example. 

City life and industrialization have had the same eflFect of weakening 

the persecution of Harijans. In a village, everybody knows everybody 

else. But the untouchable does not look different, and in a trolley or 

train the caste Hindu might be sitting skin-to-skin with a pariah and 

not realize it. Inescapable contact has reconciled Hindus to contact. 

Nevertheless, the poverty of the Harijans remained, and the discrim¬ 

ination against them was far from overcome by Gandhi s early actions, 

gestures, and statements in their behalf. He therefore continued his 

efforts unremittingly. 

Why did it fall to Gandhi, rather than to somebody else, to lead the 

movement for the emancipation of untouchables? 

Many of the indentured laborers in South Africa were untouchables, 

and they were the heroes of the final phase of the civil disobedience 

campaign in 1914. Gandhi's twenty-year struggle in South Africa, more¬ 

over, was directed against an evil which, with all its economic over¬ 

tones, was at bottom a color prejudice. All men are bom with unequal 

gifts but equal rights, and society owes them an equal or at least unim¬ 

peded opportunity to develop their native abilities and live in liberty. 

How could Gandhi, fresh from his fight for the equality of Indians in 

South Africa, countenance a cruel inequality imposed by Indians on 

other Indians in India? 

The foundations of freedom are sapped where anybody is denied 

equal rights because of his religion, the beliefs and deeds of his ancestors 

or relatives, the shape of his nose, the color of his skin, the sound of his 

name, or the place or estate of his birth. 

Gandhi s concept of freedom for India excluded Hindu immorality 

as well as British administrators. *'Swaraj” or independence, he said in 

Young India on May 25, 1921, ‘*is a meaningless term if we desire to 

keep a fifth of India under perpetual subjection. . . . Inhuman our¬ 

selves, we may not plead before the Throne for deliverance from the 

inhumanity of others." 
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The simplest explanation of Gandhi’s attitude toward untouchability 

is that he just could not stand it. In fact, he loathed this “inhuman 

boycott of human beings” so much that he said “if it was proved to me 

that it is an essential part of Hinduism I for one would declare myself 

an open rebel against Hinduism itself.” No man who cared more for 

popularity than principle would have made such a public statement in 

a country overwhelmingly and conservatively Hindu. But he made it as 

a Hindu in an effort, he said, to purify his religion. He regarded un¬ 

touchability as an “excrescence,” a perversion of Hinduism. 

In Hinduism, however, an excrescence is difficult to distinguish from 

the essence. Hinduism is more than a doctrine and more than a religion. 

Certainly, it is not a one-day-a-week religion. It invades homes, farms, 

schools^ snd shops. It is a way of life which meshes with the mythologi¬ 

cal prehistory, the history, the economy, the geography, and the ethnog¬ 

raphy of India. In India, religion is the sum total of the national 

experience. Islam is less absorbent, but Hinduism is a sponge religion, 

hospitable and without fundamentalism. “We have no uncontradictable 

and unquestionable documents, no special revelations, and our scrip 

tuies are not hnal writes Sir C. P. Ramaswami Aiyar, a Hindu 

philosopher. Hinduism is simultaneously monotheistic and idolatrous, 

because it has, at different periods in history, drawn in populations 

that accepted one or the other. The monotheists tolerate idols and the 

idolaters dance before graven images but pray to one God. Some Hindus 

sacrifice animals in their temples, and some hold it a religious duty not 

to kill a worm or germ. The reform movements of Hinduism, like 

Buddhism and Jainism, have never broken away in schisms. They dis¬ 

appear into the general bloodstream. Hinduism is flexible, capacious, 

malleable. So is the thinking of many Hindus. So was Gandhi’s. He 

fought untouchability. He abhorred animal sacrifices; the flow of blood 

in the house of God sickened him. But Hindus who perpetrated these 

wrongs were his brothers and he was theirs. 

India, Nehru has said, is like a palimpsest. A palimpsest is an ancient 

parchment or canvas which has b^n written on or painted on and then 

varnished over at a later period and written on or painted on again and 

then varnished over and written on or painted on a third, fourth, and 
fifth time. This economic use of materials has unintentionally preserved 

some fxecious relics of the past, and experts now know how to wash off 
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the newer coats and reveal the old original inscriptions or drawings. 

The difference is that in the case of India, the varnish has, so to speak, 

dissolved, and all the words and figures of the several byers are visible 

at the same time as one intricate jumble. This explains the complexity 

of Indian civilization and of those Indians who are permeated by it 

"The human intellect,” writes Sir Valentine Chirol, “has indeed seldom 

soared higher or displayed deeper metaphysical subtlety than in the 

great system of philosophy in which many conservative Hindus still 

seek a peaceful refuge from the restlessness and materialism of the 

modem world.” No Indian can altogether escape this cultural-intellec¬ 

tual heritage. 

At times, however, only one layer of the palimpsest is visible; on such 

occasions a modem, European-educated Hindu may vanish and become 

a worshiper of crude, primeval fetishes, even as a Western scientist may 

accept the irrational abracadabra of a desert cult. 

Hinduism amalgamated Mahavira, the founder of Jainism, and 

Buddha who were regarded as atheists or agnostics. Many Hindus accept 

Jesus and Mohammed as religious guides. Yet in insane moments, 

Hindus, Sikhs, and Moslems avidly slaughter one another. Then they 

relax into apathetic tolerance. 

Despite its insatiable hunger for oneness, however, Hinduism’s “Live- 

and-Let-Live” only meant, "Live separately.” Hinduism has fostered 

endless division into self-contained villages, self-sufficient joint families 

comprising two, three, or even four generations in one residence, and 

self-segregated castes and multitudinous sub-castes whose members did 

not, until recent times, intermarry or interdine. God-fearing Hindus 

were content to see the “children of God” in degrading isolation. 

Yet the Indian ideal of unity in diversity remains. The binding fac¬ 

tors are the three legs of the subcontinent’s compact triangle, the un¬ 

broken line of culture from the dim past till today, the links of history 

and the bonds of blood and religion. 

Blood connects Hindus with Moslems and Sikhs. Religion weakens 

the connection. Geography connects; bad communications divide. TTie 

multiplicity of languages divides. 

Out of these elements, Gandhi and his generation undertook to forge 

a nation. 
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CHAPTER NINETEEN 

Indigo 

When I first visited Gandhi in 1942 at his ashram in Sevagram> in 

central India, he said, '*1 will tell you how it happened that 1 decided 

to urge the departure of the British. It was in 1917/' 

He had gone to the December, 1916, annual convention of the Indian 

National Congress party in Lucknow. There were 2,301 delegates and 

many visitors. During the proceedings, Gandhi recounted, “a peasant 

came up to me looking like any other peasant in India, poor and emaci* 

ated, and said, 1 am Rajkumar Shukla. 1 am from Champaran, and I 

want you to come to my district!* Gandhi had never heard of the place. 

It was in the foothills of the towering 1 limalayas, near the kingdom of 

Nepal. 

Under an ancient arrangement, the Champaran peasants were share¬ 

croppers. Rajkumar Shukla was one of them. He was illiterate but 

resolute. He had come to the Congress session to complain about the 

injustice of the landlord system in Bihar, and somebody had probably 

said, ‘'Speak to Gandhi.'* 

Gandhi told Shukla he had an appointment in Cawnpore and was 

also committed to go to other parts of India. Shukla accompanied him 

everywhere. Then Gandhi returned to his ashram near Ahmedabad. 

Shukla followed him to the ashram. For weeks he never left Gandhi $ 

side. 

“Fix a date,” he begged. 
Impressed by the sharecroppers tenacity and story Gandhi said, “I 

have to be in Calcutta on such-and^uch a date. Come and meet me and 
take me from there.” 

Months passed. Shukla was sitting on his haunches at the appointed 
spot in Calcutta when Gandhi arrived; he waited till Gandhi was free. 
TTien the two of them boarded a train for the city of Patna in Bihar. 
There Shukla led him to the house of a lawyer named Rajendra Prasad 
who later became President of the Congress party and of India. Rajen¬ 
dra Prasad was out of town, but the servants knew Shukla as a poor 
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yeoman who pestered their master to help the indigo sharecroppers. So 

they let him stay on the grounds with his companion, Gandhi, whom 

they took to be another peasant. But Gandhi was not permitted to 

draw water from the well lest some drops from his bucket pollute the 

entire source; how did they know that he was not an untouchable? 

Gandhi decided to go Brst to Muzzafarpur, which was en route to 

Champaran, to obtain more complete information about conditions than 

Shukla was capable of imparting. Me accordingly sent a telegram to 

Professor J. B. Kripalani, of the Arts College in Muzzafarpur, whom 

he had seen at Tagore's Shantiniketan school. The train arrived at mid¬ 

night, April 15, 1917. Kripalani was waiting at the station with a larg^ 

body of students. Gandhi stayed there for two days in the home of 

Professor Malkani, a teacher in a government school. “It was an ex¬ 

traordinary thing in those days,’’ Gandhi commented, “for a government 

professor to harbor a man like me.” In smaller localities, the Indians 

were afraid to show sympathy for advocates of home-rule. 

The news of Gandhi’s advent and of the nature of his mission spread 

quickly through Muzzafarpur and to Champaran. Sharecroppers from 

Champaran began arriving on foot and by conveyance to see their 

champion. Muzzafarpur law\’ers called on Gandhi to brief him; they 

frequently represented peasant grou|)s in court; they told him about 

their cases and reported the size of their fees. 

Gandhi chided the lawyers for collecting big fees from the share¬ 

croppers. He said, “I have come to the conclusion that we should stop 

going to law courts. Taking such cases to the courts does little good. 

Where the peasants are so crushed and fear-stricken, law courts are 

useless. The real relief for them is to be free from fear. ” 

Most of the arable land in the Champaran district was divided into 

large estates owned by Englishmen and worked by Indian tenants. 

The chief commercial crop was indigo. The landlords compelled all 

tenants to plant three-twentieths or 15 ]ier cent of their holdings with 

indigo and surrender the entire indigo harvest as rent. This was done 

hy long-term contract. 

Presently, the landlords learned that Germany had developed syn¬ 

thetic indigo. They thereupon tried to induce the sharecroppers to pay 

them compensation for being released from tlie 15 per cent arrange¬ 

ment. 
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The sharecropping arrangement was irksome to the peasants, and 
many paid willingly. Those who resisted, hired lawyers; the landlords 
hired thugs. Meanwhile, the information about synthetic indigo reached 
the illiterate peasants who had paid, and they wanted their money 
back. 

At this point Gandhi arrived in Champaran. 
He began by trying to get the facts. First he visited the secretary of 

the British landlords* association. The secretary told him that they could 
give no information to an outsider. Gandhi answered that he was no 
outsider. 

Next Gandhi called on the British official commissioner of the Tirhut 
division in which the Champaran district lay. “The commissioner," 
Gandhi reports, “proceeded to bully me and advised me forthwith to 
leave Tirhut." 

Gandhi did not leave. Instead, he proceeded to Motihari, the capital 
of Champaran. Several lawyers accompanied him. At the railway sta¬ 
tion, a vast multitude greeted Gandhi. He went to a house and, using 
it as headquarters, continued his investigations. A report came in that 
a peasant had been maltreated in a nearby village. Gandhi decided to 
go and see; the next morning he started out on the back of an elephant. 
He had not proceeded far when the police superintendent s messenger 
overtook him and ordered him to return to town in his carriage. Gandhi 
complied. The messenger drove Gandhi home where he served him 
with an official notice to quit Champaran immediately. Gandhi signed 
a receipt for the notice and wrote on it that he wpuld disobey the order. 

In consequence, Gandhi received a summons to appear in court the 
next day. 

All night Gandhi remained awake. He telegraphed Rajendra Prasad 
to come from Bihar with influential friends. He sent instructions to the 
ashram. He wired a full report to the Viceroy. 

Morning found the town of Motihari black with peasants. They did 
not know Gandhi s record in South Africa. They had merely heard that 
a Mahatma who wanted to help them was in trouble with the authori¬ 
ties. Their spontaneous demonstration, in thousands, around the court¬ 
house was the beginning of their liberation from fear of the British. 

The officials felt powerless without Gandhi's co-operation. He helped 
them regulate the crowd. He was polite and friendly. He was giving 
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them concrete proof that their might, hitherto dreaded and unques¬ 
tioned, could be challenged by Indians. 

The government was baffled. The prosecutor requested the judge to 
postpone the trial. Apparently, the authorities wished to consult their 
superiors. 

Gandhi protested the delay. He read a statement pleading guilty. He 
was involved, he told the court, in a “conflict of duties”: on the one 
hand, not to set a bad example as a lawbreaker; on the other hand, to 
render the "humanitarian and national service” for which he had come. 
He disregarded the order to leave, “not for want of respect for lawful 
authority, but in obedience to the higher law of our being, the voice of 
conscience.” He asked the penalty due him. 

The magistrate announced that he would pronounce sentence after 
a two-hour recess and asked Gandhi to furnish bail for those 120min¬ 
utes. Gandhi refused. The judge released him without bail. 

When the court reconvened, the judge said he would not deliver the 
judgment for several days. Meanwhile he allowed Gandhi to remain 
at liberty. 

Rajendra Prasad, Brij Kishor Babu, Maulana Mazharul Huq, and 
several other prominent lawyers had arrived from Bihar. They con¬ 
ferred with Gandhi. What would they do if he was sentenced to prison, 
Gandhi asked. Why, the senior lawyer replied, they had come to advise 
and help him; if he went to jail there would be nobody to advise and 
they would go home. 

What about the injustice to the sharecroppers, Gandhi demanded. 
The lawyers withdrew to consult. Rajendra Prasad has recorded the 
upshot of their consultations: “They thought, amongst themselves, that 
Gandhi was totally a stranger, and yet he was prepared to go to prison 
for the sake of the peasants; if they, on the other hand, being not only 
residents of the adjoining districts but also those who claimed to have 
served these peasants, should go home, it would be shameful desertion." 

They accordingly went back to Gandhi and told him they were ready 
to follow him into jail. “The battle of Champaran is won,” he erolaimed. 
Then he took a piece of paper and divided the group into pairs and put 
down the order in which each pair was to court arrest. 

Several days later, Gandhi received a written communication from 
the magistrate informing him that the Lieutenant Governor of the prov- 
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ince had ordered the case dropped. Civil disobedience had triumphed, 
the first time in modem India. 

Gandhi and the lawyers now proceeded to conduct a far-flung inquiry 
into the grievances of the farmers. Depositions by about ten thousand 
peasants were written down, and notes made on other evidence. Docu¬ 
ments were collected. The whole area throbbed with the activity of the 
investigators and the vehement protests of the landlords. 

In Jtme, Gandhi was summoned to Sir Edward Gait, the Lieutenant 
Governor. Before he went he met his leading associates and again laid 
detailed plans for civil disobedience if he should not return. 

Gandhi had four protracted interviews with the Lieutenant Governor 
who, as a result, appointed an official commission of inquiry into the 
indigo sharecroppers' situation. The commission consisted of landlords, 
government officials, and Gandhi as the sole representative of the 
peasants. 

Gandhi remained in Champaran for an initial uninterrupted period 
of seven months and then again for several shorter stays. The visit, 
undertaken casually on the entreaty of an unlettered peasant in the 
expectation that it would last a few days, occupied almost a year of 
Gandhi’s life. 

The official inquiry assembled a cmshing mountain of evidence 
a^nst the big planters, and when they saw this they agreed, in jNrin- 
dple, to make refunds to the peasants. “But how much must we pay?", 
they asked Gandhi. 

They thought he would demand repayment in full of the money 
which they had illegally and deceitfully extorted from the sharecrop¬ 
pers. He asked only 50 per cent. “There he seemed adamant,” writes 
Reverend J. Z. Hodge, a British missionary in Champaran who observed 
the entire episode at close range. “Thinking probably that he would 
not give way, the representative of the planters offered to refund to 
the extent of 25 per cent, and to his amazement Mr. Gandhi took him 
at his word, thus breaking the deadlock.” 

This settlement was adopted unanimously by the commission. Gandhi 
explained that the amount of the refund was less important than the 
ha that the landlords had been obliged to surrender part of the money 
and, with it, part of their prestige. Theretofore, as far as the peasants 



In^go 153 

were concerned, the planters behaved as lords above the law. Now the 
peasant saw that he had rights and defenders. He learned courage. 

Events justified Gandhi’s position. Within a few years, the British 
planters abandoned their estates which reverted to the peasants. Indigo 
sharecropping disappeared. 

Gandhi never contented himself with large political or economic solu¬ 
tions. He saw the cultural and social backwardness in the Champaran 
villages and wanted to do something about it immediately. He appealed 
for teachers. Mahadev Desai and Narhari Parikh, two young men who 
had just joined Gandhi as disciples, and their wives, volunteered for the 
work. Several more came from Bombay, Poona, and other distant parts 
of the land. Devadas, Gandhi’s youngest son, arrived from the ashram 
and so did Mrs. Gandhi. Primary schools were opened in six villages. 
Kasturbai taught the ashram rules on personal cleanliness and coBunu- 
nity sanitation. 

Health conditions were miserable. Gandhi got a doctor to volunteer 
his services for six months. Three medicines were available: castor oil, 
quinine, and sulphur ointment. Anybody who showed a coated tongue 
was given a dose of castor oil; anybody with malaria fever received 
quinine plus castor oil; anybody with skin eruptions received ointment 
plus castor oil. 

Gandhi noticed the filthy state of women’s clothes. He asked Kas¬ 
turbai to talk to them about it. One woman took Kasturbai into her hut 
and said, “Look, there is no box or cupboard here for clothes. The sari 
I am wearing is the only one 1 have.’’ 

During his long stay in Champaran, Gandhi kept a long-distance 
watch on the ashram. He sent regular instructions by mail and asked 
for financial accounts. Once he wrote the residents that it was time to 
fill in the old latrine trenches and dig new ones otherwise the old ones 
would begin to smell bad. 

The Champaran episode was a turning point in Gandhi’s life. “What 
I did,’’ he explained, “was a very ordinary thing. I declared that the 
British could not order me around in my own country.” 

But Champaran did not begin as an act of defiance. It grew out of 
an attempt to alleviate the distress of large numbers of poor peasants. 
This was the typical Gandhi pattern: his politics were intertwined with 
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the jvacdcal, day-to-day problems of the millions. His was not a loyalty 
to abstractions; it was a loyalty to living, human beings. 

In everything Gandhi did, moreover, he tried to mold a new free 
Indian who could stand on his own feet and thus make India free. 

Early in the Champaran action, Charles Freer Andrews, the English 
pacifist wfio had become a devoted follower of the Mahatma, came to 
bid Gandhi farewell before going on a tour of duty to the Fiji Islands. 
Gandhi’s lawyer friends thought it would be a good idea for Andrews 
to stay in Champaran and help them. Andrews was willing if Gandhi 
agreed. But Gandhi was vehemently opposed. He said, “You think that 
in this unequal fight it would be helpful if we have an Englishman on 
our side. This shows the weakness of your heart. The cause is just and 
you must rely upon yourselves to win the battle. You should not seek a 
prop in Mr. iAndrews because he happens to be an Englishman.” 

“He had read our minds correctly,” Rajendra Prasad comments, “and 
we had no reply. . . . Gandhi in this way taught us a lesson in self- 
reliance.” 

Self-reliance, Indian independence, and help to sharecroppers were 
all bound together. 

CHAPTER TWENTY 

First Fast 

Gandhi would have remained to assist the sharecroppers of Champaran 
in getting schools, health service, etc., but unrest among textile workers 
brought him back to Ahmedabad. 

The millhands of Ahmedabad were underpaid and overworked. They 
wanted more money and better conditions. Their case, Gandhi said, 
“was strong." 

Gandhi was a close friend of Ambalal Sarabhai, the biggest textile 
manufacturer of Ahmedabad. Sarabhai was the leader of the millowners. 

Having studied the problem, Gandhi urg^ the factory owners to 
arbitrate the dispute. They rejected arbitration. 
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Gandhi accordingly advised the workingmen to go on strike. They 
followed his advice. Gandhi directed the strike. He was helped actively 
by Anasuya, sister of Ambalal Sarabhai. 

Gandhi had exacted a solemn pledge from the workingmen not to 
return to work until the employers accepted labor’s demands or agreed 
to arbitration. Every day Gandhi met the strikers under a spreading 
banyan tree by the banks of the Sabarmati. Thousands came to bear 
him. He exhorted them to be peaceful and to abide by the pledge. From 
these meetings, they marched off into town carrying banners which 
read, ek tek (keep the pledge). 

Meanwhile, Gandhi remained in touch with the employers. Would 
they submit to arbitration? They again refused. 

The strike dragged out. The strikers began to weaken. Attendance 
at meetings dropped, and when Gandhi asked them, as he did each day, 
to reaffirm the pledge, their reply sounded less resolute. Scabs had been 
working in some of the mills. Gandhi feared violence. He was also 
afraid that, pledges notwithstanding, the workers might return to the 
mills. 

To Gandhi it was "inconceivable” that they should return. “Was it 
pride,” he asked, “or was it my love of the laborers and my passionate 
regard for truth that was at the back of this feeling—who can say?” 

Whatever the feeling, it overpowered Gandhi, and one morning, at 
the regular strikers’ open-air assembly under the banyan branches, he 
declared that if they did not continue the strike until they won “1 will 
not touch any food.” 

He had not intended announcing the fast. The words just came to 
him spontaneously without previous thought. He was as surprised as 
his listeners. Many of them cried. Anasuya Sarabhai was beside herself 
with grief. 

“We will fast with you,” some workers exclaimed. No, said Gandhi, 
they need merely stay out on strike. As for himself, he would eat 
nothing until the strike was settled. 

Gandhi had fasted before for religious and personal reasons. This was 
his first fast in a public cause. 

On the first day of the fast, Anasuya and several strike leaders fasted 
too. But Garidhi persuaded them to desist and look after the working¬ 
men. With the assistance of Vallabhbhai Patel, a prosperous Ahmeda- 
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bad lawyer, and others, temporary employment was found for some 

workers. A number of them helped to erect new buildings at Gandhi’s 

Sabarmad Ashram. 

Gandhi saw the dilemma in which the fast placed him. The fast was 

designed to keep the workers loyal to their pledge. But it constituted 

pressure on the millowners. Ambalal Sarabhai was a devoted follower 

of the Mahatma and so was Ambalal’s wife, Sarladt vi. She, Gandhi 

wrote, “was attached to me with the affection of a blood-sister.” 

Gandhi told the millowners who called on him that they must not 

be influenced by his fast; it was not directed against them. He said he 

was a striker and strikers’ representative and should be treated as such. 

But to them he was Mahatma Gandhi. Three days after the fast com¬ 

menced, the millowners accepted arbitration, and the strike, which had 

lasted twenty-one days, was called off. 

Gandhi thought he fasted to steady the strikers. The failure of the 

strike would cow these and other workers, and he disliked cowards. His 

sympathies were with the poor and downtrodden in whom he wished 

to arouse a dignified, peaceful protest. Yet he probably would have 

fasted against the workers had they opposed arbitration. The principle 

of arbitration is essential to Gandhi’s philosophy; it eliminates violence 

and the compulsion which may be present even in peaceful struggles. 

It teaches people tolerance and conciliation. Gandhi fasted not for any¬ 

body or against anybody, but for a creative idea. 

"Fasting for the sake of personal gain is nothing short of intimida¬ 

tion,” Gandhi affirmed. Gandhi obviously had nothing personal to gain 

from the Ahmedabad fast. The employers knew that. Yet they were 

|»obably intimidated by it. They did not want to be the cause of 

Gandhi’s death. But if it had been the Governor of Bombay who was 

fasting they might have said, "Let him die.” “I fasted to reform those 

who loved me,” Gandhi said on a subsequent occasion, and he added, 

‘Tou cannot fast against a tyrant.” 'The millowners were intimidated 

because they had a deep affection for Gandhi, and when they saw his 

selfless sacrifice they may have felt ashamed of their own selfishness. A 

fast for personal benefit would not arouse such emotions. 

'1 can fast against my father to cure him of a vice,” Gandhi explained, 

"but I may not in order to get from him an inheritance.” Gandhi fasted 

not so much to raise wages as to cure the employers of their unwarranted 
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objection to a system of arbitration which would promote peace in the 

textile industry. 

The fast, in fact, brought into being a system of arbitration which 

survives to this day; on a visit to Ahmedabad in 1948,1 found capitalists 

and trade unions convinced of its efficacy. Gandhi had participated in 

its work as permanent member of the panel of arbitrators. 

In September, 1936, for instance, the Millowners Association of 

Ahmedabad asked the Textile Labor Association to accept a 20 per cent 

cut in wages. Labor refused, and the case went to arbitration. The em¬ 

ployers appointed an owner named Kasturbhai Lalbhai as their repre¬ 

sentative and labor appointed Mahatma Gandhi; the impartial umpire 

chairman was Sir Govindrao Madgavkar. 

The millowners submitted that their plants, employing approximately 

80,000 hands, were suffering from foreign competition and the world 

economic depression and could not afford to pay existing rates. 

Having studied the industry's books and other pertinent data, Gandhi 

affirmed that “no cut should be made till the mills have ceased to make 

any profit and are obliged to fall back upon their capital for continuing 

the industry. There should be no cut till the wages have reached the 

level adequate for maintenance. It is possible to conceive a time when 

the workmen have begun to regard the industry as if it were their own 

property and they would then be prepared to help it out of a crisis by 

taking the barest maintenance consisting of a dry crust and working 

night and day. That would be a voluntary arrangement. Such cases are 

irrelevant to the present consideration.” 

Moreover, Gandhi wrote, “It is vital to the well-being of the industry 

that workmen should be regarded as equals with the shareholders and 

that they have therefore every right to possess an accurate knowledge of 

the transactions of the mills.” 

Finally, Gandhi suggested a register of all millhands “acceptable to 

both parties,” after which "the custom of taking labor through any 

agency other than the Textile Labor Association should be stopped.” 

This approximates the modern. Western concept of the “closed s^p.” 

The impartial chairman agreed with Gandhi and ruled against the 

wage reduction which, accor^ngly, was not allowed. 
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CHAPTER TWENTY-ONE 

Goat's Milk 

"There can be no partnership between the brave and the effeminate. 

We are regarded as a cowardly people. If we want to become free from 

that reproach, we should learn the use of arms.” 

Mahatma Gandhi spoke those words in July, 1918, while recruiting 

Indians for the British army during the First World War. "We should 

become partners of the Empire,” he added; a dominion like Canada, 

South Africa, and Australia. “To bring about such a thing,” he de¬ 

clared, “we should have the ability to defend ourselves, that is, the 

ability to bear arms and to use them. ... If we want to learn the use 

of arms with the greatest possible dispatch, it is our duty to enlist our¬ 

selves in the Army.” 

Gandhi delivered this speech in Kheda district of his native Gujarat 

region in western India. In March, he had led a Satyagraha movement 

in Kheda for the remission of taxes on peasants who had suffered a crop 

failure. The civil disobedience campaign was partly successful: the 

well-to-do farmers paid taxes but the poor did not. 

The peasants had followed him in civil resistance, and fed him, and 

given him their carts for transportation. But now, when he came to 

recruit, they would not even rent him a cart and they refused to feed 

him and his small party. 

Gandhi records their heckling: “You are a votary of non-violence, 

how can you ask us to take up arms?” "What good has the government 

done for India?” 

‘Tartnership in the Empire is our deBnite goal,” he replied. “We 

should suffer to the utmost of our ability and even lay down our lives 

to defend the Empire. If the Empire perishes, with it perishes our 

cherished aspirations." 

His audiences said India would fight in return for new freedoms. No, 

Gandhi insbted, it was evil to take advantage of Britain’s wartime pre¬ 

dicament He trusted England. 

The district had six hundred villages which averaged one thousand 
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inhabitants each. If every village gave twenty recruits, Gandhi computed, 
that would make 12,000. "If they fall on the battlefield,” he exclaimed, 
"they will immortalize themselves, their villages, and their country.” In 
the same recruiting-sergeant language, Gandhi asked the women to 
encourage the men. 

His efforts failed, and he only succeeded in making himself seriously 
ill. He had been living on peanut butter and lemons. This slim diet 
and the exertion, plus, no doubt, the frustration of failure, gave Him 
dysentery. 

He fasted. He refused medicine. He refused an injection. "My 
ignorance of injections was in those days quite ridiculous,” he said. He 
thought they were serums. 

This was the first important illness in his fife. His body was wasting 
away. His nerves gave way; he felt sure he would die. A medical prac¬ 
titioner ("a crank like myself,” Gandhi called him) sug^ted the ice 
treatment. Anything, as long as it was outside, Gandhi said. 

The ice helped. Appetite returned. The “crank” sugg^ted sterihzed 
eggs with no life in them. Gandhi remained obdurate; no eggs. Doctors 
advised milk. But the cruel manner of milking cows and buffaloes had 
impelled Gandhi to abjure milk forever. “No,” he answered. "I have 
taken a vow never to drink milk.” 

Here Kasturbai put in a stern word. "But surely,” she said, "you 
cannot have any objection to goat’s milk.” 

Gandhi wanted to live. He was not immune, he confessed, to that 
"subtlest of temptations, the desire to serve.” Had he been up to pax 
physically his will might have been strong enough to reject Kasturl^’s 
suggestion. But the very fact that he could not resist the suggestion 
showed how badly he needed the milk. 

Taking milk, he wrote later, was “a breach of pledge.” It always 
bothered him; it revealed a weakness. Nevertheless, he continued to be 
a goat-milk drinker to his last supper. 

Kasturbai’s insistence is the hkely key to Gandhi’s wilUngness to 
break the vow. Gandhi feared neither man nor government, neither 
prison nor poverty nor death. But he did fear his wife. Perhaps it was 
fear mixed with guilt; he did not want to hurt her; he had hurt her 
enough. 

G. Ramchandran, a devoted Gandhian, has written a "Sheaf of 
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Anecdotes” about the master for which C. Rajagppalachari, father of 
Devadas Gandhi’s wife and first Governor-General of independent 
India, vouches as “true.” Rarachandran, who lived in Sabarmati Ashram 
for a year, recalls that one day, when Kasturbai had cleaned up the 
kitchen after lunch and gone into the adjoining room for a nap, Gandhi 
came to the kitchen and, beckoning to a young male assistant of Ba, 
or mother, as Kasttubai was called, told him in a whisper that some 
guests were aniving in an hour and would have to be fed. Putting a 
finger to his lips as he glanced toward Ba’s room, Gandhi told the 
young man what to do and added, “Do not disturb her.... Send for Ba 
only when she is needed. And mind you, don’t irritate her. You will 
deserve a prize if she does not go for me.” 

"Gandhi,” writes Ramchandran, “was a little nervous lest Ba should 
wake up suddenly and burst upon him.” So the husband left the 
kitchen as quickly as he could, no doubt feeling a husband’s relief at 
getting beyond fury’s reach. But Gandhi’s hope of escaping from his 
kitchen crime without detection crashed when a brass platter fell to the 
floor. After prayers that evening, Ba, arms akimbo, confronted the 
Mahatma; she had a fierce temper: Why hadn’t he awakened her? 

“Ba,” Gandhi apologized, “1 am afraid of you on such occasions.” 
She laughed incredulously. “You afraid of me?” 
"And yet that was the truth,” Ramchandran comments. 
In his debilitated state during the dysentery, he was less than ever 

inclined to oppose her. 
Gandhi’s readiness to recruit for the British army was another weak¬ 

ness. I asked him about it in 1942. “I had just returned from South 
Africa,” he explained. "I hadn’t yet found my feet. I was not sure of 
my ground.” He had come to the unbridgeable gulf between national¬ 
ism and pacifism and did not know what to do. 

He might have taken the easy course and refused to support the war. 
Most Indian nationalists did that. 'They said, India is not free, there¬ 
fore we will not fight. But this was naked nationalism hiding behind the 
transparent skirt of pacifism; it meant, If India had self-government we 
would enlist to kill the enemy. 

The issue Gandhi faced in 1918 was universal and eternal: What 
does a citizen do when his country is invaded? For his conscience’s sake, 
a pacifist may discommode his body and go to jail, or he may bravely 
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attack conscription and other military measures. This can be a valuable 
educational demonstration. Suppose, however, the entire nation emubted 
his example and refused to fight? (Suppose the British had refused to 
fight in 1940?) 

For Indians in 1918, two positions were possible; 
A 100 per cent Indian pacifist would have abstained from the war and 

prefened perpetual colonial status, for as a colony India could deny 
wartime help to the enslaving motherland, whereas India as a nation 
would have to prepare for war or face destruction. 

Gandhi could not take this position because he wanted a free Indian 
nation. 

A 100 per cent Indian nationalist would have abstained from the 
First World War, saying it was Britain’s war, but would have prepared 
to make war on Britain for the liberation of India. 

Gandhi could not take this position because he still hoped for a non* 
violent settlement with Britain about the future of India. 

In 1918, therefore, Gandhi compromised his nationalism by accept¬ 
ing the Empire and hoping to attain freedom gradually and peacefully; 
having done that, his compulsive honesty forced him to compromise his 
pacifism and recruit for the war. 

The political Gandhi was thus caught in the ineradicable conflict 
between nationalism and pacifism. The religious Gandhi tried to resolve 
it by preaching and practicing non-violence and the universal brother¬ 
hood of man. 

In this dichotomy lay the tragedies of Gandhi’s life. 
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CHAPTER TWENTY-TWO 

The History of British Rule in India 

Throughout the last thirty years of his life, from 1918 to 1948, Mahatma 

Gandhi fought three major battles: the battle with himself, the battle 

with Indians, and the battle with Britain. 

From remote antiquity to modem times, India has been invaded 

twenty-six times. The British invasion was the last. Until the end of 

the fifteenth century, all of India’s conquerors came overland and all, 

except Baber, approached through what is now Russian Turkestan, 

crossed the Hindu Kush where the passes arc from 12,000 to 16,000 feet 

above sea level, and then filed through the narrow Khyber Pass to the 

Suleiman mountain range and the banks of the Indus and beyond. 

Semiramis, Queen of Assyria, sent an army into India via Turkestan 

twenty-two centuries before Christ. Cyrus of Persia repeated this per¬ 

formance in 530 B.c. Northwest India remained under Persian domi¬ 

nation (Indians probably fought the Greeks at Marathon) until Alex¬ 

ander the Great of Macedon swept out of Greece at the head of an 

army of 40,000 men, quickly subdued Syria, Egypt, and Palestine, de¬ 

feated Persia at Arbela, marched to the Oxus and Samarkand, and 

then, climbing the Hindu Kush, entered India in 326 b.c., at the age 

of thirty. After a nineteen months’ stay, Alexander, a pupil of Aristotle, 

left for home, taking with him several Indian philosophers. He died two 

years later in Babylon. 

'The Greeks, and subsequently the Romans, carried to the West the 

achievements of Indian science. The so-called "Arabic” numerals were 

invented in India. The zero is an Indian concept. An Indian brain like¬ 

wise evolved the present worldwide system of numeral placement: the 

S3^tem whereby a one with a four after it is fourteen and a four with a 

one after it is forty-one. 

Attracted by the wealth and mystery of India, more fabled con¬ 

querors: Genghis Khan, Tamerlane, Nadir Shah, and others added 

dieir scratches to Indian history and withdrew with loot and lore. 

On July 8, 1497, five years after Columbus, in three Spanish vessels, 
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discovered America, Vasco da Gama in three Portuguese ships, the 

largest of which displaced 150 tons, anchored df the southwest shore 

of India. Thus began the first seaborne invasion of India. 

The Papal bulls of 1493 and an agreement with Spain gave Portugal, 

then a world power, a Catholic monojwly in southeast Asia. That did 

not prevent the Dutch from establishing several lucrative trading posts 

in India early in the sixteenth century. The French followed a few 

years later. They sent home pepper, cinnamon, and other spices. 

England hesitated to encroach on the formidable Portuguese. Instead, 

since they had wool to sell which torrid southern Asia did not need, the 

British searched for a northwest passage through North America and a 

northeast passage around northern Europe to the colder regions of 

China. But when this quest proved vain, England, emboldened by her 

victory over the Spanish Armada in July, 1588, dared to defy Portugal, 

Spain's confederate, and dispatched her first expedition into the Indian 

Ckean in 1591. Despite the war u'ith Spain and Portugal, other British 

expeditions followed. The peace signed with these nations increased the 

traffic and intensified the commercial competition. 

An East India Company was formed in London in 1600; its renewed 

charter of 1609 gave it a British trade monopoly in Asia unlimited in 

time and space. 

War greased the wheels of business. The Dutch, vigorous and 

aggressive and supported by all the military might of the homeland, took 

the offensive against Portuguese settlements in India and, with British 

co-operation, achieved considerable success. In 1625, an Anglo-Dutch 

fleet defeated the Portuguese. The victors divided the spoils. 

In 1642, England abandoned the Dutch and became Portugal’s ally. 

As reward, British merchants won unhampered trade facilities with all 

Portuguese possessions in Asia except Macao. Ten years later, Britain 

went to war with Holland in Europe, and Anglo-Portuguese forces 

fought the Dutch in India. At the cessation of hostilities in 1654, 

Britain extended her power in India at Holland’s expense. 

Wars, intrigues with Indian provincial warlords, and shrewd trading 

filled the coffers of the East India Company and enhanced its power. 

In the first half of the seventeenth century, England was importing 

cotton piece-goods, indigo, drugs, lac, sugar, and carpets from India. 

Indian calicoes were a special favorite with British housewives. In re- 
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turn, the Company brought to India broadcloth, industrial metals, and 

gold. In 1668, the Company received from the British King the former 

Portuguese possession of Bombay with its magnificent undeveloped 

harbor. With royal assent, a similar British position was established on 

the eastern coast at Madras. Feuds between the Moslem or Mogul em¬ 

perors of India and the warlike Maratha Hindus of south-central India, 

in the area centering on Poona, east of Bombay, enabled the Company 

to proclaim the fusion of money-making and imperialism; it announced 

in December, 1687, that it proposed to create such civil and military 

institutions “as may be the foundation of a large, well-grounded, sure 

English dominion in India for all time to come.” 

The accretion of British power moved with accelerated speed. The 

|HOce$s was simple: early in 1749, for instance. Prince Shahji, native 

potentate of the state of Tanjore, on the southeast coast, was dethroned 

by a rival; he offered the British a town called Devikottai at the place 

where the Coleroon River empties into the Bay of Bengal “on condition,” 

says The Cambridge History of India, “of their helping him to recover 

the throne.” After a few days of siege, Devikottai surrendered. “The 

English kept it with the country belonging to it; and as for Shahji,” the 

British chronicle notes, “no one thought of restoring him to his throne.” 

Anybody wronged by the British was wooed by the French, and vice 

versa. When Nawab Siraj-ud-daula, exploiting the disintegration of 

Mogul power at Delhi, took control of Bengal, the British tried to pre¬ 

vent him from getting too strong. In one indecisive skirmish he defeated 

a force of Europeans and imprisoned some of them overnight in the 

Black Hole of Calcutta, where an unknown number perished. But on 

January 2, 1757, a young British officer named Robert Clive retook 

Calcutta and forced Siraj-ud-daula to accept humiliating terms. The 

nawab accordingly conspired with the French. The British Admiral 

Watson thereupon threatened him: “I will kindle such a flame in your 

country,” the Englishman wrote, “as all the water in the Ganges shall 

not be able to extinguish.” Sobered by these hot words, the Moslem 

ruler shrank into a passivity that facilitated the expulsion of his French 

allies from strategic Bengal areas. But the nawab remained, and so did 

some French advisers. An insurrection, coinciding conveniently with 

the British attack, enabled Colonel Clive with 800 English and 2,200 

mercenary Indian troops to rout the nawab’s army of 50,000 at Plassey 
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on June 23, 1757. Siraj-ud-daula was executed and his rival, necessarily 

a complacent British puppet, replaced him. The entire province of 

Bengal was now a British colony. With a frankness bom of impunity, 

Clive wrote to Robert Orme, “I am possessed of volumes of material for 

the continuation of your history, in which will appear fighting, tricks, 

chicanery, intrigues, politics, and the Lord knows what.” It was all 

politics. 

Warren Hastings, the Governor-General of Bengal, continued the 

policy of British expansion through armed force, enforced tributes, and 

dynastic conspiracies. His trial in England, which lasted from Febmary, 

1788, to April, 1795, showed that the British administration in India 

was neither scrupulous nor incorruptible, nor concerned with the wel¬ 

fare of Indians. 

Gradually, by means mostly foul, but considered normal in that age 

and place, the British established themselves throughout the length and 

breadth of the vast Indian subcontinent. In some areas, the East India 

Company ruled directly through its officials. Elsewhere it stood close 

behind the thrones of Hindu maharajas and Moslem nawabs who 

pliantly subserved the politics of British empire-building. 

The Portuguese had been confined to a few ports. The Dutch had 

been ousted. French power, though still considerable, was waning. In 

1786, Mirabeau, the French revolutionary, urged the Russian Czar to 

help France by invading India. Napoleon’s offensive against Egypt was 

conceived as the first step toward the destruction of the British in India. 

When the Corsican s campaign in the eastern Mediterranean collapsed 

he wrote to Emperor Paul I in St. Petersburg urging him to march on 

India and promising men and supplies. Paul agreed and sent instme- 

tions to General Orlov, ataman of the Don Cossacks. “All the wealth of 

India will be yours as a reward for the expedition,” he wrote. Russia 

“would acquire treasure and commerce and strike the enemy in the 

heart.” The enemy was Britain. “I am enclosing all the maps I have>^ 

the Emperor added. “They go only to Khiva and the Oxus.” 

Later, Paul sent another map by special courier. General Orlov, how¬ 

ever, never got beyond the Urals. Paul was mysteriously murdered, and 

the Russo-French alliance lapsed. But in a few years it was renewed, 

and when Napoleon met Pauls successor, Alexander I, at Tilsit, in 

East Prussia, in 1807, they planned an assault on India. There is a 
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ktter in the Russian archives penned by Napoleon to Alexander on 

February 2, 1808, in which the Corsican proposed the formation of a 

Russo-French army to conquer India. “England will be enslaved,” 

Napoleon predicted. He promised Stockholm to Russia as a reward for 

her efforts against England in Asia. 

These were idle dreams. The French in India were soon limited to 

a few maritime dots, and when, in 1818, the British crushed the great 

Maratha empire in south-central India, the last organized challenge to 

British rule vanished. The rest was a clean-up operation. 

While India was being subjugated, the invention of the spiitning 

jenny in 1764, Watt’s perfected steam engine in 1768, and the power 

loom in 1785 were converting England into a maker and exporter of 

textiles. Indian cotton goods were no longer wanted in Britain; on the 

contrary, Britain exported textiles and other factory products to the 

people of India who, in 1800, numbered approximately 140,000,000. 

India’s industries consequently languished; Indian treasure flowed 

to the British Isles as profit or plunder. Indian handicrafts suffered too. 

India was transformed into a purely agrarian country whose villages, 

overcrowded by the influx of unemployed townsmen, could not produce 

enough food. According to a British source, the deaths from famine in 

Indian between 1800 and 1825 were one million; between 1825 and 

1850, four-hundred-thousand; between 1850 and 1875, five million; and 

between 1875 and 1900, fifteen million. 

Engineered by wit and violence, England’s annexations in India in 

the latter part of the eighteenth century and the first quarter of the 

nineteenth left many disgruntled and dispossessed native rulers. British 

attempts to introduce law and order and an equitable system of taxation 

further irritated innumerable persons nursing innumerable wounds. 

Widespread economic stringency intensified the general unrest. Only 

a spark was needed to produce a flame. India had not yet become totally 

docile, nor had the British learned the technique, which they sub¬ 

sequently mastered, of firm yet smooth and barely visible administration. 

It was 1857, and a Hindu prophecy declared that on the centenary of 

the Battle of Plassey in 1757, British rule would perish. A war, officially 

called the Mutiny or the Sepoy Mutiny, broke out. The immediate 

impetus was the distribution among Indian troops of British-made 

cartridges, greased with cow or pig fat, which had to be bitten before 
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being loaded into rifles. Since a Hindu must not touch cow (at and a 

Moslem must not touch pork the provocation was perfect, and Indian 

army units rebelled. But the British authorities admitted that the Bengal 

Indian force was “a brotherhood" closely identified with the hungry 

villages, and the same bond connected all sepoys in British uniform with 

the ragged, hungry peasants. 

Numerous regiments rose; one seized Delhi. Moslems took the lead, 

but all communities assiduously annulled innovations introduced by the 

British. Rail and telegraph lines were cut. Both sides committed numer¬ 

ous murders. Indian soldiers killed their British officers, and at Benares, 

"rebels, suspects, and even disorderly boys,” says The Cambridge His¬ 

tory of India, “were executed by infuriated officers and unofficial British 

residents who volunteered to serve as hangmen.” Much blood also 

flowed in pitched battles and sieges. 

The mutiny was unplanned, unco-ordinated, leaderless, and hope¬ 

less. Inevitably, after many months, the British, aided by loyal Indians, 

suppressed it. With the restoration of peace, the East India Company, 

“upon which,” according to The Cambridge History, “all parties in 

England agreed in throwing the blame of the Mutiny,” was abolished. 

In 1858, Queen Victoria assumed the government of India and ap¬ 

pointed Lord Canning her first Viceroy. For eighty-nine years thereafter, 

until August 15, 1947, India was a colony of the British Empire. 

The blood-and-plunder period was ended. England's ideals of clean 

government filtered into the British administration of India. The British 

watered some deserts and improved communications. Many British 

officials, after twenty or thirty years’ service in India, felt at home in 

India and like foreigners when they went home to England. They were 

devoted to India. They ate out their hearts and ruined their health cop¬ 

ing with difficult problems. 

The British in India, however, were a fifth caste, the first caste. They 

interdined with Indians perfunctorily and intermarried seldom. The 

British were the super-Brahman-Kshatriyas; all Indians were “untouch¬ 

ables.” The British were in India, never of India. They were like 

teachers who keep the class quiet and teach the children to read, write, 

and reckon and to march in twos, but who do not really teach the 

children anything, nor help them, because they regard themselves as 

animal trainers and the children as nasty animals. 
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The British were masters in somebody else’s home. Their very pres¬ 

ence was a humiliation. Despite the best intentions of the best among 

them, their every act was a humiliation. Then they complained, with 

pain, that Indians were “ungrateful." The complaint was a measure of 

the lack of understanding. 

The British never deciphered the palimpsest which is India. They 

merely read the inscription on the surface: India was a weak, dirty, back¬ 

ward country, vrith some fine monuments to be sure, and some superior 

brains, but generally inferior, and Asiatic. 

Even if the British had converted India into a land Sowing with milk 

and honey they would have been disliked. Imperialism, like dictatorship, 

sears the soul, degrades the spirit, and makes individuals small, the 

better to rule them. Fear and cowardice are its allies. Imperialism is 

government of other people, by other people, and for other people. What 

the subjects gain, be it ever so great, is only the by-product of efforts 

in behalf of a distant master. 

The requirements of British prestige hurt Indian pride. All the visible 

manifestations of the British regime—the ceremonial pomp, the isolated 

cantonments or villas where the British dwelt, and the use of English- 

told the Indians that they were a subject race. Subjection stimulated a 

desire for liberation. 

That is why colonial administration never is, and never can be, success¬ 

ful. History has known no good colonizers. Every empire digs its own 

grave. Imperialism is a perpetual insult, for it assumes that the outsider 

has the right to rule the insiders who cannot rule themselves; it is thus 

arrogant nationalism and inevitably begets an opposing nationalism. 

Alien rule thwarts the native lovers of power. The British could never 

forget the Mutiny. “After all,” Lord Linlithgow, the British Viceroy, 

said to me in 1942, “we are the occupying power. Ever since the Mutiny 

we have hesitated to put arms into the hands of Indians." Decades after 

the Mutiny, when the British were secure enough in their power to 

share it, the share of Indians was small. Real power—the authority to 

ded^ appoint, recall, and spend—lay with the British. No matter how 

high an Indian rose in the government service he remained a British 

hireling. His power was not merely severely restricted; it lacked one of 

the sweetest concomitants of power: popularity; for the more the British 

trusted him the more his own people rejected him. 
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Unloved and unwanted, the British found it dangerous to arouse too 

many expectations of self-government and inconvenient to kill too many 

hopes for it. Hence, all the eighty-nine years of British rule constitute 

a series of oscillations between bold promises and disappointing per¬ 

formances* When the Queen took over from the Company in 1858 she 

announced that “as far as may be“ Indians would be given responsible 

posts in government. But Lord Lytton, Viceroy from 1876 to 1880, wrote 

in a secret report, “Since I am writing confidentially, I do not hesitate 

to say that both the government of England and of India appear to me. 

up to the present moment unable to answer satisfactorily the charge of 

having taken every means in their power of breaking to the heart the 

words of promise they have uttered to the ear.*' 

This was the complaint by a man who, unfettered by London, would 

have done better. But the Indians naturally regretted the breach of 

faith even more keenly than the Queen s first officer in India. 

When the demand for broader participation in local government and 

for redress of grievances grew more insistent. Lord Dufferin, Viceroy 

from 1884 to 1888, intending to direct upper-class discontent into an 

artificial canal, sired the Indian National Congress; subsequent Vice¬ 

roys blessed it. Even if they had foreseen that a callow Indian law 

student in London in the late 1880 s would make Congress an instru¬ 

ment of the downfall of British rule, they could not have helped them¬ 

selves. The history of the British rule in India is a record of retreats, 

more graceful in some Viceregal quinquenniums than in others, but 

always enhancing Indian strength. Torn between their political sagacity 

and their power lust, the British yielded as much of the appearance of 

power as circumstances required and as little of its substance as con¬ 

ditions permitted. 

Many times, for instance, Indians had been promised equality of em¬ 

ployment in the LC.S. (Indian Civil Service), which was the British 

administration of India. “After eighty-two years of equality,** H. N. 

Brailsford remarks sarcastically, Englishmen held 95 per cent of the 

posts in the I.C.S. in 1915. In 1923, he declares, using accepted figures, 

Indian participation was still only 10 per cent. 

Jealous of her power, England feared the Indians. Conscious of their 
white skins and racial superiority, the British scorned the Indians. 

Fear, and the administrator's natural wish to administer with maxi- 
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mum facility, impelled the British to adopt the approved imperialistic 

tactic of Divide and Rule. Since the Moslems played the leading role in 

the Mutiny, and were thought to harbor dreams of empire, the British 

at first preferred the Hindus to the Moslems. When unrest and political 

ambition stirred the Hindus, the British used the Moslems against the 

Hindus. 

Similarly, Britain divided the country between British India, governed 

directly by England, and native India, governed indirectly by England 

but directly, and ostensibly, by Indian princes. It was a cynical device, 

avowed as such by Lord Canning on April 30, i860; he wrote, "It was 

long ago said by Sir John Malcolm that if we made all India into zillahs 

[or British districts] it was not in the nature of things that our empire 

should last fifty years; but that if we could keep up a number of native 

states without political power but as royal instruments, we should exist 

in India as long as our naval supremacy was maintained. Of the sub¬ 

stantial truth of this opinion 1 have no doubt; the recent events make 

it m(»e deserving of our attention than ever.” In the twentieth century, 

these royal instruments without political power numbered over five 

himdred and fifty. With that many puppets the British thought they 

were secure. 

Professor Rushbrook Williams, a brilliant Englishman who often 

served as official intermediary with Indian princes, wrote in the London 

Evening Standard of May 28, 1930, “The situations of these feudatory 

states, checkerboarding all India as they do, are a great safeguard. It is 

like establishing a vast network of friendly fortresses in debatable 

territory. It would be difficult for a general rebellion against the British 

to sweep India because of this network of powerful, loyal, native states.” 

Nothing could be more clear. 

Lest India become strong enough economically to break from the 

Empire, and in order, too, to help British industries in the motherland, 

Indian industries were discouraged and Indian shipping and shipbuild¬ 

ing were officially restricted. Education was not designed to train a 

technical staff for industry nor a professional class to serve the country. 

With a population of approximately 380,000,000, India, in 1939, had 

only 1,306 students of agriculture, 2,413 of engineering, 719 of 

veterinary science, 150 of technology, 63 of forestry, and only 3,561 in 
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medicine, in her colleges and universities, according to the official 
Statistical Abstract for British India. 

In 1939, India, v\^ith three times the population of the United States 
and two'thirds the area, had 41,134 miles of railroad track, compared 
with 395,589 miles in the United States. India produced 2,500,000,000 
kilowatt-hours of electric energy in 1935; the United States, 98,464,000,- 
000 kilowatt-hours. 

These conditions were not the sole fault of the British; Indians shared 
the blame. But Indians blamed everything on the British. 

Indians delight in criticizing, and autocrats detest criticism. “All 
opposition,” writes Sir Valentine Chirol, a British authority on India, 
“even in the shape of criticism which it can treat as mere waste of 
breath, is distasteful to an autocracy, and apt to be regarded even as 
pregnant with sedition, and the British officials in India honestly be¬ 
lieved in an autocratic form of government, though they tried to make 
it as paternal as possible.” 

British paternalistic autocracy irritated some Indians and embittered 
others. Toward the end of the nineteenth century, Indian terrorists 
began to operate in Bengal and other areas. Terror invited repression, 
which provoked more terror. 

One school of British politics wished to meet Indian hostility with 
blood and iron; a second school wished to mollify it with reforms. Each 
of these had its counterpart inside the Indian National Congress. 

The British autocrats did not help the Indian moderates. Late in the 
nineteenth century. Field Marshal Lord Roberts, well known in India, 
said, “It is this consciousness of the inherent superiority of the European 
which has won us India. However well educated and clever a native 
may be and however brave he may have proved himself, I believe that 
no rank which we can bestow upon him would cause him to be con¬ 
sidered an equal by the British officer.” 

Such racism bred implacable enemies and embarrassed the moderates. 
The liberal lawyers, publicists, and capitalists retained their control of 
Congress, but not everybody was in Congress. Boys were hurling bombs. 
Young men with degrees from Oxford and Cambridge were rejecting 
the West. East is East and West is West, and if the twain cannot meet, 
they said, it is because East vtras slave and West was master. 
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In Toward Freedom, an autobiography, Jawaharlal Nehru writes that 

in 1907, at seventeen, when he had just gone to Cambridge from 

Harrow, he was an extremist. In fact, speaking of the Indian students, 

he says, ‘‘Almost without exception we were Tilakites or Extremists.'' 

Bal Gangadhar Tilak, known as “Lokamanya ' or “Respected by the 

People," played a key role in the development of the Indian inde¬ 

pendence movement and in Gandhi s life. 

Tilak was a high-degree Brahman, a Chitpawan Brahman, from Poona 

in the land of the Marathas, the last Indian folk to be conquered by the 

British. The Marathas are highlanders who many times in their history 

descended into the lowlands, notably into Gandhi s homeland Gujarat, 

to dominate the less bellicose peoples of the plains. Once, these fighting 

Hindus captured Moslem Delhi; they remained foes of Islam. 

Tilak inaugurated an annual festival to celebrate King Shivaji, born 

1627, died 1680, who brought new triumphs to the Maratha empire. 

He wrote a most scholarly commentary on the Gita and defended every 

orthockix tenet and practice of Hinduism, including child marriage. He 

branded as a puppet any Indian who worked for the British. He exposed 

the emptiness of British concessions to Indian home-rule aspirations. 

Tilak s fierce imprecations, the British charged, stirred a young Chit¬ 

pawan Brahman to assassinate a British official on June 27, 1897, the 

day of Queen Victoria s Diamond Jubilee, and Tilak was condemned to 

two years in prison. Liberated before the end of his term, he resumed 

his Hindu-religious agitation which, while aimed at the British, did not, 

to say the least, improve relations between Hindus and Moslems. 

Hindu passions continued to simmer. Indian nationalism found food 

in numerous events at home and abroad: the hollowness of British re¬ 

forms nurtured it and so did the Japanese defeat of the Russians in the 

1904-1905 war (the first time a colored nation defeated a white one), 

the 1905 Russian revolution, and the rise of the Young Turks. 

In 1904 Lord Curzon, considered by some the greatest Viceroy of 

India, decreed the partition of the province of Bengal. This act may 

have been the beginning of the end of British rule in India; Indians 

always mention it as a British atrocity. Curzon, despite his monumental 

ability and industry, was a bureaucrat, autocrat, and aristocrat. He lived 

close to his files and far from the people. Bengal had a population of over 

seventy million and Curzon divided it the better to administer it. But 
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the bisection was on religious lines: the Moslem area was separated from 

the more powerful Hindu area. Bitterness knew no restraint. Curzon 

was accused of anti-Hindu prejudice and of trying to put the Moslems 

under a debt which they would have to pay in the coin of submissive¬ 

ness. 

TTiese and similar charges were directed at Curzon until he left 

India toward the end of 1904. Bengal answered the partition with 

assassinations. In the land of the Marathas, Tilak whipped his followers 

into a frenzy. In both provinces, British goods were boycotted; in both, 

Gandhi always found his most stubborn enemies. 

Gandhi and Tilak were opjx>sites. Gandhi was a quiet public speaker, 

Tilak the consummate orator. Gandhi was wedded to non-violence; 

Tilak justified violence. Gandhi fostered Hindu-Moslem amity; Tilak 

favored Hindu supremacy. Gandhi respected means; Tilak pursued 

ends. Tilak’s work bore bitter fruit. 

The 1906 annual session of Congress met in Calcutta, then the capital 

of India as well as of Bengal. It demanded a reversal of the partition, 

supported the anti-British boycott, and resolved in favor of self- 

government for India. 

Lord Minto, Curzon s successor, let it become known in 1906 that he 

was contemplating reforms which would give Indians a bigger voice in 

the provincial legislatures and more jobs in government offices. But the 

Tilak extremists were not mollified. Violence continued in Bengal and 

Maharashtra and spread to the Punjab. At the 1907 Congress session in 

Surat, moderates and extremists threw sandals at one another. After the 

fray, the Tilakites withdrew from the Congress, leaving the lawyers in 

control. 

The reforms drafted bv Lord Minto, with the assistance of Lord 

Morley, Secretary of State for India in London, were introduced in 1908 

and 1909. They extended Indian participation in the all-Indian and 

provincial legislative councils and in provincial executive councik as 

well. One Indian joined the Viceroy’s executive council. But Morley 

made it clear, in the House of Lords debate in I>ecember, 1908, that “if 

it could be said that this chapter of reforms led directly or indirectly 

or necessarily up to the establishment of a parliamentary system in India, 

I, for one, would have nothing to do with it.” More Indians sat on 

legislative councils, and they talked more, but they had no more power. 



174 Mahatma Gandhi 

far the councils themselves had no power; their function was consulta¬ 

tive. 

Any joy which Indians might have derived from the Minto-Morley 

reforms was soured by a concomitant measure: the introduction of 

separate electorates. In 1906, a Moslem deputation led by the Aga Khan 

waited upon Lord Minto and urged that in all future elections Hindus 

vote for Hindu representatives and Moslems for Moslem representatives. 

Nationalist historians have branded this interview a “command per¬ 

formance" rehearsed and conducted under Minto's baton. Whatever 

the facts, Minto and Morley granted the Moslem request, and in 1909, 

separate religious electorates, embellished with a device enabling 

Moslems to obtain more than their proportional number of seats 

Cvreightage, this was called), became a permanent Indian institution 

whose mischief was incalculable, for it made religious differences the 

^cisive factor in every political contest. The central political problem 

in India was to bridge the gulf between Hindus and Moslems; this 

widened it. 

However, the first though not lasting effect of the separate electorates 

was to bring more Moslems into the Congress party. Prominent among 

them was Mohamed Ali Jinnah. 

In 1911, the new British King, George V, and Queen Mary, visited 

India amid fantastic pomp. The King announced the removal of the 

capital to Delhi and the annulment of the partition of Bengal. Never¬ 

theless, and though Tilak had been sentenced for sedition in November, 

1907, to a long term of imprisonment and was ailing in Mandalay, acts 

of personal terror continued; in 1912, Lord Hardinge, the Viceroy, 

narrowly escaped death by a bomb. 

The outbreak of war in 1914 found some Indians loyal, some dis¬ 

loyal, and few enthusiastic, but many ready to serve in the British army. 

More than half a million Indians fought for England in France, 

Flanders, Palestine, and other fronts. Indian princes and commoners 

distinguished themselves in combat on the ground and in the air. 

Tilak had returned from exile in 1914 and pledged loyalty. Gandhi 

returned from South Africa, via London, in January, 1915, and recruited 

for the British army. But idleness and the Irish rebellion at Easter, 1916, 

were too much for Tilak’s fiery spirit, and he burst forth into a passion¬ 

ate anti-British campaign in favor of home-rule. His companion agitator, 
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who if anything excelled him in oratory and vituperation, was Mrs. 

Annie Besant. They were vigorously assisted by Sir C. P. Ramaswami 

Aiyar and Jinnah. 

The Indian earth rumbled with the noise of the volcano beneath it. 

Not only the politicians, but the soldiers, and even the peasants, felt 

that the blood Indians were shedding in Britain's battle should be 

recompensed. On August 20, 1917, accordingly, Edwin S. Montagu, 

Secretarv of State for India, announced in the House of Commons that 

British policy envisaged ‘'not only the increasing association of Indians 

in every branch of the administration, but also the granting of self- 

governing institutions with a view to the progressive realisation of re¬ 

sponsible government in India as an integral part of the British Empire/' 

This was interpreted as being a pledge of Dominion Status. 

Tilak thought that on occasions it might be desirable to occupy posi¬ 

tions of jx)wer within the state apparatus. He once sent Gandhi a check 

for fifty thousand rupees as a bet that he could recruit five thousand 

Marathas for the British army if Gandhi extracted a promise from the 

Viceroy that some of the enlisted personnel would receive officers' com¬ 

missions. Gandhi returned the check. He did not like betting. And he 

felt that if you do something you do it because you believe in it and not 

for what you hope to get out of it. 

The war closed victoriously in November, 1918. Trouble did not wait 

long; it came early in 1919. 

Tilak had been interned again in August, 1918. Mrs. Besant was also 

under arrest. Shaukat AH and Mohamed Ali, brothers and powerful 

and prominent Moslem leaders, had been imprisoned during the war. 

Secret tribunals had been sentencing people in all parts of India. Many 

newspapers were muzzled by wartime censorship. These measures 

evoked great bitterness. But with the coming of peace, the country 

expected the restoration of civil liberties. 

Instead, a committee headed by Sir Sidney Rowlatt, who had come 

from England to study the administration of justice, issued a report on 

July 19, 1918, which recommended, in effect, a continuation of the 

wartime rigors. The Congress party fiercely denounced the Rowlatt 

findings. In February, 1919, a bill embodying them was nevertheless 

offered by the government to the Imperial Legislative Council. Gandhi 

attended the debate and appreciated the attacks leveled by Indian mem- 
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bers against the bill but, since a majority o( the Giuncil consisted of 

British government officials, its passage, after what Gandhi called the 

"farce of legal formality,” was assured. 

Gandhi, just recuperating from dysentery and from an operation for 

fissures necessitated by it, decided that the impending government 

legislation was “unjust, subversive of the principle of liberty, and de¬ 

structive of the elementary rights of individuals on which the safety of 

the community as a whole and of the State itself is based.” 

Assuming that the bill would be enacted, Gandhi began preparations 

for civil resistance on the pattern of his victorious effort in South 

Africa. Though still so weak that somebody had to read his speeches, 

he traveled to many cities laying the groundwork for a gigantic, nation¬ 

wide Satyagraha campaign designed to induce the government to with¬ 

draw the repressive legislation. Meanwhile, he appealed to the Viceroy 

1^ letter and through the press not to approve the law. 

On March 18, 1919, the Rowlatt Act became the law of the land. 

An electric shock ran through India. Was this the commencement of 

Dominion Status? Was this the reward for the blood shed in the war? 

The next day, Mahatma Gandhi, who had come to Madras for a 

meeting, said to his host, C. Rajagopalachari, “Last night the idea came 

to me in a dream that we should call on the country to observe a gen¬ 

eral hartal.” A hartal is a suspension of economic activity shopkeepers 

do not open for business, employees do not report for work, factories 

stay shut, ships are not loaded or unloaded. Gandhi urged that hartal 

day be a day of “fasting and prayer” and of “humiliation and prayer.” 

Thereafter Satyagraha would unfold according to circumstances; re¬ 

sisters might, for example, buy and sell proscribed books, or manu¬ 

facture salt in contravention of the law which made its production a 

state monopoly. 

The hartal was Gandhi’s first act against the British government of 

India. Indeed, it was his first political act in India. His inter\'ention on 

behalf of the Champaran sharecroppers had unintentionally involved 

him in friction with a British court. But now he deliberately appealed 

for a nationwide demonstration against the British authorities. It was 

the beginning of his twenty-eight years of struggle against British rule 

in India. The end of the struggle was the end of British rule. 
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CHAPTER TWENTY-THREE 

Murder 

Gandhi s hartal idea spread throughout India. It united vast multitudes 

in common action; it gave the people a sense of power. They loved 

Gandhi for it. The hartal paralyzed economic life; the dead cities and 

towns were tangible proof that Indians could be effective. What the 

Indian people needed most, and lacked most, was faith in themselves. 

Gandhi gave it to them. 

Six hundred men and women in Bombay signed the Satyagraha 

pledge. Gandhi was happy. Me had won with fewer numbers in South 

Africa. Vow^s were being taken in other cities, and in many villages. 

'‘Even such a mighty government as the Government of India/' Gandhi 

declared at Bombay, “will have to yield if we are true to our pledge. For 

the pledge is no small thing. It means a change of heart. It is an attempt 

to introduce the religious spirit into politics. We may no longer believe 

in the doctrine of ‘tit for tat'; we may not meet hatred with hatred, 

violence with violence, evil with evil; but we have to make a continuous 

and persistent effort to return good for evil. . . . Nothing is impossible.” 

Skeptics mocked. “I have no desire to argue,” Gandhi replied. “As the 

British proverb says, ‘The proof of the pudding lies in the eating.' ” The 

movement had been launched; it would surely spread, and surely 

triumph. 

In a further appeal to the Viceroy, the Mahatma put the whole ques¬ 

tion on a high, universal level. The Satyagraha campaign, he told the 

Viceroy, “constitutes an attempt to revolutionize }X)litics and restore 

moral force to its original station.” He quoted a statement of President 

Woodrow Wilson at Paris to the effect that if the moral force behind 

the League of Nations Covenant did not suffice, physical force would. 

“We,” Gandhi wrote, “hope to reverse the process and by our action 

show that physical force is nothing compared to moral force and that 

moral force never fails.” 

Somebody protested that Gandhi s Satyagraha campaign would abet 

Bolshevism. (The Bolshevik Revolution had taken place on November 
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7, 1917, and made a deep impression on the East.) No, Gandhi said in 

a speech at Madras on March 30, 1919, “if anything can possibly pre* 

vent this calamity descending upon our country, it is Satyagraha. Boh 

shevism is the necessary result of modem materialistic civilisation. Its 

insensate worship of matter has given rise to a school which has been 

brought up to look upon materialistic advancement as the ^)al and 

which has lost all touch with the final things in life.... I pophesy that 

if we disobey the law of the final supremacy of spirit over matter, of 

liberty and love over brute force, in a few years’ time we shall have 

Bolshevism rampant in this land which was once so holy.’’ 

The hartal, a prelude to Satyagraha, was observed in Delhi on March 

30th, and in Bombay and other cities and villages on April 6th. "Need- 

kss to say,” Gandhi reported, “the hartal in Bombay was a complete suc¬ 

cess.” The nationwide hartal, he said, “was a most wonderful spectacle.” 

In Delhi, however, the hartal provoked violence. The Punjab, home 

of millions of Moslems and Hindus and of five million bearded, 

turbaned, stoutly built Sikhs whose religion was an offshoot of Hindu¬ 

ism, echoed to riots and shootings. Leaders asked Gandhi to come 

quickly to Delhi and the Punjab. The British stopped him at the borders 

of the province on April 9th and escorted him back to Bombay, where 

he was released. En route to and from Bombay, Gandhi sent messages 

that he was safe and free; reports of his arrest had inHamed the already 

heated passions of the people; riots occurred in Bombay and Ahmedabad. 

On April nth, Gandhi admonished his followers in Bombay. “We 

have been throwing stones,” he said. “We have obstructed tramcars 

by putting obstacles in the way. This is not Satyagraha. We have de¬ 

manded the release of about fifty men who had been arrested for deeds 

of violence. But our duty is chiefly to get ourselves arrested. It is a 

breach of religious duty to endeavor to secure the release of those who 

have committed deeds of violence. ... If we cannot conduct this move¬ 

ment without the slightest violence from our side," Gandhi warned, “the 

movement might have to be abandoned. ... It may be necessary to 

go even further. The time may come for me to offer Satyagraha against 

ourselves.... I have just heard that some English gentlemen have been 

injured. Some may even have died from such injuries. If so, it would 

be a great blot on Satyagraha. For me, Englishmen too are our brethren.” 

From Bombay, Gandhi went to his ashram at Sabarmati, where on 
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April 14th be addressed a huge multitude. Ahmedabad citizens too had 

committed acts of violence of which Gandhi was ashamed; “a rapier run 

through my body could hardly have pained me more.” Scathingly he 

denounced them: “We have burnt down buildings, forcibly captwed 

weapons, extorted money, stopped trains, cut off telegraph wires, killed 

innocent people and plundered shops and private houses." As penance, 

he announced that he had undertaken a seventy-two-hour fast. He asked 

the people to fast twenty-four. 

Immediately after the Sabarmati meeting, Gandhi left for Nadiad, a 

town in the Kheda district twenty-nine miles from Ahmedabad, where 

he had recruited for the war. There he discovered that violence had 

spread to small towns as well. 

Depressed, Gandhi told the people of Nadiad that the entire Satya- 

graba campaign was “a Himalayan miscalculation” on his part. On 

April 18th he called off the movement. 

Many scoffed; the Mahatma, they taunted, had made “a Himalayan 

miscalculation.” But Gandhi never regretted a confession of error. “I 

have always held,” he wrote in his autobiography, “that it is only when 

one sees one’s own mistakes with a convex lens, and does just the reverse 

in the case of others, that one is able to arrive at a just relative estimate 

of the two.” What politician would say that? 

His miscalculation, Gandhi explained, was in overlooking the fact 

that a person must be trained in civil obedience before civil disobedience 

against some laws could succeed. “I am sorry,” Gandhi said in canceling 

the Satyagraha compaign, "that when I embarked upon a mass move¬ 

ment I underrated the forces of evil, and I must now pause and con¬ 

sider how best to meet the situation.” Nobody forsook his leadership be¬ 

cause he did not immediately announce a clever new plan to cUvert 

attention from the one that failed. 

Meanwhile, the Punjab province boiled. Events there culminated in 

a massacre staged by the British in the sacred Sikh city of Amritsar on 

April 13, 1919, which Sir Valentine Chirol called “that black day in 

the annals of British India." For Gandhi it was a turning point. Indians 

never forgot it. 

An official commission of inquiry, appointed by the government of 
India and consisting of seven members, four British and three Indian, 
with Lord Hunter, Senator of the College of Justice of Scotland, as 
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chairman, investigated the Punjab disturbances for many months and 

then published its report. It found that in Amritsar ''the Hartal on the 

thirtieth [of March] was successful beyond expectation and stopped 

the whole business of the city. There was no collision with the police 

and no resort to violence.” On April 6th, Amritsar, a city of 150,000 

inhabitants, observed another hartal. "This second time also the Hartal 

passed off successfully,” the official Hunter Re{x)rt affirms, "and Euro- 

peans could and did walk unmolested amongst the crowds.” 

On April 9th, the Punjab government issued an order for the de¬ 

portation from the province of the two Congress party leaders. Dr. 

Saifuddin Kitchlew, a Moslem, and Dr. Satyapal, a I lindu. It was the 

day of the Hindu festival Ram Naumi in which, according to the 

Report, Moslems also joined, shouting "Mahatma Gandhi ki jal (Long 

live Mahatma Gandhi)’’ and "Hindu-Mussalman ki jai (Long Live 

Hindu-Moslem unity),” and "drinking out of the same cups publicly 

by way of demonstration.” The police expected that the demonstrators 

would try to liberate the two leaders, and precautions were taken, but 

"there was no attempt at rescue.” 

The banishing of the leaders removed from Amritsar the two men 

who might have restrained the populace. "Starting in anger at the action 

of the government in deporting the two local politicians,” reads the 

Hunter Report, a mob raged through the streets. At the National Bank, 

Mr. Stewart, the manager, and Mr. Scott, the assistant manager, were 

beaten to death, and at the Alliance Bank, Mr. G. M. Thomson, the 

manager, "who attempted to defend himself with a revolver, was cruelly 

murdered.” Other English people were assaulted. 

Two days later, Brigadier General Reginald Edward Harry Dyer 

arrived at Amritsar. Dyer, born in Simla, India, in 1864, was educated 

at Middleton College, County Cork, Ireland, and entered the British 

army in 1885. He fought on the northwest frontier, in the Burma war, 

and in the First World War. April, 1919, found him commanding a 

brigade at Jullimder, in the Punjab. Ordered to Amritsar on the nth, 

he issued a proclamation on the 12th prohibiting processions and meet¬ 

ings. 'The issue of the proclamation which was formally signed by the 

Brigade-Major on General Dyer s behalf,” say the Hunter Report, "was 

left to the pdlice; it does not appear what steps were taken to ensure its 

publication.” 
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During the morning of the next day, April 13th, Dyer went throu^ 

the city reading the proclamation to the people. “From an examination 

of the map, showing the different places where the proclamation was 

read,” the Hunter Report asserts, "it is evident that in many parts of 

the city the proclamation was not read.” 

The Hunter Report then tells the story of the massacre of April 13th. 

“About one o’clock,” it reads, “General Dyer heard that the people 

intended to hold a big meeting about four thirty p. m. On being asked 

why he did not take measures to prevent its being held, he replied: ‘I 

went there as soon as I could. I had to think the matter out.’ ” 

The meeting took place at Jallianwalla Bagh. Bagh means garden. 

“Jallianwalla Bagh,” the Report says, “is not in any sense a garden as 

its name would suggest. It is a rectangular piece of unused ground, 

covered to some extent by building material and debris. It is almost 

entirely surrounded by walls of buildings. The entrances and exits to 

it are few and imperfect. It seems to be frequently used to accomitHxlate 

large gatherings of people. At the end at which General Dyer entered 

there is a raised ground on each side of the entrance. A large crowd 

had gathered at the opjxjsite end of the Bagh and were being addressed 

by a man on a raised platform about 150 yards from where General 

Dyer stationed his troops.” The Report estimates that there were be¬ 

tween ten and twenty thousand persons in the Bagh. 

Dyer went to the garden with twenty-five Gurkhas (soldiers from 

Nepal) and twenty-five Baluchis from Baluchistan armed with rifles, 

forty Gurkhas armed only with knives, and two armored cars. “On ar¬ 

riving at Jallianwalla Bagh,” the Report declares, "he [Dyer] entered 

with this force by a narrow entrance which was not sufficiently wide to 

allow the cars to pass. They were accordingly left in the street outside. 

“As soon as General Dyer entered the Bagh,” the Report continues, 

“he stationed twenty-five troops on one side of the higher ground at the 

entrance and twenty-five troops on the other side. Without giving the 

crowd any warning to disperse, which he considered unnecessary as they 

were in breach of his proclamation, he ordered his troops to fire and the 

firing continued for about ten minutes. There is no evidence as to die 

nature of the address to which the audience was listening. Ntme of 

them were provided with firearms, althou^ some of them may have 

been carrying sticks. 
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**As soon as the firing commenced the crowd began to disperse. In all 
1,650 rounds were fired by the troops. The firing was individual and 

not volley firing. ... As a result of this investigation it was discovered 

that approximately 379 people were killed.'' The Report estimates that 

there were three times as many wounded as dead. This adds up to 379 

dead plus 1,137 wounded or 1,516 casualties with 1,650 bullets. The 

crowd, penned in the low-lying garden, was a perfect target. 

Under cross-examination before the Hunter Commission, Dyer re¬ 

vealed his mind and purpose: 

“Question: From time to time you changed your firing and directed 

it to the place where the crowd were thickest? 
“Answer: That is so." 

The crowd had rushed to the lowest wall, which was five feet high, 

and that is where the bullets felled many of them. 
“Question: Supposing the passage was sufficient to allow the armored 

cars to go in, would you have opened fire with the machine guns? 

“Answer: I think, probably, yes." 

'When examined before us," the Hunter Report asserts, “he [Dyer] 

explahied that his mind was made up as he came along in his motor 

car; if his orders against holding a meeting were disobeyed he was 

going to fire at once." 

“I had made up my mind," Dyer testified, “I would do all men to 

death. . . ." 

General Dyer's own dispatch to his military superior, which is quoted 

in the Hunter Report with his italics, said, “I fired and continued to 
fire until the crowd dispersed, and I consider this the least amount of 

firing which could produce the necessary effect it was my duty to pro¬ 

duce if I was to justify my action. It was no longer a question of merely 
dispersing the crowd, but one of producing a sufficient moral effect 

from a military point of view not only on those who were present, but 

more especially throughout the Punjab. There could be no question of 

undue severity." 

The Hunter Commission decided that “This was unfortunately a 

mistaken conception of his duty." It also found that “in continuing to 

fire for so long as he did it appears to us that General Dyer committed 

a grave error." 

Moreover, the Report notes that “General Dyer s action in not mak¬ 

ing provision for the wounded at Jallianwalla Bagh has been made the 
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subject of criticism/' Dyer said at the hearings, '1 was ready to help them 

if they applied/' 

Sir Michael O'Dwyer, British Acting Governor of the Punjab, ap¬ 

proved of Dyer's action and referred to the disturbances as 'Vetellion/^ 

The Hunter Commission commented: "The action taken by General 

Dyer has also been described by others as having saved the situation 

in the Punjab and having averted a rebellion on a scale similar to the 

Mutiny. It does not, however, appear to us possible to draw this conclu¬ 

sion, particularly in view of the fact that a conspiracy to overthrow 

British power had not been formed prior to the outbreaks." 

Not only was no insurrection intended or planned, but, according to 

the Hunter Report, “It appears that the outburst on the loth April 

subsided in a few hours, there was no repetition of any serious incident 

afterwards either on that date or on subsequent dates. And even with 

regard to the events on the loth ... if the officer in charge . . . had 

done his duty, the worst crimes, viz., the murders of the bank officers 

. . . would in all probability have been prevented." 

Amritsar had been calm for two and a half days when Dyer's butchery 

occurred. His unnecessary massacre was the child of the British military 

mentality then dominant in India. To characterize this mentality, the 

Hunter Report quotes an utterance of General Drake-Brockman of 

Delhi, who said, “Force is the only thing that an Asiatic has any respect 

for." 

“I thought I would be doing a jolly lot of good," was Dyer's airy 

summary of the massacre at Jallianwalla Bagh. 

To add humiliation to hurt. General Dyer published his infamous 

“crawling order." On April loth. Miss Sherwood, the headmistress of 

a girls' school in Amritsar, had been barbarously attacked by the mob. 

Several days after the Jallianwalla Bagh blood bath, Dyer issued in¬ 

structions that anybody passing the street where Miss Sherwood was 

assaulted would have to go on all fours. This applied even to members 

of families whose only approach to their homes was through that street 

Gandhi felt worse about this “outrage," as he called it, than about the 

massacre. 

At the spot, moreover, on which Miss Sherwood was beaten, Dyer 

erected a whipping post for the public flogging of those who ignored 

his order that Indians on animals and vehicles must alight, Indians 

carrying umbrellas or parasols must lower them, and all Indians must 
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salute or "salaam” with the hand as they passed British ofiBcers in some 
districts of Amritsar. 

The British Secretary of State for India, Edwin S. Montagu, in an 

official dispatch to the Viceroy, Lord Chelmsford, dated May 26, 1920, 

wrote, “His Majesty’s Government repudiate emphatically the doctrine 

upon which Brigaffier-General Dyer based his action” at Jallianwalla 

Bagh. The crawling order, Montagu added, “offended against every 

canon of civilized government." Innumerable Englishmen were ashamed 

of Dyer’s deed, yet he found many defenders. 

Dyer was asked to resign from the army. Toward the end of his life, 

he invented a range finder for sighting aircraft. He died in retirement 

at Bristol, England, on July 23, 1927. 

Under the Hunter* Commission’s cross-examination. General Dyer 

had said, "Yes, I think it quite possible that I could have dispersed them 

perhaps without firing” but “I was going to punish them. My idea from 

the military point of view was to make a wide impression.” 

“We have no doubt,” the official British Hunter Report continued, 

"that he succeeded in creating a very wide impression and a great moral 

effect, but of a character quite opposite from the one he intended.” 

Jallianwalla Bagh quickened India’s political life, and drew Gandhi 

into politics. 

CHAPTER TWENTY-FOUR 

Gandhi Enters Politics 

Mahatma Gandhi always resisted politics. He regarded his South African 
work as moral and social, therefore religious. After his return to India 
in 1915, he attended annual sessions of the Congress, but his public 
activity at such assemblies was usually limited to moving a resolution 
in support of the Indians in South Africa. Moreover, he regarded the 
Congress as the unofficial parliament of India in which all political 
trends and parties were, or could be, represented. 
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To join one party dedicated to a political goal meant a separation 

from other parties, and Gandhi disliked anything divisive* He had 

strong beliefs but no dogmas. 

Gandhi s ''readiness to take up the cudgels on behalf of any individual 

or class whom he regarded as being oppressed/' reads a discerning re¬ 

mark in a 1919 British government publication, "has endeared him to 

the masses of the country." He preferred the warm bond of human 

affection to the cold tong of a party program. 

Yet in 19Z0, Gandhi joined the All-India Home Rule League, and 

became its president. 

Politics can probably be defined as competition for power. It implies 

an effort to weaken, destroy, or assume the power of those in power. 

Gandhi did not wish to weaken, destroy, or supplant Smuts in South 

Africa. But by becoming leader of the All-India Home Rule League, 

Gandhi did accept the goal of Indian self-government instead of gov¬ 

ernment by England. The Congress did not yet advocate independence. 

Gandhi s early stej^s in |X)litics were uncertain. Indeed, he remained 

politically unpredictable throughout life because his mind was a battle¬ 

field on which caution contended with passion. Ready to die fighting 

for a principle, he preferred to arbitrate and compromise. He was a 

natural fighter and a born peacemaker. 

Gandhi s criteria were not the usual criteria of politics. His leadership 

did not depend on victories. He did not have to save "face." In the 

autobiography, Gandhi tells of incidents that could not have been 

known but for him, how he visited a brothel, ate meat in stealth, mis¬ 

treated his wife, etc. Truth had to be the whole truth or it wasn’t true. 

Indians, whom suffering had made suspicious, could not suspect Gandhi 

because he told them everything; he hated secrets; he was his harshest 

critic. He could admit blunders, "Himalayan" and less, because he did 

not claim infallibility or superiority. 

Gandhi s critics complained that he would withdraw from a political 

battle before all his forces had been brought to bear on the enemy and, 

sometimes, when success appeared imminent. But what success? His 

standards of success were moral and religious. They gave his politics the 

only consistency and continuity they had. 

The road by which Gandhi arrived at the center of the Indian 

political world was tortuous. It started at Jallianwalla Bagh; no matter 
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where he went the echo of General Dyer s fusillade pursued him. Fol¬ 

lowing the massacre, Gandhi asked permission to visit the Punjab. He 

was rebuffed. He pressed his case. Finally, the Viceroy telegraphed him 

that he could go after October 17, 1919. The Mahatmas reception at 

Lahore and other cities was unprecedented in size and warmth. "The 

seething mass of humanity,” he wrote, ‘was delirious with joy.” He had 

become a symbol of national resistance to the foreign evil. 

In the Punjab, Gandhi assisted Indian leaders, among them Motilal 

Nehru, a veteran Congressman and father of Jawaharlal, in the conduct 

of an independent inquiry into the Jallianwalla Bagh massacre. He 

drafted the report; his colleagues felt he would be without bias. 

While thus engaged, Gandhi received an invitation to attend a 

Moslem conference in Delhi. He arrived there November 24, 1919. 

The Armistice which ended the First World War had been signed on 

November i ith. It sealed the defeat of Turkey, a Moslem country, and 

of the Turkish Sultan, who, in addition to being a temporal ruler, was 

the Caliph or religious head of all Islam. 

4)bfl-Islamism has never been a mass movement in India or elsewhere. 

The fate of the Caliph nevertheless agitated the Moslems in India. 

The Moslem leaders, notably Mohamed and Shaukat Ali, the brothers 

who were interned by the British during the war, Jinnah, Asaf Ali, and 

Maulana Abul Kalam Azad had hoped that Indian interest in the Caliph 

would at least induce England to moderate the peace terms imposed 

on Turkey. But when it b^ame obvious that the Turks would be shorn 

of their imperial possessions, and that the Sultan himself would be de¬ 

posed, concern for the Caliph, mounted on distaste for the British, 

produced a powerful Caliphate or, as it is always known in India, 

Khilafat movement. 

The Moslem conference in Delhi, in November, 1919, which Gandhi 

attended, was a Khilafat meeting. Many Hindus were present. This 

period was the honeymoon of Hindu-Moslem political friendship. The 

letter of invitation, which reached Gandhi in Lahore, said cow protec¬ 

tion as well as the Caliph would be discussed. Gandhi demurred. He 

told the conference that if, in deference to Hindu regard for the cow 

as a sacred animal, Mohammedans wanted to desist from slaughtering 

it, they should do so inespective of the Hindu attitude toward the 

Khilafat question. Similarly, if Hindus believed they ought to support 
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Moslems on behalf of the Caliph they should, but not in the expectation 

of a bargain on cow protection. The cow, therefore, was removed from 

the agenda. 

The conference debated what to do; resolutions condemning British 

harshness toward Turkey were not enough. A boycott of British textiles 

was suggested. But how could buyers distinguish British from other 

foreign textiles, and might not British goods be sold as Japanese or 

Italian or Belgian? Perhaps all imported cloth should be boycotted. 

Could India produce suflicient textiles to supply the domestic market? 

Gandhi sat on the platform searching his mind for a plan of action. 

He was looking for a program and then for a word that would be alike 

a slogan and a perfect summary of that program. Finally he found it, 

and when he was called on to speak he said, ‘‘Non-co-operation.” Indians 

could not simultaneously oppose the government and work with it. To 

boycott British exports was inadequate; they must boycott British schools, 

British courts, British jobs, British honors; they must non-co-operate. 

“Non<o-operation” became the name of an epoch in the life of India 

and of Gandhi. Non-co-o[xjration was negative enough to be peaceful 

but positive enough to be effective. It entailed denial, renunciation, 

and self-discipline. It was training for self-rule. 

Gandhi s advice to the Moslem conference was contingent on the 

final peace terms dictated to Turkey. If they were as onerous as ex¬ 

pected, and destroyed the status of the Caliph, then India would non- 

co-operate. Thus Gandhi left a loophole for a modification of British 

policy vis-i-vis the Turks. 
The annual session of Congress took place in the last week of that 

year, 1919—at Amritsar. The fact that the government allowed it to 

meet near Jallianwalla Bagh, and that the Ali brothers were released 

on the eve of the session so that they could come straight to it from 

jail, fed Gandhi s congenital optimism. 

By design or coincidence, the King-Emperor announced the much- 

heralded Montagu-Chelmsford reforms (“A new era is opening,” the 

King declared) the day before Congress convened. The announcement, 

Gandhi asserted, “was not wholly satisfactory even to me, and was un¬ 

satisfactory to everyone else”; nevertheless, he favored acceptance. In 

November, in Delhi, he urged non-co-operation. In December, in 

Amritsar, he favored co-operation. 
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The Montagu-Chelmsford reforms, approved by the British House 

of Commons as “The Government of India Act of 1919,” became the 

new Constitution of India on February 9, 1921. The British called the 

new system “Dyarchy”; mon archy, the rule of one—Great Britain— 

became dy-archy, the rule of two—Great Britain and India. Indians, 

however, had no power in the federal government and none was con¬ 

templated. In the provinces, Indian ministers would administer agri¬ 

culture, industries, education, health, excise, roads, buildings, etc., but 

the British governor retained complete control of finance and police, 

and he could override any decision of the Indian ministers and of the 

Indian legislature. Indian participation in the Civil Ser\'ice was in¬ 

creased, and promises of further increases were made. But Indians de 

cided that, on the whole, dyarchy was still the British monarchy. 

Nevertheless, Gandhi took kindly to the Kings proclamation of the 

impending constitutional changes and wanted the 1919 Amritsar Con¬ 

gress to accept them. He trusted Britain’s good intentions. “To trust is a 

virtue,'' he said. “It is weakness that begets distrust.” But when he heard 

that C. R. Das, the famous Bengal nationalist, Jinnah, and Tilak were 

opposed, he shrank from opposing such well-tried and universally 

revered leaders. “I tried to run away from the Congress,” Gandhi reveals 

in his autobiography. 

Gandhi was prevailed upon to stay, for he had becomi! the rock on 

which Congress rested. The session was attended by 7,031 delegates, 

an unprecedented number, and many hailed from farms and city shops. 

Gandhi was their idol. They felt closer to him than to the renowned 

lawyers. Only Tilak could still question Gandhi s sway. 

Tilak advocated acceptance of the Montagu-Chelmsford reforms with 

a view to proving their inadequacy. 

This was not the Gandhian way. If you accepted something, you had 

to do so without mental reservations and give it a fair trial. If you did 

not want it, you had to fight it. 

The delegates supported Gandhi. But he disliked defeating Tilak. In 

a dramatic moment, Gandhi turned to Tilak who was sitting on the 

platfonn. Gandhi was wearing a small cap of white homespun that 

resembled an aviator's cap; it later became known as the “Gandhi Cap” 

of Indian nationalists. Gandhi dropped his cap on the ground as a ges- 
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ture of obeisance and pleaded with Tilak to approve a compromise. 

Tilak succumbed. 

The compromise thanked Montagu for his part in the reforms and 

undertook to co-operate with the new dyarchy scheme in such a matmer 

as to expand it into full parliamentary government, but Lord Chelms¬ 

ford, who had exonerated General Dyer, was condemned for misman¬ 

aging Indian affairs, and his recall was demanded. Another resolution 

denounced British and Indian violence in the Punjab. A third asked the 

repeal of the Rowlatt acts. 

However, the youth and the new elements activized by Gandhi had 

expected much faster postwar progress toward self-government; deU- 

catcly balanced Congress resolutions disappointed them. High postwar 

prices were pressing additional millions down to starvation level. The 

Moslems now knew that there would be no amelioration of Turkey’s 

fate; Montagu had sincerely tried, hence the Amritsar Congress tribute 

to him, but the British Cabinet said no. In England, moreover. Dyer 

had found many friends; some collected a large purse for him. Gandhi 

did not want Dyer punished but he resented the fact that Dyer kept 

his pension. The Hunter Report fully demonstrated Dyer’s guilt yet 

recommended no measures against the D)’erism of British rulers in India. 

Three months after Gandhi had approved the Montagu-Chelmsford 

dyarchy reforms at the Amritsar Congress session, these developments 

turned him against them. 

The Amritsar session was merely a temporary triumph of Gandhian 

caution. The unmistakable trend of the country was toward non-co- 

operation. Events moved fast. In April, 1920, Gandhi was elected presi¬ 

dent of the Home Rule League. On June 30th, guided by Gandhi, the 

Khilafat movement sanctioned the policy of non-co-operation. Gandhi 

thereupon wrote the Viceroy, “I have advised my Moslem friends to 

withdraw their support from Your Excellency’s Government, and ad¬ 

vised the Hindus tc join them.” The Viceroy repUed that non-co-opera 

tion was "the most foolish of all foolish schemes.” All Chelmsford’s 

might, however, did not suffice to check it. Gandhi announced that 

non<o-operation would commence on August 1, 1920, to be preceded 

by fasting and prayer on July 31st. That day Tilak died. 

With 'Tilak gone, Gandhi was the undisputed leader of Congress. 

A special session of Cong^iess, which met at Calcutta between Septem- 
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ber 4 and 9, 1920, approved the non-co-operation movement. The an¬ 

nual convention at Nagpur, central India, in December, unanimously 

confirmed this approval; Gandhi then offered a resolution making the 

goal of Congress Swaraj, or self-rule, within the British Empire if 

possible or outside it if necessary. Mr. Jinnah, and others, preferred 

home-rule within the Empire. They lost. Jinnah lost interest in Con¬ 

gress. Gandhi politics were Congress politics. 

The Nagpur session adopted a new Congress constitution drafted by 

Gandhi. Congress had been a golden dome without underpinnings. 

Gandhi converted it into a democratic mass organization with village 

units, city district units, provincial sections, an iMl-India Congress Com¬ 

mittee (A.I.C.C.) of 350 members which made policy, and a Working, 

or Executive, Committee of fifteen. 

Twenty thousand people attended the Nagpur session; it passed 

resolutions for the removal of untouchability, the revival of hand¬ 

spinning and hand-weaving, and the collection of a crore, or ten million, 

rupees as a Tilak Memorial Fund. 

European clothes were less in evidence at Calcutta and Nagpur than 

at any previous Congress meeting. Less English was spoken, and more 

Hindustani. Middle-class delegates predominated. India's poor were 

there too. The men with great reputations and great fortunes no longer 

monopolized the limelight. Some drifted away from Congress, but 

Gandhi’s magnetism held many of them; they realized that he had a 

power over the people to which they never even aspired. 

Gandhi was middle caste and middle class. He entered politics just as 

large numbers of awakened middle-class Indians began to yearn for 

national freedom. He and they entered politics together. 

Everything in Gandhi s personality and record helped the people 

identify themselves with him and venerate him. Even skeptics were 

captivated by his courage, indestructible vitality, good humor, near¬ 

toothless smile, selflessness, self-confidence, and unlimited faith in 

people. 

In a nation that was powerless, Gandhi became a symbol of strength. 

In a nation of slaves, he behaved like a free man. Finally, he was a man 

of God. 

His idea of non-co-operation had an instantaneous, mighty appeal 

because it was so simple: You must not reinforce the walls of the prison 
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that encloses you, you must not forge the fetters that will bind you. He 

had promised at the Nagpur Congress session in December, 1920, that 

if India non-co-operated non-violently, self-government would come 

within twelve months. He carried this message to the country. He made 

non-co-operation so personal as to give each individual the impression 

that unless he non-co-operated he would delay Swaraj. Gandhi himself 

returned to the Viceroy his two South African war medals and his 

Kaiser-i-Hind gold medal for humanitarian work in South Africa. In 

the accompanying letter, Gandhi said, '1 can retain neither respect nor 

affection for a government which has been moving from wrong to wrong 

in order to defend its immorality.'' Many Indians renounced their British 

titles and their decorations. Motilal Nehru abandoned his lucrative law 

practice, discontinued the use of alcohol, and became a total non-co- 

operator. His son Jawaharlal, C. R. Das, the leader of the Calcutta bar, 

Vallabhbhai Patel, and thousands of others likewise quit the British 

courts forever. 

Thousands of students dropped their professional studies. The Tilak 

Memorial Fund benefited from the frenzy of self-sacrifice that seized 

rich and poor; it was soon oversubscribed. Money was available for the 

establishment of a chain of permanent Indian institutions of higher 

learning. 

Students, teachers, and professional men and women left the cities 

to go into the villages and teach literacy and non-co-operation. For the 

peasant, non-co-operation meant non-payment of taxes and no use of 

intoxicating liquors from which the government derived a large revenue. 

Gandhi toured the country incessantly, indefatigably, in torrid, humid 

weather, addressing mammoth mass meetings of a hundred thousand 

or more persons who, in those pre-microphone days, could only hope 

to be reached by his spirit. For seven months he traveled in hot, uncom¬ 

fortable trains which were besieged at all day and night stops by clamor* 

ing multitudes who demanded a view of the Mahatma. The inhabitants 

of one backwoods area sent word that if Gandhi's train did not halt 

their tiny station they would lie down on the tracks and be run over by 

it. The train did stop there at midnight, and when Gandhi, aroused 

from deep sleep, appeared, the crowd, theretofore boisterous, sank to 

their knees on the railway platform and wept. 

During those seven strenuous months the Mahatma took three meals 
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a day; each consisted of sixteen ounces of goat’s milk, three slices of toast 

or bread, two oranges, and a score of grapes or raisins. 

In the provinces of Assam, Bengal, and Madras, Gandhi and Mo- 

hamed Ah, the younger of the Ali brothers, traveled together and 

addressed meetings together. They told every meeting that if they 

wanted India to rule herself they had to give up foreign clothing. The 

audience would burst into applause. At that moment, Gandhi would 

ask the people to take olF the foreign clothing they were wearing and put 

it on a heap which he would presently set on fire. In some places, men 

stripped themselves naked. The apparel would be passed to a spot near 

the dais, and when all the hats, coats, shirts, trousers, underwear, socks, 

and shoes had been heaped high, Gandhi set a match to them. 

As the flames ate their way through the imported goods, Gandhi 

would tell his audiences that they must not substitute Indian mill 

products for foreign manufactures; they must learn to spin and weave. 

Gandhi took to spinning half an hour a day, usually before the midday 

meal, and required all his associates to do likewise. Before long, few 

Indians dared to come into his presence wearing anything but home¬ 

spun. 

Daily spinning, Gandhi said, was a “sacrament” and would turn the 

spinner’s mind “Godward.” Gandhi had a rosary but he never used it 

except perhaps at night when he watched the stars in moments of 

sleeplessness. He found rhythm, instead, in the regular hum of the 

charka and in the steady chanting of “Rama, Rama, Rama, Rama, 

Rama” (God). 

Gandhi’s long propaganda circuit for non-co-operation had all the 

attributes of religious revivalism. Yet wherever he went he talked quietly 

to small groups about the launching of branch Congress organizations. 

He designed a Congress flag with a charka or spinning wheel in the 

center. He recruited for the Volunteers whose teen-age members, dressed 

in civilian uniform, kept order at meetings. And he regularly wrote 

several articles for each issue of Young India, an English-language 

weekly, and Navajivan, a Gujarati weekly. Founded in 1919, they were 

Gandhi’s personal organs; neither took advertisements; both were pub¬ 

lished in Ahmedabad. 

The year was nearing its close. Gandhi had promised the nation 

Swaraj in 1921. But self-rule was nowhere in sight. 
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One afternoon in September, Gandhi and Mohamed Ali were walk¬ 

ing to a meeting. Two British officers and some soldiers stepped up and 

arrested Mohamed Ali. Shortly thereafter, Mohamed’s older brother 

Shaukat was arrested. Both were sentenced to two years’ imprisonment 

for trying to dissuade Moslems from serving in the British army. Before 

his arrest, Mohamed Ali had made plans to proceed to the Malabar coast 

in west India where the Moplahs, a Moslem community, had rebelled 

against the government; the affair had provoked Hindu-Moslem riots. 

Mohamed AH’s arrest and the outburst of intercommunity violence in 

Malabar upset Gandhi deeply. In his concept, the achievement of 

Swaraj depended primarily on Hindu-Moslem friendship. 

His Mohammedan partner gone, Gandhi strained all the more for 

results. Spinning became an obsession. He urged it with mounting per¬ 

sistence. In September, X921, he emphasized his devotion to homespun 

cotton and to simplicity by discarding, for all time, the cap he had 

worn, the sleeveless jacket or vest, and the flowing dhoti or loose 

trousers, and adopted the loincloth as his sole garment. In addition, he 

carried a homespun bag for writing equipment, the rosary, and a few 

necessities, possibly some nuts or dried fruit. This was his “mendicant’s 

garb.’’ 

Thus attired, to the dismay and amusement of some of his associates, 

he arrived in Bombay for decisive consultations with the political lead¬ 

ers of the country. On October 5th, the Congress Working Committee 

resolved that “it is the duty of every Indian soldier and civiHan to sever 

his connections with the Government and find some other means of 

livelihood.” This was a summons to desertion from the army. Congress 

thus reiterated the seditious statement for which the AH brothers had 

been incarcerated. Congress leaders were instructed to return to their 

districts and practice individual civil disobedience against the govern¬ 

ment. 

Into this tense situation Britain thrust the Prince of Wales, subse¬ 

quently King Edward VIII and the Duke of Windsor. India was in 

no mood for glamour or demonstrations of loyalty. Congress boycotted 

his tour. He moved through deserted city streets and amidst signs of 

hostility. In Bombay, those who came out to welcome the Prince were 

attacked, and bloody riots ensued. Gandhi undertook a fast till the dis¬ 

turbances ended. He fasted five days. 
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The government now began a roundup of political leaders and fol¬ 

lowers. C. R. Das, Motilal Nehru, Lajpat Rai, and hundreds of other 

top Congressmen were arrested. When the Congress convened in an¬ 

nual session at Ahmedabad, in December, 1921, twenty thousand 

Indians had been jailed for civil disobedience and sedition. The session 

elected Gandhi "the sole executive authority of the Congress.** 

During December, 1921, and January, 1922, ten thousand more 

Indians were thrown into prisons for political olfenses. In several 

provinces, the peasants spontaneously began no-tax movements. Indians 

in government employ left their jobs. 

The government responded with more terror. Citing instances of 

official lawlessness, Gandhi called it "worse than martial law** and 

characterized the repression as "savage, because it is wooden, wild, un¬ 

cultivated, cruel.'* Floggings in and out of jail had become a daily 

occurrence. 

The year 1921 had passed, but no Swaraj. Gandhi was living at his 

ashram in Sabarmati, no doubt wondering what to do. He rarely laid 

long-range plans; he submitted to sudden inspirations. There was dis¬ 

sension in Congress ranks; many ridiculed the Mahatma*s emphasis on 

temperance, homespun, and verbal defiance of the state. They demanded 

action. 

Some nationalists yearned for rebellion. But Gandhi l>dieved in peace 

even at the price of defeat, though not at the price of cowardice. "Where 

there is only a choice between cowardice and violence,** he had written 

in Young India of August ii, 1920, "I would advise violence.** But 

there was no cowardice. Non-violence required more bravery than 

violence, and "forgiveness is more manly than punishment.*' Indians 

"have better work to do, a better mission to deliver to the world" than 

the punishment of the Dyers. "Non-violence," he said, "is the law of 

our species as violence is the law of the brute. 

"If India takes up the doctrine of the sword,** he declared, "she may 

gain momentary victory, but then India will cease to be the pride of 

my heart . . . My religion has no geographical limits. If I have a liv¬ 

ing faith in it, it will transcend my love for India herself.** He was not 

an uncritical my-country-right-or-wrong-my-country nationalist. 

Lord Reading, the new Viceroy, had arrived in India on April 2, 1921. 

He had absolute power over the police and the army. Congress had made 
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Gandhi its dictator* One word from the Mahatma would have started a 

conflagration compared to which the 1857 Mutiny would have seemed 

like a holiday bonfire. 

Reading was a Jewish fruit broker s son who rose from ship s messeni 

ger boy, fruit merchant, and jobber to Lord Chief Justice of England^ 

Ambassador to Washington, and now Viceroy. Shortly after his installa^ 

tion at New Delhi, he indicated a desire to talk with Gandhi. ''Rather 

exciting days lately,” Reading wrote to his son. ". . . Intermediaries 

have stepped in and seen me with a view to bringing about a meeting 

with Gandhi. 

"He certainly is a wonderful person,” Reading said of the rebel he 

had never met. 

Gandhi accepted the Viceroys invitation. Many Indians objected: 

Had he become a co-operator, they asked. "We may attack measures and 

systems,” Gandhi replied. "We may not, we must not attack men. Im¬ 

perfect ourselves, we must be tender toward others and be slow to 

impute motives. I therefore gladly seized the opportunity of waiting 

upon His Excellency. . . .” 

Reading s eager anticipation to see Gandhi was amply rewarded. In 

the latter part of May, he wrote to his son, he had six talks with the 

Mahatma, "the first of four hours and a half, the second of three hours, 

the third of an hour and a half, the fourth of an hour and a half, the 

fifth of an hour and a half, and the sixth of three-quarters of an hour; 

I have had many opportunities of judging him.” 

What did Reading think of Gandhi after thirteen hours of conversa¬ 

tion? "There is nothing striking about his appearance,” he informed his 

son. "He came ... in a white dhoti [loincloth] and cap woven on a 

spinning wheel, with bare feet and legs, and my first impression on 

seeing him ushered into the room was that there was nothing to arrest 

attention in his appearance, and that I should have passed him by in 

the street without a second look at him. When he talks, the impression 

is different. He is direct, and expresses himself well in excellent &ig- 

lish with a fine appreciation of the value of the words he uses. There 

is no hesitation about him and there is a ring of sincerity in all that 

he utters, save when discussing some political questions. His religious 

views are, I believe, genuinely held, and he is convinced to a point 

almost bordering on fanaticism that non-violence and love wiU give 
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India its independence and enable it to withstand the British gpvem- 

ment. His religious and moral views are admirable and indeed are on 

a remarkably high altitude, though I must confess that I find it difficult 

to understand his practice of them in politics. . . . Our conversations 

were of the frankest; he was supremely courteous, with manners of 

distinction. . . . He held in every way to his word in the various dis¬ 

cussions we had.” 

It is not surprising that Reading failed to understand Gandhi's poli¬ 

tics. The Mahatma explained to the Viceroy how’ he ex]3ected to defeat 

Great Britain. ‘"Ours,” he said he told Reading, “is a religious movement 

designed to purge Indian political life of corruption, deceit, terrorism, 

and the incubus of white supremacy.” The major task was to purify 

India; England's expulsion would come as a by-product. Therefore 

Indians would non-co-operate non-violently. Reading disapproved. 

Many Indians disapproved. To Indians, however, the Mahatma was 

indispensable, and because he was adamant “to a point almost bordering 

on fanaticism,” even the Indian champions of violence acquiesced in 

his non-violence. But why not, they demanded, launch non-violent civil 

disobedience campaigns simultaneously throughout India? A resolution 

in support of this measure was actually adopted by the All-India Con¬ 

gress Committee meeting in Delhi on November 4, 1921, but Gandhi 

exacted a promise from all leaders not to move without his consent. 

Gandhi preferred to try mass civil disobedience in one area, and he 

chose the county of Bardoli, population 87,000, near Bombay, where 

he could personally supervise the experiment. On February i, 1922, 

Gandhi informed Reading of this plan. 

Why did the Mahatma seek to paralyze the British administration 

in only one limited territory of 137 tiny villages, thus making himself 

an easy target for repression, when he might have done the same thing 

in all provinces and added to the discomfiture of the government or 

perhaps even brought it to terms? 

Gandhi did not believe that civil disobedience, properly conducted, 
could be defeated. What did it matter whether the government was 
coping with a hundred thousand civil resisters or a hundred million? 
Could it kill the hundred thousand, or jail them? 

Gandhi, moreover, was not contemplating a fight to the finish with 
the British Empire. He knew that such a struggle would be violent and 
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prolonged, and on both sides it might lift into commanding posts men 

with the least scruples and the greatest capacity for hatred, cruelty, dis¬ 

honesty, and dictatorship. No matter who won the contest, both coun¬ 

tries and the world would have lost. 

At the Ahmedabad Congress session in December, 1921, Gandhi had 

appealed to the British government "in all humility"': "No matter what 

you do,” he said, "no matter how you repress us, we shall one day wring 

reluctant repentance from you; and we ask you to think betimes, and 

take care what you are doing, and see that you do not make the three 

hundred millions of India your eternal enemies.” 

It was because of this spirit that Gandhi chose to work in the Bardoli 

test tube. A united, unrestrained, self-disciplined Bardoli, peaceful but 

not co-operating with the British administration, would impress on the 

people of Great Britain the unpardonable horror of government by 

massacre, and might induce them to grant India a fuller measure of 

independence than they now thought Indians deserved or could wisely 

use. Gandhi always endeavored to win, convert, and convince the ad¬ 

versary, not wrestle with him in a pool of blood. Bardoli was ready for 

civil disobedience. 

But on February 5th something happened in the United Provinces, 

in Chauri Chaura, eight hundred miles from Bardoli. In that small 

town, an Indian mob committed murder. There had been a legal pro¬ 

cession, Gandhi reported in Yotmg India of February 16, 1921. "But 

when the procession had passed, the stragglers were interfered with and 

abused by the constables. The former cried out for help. The mob 

returned. The constables opened fire. The little ammunition they had 

was exhausted and they retired to the Thana [city hall] for safety. The 

mob, my informant tells me, therefore set fire to the Thana. The self- 

imprisoned constables had to come out for dear life and as they did so 

they were hacked to pieces and the mangled remains were thrown into 

the raging flames.” 

The news of this atrocity reached Gandhi in Bardoli on February 8th, 

and it made him sick and sad. Violence upset him physically and psy¬ 

chologically. "No provocation,” he exclaimed, "can possibly justify brutal 

murder of men who had been rendered defenseless and who had virtu¬ 

ally thrown themselves on the mercy of the mob.” 

It was a '1)ad augury.” 
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“Suppose,” he asked, “the non-violent disobedience of Bardoli was 

permitted by God to succeed and the government had abdicated in favor 

of the victors of Bardoli, who would control the unruly elements that 

must be expected to perpetrate inhumanity upon due provocation?” He 

was not sure he could. 

He accordingly suspended the campaign in Bardoli and canceled any 

defiance of the government anywhere in India. “Let the opponent glory 

in our humiliation or so-called defeat,” he exclaimed. “It is better to be 

charged with cowardice and weakness than to be guilty of denial of our 

oath and to sin against God. It is a million times better to appear untrue 

before the world than to he untrue to ourselves.” 

Some members of the Congress Working Committee disagreed with 

Gandhi s move. He saw the justice of their viewpoint. “The drastic 

reversal of practically the whole of the aggressive programme may be 

politically unsound and unwise,” he affirmed, “but there is no doubt 

that it is religiously sound.” And when Gandhi took a religious stand 

nobody could shake him. Chauri Chaura, he said, “shows the way India 

may easily go, if drastic precautions be not taken.” Congress would 

have to educate itself and educate the people. As for himself, “I must 

undergo personal cleansing. I must become a fitter instrument able to 

register the slightest variation in the moral atmosphere about me.” He 

fasted for five days. 

Meanwhile a sharp struggle was taking place behind the British 

scenes. It is described by Lord Reading’s son and biographer who had 

at his disposal his father s private letters and unpublished state papers. 

Official demands had been made for Gandhi s arrest. “The Viceroy,” 

the biography reads, “was indeed far from dismissing as unfounded the 

opinion held by many competent observers, notably Sir George [later 

Lord] Lloyd [^vernor of Bombay], that Mr. Gandhi’s preaching of 

non-violence was no more than a cloak for plans aimed at an ultimate 

revolution by violence. Sir George would have had Mr. Gandhi arrested 

at once, but Lord Reading, as always, opposed arrest for mere speech- 

making, dangerous as the speeches might be, and awaited some definite 

act. 1 am quite prepared to face the consequences of Gandhi’s anest if 

he takes action,’ ” Reading declared. 

After an interval, the British Secretary of State, Edwin “Montagu,” 

the biography continues, “instructed Lord Reading to anest the prin- 
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cipal leaders of the non-cooperation movement^ including Mr. Gandhi." 

Reading, however, resisted this order. "Lord Reading," his son, the 

Marquess of Reading writes, "still preferred to wait for some definite 

move by Mr. Gandhi. ... It looked as though the occasion for the 

arrest would come soon enough, for Mr. Gandhi had announced that 

he was about to start active civil disobedience in the Bardoli tehsil 

[county] of the Surat district in Bombay Presidency, and on January 24 

the Government of India telegraphed to Sir George Lloyd specifically 

enjoining him to wait until Mr. Gandhi openly embarked on the Bardoli 

campaign. . . ." 

The biography then relates the events in Chauri Chaura and records 

Gandhi s cancellation of the Bardoli campaign on February 8th, before 

it had actually started. However, he continues, "opinion in England was 

restive over Mr. Gandhi s continued freedom, and Mr. Montagu tele¬ 

graphed early in February saying that he was 'puzzled' at the delay in 

making the arrest. A debate was due to take place in Parliament on 

the 14th, and both Lord Reading and Mr. Montagu were naturally 

anxious that, as the arrest had to be made, it should be made in time 

for Parliament to be informed of it as a fmt accmnpli. But at this point 

the Indian members of the Viceroys Council made the strongest pos¬ 

sible representations in favor of delay, and Lord Reading, after careful 

thought, decided that the risks of a little delay were on the whole less 

than those of immediate action which would be open to easy misrepre¬ 

sentation both in India and abroad." 

Reading "postponed the arrest," the biography says, "but asked the 

three Presidency Governors, Sir George Lloyd, Lord Willingdon of 

Madras and Lord Ronaldshay of Bengal to come to Delhi and talk the 

matter over with him. . . ." Ronaldshay could not leave Calcutta, but 

"Lord Willingdon was only less disturbed than Sir George by the ap¬ 

parent intention of the Government of India not to proceed at all 

against Mr. Gandhi. . . ." 

On March ist, following these talks with the two most important 

British conservative career imperial administrators in India, Reading 

ordered the arrest of Gandhi, and it took place on Friday, March 10, 

1922, at 10:30 in the evening. A police officer stopped his car on the 

road, eighty yards from Gandhi s hut in Sabarmati Ashram, and sent 

polite word by one of his men that the Mahatma should consider him- 
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self under arrest and come as soon as he was ready. Standing surroimded 

by a dozen or more ashramites, Gandhi offered up a prayer and joined 

in the singing of a hymn. Then, in a gay mood, he walked to the car 

and was taken to SaWrmati prison. The next morning, Kasturbai sent 

clothes, goat’s milk, and grapes to her husband. 

Lord Reading had democratically insisted that he would arrest Gandhi 

only after some overt act. Gandhi had taken none. Tlie Parliamentary 

debate had come and gone; it did not make the arrest necessary. Reading 

knew very well what Gandhi had been saying in speeches and articles; 

they did not convince him of the wisdom of anesting the Mahatma. 

How then did Sir George Lloyd and Lord Willingdon persuade Read¬ 

ing to act? 

“I have had no trouble so far arising from Gandhi’s arrest,” the 

Viceroy wrote in April in a private letter to his son, the biographer. 

Reading was obviously relieved that Gandhi’s arrest had caused no 

public commotion. The provincial governors could have predicted this. 

Hard-boiled considerations of “law and order” prevailed over the 

Viceroy’s scruples. Gandhi had disarmed himself by suspending the 

Bardoli civil disobedience; therefore he could be arrested with impunity. 

Reading’s April letter to his son confirms this. Gandhi, he wrote, “had 

pretty well run himself into the last ditch as a politician by his extraor¬ 

dinary manifestations in the last month or six weeks before his arrest, 

when he ran the gamut of open defiance of Government with a chal¬ 

lenge of all authority fixed for a certain day, and when the day arrived 

he went to the opposite extreme and counseled suspension of the most 

acute activities. 

“This of course caused dissension among his followers. . . .” 

So Gandhi was “in the last ditch as a politician. . . .” Gandhi was 

finished as a politician. The measure of misunderstanding is filled by 

a remark of the biographer-son: “The mere fact that Mr. Gandhi had 

been taken into custody and kept in jail like any other ordinary mortal 

who had run counter to the Law was in itself a real setback to his 

prestige. . . .” 

Gandhi had expected arrest and published an article in the March 9th 

issue of Young India entitled “If I Am Arrested.” “Rivers of blood shed 

by the government cannot frighten me," he wrote, “but I should be 

deeply pained even if the people did so much as abuse the government 
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for my sake or in my name. It would be disgracing me if the people lost 

their equilibrium on my arrest.'^ There were no disorders. 

At the preliminary hearings the day after his arrest, Gandhi gave his 

age as fifty-three and his profession "farmer and weaver/' and pleaded 

guilty. The charge was writing three seditious articles in Young India. 
Mr. S. G. Banker, the printer of the magazine, was arraigned at the 

same time. Gandhi was held over in jail for trial. 

The first of the seditious articles appeared in Young India on Sep¬ 

tember 19, 1921, entitled "Tampering with Loyalty." "I have no hesita¬ 

tion in saying," Gandhi wrote, "that it is sinful for anyone, either soldier 

or civilian, to serve this government . . . sedition has become the creed 

of Congress. . . . Non-co-operation, though a religious and strictly 

moral movement, deliberately aims at the overthrow of the government, 

and is therefore legally seditious. . . . We ask for no quarter; we 

expect none from the government." 

These words made the government case easy. If there was doubt, 

Gandhi made it even more explicit in the second article, "A Puzzle and 

Its Solution," in Young India of December 15, 1921. "Lord Reading," 

he wrote, "must understand that Non-co-operators are at war with the 

government. They have declared rebellion against it. . . . Lord Reading 

is entitled therefore to put them out of harm s way." 

The third seditious article, "Shaking the Manes," in Young India of 

February 23, 1922, cried out in the opening sentence, "How can there 

be any compromise whilst the British lion continues to shake his gory 

claws in our faces?" Then sarcastically he informed the British that 

"the rice-eating, puny millions of India seem to have resolved upon 

achieving their own destiny without any further tutelage and without 

arms." Adding that "No empire intoxicated with the red wine of power 

and plunder of weaker races has yet lived long in the world," Gandhi 

said. "The fight that was commenced in 1920 is a fight to the finish, 

whether it lasts one month or one year or many months or many 

years. . . ." 

Gandhi s only surprise was that he had not been arrested after the 

first or second of these articles. 

"The Great Trial," as it came to be known, was held in Government 

Circuit Hou^ at Ahmedabad on March 18, 1922, before Mr. Justice 

C. N. Broomfield, District and Sessions Judge. Sir J. T, Strangman, 
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Advocate-General of Bombay, prosecuted. Gandhi and Mr. Banker had 

no lawyers. Heavy military patrols guarded the building and nearby 

streets. The little courtroom was crowded. Admission passes were 

marked: “Sessions Case No. 45 of 1922. Imperator vs (i) Mr. M. K. 

Gandhi. (2) Mr. S. C. Banker."' 

After the indictment was read and the Advocate-General had stated 

the case against Gandhi, the Judge asked the Mahatma whether he 

wished to make a statement. Gandhi had a written statement ready. 

He introduced it with some oral, extemporaneous remarks. The Advo¬ 

cate-General, Gandhi said, “was entirely fair. ... It is very true and I 

have no desire whatsoever to conceal from this court the fact that to 

preach disaffection toward the existing system of government has be¬ 

come almost a passion with me." Indeed, he had preached sedition long 

before the prosecutor said he had. “I do not ask for mercy. I do not 

plead any extenuating act. I am here, therefore, to invite and cheerfully 

submit to the highest penalty that can be inflicted upon me for what 

in law is a deliberate crime and what appears to me to be the highest 

duty of a citizen. The only course open to you, the Judge, is, as I am 

going to say in my statement, either to resign your post, or inflict on 

'me the severest penalty if you believe that the system and the law you 

administer are good for the people. I do not expect that kind of con¬ 

version, but by the time I have finished with my statement you will 

perhaps have a glimpse of what is raging within my breast 10 run this 

maddest risk that a man can run." 

Gandhi then read his prepared statement to “explain why, from a 

staunch loyalist and co-operator, I have become an uncompromising 

disaffectionist and non-co-operator." In South Africa, he began, his con¬ 

tacts with the British were not happy; “I discovered that I had no rights 

as a man because I was an Indian." But he thought this “was an 

excrescence upon a system that was intrinsically and mainly good." So, 

he criticized the government but supported it, and joined in two wars 

which it fought. In India, too, he recruited for the British army. “In all 

these efforts at service," he explained, “I was actuated by the belief that 

It was possible by such services to gain a status of full equality in the 

Empire for my countrymen." 

In 1919, the shocks commenced: The Rowlatt acts, Jallianwalla Bagh, 

ibe crawhng order, the floggings, the injustice to the Turkish Caliph. 
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Nevertheless, the Mahatma recalled, '1 fought for co-operation and 

working the Montagu-Chelmsford reforms"'; he still hoped. “But all that 

hope was shattered." 
“I came reluctantly to the conclusion," he told the court, “that the 

British connection had made India more helpless than she ever was 

before, politically and economically. . . . She has become so that she 

has little power of resisting famines. Before the British advent, India 

spun and wove in her millions of cottages just the supplement she 

needed for adding to her meagre agricultural resources. This cottage 

industry, so vital for India's existence, has been ruined by incredibly 

heartless and inhuman processes as described by English witnesses. 

Little do town-dwellers know how the semi-starved masses of India are 

slowly sinking to lifelessness. . . . No sophistry, no jugglery in figures 

can explain away the evidence that the skeletons in many villages pre¬ 

sent to the naked eye. I have no doubt that both England and the town- 

dwellers of India will have to answer, if there is a God above, for this 

crime against humanity which is perhaps unequaled in history." 

Continuing his indictment of the accuser, the prisoner said, “I am 

satisfied that many Englishmen and Indian officials hone$tly believe 

that they are administering one of the best systems devised in the world 

and that India is making steady though slow progress. They do not 

know that a subtle but effective system of terrorism and an organized 

display of force on the one hand, and the deprivation of all powers of 

retaliation and self-defense on the other, have emasculated the people 

and induced in them the habit of simulation. This awful habit has 

added to the ignorance and self-deception of the administrators . . ." 

“I have no personal ill-will against any administrator," Gandhi as¬ 

sured the judge, “much less have I disaffection towards the Kings 

person. But I hold it an honor to be disaffected towards a government 

which in its totality has done more harm to India than any previous 

system. India is less manly under the British rule than she ever was 

before ... it has been a precious privilege for me to be able to write 

what I have in the various articles tendered in evidence against me. ... 

In my opinion, non-co-operation with evil is as much a duty as is co¬ 

operation with good." 

In conclusion, Gandhi again asked for the “severest penalty." 

When Gandhi sat down, Mr. Justice Broomfield bowed to the pris- 
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oner, and pronounced sentence. “The determination of a just sentence,” 
the judge declared, “is perhaps as difficult a proposition as a judge in 
this country could have to face. The law is no respecter of persons. 
Nevertheless, it will be impossible to ignore the fact that you are in a 
different category from any person I have ever tried or am likely to 
have to try. It would be impossible to ignore the fact that, in the eyes 
of millions of your countrymen, you are a great patriot and a great 
leader. Even those who differ from you in politics look upon you as a 
man of high ideals and of noble and even saintly life.” 

The judge then announced that Gandhi must undergo imprisonment 
for six years, and added that if the government later saw fit to reduce 
the term “no one would be better pleased than I.” Mr. Banker received 
one year in jail and a fine of one thousand rupees. 

On hearing the sentence, the Mahatma rose and said that the sentence 
"is as mild as any judge could inflict on me, and so far as the entire 
proceedings are concerned, I must say that I could not have expected 
greater courtesy.” 

When the court was adjourned, most of the spectators in the room 
fell at Gandhi’s feet. Many wept. Gandhi wore a benign smile as he 
was led away to jail. 

Gandhi had no grievance. He knew when he entered Indian politics 
that it involved entering British prisons. It meant this for him and for 
others. Whenever he heard of a friend or colleague who had been 
arrested he telegraphed congratulations. Going to prison was a basic 
part of his doctrine of non-co-operation. “We must widen the prison 
gates,” he said, “and we must enter them as a bridegroom enters the 
bride’s chamber. Freedom is to be wooed only inside prison walls and 
sometimes on gallows, never in the council chambers, courts, or the 
schoolroom.” Going to prison was essential to arousing the nation for 
hberation. 

The British obliged and sent him to prison often. But this was the 
last time they tried him. 
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CHAPTER TWENTY-FIVE 

Gandhts Families 

When he passed through the prison gates, Gandhi left behind him a 

country full of perplexed politicians and an ashram full of two unhappy 

families: his personal family and his adopted family of secretaries, dis¬ 

ciples, devotees, and hangers-on. All of them, including Kasturbai, now 

called him Father, '‘Bapu,"' or ‘‘Bapuji,'' the ji connoting a Hindu mix¬ 

ture of respect and tenderness. He received and gave a great deal of love. 

Love made him indulgent. For himself, he had an extremely strict 

code of conduct. With others he was tolerant. "Do not be frightened by 

the v/ide implications of these views of mine,'" he wrote the women of 

the ashram. "There are always two meanings to everything—one wider 

and the other narrower. We shall not be put out if you understand the 

wider implications but start with the narrower.” 

From young manhood, he was sweet and kind toward everybody 

except his wife and sons. A tension marred his early relations with 

Kasturbai, but gradually it waned and he was able to relax with her too. 

For instance, they frequently joked about their age; they were bom six 

months apart but they were not quite certain who was younger and he 

would claim that he was and she that she was. Gradually, as lust, in 

Gandhi s words, yielded to love, they became a model couple, she the 

acme of service, he a paragon of consideration. "Ba,” the Mahatma said 

referring to Kasturbai, "takes tea in spite of the fact that she lives with 

me. She also takes coffee. I would even lovingly prepare it for her.” 

Tea- and coffee-drinking were rather sinful in Gandhi s eyes. Ba, in 

other words, retained her personality; yet she attained a high degree of 

self-effacement. She never behaved like Mrs. Gandhi, never asked 

privileges for herself, never shirked the hardest work, and never seemed 

to notice the smaill group of young or middle-aged female disciples who 

interposed themselves between her and her illustrious husband. Being 

herself and being at the same time a shadow of the Mahatma made her 

a remarkable woman, and some who observed them for long years won- 



2o6 The Life of Mahatma Gandhi 

dered whether she had not come nearer the Gita ideal oE non-attachment 

than he. He was too passionate to be the perfect yogi. 

As he aged, the passions submitted to more rigid rein, but he never 

quite learned to be a father to his sons. He had an ungandhian coldness 

toward them. Perhaps he had an impersonal concept of immortality. 

“But may not an artist or a poet or a great genius,” insisted an inter¬ 

viewer, “leave a legacy of his genius to posterity through his own 

children?” 

“Certainly not,” Gandhi replied in Young India of November 20, 

1924. “He will have more disciples than he can ever have children.” 

As he was more severe with himself than with anybody else, so he 

was severest vwth his own boys. He expected Harilal, Manilal, Ramdas, 

and Devadas to be chips off the old block, but the block did not chip. 

He was especially critical of his children when he encountered a 

youngster who did meet a dilBcult test. In a letter dated Johannesburg, 

May 27, 1906, Gandhi wrote to his oldest brother Laxmidas, “Young 

Kalyandas Jagmohandas s son is like Prahalad in spirit. He is therefore 

dearer to me than one who is a son because so bom.” 

A popular myth, which, like so many other Hindu myths, was 

tightly woven into Gandhi’s culture pattern, makes Prahalad the son of 

a demon King Hiranya-kashipu. The King hated God, but Prince 

Prahalad loved God. The King ordered tutors to teach Prahalad that 

his father was more powerful than God. When the teacher failed to 

convince the young man, the demon king subjected Prahalad to a series 

of cruelties: the prince was thrown from a high hill and trampled by 

elephants and horses. Still he proclaimed the supremacy of God. Finally, 

Prahalad was forced to embrace a red-hot metal pillar. But when he 

continued to call in His name, God emerged from the pillar in the form 

of a creature half lion, half man, and tore King Hiranya-kashipu to 

pieces. 

Gandhi regarded Prahalad as the first Satyagrahi, and the Indian boy 

in South Africa who behaved like Prahalad was therefore dearer to him 

than his own sons. 

In the same 1906 letter to his brother, Gandhi wrote, “It is well if 

Harilal is married; it is well if he is not. For the present at any rate I 

have ceased to think of him as a son.” Harilal, Gandhi's firstborn, had 

remained in India in the hope of achieving personal independence. At 
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eighteen, he wanted to get married; his father thought it was too early 

and disowned him "for the present.” 

Six years later, still in South Africa, a young Indian married woman 

successfully assaulted Manilals virginity. When the dereliction was dis¬ 

covered, Gandhi made a public scandal, fasted, persuaded the woman 

to shave her hair, and said he would never allow Manilal to marry. 

He only relented under Bas pressure, in March, 1927, when Manilal 

was thirty-five. 

Gandhi leaned over backward to give his sons less than he gave other 

men s sons. The treatment contained an antidote to the nepotism nour¬ 

ished by the strong Hindu family sense, but it was unfair, and Harilal 

and Manilal resented it. They felt disgruntled because their father, who 

had a profession, denied them a professional education. Gandhi con¬ 

tended that character building outranked law and medicine. That was 

all very well, they thought, but then why did Bapu send Maganlal 

and Chhaganlal, his second cousins, and other young men to England 

to study? 

When Maganlal died, Gandhi wrote in Young India of April 26, 

1928, "He whom I had singled out as heir to my all is no more.” Why 

this partiality to a second cousin? "He closely studied and followed my 

spiritual career,” Gandhi declared in the same obituary, "and when I 

presented to my co-workers brahmacharya [continence] as a rule of life 

even for married men in search of Truth, he was the first to perceive 

the beauty and necessity of the practice, and though it cost him to my 

knowledge a terrific struggle, he carried it through to success, taking his 

wife along with him by patient argument instead of imposing his views 

on her. . . . He was my hands, my feet and my eyes. 

"As I am penning these lines,” Gandhi wrote in a crescendo of 

lament, "I hear the sobs of the widow bewailing the death of her hus¬ 

band. Little does she realize that I am more widowed than she. And 

but for the living God, I should become a raving maniac for the loss of 

one who was dearer to me than my own sons, who never once deceived 

or failed me. . . .” 

The Mahatma thought Manilal had deceived him. In 1916, Manilal 

had in his keeping several hundred rupees belonging to the ashram, 

and when he heard that his brother Harilal, who was trying to make 

his way in business in Calcutta, needed money, he forwarded the sum 
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to him as a loan. By chance, HarilaVs receipt (ell into Gandhi s hands. 

The next day, Manila! was banished (rom the ashram and told to go 

and apprentice himself as a hand-spinner and weaver but not to use the 

Gandhi name. ‘In addition to this,” Manilal recounts, “father also con¬ 

templated a fast, but I sat all night entreating him not to do so and in 

the end my prayer was heeded. I left my dear mother and my brother 

Devadas sobbing. Father did not throw me out completely empty- 

handed. He gave me just sufficient money for my train fare and a little 

extra.” For two months, Manilal lived incognito. Then the Mahatma 

sent him a letter of introduction to G. A. Natesan, the Madras pub¬ 

lisher, with whom Manilal stayed for seven months. In the letter of 

introduction, Gandhi recommended that Manilal “be subjected to 

discipline and should be made to cook his own food and learn spinning.” 

Following this period of penance, Gandhi dispatched Manilal to 

South Africa to edit Indian Opinion. “During his lifetime,” Manilal 

wrote after his father s assassination, “I was able to spend a very few 

years actually with my father. Unlike my other brothers I had to live 

away from him in exile, in South Africa.” 

Manilal came to India for occasional visits. “The longest period I was 

able to spend in India, and most of it with father,” Manilal says, 

“was the whole of 1945 and half of 1946. Those were the precious 

months. . . .” At this time, Manilal noticed that Gandhi s “attitude . . . 

had so vastly changed since the time we were under him in our child¬ 

hood. It seemed to me that he spoilt those near him by his extreme 

love and affection. They had become his spoilt children, as it were, and 

much more so after my mother had been called away from his life. . . . 

One of the things that struck me was the extreme softness in father s 

attitude compared with what it was when we four brothers were under 

him. He was, of course, always forgiving though he was a very severe 

taskmaster. But he had grown extremely tolerant, which he was not 

in our time. . . . When I saw this, many a time I chafed and said to 

father, ‘Bapu, you have vastly changed from the time we were under 

you. You never pampered us; I remember how you made us do laundry 

work and chop wood; how you made us to take the pick and shovel in 

the bitterly cold mornings and dig in the garden, to cook and to walk 

miles. And I am surprised to see how you now pamper these people 

around you.' 
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"Bapu would listen and burst out in bis usual hearty laughter: 'Well, 

children,' he would say, 'are you listening to what Manilal is saying?' 

And yet he would love and caress them." 

How much sonow there is in all this for many lost years without 

affection. 

Manilal underwent punishment and banishment yet remained a hah 

anced human being. Harilal, however, suffered an inner trauma. While 

his wife lived, he was outwardly normal. But when she died in the 

1918 influenza epidemic, and when Gandhi frowned on his remarriage, 

Harilal disintegrated completely. He took to alcohol and women; he 

was often seen drunk in public. Under the influence of drink, penury, 

and the desire for vengeance, he would succumb to the offers of un¬ 

scrupulous publishers and attack his father in print, signing “Abdulla,” 

a Moslem name. He had become a Moslem. Conversion to Islam, 

drunkenness, and profligacy were probably Harilal’s effort to hurt his 

father. 

Early in the 1920's, Harilal helped to launch a new firm called All- 

India Stores, Limited, and became a director. In 1925, Gandhi received 

a lawyer’s letter in behalf of a client who had invested money in the 

company; it informed the Mahatma that correspondence addressed to 

the company was being returned and that the whole thing seemed 

“a bogus affair.” The client was a Moslem “whose respect for Mahat- 

maji led him to become a share-holder.” 

Gandhi reproduced the entire letter in Young India of June 18, 1925, 

and appended his reply. 

I do indeed happen to be the father of Harilal M. Gandhi. He is 

my eldest boy, is over thirty-six years old and is father of four children, 

the eldest being nineteen years old. His ideals and mine having been 

discovered over fifteen years ago to be different, he has been living 

separately from me and has not been supported by or through me. It 

has been my invariable rule to regard my boys as my friends and equals 

as soon as they completed their sixteen years. . . . Harilal . . . was 

naturally influenced by the Western veneer that my life at one time 

did have. His commercial undertakings were totally independent of me. 

Could I have influenced him he would have been associated with me 

in my several public activities and earning at the same time a decent 
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livelihood. But he chose, as he had every right to do, a different and 

independent path. He was and still is ambitious. He wants to become 

rich, and that too, easily. Possibly he has a grievance against me that 

when it was open to me to do so, I did not equip him and my other 

children for careers that lead to wealth and the fame that wealth brings. 

. . . I do not know Harilal’s affairs. He meets me occasionally, but I 

never pry into his affairs. I do not know how his affairs stand at present, 

except that they are in a bad way. . . . There is much in Harilal’s life 

that I dislike. He knows that. But 1 love him in spite of his faults. The 

bosom of a father will take him in as soon as he seeks entrance. . . . 

Let the client’s example be a warning against people being guided by 

big names in their transactions. Men may be good, not necessarily their 

children. . . . Caveat emptor. 

Harilal naturally caused his mother endless tortures. Kasturbai 

brought up his four children with a grandmother’s tenderness. In the 

1930’s, she could not control her grief, and wrote Harilal an emotional 

letter; one of his adventures had got into the newspapers. 

My dear son Harilal, I have read that recently in Madras policemen 

found you misbehaving in a state of drunkenness at midnight in an 

open street and took you into custody. Next day you were produced 

before a bench of Magistrates and they fined you one rupee. They must 

have been very good people to treat you so leniently. 

Even the Magistrates showed regard for your father in thus giving 
you only nominal punishment. But I have been feeling very miserable 
ever since I heard about this incident. I do not know whether you were 
alone that night or were accompanied by some of your friends, but in 
any case you acted very improperly. 

I do not know what to say to you. I have been pleading with you all 

these long years to hold yourself in check. But you have been going 

from bad to worse. Now you are making my very existence impossible. 

'Think of the misery you are causing your aged parents in the evening 

of their lives. 

Your father says nothing to anyone but I know how the shocks you 
are giving him are breaking his heart. You are committing a great sin 
in thus repeatedly hurting our filings. Though bom as our son you 
axe indeed behaving like an enemy. 
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I am told that in your recent wanderings you have been criticizing 

and ridiculing your great father. This does not behoove such an intelli¬ 

gent boy as you. You little realize that you only disgrace yourself by 

speaking evil of him. He has nothing but love in his heart for you. 

You know that he attaches the greatest importance to purity of conduct. 

But you have never paid any heed to advice. Yet he has offered to keep 

you with him, to feed and clothe you and even to nurse you. . . . 

I am a frail old woman unable to stand the anguish you are 

causing. . . . 

You have left no place for me anywhere. For sheer shame, I am 

unable to move about among my friends or strangers. Your father al¬ 

ways pardons you, but God will not tolerate your conduct. . . . 

Every morning I rise with a shudder to think what fresh news of 

disgrace the newspapers will bring. I sometimes wonder where you are, 

where you sleep, what you eat. Perhaps you take forbidden food. . . . 

I often feel like meeting you. But I do not know where to find you. 

You are my eldest son and nearly fifty years old. I am even afraid of 

approaching you, lest you humiliate me. 

I do not know why you have changed your ancestral religion; that is 

your affair. But I hear that you go about asking innocent and ignorant 

people to follow your example. . . . People are liable to be led away 

by the fact that you are your father’s son. You are not fit to preach 

religion. 

Your daughters and son-in-law also bear with increasing difficulty the 

burden of sorrow your conduct has imposed upon them. 

Gandhi blamed Harilal’s misdeeds on himself. “I was a slave of my 

passions when Harilal was conceived”; “I led a carnal and luxurious 

life during Harilal’s childhood,” he would say. But the cause of Harilal’s 

fall could not have been the natural impulses which led to his birth 

and to that of his brothers. Somewhere deep in Gandhi’s psyche there 

was apparently a protest against having children. 

Yet Gandhi loved children and was never as happy as when he 

played with them. He took time out to play with the youngsters and 

babies in the ashram. Once, during the week I spent with Gandhi at 

Sevagram in 1942, he led me to a hut used by a patient of his and then 

to a neighboring hut which was empty but for a red wooden cradle. 
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The mother lifted the baby out of the cradle as Gandhi approached. 

He smacked the baby s cheeks and said, ^'She is not my patient, she is 

my relaxation.'" The ^by reacted gleefully and he smacked and pinched 

it some more. 

There is a delightful photograph showing Gandhi rubbing noses 

with a babe in arms. He would amuse the children of the ashram by 

making funny faces at them and directing funny remarks to them. 

Horace Alexander, of the British Society of Friends, who spent 

years in India and much time with Gandhi, records his first view of 

the Mahatma. He arrived at Sabarmati one afternoon in March, 1928. 

"After a rest,” Alexander writes, "I went to evening prayers. When all 

were assembled, he came walking quickly, and sat down in the center, 

and the chanting began. When the prayers were over, each member of 

the ashram gave his or her report on the amount of spinning done. This 

lasted for fifteen or twenty minutes, and was rather tedious. I noticed 

that the children ran playfully around the Mahatma while this went 

on, and he thrust out his hand as if to catch them as they ran past. 

Some years later, one of these children, now a grown-up man, told me 

how difficult he had found it, as he grew up, to realize that the kind 

old man, so simple and friendly, of his childhood days, was the same 

as the Mahatma. . . .” 

Gandhi believed in the goodness of children. "Children are innocent, 

loving and benevolent by nature,” he wrote in a letter to the boys and 

girls of the ashram. "Evil comes in only when they become older.” 

Life at Sabarmati Ashram and, after 1932, at Sevagram in central 

India, was serene, simple, joyous, and unconstrained. Nobody stood in 

awe of Gandhi. Until he was too old, he sat in the scullery every 

morning with the ashramites peeling potatoes; he did his share of other 

chores as well. Petty frictions and rivalries were not absent even in this 

community of ascetics. There was jealousy for the favor of the Mahatma. 

He usually succeeded in being above that battle too, but bulletins of 

its progress came to his attention. In fact, few details of the life and 

work of the inmates remained hidden from his shrewd ken. He soothed, 

smoothed, and arbitrated impartially. 

Gandhi met and expected everybody in the ashram to meet certain 

rig^d requirements: absolute personal and civic cleanliness, undeviating 

punctuality, and physical labor plus one hour or at least thirty minutes 
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a day of spinning. He denounced the '"divorce between intelligence and 

labor.’’ Manual work was for him a means of identification with work¬ 

ing India, with the working world. His compulsion to economize, 

though instinctive, also stemmed from his conscious concern for the 

hundreds of millions who valued a button, a nail, and a fraction of a 

penny. 

Gandhi once wrote out a telegram to G. V. Mavalankar, his lawyer, 

who later became Speaker of the Constituent Assembly. But on learning 

that there was an extra charge per word because it was a holiday he 

mailed the telegram. 

Gandhi was famous for his postcards. Whenever the size and nature 

of the communication permitted he put it on a postcard instead of into 

a letter. He frequently wrote letters on the reverse side of mimeographed 

announcements. Any odd piece of scrap paper became an ashram^made 

envelope. His secretaries’ notes and his own memoranda were always 

written on the backs of letters received from outside. For a brief note 

he once wrote me to New York he had obviously taken a larger bit of 

stationery than necessary and carefully torn off the excess. 

Miss Slade, daughter of Sir Edmund Slade, a British admiral, who 

joined Gandhis ashram in 1925 and lived there for many years until 

she founded one of her own on the banks of the sacred Ganges, tells 

how Gandhi lost the little pencil stump he had been cherishing. The 

staff hunted for the lost treasure but in vain. Somebody brought him 

a new pencil. No, he insisted that they continue the search for the 

stump until they recovered it. “Bapu . . . received it with a beaming 

smile.” 

Gandhi s insistence on economy, cleanliness, punctuality, and spin- 

ning grew greater, if anything, as he grew older. With all his strictness 

about the personal conduct of his co-workers, however, he was com¬ 

pletely tolerant toward their thinking. Some of his most intimate polit¬ 

ical collaborators, and some who stayed long in the ashram, did not, 

to his knowledge, believe in non-violence, or in God, or in loving the 

British or the Moslems. Mrdulla Sarabhai, for instance, said to him, 

“I am not a Gandhian,” but he laughed, and may have smacked her 

face affectionately. Nobody had to toe a Gandhian "party line.” There 

was none. 

Gandhi accepted people as they were. Aware of his own defects, how 
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could he expect perfection in others? He believed in the educational 

and curative value of time and good deeds. 

Gandhi took from a person, a book, a religion, and a situation that 

which was congenial to him and discarded the rest. He refused to see the 

had in people. He often changed human beings by regarding them not 

as what they were but as though they were what they wished to be, and 

as though the good in them was all of them. 

His friends knew he forgave them, therefore they frankly confessed. 

If they hid things from him it was because he would blame himself for 

their shortcomings. He encouraged familiarity; it never bred contempt. 

It fostered love. He enjoyed banter even if the point perced him. A 

few weeks before Gandhi was arrested in March, 1922, Rajagppalachari, 

already in jail, wrote the Mahatma a letter. He said he was “completely 

shut out from all politics, news and newspapers. What an ideal condi¬ 

tion which 1 know you are envying. ... It took me till now to get 

rid of the boils. 1 am now quite free from the trouble. It must bonify 

you to learn that I willingly underwent five injections of vaccine for 

these boils. . . . [Gandhi called vaccine ‘filthy.’] Your eyes would flow 

with delight if you saw me here in my solitary cell spinning, spinning 

not as a task imposed by a tyrant faddist, but with pleasure.” The 

“tyrant faddist” ran the letter as the first item in Young India of Febru¬ 

ary 9, 1922. 

Sycophancy repelled Gandhi. He respected and befriended his fiercest 

antagonists. Though pleased to make a convert, he was not flattered 

by loud partisans. He encouraged dissent; he helped dissenters. Oppo¬ 

nents found comfort in the knowledge that he could reverse himself 

on even the most important political issue in order to give the alternative 

policy a fair trial. 

Such democratic liberalism made it possible for many members of 

his political family, some of whom had reluctantly joined in the 1921-22 

non-co-operation campaign, to lay plans for co-operation when Gandhi 

was sentenced on March 18, 1922, to six years’ imprisonment. He had 

prohibited nothing when he entered prison. From his cell his only in¬ 

junction was “peace, non-violence, suffering.” Congress, therefore, was 

free to flounder and meander in confusion. 
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CHAPTER TWENTY-SIX 

Oferation and Fast 

On the evening of January 12, 1924, Mahatma Gandhi was hastily 

carried from Yeravda Central Jail, where he was lodged on March 20, 

1922, to Sassoon Hospital in the city of Poona. He had developed acute 

appendicitis. The government was ready to wait for Indian physicians 

to arrive from Bombay, three hours’ distance by train, but shortly before 

midnight Colonel Maddock, the British surgeon, informed Gandhi that 

he would have to operate immediately. Gandhi consented. 

While the operating theater was being prepared, V. S. Srinivasa 

Sastri, head of the Servants of India Society, and Dr. Phatak, Poona 

friend of the Mahatma, were summoned at his request. Together, they 

drafted a public statement which declared that he had agreed to the 

operation, that the physicians had treated him well, and that, whatever 

happened, there must be no anti-government agitation. Tlie hospital 

authorities, and Gandhi, knew that if the operation went badly, India 

might burst into flames. 

When the declaration was ready, Gandhi drew up his knees and 

signed it in pencil. “See how my hand trembles,” he remarked to 

Colonel Maddock with a laugh. “You will have to put this right.” 

“Oh," replied the surgeon, “we will put tons and tons of strength 

into it.” 

Chloroform was administered and a photograph taken. During the 

operation, a thunderstCMrm cut off the supply of electricity. Then the 

flashlight which one of the three nurses had been holding went out, 

and the operation had to be finished by the light of a hurricane lamp. 

The appendectomy was successful, and the Mahatma thanked the 

surgeon profusely. An abscess formed locally, however, and the pa¬ 

tient’s progress was too slow. The government thought it wise or gen¬ 

erous in these circumstances to release Gandhi on February 5th. 

The operation piqued Gandhi’s curiosity, and when Manu Gandhi, 

the granddaughter of his cousin, had to undergo an appendectomy at 

Patna, in Bihar province, during a tour, the Mahatma asked the sur- 
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geon, Dr. D. P. Bhargava, the same who was first to reach Gandhi’s 
side after the assassination, whether he could be present. Dr. Bhargava 
assented on condition that Gandhi wear a gauze mask, and two snap¬ 
shots taken during the operation show Gandhi sitting on a chair, an 
unusual perch, with a white mask covering the lower half of his face 

and tied around the back of his head. Dr. Bhargava says Gandhi did 
not utter a word during the entire hour. [This was on May 15, 1947, 
at 9:30 P.M.] 

“The West,” Gandhi once wrote to Miss Slade, “has always com¬ 
manded my admiration for its surgical inventions anti all-round progress 
in that direction.” 

Nevertheless, Gandhi never quite cast off his prejudices against phy¬ 
sicians. Once Gandhi had a severe cold but resisted a penicillin injection. 

‘If I give you penicillin,” the doctor said, “you will recover in three 
days. Otherwise it will take three weeks.” 

“That’s all right,” Gandhi replied. “I’m in no hurry.” 
The doctor said he might infect others. 
“Then give them penicillin,” Gandhi advised. 
In an unguarded moment, the same physician told Gandhi that if all 

sick people simply went to bed they’d get well. 
“Don’t say that aloud,” Gandhi cautioned. “You will lose all your 

patients.” 
Gandhi liked to be his own doctor. Mahadev Desai, who knew him 

well, said, “But for his fundamental objection to vivisection, he might 
have been a physician and a surgeon.” Gandhi wrote a book on health, 
and loved to recommend “quack” remedies to friends, callers, and all 
of India. Accordingly, when he received his unconditional discharge 
from Yeravda Jail and went to the beach at Juhu, near Bombay, to 
recuperate in the home of Shantikumar Morarji, an industrialist, he 
decided that since he would be doctoring himself he might as well doctor 
others too; he converted the seashore villa into a temporary hospital 
where ailing associates, summoned from near and far, gave Gandhi 
pleasure by submitting to his mud packs, water baths, food fads, and 
massage. Chiefly, however, he advanced his and their convalescence 
with the medicine of laughter and companionship. 

Others came to Juhu too—unasked—and Gandhi appealed to them 
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through the press to come, if they must, between 4 and 5 in the eve¬ 
ning for prayers on the sands. But "seeing me,” he explained, "is not 
likely to be of benefit to you. It is an indication of your love for me, but 
it is an exaggerated indication." It would be much better to spend the 
money and time on spinning. If they gave him peace he could husband 
his "very small. . . capital of energy" and resume the active editorship 
of Young India, his "viewspaper," and Navajivan, which he did on 
April 3, 1924. 

To Juhu, too, came C. R. Das and Motilal Nehru for discussions on 
the ugly situation that had arisen during the twenty-two months Gandhi 
spent in prison. 

First, Hindu-Moslem friendship, the firm rock on which Gandhi 
hoped to build a united, free India, had been all but submerged in an 
angry tide of hostility between the two communities. The Khilafat 
movement was dead, killed not by Britain, but by Kemal Pasha 
(Ataturk), the master of Moslem Turkey. Wiser than most of his 
Indian co-religionists, Kemal had created a secular republic. Latinized 
the cursive Arabic script, proscribed the fez and other Oriental head¬ 
dress and, having deposed the Caliph, allowed him to flee to the island 
of Malta in a British man-of-war in November, 1922. A weak heir 
clung to the illusion of the Caliph’s religious primacy, but in March, 
1924, he too became a refugee. 

Left without a cause, the Khilafat movement disintegrated. There¬ 
with, large-scale Hindu-Moslem political collaboration came to an end. 

Second, the non-co-operation movement was dead. "Scores of lawyers 
have resumed practice,” Gandhi said, summarizing what he was told at 
Juhu and what he learned first-hand. "Some even regret having given 
it up. . . . Hundreds of boys and girls who gave up government schools 
and colleges have repented of their action and returned to them.” More¬ 
over, Motilal Nehru, C. R. Das, and their many adherents favored a 
return to the municipal, provincial, and national legislative councils. 
This, they maintained, would enable them to participate in elections, 
keep in touch with the people, air grievances in the deliberative assem¬ 
blies, and obstruct the British government. Indeed, in some cases the 
government might lack a majority in the councils and be forced to rule 
by administrative fiat, thus unmasking the sham of dyarchy and show- 
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ing the British nation that their Tory imperialist leaders were not ready 
to share power with Indians. This demonstration might induce England 
to alter the system in India. 

To carry out their program, Das and the elder Nehru had, at the end 
of 1922, launched the Swaraj (Home-Rule) Party whose "immediate” 
aim was Dominion Status within the Empire. 

Those who continued to uphold Gandhi’s non-violent non-co-opera¬ 
tion were called No-Changers. The two factions wanted Swaraj but 
had been fighting like bitter enemies. A compromise giving them free¬ 
dom of action kept both inside the Congress. 

Confronted with this picture at Juhu, Candhi entered into the 
Gandhi-Das Pact which confirmed the live-and-lef-live arrangement 
between the Gandhians and the Swaraj party. He did not want to split 
Congress. 

Gandhi was still a non<ooperator, still a champion of civil disobedi¬ 
ence, and “a strong disbeliever in this government,” he declared in 
Young India of April 10, 1924. He would therefore have pressed the 
boycott of the courts, schools, and government jobs and titles. But 
the Gandhians had grown discouraged during his absence in jail. 'The 
boycott involved tremendous personal sacrifice which few could bear. 
The Swaraj party’s policy, on the other hand, was alluring. It meant 
election victories, membership in legislatures, speech-making, etc. 
Gandhi had no short-range program to match it. He accordingly with¬ 
drew from Indian politics for several years and devoted himself to puri¬ 
fying India. Swaraj depended on how good India was, net how bad the 
British were. "My belief is that the instant India is purified India be¬ 
comes free, and not a moment earlier,” he wrote "Charlie” Andrews. 

Gandhi’s purpose, during this period of withdrawal from politics, 
was to foster the brotherhood of man among Indians. Looking around, 
it soon became obvious to him that “the only question for immediate 
solution before the country is the Hindu-Moslem question. I agree with 
Mr. Jinnah,” he added, "that Hindu-Moslem unity means Swaraj. 
. . . There is no question more important and more pressing than this.” 

Great editor that he was, Gandhi dedicated the entire May 29, 1924, 
issue of Young India to his 6,ooo-word article on “Hindu-Moslem Ten¬ 
sion, Its Causes and Cure.” After recording the Hindu charges against 
Moslems ("Mussulmans,” he. called them) and the Moslem counter- 
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charges, and noting the growth of quarrels, disputes, and riots between 
the communities, he expressed the opinion that all this was "a reaction 
against the spread of non-violence. I feel the wave of violence coming. 
The Hindu-Moslem tension is an acute phase of this tiredness.” 

What would cure this loss of faith in non-violence, Gandhi asked. 
Non-violence, he answered. 

Gandhi's lengthy article was advocacy rather than analysis. He be¬ 
lieved in the immediate possibility of Hindu-Moslem friendship “because 
it is SO natural, so necessary for both and because I believe in hiunan 
nature.” That is almost all of Gandhi in one sentence. 

"The key to the situation lies with the Hindus,” he wrote. The “two 
constant causes of friction” with the Moslems were cow-slaughter and 
music. 

Though 1 regard cow protection as the central fact of Hinduism 
[Gandhi declared], I have never been able to understand the antipathy 
towards the Mussulmans on that score. We say nothing about the 
slaughter [of cows] that daily takes place on behalf of Englishmen. 
Our anger becomes red-hot when a Mussulman slaughters a cow. All 
the riots that have taken place in the name of the cow have been an 
insane waste of effort. They have not saved a single cow, but they have 
on the contrary stiffened the backs of the Mussulmans and resulted in 
more slaughter. I am satisfied that during 1921 more cows were saved 
through the voluntary and generous effort of the Mussulmans than 
through the Hindu effort during all the previous twenty years, say. 
Cow protection should commence with ourselves. In no part of the 
world are cattle worse treated than in India. . . . The half-starved con¬ 
dition of the majority of our cattle are a disgrace to us. The cows find 
their necks under the butcher’s knife because Hindus sell them. The 
only effective and honorable way is to befriend the Mussulmans 
and leave it to their honor to save the cow. Cow protection societies 
must turn their attention to the feeding of cattle, prevention of cruelty, 
preservation of the fast disappearing pasture land, improving the breed 
of cattle . . . 

Then there was the music played in Hindu religious processions as 
they passed mosques at prayer time. Somehow, the processions con¬ 
trived to arrive in front of mosques just when the followers of the 
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Prophet were supplicating Allah. Gandhi had heard that Hindus some¬ 
times did this "with the deliberate intention of initating Mussulmans.” 
This was as wrong as the Moslem resort to violence in angry retaliation. 

Gandhi’s long article ignored the social-economic reasons for the 
exacerbation of intercommunity relations except in one reference to 
the Moslem demand that a percentage of jobs in the government he 
reserved for them. A Moslem middle class was beginning to emerge in 
India C^nd throughout the Arab world); it found itself handicapped in 
competing with Hindus, Parsis, and Christians who had the advantages 
of better education and better connections. The Moslems therefore 
wanted a certain number of jobs kept for them irrespective of their 
qualifications. Gandhi objected. He said, 

For administration to be efficient it must be in the hands of the fittest. 
There should certainly be no favoritism. If we want five engineers we 
must not take one from each community but we must take the fittest 
five even if they were all Mussulmans or all Parsis. . . . The educa¬ 
tionally backward communities will have a right to favoured treatment 
in the matter of education at the hands of the national government.... 
But those who aspire to occupy responsible posts in the government of 
the country can only do so if they pass the required test. 

This was logical, fair, and sensible, but completely unsatisfactory to 
the Moslems. And since the economic backwardness of India made 
government employment one of the major, if not the major indus¬ 
try of the country, the reservation of official jobs for Mohammedans 
remained a festering sore as long as British rule lasted. 

In the seven hundred thousand villages of India, Hindus and Mos¬ 
lems had always lived together in peace. The Hindu-Moslem tension 
of the twentieth century was a man-made, middle<lass, urban disease. 
Indians are often ambitious and dynamic. A city like Bombay throbs 
with vitality. The inhumanly crowded towns, with their herring-barrel 
tenements, and the frustration which comes from animal-like poverty 
and the very limited opportunities to earn, learn, and advance, make 
urban Indians easily excitable—especially in the maddening heat of the 
long summer. In cities, Gandhi’s non-violence contended with nature 
as well as htnnan nature. 

Gandhi, the optimistic Karma yogi, regarded difficulties as spurs to 
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greater exertions of will. The editor who gave an entire issue of his 

magazine to a problem was the doer who would give his whole life to 

solve it. On September i8, 1924, therefore, Gandhi started a twenty- 

one<day fast for Hindu-Moslem friendship. 

Gandhi had been ill for months in jail. Then came the urgent ap* 

pendectomy. The wound suppurated and healed slowly. Convalescence 

was retarded. Weeks of tense talks followed by weeks of strenuous 

touring wore him out. The political situation depressed him; years of 

work seemed to have been lost. At a conference of the AlMndia Con¬ 

gress Committee in June, when he realized how many of his associates 

really did not believe in non-violence, he wept in public. The steady 

stream of reports on Hindu-Moslem fighting and the atmosphere of 

bickering, hate, and gloom weighed heavily on his body and spirit. He 

was fifty-five. He knew that a twenty-one-day fast might be fatal. He 

did not want to die. There were too many unfinished tasks. He reveled 

in life. Suicide was religiously and physically repugnant to him. The 

fast was no tryst with death. It gave him no pleasure to suffer. The fast 

was dictated by duty to the highest cause—the universal brotherhood of 

man. 

For Gandhi, an act had to be right and true. Then he never counted 

the cost to himself or even to others; in this sense, he was without mercy. 

Service meant sacrifice, renunciation, and detachment. You detach your¬ 

self from yourself. All that remains is duty. On September 18, 1924, 

Gandhi felt it his duty to fast. 

Gandhi always kept his eye on his objective, and when he could not 

see it he kept his eye on the spot where he thought it would appear. 

He also had an eye for drama. He fasted in the home of a Moslem, 

Mohamed Ali, the younger brother of Shaukat. Mohamed Ali was a 

staunch Congress supporter, a champion of Hindu-Moslem friendship. 

But the Moslem community was moving away from him. Gandhi had 

said in his article that “the key to the situation lies with the Hindus,*' 

but with his heart, the senior partner of his mind, he knew that Mos¬ 

lems were the offenders; conditions, he said, were making the Moslem 

* a bully." Gandhi wished to strengthen Mohamed Ali s hand. “It is 

our duty," he once wrote, “to strengthen by our fasting those who 

hold the same ideals but are likely to weaken under pressure." For 

twenty-one days India’s attention would be focused on the house where 
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Gandhi lay fasting. Moslems would see that Mohandas and Mohamed 

were brothers. Hindus, moreover, would note that their saint had con¬ 

fided his life to a Moslem. 

No personal benefit could come to Gandhi from the fast; on the con¬ 

trary. Nor was there any element of compulsion in it. The Moslem in 

Calcutta or Agra, the Hindu in Amritsar or Allahabad would not be 

compelled to change their conduct because Gandhi was dying for 

Hindu-Moslem amity. They would change, if at all, because the 

Mahatma's great sacrifice established a spiritual bond between him and 

them, a kind of common wave-length, a means of communication over 

which he conveyed to them the importance, the necessity, the urgency, 

the sacredness of the cause for which he was fasting. It was his way 

of going out to them, of entering their hearts, of uniting himself with 

them. 

In part, this is Eastern, Indian. The bridges of the West are made of 

concrete, steel, wire, words. Eastern bridges are of spirit. To communi¬ 

cate, the West moves or talks. The East sits, contemplates, suffers. 

Gandhi partook of West and East. When Western methods failed him, 

he used Eastern methods. 

The fast was an adventure in goodness. The stake was one man’s life. 

The prize was a nation’s freedom. If Indians were united as brothers, 

no outsider could long be their master. The British official report on 

conditions in India in 1919 remarked, "One noticeable feature of the 

general excitement was the unprecedented fraternization between the 

Hindus and the Mohammedans.’’ In 1924, Gandhi felt that the frat¬ 

ernization, and with it freedom, was ebbing away. Hence the ordeal 

under his Moslem brother’s roof. 

"Nothing evidently which I say or write can bring the two commu¬ 

nities together,’’ he declared in announcing the fast. "I am therefore im¬ 

posing on myself a twenty-one-day fast from today and ending Wednes¬ 

day October 6.1 reserve the liberty to drink water with or without salt. 

It is both a penance and a prayer. ... I respectfully invite the heads 

of all communities, including Englishmen, to meet and end this quarrel 

which is a disgrace to religion and to humanity. It seems as if God has 

been dethroned. Let us reinstate Him in our hearts.’’ 

Two Moslem physicians were in constant attendance. Charles Freer 

Andrews, the Christian missionary, served as nurse. 
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On the second day of the fast, Gandhi wrote a page-long plea for 

Young India on "unity in diversity." "The need of the moment," he 

stressed, “is not one religion hut mutual respect and tolerance of the 

devotees of the different religions." On the sixth day without food he 

wrote a page article which ended, “To paraphrase a Biblical verse, if it 

is no profanation, ‘Seek you first Hindu-Moslem unity, removal of un- 

touchability, and the spinning wheel and Khaddar [homespun], and 

everything vnll be added unto you.’ ” 

Twelve days after the fast commenced he wrote 112 words for pub¬ 

lication: "Hitherto it has been a struggle and a yearning for a chwge 

of heart among Englishmen who compose the government of India. 

That change has still to come. But the struggle must for the moment 

be transferred to a change of heart among the Hindus and the Mussul¬ 

mans. Before they dare think of freedom they must be brave enough 

to love one another, to tolerate one another’s religion, even prejudices 

and superstitions, and to trust one another. This requires faith in one¬ 

self. And faith in oneself is faith in God. If we have that faith we shall 

cease to fear one another.” 

The twentieth day he dictated a prayer: ‘Presently from the world 

of peace 1 shall enter the world of strife. The more I think of it the 

more helpless 1 feel. ... I know that I can do nothing. God can do 

everything. O! God, make me Thy instrument and use me as Thou wilt 

Man is nothing. Napoleon planned much and found himself a prisoner 

in St. Helena. The mighty Kaiser aimed at the crown of Europe and 

is reduced to the status of a private gentleman. God has so willed it. 

Let us contemplate such examples and be humble.” The twenty days 

had been “days of grace, privilege and peace.” 

That evening "Mahatma Gandhi was wonderfully bright and cheer¬ 

ful,” Andrews wrote. “Many of his most intimate friends came to see 

him as he lay upon his bed on the open roof of the house, which was 

flooded by the moonlight.” They prayed. “Then followed a long silence. 

The friends parted one by one, and he was left alone.” 

The twenty-first Jjy: “Before four o’clock in the morning ... we 

were called for the morning prayers,” Andrews recorded. “There was 

no moon and it was very dark. A chill breeze was blowing from the 

east. . . . Bapu was wrapped warm in a dark shawl, and I asked him 

whether he had slept well. He replied, Tes, very well indeed.’ It was 
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a happiness to notice at once that his voice was stronger than the 

morning before, instead of weaker/' After prayers, many people came 

for darshan, a sight that blesses. 

At about lo A.M. [Andrews writes], Mahatmaji called for me and said, 

"Can you remember the words of my favorite Christian hymn?"' 

I said, ‘Tes, shall I sing it to you now?'' 

"Not now," he answered, "but I have in mind that when I break my 

fast, we might have a little ceremony expressing religious unity. I should 

like the Imam Sahib to recite the opening verses of the Koran. Then I 

would like you to sing the Christian hymn, you know the one I mean, 

it begins, When I survey the wondrous Cross' and ends with the words, 

'Love so amazing, so divine. 

Demands my soul, my life, my all.' 

And then last of all I should like Vinoba to recite from the Upanishads 

and Balkrishna to sing the Vaishnava hymn. . . ." He wanted all the 

servants present. 

Now at last the midday hour had come and the fast was to be broken. 

The doctors went to Gandhi's room; the Ali brothers, Maulana Abul 

Kalam Azad, Motilal Nehru, C. R. Das, and many others sat on the 
floor near the bed. Before the actual breaking of the fast, Gandhi spoke, 

"and as he spoke his emotion was so deep that in his bodily weakness 

his voice could hardly be heard except by those who were nearest of 

all to him." He asked them to lay down their lives, if need be, for the 

cause of brotherhood. The Moslem leaders renewed their pledge. Then 

the hymns were sung. "Dr. Ansari brought forward some orange juice 

and Mahatma Gandhi drank it. So the fast was broken." 
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CHAPTER TWENTY-SEVEN 

Funds and Jewels 

In the latter part of 1924, the world was subsiding into postwar "nor¬ 

malcy.” The Dawes Plan undertook to stabilize German economic and 

political conditions. The big European powers were granting diplomatic 

recognition to Soviet Russia. Except in South China, where Chiang 

Kai-shek had an alliance with Moscow, the tlireat of Bolshevism was 

in ebb. Coolidge and complacency presided over America. England had 

survived her first Labor government. The British Empire, seriously 

menaced in 1919-23 by Sinn Fein in Ireland and Near East revolts, 

was becalmed in stagnant waters. 

India, too, relaxed—and pursued the luxuries of division and inaction. 

The passions of the post-Armistice-post-Amritsar period were spent. 

Doubts and despondency had replaced faith and fighting spirit. Perhaps 

Gandhi s non-violence dampened the ardor of belligerent nationalism. 

His twenty-one-day fast had failed. It impressed many and altered the 

attitude of some, but Hindu-Moslem tension continued unabated. 

Gandhi did not consider this a time for a contest with Britain. It was 

a time for mending home fences. His program was: prepare morally 

for future political opportunities; concretely—Hindu-Moslem unity, the 

removal of untouchability, and spreading the use of homespun or 

khadi or khaddar. In his propaganda for homespun, Gandhi charged 

that the British had killed India's village industries to help the 

textile mills of Lancashire. Otherwise, his writings and speeches dur¬ 

ing 1925, 1926, and 1927 were remarkable for an almost complete 

absence of denunciations of British misrule. He more often criticized 

Indians. "I am not interested,” he said, "in freeing India merely from 

the English yoke. I am bent upon freeing India from any yoke whatso¬ 

ever.” For this reason, he could never get excited about participation in 

the legislative or municipal councils: "Swaraj,” he affirmed, "will come 

not by the acquisition of authority by a few but by the acquisition by 

all of a capacity to resist authority when it is abused.” A few hundred 

Indians were elected to councils, and a few thousand Indians, mostly 
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townspeople, enjoyed the franchise to elect them. In such circumstances, 
Indians might beo^me tyrants unless the masses were taught to discard 
docility. 

The intellectuals remained unconvinced. 'Though they like me 

personally,” he wrote, they "have a horror for my views and methods.” 

He was not complaining; "I have simply stated the fact with the 

object of showing my limitations.” 

Educated Indians, he stated, were splitting into parties. "I confess 

my inability to bring these parties together,” he wrote on September 2, 

1926. "Their method is not my method. I am trying to work from the 

bottom upward,” and he warned them that if they did not support his 

khadi policy "educated India will cut itself off from the only visible and 

tangible tie that binds them to the masses.” 

Gandhi put his trust neither in the once-hallowed tradition of Con¬ 

gress petitions and "prayers” to British officialdom nor in the current 

Swaraj party's desire to become parliamentarians and officials. But hav¬ 

ing failed to carry the conviction home, "I must no longer stand in the 

way of the Congress being developed and guided by educated Indians 

rather than by one like myself who had thrown in his lot entirely with 

the masses, and who has fundamental differences with the mind of 

educated India as a body.” 

An American clergyman once asked Gandhi what caused him most 

concern. "The hardness of heart of the educated,” Gandhi replied. 

He still wished to influence the intellectuals, he confessed, "but not 

by leading the Congress; on the contrary, by working my way to their 

hearts, silently so far as possible, even as I did between 1915 and 1919." 

He regretted having been dragged into the political leadership of Con^ 

g^ess; he was retiring from it. 

Lx)ud protests rent the Indian air when he first announced his inten¬ 

tion of doing so after coming out of jail in 1924. "I do not like, I have 

never liked,” he said in reply, "this reliance on me for everything. It is 

the very worst way of managing national affairs. The Congress must 

not become, as it has threatened to become, one man s show, no matter 

how good or great that one man be. I often think that it would have 

been better for the country and for me if I had served the full term of 

my imprisonment.” 

Nevertheless, he was persuaded to take the presidency of Congress 
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(or 1925; his friends argued that his aloofness would split Congress 

between those who followed his constructive program and the Swaraj 

party which advocated political work in the councils. He exacted a 

price; the wearing of khadi as a strict condition of membership in the 

Congress party; where possible, Congress members should spin each day. 

Someone said his retirement from politics would cost him his moral 

authority. “Moral authority,” was the unequivocal retort, “is never 

retained by an attempt to hold on to it. It comes without seeking and 

is retained without effort.” 

In truth, his moral authority was gaining irrespective of anything he 

did or did not do. It was fed by the Indian soil and Indian mentality. 

Throughout 1925, he traveled, without cease, across the i,5oo*miIe 

width and the i,9oo‘mile length of India, visiting most provinces and 

many native states. He no longer lived nor traveled like a poor man, 

he wailed; his co-workers made him travel in a second<lass compart¬ 

ment instead of third where forty or fifty perspiring people sat squeezed 

together in an unpartitioned space. He acquiesced because in third class 

he could not write his articles, or rest, or take an occasional nap. 

Wherever he went, he was besieged by hordes. “They will not leave 

me alone even when I am taking my bath," he wrote. At night, his feet 

and shins were covered with scratches from people who had bowed low 

and touched him; his feet had to be rubbed with vaseline. His deifica¬ 

tion had commenced. In one place he was told that a whole tribe, the 

Gonds, were worshiping him. “I have expressed my horror and strongest 

disapproval of this type of idolatry more than once,” he wrote. “I claim 

to be a mere mortal, heir to all the weaknesses that human flesh betrays. 

It would be infinitely better that the Gonds should be taught to under¬ 

stand the meaning of my simple message than that they should indulge 

in a meaningless deification of me which can do no good either to them 

or to me and can only intensify the superstitious nature of such simple 

people as the Gonds.” 
Even mere veneration seemed superfluous to him. “I am no Mahat¬ 

ma," he cried out. “My Mahatmaship is worthless,” he wrote. 

But the Mahatma was powerless; he had to be a Mahatma. Many 

regarded him as a reincarnation of God, like Buddha, like Krishna; God 

descended temporarily to earth. From the mountains, firom the plains, 

from far-off villages, they came to have a glimpse of him, to be sanctified 
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if the eye or, much better, the hand, touched him. Audiences were so 

large that he would address them standing in front of them, then go to 

the right side, the rear, and the left side, always hoping that they would 

remain seated on the ground and not stampede toward him. Many times 

he was in danger of being crushed to death. 

At Dacca, in Bengal, a man of seventy was brought before Gandhi. 

He was wearing Gandhi s photograph around his neck and weeping 

profusely. As he approached the Mahatma, he fell on his face and 

thanked Gandhi for having cured him of chronic paralysis. ^'When all 

other remedies failed,” the poor man said, ‘1 took to uttering Gandhiji s 

name, and one day I found myself entirely cured.” 

'It is not I but God who made you whole,” Gandhi rebuked him. 

''Will you not oblige me by taking that photograph off your neck?” 

Intellectuals too were not immune. One day Gandhi s train stopped 

with a jerk; somebody had pulled the emergency cord. It developed that 

a lawyer had fallen out of the train, head first. When picked up he was 

unhurt. He ascribed it to being the Mahatma's fellow traveler. “Then 

you shouldn't have fallen out at all,” Gandhi laughed. But wit was lost 

on the devout. 

Women, even Hindu women, sometimes sat on their haunches be¬ 

hind a screen when they listened to Gandhi at meetings. Just as 

Moslems, Christians, and even untouchables have borrowed the insti¬ 

tution of caste from Hindus, so Hindus have in places succumbed to 

Islam's purdah or segregation of women. But when a v/oman came to 

Gandhi with her face hidden, he said, "No purdah before your brother,” 

and she immediately dropped her veil. 

Gandhi was an incurable and irresistible fund raiser. He found spe¬ 

cial relish in stripping women of their jewelry. 

"The army of my sweethearts is daily increasing,” he exclaimed dur¬ 

ing a tour. "The latest recruit is Ranibala of Burdwan, a darling perhaps 

ten years old. I dare not ask her age. I was playing with her as usual 

and casting furtive glances at her six heavy gold bangles. I gently ex¬ 

plained to her that they were too heavy a burden for her delicate little 

wrists, and down went her hand on the bangles." 

Ranibala s grandfather encouraged her to give Gandhi the bangles. 

'1 must confess I was embarrassed," Gandhi recalled as he told the 

story. '1 was merely joking as I always do when I see little girls and 
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jokingly create in them a distaste for much ornamentation and a desire 

to part with their jewelry for the sake of the poor. I tried to return the 
bangles/' 

But her grandfather said her mother would consider it an ill omen to 

take them back. Gandhi agreed to keep them on one condition: she 
was not to ask for new ones. 

That day he addressed a ladies' meeting in the same town. He told 

them about Ranibala. ‘1 got quite a dozen bangles and two or three 

pairs of earrings, all unasked. Needless to say, they will be used for 

khaddar. . . . 

notify all the young girls and their parents and grandparents," 

Gandhi announced gayly, ''that I am open to have as many sweethearts 

as would come to me on Ranibala s terms. They will be handsomer for 

the thought that they gave their prized ornaments to be used for the 

service of the poor. Let the little girls of India treasure the proverb, 

'Handsome is as handsome does.'" 

Still touring, he came to Bihar. At Kharagdeha, reached by a branch 

railway and then a twenty-six-mile automobile trip, the program began 

with a ladies' meeting. "Hitherto," Gandhi reported, "I have restrained 

myself from criticising the heavily ornamental decoration of some of my 

fair audiences, oppressive though it has appeared to me. But the bangled 

arms from wrist practically to elbow, the huge thick nose-rings with 

about a three-inch diameter which could with difficulty be suspended 

from two holes, proved beyond endurance, and I gently remarked that 

this heavy ornamentation added nothing to the beauty of the person, 

caused much discomfort, must often lead to disease, and was, I could 

plainly see, a repository of dirt." 

Gandhi feared he might have offended the ladies. But when he had 

finished speaking they crowded around him and brought him money, 

and many handed him their ornaments. He hoped Indian women would 

dispense with "these articles of personal furniture." 

Wearing his homespun loincloth, a radiant smile, and, usually, san¬ 

dals (sometimes he went barefoot), he would stride with long, easy 

steps to the speaker's platform and make his appeal. While the train 

waited during his meeting at a whistle stop in Bihar, Gandhi made a 

one-minute speech: "I have come here to do business," he said artlessly, 

"to collect money for the spinning wheel and khadi, and to sell khadi. 
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Who knows, this may be my last visit to Bihar. Let me do as much 

business as I can.” With that, he moved among the listeners asking (or 

“ringing testimony” o( their devotion to homespun. The people rang 

the tin bowl with their copper and nickel mites; 526 rupees were col¬ 

lected. (The rupee was one shilling and fourpence or about thirty-two 

cents.) Then he took an armful of homespun cotton cloth, or loincloths, 

or women's saris and sold them for as much as he could get. Mahadev 

Desai, his first secretary, Devadas, his youngest son, and other members 

of his group did likewise. 

It was the custom to present him with a purse collected before his 

arrival in larger towns. A purse might contain several hundred or even 

several thousand rupees. At the same time, ceremonial addresses of 

devotion were given to him. Many of these exquisitely executed docu¬ 

ments were enclosed in silver caskets. “Expensive caskets are not re¬ 

quired,” he admonished one committee, “for I have no use for them, 

nor have I any room to keep them in.” He tried selling a casket to the 

people who gave it to him, and not only did they not mind, they paid 

lavishly for it. So he made a habit of personally auctioning off such 

caskets; one brought 1,001 rupees. He did the same with floral garlands 

thrown around his neck. Why kill flowers unnecessarily, he argued, 

when they could “garland” him with a ring of yam. Yarn garlands 

became an Indian custom. 

“Bania,” Gandhi’s friends called him with amazement. He was the 

shrewd, successful businessman, but his income and profits were never 

for himself. 

An American friend asked me to get him the Mahatma’s photograph 

with a personal inscription. 1 found a photograph in the ashram, ex¬ 

plained the request, and asked him to sign. 

“If you give me twenty rupees for the Harijan Fund,” Gandhi said 

with a smile. 

"Ill give you ten.” He autographed it. 

When I told Devadas, he said, “Bapu would have done it for five.” 

In 1924, 1925, 1926, and 1927, the popularizing of khadi possessed 

Gandhi’s mind. Each issue of the weekly Young India devoted several 

pages to lists of persons and the exact number of yards of yam they 

had spun. Some spinners donated the yam to the fund which gave it 

to villages for weaving, others wove their own. Gandhi’s Sabarmati 
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Ashram was manufacturing simple spinning wheels, but in 1926 the 

manager announced that they had more orders than they could fill. 

Schools were giving courses in spinning. At G>ngress meetings, mem¬ 

bers would open a small box like a violin case, take out a collapsible 

spinning wheel, and spin noiselessly throughout the proceedings. 

Gandhi had set the fashion. 

Some of Gandhi’s closest friends accused him of khadi extremism; 

he exaggerated the possibility of restoring India’s village industries and 

overestimated the benefits that might accrue even if he were successful; 

this was the machine age; all his energy, wisdom, and holiness would 

not avail to turn back the clock. 

“A hundred and fifty years ago,” Gandhi replied, “we manufactured 

all our cloth. Our women spun fine yarns in their own cottages, and 

supplemented the earnings of their husbands. . . . India requires nearly 

thirteen yards of cloth per head per year. She produces, I believe, less 

than half the amount. India grows all the cotton she needs. She exports 

several million bales of cotton to Japan and Lancashire and receives 

much of it back in manufactured calico, although she is capable of 

producing all the cloth and all the yarn necessary for supplying her 

wants by hand-weaving and hand-spinning. . . . The spinning wheel 

was presented to the nation for giving occupation to the millions who 

had, at least for four months of the year, nothing to do. . . . We send 

out of India sixty crores [six hundred million] (more or less) of rupees 

for cloth. . . .” 

Many intellectuals sneered at khadi. Tlie stuff was coarse, they said. 

“Monotonous white shrouds,” some mocked. “The livery of our free¬ 

dom,” Jawaharlal Nehru replied. “I regard the spinning wheel as a 

gateway to my spiritual salvation,” Gandhi said. 

Gandhi was trying to bridge brain and brawn, to unite city and town, 

to link rich and poor. What greater service could he perform for a 

divided country and an atomized civilization? To help the underdog, 

Gandhi taught, you must understand him, and to understand him you 

must at least sometimes work as he does. Spinning was an act of love,' 

another channel of communication. It was also a method of organiza¬ 

tion. "Any single district that can be fully organized for khaddar is, if 

it is also trained for suffering, ready for civil disobedience.” Thus, khadi 

would lead to home-rule. 
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Gandhi asked townspeople and villagers to spend an hour a day at 

the wheel. "It affords a pleasant variety and recreation after hard toil.” 

Spinning does not replace other reforms; it is in addition to them. But 

he stressed them less than spinning. 

‘Tor me,” Gandhi reiterated, “nothing in the political world is more 

important than the spinning wheel.” One of India’s greatest intellec¬ 

tuals, with a brain as keen as Gandhi’s and as habitually skeptical as 

Gandhi was normally naive, enthusiastically supported the Mahatma’s 

khadi contentions. Chakravarty Rajagopalachari, the famous Madras 

lawyer, was second only to Gandhi in his sanguine expectations from 

the nationwide use of homespun. “Khadi work is the only true political 

program before the country,” he declared on April 6, 1926, in the 

textile-mill city of Ahmedabad. “You are living in a great city. You do 

not really know the amount of poverty that has overtaken the country 

called India. As a matter of fact, in India there are thousands and tens 

of thousands of villages where men do not get more than zVi rupees a 

month. There is no use shedding tears for them if we won’t wear a few 

yards of khadi which they have manufactured and want us to buy so 

that they may find a meal. If our hearts were not made of stone we 

would all be wearing khadi. Khadi means employment for the poor and 

freedom for India. Britain holds India because it is a fine market for 

Lancashire. . . .” 

Motilal Nehru also took to wearing khadi; he peddled it in the streets 

as Gandhi did. Intellectuals might scoff, but khadi began to have a 

fascination for them, and from the mid-1920’s, homespun became the 

badge of the Indian nationalist. A propagandist for independence would 

no more dream of going into a village in foreign clothes or foreign cloth 

or even in Indian mill cloth than be would think of speaking English 

at a peasant meeting. Apart from its economic value, whicb has not 

proved decisive, homespun was Gandhi’s peculiar contribution to the 

education of political India: he made it physically conscious of poor, 

uneducated, non-political India. Khadi was an adventure in identifica¬ 

tion between leadership and nation. Gandhi was prescribing for a 

disease which plagued independent India and most independent coun¬ 

tries. He knew that the tragedy of India’s history was tbe canyon be¬ 

tween the gold-silver-silk-brocade-jewel-elephant splendor of her palaces 
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and the animal poverty of her hovels; at the bottom of the canyon lay 

the debris of empires and the bones of millions of their victims. 

The work exhausted Gandhi. Three or four stops a day for meetings, 

overnight stands, a mountain-high correspondence which he never neg¬ 

lected, and unnumbered personal interviews with men and women 

who sought his word on the biggest political problems and their smallest 

personal difficulties—all in the great heat and humidity—wore him 

down. In November, 1925, therefore, he underux)k a seven-day fast. 

India worried about him, and protested. Why a fast? “The public 

will have to neglect my fasts and cease to worry about them,” Gandhi 

stated. “They are part of my being. I can as well do without my eyes, 

for instance, as 1 can without fasts. What the eyes are for the outer 

world, fasts are for the inner.” He would fast whenever the spirit moved 

him. The result, to be sure, might be disastrous. “I may be wholly 

wrong,” he admitted. “Then the world will be able to write an epitaph 

over my ashes: Well deserved, thou fool.’ But for the time being, my 

error, if it be one, must sustain me.” This was a personal fast; "this fast 

has nothing to do with the public. It is said, I am public property. 

... So be it. But I must be taken with all my faults. I am a searcher 

after truth. My experiments I hold to be infinitely more important than 

the best-equipped Himalayan expeditions.” He was trying to scale the 

spiritual heights; he thought fasts conduced to mental ascendancy over 

the body. 

Gandhi's fast brought him a tide of requests for his views on fasting; 

even in India his frequent abstentions from food were unusual. He gave 

his response in a Young India article. “With apologies to my medical 

friends,” it read, "but out of the fulness of my own experience and that 

of fellow-cranks, I say without hesitation. Fast C*) if you are consti¬ 

pated, (2) if you are anaemic, (3) if you are feverish, (4) if you have 

indigestion, (5) if you have a headache, (6) if you are rheumatic, (7) 

if you are gouty, (8) if you are fretting and foaming, (9) if you are 

depressed, (10) if you are overjoyed, and you will avoid medical pre¬ 

scriptions and patent medicines.” His patent medical prescription fw 

everything was fasting. “Eat only when you are hungyy" he added, “and 

when you have labored for your food.” 

His highest weight after being discharged from prison in February, 
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1924, he wrote in the same article, was 112 pounds. He was down to 

103 pounds when he started the fast. In the seven days he lost nine 

pounds but regained it quickly. Physically, he said, he lost nothing 

either from this fast or from the twenty-one-day fast in 1924. 

Water during fasts nauseated him without a pinch of salt or bicar¬ 

bonate of soda or a few drops of citrus juice. He never suffered any 

pangs of hunger during the fast; in fact, “I broke it half an hour later 

than I need have.” He spun every day, and attended the daily prayer 

meetings. The first three days of the fast, he wrote, ”1 worked practically 

from four in the morning dll eight in the evening,” doing articles, 

answering letters, giving interviews. On the fourth dav, his head ached. 

He accordingly abandoned work for a day; on the seventh day “I was 

able to write with a steady hand my article on the fast.” 

The article furnished nine rules for fasting; he himself broke the first 

which was “Conserve your energy both physical and mental from the 

very begiiuiing. 2. You must cease to think of food while you are fasting. 
3. Diink as much cold water as you can. ... 4. Have a warm sponge 

daily. 5. Take an enema regularly during fast. You will be surpised at 

the impurities you will expel daily. 6. Sleep as much as possible in the 

open ah. 7. Bathe in the morning air. A sun and air bath is at least as 

great a purifier as a water bath. 8. Think of anything else but your fast. 

9. No matter from what motive you are fasting, during this precious 

time think of your Maker, and of your relation to Him and His other 

creations, and you will make discoveries you may not have dreamed of.” 

It was for these discoveries that he fasted. 

Gandhi s year as president of Congress was now ended, and at Cawn- 

pore, in December, 1925, he relinquished the gavel to Mrs. Sarojini 

Naidu, mistress of lyric words. Gandhi then took a vow of a year’s 

“political silence." “At least up to twentieth December next,” he an¬ 

nounced in Young India of January 7, 1926, “I am not to stir out of the 

ashram, certainly not out of Ahmedabad” across the river. Body and 

aoul needed rest. 

The Swaraj party, which bad sent its people into the legislative coun¬ 
cils to obstruct the British government, veered slowly toward a measure 
of cooperation. A dissident group, headed by M. R. Jayakar and N. C. 
KeDunr, who believed in still nxm co-operation with the British, but leas 
with the Moslems, split off from the Swarajists and formed the Respon- 
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sivist party. It leaned toward the Hindu Mahasabha, a religious political 
party. In December, 1925, the Moslem League session at Ali^h, 
attended by jinnah, Mohamed Ali, and Sir Ali Imam, moved in the 
direction of religious politics. Gandhi had hoped to unite India (or 
nationalist liberation. But she was splitting at her religious seam. Polit¬ 
ical India, Gandhi found, was “disrupted and demoralized." It seemed 
a good time for silence. “Silence," he quoted, “is the true language of 
cosmic adoration.” 

CHAPTER TWENTY-BICHT 

The *'Silent" Year 

In the silent year there were fifty-two silent Mondays when Gandhi did 
not speak. On those days, he would listen to an interviewer and occa¬ 
sionally tear off a comer of a piece of paper and pencil a few words in 
reply. Since this was not the best way to conduct a conversation, the 
weekly day of silence gave him some privacy. 

In 1942,1 inquired of Gandhi what lay behind his day of silence. 
“It happened when I was being tom to pieces,” he explained. '1 was 

working very hard, traveling in hot trains, incessantly speaking at many 
meetings, and being approached in trains and elsewhere by thousands 
people who asked questions, made pleas, and wished to pray with me. 
I wanted to rest (or one day a week. So 1 instituted the day of silence. 
Later, of course, I clothed it with all kinds of virtues and gave it a 
spiritual cloak. But the motivation was really nothing more dian that 
1 wanted to have a dav off.” 

He liked to debunk himself. Questioned further, he would hive 
agreed, however, that silence offered an opportuni^ for spiritual 
exercise. 

Apart from the fifty-two Mondays, the "silent” year was in no sense 
silent. He did not travel, he addres^ no mass meetings; but he talked. 
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wrote, received visitor^ and maintained a correspondence with thou¬ 

sands (d persons in India and other countries. 

On April I, 1926, Lord Irwin (who later became Lord Halifax, For¬ 

eign Sectary of the United Kingdom, and British Ambassador to 

Washington) arrived in India to succeed Lord Reading as Viceroy. But 

the fateful change was not mentioned in Young India, nor did Gandhi 

seem to have noted it in any other way. He was still a non-co-operator 

working on the masses instead of on the Viceroy. His motto was Swaraj 

from within. 

One extremely important change, however, was noticeable in 

Gandhi’s attitude: he began to suspect that Britain’s policy militated 

against Hindu-Moslem friendship. ‘”1110 government of India,” he wrote 

on August 12, 1926, "is based on distrust. Distrust involves favoritism, 

and favoritism must breed division.” The government apj^red to prefer 

Moslems. 

Gandhi had thought that Hindu-Moslem amity would bring self-rule 

to India. Now he felt that Hindu-Moslem amity was almost impossible 

while the British, "the third party,” were there. 

Thus religious peace, the prerequisite of independence, could only 

follow independence. 

This dilemma notwithstanding, Gandhi remained hopeful: “The 

unity will come in spite of ourselves. . . . Where man's effort may fail 

God’s will succeed, and His government is not based upn divide and 

rule’ policy.” Meanwhile, there had been bloody fighting 'ictween the 

two religious communities in several parts of India. 

Gandhi’s prescription was better treatment of the Moslem minority 

by the Hindu majority and non-violence by both. Hindus vitriolically 

accused him of being pro-Moslem. 

But the year’s fiercest controversy involved dogs. For months, the 

stmm raged about the Mahatma’s head. 

Ambalal Sarabhai, the big textile millowner of Ahmedabad, rounded 

up sixty stray dogs that frequented his large industrial properties and 

h^ them killed. 

Having destroyed the dogs, Sarabhai was disturbed and shared his 

anguish with the Mahatma. 'What else could be done?” said Gandhi. 

The Ahmedabad Humanitarian Society learned of this conversation 

and turned on Gandhi. “Is that a fact?” it demanded in a letter sent to 
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the ashram. Did he say, "What else could be done? ... And if so, what 
does it mean? . . . 

"When Hinduism forbids the taking of the life of any living being," 
the letter fumed, “when it declares it to be a sin, do you think it right 
to kill rabid dogs for the reason that they would bite human beings and 
by biting other dogs make them also rabid?" 

Gandhi published the letter in Young India under the caption, "Is 

This Humanity?” The letter and his reply filled the entire first page 

and half the second page. Yes, it was true. He had said, ‘What else 

could be done?" and having thought it over, “1 . . . feel that my reply 

was quite proper. ... 

"Imperfect, erring mortals as we are," he declared in explanation, 

"there is no course open to us but the destruction of rabid dogs. At times 

we may be faced with the unavoidable duty of killing a man who is 

found in the act of killing |xx)ple.” 

The next issue of Young India gave its front page to the same ques¬ 

tion under the same caption, "Is This Humanity? ’ The first article had 

brought a deluge of “angry letters.” Worse, people came to Gandhi to 

insult him. "At an hour," he wrote, “when after a hard day’s work I was 

about to retire to bed, three friends invaded me, infringed the religion 

of non-violence in the name of humanity, and engaged me in a discus¬ 

sion on it." Gandhi used the w-ord "friends" only because he considered 

everybody a friend. One of the “friends ” was a Jain, and he “betrayed 

anger, bitterness and arrogance." 

Gandhi had grown up under the influence of the absolute non¬ 

violence of Jainism. "Many take me to be a Jain," Gandhi declared. But 

Mahavira, the founder of Jainism, “was an incarnation of compassion, 

of non-violence. How I wish his votaries were votaries also of non¬ 

violence." 

Gandhi stuck to his guns. “Hie multiplication of dogs is,” he wrote, 
“unnecessary. A roving dog without an owner is a danger to society and 
a swarm of them is a menace to its very existence." If people were really 
religious, dogs would have owners. “There is a regular science of dog- 
keeping in the West.... We should learn it.” 

Hie dog mail continued to come; "some of the hostile critics have 
transgressed the limits of decorum,” Gandhi asserted in the next Yotmg 
India which devoted almost three pages to the matter. One man had 
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demanded an interview and then, without permission, published the 

substance of it in a leaflet which he was hawking in the streets. “Does 

he seek to teach me in this manner?” Gandhi wondered. “He who is 

an^ is guilty of violence. How can such a man teach me non-violence? 

"Even so," Gandhi continued, “the hostile critics are doing me a 

service. They teach me to examine myself. They afford me an oppor* 

tunity to sec if 1 am free from the reaction of anger. And when 1 go to 

the root of their anger I find nothing but love." How did he arrive at 

that strange conclusion? Because, he said, "They had attributed to me 

non-violence as they understand it. Now they find me acting in a con¬ 

trary manner and are angry with me. 

“1 do not mind their outburst of anger,” he asserted. “I appreciate the 

motive behind it. I must try to reason with them patiently. . . .” 

He reasrmed thus; It is a sin to feed stray dogs. "It is a false sense of 

compassion. It is an insult to a starving dog to throw a crumb at him. 

Roving dogs do not indicate the civilization or compassion of the society, 

they betray on the contrary the ignorance and lethargy of its members. 

The lower animak are our brethren. I include among them the lion and 

the tiger. We do not know how to live with these carnivorous beasts 

and poisonous reptiles because of our ignorance. When man learns 

better he will leam to befriend even these. Today he does not even 

know how to befriend a man of a different religion or from a different 

country.” 

Gandhi probably suspected that some of the dog-lovers v/ould howl 

less if sixty Moslems or Englishmen had been killed. 

The humane man, Gandhi wrote, would finance a society to keep the 

stray do^; or he would harbor some himself. But if the state did not 

care for them, and if householders would not keep them, the dogs had 

to be destroyed. "The dogs in India,” Gandhi mourned, "are today in as 

bad a plight as the decrepit animals and men in the land." 

CThen why not kill the decrepit cows?) 

“Taking life may be a duty,” Gandhi proceeded. "Suppose a man 

runs amok and goes furiously about, sword in hand, and killing any one 

who comes bis way, and no one dares to capture him alive. Any one who 

dispatched dris lunatic will earn the gratitude of the community. . . 

Many correspondents demanded personal replies and threatened to 

attack him if they got lume. He said he could not answer the mountain 
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of letters that had reached him on this subject, but he would continue 
to deal with them in his magazines. Four more issues of Young India 
gave several columns each to the dog problem. In one Ahmedabad hos¬ 
pital, Gandhi reported, 1,117 cases of hydrophobia had been treated in 
1925 and 990 in 1926. Again he urged India to follow the West in this 
matter; “If any one thinks that the people in the West are innocent of 
humanity he is sadly mistaken.” And then comos a sting: “The ideal of 
humanity in the West is perhaps lower, but their pactice of it is very 
much more thorough than ours. We rest content with a lofty ideal and 
are slow or lazy in its pactice. We are wrappd in deep darkness, as is 
evident from our pauprs, cattle and other animals. They are eloquent 
of our irreligion rather than of religion.” 

His pro-dog attitude showed he was under Western influence, cor- 
respndents charged. Patiently he reasoned with the furious. He con¬ 
demned some features of Western civilization and had learned from 
others, he told them. Moreover, opinions should he judged by content 
not by their source. 

“Letters on this subject are still puring in,” Gandhi announced in 
the third month of the controversy, but since their only contribution 
was venom he ignored them. 

The dog fight established the record for heat in the “silent year.” But 
a little calf also precipitated a storm. A young heifer in the ashram fell 
ill. Gandhi tended it and watched it suffer and decided it ought to be 
put to death. Kasturbai objected strenuously. Then she must gp and 
nurse the animal, Gandhi suggested. She did, and the animal's torment 
convinced her. In Gandhi’s presence, a doctor administered an injection 
which killed the heifer. The protest mail was heavy and fierce. Gandhi 
insisted he had done right. 

Frank sex discussions filled many Letters to the Editor. “My corre- 
spndence with young men on their private conduct,” Gandhi wrote, "is 
increasing.” They asked his advice. 

Taking advantage of relative leisure in the “silent par,” Gandhi read 
Havelock Ellis, Forel, Paul Bureau’s Toward Mortd Bankruptcy, and 
other Eumpan authorities on family and sex. His interest in the sex 
life of Indians always remained high. He believed that early and fre¬ 
quent sexual intercourse had a debilitating effect on Indians; he under¬ 
stood the implications of the rapid increase in his country’s populadon. 
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(In the iSMo’s, the population of India was increasing five million each 
year.} He wrapped this problem too in a spiritual cloak, and, taking a 
leaf out of sacr^ Hindu books, advocated chastity for religious reasons. 
But the biological and economic aspects of the situation did not escape 
him. 

In many articles that came from his pen, or pencil, in “silent” 1926, 
and often thereafter, Gandhi consistently opposed the use of contracep¬ 
tives; they were a Western vice. But he did not oppose birth control. 
He always advocated birth control. The birth control he favored, how¬ 
ever, was through self-control, through the power of the mind over the 
body. “Self-control,” he wrote, “is the surest and only method of regu¬ 
lating the birth rate.” Without such discipline, he contended, man was 
no better than a brute. He maintained that abstinence forever or for 
Itmg periods was neither physically nor {Kvchologically harmful. Gandhi 
and his closest ashram associates practiced Brahmacharya, complete con¬ 
tinence; people in general, he said, might indulge in sex for purposes 
of procreation, but not to gratify animal passion. He denied “that sexual 
indulgence for its own sake is a human necessity.” 

A correspondent wrote: "In my case, three weeks seem to be the 
utmost period of beneficial abstention. At the end of that period I 
usually feel a heaviness of body, a restlessness both of bodv and mind, 
leading to bad temper. Relief is obtained either by normal coitus or 
nature herself coming to the rescue by an involuntary dis^hargp. Far 
from feeling weak or nervous, I become the next morning calm and 
light and am able to proceed to my work with added gusto.” Many 
similar cases were brought to Gandhi's notice. 

Dipping into his personal experience, Gandhi said in reply, “Ability 
to retain and assimilate the vital liquid is a matter of long training.” 
Once achieved, it strengthens bcxly and mind. The vital liquid, “capable 
of produdng such a wonderful being as man, cannot but, when properly 
conserved, be transmuted into matchless energy and strength.” 

Realistically, in Harijan magazine of September 14, 19:^5, Gandhi 
wrote, "Assuming that birth control by artificial aids is justifiable under 
cotain conditions, it seems to be utterly impracticable of application 
among the millions.” India was poor and ignorant because she was too 
poOT and ignorant to apply birth control by contraceptives. Therefore, 
Gandhi urged other means of reducing the population. Contraceptives 



The •'Silent" Year 241 

led to overindulgence with the result that "a society that has already 
become enervated through a variety of causes will become still furtha 
enervated by the adoption of artificial methods." 

Gandhi endeavored to delay the marriage of his own sons. Time vdth* 
out number, he attacked the institution of child marriage: “Early mar¬ 
riage are a fruitful source of life, adding to the population. . . .” He 
conceded, of course, that the earth should produce enou^ to support 
all who are bom on it, but, as a religious man with a strong practical 
sense, he saw the necessity of population limitation. "If,” be wrote 
Charles Freer Andrews, “1 could find a way of stopping procreation in 
a civil and voluntary manner v/hilst India remains in the present miser¬ 
able state 1 would do so today.” The only manner he countenanced was 
mental discipline. To the strong and saintly he proposed lifelong 
bramacharya; to the mass, he proposed late marriage, in the mid-twenties 
if possible, and self-control thereafter. In the ashram, the minimum 
marriage age for girls was twenty-one. He recognized human frailties 
but insisted that unspiced food, the right kind of clothes, the right kind 
of work, walking, gymnastics, unspiced literature, prayer, pure films 
(Indian films to this day prohibit kissing on the screen), and devotion 
to God would relieve the tension in modern life and conduce to the 
sexual self<ontrol which most persons unthinkingly consider unnatural. 
Gandhi's writings on these matters, though they appeared in his small- 
circulation Young India and Gujarat Navajii’an, were, like almost 
everything he said, reprinted in the entire Indian press. 

A cognate question attracted Gandhi’s special attention during the 
“silent” year: child widows. According to the official British census for 
1921, which he cited, there were in India 11,892 widows less than five 
years old; 85,037 widows between the ages of five and ten; and 232,147 
widows between ten and fifteen; together 329,076 widows under sixteen. 

‘The existence of girl widows," Gandhi exclaimed, “is a blot upon 
Hinduism.” Parents would marry their baby daughters to baby sons of 
other families, or even to old men, and if the husband died, either in 
infancy or of senility, the widow could not, under Hindu law, remarry. 
Defiantly, Gandhi declared, “I consider remarriage of virgin widows not 
only desirable but the bounden duty of all parents who happen to have 
such widowed daughters.” Some of these youthful widows woe no 
longer virgins but prostitutes. “The remedy in anticipation," he wrote, 
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"is to prevent early marriages.” To those bigoted Hindus who, loyal to 
every immoral custom, deeded the proscription against second mar¬ 
riage of child widows, Gandhi retorted, ‘They were never married at 
all.” The wedding of a child is a sacrilege, not a sacred rite. His deepest 
feeling about child widows was expressed in one sweet sentence, “They 
are strangers to love.” Chastity had to be the deliberate and voluntary 
act of a mature person, not the imposition of cruel parents on children. 
Gandhi wanted all human beings to know love. Rut a widow, or 
widower, who had married as an adult should not remarry, he said; they 
had tasted love. This proscription constituted another birth-control 
technique. 

Protection of the cow, protection of Indians in South Africa where 
race hate was again rampant, prohibition, and world peace also excited 
Gandhi’s reforming zeal during his Sabbatical year. 

Occasionally, some proverbs drop|)ed from his pen: "Any secrecy 
hinders the real spirit of democracy”; “If we could erase the Ts’ and 
‘Mine’s’ from religion, politics, economics, etc., we should be free and 
bring heaven on earth.” Occasionally, too, he made brief excursions into 
religion, but there was remarkably little discussion in print about God, 
metaphysics, and kindred topics. One thought he did leave with his 
readers: “Rationalists are admirable beings,” he wrote in an article on 
the efficacy of prayer; “rationalism is a hideous monster when it claims 
for itself omnipotence. Attribution of omnipotence to reason is as bad a 
piece of idolatry as is worship of stick and stone believing it to be God. 
... I do not know a single rationalist who has never done anything in 
simple faith.... But we all know millions of human beings living their 
more or less orderly lives because of their childlike faith in the Maker 
of us all. That very faith is a prayer. ... I plead not for the suppression 
of reason, but for due recognition of that in us which sanctions reason 
itself.” 

“Mankind cannot live by logic alone, but also needs poetry,” he once 
wrote. Gandhi frequently left the field of sensory perception and ra¬ 
tional mental processes for that middle zone of faith, instinct, intuition, 
and love, but he never wandered away from it into the rarefied realm 
of mystic messages, miracles, hallucinations, prophecy, and other un¬ 
accountable manifestations of mind and body. "Whilst he did not rule 
out die authenticity of supra-sensuous phenomena,” says one of hit 
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closest disciples, "he very strongly disapproved of pursuing them." He 
judged men and events by the criteria of cold facts and invited others 
to judge him rationally. He did not wish to influence people by mystic 
radiation. His estimate of himself was severely sober. His work was 
practical and its goal was practical success. He told Muriel Lester, an 
Englishwoman, that he “never heard a voice, saw a vision, or had some 
reco^ized experience of God.” No mystic experience had been vouch¬ 
safed to him. His guide was reason on the wing of faith. 

Gandhi’s reputation abroad was spreading. Romain Holland, the 
French author, wrote a book about him. Many invitations reached him, 
especially from America, to come on a visit. He rejected them. "My 
reason is simple,” he explained, “I have not enough self-confidence to 
warrant my going to America. 1 have no doubt that the movement for 
non-violence has come to stay. I have no doubt whatsoever about its 
final success. But I cannot give an ocular demonstration of the efficacy 
of non-violence. Till then, I feel I must continue to preach from the 
narrower Indian platform.” 

Two American women, Mrs. Kelly and Mrs. Langeloth, representing 
the Fellowship of Faith, the League of Neighbors, and the Union of 
East and West, actually came to Sabarmati to invite the Mahatma. First 
they cross-examined him; "Is it true that you object to railways, steam- 
shijjs and other means of speedy locomotion?” 

"It is and it is not,” Gandhi replied patiently, for the thousandth time, 
and urged them to read his Indian Home Rule. More conversation of 
the same kind followed. He was afraid, in the end, that they did not 
understand his attitude to the machine and speed, because they had to 
catch a train and left early. 

Gandhi was in no hurry either personally or politically, and sat sdll 
for a year. He seemed to enjoy his 1926 moratorium from politics. It 
gave his body time to rest and his spirit a chance to roam. He played 
more with the children. He participated in an ashram spinning contest. 
He and Kasturbai, the oldest members of the community, were beaten 
by the youngest, their granddaughter. The announcement evoked great 
hilarity. 

/ 

He cultivated his friends, Rajagopalachari, the lawyer with the razor- 
edge brain; Mahadev Desai, who was a secretary and an apostle; and 
"Charlie” Andrews, two years Gandhi’s junior, whom Gandhi called 
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"The Good Samaritan.” He "is more than a blood brother to me,” 
Gandhi said. “1 do not think that I can claim a deeper attachment to 
anyone than to Mr. Andrews.” The Hindu saint had found no better 
saint than Andrews. The Christian missionary had found no better 
Christian than Gandhi. Perhaps the Indian and Englishman were 
brothers because they were truly religious. Perhaps religion brought 
them together because nationality did not separate them. "Each coun¬ 
try,” Andrews said, speaking of England and India, “has become equally 
dear to me.” Gandhi declared, “1 would not hurt England or Germany 
to serve India.” In a letter to Andrews dated Calcutta, December 27, 
1928, Gandhi wrote, “The most forward nationalists in India have not 
been haters of the West or of England or in any other way narrow . . . 
but they have been internationalists under the guise of nationalism.” 

Where nationalism does not divide, religion can make men brothers. 

CHAPTER TWENTYNINE 

Collapse 

Gandhi emerged from the year of silence with views unchanged. His 
program was sdll Hindu-Moslem unity, the removal of untouchabiUty, 
and the promotion of homespun. Indeed, Gandhi’s program in its sim¬ 
plest terms remained the same for decades. The vision of the future of 
India which he outlined in 1909 in his booklet Indian Home Rule 

guided him to the end of his days. In 1921, at the height of the non¬ 
cooperation movement, he had sent Andrews to tell the Viceroy that if 
the government would help promote home spinning and weaving in the 
villages and suppress alcohol and opium he would drop nonoooperation. 
The government did not reply. He would have settled for khadi and 
pndiibition at any time in his career. But khadi struck at British trade 
and prohibition at government revenue. 

Living Sabarmati Ashram in December, 1926, Gandhi worked his 
way hrom meeting to meeting dll he reached Gauhad, in northeast 
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India, in the province of Assam, to attend the annual session of Con¬ 
gress. En route, he received word of a tragedy which horrified btdia. 
A young Moslem named Abdul Rashid had called on Swami Shtad- 
dhanand, a well-known Hindu nationalist, and said he wished to discuss 
religious problems with him. The Swami, or priest, was ill in bed; his 
doctor had ordered complete repose. When the Swami heard the alter¬ 
cation outside his room between his servant and the insistent visitor he 
ordered the man admitted. Inside, the Swami told Abdul Rashid that 
he would be glad to talk with him as soon as he felt stronger. The 
Moslem asked for water. When the servant left to fetch him a drink, 
Abdul Rashid pulled out a revolver and fired several bullets into the 
Swami’s breast, killing him. 

The Moslem press had been attacking the Swami as a proponent of 
Hindu domination of Indi.'i. In an address to Congress, Gandhi assured 
the Moslems that the Swami had not been their enemy. He said Abdul 
Rashid was not guilty. The guilty ones were "those who excited feelings 
of hatred against one another." He referred to the assassin repeatedly 
as his “brother." 

The British too were brothers. Extreme nationalists at the Confess 
session moved a resolution in favor of independence and the severance 
of all tics with England. Gandhi opposed it. “They betray want of faith 
in human nature and therefore in themselves,” he said. “Why do they 
think there can never be a change of heart in those who are guiding the 
British Empire?" If India were dignified and strong, England would 
change. 

Gandhi accordingly continued his efforts to strengthen the nation 
from within; otherwise, resolutions in favor of independence were empt)' 
words and vain gestures. 

Again, therefore, Gandhi toured the country. At meetings where he 
saw a sector of the grounds set apart for untouchables he squatted 
among them and challenged Brahmans and other caste Hindus to come 
and do likewise. The Mahatma on active service for India could not be 
disobeyed. 

During some speeches, he would lift his left hand and open up the 
five fingers. Taking the first finger between two fingers of his right hand 
he would shake it and say, "This is equality for untouchables,” and even 
those who could not hear him would ask for and get an explanation 
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later on fitom those who had. Then the second finger: 'This is spin¬ 
ning." The third finger was sobriety; no alcohol, no opium. The fourth 
was Hindu-Moslem friendship. The fifth was equality for women. The 
hand was bound to the body by the wrist. The wrist was non-violence. 
The five virtues, through non-violence, would free the body of each one 
of them and, hence, India. 

Sometimes, if he was too tired or the crowd too noisy, he would sit 
on the platform in silence till the audience, which often numbered two 
hundred thousand, became quiet. He then continued to sit in silence, 
and the men and women sat in silence, and he touched his palms to¬ 
gether to bless them, and smiled, and departed. This was communica¬ 
tion without words, and the mass silence was an exercise in self-control 
and self-searching, a step therefore toward self-rule. 

Thousands of townspeople came to meetings wearing khadi. In one 
locality, the laundry men, the indispensable men of India, refused to 
wash an3rthing but homespun. A primitive tribe gave up alcohol when 
they heard it w’as the Mahatma's wish. His attacks on child marriage 
met with wider acceptance. Women mixed with men at meetings. 

But the Hindu-Moslem problem defied Gandhi’s efforts. "I am help- 
kss," he admitted. “1 have now washed my hands. But I am a believer 
in God. . . . Something within tells me that Hindu-Moslem unity will 
come sooner than we might care to hope, that God will one day force it 
on us, in spite of ourselves. That is why 1 said that it has passed into 
the hands of God." This formula comforted him, but it did not relax the 
tension. Hindus and Moslems were kidnaping one anotbix’s womenfolk 
and children and forcibly converting them. 

From Calcutta, Gandhi moved down through Bihar to the country 
of the Marathas, Tilak's country. At Poona, the students demanded he 
speak English; their language was Marathi which Gandhi did not com¬ 
mand. He started in English and then switched to Hindustani, which 
he wanted to have accepted as the national langua^. Some students 
were friendly; one sold his gold medal for khadi. Some students were 
hostile. In Bombay, however, the people overwhelmed him with kind¬ 
ness, and money. It was^ his otvn Gujarat region. Thence he returned 
to Poona to take the train for Bangalore and a tour of the Carnatic, in 
southeast India. 

At the Poona station, Gandhi felt so weak he had to be carried into 
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the Bangebre train. His vision was blurred and he could scarcely scrib¬ 
ble an urgent note. Sleep that night refreshed him, and the next day, at 
Kolhapur, in the Deccan [vincely states, he addressed seven meetings: 
the untouchables insisted on their own meetings and dragged Gandhi 
to their school. The women had a special affair; the children too; the 
non-Brahmans; the Christians; the khadi workers; the students. At the 
close of the final meeting, Gandhi collapsed. 

Yet he went on. The next day he felt too ill to make speeches, but 
he sat on the porch of his host’s house while multitudes passed. Then he 
drove to a meeting to receive a purse of 8,457 rupees for khadi. At 
Belgaum, over a hundred miles from Kolhapur, he also attended a meet¬ 
ing, but did not speak. Finally, a doctor persuaded him that his condi¬ 
tion was serious and he had to rest. He was taken to a hill town swept 
by sea breezes. 

Under pressure from his friend and physician. Dr. Jivra) Mehta, and 
others, Gandhi agreed to rest for two months. But why couldn't he go 
home to Sabarmati where his upkeep would cost less moneyr He was 
told that the altitude and salubrious climate would help him recover 
more quickly. He said he did not wish "to vegetate. ’ VVell, he could 
continue working on his autobiography and do light reading. 

“What is light reading?” Gandhi asked. 
"You must not spin,” the doctor continued. "Your blood pressure is 

too high.” This raised a fierce protest. 
"Take my blood pressure before and after spinning,” Gandhi urged. 

"Besides, what a glorious death to die spinning." 1 le did spin. But he 
agreed not to answer correspondence, not to work. 

"Well, my cart has stuck in the mire,” he WTOte the women of Sabar¬ 
mati Ashram. "Tomorrow it might break dowm beyond hope of repair. 
What then? Gitaji [the Bhagavad Gita] proclaims that everyone that 
is born must die, and everyone that dies must be born again. Everyone 
comes, repays part of his obligation, and goes his way.” 

The sale of khadi was medicine to Gandhi. The chief of the native 
state and his wife came for a visit and bought some homespun. Devadas 
and Mahadev Desai went out to peddle khadi and came back widi 
purses full. 

Soon Gandhi commenced to write articles for his tw^i magazines. His 
blood pressure was down, he reported, “from 180 to 155, and from 155 
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to 150 which is normal for my age. I have been walking for the last 
three days over one mile per day in two periods. . . .” He suggested a 
fast; that would cure him. The doctors dissuaded him with difficulty. 
Hiey suggnted recreation instead. 

"Like backgammon, or whist or bridge, or pingpong?” Gandhi 
laughed. 

They could propose nothing definite. 
“So your proposal has ended in smoke,” he teased. “It cannot be 

otherwise. What can you suggest where all work is play ... ?” He had 
a proposition. “Get me a carpenter’s tool box and broken spinning 
wheels and 1 shall repair them, or crooked spindles and I shall make 
them straight.” 

During April, 1927, he remained in the native state of Mysore, re¬ 
cuperating. Hie prime minister of the state appeared for a visit, and in 
the course of the conversation he assured Gandhi that he had no objec¬ 
tion to the wearing of homespun by Mysore officials. Gandhi went to 
iitspect the Methodist Mission School for girls at Bangalore, capital of 
Mysore. He told the teachers that E. Stanley Jones, the American 
missionary, had promised him to introduce spinning in the Methodist 
mission schools. He joked with the pupils and asked them to wear khadi. 

Dr. B. C. Roy, Gandhi’s physician in later years, and Dr. Mancher- 
shah Gilder, an Indian who practiced medicine in Bombay and London, 
have stated that Gandhi had a "slight stroke" at Kolhapur in March, 
1927. Neither found any physical aftereffects. Dr. Gilder, who was 
Gandhi’s heart specialist after 1932, said that the Mahatma’s heart was 
stnmger than in an average man his age. He never knew Gandhi’s blood 
pressure to rise except when an important decision was in the making. 
On one occasion, Gandhi went to bed with high blood pressure; in the 
mtnming it was normal, because, during the night, he had made up his 
mind on a crucial question. 'The presence of irritating persons, or public 
attacks on him, or concern about his work. Dr. Gilder declared, never 
affected Gandhi’s blood pressure; only the seif-wrangling that preceded 
a decision brought on a rise. 

The “slight stroke” of 1927, accompanied by high blood pressure, 
may have been due to overwork at a time when the political situation 
did not permit Gandhi to reach a decision in favor of a new civil dis¬ 
obedience campaign. From the moment he came out of jail in 1924, 
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Gandhi watched for an opportunity to renew non-cooperation. This vm 

his goal. Everything else was preparation for it. More than ever, co¬ 
operation with the British, or even obstruction to the British in the 
legislative assemblies, appeared to him a waste of dme. 

Most co-operators were loyal to Gandhi. Vithalbhai Patel, president 
of the national Legislative Assembly at New Delhi, brother of Val- 
labhbhai Patel, Gandhi's close associate, had been sending more than 
half his handsome British salary to Gandhi by check every month for 
constructive work. Others did likewise. Civil disobedience, Gandhi felt, 
would unite co-operators and non<ooperators. Only civil disobedience 
would impel the British to yield real power; under dyarchy they yielded 
die semblance of power. 

But “the present look of things” between Hindus and Moslems, 
Gandhi wrote in Young India of June i6, 1927, was “ugly.” He yearned 
to do something, perhaps to fast, in order to “melt and change the stony 
hearts of 1 lindus and Moslems. But I have no sign from God within to 
undertake the penance.” 

Hindu-Moslem dissension, Gandhi said, proved that Indians could 
not regulate their own affairs. 'Hicn what claim had they on the British 
for more power? It was not enough to reply that Britain made use of 
their division or even created it. Why did Indians give England this 
advantage? 

Gandhi put his faith in God; when all seemed lost maybe the British 
would help. They did. 

Lord Irwin, the new Viceroy, had arrived in India in April, 1926, at 
the age of forty-five, to relieve Reading. From his grandfather, the first 
Viscount Halifax, who had served in India and as Secretary of State 
for India in Whitehall, he inherited a bond with India. From his father 
he aetjuired an attachment to the Church of England and High Church 
ideas. In fact, on his arrival, on Good Friday, in Bombay, he postponed 
the ceremonies that accompany the advent of a new Viceroy and went 
to church. 

The choice of a religious man as Viceroy was regarded in some 
quarters as auspicious for his five-year reign over a religious country 
in which a Mahatma led the opposition. 

But for nineteen months, Irwin sent no invitation to Gandhi nor 
indicated any desire to discuss the Indian situation with the most in- 
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fluendal Indian. On October 16, 1927, while filling speaking engage- 
nients at Mangalore, on the west coast, a message reached Gandhi that 
the Viceroy wished to see him November 5th. 

The Mahatma immediately broke off his tour and traveled the 1,250 
miles—a two-day train journey—to New Delhi. At the appointed hour 
he was ushered into the presence of Lord Irwin. He did not enter alone. 
The Viceroy had also asked Vithalbai Patel, the president of the na¬ 
tional Legislative Assembly, S. Srinivasa Iyengar, the president of the 
Congress party for 1927, and Dr. M. A. Ansari, the president-elect of 
Congress for 1928. 

When the Indians had been seated, Irwin handed them a paper 
announcing the impending arrival of an official British commission, led 
by Sir John Simon, to report on Indian conditions and make recom¬ 
mendations for political reforms. 

Having read the text, Gandhi looked up and waited. The Viceroy 
said nothing. 

"Is this the only business of our meeting?" Gandhi asked. 
“Yes,” replied the Viceroy. 
That was the end of the interview. Silently, Gandhi returned to 

southern India and from there went on to the island of Ceylon to 
collect money for khadi. 

In the days following Irwin’s confrontation with Gandhi, other 
Indian leaders were informed, in similar fashion, of the forthcoming visit 
of the Simon Commission. In no case was there any discussion or elabo¬ 
ration. 'The Viceroy simply said that under Section 84a of the Govern¬ 
ment of India Act of 1919, which provided for ten-year surveys, a 
Statutory Commission consisting of Sir John Simon and six other mem¬ 
bers of the British House of Commons and House of Lords would soon 
arrive in India to investigate and to suggest changes, if any were 
necessary, in the Indian political system. Irwin expected Indians to 
testify before the commission and submit proposals to it. 

Irwin’s biographer, Alan Campbell Johnson, describes this episode 
as "a deplorable lack of tact in the handling of the Indian leaders.’’ 
The blame was shared by Irwin and Lord Birkenhead, the Secretary 
of State for India in the British government. Birkenhead, a brilliant 
lawyer, made Indian policy in Whitehall. In doing so he was guided by 



Collapse 251 

an attitude epitomized in bis pronouncement in the House of Lotds in 
1929. “What man in this House," Birkenhead asked rhetorically, “can 
say that he can see in a generation, in two generations, in a hundred 
years, any prospect that the people of India will be -in a position to 
assume control of the Army, the Navy, the Civil Service, and to have 
a Governor-General who will be responsible to the Indian government 
and not to any authority in this country?" The legal mind had no eyes; 
yet he, with Irwin, ruled India. 

The Simon Commission was the premature child of Birkenhead's 
brain. Under the Act of 1919, the commission might have been 
created a year or two later, but a national election was imminent in 
Britain, and Birkenhead feared that his Tory party might be defeated 
by Labor, as indeed it was, in 1929. Tliis being the case, the Indians 
were all the more disappointed that the Labor party should have lent 
itself to Birkenhead's maneuver by allowing Major Clement R. Attlee, 
then a less-known M.P., to serve with Simon. 

The news of the Simon Commission astounded India. The Com¬ 
mission would determine the fate of India, but it had no Indian mem¬ 
ber. The British explained that it was a commission of Parliament and 
must therefore consist of peers or M.P.'s. But there was an Indian peer. 
Lord Sinha. No, India did not accept the explanation. Indians were 
being treated as "nativesthe whites would come, look around, and 
decide the fate of the dumb, brown Asiatics. Are these the fruits of 
co-operation, the Gandhian non-co-operators scoffed. 

Spontaneously, a movement sprang up throughout India not to help 
the Simon Commission in its studies, not to lay plans before it. Sir Tej 
Bahadur Sapru, a great Indian constitutional lawyer, former member 
of the Viceroy’s Advisory Council, persuaded the Liberal party of India 
to vote for boycott. The Hindu Mahasabha wavered for a moment and 
then followed the lead of Pandit Madan Malaviya into the bo}xx>tt 
camp. Congress was of course unanimous for boycott, and needed no 
promptings from Gandhi. Mr. Jinnah, of the revived Moslem League, 
also seemed inclined to join the boycott. Irwin, according to his H<jg- 
rapher, "did his utmost to bring Jinnah back into the fold and made 
a substantial offer to him." But a rude speech by Birkenhead challeng¬ 
ing Indians to produce "an agreed scheme" of future government con- 
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vinced Jinnah that the British were playing on Indian religious divisions 
and caused him to spurn the Viceroy s “substantial ofFer.” One touch of 
Birkenhead made all Indians non-co-operate. 

Upon its arrival in Bombay on February 3, 1928, the Simon G)m- 
mission was greeted with black flags and processions shouting, "Go back, 
Simon.” This slogan, chanted by Indians who sometimes knew no other 
English words, rang in the commissioners’ ears throughout their stay in 
India. The boycott was political and social. The commission was isolated. 

Simon tried his hand at compromise. Irwin tempted and cajoled. A 
few bitter or ambitious untouchables and a handful of small-town poli¬ 
ticians were induced to come before the Simonites. But no representative 
Indian would see them. They toiled honestly, and produced an intelli¬ 
gently edited compendium of valuable facts and statistics. It was a 
learned epitaph on British rule. 

The first Gandhi-Irwin interview of November 5, 1927, stood for 
inequality; the composition of the Simon Commission stood for ex¬ 
clusion. Both principles riled Gandhi and the Indian people. 

By 1930, however, Gandhi had changed the relationship between 
India and England to one of negotiation between hard bargainers. By 
1930, automatic Indian obedience to British fiat was a thing of the past. 
Imperceptibly, in 1928, 1929, and 1930, unknown even to themselves, 
and scarcely noticed by outsiders, Indians became free men. The body 
still wore shackles; but the spirit had escaped from prison. Gandhi had 
turned the key. No general directing armies against an enemy ever 
moved with more consummate skill than the saint armed with righteous¬ 
ness as his shield and a moral cause as his spear. All of Gandhi’s years 
in South Africa were preparation for the 1928-30 struggle; all his work 
in India since 1915 prepared the Indian people for it. He did not plan 
it that way. But in perspective, his activities make a delicate design. 
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CHAPTER THIRTY 

Prologue 

Gandhi moved into battle very slowly. Unlike most rebels he did not 
get ammunition from his adversary. The British merely provided him 
with an opportunity to use his special, self-made weapons: civil dis¬ 
obedience. 

The savage massacre of policemen in Chauri Chaura in February, 
i9Z2, by a Congress mob, had induced Gandhi to suspend civil dis¬ 
obedience in the county of Bardoli. But he did not forget. He waited six 
years, and on February iz, 1928, he gave the signal for Satyagraha in 
the same place: Bardoli. 

Gandhi did not conduct it himself. I3e watched from afar, wrote 
lengthy articles about it, and supplied the general direction and in¬ 
spiration. The actual leader was Vallabhbhai Patel, assisted by a Moslem 
named Abbas Tyebji. 

In 1915, Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel, a prosperous Ahmedabad lawyer, 
was playing bridge in his club when Gandhi entered. Patel looked at 
the visitor with a side glance of his hea\w-lidded eyes, smiled under his 
thick mustache at the little man with the big, bulbous, loose turban and 
the long Kathiawar coat with the sleeves rolled up, and turned back to 
his cards. Me had heard of Gandhi’s South African exploits but was not 
impressed by this first view. 

A week later, however, he dropped in at a conference convened by 
Ciandhi on peasant taxation and stayed to admire the newcomer’s logic. 
Pa'cl had a precise, scientific, steel-trap mind. In later years, his clean¬ 
shaven pouchy face, his round, nut-browm bald head, and his broad 
body wrapped down to the knees in white khadi gave him the appear¬ 
ance of a classic Roman senator. If he had any sentiments, he hid them 
successfully. He became the "jim Farley,” as Americans called him, of 
the Congress party, the machine "boss” who remembered everybody’s 
name and navigated with supreme confidence among the numerous 
jutting reefs of Indian politics. 

Gandhi won Patel’s loyalty by the common sense of his position: 
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to win freedom you needed peasant backing, for India was more than 
8o per cent peasant. To win peasant backing you had to speak the 
peasant’s language, dress like him, and know his economic needs. 

In 1928, Patel was mayor of Ahmedabad. At Gandhi’s suggestion, he 
left the post and went to Bardoli, in Bombay province, to guide the 
87,000 peasants in a peaceful revolt against a 22 per cent increase in 
taxes decreed by the British government. 

The villagers, responding to Patel’s leadership, refused to pay taxes. 
The collector attached their water buffaloes which worked and gave 
milk. Cultivators were driven off their farms. Kitchens were invaded 
and pots and pans confiscated for delinquency. Carts and horses were 
also taken. The peasants remained non-violent. 

"At the rate the forfeitures are being served,” Gandhi observed in 
Young India, “practically the whole of the county of Bardoli should 
soon be in the government’s possession, and they can pay themselves a 
thousand times over for their precious assessments. The people of 
Bardoli, if they are brave, will be none the worse for dispossession. They 
will have lost their possessions but kept what must be the dearest of all 
to good men and women—their honor. Those who have stout hearts and 
bands need never fear loss of belongings.” 

Apparently, the Mahatma thought every hungry peasant was a 
Gandhi. Strangely enough, the judgment did not err. A spark of 
Gandhism lifted the peasantry into a mood of sacrifice. 

Months passed. Bardoli stood its ground. Hundreds were arrested. 
The government was accused of “lawlessness”; no one called it tenor, 
f(v no one was tenorized. 

India began to take notice. Voluntary contributions flowed in for 
the maintenaiKe of the struggle. 

Government officials drove through the countryside in automobiles. 
“Why not barricade the ro.ids,” some peasants whispered to Sardar 
Patel, “or place spikes on them to burst the tires of the officials’ cars and 
give a ’nmi-violent’ shake-up to some fellow who has made himself a 
veritable nightmare to the people?” 

“No,” Patel admonished, "your fight is not for a few hundred 
thousand rupees, but for a principle. . . . You are fighting for self- 
respect which ultimately leads to Swaraj.” 

The government undertook to denude whole villages of movable 
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property. The peasants barricaded themselves in their huts with thdr 
animals. The collectors then made off with carts. ‘Tull your carts to 
pieces,” the Sardar ordered. “Keep the body in one place and the wheels 
in another. Bury the shaft." 

The government stated in a public annouiurement that some seized 
land had been sold to new occupants and that all farms in Bardoli would 
be auctioned if taxes remained unpaid. Vallabhbhai Patel’s elder brother 
Vithalbhai, president of the naticmal Legislative Assembly, wrote to 
the Viceroy charging that "the measures adopted have crossed in several 
instances the bounds of law, order, and decency." Gandhi hailed the 
letter as breaking “that unhealthy and slavish tradition” of neutrality 
when the people defied the government. 

At the instance of Gandhi, India celebrated a hartal, or cessation of 
work and business, on June izth, in honor of Bardoli. 1 luge sums were 
thrust upon Sardar Patel by Indians at home and abroad. 

Gandhi went on a brief visit to Bardoli. Processions greeted him 
everywhere. 

Indians of national importance. Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru, the great 
constitutional lawyer, K. M. Munshi, a member of the Legislative 
Giuncil of Bombay, and others expressed sympathy w'ith the Bardoli 
resisters and demanded that justice be done by the government. On July 
13th, with the Satyagraha movement at its height, the Governor of the 
province of Bombay went to Simla to consult Lord Irwin. He returned 
five days later and summoned V'allabhbhai Patel, Abbas Tyebji, and 
four other leading Satyagraha to a conference. Negotiation is always 
welcome to the civil resister; it may lead to compromise. No compromise 
on Bardoli was possible, however, and on July 13rd, Sir Leslie Wilson, 
opening the session of the Bombay Legislative Council, declared the 
issue was “whether the writ of his Majesty the King-Emperor is to run 
in a portion of His Majesty's dominions.” 

The press in England awoke to the Bardoli revolt. Questions were 
asked in the House of Commons where Lord Winterton was adamant in 
favor of “enforcing compliance with law and crushing the move¬ 
ment. .. .” The Satyagrahis and Patel ignored this “sabre rattling.” 

From all over India, Gandhi was urged to start civil disobedience in 
other provinces. He counseled patience. “The time has not yet come for 
even limited sympathetic Satyagraha. Bardoli has still to prove its 
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mettle. If it can stand the last heat and if the government go to the 
ferthest limit, nothing 1 or Vallabhbhai can do will stop the spread of 
Satyagraha or limit the issue. .. . The limit will then be prescribed by 
the capacity of India as a whole for self-sacrihce and self-suffering.” 
Meanwhile, the people of Bardoli ”are safe in God's hands.” 

The arrest of Patel was expected hourly. On August znd, accord¬ 
ingly, Gandhi moved to Bardoli. On August 6th, the government capitu¬ 
late^ hr'prrimised to release all prisoners, return all confiscated land, 
return the confiscated animals or their equivalent, and, the essence, to 
cancel the rise in taxes. Patel promised that the peasants would pay 
their taxes at the old rates. Both sides kept the agreement. 

Gandhi had shown Irwin and India that the weapon worked. 
Would he use it on a vaster scale? 
India was in turmoil. From February 3, 1928, when the Simon Com¬ 

mission landed at Bombay, India boycotted it. Gandhi’s boycott was so 
complete that he never mentioned the commission. For him, it did not 
exist. But others demonstrated against it. At a huge anti-Simon meeting 
in Lahore, Lajpat Rai, the chief political figure of the Punjab, a man 
of sixty-four whom Gandhi called the “Lion of the Punjab," was struck 
with a lathi or four-foot wooden staff swung by the policeman in a 
charge, and died soon afterward. About the same time, jawaharlal 
Nehru was beaten with lathis during an anti-Simon protest meeting in 
Lucknow. In December, 1928, several weeks after Lajpat Rai’s death. 
Assistant Police Superintendent Saunders of Lahore was assassinated. 
Gandhi branded the assassination “a dastardly act." Bhagat Singh, the 
suspected assassin, eluded arrest and quickly achieved the status of hero. 

During the autumn of 1928, the government moved against the grow¬ 
ing labor organizations of India. Trade union leaders, and Socialists and 
Communists, were anested en masse. Labor was unhappy and anti- 
British for nationalist as well as class reasons. 

In Bengal, always the hearth of turbulence and of opposition to the 
government as well as to the Congress leadership, Subhas Chandra 
Bose, a stormy petrel whose philosophy was, "Give me blood and I 
promise you freedom,” had won great popularity and a big, restive fol¬ 
lowing. 

Gandhi sensed the crisis atmosphere. The existing British system was, 
he said, "an unmitigated evil.” One word from him and a thousand 
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Bardolis would spring into action throughout India. But as a good field- 
commander, Gandhi was always careful to choose the right time and 
place for battle. He knew India's strength; he also knew its weakness, 
and the weaknesses of Congress. Perhaps, if he was padent, the battle 
could be avoided; even a non-violent contest should not be undertaken 
before every possibility of averting it had been exhausted. 

In this mood of uncertainty, Gandhi approached the annual Congress 
session which met in Calcutta in December, 1928. En route to the meet¬ 
ing, friends put some searching and significant quesdons to him when 
the train stopped at Nagpur. 

“What would be your attitude toward a political war of independ¬ 
ence?" they asked. 

“I would decline to take part in it," Gandhi answered. 
“Then you would not support a national militia?" 
“1 would supjMrt the formation of a national militia under Swaraj,” 

Gandhi said, “if only because 1 realize that people cannot be made non¬ 
violent by compulsion. Trxlay I am teaching the people how to meet a 
national crisis by non-violent means.” 

The Orngress session demanded action. But Gandhi had an eye for 
organization and a nose for reality. Congress talked war. Was it an 
effective army? Gandhi wanted Ck)ngress "overhauled.” “The delegates 
to the Congress,” he wrote, "arc mostly self-appointed. ... As at present 
constituted, the Congress is unable to put forth real united and un¬ 
breakable resistance.” 

I’he Congress, however, would not be gainsaid. Caution was not on 
its agenda. Subhas Chandra Bose and jawaharlal Nehru, leading the 
young men, wanted a declaration of immediate independence to be fol¬ 
lowed, implicitly, by a war of indejxjndcnce. Gandhi suggested a two 
years' warning to the British. Under pressure, he finally cut it down to 
one year. If by December 31, 1929, India had not achieved freedom 
under Dominion Status, “I must declare myself an Independence-tvalla. 

"1 have burnt my boats,” Gandhi announced. 
The year 1929 would be crucial and decisive. 
As preparation for 1930, Gandhi toured India in 1929. He no longer 

allowed himself to be cooped up in first or second class, however. He 
traveled third again and found that the passengers were just as slovenly 
about personal sanitation as they were five years before. 
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■ While touring in the west-of-India province of Sindh, in February, 
Gandhi was summoned to New Delhi to accept the chairmanship of 
the Congress G>mmittee for the Boycott of Foreign Cloth. He did not 
believe in boycotting British books or surgical instruments, etc. Nor 
would he countenance a boycott of British cloth only. Imported textiles 
from any country must be boycotted in favor, not of Indian mill prod¬ 
ucts, but of khadi. He regarded the universal use of khadi as a prime 
requisite for the battle of 1930. Indians would go into that struggle 
w^earing uniforms of homespun. 

During his days in Delhi, Gandhi went to a tea party, and it became 
the subject of much rumor. The party was given by Speaker Patel of 
the Legislative Assembly, and among the guests were Gandhi, Lord 
Irwin, Jinnah, Modlal Nehru, Pandit Malaviya, the Maharaja of 
Bikaner, and the Maharaja of Kashmir. Surely, press and politicians 
speculated, the tea party was arranged to initiate conversations between 
Indians and Englishmen with a view to avoiding the 1930 clash. Specu¬ 
lation became so lush that Gandhi honored the afternoon party with an 
inimitable paragraph in Young India. Gandhi admitted that Patel, a 
partisan of Swaraj, staged the tea party “to break the ice as it were. But 
there cannot be much breaking of ice at a private, informal tea party. 
And in my opinion it cannot lead to any real advance or action unless 
both are ready. We know that we are not yet ready. England will never 
make any advance so as to satisfy India’s aspirations till she is forced to 
it. British rule is no philanthropic job, it is a terribly e: mest business 
proposition worked out from day to day with deadly precision. The 
coating of benevolence that is periodically given to it merely prolongs 
the agony. Such occasional parties are therefore good only to the extent 
of showing that the bringing together of parties will be easy enough 
when both are ready for business. Meanwhile, let the reader rest satis¬ 
fied with the assurance that no political significance attaches to the 
event. The party was one of Speaker Patel’s creditable freaks.’’ 

During the first four months of 1929, while Gandhi was lighting bon¬ 
fires of foreign textiles in Calcutta and keeping long-standing speaking 
engagements in Burma, no longer a part of India, Irwin, according to 
his biographer, "was largely absorbed with finding administrative reme¬ 
dies to meet the perils of political terrorism and industrial strife." Alas, 
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the remedy did not lie in administrative measures. It required states¬ 
manship. 

On April 8th, Bhagat Singh, the Sikh who killed Assistant Police 
Su()erintendent Saunders in Lahore in December, 1928, walked into 
the Legislative Assembly in New Delhi while the chamber was filled 
with its British and Indian members, tossed two bombs into their midst, 
and then began firing from an automatic pistol. The bombs exploded 
with a mighty impact but burst into large fragments instead of small 
splinters, and only one legislator was seriously wounded. Sir John 
Simon saw the outrage from the gallery. It was his last big impression 
of India; that month the commission went home. 

In May, 1929, national elections in Britain gave Labor a minority in 
the Mouse of Commons, but as the largest party it took office and 
Ramsay MacDonald became Prime Minister. In June, Irwin sailed for 
England to consult the new government and especially the new Secre¬ 
tary of State for India, Mr. Wedgwood Benn. Gandhi, who had said, 
"You know, there is one thing in me, and that is that I love to see the 
bright side of things and not the seamy side,” hoped for a change that 
would obviate the expected showdown in 1930. 

But though he looked for the silver lining, his bead was never in the 
cloud; he kept his bare feet on the earth of India. In an unconditional 
condemnation of terrorist acts, Gandhi reiterated that the government 
could stop them by “conceding the national demand gracefully and in 
time. But that is hoping against hope. For the government to do so 
would he a change of heart, not merely of policy. And there is nothing 
on the horizon to warrant the hope that any such change is imminent” 

He feared a bloody clash. “If India attains what will be to me socalled 
freedom by violent means she will cease to be the country of my pride,” 
he wrote in Young India of May 9, 1929. Prophetically, he pictured the 
ideal: freedom should come non-violently “through a gentlemanly un¬ 
derstanding with Great Britain. But then,” he added, “it will not be an 
imperialistic haughty Britain maneuvering for world supremacy but a 
Britain humbly trying to serve the common end of humanity.” 

That day was not yet. 
With the fateful test of strength only a few months away, Gandhi 

continued to concern himself with the things that normally concerned 
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him. In a leading article entitled "A National Defect," the Mahatma 
returned to the question of cleanliness. He was traveling by automobile 
through the country and crossed the Krishna River. “The car," he wrote, 
“jvactically passed by hundreds of men and women evacuating them* 
selves not many yards from the river bank. It is the stream in which 
people bathe and from which they drink. Here there was a breach of 
the code of decency and a criminal disregard of the most elementary 
laws of health. Add to this the economic waste of the precious manure, 
which they would save if these evacuations were made in a field and 
buried in the living surface of tiie earth and well mi.xed with loosened 
soil.... Here is work for the municipalities." 

He worried about the e.x(x;nses of his party while on tour. He asked 
for an accounting and found that “these expenses do not amount to more 
than 5 per cent of the collections.... Having said this in defence of the 
expense, 1 must confess that even though the sums collected may be 
large, we cannot afford to fly from place to place and pay high motor 
charges.” (He never flew in his life. “Fly” meant move fast in cars.) 

Editorial offices and homes were being searched, presumably for 
seditious material. Individuals sent Gandhi reports of such measures. 
"Let us thank the police,” he commented, “that they were courteous." 
The purpose of the raids, he declared, was “to overawe and humiliate 
a whole people. This studied humiliation is one of the chosen methods 
which the ruling race consider necessary in order that they—though less 
than one hundred thousand—may rule three hundred million people. 
It is a state of things we must strain every nerve to remedy. To com¬ 
mand respect is the first step to Swaraj.” 

This was Gandhi’s refrain: dignity, discipline, and restraint would 
bring Indians self-respect, therefore respect, therefore freedom. 

January i, 1930, was not far off. 
Irwin returned to India in October after conferences lasting several 

months with members of the Labor gpvemment, his predecessor Lord 
Reading, Lloyd George, Churchill, Stanley Baldwin, Sir John Simon, 
and many others. The Viceroy found the situation in India "bordering 
on a state of alarm.” Everything was ready for the great challenge of 

*930. 
On the last day of October, 1929, accordingly, Irwin made "his mo¬ 

mentous statement" envisaging a Round Table Conference in which 
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British government representatives would sit with delegates from British 
India and from the native states. (The idea of such a conference with 
Indian jxirticipants had been broached before the Simon Commisrion 
was apiwinted, but Irwin would not listen to it.) The statement declared 
that "the natural issue of India’s constitutional progress ... is the attain¬ 
ment of LX)minion Status." 

By thus anticipating the recommendations oi the Simon Commissioti, 
Irwin suggested in effect that its labors weie vain and its life ended. 
Indians, to whom it had become a red Hag, were expected to appreciate 
this aspect of the Viceroy’s move. 

A few days later, Gandhi met in I3elhi with Dr. Ansari, Mrs. Annie 
Besant, Motilal Nehru, Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru, Pandit Malaviya, 
Srinivasa Sastri, and others, and issued a “Leaders’ Manifesto.” Their 
response to the Viceroy’s announcement was favorable, but, they said, 
steps should be taken to induce "a calmer atmosphere," political pris¬ 
oners should be released, and the Indian National Congress should have 
the largest representation at the forthcoming Round Table Confer¬ 
ence. They added a gloss: they understood the Viceroy to have said 
that the purpose of the conference was not to determine whether or 
when Dominion Status would be introduced but rather to draft the 
Dominion constitution. 

The conciliatory attitude of Gandhi and the elder statesmen pre¬ 
cipitated a storm of protest, esjjecially from Jawaharlal Nehru, president¬ 
elect of the Congress party for 1930, and Subhas Chandra Bose. Un¬ 
deterred, confident that a jwaceful agreement with the British would 
be accepted by the nation, Gandhi and his colleagues continued their 
probings. They made an appointment with Lord Irwin for the afternoon 
of December 23rd. 

That morning, Irwin returned by train from a tour of south Indie. 
At 7:40 A.M. the white cars of the Viceroy’s train appeared out of the 
mist and approached the New Delhi station. 'Three miles from the 
terminus, where the track is single, a bomb exploded under the train. 
Only one person was hurt, and Irwin did not know what happened un¬ 
til informed by a military aide. 

A far deadlier bomb had been prepared for the Viceroy in West¬ 
minster. Lord Reading led the attack in the House of Lords, and the 
Tories and Liberals combined in the House of Commons to condemn 
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Irwin’s promise of a Round Table Conference and Dominion Status. 
Wedgwood Benn and other Laborites defended the Viceroy, but the 
result of the debate was to bring majority parliamentary pressure to bear 
against any commitment in favor of Dominion Status. 

When Jinnah, Gandhi, Sapru, Motilal Nehru, and Vithalbhai Patel 
entered the Viceroy’s office on the afternoon of December 23rd, Gandhi 
congratulated him on his miraculous esca|)e and then proceeded to 
detonate the long-fuse torpedo made in Parliament. The audience lasted 
two and a half hours; Irwin and Gandhi did most of the talking. 

Could his Excellency, Gandhi demanded, promise a Round Table 
Conference which would draft a constitution giving India full and im¬ 
mediate I>ominion Status including the right to secede from the Empire? 

Reflecting the Parliamentary debate, Irwin replied, in the words of 
his biographer, “that he was unable to prejudge or commit the [Round 
Table] Conference at all to any particular line. . . .’’ 

These events formed the overture to the historic annual Congress 
party convention which met, late in December, in Lahore, under the 
presidency of Jawaharlal Nehru who had celebrated his fortieth birth¬ 
day the month before. 

At the second of time when the year 1929 ended and 1930 was bom, 
the Congress, with Gandhi as stage director, unfurled the flag of free¬ 
dom and acclaimed a resolution in favor of unabridged independence 
and secession. “Swaraj,” Gandhi declared, "is now to mean complete 
independence.” The Congress convention instructed its members and 
hriends to withdraw from all legislatures, and sanctioned civil dis¬ 
obedience including the non-payment of taxes. The All-India Congress 
Committee was authorized to decide when Satyagraha would commence 
but, as Gandhi said, “1 know that it is a duty devolving primarily on 
me.” Everyone realized that Gandhi would have to be the brain, heart, 
and directing hand of any civil disobedience movement, and it was 
therefore left to him to choose the hour, the place, and the precise issue. 
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CHAPTER THIRTY-ONE 

Drama at the Seashore 

Gandhi was a reformer of individuals. Hence his concern for the means 

whereby India's liberation might be achieved. If the means corrupted 

the individual the loss would be greater than the gain. 

Gandhi knew that the re-education of a nation was a slow process and 

he was not usually in a hurry unless prodded by events or by men re¬ 

acting to those events. Left to himself, he would not have forced the 

issue of independence in 1930. But now the die was cast; Congress had 

decreed a campaign for independence. The leader therefore became an 

obedient soldier. 

During the weeks after the stirring New Year’s Eve independence 

ceremony, Gandhi searched for a form of civil disobedience that left no 

opening for violence. 

Gandhi’s monumental abhorrence of violence stemmed from the 

Jainist and Buddhist infusions into his Hinduism but, particularly, 

from his love of human beings. Every reformer, crusader, and dictator 

avows his undying devotion to the anonymous mass; Gandhi had an 

apparently endless capacity to love the individual men, women, and 

children who crowded his life. He gave them tenderness and affection; 

he remembered their personal needs and he enjoyed catering to their 

wants at the unnoticed expense of his limited time and energy. H. N. 

Braiisford, the humane British Laborite, explains this by “the fact that 

female tendencies were at least as strong in his mental make-up as male. 

They were evident, for example, in his love of children, in the pleasure 

he took in playing with them, and in the devotion he showed as a sick- 

nurse. His beloved spinning wheel has always been a woman’s tool. 

And is not Satyagtaha, the method of conquering by self-suffering, a 

woman’s tactic?’’ Maybe. But maybe Braiisford is being unfair to men 

and too fair to the fair. Like Braiisford, everyone will interpret Gandhi’s 

lovingness according to his own experience. It wrapped the Mahatma’s 

iron will and austerity in a downy softness; one touch of it and most 

Indians forgave his blunders, quirks, and fads. It ruled out anything 
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that could lead to violence. In the successful Bardoli Satyagraha in 1928, 
fw instance, there was no violence, but there might have been. The 
peasants might have allowed themselves to be goaded into the use of 
force. The civil disobedience campaign of 1930, Gandhi felt, had to 
[ueclude such potentials, for if it got out of hand no one, not even he, 
could control it 

Rabindranath Tagore, for whom Gandhi had the deepest veneration, 
was in the neighborhood of Sabarmad Ashram and came for a visit on 
January i8th. He inquired what Gandhi had in store for the country 
in 1930. "I am furiously thinking night and day," Gandhi replied, “and 
1 do not see any light coming out of the surrounding darkness." 

The situadon made Gandhi apprehensive. “There is a lot of violence 
in the air,” he said. The British government had altered the exchange 
rate of the rupee so that India might import more from Lancashire; the 
Indian middle class suffered. The Wall Street crash of October, 1929, 
and the spreading world economic depression hit the Indian peasant. 
Working-class unrest was mounting for all these reasons and because of 
the governments persecution of labor organizers. Again, as in 1919 to 
1921, a number of young Indians saw an opportunity of striking a 
bloody blow for freedom. 

Civil disobedience in these circumstances involved “undoubted risks,” 
but the only alternative was "armed rebellion." Gandhi’s confidence re¬ 
mained unshaken. 

For six weeks, Gandhi had been waiting to hear the ‘inner Voice.” 
This, as he interpreted it, had no Joan-of-Arc connotations. “The inner 
Voice,'" he wrote, “may mean a message from Gotl or from the Devil, 
for both are wrestling in the human breast. Acts determine the nature 
of the vrnce.” 

Presently, Gandhi seemed to have heard the Voice, which could only 
mean that he had come to a decision, for the February 27th issue of 
Young India opened with an editorial by Gandhi entitled “When 1 am 
Arrested,” and then devoted considerable space to the iniquities of the 
salt tax. The next number of the magazine quoted the penal sections of 
the Salt Act. And on March 2, 1930, Gandhi sent a long letter to the 
Viceroy serving notice that civil disobedience would begin in nine days. 

It was the strangest communication the head of a government ever 
received. 
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Dear Friend, Before embarking on Civil Disobedience and taking the 
risk 1 have dreaded to take all these years, 1 would fain approach you 
and find a way out. 

My personal faith is absolutely clear. I cannot intentionally hurt 
anything that lives, much less human beings, even though they may do 
the greatest wrong to me and mine. Whilst, therefore, 1 hold the British 
rule to be a curse, 1 do not intend harm to a single Englishman or to any 
legitimate interest he may have in India... . 

And why do 1 regard the British rule as a curse? 
It has impoverished the dumb millions by a system of progressive 

exploitation and by a ruinous expensive military and civil administra¬ 
tion which the countrv can never afford. 

It has reduced us politically to serfdom. It has sapped the Foundations 
of our culture. And by the policy of cruel disarmament, it has degraded 
us spiritually. . . . 

I fear ... there never has been any intention of granting ... Dominion 
Status to India in the immediate future. . . . 

It seems as clear as daylight that responsible British statesmen do not 
contemplate any alteration in British policy that might adversely affect 
Britain’s commerce with India. ... If nothing is done to end the process 
of exploitation India must be bled with an ever increasing speed. . . . 

Let me put before you some of the salient points. 
The terrific pressure of land revenue, which furnishes a large part of 

the total, must undergo considerable modification in an Independent 
India . . . the whole revenue system has to be so revised as to make the 
peasant s good its primary concern. But the British system seems to be 
designed to crush the very life out of him. Even the salt he must use to 
live is so ta.xed as to make the burden fall heaviest on him, if only be¬ 
cause of the heartless impartiality of its incidence. The tax shows itself 
still more burdensome on the jxx)r man when it is remembered that 
salt is the one thing he must eat more than the rich man... . The drink 
and drug revenue, too, is derived from the poor. It saps the foundations 
both of their health and morals. 

The iniquities sampled above are maintained in order to carry on a 
foreign administration, demonstrably the most expensive in the world* 
Take your own salary. It is over 21,000 rupees [about $7,000] per 
month, besides many other indirect additions. . • . You are getting over 
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700 rupees a day against India's average income of less than two annas 
[four cents] per day. Thus you are getting much over five thousand 
times India’s average income. The British Prime Minister is getting 
only ninety times Britain’s average income. On bended knee, I ask you 
to ptmder over this phenomenon. 1 have taken a personal illustration to 
drive home a painful truth. 1 have too great a regard for you as a man 
to wish to hurt your feeling. I know that you do not need the salary 
you get Probably the whole of your salary goes for charity. But a system 
that provides for such an arrangement deserves to be summarily 
scrapped. What is true of the Viceregal salary is true generally of the 
whole administration. . . . Nothing but organized non-violence can 
check the organized violence of the British government. . . . 

Tltis non-violence will be expressed through civil disobedience, for 
the moment confined to the inmates of the Satyagraha [Sabarmati] 
Ashram, but ultimately designed to cover all those who choose to join 
the movement. . . . 

My ambition is no less than to convert the British people through non¬ 
violence, and thus make them see the wrong they have done to India. 
I do not seek to harm your people. 1 want to serve them even as 1 want 
to serve my own. . . . 

If the [Indian] people join me as I expect they will, the sufferings 
they will undergo, unless the British nation sooner retraces its steps, 
will be enough to melt the stoniest hearts. 

The plan through Civil Disobedience will be to combat such evils as 
1 have sampled out. ... I respectfully invite you to pave the way for 
the immediate removal of those evils, and thus open a way for a real 
omference between equals. . . . But if you cannot see your way to deal 
with these evils and if my letter makes no ap{)eal to your heart, on the 
eleventh day of this month I shall proceed with such co-workers of the 
Ashram as I can take, to disregard the provisions of the Salt Laws. . . . 
It is, I know, open to you to frustrate my design by arresting me. I hope 
that there will be tens of thousands ready, in a disciplined manner, to 
take up the work after me. . . . 

If you care to discuss matters with me, and if to that end you would 
like me to postpone publication of this letter, 1 shall gladly refrain on 
receipt of a telegram.... 

This letter is not in any way intended as a threat but is a simple and 
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sacred duty peremptory on a civil resister. Therefore I am having it 
specially delivered by a young English friend who believes in the Indian 
cause.. . . 

I remain 
Your sincere friend, 

M. K. Gandhi. 

The messenger was Reginald Reynolds, a British Quaker who later 
wrote a book on beards. Clad in khadi and a sun helmet, he entered the 
Viceroy’s house and delivered the letter to Irwin who had flown back 
from the polo matches at Meerut to receive it. 

Irwin chose not to reply. His secretary sent a four-line acknowledg¬ 
ment saying, “His Excellency . .. regrets to learn that you contemplate 
a course of action which is clearly bound to involve violation of the law 
and danger to the public peace.” 

This law-andorder note, which disdained to deal with matters of 
justice and policy, caused Gandhi to say, "On bended knee 1 asked for 
bread and I received stone instead.” Irwin refused to see Gandhi. Nor 
did he have him arrested. ‘The government,” Gandhi declared, "is 
puzzled and perplexed.” It was dangerous not to arrest the rebel, and 
dangerous to anest him. 

As March i ith neared, India bubbled with excitement and curiosity. 
Scores of foreign and domestic correspondents dogg^ Gandhi’s, foot* 
steps in the ashram; what exactly would he do? Thousands surrounded 
the village and waited. The excitement spread abroad. Cables kept the 
Ahmedabad post ofRce humming. "God guard you,” the Reverend Dr. 
John Haynes Holmes wired from New York. 

Gandhi felt it was the "opportunity of a lifetime.” 
On March 12th, prayers having been sung, Gandhi and seventy-eight 

male and female members of the ashram, whose identities were pub¬ 
lished in Young India for the benefit of the police, left Sabarmati fw 
Dandi, due south from Ahmedabad. Gandhi leaned on a lacquered 
bamboo staff one inch thick and 54 inches long with an iron tip. Fot 

lowing winding dirt roads from village to village, he and his seventy- 
eight disciples walked two hundred miles in twenty-four days. “We are 
marching in the name of God," Gandhi said. 

Peasants sprinkled the roads and strewed leaves on them. Every settle* 
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ment in the line of march was festooned and decorated with India’s 
national colors. From miles around, peasants gathered to kneel by the 
roadside as the pilgrims passed. Several times a day the marchers halted 
for a meeting where the Mahatma and others exhorted the people to 
wear khadi, abjure alcohol and drugs, abandon child marriage, keep 
clean, live purely, and—when the signal came—break the Salt Laws. 

He had no trouble walking. “Less than twelve miles a day in two 
stages with not much luggage,” he said. "Child’s play!" Several became 
fatigued and footsore, and had to ride in a bullock cart. A horse was 
available for Gandhi throughout the march but he never used it. “The 
modem generation is delicate, weak, and much pampered,” Gandhi 
commented. He was sixty-one. He spun every day for an hour and kept 
a diary and required each ashramite to do likewise. 

In the area traversed, over three hundred village headmen gave up 
their government jobs. The inhabitants of a village would accompany 
Gandhi to the next village. Young men and women attached themselves 
to the marching column; when Gandhi reached the sea at Dandi on 
Ajml 5th, his small ashram band had grown into a non-violent army 
several thousand strong. 

The entire night of April 5th, the ashramites prayed, and early in 
the rooming they accompanied Gandhi to the sea. He dipped into the 
water, returned to the beach, and there picked up some salt left by the 
waves. Mrs. Sarojini Naidu, standing by his side, cried, “Hail, De¬ 
liverer." Gandhi had broken the British law which made it a punishable 
crime to possess salt not obtained from the British government salt 
monopoly. Gandhi, who had not used salt for six years, called it a 
"nefarious monopoly." Salt, he said, is as essential as air and water, 
and in India all the more essential to the hard-working, perspiring poor 
man and his beasts because of the tropical heat. 

Had Gandhi gone by train or automobile to make salt, the effect 
would have been considerable. But to walk for twenty-four days and 
rivet the attention of all India, to trek across a countryside saying, 
"Watch, I am about to give a signal to the nation," and then to pick up 
a pinch of salt in publicized defiance of the mighty government and 
thus become a criminal, that required imagination, dignity, and the 
sense of showmanship of a great artist. It appealed to the illiterate 
peasant and it appealed to a sophisticated critic and sometime fierce 
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opponent of Gandhi’s like Subhas Chandra Bose who compared the 

Salt March to “Napoleon's march to Paris on his return from Elba.” 

The act performed, Gandhi withdrew from the scene. India had its 

cue. Gandhi had communicated with it by lifting up some grains of salt. 

The next act was an insurrection without arms. Every villager on 

India’s long seacoast went to the beach or waded into the sea with a pan 

to make salt. The police began mass arrests. Ramdas, third son of 

Gandhi, with a large group of ashramites, was arrested. Pandit Malaviya 

and other moderate cooperators resigned from the Legislative Assembly. 

The police began to use violence. Civil resisters never resisted arrest; but 

they resisted the confiscation of the salt they had made, and Mahadev 

l>;sai re[X)rted cases where such Indians were beaten and bitten in the 

fingers by constables. Gmgress Volunteers openly sold contraband salt 

in cities. Many were arrested and sentenced to short prison terms. In 

l>:)hi, a meeting of fifteen thousand persons heard Pandit Malaviya 

appeal to the audience to boycott foreign cloth; he himself bought some 

illegal sitit after his speech. The police raided the Congress party head- 

ijuarters in Bombay where salt was being made in pans on the roof. 

A crowd of sixty thousand assembled. Hundreds were handcuffed or 

their arms fastened with ropes and led off to jail. In Ahmedabad, ten 

thousand people obtained illegal salt from Congress in the first week 

after the act at Dandi. They paid what they could; if they had no money 

they got it free. The salt lifted by Gandhi from the beach was sold to a 

Dr. Kanuga, the highest bidder, for 1,600 rupees. Jawaharlal Nehru, the 

president of Congress, was arrested in Allahabad under the Salt Acts 

and sentenced to six months’ imprisonment. The agitation and dis* 

obedience spread to the turbulent regions of the Maharashtra and 

Bengal. In Calcutta, the Mayor, J. M. Sengupta, read seditious literamre 

aloud at a public meeting and ur^d non-wearing of foreign textiles. 

He was put in prison for six months. Picketing of liquor shops and 

foreign cloth shops commenced throughout India. Girls and ladies from 

aristocratic families and from families where purdah had been observed 

came out into the streets to demonstrate. Police became vindictive and 

kicked rcsisters in sensitive parts. Civil resistance began in the province 

of Bihar. Seventeen Bihar Satyagrahis, including resigned members of 

Legislative Councils, were sentenced to periods of from six months to 

two years in prison. A Swami who had lived in South Africa received 
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two and a half years. Teachers, professors, and students made salt at 
the sea and inland and were marched to jails in batches. Kishorlal 
Mashruwala, a faithful disciple of Gandhi, and Jamnalal Bajaj, a rich 
hriend of Gandhi’s, were sentenced to two years’ incarceration. In 
Karachi, the police fired on a demonstration; two young Volunteers were 
killed. “Bihar has been denuded of almost all its leaders,” Mahadev 
Desai wrote, “but the result has been the opening of many more salt 
centers.” Congress distributed literature explaining simple methods of 
producing salt. B. G. Kher and K. M. Munshi, leaders of the national 
Congress, were arrested in Bombay. Devadas Gandhi was sentenced to 
three months’ imprisonment in Delhi. *11)0 salt movement and the arrests 
and imprisonments spread to Madras, the Punjab, and the Carnatic 
(Kamatak). Many towns observed hartals when Congress leaders 
were arrested. At Patna, in Bihar, a hug^ mass of thousands moved out 
of the city to march to a spot where salt would be made. The police 
blocked the highway. The crowd stayed and slept on the road and in 
the fields for forty hours. Rajendra Prasad, who was present and told 
the sUny, received orders from the police officer to disperse the crowd. 
He refused. The officer announced that he would charge with cavalry. 
The crowd did not move. As the horses galloped forward, the men and 
women threw themselves flat on the ground. The horses stopped and 
did not trample them. Constables then proceeded to lift the demonstra¬ 
tors and place them in trucks for transportation to prison. Other 
demonstrators replaced them. Mahadev Desai was arrested for bringing 
in a load of salt. In villages, millions of peasants were preparing their 
own salt. The British pressed local officiab to cope with the problem. 
The ofikrials resigned. Vithalbhai Patel, the speaker of the Legislative 
Assembly, resigned. A larg^ fltoup of prominent women appealed to 
Lord Irwin to prohibit the sale of intoxicating beverages. At Karachi, 
fifty thousand people watched as salt was made on the seashore. The 
crowd was so dense the policemen were surrounded and could make 
no arrests. At Peshawar, the key to the volatile northwest Frontier 
Province, an armored car, in which the Deputy Police Commissioner 
was seated, first ran full-tilt into a crowd and then machine-gunned it, 
killing seventy and wounding about one hundred. In parts of Bengal, 
in the Unit^ Provinces, and in Gujarat, peasants refused to pay 
tent and the land tax. The government tried to place all natknudist 
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newspapers under censorship, whereupon most of them voluntarily sus¬ 

pended publication. Congress provincial offices were sealed and their 

property and office paraphernalia confiscated. Rajagopalachari was 

arrested in Madras and given a nine months’ sentence, lire wild Afridi 

tribe, in the northwest frontier Tribal Area, attacked British patrols. In 

the city of Chittagong, Bengal, a band of violent revolutionists raided 

the arsenal to seize arms. Some were killed. 

The Viceroy, says Irwin’s biographer, "had filled the jails with no less 

than sixty thousand political offenders.” Estimates ran as high as a 

hundred thousand. "A mere recital of the action taken by him during 

this dme,” the biography affirms, “belies once for all the legend that he 

was a weak Viceroy, lliose who were responsible for execudng his 

orders testify that his religious convictions seemed to reinforce the very 

ruthlessness of his policy of suppression. . . .” 

A month after Gandhi touched salt at the Dandi beach, India was 

seething in angry revolt. But, except at Chittagong, there was no Indian 

violence, and nowhere was there any Congress violence. Chauri Chaura 

in 1922 had taught India a lesson. Because they treasured the movement 

Gandhi had conjured into being, and lest he cancel it, they abstained 

from force. 

May 4th, Gandhi’s camp was at Karadi, a village near Dandi. He had 

gone to sleep on a cot under a shed beneath the branches of an old 

mango tree. Several disciples slept by his side. Elsewhere in the grove, 

other ashramites were in deep slumber. At 12:45 a.m., in the night of 

May 4th to 5th, heavy steps were heard. Thirty Indian policemen 

armed with rifles, pistols, and lances, two Indian officers, and the British 

District Magistrate of Surat invaded the leafy compound. A party of 

armed constables entered Gandhi's shed and the English officer turned 

the flashlight on Gandhi’s face. Gandhi awoke, looked about him, and 

said to the Magistrate, "Do pu want me? ” 

“Are you Mohandas Karamchand Gandhi?” the Magistrate asked for 

the sake of form. 

Gandhi admitted it. 

The officer said he had come to arrest him. 

"Please give me time for my ablutions,” Gandhi said politely. 

The Magistrate agreed. 
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While brushing his few teeth, Gandhi said, “Mr. District Magistrate, 
may 1 know under which charge 1 am arrested. Is it Section 124?” 

“No, not under Section 124.1 have got a written order." 
By this time, all the sleepers in the compound had crowded around 

the shed. "Please, would you mind reading it to me?” Gandhi asked. 
The Magistrate (reading): "Whereas the Govemor-in-Council views 

with alarm the activities of Mohandas Karamchand Gandhi, he directs 
that the said Mohandas Karamchand Gandhi should be placed under 
restraint under Regulation XXXV of 1827, and suffer imprisonment 
during the pleasure of the Government, and that he be immediately 
removed to the Yeravda Central Jail.” 

At I A.M., Gandhi was still cleaning his teeth. The officer told him 
to hurry. Gandhi packed some necessities and pajicrs in a small bag. 
Turning to the ofHcer, he said, “Please give me a few minutes more 
for prayer.” 

TTie officer nodded in assent, and Gandhi requested Pandit Kharc to 
recite a famous Hindu hymn. The ashramites siing. Gandhi lowered his 
head and {Rayed. Then he stepped to the side of the Magistrate who led 
him to the waiting motor truck. 

There was no trial, no sentence, and no fixed term of imprisonment. 
The anest took place under an ordinance, passed before a British gov¬ 
ernment existed in India, which regulated the relations between the 
East India Company and Indian potentates. 

The prison authorities measured Gandhi and noted his height: five 
feet, five inches. They also made sure to have his special identification 
marks in case they needed to find him again; a scar on the right thigh, 
a small mole on the lower right eyelid, and a scar about the size of a pea 
below the left elbow. 

Gandhi loved it in jail. "I hive been quite happy and making up for 
arrears in sleep," he wrote Miss Madeline Slade, a week after his im- 
{irisonment. He was treated extremely well; the prison goat was milked 
in his presence. On his day of silence he wrote a letter to the little 
children in the ashram. 

Little birds, ordinary birds cannot fly without wing$. With wing$, of 
course, all can fly. But if you, without wings, will learn how to fly, then 
all your troubles will indeed be at an end. And I will teach you. 
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See, 1 have no wings, yet I come flying to you every day in thou^t. 

Look, here is little Vimala, here is Hari and here is Dharmakumar. Abd 
you can also come flying to me in thought.... 

Tell me too who amongst you are not praying properly in Prabhub- 
hai’s evening prayer. 

Send me a letter si^ed by all, and those who do not know how to 
sign may make a cross. 

Bapu's blessings. 

Just before his arrest, Gandhi had drafted a letter to the Viceroy 
announcing his intention, “God willing,” to raid the Dharasana Salt 
Works with some companions. God, apparently, was not willing, but 
the companions proceeded to effect the plan. Mrs. Sarojini Naidu, the 
poet, led twenty-five hundred Volunteers to the site 150 miles north of 
Bombay and, after rooming prayers, warned them that they would be 
beaten “but,” she said, “you must not resist; you must not even raise a 
hand to ward off a blow.” 

Webb Miller, the well-known correspondent of the United Press who 
died in England during the Second World War, was on the scene and 
described the proceedings. Manilal Gandhi moved forward at the head 
of the marchers and approached the great salt pans which were sur¬ 
rounded by ditches and barbed wire and guarded by four hundred Surat 
policemen under the command of si.x British officers. “In complete 
silence the Gandhi men drew up and halted a hundred yards from the 
stockade. A picked column advanced from the crowd, waded the ditches, 
and approached the barbed-wire stockade.” The police officers ordered 
them to retreat. They continued to advance. "Suddenly,” Webb Miller 
reported, “at a word of command, scores of native policemen rushed 
upon the advancing marchers and rained blows on their heads with 
their steel-shod lathis. Not one of the marchers even raised an arm to 
fend off the blows. They went down like ten-pins. From where I stood 
I heard the sickening whack of the clubs on unprotected skulls. The 
waiting crowd of marchers groaned and sucked in their breath in sym¬ 
pathetic pain at every blow. Those struck down fell sprawling, unemt- 
scious or writhing with fractured skulls or brt^en shoulders.... The sur¬ 

vivors, without breaking ranks, silently and doggedly marched on until 
struck down.” When the first column was laid low, another advanced. 
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“Although everyone knew,” Webb Miller wrote, “that within a few 
minutes he would he beaten down, perhaps killed, I could detect no 
signs of wavering or fear. They marched steadily, with heads up, with¬ 
out the encouragement of music or cheering or any possibility that they 
might escape serious injury or death. The police rushed out and 
methodically and mechanically beat down the second column. There 
was no fight, no struggle; the marchers simply walked forward till struck 
down.” 

Another group of twenty-five advanced and sat down. “The police,” 
Webb Miller testifies, “commenced savagely kicking the seated men in 
the abdomen and testicles.” Another column advanced and sat down. 
Enrag^, the police dragged them by their arms and feet and threw 
them into the ditches. “One was dragged to a ditch w'here I stood,” 
Miller wrote, “the splash of his body doused me with muddy water. 
Another policeman dragged a Gandhi man to the ditch, threw him in, 
and belabored him over the head with his lathi. Hour after hour 
stretcher-bearers carried back a stream of inert, bleeding bodies.” 

A British officer approached Mrs. Naidu, touched her arm, and said, 
“Sarojini Naidu, you are under arrest.” She shook off his hand. “I’ll 
come,” she declared, “but don’t touch me.” Manilal was also arrested. 

“By eleven [in the morning],” Webb Miller continued, “the heat had 
reached ii6 and the activities of the Gandhi volunteers subsided.” He 
went to the temporary hospital and counted 320 injured, many of them 
sdll unconscious, others in agony from the body and head blows. Two 
men had died. The same scenes were repeated for several days. 

India was now free. Technically, legally, nothing had changed. India 
was still a British colony. Tagore explained the difference. “Those who 
live in England, far away from the East,” he told the Manchester 
Guardian of May 17, 1930, “have now got to realize that Europe has 
completely lost her former moral prestige in Asia. She is no longer re¬ 
garded as the champion throughout the world of fair dealing and the 
exponent of high principle, but as the upholder of Western race 
supremacy and the exploiter of those outside her own borders. 

“For Europe this is, in actual fact, a great moral defeat that has 
happened. Even though Asia is still physically weak and unable to pro¬ 
tect herself from aggression where her vital interests are menaced, 
nevertheless she can now afford to look down on Europe where before 
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she looked up.” He attributed the achievement in India to Mahatma 
Gandhi. 

Gandhi did two things in 1930: he made the British people aware 
that they were cruelly subjugating India, and he gave Indians the con¬ 
viction that they could, by lifting their heads and straightening their 
spines, lift the yoke from their shoulders. After that, it was inevitable 
that Britain should some day refuse to rule India and that India should 
s'me day refuse to be ruled. 

The British beat the Indians with batons and rifle butts. The Indians 
neither cringed nor complained nor retreated. That made England 
powerless and India invincible. 

CHAPTER THIRTY-TWO 

Parleys with the Rebel 

Many British Labor ministers and voters were champions of Indian in¬ 
dependence. Prime Minister Ramsay Mac£X)nald could be faced with 
his own unequivocal statements in favor of India’s freedom. It was 
embarrassing for Labor to keep Gandhi and tens of thousands of 
Indian nationalists in jail. To Lord Irwin, Gandhi’s imprisonment was 
more than an embarrassment; it paralyzed his administration. Revenues 
dropped steeply. Unrest mounted. When the news of Gandhi’s arrest 
reached industrial Sholapur, in the Bombay Presidency or province, the 
population overpowered the police, raised the national flag, and declared 
themselves independent of British rule. In Peshawar, the police surren¬ 
dered the city to the non-violent, religious "Red Shirts,” an organization 
led by Khan Abdul Ghaffar Khan, the "Frontier Gandhi.” The army ap¬ 
peared three days later and machine-gunned peaceful citizens. But a pla¬ 
toon of Garhwal Rifles, famous Hindu regiment of the British army, 
mutinied, refused to fire on Moslems, and were court-martialed and 
sentenced to ten to fourteen years’ hard labor. On June 30th, Motilal 
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Nehru was arrested. More than a hundred thousand Indians, and almost 

all Congress first-, second-, third-rank leaders were behind bars. 

The situation was politically intolerable for MacEXinald and Irwin. 

Gandhi in jail was as much a nuisance as Gandhi on the march or at 

the beach or in the ashram. 

Conscious of their dilemma and of the growing revolt, the authorities 

permitted George Slocombe, handsome, red-bearded conespondent of 

the London Labor paper, The Daily Herald, to interview Gandhi in 

prison, on May 19th and 20th, only two weeks after the Mahatma’s 

arrest. Gandhi gave Slocombe the terms on which he would be ready 

to negotiate with the British government. In July, with the Viceroy’s 

consent. Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru and Mr. M. R. Jayakar, leaders of the 

moderates, went to Gandhi’s cell for parleys. Gandhi was glad to talk 

to them but said he could not reply to overtures before he consulted 

the Congress Working Committee. Motilal and Jawaharlal Nehru, 

father and son, and Syed Mahmound, the acting secretary of Congress, 

were accordingly transported in a special train, with every comfort and 

courtesy, from their jail in the United Provinces to Gandhi’s jail at 

Poona where Mrs. Naidu and Vallabhbhai Patel w'ere also confined. 

Irwin willingly brought his prisoners together, but Working Committee 

members still at liberty were not allowed to participate in these jail 

conversations. 

After two days of discussion (August 14-15th), the leaders announced 

publicly that “an unbridgeable gulf’’ separated them from the British 

position. 

The first Round Table Conference convened in London on Novem¬ 

ber 12, 1930; Jinnah, the Maharaja of Bikaner, Srinivasa Sastri, and 

others were there. No Congress representative attended. The Confer¬ 

ence accomplished nothing. But the Labor government’s conciliatory 

attitude was apparent throughout; indeed, at the closing session, on 

January 19, 1931, Ramsay MacDonald expressed the hope that Con¬ 

gress would send delegates to the second Round Table Conference. 

Irwin gladly took the hint—or the command—and unconditionally 

released Gandhi, the Nehrus, and more than twenty other top Congress 

leaders on January 26th, Independence Day. In appreciation of this 

graceful gesture, Gandhi wrote a letter to the Viceroy asking for an 

interview. "Face-saving” was an unintelligible concept to Gandhi. He 
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U ide ti'orid Photos 

Gandhi among employees of a Lancashire mill. On the extreme right, 
wrapped in white, is Miss Slade. 

H’idc World Photos 

Gandhi at the seashore. The little boy who is leading the leader is his grand¬ 
child, the son of Ramdas Gandhi. At the left is Dr. Sushila Nayyar. 



Gandhi with Romain Holland in Switzerland Ci93i)* 

Gandhi with Rabindranath Tagore. 



Gandhi in a characteristic eating posture in his ashram hut. /\t the Icit is 
Rajkumari Amrit Kaur. 
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Gandhi with Louis Fischer (1946). 
Bradtey Smith 





Gandhi crossing a rude bridge during his walking tour in Noakhali (1947). 
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Mohamed Ali Jinnah. 
Bradtey SimUk 



Government of India Injormatton .Services 

Gandhi's worldly possessions, photographed after his death. 
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did not bebeve in ending a relationship that could he mended, and 

since he had an undying faith in mending, he tried never to end a 

personal or pobtical relationship. 

The first meeting between Irwin and Gandhi began on February 17th, 

at 2:30 P.M., and lasted dll 6:10 p.m. “So the stage was set,” writes 

Irwin’s biographer, “for the most dramadc personal encounter between 

a Viceroy and an Indian leader in the whole seething history of the 

Bridsh raj." 

It was more than dramatic; the mere fact of the encounter was his* 

torically decisive. Winston Churchill, always clear-eyed, saw this better 

than anyone. He was revolted by “the nauseating and humibating spec¬ 

tacle of this one-time Inner Temple lawyer, now seditious fakir, striding 

half-naked up the steps of the Viceroy’s palace, there to negotiate and 

to parley on equal terms with the representative of the King-Empertv.” 

A fakir is an Indian mendicant monk. ^ 

Churchill reabzed that it was not an ordinary interview. Gandhi did 

not come, Uke most of the Viceroy’s visitors, to ask favors. He came as 

the leader of a nation to negotiate “on equal terms” with the leader 

of another nation. The Salt March and its aftermath had proved that 

England could not rule India against or without Gandhi. 'The British 

Empire was at the mercy of the half-naked fakir, and Churchill did not 

like it. Churchill saw that Britain was conceding India’s independence 

in principle while withholding it, for the time being, in practice. 

'The negotiations between Irwin and Gandhi took place in the Vice¬ 

roy’s new palace, designed by the gifted British architect Sir Edwin 

Lutyens. Rising suddenly, high, expensive, and resplendent, out of the 

fiat Delhi plain amidst the ruins of Mogul mosques and forts, it sym¬ 

bolized the towering might of the British raj. But almost the first act 

within its halls marked the beginning of the end of that power. 

Gandhi and Irwin conferred again for three hours on February 18th, 

and for a half hour on the 19th. Meanwhile, Irwin was cabling his 

superiors six thousand miles away in London, while Gandhi held long 

meetings with the Congress Working Committee members in New 

Delhi. (The great Motilal Nehru had died on February 6th.) Shuttling 

between the two parties, Sapru, Jayakar, and Sastri strove to prevent a 

deadlock. 

Once, during a conference, Irwin asked Gandhi whether he would 
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have tea. '‘Thank you/' said Gandhi, taking a paper bag out of a fold in 
his shawl, "I will put some of this salt into my tea to remind us of the 
famous Boston Tea Party.” Both laughed. 

Difficulties arose. There were no talks for seven days. On February 
27th they were resumed. On March ist, Gandhi came to Irwin at 
2:30 p.M. The discussions continued till his dinnertime, so Miss Slade 
brought his dinner—forty dates and a pint of goat's milk—to the palace 
and Gandhi ate it in the presence of the Viceroy, At 5:50 p.m. Gandhi 
left the Viceroy, but that same evening he walked, unescorted, from 
Dr. Ansari s house, where he was staying, to the palace, a distance of 
five miles, and remained closeted with Irwin till after midnight, “Good 
night,” Irwin said to him as he departed to trudge home alone in the 
darkness. “Good night, Mr. Gandhi, and my prayers go with you.” 
Gandhi reached home at 2 a.m. The Working Committee was wait¬ 
ing for him. 

Finally, after further wrangling between the two men and between 
each of them and their colleagues, the Irwin-Gandhi Pact, or The 
Delhi Pact as Irwin s biographer calls it, was signed after breakfast on 
March 5th. The key word is “Pact.” Two national statesmen had signed 
a pact, a treaty, an agreed text, every phrase and stipulation of which 
had been hammered out in tough bargaining. British spokesmen main¬ 
tained that Irwin won the battle, and a good case could be made for the 
contention. But in the long-range terms in which the Mahatma thought, 
the equality that had been established, in principle, between India and 
England was more important than any practical concession which he 
might have wrung from the reluctant Empire. A politician would have 
sought more substance. Gandhi was satisfied with the essence: a basis 
for a new relationship. 

For the millions, and for history, the thousands of words of the Pact 
with its many articles, headings, and subheadings which appeared in 
the official Gazette of India Extraordinary of March 5, 1931, meant: 
civil disobedience would be called off, prisoners released, and salt manu¬ 
facture permitted on the coast; Congress would attend the next Round 
Table Conference in London. Independence was not promised. Domin¬ 
ion Status was not promised. 

In an address to American and Indian journalists that day, Gandhi 
paid a tribute to the Viceroy. “1 am aware,” he told the newsmen, “that 
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I must have, though quite unconsciously, given him cause for irritation. 

I must also have tried his patience, but 1 cannot recall an occasion 

when he allowed himself to be betrayed into irritation or impadence.** 

The settlement, Gandhi said, was “provisionaF* and “conditionar; a 

‘‘truce." The goal remained: “complete independence. . . . India can¬ 

not be sadsfied with anything less. . . . The Congress does not consider 

India to be a sickly child requiring nursing, outside help, and other 

props." 

One has a feeling, in reviewing Gandhi s 1930 negotiadons, that he 

viewed them at the time in the perspective of several decades later. 

What does the phraseology or even content of Article 2 matter now? 

Seventeen years after the Delhi Pact, India was an independent nadon. 

What are seventeen years in the life of an old nation like India? 

Subhas Chandra Bose, a critic of the Mahatma, watching the public 

reaction during a tour with Gandhi after the Pact was signed, wrote, 

“I wonder if such a spontaneous ovation was ever given to a leader 

anywhere else." And Bose admitted that Irwin, “though a prominent 

member of the Conservative Party . . . had proved himself to be a 

well-wisher of India. ' To Gandhi, who was often guided in polidcs by 

his responses to persons, this warranted the signing of the Pact. 

The moment the Pact was signed, complaints of non-fulfillment were 

leveled against the government, and soon Gandhi was again negodadng, 

this time with the new Viceroy, Lord Willingdon. Adjustments made, 

the Congress convention at Karachi which, according to Bose, was “the 

pinnacle of the Mahatma s popularity and prestige," elected Gandhi its 

sole delegate to the second Round Table Conference. 

At noon on August 29th, Gandhi sailed from Bombay aboard the 

S.S. Rajputana. Accompanying him in various capacities were Pandit 

Malaviya, Mrs. Naidu, his son Devadas, Mahadev Desai who, Gandhi 

said, “out-Boswelled Boswell," Pyarelal Nayyar, a secretary and disciple, 

Miss Slade who had made India her permanent home and Gandhi her 

spiritual father, and G. D. Birla, the big Indian industrialist. ‘There is 

every chance of my returning empty-handed," he said on embarking. 

Gandhi had given orders that he and his party travel by the lowest 

class. When he discovered how much luggage they had brought he 

saw to it that seven suitcases and a trunk were sent back from Aden. He 

himself spent most of the day and all night on deck, spinning, 
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writing, sleeping, eating, praying, talking, and playing with child pas¬ 
sengers. Like so many steamship passengers the world over, he was the 
Captain’s guest on the bridge, where he looked through the sextant 
and steered the ship for a minute. 

Gandhi arrived in London on September 12th, and remained in 
England until December 5th. He stayed in an East End Settlement 
House called Kingsley Hall as guest of Muriel Lester who had visited 
him in 1926. Kingsley Hall, “The Hull House of London,” was five 
miles from the center of town and as far from St. James’s Palace where 
the Round Table Conference sat. Friends told him that he would save 
many hours for work and sleep if he lived in a hotel, but he did not 
want to spend the money. Nor would he avail himself of the hospitality 
of Indians and Englishmen who had big houses nearer the heart of 
London. He would come home to Kingsley Hall every evening, often 
very late, because, he said, he enjoyed living among his own kind, the 
poor people. To spare interviewers the necessity of coming all the way 
to the East End, however, he agreed, under pressure, to keep a little 
office at 88 Knightsbridge. (The building was destroyed in the Second 
World War blitz.) 

Mornings, he walked through the slum streets around Kingsley Hall, 
and women and men ^ing to work would smile and greet him and 
some would join him for conversation; he visited several in their homes. 
Children ran up and held his hand. “Uncle Gandhi,” they called him. 
One mischievous youngster yelled, “Hey, Gandhi, where’s your trou¬ 
sers.” The Mahatma laughed heartily. 

Questioned by a reporter about his dress, Gandhi said, “You people 
wear plus-fours, mine are minus fours.” Gandhi was wonderful news¬ 
paper copy, and journalists covered every move he made. The dailies 
and weeklies in Europe and America eagerly sought special features 
about him. George Slocombe wrote a story about Gandhi’s generosity 
and as an illustration said that when the Prince of Wales visited India 
the Mahatma prostrated himself before him. The next time Gandhi 
saw Slocombe, he smiled and said, “Well, Mr. Slocombe, this does not 
even do credit to your imagination I would bend the knee before the 
poorest untouchable in India for having participated in crushing him 
for centuries, I would take the dust off his feet. But I would not pros¬ 
trate myself, not even before the King, much less before the Prince of 
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Wales, for the simple reason that he represented insolent might" 

Gandhi went to Buckingham Palace to have tea with King George V 

and Queen Mary. On the eve of the event, all England was agog over 

what he would wear. He wore a loincloth, sandals, a shawl, and his 

dangling watch. Later, someone asked Gandhi whether he had had 

enough on. “The King," he replied, “had enough on for both of us." 

David Lloyd George, Britain’s wartime Prime Minister, invited 

Gandhi to his farm at Churt, near London. They talked for three hours. 

In 1938, when 1 saw Lloyd George at Churt, he mentioned the Gandhi 

visit. He said the servants did what no guest had ever inspired them 

to do: they all came out to meet the holy man. 

Four years later, I told Gandhi that Lloyd George had talked to me 

about his visit. “Yes," Gandhi queried eagerly. “What did he say?" 

“He told me that you squatted on his couch and just as you got settled 

a black cat they had never seen before entered through the window 

and rested in your lap." 

“That’s correct," Gandhi recalled. 

“And when you left, Lloyd George said, the cat disappeared and 

never returned." 

“Ah," Gandhi said, “that I don’t know." 

“Lloyd George," I continued, “said that the same cat returned when 

Miss Slade visited him at Churt." 

“That too I don’t know," Gandhi declared. 

As soon as Gandhi reached England he inquired about Colonel Mad- 

dock who had performed the appendectomy on him in Poona in 1924, 

and the moment he found some leisure he went down to spend some 

hours at the home of Colonel and Mrs, Maddock near Reading where 

they sat in the beautiful garden and reminisced and told one another 

They did not look a year older. 

Charlie Chaplin asked to see Gandhi. Gandhi had never heard of 

him; he had never seen a moving picture. On being enlightened, Gandhi 

said no, he had no special interest in actors. But when told that Chaplin 

came from a poor family in the London East End, he received him at 

the home of Dr. Katial. The encounter turned into a competition be¬ 

tween toothless and toothsome smiling and the inevitable discussion 

about Gandhi’s attitude to the machine, which was Chaplin’s first ques¬ 

tion. The answer may have inspired one of the actor’s subsequent films. 
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George Bernard Shaw also paid his respects. With unusual modesty 

he gave the palm to Gandhi and called himself ‘‘Mahatma Minor.” 

"Tou and I,” he said, “belong to a very small community on earth.” 

They touched on a score of subjects and Shaw s humor immensely 

amused “Mahatma Major,” but it cannot be said that Gandhi liked the 

playwright s love of the word that shocks. Neither had Tolstoy. 

Gandhi met with Lord Irwin, Smuts, the Archbishop of Canterbury, 

the I>ean of Canterbury, Harold J. Laski, C. P. Scott, the retired editor 

of the Manchester Guardian, Arthur Henderson, and hundreds of 

others. Churchill refused to see him. Smuts said, apropos South Africa, 

“1 did not give you such a bad time as you gave me.” 

“I did not know that,” Gandhi apologized. 

At the Montessori Training College Gandhi joyously drank in the 

beautiful rhythmic exercises of the healthy, happy children who made 

him think, with sadness, of “the millions of children in semi-starved 

Indian villages.” Madame Maria Montessori introduced him as “Noble 

Master.” “Thought of world civilization and thought of the child,” she 

said, “that is what links us. . . .” In his speech, Gandhi declared, “I 

believe implicitly that the child is not bom mischievous in the bad 

sense of the term. If parents behave themselves while the child is 

growing, the child will instinctively obey the law of truth and the law 

of love. . . . From my experience of hundreds—I was going to say 

thousands—of children, I know that they have a finer sense of honor 

than you and I have. . . . Jesus never uttered a loftier or grander 

truth than when he said that wisdom cometh out of the mouths of 

babes. I believe it. . . .” 

With what is regarded as typical American enterprise, the Columbia 

Broadcasting System arranged for a radio address to the United States 

the day after Gandhi s arrival in England. He refused to prepare a 

script and spoke extemporaneously. In the studio, he eyed the micro¬ 

phone, and said, “Do I have to speak into that?” He was already on 

the air. 

India's struggle, Gandhi stated, had drawn the attention of the world 

not because Indians were fighting for their freedom, but because “the 

means adopted by us for attaining that liberty are unique, and as far 

as history shows us, have not been adopted by any other people. . . . 

Hitherto, nations have fought in the manner of the brute. They have 
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wreaked vengeance upon those whom they have considered to be their 

enemies. . . . We in India/' Gandhi continued, ''have endeavored to 

reverse the process. We feel that the law that governs brute creation 

... is inconsistent with human dignity. 1 personally would wait, if 

need be for ages, rather than seek to attain the freedom of my country 

through bloody means. I feel in the innermost recesses of my heart. .. 

that the world is sick unto death of blood-spilling. The world is seeking 

a way out and I flatter myself with the belief that perhaps it will be 

the privilege of the ancient land of India to show the way out to the 

hungering world. . . . 

"It is a matter of deep humiliation to confess that we are a house 

divided against itself, that we Hindus and Mussulmans are flying at 

one another. It is a matter of still deeper humiliation that we Hindus 

regard several million of our own kith and kin as too degraded even for 

our touch." 

He then elaborated on the curse of drink and drug and on the de¬ 

struction, by the East India Company, of village industries for the 

benefit of British manufacturers. At this juncture, a note was passed 

to Gandhi saying his time was almost up and New York would cut him 

off in three minutes. Unperturbed, he delved still further into the 

economics of British rule, and closed with a plea: "May I not, then, on 

behalf of the semi-starved millions, appeal to the conscience of the world 

to come to the rescue of a people dying to regain its liberty?" 

The CBS producer signaled him to stop. "Well, that’s over," Gandhi 

said. He was still on the air. His voice was clear and the reception 

perfect. 

In his eighty-four days in England, Gandhi visited Eton, Cambridge, 

where he sentimentally asked to be taken to Trinity, which was Jawa- 

harlal Nehru's and C. F. Andrews' college, and Oxford, and addressed 

scores of public meetings of women’s organizations, Quakers, Indian 

students, Indian merchants, British students, Laborites, Members of 

Parliament, the London School of Economics, The American Journal¬ 

ists Association, which arranged a vegetarian luncheon at the Savoy in 

deference to his habits. Friends of India, Temperance Society, Vege¬ 

tarians, etc., etc. 

Gandhi s two weekends at Oxford were memorable. He stayed with 

Professor Lindsay, the Master of Balliol, who later became an M.P. 
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and Lord Lindsay of Birker. **Both my wife and I said/' Lindsay wrote 

in 1948, ''that having him in our house was like having a saint in the 

house. He showed that mark of a great and simple man that he treated 

everyone with the same courtesy and respect whether one were a dis¬ 

tinguished statesman or an unknown student. Anyone who was in 

earnest in wanting an answer to a question got a real one." 

Another view of Gandhi at Oxford was expressed by Dr. Edward 

Thompson, at whose home, on his second Oxonian weekend, Gandhi 

had a discussion with a group that included the Master of Balliol, Gil¬ 

bert Murray, Professor S. Coupland, Sir Michael Sadler, P. C. Lyon, 

and other trained minds. "He can be exasperating," Professor Thompson 

remarked after Gandhi’s seminar with the scholars. 

Describing the intellectual joust, Thompson said, "For three hours 

he was sifted and cross-examined. ... It was a reasonably exacting 

ordeal, yet not for a moment was he rattled or at a loss. The conviction 

came to me, that not since Socrates has the world seen his equal for 

absolute self-control and composure; and once or twice, putting myself 

in the place of men who had to confront that invincible calm and im¬ 

perturbability, I thought I understood why the Athenians made 'the 

martyr-sophist' drink the hemlock. Like Socrates, he has a 'daemon.' 

And when the 'daemon' has spoken, he is as unmoved by argument as 

by danger." 

Apparently, not all those present possessed the Socratic imperturba¬ 

bility, for Professor Thompson says, "I can still hear Lindsay's desperate 

tones, as he cited Cromwell's appeal to the Presbyterian ministers— 

'In the bowels of Christ, I beseech you to think it possible that you may 

be mistaken'—and added, 'Mr. Gandhi! think it possible that you may 

be mistakenV Mr. Gandhi did not think it possible." 

But Mahadev Desai was there, taking notes as usual, and he records 

Gandhi as pleading for "the liberty to make mistakes.” On the other 

hand, Gandhi was adamant in defending civil disobedience; he would 

never give it up. "I will not purchase my country's freedom at the cost 

of non-violence," he told the professors who thought they could not be 

mistaken. 'Tou may be justified," Gandhi admitted, "in saying that I 

must go more warily, but if you attack the fundamentals you have to 

convince me." They failed. 

In all Gandhi's public and private, official and unofficial utterances 
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during his eighty-four days in Engbnd^ he tried, above all else/ to 

clarify what he meant by the independence of India. 

''How far would you cut India off from the Empire?*’ a member of 

the audience at the Raleigh Club asked. 

"From the Empire entirely/’ Gandhi replied. "From the British nation 

not at all, if I want India to gain and not to grieve. The Emperorship 

must go and I should love to be an equal partner with Britain sharing 

her joys and sorrows and an equal partner with the I>ominions. But it 

must be a partnership in equal terms.” 

He advocated "an honorable partnership. . . . We can have a part¬ 

nership between England and India. ... I still aspire to be a citizen 

not in the Empire, but in a Commonwealth, in a partnership if possi¬ 

ble; if God will it, an indissoluble partnership, but not a partnership 

superimposed upon one nation by another. . . . The Congress does not 

stand merely for isolated independence which may easily become a 

menace to the world. ... I would heartily welcome the union of East 

and West provided it is not based on brute force.... England and India 

[should be] bound by the silken cord of love. . . . India as an inde¬ 

pendent partner would have a special contribution to make in a world 

which is getting weary of war and bloodshed. In case of an outbreak 

of war it would be the common effort of India and Great Britain to 

prevent war, not indeed by force of arms, but by the irresistible force of 

example.” 

In these statements, Gandhi described precisely, and with remarkable 

prevision, the status which independent India voluntarily assumed in 

the Commonwealth in 1948. More, the protagonists of that move used 

the very argument—and almost the exact words—which Gandhi had 

used in Lx)ndon seventeen years earlier. Gandhi saw that the only 

beneficent independence was the kind that led to interdependence. 

"Isolated independence is not the goal,” he said. "It is voluntary inter¬ 

dependence.” He arrived at this conclusion through no abstruse the¬ 

orizing about internationalism or world government. Gandhi was ad¬ 

dicted to love; it was the basis of his relations with people. Love is 

creative interdependence. And since Gandhi regarded nations not as 

abstract legal entities but as agglomerations of human beings with 

names, noses, aches, and smiles, he believed that intemadimal telation- 

ships should be founded on interdependence and love. 
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Gandhi had been cridcized for acquiescing in Article Two of the 

Irwin-Delhi Pact of March 5, 1931, which stated that in the contem¬ 

plated constitution of India, England would retain control over defense, 

foreign affairs, minority problems, and financial obligations to foreign 

creditors. It was a severe limitation on freedom. Gandhi took the criti¬ 

cism to heart. Indeed, the Congress convention in Karachi at the end 

of March, 1931, instructed Gandhi to change his position on this key 

question. Gandhi, accordingly, told British audiences that "it is part of 

the mandate given me by Congress that complete independence would 

be meaningless unless it was accompanied by complete control over 

finance, defense, and external affairs.” This reversal in Gandhi’s attitude 

exasperated the British; he had gone back on his signature. Gandhi had 

a technical justification in the mandate of Congress, his master. Actu¬ 

ally, he attached no political importance to the stipulation in the Delhi 

Pact and only propaganda importance to his advocacy of the opposite 

in London. England was not yet parting with power in India. That was 

the crucial fact. Hair-splitting over who would control what was there¬ 

fore futile. 

This being his approach, Gandhi concentrated more on convincing 

the British people than on debating with the British government at 

the Round Table Conference. “I find that my work lies outside the 

Conference,” he told one audience. Referring to his efforts to explain 

India to England, he said, “This to me is the real Round Table Con¬ 

ference. ... The seed which is being sown now may result in softening 

the British spirit . . . and in preventing the brutalization of human 

beings.” He made friends through his charm, frankness, humanity, and 

accessibility. He won the hearts of the Christians in England who 

recognized him as a big brother and ally. He touched what was Chris¬ 

tian in all Englishmen. He found an echo in their common sense; it 

was clear after his visit that some day, sooner than some thought, 

sooner than Churchill wished, India would be liberated. Many con¬ 

sidered him “difficult,” and he undoubtedly could be. But he moderated 

the hostility of the most rabid. He even walked into the lion’s den and 

went to Lancashire where his agitation against foreign cloth and in 

favor of khadi had caused unemployment and loss of profits. At a 

meeting, one man said, “I am one of the unemployed, but if I was in 

India I would say the same thing that Mr. Gandhi is saying.” ’There is 
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a telling photograph, taken outside the Greenfield Mill at E>arwen, 

Lancashire, showing Gandhi, wrapped in white cotton from neck to 

knee, overcome with coyness and squeezed in amidst cotton factory 

workers, most of them women, one of them holding his hand, and all 

of them, young, old, male, female, cheering the Mahatma and smiling. 

He made friends among those whom he hurt. 

The government assigned two Scotland Yard detectives. Sergeant 

Evans and Sergeant Rogers, to guard Gandhi; they were special police* 

men, giants in stature, usually assigned to protecting royalty. They grew 

to like ''the little man.'' Unlike most prominent personalities in such 

circumstances, Gandhi did not keep them at arms' length or ignore 

them. He talked to them and visited their homes. Before leaving Eng¬ 

land, he begged that they be allowed to accompany him to Brindisi, 

Italy. The bureaucrat asked the reason for this strange request. 

"Because they are part of my family," Gandhi answered. 

From India he sent each a watch engraved "With love from M. K. 

Gandhi." 

Between lectures, speeches, forums, press interviews, trips, innumer¬ 

able individual appointments, and answering a mountain of mail—all 

with a view to conquering Britain's heart—he attended to the Official 

business which had brought him to London: the second Round Table 

Conference. His official and unofficial activities usually kept him busy 

twenty-one hours a day; diaries preserved show that he sometimes got 

to bed at 2 a.m., awoke at 3:45 a.m. for prayers, rested again from 5 to 

6 A.M., and had no respite from then till the next morning at i or 2 a.m. 

The schedule wore him out; he delighted in driving his body to the 

maximum of endurance and beyond. As a result, what he gave the 

Round Table Conference was not of his best quality, yet the partici¬ 

pants heard some remarkable, and certainly unique, utterances from his 

lips. He attended regularly, although most plenary sessions and com¬ 

mittee meetings bored him; they were so political that he lost all sense 

of their reality. Often he sat with eyes closed. He may have slept a few 

winks. 

The purpose of the Round Table Conference was "constitution¬ 

building" for India. Lord Reading, a member of the British delegation, 

formulated the British purpose in one sentence: "I believe that the true 

policy between Britain and India is that we should in this country 
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strive all we can to give effect to the views of India while preserving 

at the same time our own position, which we must not and cannot 

abandon/' 

How could England give effect to the views of India while remaining 

the mistress of India? 
The Round Table Conference was worse than a failure. By intensi¬ 

fying the religious divisions of India it exercised a sinister, tragic influ¬ 

ence on the future. 

The Conference consisted of 112 delegates: 20 representing the gov¬ 

ernment of the United Kingdom, 23 from princely India-^rajas, maha¬ 

rajas, nawabs, and their subordinates—and 64 from British India. The 

Viceroy appointed the princes, and, with the exception of Gandhi, Mrs. 

Naidu, and a few others, he appointed the visitors from British India. 

His selections were careful and purposeful. The British government 

advocated a federation of princely India, which was roughly a third of 

India, with British India. This would have introduced the weight of 

the autocratic princes, British puppets all, into the government of India. 

Thus, what seemed like the unification of the two Indias was calculated 

to strengthen feudal, medieval reaction and reinforce British rule. 

The delegation from British India included the Aga Khan and others 

like him. It included British merchants, Anglo-Indians, Christians, 

Hindus, Moslems, landlords, Laborites, untouchables, and Parsis (but 

not one peasant), and each of these groups demanded a separate elec¬ 
torate for itself. In other words, a number of seats in the legislative as¬ 

semblies would be reserved for Englishmen resident in India, for land¬ 

lords, for Moslems, etc., and the Englishmen would be elected only by 

the votes of the Englishmen of India who could vote for no one else, 

the landlords would be elected by landlords, the Moslems could vote 

only for Moslem candidates, and so on. Every divisive tendency in India 

was encouraged. 

The Conference set up a Minorities Committee comprising six Eng¬ 
lishmen from England, thirteen Moslems, ten Hindus, two Untouch¬ 

ables, two Laborites, two Sikhs, one Parsi, two Indian Christians, one 

Anglo-Indian (Anglo-Indians are descendents of mixed marriages be¬ 

tween British men and Indian women), two Englishmen domiciled in 

India, and four women. Only the women did not ask for a separate 

electorate. Of the thirteen Moslems in the Committee only one was a 

nationalist Moslem who was an Indian politically and a follower of the 
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Prophet religiously. The remaining twelve mingled church and state 

and put the political interests of their religious community above the 

welfare of India as a whole. 

Mr. Fazl'ul Huq, a Moslem, was addressing the Plenary Session of 

November 28, 1931. ‘1 wonder/' he said, “if Sir Austen Chamberlain 
has come across two such incongruous specimens of humanity as Dr. 

Moonje [a Hindu member of the Conference] and myself—professing 

different religions, worshipping different Gods/' 

“The same God," a member interjected. 

“No," Mr. Fazl-ul Huq demurred, “no, it cannot be the same God. 

My God is for separate electorates; his God is for joint electorates.” 
The Moslem delegate was partitioning God. But Gandhi would not 

partition God or India. He told the conference he rejected all separate 

electorates. In an independent India, he said, Indians would vote as 

Indians for Indians. The virtue of India nationalism and its appeal 

to outsiders was not that it would create new national barriers—there 

were already too many—but rather that it would rid England and the 

world of the incubus of imperialism and take religion out of politics 

in India. Instead, the Round Table Conference, under British manage¬ 

ment, intensified old and attempted to introduce new fissiparous influ¬ 

ences. “Divide and Rule" is the law of Empire; the more the rule is 

threatened the more diligently that law is applied. 
The solution for India would have been to banish religious consid¬ 

erations from politics. But with all its tw^entieth-century vitality, Indian 

nationalism still lacked the strength to unite that which religion, pro¬ 

vincial loyalties, and economic differences separated. The Indian na¬ 

tional movement was faced with the task of liberation before the Indians 

had been welded into a nation. 
The caste system was a further divisive influence which weakened 

nationalism. The Harijans or untouchables feared and often hated the 
Hindus who had harnessed so many brutal disabilities upon them. They, 

too, through their gifted and ambitious representative at the Confer¬ 

ence, Dr. Bhimrao Ramji Ambedkar, a lawyer who studied at Columbia 
University of New York under a scholarship from the Gaekwar Maha¬ 

raja of Baroda, demanded a separate electorate or at least a right to a 

specified number of Hindu seats in the legislative assemblies. 

Mahatma Gandhi, a supremely devout Hindu, was incapable of dis- 

criminating against anyone on account of religion, race, caste, color, or 
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anything. His contribution to the equality of untouchables and to the 

education of a new generation which was Indian instead of Hindu or 

Moslem or Parsi or Christian has world significance. But at the time 

of the Round Table Conference of 1931, and especially with the British 

government pulling in the opposite direction, his arm lacked the power 

to draw the Hindu, Moselm, and Harijan communities together into 

an Indian unity which could have commanded the British raj to go 

home. 

. At the last plenary sitting of the Round Table Conference, on De¬ 

cember I, 1931, the chairman, James Ramsay Mac£X>nald, refened to 

Gandhi as a Hindu. 

"Not Hindu,” Gandhi exclaimed. 

To his God, Gandhi was a Hindu. To the British Prime Minister, 

and in politics, he was an Indian. But there were few such Indians at 

the Round Table Conference and too few in India. 

That was the upshot of the Round Table Conference. It was com¬ 

pletely abortive. It made the situation in India worse. Gandhi left it 

and England with a heartache, for though he had charmed and con¬ 

vinced many English people, he had failed to bridge or even to narrow 

the gulf that separated Hindus from Moslems; and the British govern¬ 

ment was clinging tightly to India. 

CHAPTER THIRTY-THREE 

On the Way Home 

Gandhi sent apologies to persons and groups in almost every free coun¬ 

try of the world; he could not visit them because he had work to do in 

India. On the way home, he stopped for a day in Paris. Sitting on a 

table, he addressed a large meeting in a cinema theater, and then took 

the train for Switzerland, where he stayed five days with Romain Rol- 

land at Villeneuve, at the eastern end of Lake Leman. 

' ‘ Holland, whose Jean Christophe is a fiction masterpiece of the twen- 
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tieth century, had come under the influence of Count Leo Tolstoy, 

author of the finest novel of the nineteenth. Holland made a shrewd 

comparison between Tolstoy and Gandhi. “With Gandhi,“ he said in 

1924, “everything is nature—modest, simple, pure—while all his strug¬ 

gles are hallowed by religious serenity, whereas with Tolstoy everything 

is proud revolt against pride, hatred against hatred, passion against 

passion. Everything in Tolstoy is violence, even his doctrine of non¬ 

violence.” 

Tolstoy was storm-tossed, Gandhi calm and equable. Gandhi could 

not have fled from his wife, or from anything. The marketplace in 

which he sat was crisscrossed by hundreds of millions of persons with 

their wares and carts and cares and thoughts, but he sat still and there 

was silence in him and around him. Gandhi would have suffocated in 

an ivory tower or on an Olympian height. 

Tagore was different. “But where am I in a great crowd, squeezed 

in at all sides?” Remain Rolland quotes Tagore as saying. “And who 

can understand the noise I hear? If I hear a song, my sitar can catch 

the melody, and I canqoin the chorus, for I am a singer. But in the mad 

clamor of the crowd, my voice is lost, and I become dizzy.” 

Rolland and Gandhi had never met before 1931. Rolland knew 

Gandhi from long conversations with Tagore and C. F. Andrews who 

had lived for fifteen years with Tagore. He had also read Gandhi. Like 

Tagore, Rolland was a singer. He w^as the author of books on Beethoven, 

Handel, Goethe, and Michelangelo. He wrote a book on Ramakrishna, 

the Hindu mystic. 

Rolland regarded Gandhi as a saint. In fact, he wrote, in his 1924 

biography of the Mahatma, “Gandhi is too much of a saint; he is too 

pure, too free from the animal passions that lie dormant in man.” Hol¬ 

land and Tagore were afraid of the evil in human beings. Tagore feared 

that when Gandhi lit bonfires of foreign cloth he would kindle uncon¬ 

trollable emotions in men; Rolland agreed; Andrews agreed. 

This estimate omits Gandhi s faith in the basic goodness and corrigi- 

bility of man which is the essence of Gandhi. In South Africa, Ganc^ 

believed that the ordinary, illiterate,^ indentured laborer in a mine or 

on a farm could rise to the purity and restraint required of a Satyagrahi. 

He trusted the peasants of backward Bardoli to resist provocation and 

violence. His trust exalted them. Gandhi did not regard nobility as a 
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monopoly of the great man or the ardst or the elite. Gandhi’s uniqueness 

lay in working with common clay and finding the soul spark in it. 

Before Gandhi’s arrival on December 5th, Rolland had received hun¬ 

dreds of letters connected with the Mahatma’s visit: an Italian wanted 

to know from Gandhi what numbers would win in the next national 

lottery; a group of Swiss musicians offered to serenade Gandhi under 

his window every night; the Syndicate of the Milkmen of Leman 

volunteered to supply “the King of India’’ with dairy products during 

his stay. Journalists sent questionnaires and camped around Rolland’s 

villa; photo^aphers laid siege to the house; the police reported that the 

hotels had filled with tourists who hoped to see the Indian visitor. 

The two men, Gandhi sixty-two, Rolland sixty-five, met like old 

friends and treated one another with the tenderness of mutual respect. 

Gandhi arrived on a cold rainy evening with Miss Slade, Mahadev 

Desai, Pyarelal Nayyar, and Devadas. The next day was Monday, 

Gandhi’s day of silence, and Rolland delivered a ninety-minute talk on 

the tragic moral and social state of Europe since 1900. Gandhi listened 

and penciled some questions. 

On Tuesday, they discussed Gandhi’s trip to Rome. He wanted to 

see Mussolini and other Italian leaders as well as the Pope. Rolland 

warned that the Fascist regime would exploit his presence for its sinister 

purposes. Gandhi said he would break through the cordon they might 

throw around him. Rolland suggested that he put certain conditions. 

Gandhi replied that it was against his convictions to make such arrange 

ments in advance. Rolland persisted. Gandhi said, “Then tell me, what 

is your final opinion on my plan to stop in Rome?’’ Rolland advised him 

to stay with some independent persons. Gandhi promised and kept the 

promise. 

Rolland asked Gandhi to comment on his remarks about Europe. 

Gandhi said it showed him how vast had been Rolland’s suffering. 

Speaking English which Rolland’s sister translated into French, Gandhi 

said he had learned very little from history. “My method is empiric," 

he explained. “All my conclusions are based on personal experience.” 

'This, he admitted, could be dang^us and misleading, but he had to 

have faith in his own views. All his trust was in non-violence. It could 

save Europe. In England, friends tried to show him the weakness of 
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his non-violent method; ''but even though the whole world doubt it, 

I will continue to believe in it.” 

The next two days Gandhi spent in Lausanne where he addressed a 

public meeting and in Geneva where he spoke in Victory Hall. At each 

he was heckled for hours by atheists and others. He answered them in 

perfect calm, "not a muscle of his face twitching,” Rolland wrote. 

December loth, they resumed their conversation. Rolland recalled 

Gandhi s statement at Geneva: "Truth is God.” He gave Gandhi a brief 

sketch of his life, his childhood, how cramped he felt in the small 

French town, how he became a writer and struggled with the problem 

of the truth in art. "If it is correct,” Rolland said, "that 'Truth is God,* 

it appears to me that it lacks one important attribute of God: joy. For— 

and on this I insist—I recognize no God without joy.” 

Gandhi replied that he did not distinguish between art and truth. 

"I am against the formula, 'Art for art s sake.’ For me, all art must be 

based on the truth. I reject beautiful things if, instead of expressing 

truth, they express untruth. I accept the formula 'Art brings joy and is 

good’ but on the condition I mentioned. To achieve truth in art I do 

not expect exact reproductions of external things. Only living things 

bring living joy to the soul and must elevate the soul.” 

Rolland did not differ but he stressed the pain of searching for truth 

and for God. He took a book from his shelf and read from Goethe. 

Rolland later confessed that he thought Gandhi’s God found pleasure 

in man’s sorrow; Rolland was trying to modify this Gandhian view. 

They talked about the perils of another war. "If one nation possessed 

the heroism to submit without answering violence with violence,” 

Gandhi declared, "it would be the most effective lesson. But for this an 

absolute faith is necessary.” 

Rolland: "Nothing should be done by halves, no matter whether it 

is bad or good.” Rolland’s sister, Madeleine, and Miss Kondachev, a 

Russian secretary, were taking notes. Neither recorded Gandhi’s reac¬ 

tion to this assertion. 

The last day, December 1 ith, Rolland requested Gandhi to deal with 

some questions submitted by Pierre Monatte, the editor of a Paris 

magazine called The Proletarian Revolution* In response to one query, 

Gandhi asserted that if labor was perfectly organized it could dicWe 

conditions to the employers; "labor is the only power in the world.” But 
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RoUand interposed that the capitalists might divide the workers; there 

might be scabs; ''then the conscious minority of labor must set up a 

dictatorship of the proletariat and force the mass of labor to unite in its 

own interest.” 

"I am absolutely opposed to that,” Gandhi affirmed. Rolland dropped 

the subject and quickly introduced several others; non-violence in rela¬ 

tion to criminals, etc., etc., and "What do you call God? Is it a spiritual 

personality or a force which rules over the world?” 

"God,” Gandhi replied, "is not a person. . . . God is an eternal prin¬ 

ciple, That is why I say that Truth is God. . . . Even atheists do not 

doubt the necessity of truth.” 

The last evening Gandhi asked Rolland to play some Beethoven. 

Rolland played the Andante from the Fifth Symphony and, as an encore 

of his own accord, Gluck s Elysian Fields. 

The theme of the Fifth Symphony is considered to be man’s struggle 

with fate, mans harmony with fate, the brotherhood of man. The 

second movement, the Andante, is melodious and suffused w ith tender 

lyrical emotions, quiet nobility, and optimism. Rolland chose it because 

it came closest to his concept of Gandhi s personality. It is gentle and 

loving. In the Gluck piece one almost hears the angels singing to the 

strains of the flute. It is celestial music, full of purity and clarity. The 

Gita might be set to it. 

Rolland was frail and had just recovered from bronchitis, but he 

insisted on taking Gandhi and his party to the railway station. There 

they embraced, as they did when they first met; Gandhi pressed his 

cheek against Rolland s shoulder and threw his right arm around Rol¬ 

land; Rolland touched his cheek to Gandhi’s head. "It was the kiss of 

St. Dominic and St. Francis,” Rolland said. 

The Italian government wished Gandhi to be its guest and made the 

corresponding preparations. Gandhi politely refused and stayed with 

General Moris, a friend of Rolland’s, who had lived in India. The day 

of his arrival, the Mahatma went to see the Duce. An official com¬ 

munique said the interview lasted twenty minutes. Gandhi’s compan¬ 

ions recall that it lasted only ten minutes. Gandhi could establish no 

psychological contact with Mussolini. "He has the eyes of a cat,” Gandhi 

said later; "they moved about in every direction as if in constant rotation. 
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The visitor would totally succumb before the awe of his gaze like a rat 

running directly into the mouth of a cat out of mere fright. 

was not to be dazed like that/' Gandhi testified, 'Ijut 1 noticed that 

he had so arranged things about him that a visitor would easily get 

stricken with terror. The walls of the passage through which one has 

to pass to reach him are all overstudded with various types of swords 

and other weapons/' Mussolini's office, too, Gandhi noted, was hung 

with weapons, but, he added, ‘‘he keeps no arms on his person." 

The Pope did not see Gandhi. Several members of Gandhi's entour¬ 

age thought the Holy Father might have been acting in deference to 

II Duce's wishes, but they did not know. Some suggested that the inter¬ 

view failed to materialize not only on account of Mussolini's relations 

with the Vatican but as well because of Anglo-Italian relations; Gandhi, 

after ail, was an anti-British rebel. 

Gandhi was taken to the Rome-Naples rugby match and to a parade 

of the young Balilla Musketeers where he was received with a salvo of 

cannon. He was more interested in the Vatican Library, and spent two 

happy hours in St. Peter’s. In the Sistine Chapel he stood before Christ 

on the Cross and wept. ''One cannot help being moved to tears," he said 

to Mahadev Desai. If he could have lingered "two or three months" in 

the museums and observed the statues and paintings every day, Gandhi 

wiote to the ashram, he might have an opinion that was worth while. 

Even then, "I am hardly qualified as an art critic." 

Romain Rolland, however, had directed his attention to art. "I do 

not think that Eurojiean art is superior to Indian art/’ Gandhi boasted. 

"Both these arts have developed on different lines. Indian art is based 

entirely on the imagination," he wrote a friend; he was probably recall¬ 

ing the Indian statues with many arms and heads. "European art is an 

imitation of nature. It is therefore easier to understand but turns our 

attention to the earth, whereas Indian art, when understood, tends to 

direct our thoughts to Heaven." 

Then he checked himself. "This is only for a person like you," he 

cautioned. "I attach no importance to these views. It may be my uncon¬ 

scious partiality for India or perhaps my ignorance that makes me say 

this." 

To Gandhi, art had to be spiritual. 'True beauty," he said in his 

autobiography, "consists in purity of heart/' 
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Jesus [he wrote in Young IntJta] was to my mind a supreme artist, be¬ 

cause he saw and expressed Truth. . . . But I know that many call 

themselves artists, and are recognized as such, and yet in their work 

there is absolutely no trace of the soul's upward surge and unrest. . . . 

True art is thus an expression of the soul. . . . All true art must help 

the soul to realise its inner self. In my own case, I find that 1 can do 

entirely without external forms in my soul’s realisation. I can claim, 

therefore, that there is truly sufficient art in my life, though you might 

not see what you call works of art about me. My room may have blank 

walls. And I may even dispense with the roof, so that I may gaze upon 

the starry heavens overhead that stretch in an unending expanse of 

beauty. ... Is a woman with fair features necessarily beautiful? . . . 

Socrates, we are told, was the most truthful man of his time and yet 

his features are said to have been the ugliest in Greece. To my mind he 

was beautiful because he was struggling after truth. . . . Truth is the 

first thing to be sought for, and beauty and goodness will then be added 

unto you. . . . True art takes note not merely of form but also of what 

lies beyond. There is an art that kills and an art that gives life. True 

art must be evidence of the happiness, contentment and purity of its 

authors. 

Before Gandhi left Rome he sought out Tolstoy’s daughter. As he 

sat spinning on the Boor of her apartment. Princess Maria, a daughter 

of the King of Italy, entered with a lady-in-waiting, and brought the 

Mahatma a large basket of figs. 

“Her Majesty the Queen packed them for you,” said the lady-in- 

waiting. 

Nobody exploited Gandhi’s presence for pro-Fascist purjxjses although 

the Giomale d’ltalia did print an interview with him which he never 

gave by a journalist he had never seen. Altogether, from Swiss border 

to the Italian heel, Gandhi spent forty-eight hours in Italy. At Brindisi, 

he bade farewell to his two Scotland Yard men, but not to Professor and 

Mrs. Edmond Privat. 

The professor and his wife were friends of Romain Rolland and 

accompanied Gandhi from Villeneuve to the Italian frontier. As they 

were saying good-by they remarked that they would like some day to 
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visit India. Gandhi asked why they didn’t come along with him. They 

replied that they could not afford it. 

“You probably think in terms of first and second class,” Gandhi said, 

“but we only pay ten pounds each for our passage on deck, and once 

there, many Indian friends would open their houses to you.” 

The Privats counted the money in their pockets and purse and de¬ 

cided to go. At Rome they bought bedding, sent telegrams to the Uni¬ 

versity of Neuch4tel, where the professor taught, that he would not be 

back for his lectures, and on December 14th boarded the S.S. PUsna at 

Brindisi with the Gandhi party. Two weeks later they landed at 

Bombay. 

A mammoth crowd cheered Gandhi’s arrival on the morning of De¬ 

cember 28th. “I have come back empty-handed,” he told them, “but I 

have not compromised the honor of my country.” That was his summary 

of how India had fared at the Round Table Conference. But things 

were blacker than he thought. 

CHAPTER THIRTY-FOUR 

Climax 

Never was deck passenger accorded such a regal welcome; "judg^g 

from the warmth, cordiality and affection displayed at the reception, 

one would think that the Mahatma had returned with Swaraj in the 

hollow of his hand,” Subhas Chandra Bose remarked caustically. He 

had returned with his integrity; he had not stepped down from the role 

of half-naked fakir who parleyed as an equal with the mighty British 

Empire. This was the next best thing to freedom, for it reflected the 

liberation of India’s spirit. Since the Salt March, and especially since 

the Irwin-Gandhi Pact, India felt free. Gandhi fed that feeling, and 

Indians were grateful. Moreover, their Mahatma had come back »fely 

from the cold world across the sea. 

India’s partial liberation was achieved in 1930-31, thanks to Gandhi, 
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Iiwin^ and the British Labor government. But Irwin was gone; and in 

October, 1931, Ramsay MacDonalds Labor government had been sup¬ 

planted by a Cabinet, headed by MacDonald, in which conservatives 

predominated. Sir Samuel Hoare, “an honest and frank-hearted English¬ 

man,'* according to Gandhi, and an honest and frank conservative, was 

Secretary of State for India. 

The new British government proceeded to attack India's new sense 

of freedom. 

A full report was poured into Gandhi s ear from the moment he set 

foot on the Bombay quay on December 28th. By evening he had a 

detailed picture of the ugly situation and conveyed it to the two hun¬ 

dred thousand listeners whom he addressed, with the aid of loud¬ 

speakers, on the vast Azad Maidan: 

Jawaharlal Nehru and Tasadduq Sherwani, Moslem president of the 

Congress organization of the United Provinces, had been arrested two 

days earlier while traveling to Bombay to greet Gandhi. Emergency 

Powers Ordinances had been promulgated early in December in the 

United Provinces and in the Northwest Frontier Province and Bengal to 

deal with a widespread no-rent movement; they authorized the military 

to seize buildings, impound bank balances, confiscate wealth, arrest 

suspects without a warrant, suspend court trials, deny bail and habeas 

corpus, withdraw mailing privileges from the press, disband political 

organizations, and prohibit picketing and boycotting. “We are not play¬ 

ing a game with artificial rules," Sir Harry Haig, Home Member 

(Minister of Interior) of the Government of India, said in the Assembly. 

“The question is whether the Congress is going tc impose its will on the 

whole country.*' 

“All this," Gandhi told his Bombay audience, “I learned after my 

landing here. I take it these are all Christmas gifts from Lord Willing- 

don, our Christian Viceroy. For is it not a custom during Christmas to 

exchange greetings and gifts? Something had to be given me and this 

is what I have got." (He had not yet unwrapped all the packages.) 

The same evening he spoke to the Welfare of India League in the 

Hotel Majestic. “I am not conscious of a single experience throughout 

my three months’ stay in England and Europe," he asserted, “that made 

me feel that after all East is East and West is West. On the contrary, 

I have been convinced more than ever that human nature is much the 
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same, no matter under what clime it flourishes, and that i( you ap¬ 

proached people with trust and affection you would have ten-fold trust 

and thousand fold affection returned to you/’ 

The members of the British government were friendly to him; "we 

parted as the best of friends.... But when I come here I find a different 

order of things altogether. . . /' He summarized the extraordinary 

ordinances. "The Congress is charged with trying to run a parallel 

government. ... I assure you that I shall strain every nerve to see if 

I would not tender co-operation on honorable lines to induce the govern¬ 

ment to withdraw or revise these ordinances.” 

The government had no intention of letting Gandhi offer anything. 

The day after his arrival, Gandhi telegraphed the Viceroy deploring 

the ordinances and arrests and suggesting an interview. The Viceroy s 

secretary replied on the last day of the year; the ordinances were justified 

by the activities of Congress against the government. The Viceroy 

would be "willing to see you and to give you his views as to the way in 

which you can best exert your influence,” the secretary said. "But His 

Excellency feels bound to emphasize that he will not be prepared to 

discuss with you measures which the Government of India, with the 

full approval of His Majesty’s Government, have found it necessary to 

adopt in Bengal, the United Provinces, and the N.W.F.P.” 

The British raj would no longer parley with the rebel. 

Gandhi’s rejoinder defended Congress and intimated that he might 

have to start a civil disobedience campaign. The Viceroys secretary 

answered sharply on January 2, 1932. "His Excellency and the govern¬ 

ment,” he wrote, "can hardly believe that you or the Working Com¬ 

mittee [Executive Committee of Congress] contemplate that His Excel¬ 

lency can invite you, with the hope of any advantage, to an interview 

held under the threat of the resumption of civil disobedience . . . nor 

can the Government of India accept the position implied in your tele¬ 

gram that its policy should be dependent on the judgment of yourself 

as to the necessity of measures which the government has taken. . . 

Willingdon was right. No autocracy can permit a private citizen or 

organization to question its acts. 

Gandhi replied on the same day. He had not threatened; be had 

expressed an opinion. Moreover, he had negotiated with Irwin, prior 

to the Delhi Pact, while civil disobedience was actually in progress. He 
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never thought the government had to depend on his judgment, “But I 

do submit,” Gandhi wired, “that any popular and constitutional govern¬ 

ment would always welcome and consider sympathetically suggestions 

made by public bodies and their representatives. . . 

The government “has banged the door in my face,” Gandhi informed 

the nation on January 3rd. The next day, the government banged an 

iron door in his face: he was arrested—again, as after the Salt March, 

under Regulation XXXV of 1827; again he was His Majesty’s guest in 

Yeravda Jail. A few weeks earlier he had been the guest of His and 

Her Majesty in Buckingham Palace. 

The government attack on Congress was fierce. Congress organiza¬ 

tions were closed and almost all leaders imprisoned; in January, 14,800 

persons were jailed for political reasons; in February, 17,800. Winston 

Churchill declared that the repressive measures were more drastic than 

any since the 1857 Mutiny. 

Mahatma Gandhi enjoyed a special regime in prison. In 1930, in the 

same Yeravda Jail, the chief warden came to him and asked how many 

letters he needed to receive from the outside each week. 

“I do not need to receive a single letter,” Gandhi replied. 

“How many letters do you wish to write?” the warden inquired. 

“Not one,” Gandhi said. 

He was given unlimited privileges to write and receive correspond¬ 

ence. 
Major Martin, the jail superintendent, bought furniture, crockery 

and other utensils for Gandhi. “For whom have you bought all this,” 

Gandhi protested. “Take it away, please.” 

Major Martin said he had permission from the central authorities to 

spend a minimum of 300 rupees a month on such an honored guest. 

“That is all very well,” Gandhi declared, "but this money comes from 

the Indian treasury, and I do not want to increase the burdens of my 

country. I hope that my boarding expenses will not exceed thirty-five 

rupees a month.” The special equipment was removed. 

At Yeravda an official named Quttin asked Gandhi to teach him 

Gujarati and he used to come every day for his lesson. One morning, 

Quinn failed to appear, and on inquiry Gandhi was told that the official 

was busy at a hanging in the prison. “I feel as though I am going to be 

sick,” G^dhi said. 
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Vallabhbhai Patel too was arrested and lodged at Yeravda. In March, 

Mahadev Desai was transferred from another jail to Yeravda: Gandhi 

had asked for his companionship. When Mahadev arrived he laid his 

head on Gandhi’s feet, and Gandhi patted his head and shoulders affec¬ 

tionately. The three enjoyed numerous conversations together in which 

other prisoners and British wardens and physicians sometimes joined. 

Gandhi read the newspapers more carefully than he did outside, 

washed his own clothes, spun, studied the stars at night, and read many 

books; he liked Upton Sinclair’s The Wet Parade, Goethe’s Faust, 

Kingsley’s Westward Ho, and others. He also put the finishing touches 

on a tiny book most of which he had written in Yeravda in 1930 in the 

form of letters to Sabarmati Ashram. He entitled it From Yeravda 

Mandir, “mandir” is a temple; the prison was a temple for he worshiped 

God in it. The booklet, supplemented by occasional articles and pro¬ 

nouncements at other times, furnishes a key to Gandhi’s thinking on 

the nature of God and the ideal conduct of a man. 

“God is,’’ Gandhi said. 

The word satya means “truth,” and it derives from sat which means 

“to be.” Sat also denotes God. Therefore, God is that which is. “And 

since,” according to Gandhi, “nothing else I see merely through the 

senses can or will persist. He alone is.” Everything else is illusion. God 

is the only truth. 

Over the years Gandhi tried many times to prove the existence of 

God. “There is an indefinable mysterious Power,” he wrote, “which 

pervades everything. I feel it, though I do not see it. It is this unseen 

Power which makes itself felt and yet defies all proof, because it is so 

unlike all that I perceive through my senses. It transcends the senses. 

“But," he added optimistically, “it is possible to reason out the exist¬ 

ence of God to a limited extent. . . . There is an orderliness in the 

Universe, there is an unalterable law governing everything and every 

being that exists or lives. It is not a blind law, for no blind law can 

govern the conduct of human beings.... That law then which governs 

all life is God. ... I do dimly perceive that whilst everything around 

me is ever changing, ever dying, there is underlying all 4hat change a 

living Power that is chan^less, that holds all together, that creates, 

dissolves, and recreates. That informing Ppwer or spirit is God. ... In 

the midst of death life persists, in the midst of untruth truth persists, in 



302 The Life of Mahatma Gandhi 

the midst of darkness light persists. Hence I gather that God is Life, 
Truth, and Love. He is Love. He is the supreme Good.” 

After this valiant rational effort, Gandhi says, “But He is no God 

who merely satisfies the intellect, if He ever does. God to be God must 

rule the heart and transform it. He must express Himself in every 

smallest act of His votary. This can only be done through a definite 

realization more real than the five senses can ever produce. Sense per¬ 

ceptions can be, often are, false and deceptive, however real they may 

appear to us. Where there is realization outside the senses it is infallible. 

It is proved not by extraneous evidence but in the transformed conduct 

and character of those who have felt the real presence of God within.” 

That was another attempt at proof, this time not by logic but by the 

palpable testimony of human behavior. But “faith transcends reason,” 

he confessed; consequently, “the safest course is to believe in the moral 

government of the world and therefore in the supremacy of the moral 

law, the law of truth and love. ... If we could solve all the mysteries 

of the Universe, we would be co-cqual with God. Every drop of ocean 

shares its glory but is not the ocean.” Every human being, in other 

words, partakes of the nature of God but is not God and cannot know 

what He is. Even the greatest Hindu sage, Sankara, did not know more 

than that God is “Not this” and “Not that.” 

Except as a youth, Gandhi never doubted the existence of God as 

Jains and Buddhists may. “I literally believe,” he said, “that not a blade 

of grass grows or moves without His will. . . . God is nearer to us than 

fingernails to the flesh. ... 1 can tell you this, tbit I am surer of His 

existence than of the fact that you and I are sitting in this room. . . . 

You may pluck out my eyes, but that cannot kill me. You may chop off 

my nose, but that will not kill me. But blast my belief in God, and 

1 am dead.” 

Gandhi, moreover, was convinced of the large and intimate role 

which God played in his work. “Whatever striking things I have done 

in life,” he declared, “I have not done prompted by reason but prompted 

by instinct—I would say God. Take the Dandi Salt March of 1930. I 

had not the ghost of a suspicion how the breach of the Salt Law would 

work itself out. Pandit Motilalji and other friends were fretting and 

did not know what I would do, and I could tell them nothing as I myself 
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knew nothing about it. But like a flash it came, and as you know it was 

enough to shake the country from one end to the other.” 

“Do you feel a sense of freedom in your communion with God?” 

someone asked. 

“I do,” Gandhi replied. "I have imbibed through and through the 

teaching of the Gita that man is the maker of his own destiny in the 

sense that he has freedom of choice as to the manner in which he uses 

that freedom. But he is no controller of results. The moment he thinks 

he is, he comes to grief. 

“I have no special revelation of God's will,” Gandhi explained. “My 

firm belief is that He reveals Himself daily to every human being, but 

we shut our ears to the ‘still small voice.’. . . God never appears to you 

in person but in action.” 

How did Gandhi worship God? He believed in the efficacy of prayer. 

“Prayer is the key of the morning and the bolt of the evening. ... As 

food is necessary for the body, prayer is necessary for the soul. . . . No 

act of mine is done without prayer. ... I am not a man of learning, 

but 1 humbly claim to be a man of prayer. I am indifferent to the form. 

Every man is a law unto himself in that respect.” But “it is better in 

prayer to have a heart without words than words without a heart.” One 

can pray in the silence that has banished words. 

Nevertheless, the highway to God was through action. For ten days, 

Gandhi and E. Stanley Jones, an American missionary, discussed a 

variety of topics, chiefly religion. One day Gandhi said, “If one is to 

find salvation, he must have as much patience as a man who sits by the 

seaside and with a straw picks up a single drop of water, transfers it 

and thus empties the ocean.” Salvation, according to Gandhi, comes— 

as Dr. Jones understood it—“through one’s strict, disciplined efforts, a 

rigid self-mastery.” 

"But I,” E. Stanley Jones declares, "look on salvatibn, not as an attain¬ 

ment through one’s efforts, but as an obtainment through grace. I came 

to God morally and spiritually bankrupt with nothing to offer except 

my bankruptcy. To my astonishment He took me, forgave me, and sent 

my soul singing its way down the years. By grace was I saved dirough 

faith, and that not of myself; it was the gift of Qpd. ... It was at tUs 

point that the Christians and the Mahatma never gpt together. 
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"I know,” Dr. Jones adds, "that salvation by grace seems too cheap 
and easy, but it is not cheap; for when you take the gift, you belong 
forever to the Giver.” 

Gandhi took the hard road. His doctrine was: By their works shall 
ye know them. His God required him to live for humanity. “If I could 
persuade myself,” Gandhi wrote, "that I should find Him in a Himala¬ 
yan cave I would proceed there immediately. But I know I cannot find 
him apart from humanity. ... I claim to know my millions. All the 
hours of the day I am with them. They are my first care and last because 
I recognize no God except that God that is to be foimd in the hearts of 
the dumb millions.” 

Gandhi’s relation with God was part of a triangle which included 
his fellow man. On this triangle he based his system of ethics and 
morality. 

The first duty of the God-worshiper is truth: for truth is God. This 
Gandhi repeated thousands of times: “Truth is God.” 

“There should be Truth in thought. Truth in speech, and Truth in 
action,” Gandhi wrote in From Yeravda Mandir. “Devotion to Truth is 
the sole justification of our existence.” This Truth is honesty, and also 
something else: “It is impossible for us to realize perfect Truth so long 
as we are imprisoned in this mortal frame ... if we shatter the chains 
of egotism, and melt into the ocean of humanity, we share its dignity. 
To feel that we are something is to set up a barrier between God and 
ourselves; to cease feeling that we are something is to become one with 
God. A drop in the ocean partakes of the greatness of its parent, al¬ 
though it is unconscious of it. But it is dried up as soon as it enters 
upon an existence independent of the ocean.” 

Truth is identification with God and humanity. From Truth, non¬ 
violence is born. Truth appears different to different individuals. “There 
is nothing wrong in every man following Truth according to his lights,” 
says From Yeravda Mandir. Each person must be true to his own truth. 
But if the seeker after Truth began to destroy those who saw Truth in 
their way he would recede from the Truth. How can one realize God 
by killing or hurting? Non-violence, however, is more than peacefulness 
or pacifism; it is love^ and excludes evil thought, undue haste, lies, or 
batted. 

First, Truth; second, non-violence or Love; and third, chastity. "If a 
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man gives his love to one woman, or a woman to a man, what is there 
left for all the world besides? It simply means, 'We two first, and the 
devil take the rest of them.'... Such persons cannot rise to the height 
of Universal Love." 

Then are married people lost forever? No, "if the married couple 
can think of each other as brother and sister, they are freed for universal 
service.” This is the maximum program for the monks and nuns of the 
ashram. For the rank and file of humanity "Sex urge is a fine and noble 
thing. There is nothing to be ashamed of in it. But it is meant only for 
the act of creation. Any other use of it is a sin against God and 
humanity. . . . Indulgence interfered with my work.” 

The next injunction to the ashramites is “Non-stealing” which implies 
non-possession. "Civilization, in the real sense of the term, consists not 
in the multiplication, but in the deliberate and voluntary reduction of 
wants. ... 

"Anxiety about the future,” Gandhi said to a friend, “is sheer atheism. 
Why should we fear that our children will be less efficient or successful 
than we are? To save money for the sake of children is to show lack of 
faith in them,” and in God. Attachment to money or possessions is the 
product of fear. Violence is the result of fear. Dishonesty is fear. Fear¬ 
lessness is the key to Truth, to God, to Love; it is the king of virtues. 

The remaining virtues are: the removal of untouchability which 
"means love for, and service of, the whole world”; “bread-labor” or regu¬ 
lar productive manual work; tolerance of all religions; humility; and, 
finally, spinning and the encouragement of domestic national economy 
without “ill-will towards the foreigner.” 

Few inside or outside the ashram ever lived up to Gandhi’s austere 
code; only he approached his ideal. 

While Gandhi was editing these simple epistles on God and ethics 
in his prison-"temple,” India moved toward its tensest fortnight in 
modern history. 

It centered around saving Gandhi’s life. 
‘To find a parallel for the anguish of September, 1932,” wrote Raja- 

gopalachari, “we have to go back to Athens twenty-three centuries ago 
when the friends of Socrates surrounded him in prison and importuned 
him to escape from death. Plato has recorded the questions and answers. 
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Socrates smiled at the suggestion . • • and preached the immortality of 
the soul.” 

The “Anguish of September, 1932” began for Gandhi early that year. 
He had gathered from the newspapers that the proposed new British 
constitution for India would grant separate electorates not only to 
Hindus and Moslems as in the past but to untouchables, or “Depressed 
Classes.” He accordingly wrote a letter on March ii, 1932, to Sir 
Samuel Hoare, the Secretary of State for India. 

“A separate electorate for the Depressed Classes,” Gandhi wrote, “is 
harmful for them and for Hinduism. ... So far as Hinduism is con¬ 
cerned, separate electorates would simply vivisect and disrupt it. . • . 
The political aspect, important though it is, dwindles into insignifi¬ 
cance compared to the moral and religious issue.” If therefore the gov¬ 
ernment decided to create a separate electorate for untouchables, “I must 
fast unto death.” That, he knew, would embarrass the authorities whose 
prisoner he was, but “for me the contemplated step is not a method, it 
is part of my being.” 

The minister replied to the prisoner on April 13th, saying that no 
decision had yet been taken and that his views would be considered 
before it was taken. 

No new developments occurred until August 17, 1932, when Prime 
Minister Ramsay MacDonald announced Britain’s decision in favor of 
separate electorates. 

“I have to resist your decision with my life,” Gandhi wrote Ramsay 
MacDonald the next day. “The only way I can do it is by declaring a 
perpetual fast unto death from food of any kind save water with or 
without salt and soda.” The fast would commence at noon, September 
20th. 

In a very long reply, dated 10 Downing Street, September 8, 1932, 
Prime Minister MacDonald said he had received Gandhi s communica¬ 
tion “with much surprise and, let me add, with very sincere regret.” 
Gandhi had misunderstood; they had considered his known friendship 
for the untouchables and his letter to Sir Samuel Hoare. “We felt it our 
duty to safeguard what we believed to be the right of the Depressed 
Classes to a fair proportion of representation in the legislatures” and “we 
were equally careful to do nothing that would split oS their community 
from the Hindu world.” 
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Then MacDonald cogently defended the governments decision: 
‘*Under the government scheme the Depressed Classes will remain part 
of the Hindu community and will vote with the Hindu electorate on 
an equal footing/' That is what Gandhi wanted. ‘‘But for the first 
twenty years, while still remaining part of the Hindu community, they 
will receive through a limited number of special constituencies, means 
of safeguarding their rights and interests. . . 

In other words, MacDonald emphasized, the untouchables would 
have one vote in the Hindu electorate, and many of them would have a 
second vote in their special untouchable electorate. They will ‘'have 
two votes," he wrote. Surely, Gandhi, their champion, could not object. 

The alternative method, "reservation of seats," MacDonald declared, 
had been rejected because, though it would reserve a number of seats 
for untouchable legislators within the larger block of Hindu seats, ‘‘in 
practically all cases, such members would be elected by a majority con¬ 
sisting of higher caste Hindus." That being the case, the Prime Minister 
implied, they might be stooges of caste Hindus: they would have to 
keep in the good graces of caste Hindus, and might not be ‘‘in a position 
to speak for themselves." 

So, MacDonald reasoned, "you propose to adopt the extreme course of 
starving yourself to death not in order to secure that the Depressed 
Classes should have joint electorates with other Hindus, because that 
is already provided, nor to maintain the unity of Hindus, which is also 
provided, but solely to prevent the Depressed Classes, who admittedly 
suffer from terrible disabilities today, from being able to secure a limited 
number of representatives of their own choosing to speak in their 
behalf in the legislatures. , . ," Therefore, MacDonald could only think 
that Gandhi s projx)sal to fast was based on a misapprehension. The 
government s decision would stand, 

Gandhi s letter of September 9th, from Yeravda Central Prison to 
10 Downing Street, was typical. 

Without arguing, I affirm that to me this matter is one of pure re¬ 
ligion. The mere fact of the Depressed Classes having doufble votes does 
not protect them or Hindu society in general from being disrupted. 
You will please permit me to say that no matter how sympathetic you 
may be, you cannot come to a correct decision on a matter of vital and 
religious importance to the parties concerned. 
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I should not be against even over-representation of the Depressed 
Classes. What I am against is their statutory separation, even in a 
limited form, from the Hindu fold, so long as they choose to belong to 
it. Do you realize that if your decision stands and the constitution 
comes into being, you anest the marvellous growth of the work of Hindu 
reformers who have dedicated themselves to their suppressed brethren 
in every walk of life? 

Gandhi added that he was also opposed to the other separate elector¬ 
ates “only I do not consider them to be any warrant for calling from 
me such self-immolation as my conscience has prompted me in the 
matter of the Depressed Classes." 

That ended Gandhi’s correspondence with London. 
MacDonald was not alone in his bewilderment. Many Indians, some 

Hindus, were perplexed. Jawaharlal Nehru was in prison when he 
heard Gandhi would fast. “I felt angry with him,” he writes in his auto¬ 
biography, “at his religious and sentimental approach to a [X)litical issue, 
and his frequent references to God in connection with it.’’ Nehru "felt 
annoyed with him for choosing a side issue for his final sacrifice.” 
Untouchability was a side issue, independence the central issue. For 
two days, Nehru “was in darkness.” He thought with sorrow of never 
seeing Bapu any more. 

“Then a strange thing happened to me,” Nehru continues. “I had 
quite an emotional crisis, and at the end of it I felt calmer, and the 
future seemed not so dark. Bapu had a curious knack of doing the right 
thing at the psychological moment, and it might be that his action- 
impossible as it was from my point of view—would lead to great results 
not only in the narrow field in which it was confined, but in the wider 
aspects of our national struggle. . . . Then came the news of the tre¬ 
mendous upheaval all over the country.... What a magician, I thought, 
was this little man sitting in Yeravda Prison, and how well he knew 
how to pull the strings that move people’s hearts." 

Even Nehru had underestimated Gandhi’s magic and Gandhi’s polit¬ 
ical sagacity. 

The government's fierce repressions against the civil resisters were 
breaking the back of the movement; it was petering out into pessimism. 
Gandhi's fast rescued nationalist India from the political doldrums. But 
compared to the big result, this was a minor by-product. 
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AH Gandhi s adult life he had fought against the ‘1>ar sinister"" be¬ 

tween caste Hindus and Harijans; even as a boy he laughed at his 

mother s idea that the touch of an untouchable defiles. Now the British 

Empire was erecting a political reservation for Harijans. With his con¬ 

genital impulse to assume the best motives, he was ready to believe that 

MacDonald and Hoare were acting in the interest, as they saw it, of the 

Depressed Classes. But he knew India better. Legalisms do not make 

life; Hindus and Harijans might form a joint electorate, but the Hari¬ 

jans" additional separate electorate would blot out the good psychological 

effect of the joint electorate. Given a separate electorate, Harijan candi¬ 

dates and elected representatives would stress what divided them from 

the caste Hindus. A political machine would arise with a vested interest 

in perpetuating the rift between Harijans and caste Hindus; its political 

capital would be Hindu injustice. Gandhi felt passionately that un- 

touchability was a perversion which would kill the soul of Hinduism 

and, in turn, poison the soul of the Harijans. The MacDonald award 

threatened to give long life to India s worst sin. 

Harmony in diversity, love despite differences, was Gandhi s way of 

eliminating violence in thought and action. To divide is to invite war. 

Gandhi had fasted for Hindu-Moslem unity; he did not want two 

Indias. Now he was faced with the prospect of three Indias. He re¬ 

garded Hindu-Moslem enmity as politically disastrous. The Hindu- 
Harijan division was politically disastrous and religiously suicidal. 

Gandhi could not countenance the widening of the Hindu-Harijan gulf. 

The fast, Gandhi said, ''is aimed at a statutory separate electorate, in 

any shape or form, for the Depressed Classes. Immediately that threat 

is removed once for all, my fast will end."" He was not fasting against 

the British, for the government had stated that if Hindus and Harijans 

agreed on a different and mutually satisfactory voting arrangement it 

would be accepted. The fast, Gandhi declared, "is intended to sting 

Hindu conscience into right religious action," 

On September 13th Gandhi announced that he would commence his 

fast unto death on the 20th. India now witnessed something the world 

had never seen. 

On the 13th, political and religious leaders went into action. Mr. 

M. C. Rajah, an untouchable spokesman in the Legislative Assembly, 

identified himself with Gandhi’s position; Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru, the 
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great constitutional leader, petitioned the government to release Gandhi; 

Yakub Husain, a Moslem leader in Madras, urged the Harijans to 

renounce the separate electorate; Rajendra Prasad suggested that Hindus 

save Gandhi by giving Harijans access to their temples, wells, schools, 

and the public roads; Pandit Malaviya convoked a conference of 

leaders for the 19th; Rajagopalachari asked the country to pray and fast 

on the 20th. 

Several deputations asked to see Gandhi in jail. The government 

opened the gates and allowed full consultations with him. Devadas 

Gandhi arrived to act as intermediary with negotiators. Journalists also 

enjoyed unobstructed access to Gandhi. 

Meanwhile, Gandhi wrote copious letters to many friends in India 

and abroad. “There was no escape from it,” he said in a letter to Miss 

Slade. “It is both a privilege and a duty. It comes rarely to someone in 

a generation or generations.” He had been observing the cat family in 

the prison, he told Miss Slade in the same communication. “We have 

an addition to the family, did I tell you? There was a human touch 

about the mother whilst she was in pain and two or three days after 

delivery. She would caress us and insist on being caressed. It was a 

pathetic sight. The care she bestows on the ‘baby’ is very wonderful. 

Love from us all to you all, Bapu.” 

On the 20th, Gandhi awoke at 2:30 a.m. and wrote a letter to Tagore 

whose approval he craved. “This is early morning, 3 o’clock of Tues¬ 

day,” the Mahatma began. “I enter the fiery gates at noon. If you can 

bless the effort I want it. You have been a true friend because you have 

been a candid friend often speaking your thoughts aloud. . . . Though 

it can now only be during my fast, I will yet prize your criticism, if your 

heart condemns my action. 1 am not too proud to make an open con¬ 

fession of my blunder, whatever the cost of the confession, if I find 

myself in error. If your heart approves of the action I want your bless¬ 

ing. It will sustain me. . . 

Just as Gandhi posted this letter he received a telegram from Tagore; 

“It is worth sacrificing precious life,” it read, “for the sake of India’s 

tuiity and her social integrity. ... I fervently hope that we will not 

callously allow such national tragedy to reach its extreme length. Our 

sorrowing hearts will follow your sublime penance with reverence and 

love.” 
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Gandhi thanked Tagore for *‘y<>ur loving and magnificent wire. It 
will sustain me in the midst of the storm I am about to enter.” 

At 11:30 the same morning, Gandhi took his last meal; it consisted 

of lemon juice and honey with hot water. Millions of Indians fasted for 

twenty-four hours. Throughout the country prayers were sung. 

That day, Rabindranath Tagore, whom India and Gandhi affection¬ 

ately called “The Poet,” addressed his school at Shandniketan and said, 

“A shadow is darkening today over India like a shadow cast by an 

eclipsed sun. The people of a whole country is suffering from a poignant 

pain of anxiety, the universality of which carries in it a great dignity 

of consolation. Mahatmaji, who through his life of dedication has made 

India his own in truth, has commenced his vow of extreme self-sacrifice.” 

Tagore explained the Mahatma’s fast: 

Each country has its own inner geography where her spirit dwells 

and where physical force can never conquer even an inch of ground. 

I’hose rulers who come from the outside remain outside the gate. . . . 

But the great soul . . . continues his dominion even when he is physi¬ 

cally no longer present. . . . The penance which Mahatmaji has taken 

upon himself is not a ritual but a message to all India and to the world. 

... Let us try to understand the meaning of his message_No civilized 

society can thrive ujwn victims whose humanity has been permanently 

mutilated. . . . Those whom we keep down inevitably drag us down 

... we insult our own humanity by insulting man where he is helpless 

and where he is not of our own kin. . . . Mahatmaji has repeatedly 

pointed out the danger of those divisions in our country. . . . Against 

that deep-seated moral weakness in our society Mahatmaji has pro¬ 

nounced his ultimatum. . . . We have observed that the English people 

are puzzled at the step that Mahatmaji has been compelled to take. 

They confess that they fail to understand it. I believe that the reason 

of their failure is mainly owing to the fact that the language of 

Mahatmaji is fundamentally different from their own. ... I ask them 

to remember the terrible days of atrocities that reddened in blood at 

their door when dismemberment was being forced between Ireland and 

the rest of Great Britain. Those Englishmen, who imagined it to be 

disastrous to the integrity of their empire, did not scruple to kill and be 

killed, even to tear into shreds the decency of civilized codes of honor. 
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The British, Tagore explained, were ready to indulge in the “Black 

and Tan" blood bath in Ireland to prevent dismemberment of the 

Empire. Gandhi was immolating one person, himself, to prevent dis¬ 

memberment of Indian society. This was the language of non-violence. 

Is that why the West could not decipher it? 

Tagore saw the possibility of losing Gandhi in the fast. The very 

thought sent a shiver through the spine of the nation. If nothing were 

done to save him, every Hindu would be Mahatmaji s murderer. 

Gandhi lay on a white iron cot in the shade of a low mango tree in 

the .quiet prison yard. Patel and Mahadev Desai sat near him. Mrs. 

Naidu had been transferred from the women's ward of Yeravda Jail to 

nurse and guard him from excessive exertion. On a stool were some 

books, writing paper, bottles of water, salt, and soda bicarbonate. 

Outside, the negotiators in conference were racing with death. Hindu 

leaders gathered in Birla House in Bombay on September 20th. There 

were Sapru, Sir Chunilal Mehta, Rajagopalachari, the president of 

Congress for that year, G. D. Birla, a very wealthy industrialist and 

friend of Gandhi, Rajendra Prasad, Jayakar, Sir Purshottamdas Thak- 

urdas, a millionaire patron of schools, and others. The untouchable 

delegates were Dr. Solanki and Dr. Ambedkar. 

Ambedkar, a distinguished lawyer with international experience who 

had played a big part at the Round Table Conferences in London, 

owned a powerfully built body and strong stubborn, superior intellect. 

His father and grandfather saw service in the British army. The accu¬ 

mulated bitterness against Hindus that rankled for centuries in millions 

of Harijan breasts found expression in Ambedkar’s Himalayan hatred. 

He preferred British raj to Hindu raj; he preferred Moslems to Hindus 

and once thought of leading the untouchable community, as a body, 

into the Mohammedan church. Age-long Hindu cruelty to his unhappy 

brethren filled him with anger, spite, and vindictiveness. If anybody in 

India could have contemplated with equanimity the death of Gandhi, 

Ambedkar was the man. He called the fast “a political stunt." At the 

conference, he faced the great Hindu minds, and he must have derived 

sweet pleasure watching them court him in order to save their beloved 
Mahatma. 

Gandhi had always wanted one electorate for Hindus and Harijans, 

which would jointly elect a solid block of Hindu and Harijan members 
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of the legislative councils. He even opposed reserving a fixed number of 

seats in that block for Harijans because it would accentuate the cleavage 

between the two communities. But on the 19th, Gandhi told a deputa* 

tion—much to its relief—that he had become reconciled to reserved seats. 

Ambedkar, however, demurred: the Harijans who would occupy the 

reserved seats in the legislatures would be elected jointly by Hindus and 

Harijans and would, therefore, feel considerable restraint in airing 

Harijan grievances against Hindus. If a Harijan denounced Hindus too 

fiercely the Hindus might defeat him in the next election and elect a 

more docile untouchable. 

To meet this legitimate objection, Sapru had evolved an ingenious 

plan which he presented to the conference on September 20th: all 

Hindu and Harijan members of the legislatures would be elected jointly 

by Hindu and Harijan voters. A number of the Hindu^Harijan seats 

would be earmarked in advance for Harijans. The candidates for a 

portion of these reserved Harijan seats would be nominated in private 

consultations between Hindus and Harijans. But for the remainder of 

the reserved seats, Sapru introduced something new: primaries in which 

only Harijans would vote. In those primary elections, a panel of three 

Harijan candidates would be chosen for each reserved seat. Then in the 

final or secondary elections, Harijans and Hindus would vote jointly 

for one of those three Harijan candidates. The Hindus would have no 

choice but to vote for one of them. That would enable the Harijans to 

place their bravest and best champions in the legislatures while retain¬ 

ing the system of joint electorates. 

Anxiously, the Hindus waited for Ambedkar s views on the scheme. 

He examined it minutely. He sought the advice of friends. Hours 

drifted by. Finally he accepted, but stated that he would draft his own 

formula to incorporate his own ideas plus the Sapru plan. 

Encouraged, but still not quite sure of Ambedkar, the Hindu leaders 

now wondered about Gandhi; would he sanction the Sapru innovation? 

Sapru, Jayakar, Rajagopalachari, Devadas, Birla, and Prasad took the 

midnight train and were in Poona the next morning. At 7 a.m. they 

were taken into the prison office. Gandhi, already weak after less than 

twenty four hours without food, came into the office with a laugh, and 

taking a place at the center of the table, announced j:heerfuljfc,^*! 

preside." 
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Sapru explained the plan of the primaries. Others amplified. Gandhi 

asked some questions. He was non<ommittal. Half an hour passed. 

Finally Gandhi said, "I am prepared to consider your plan favorably. 

... But I should like to have the whole picture before me in writing.” 

In addition, he asked to see Ambedkar and Rajah. 

Urgent invitations were sent to Ambedkar and Rajah. A memoran¬ 

dum on the Sapru plan was prepared. Rajah, representing Gandhi’s 

untouchables following, accepted it. Ambedkar promised to come. 

A troubled night passed. The morning of the 22nd Gandhi expressed 

displeasure with the scheme: Why should only some candidates for the 

reserved Harijan seats be elected in the Harijan primaries? Why not 

all? Why create two sets of Harijan candidates, one chosen by Harijans 

in the primaries, the other selected by Hindus and Harijans? He wanted 

no distinctions between Harijans. Nor did he want Harijan legislators 

to be under any political debt to Hindus. 

The negotiators were overjoyed. Gandhi was offering Ambedkar more 

than Ambedkar had already accepted. 

Ambedkar appeared at Gandhi’s cot late that afternoon; he did most 

of the talking. He was ready to help save the Mahatma’s life, he said. 

But “I want my compensation.” 

Gandhi had already commenced to sink. In previous fasts he had 

taken water regularly, on the hour. Now he was listless and drank it 

irregularly. In previous fasts, massage moderated his aches. This time 

he refused massage. Sharp pains racked his wasting body. He had to be 

moved to the bath on a stretcher. The least movement, sometimes even 

speaking, gave him nausea. 

When Ambedkar said, “I want my compensation,” Gandhi propped 

himself up painfully and spoke for many minutes. He mentioned his 

devotion to the Harijans. He discussed the Sapru scheme point by 

point He did not like it, he said. All Harijans should he nominated by 

Harijans and not just some of them, Gandhi declared. Weakened 

by the effort, the Mahatma subsided to his pillow. 

Ambedkar had expected to be put under pressure in the presence of 

the dying Mahatma to recede from his position. But now Gandhi out- 

Harijaned the Harijan Ambedkar. 

Ambedkar welcomed Gandhi’s amendment 

That day, Mrs. Gandhi anived; she had been transferred from Sabar- 
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mati Prison to Yeravda* As she slowly moved toward her husband, she 

shook her head from side to side reprovingly and said, "'Again, the same 

story!'" He smiled. Her presence cheered him. He submitted to massage 

by her, and by a professional, more for her sake than because he 

wanted it. 

Friday, September 23rd, the fourth day of the fast. Dr. Gilder, 

Gandhi s heart specialist, and Dr. Patel came from Bombay, and in 

consultation with prison physicians diagnosed the prisoner s condition as 

dangerous. Blood pressure was alarmingly high. I>eath was possible at 

any moment. 

The same day, Ambedkar conferred at length with the Hindu leaders 

and presented his new demands for compensation; MacDonalds award 

had given the Depressed Classes 71 seats in the provincial legislatures. 

Ambedkar asked for 197. Sapru had suggested a panel of three Harijan 

candidates. Gandhi suggested five; Ambedkar suggested two. There was 

also the question of a referendum of Harijan voters to decide when the 

reserved seats should be abolished and the political distinction thus 

wij>ed out between Hindus and Harijans; that would be a step toward 

the merger of the two communities in life. Gandhi wanted the primaries 

abolished after five years. Ambedkar held out for fifteen. Amb^kar did 

not believe that untouchability would be destroyed in five years. 

Later in the day, Amtedkar came to Gandhi. It was a hot sultry day 

and not a mango leaf stirred in the prison yard. Gandhi s blood pressure 

was rising. He could hardly speak above a whisper. Ambedkar bargained 

hard. The outcome was indecisive. 

Saturday, September 24th, the fifth day, Ambedkar renewed his talks 

with the Hindu leaders. After a mornings wrangling, he visited Gandhi 

at noon. It had been agreed between Ambedkar and the Fiindus that 

the Depressed Classes would have 147 reserved seats instead of the 197 

Ambedkar had demanded and the 71 MacDonald ordered. Gandhi 

accepted the compromise. Ambedkar was now ready to abolish the sep¬ 

arate primaries after ten years. Gandhi insisted on five. *Tive years or 

my life," Gandhi said. Ambedkar refused. 

Ambedkar returned to his Harijan colleagues. Later, he informed the 

Hindu leaders that he would not accept the abolition of primaries in five 

years: nothing less than ten. 

Rajagopalachari now did something which probably saved Gandhi’s 
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life. Without consulting Gandhi, he and Ambedkar agreed that the 

time of the abolition of the primaries would be determined in further 

discussion. This might make a referendum superfluous. 

Rajagopalachari rushed to the jail and explained the new arrange¬ 

ment to Gandhi. 

“Will you repeat it?” 

Rajagopalachari repeated it. 

“Excellent,” Gandhi murmured; he may not have understood pre¬ 

cisely what Rajagopalachari was saying; he was faint. But he had 

acquiesced. 

That Saturday, the Yeravda Pact, as Indian history knows it, was 

drafted and signed by all the chief Hindu and Harijan negotiators 

except Gandhi. 

On Sunday it was ratified in Bombay at a full conference of the nego¬ 

tiators and others. 

But the pact was no pact and Gandhi would not abandon his fast 

unless the British government consented to substitute it for the Mac¬ 

Donald Award. Its verbatim text had been telegraphed to London where 

Charlie Andrews, Polak, and other friends of Gandhi labored to get 

quick action from the government. It was Sunday and ministers had 

left town, and Ramsay MacDonald was in Sussex attending the funeral 

of an aunt. 

On hearing of the agreement in Poona, MaclDonald hurried back to 

10 Downing Street; so did Sir Samuel Hoare and Lord Lothian who 

had helped to formulate the MacDonald Award. They pored over the 

text until midnight Sunday. 

Gandhi’s life was ebbing away fast. He told Kasturbai who should 

get the few personal belongings that lay around his cot. Early Monday, 

Tagore arrived from Calcutta and sang a selection of his own songs to 

the Mahatma. They soothed Gandhi. Friends from Poona were admitted 

to play on musical instruments and chant devotional hymns. He 

thank^ them with a nod and a faint smile. He could not speak. 

A few hours later, the British government announced simultaneously 

in London and New Delhi that it had approved the Yeravda Pact. 

Gandhi could break his fast. 

At 5:15 Monday afternoon, in the presence of Tagore, Patel, Maha- 

dev Desai, Mrs. Naidu, the negotiators, and journalists, Gandhi ac- 
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cepted a glass of orange juice from Kasturbai and broke his fast. Tagore 
sang Bengali hymns. Many eyes were wet. 

Dr. Ambedkar made an interesting speech at the Bombay conference 

on Sunday, September 25th, which ratihed the Yeravda Pact or Poona 

Agreement. Praising Gandhi s conciliatory attitude, Ambedkar said, "I 

must confess that I was surprised, immensely surprised, when I met him, 

that there was so much in common between him and me. In fact when- 

ever any disputes were carried to him—and Sir Tej Behadur Sapru has 

told you that the disputes that were carried to him were of a very crucial 

character—1 was astounded to see that the man who held such divergent 

views from mine at the Round Table Conference came immediately to 

my rescue and not to the rescue of the other side. I am very grateful to 

Mahatmaji for having extricated me from what might have been a very 

difficult situation.'' 

This was not only a polite tribute at a moment of relaxation after 

hectic days, but also a correct description of Gandhi's attitude. Gandhi 

did favor the Harijan position over the Hindu position. Indeed, Gandhi 

had gone so far in his desire to meet the Harijans 100 per cent of the 

way, that he reversed himself on the key issue of reserved seats. “My 

only regret is," Dr. Ambedkar stated in that same speech, “why did not 

Mahatmaji take this attitude at the Round Table Conference? If he had 

shown the same consideration to my point of view then, it would not 

have been necessary for him to go through this ordeal. However," he 

added generously, “these are things of the past. I am glad that I am 

here now to support this resolution" of ratification. 

At the Round Table Conference in September-December, 1931, 

Gandhi had opposed Harijan reserved seats in the Hindu block because 

it divided the two communities. But on September 13, 1932, and again 

on the 19th, Gandhi had accepted the idea of reserved seats as an 

unavoidable and, he hoped, passing evil. 

He accepted the reservation of seats as something infinitely preferable 
to the segregation that would arise out of the separate electorate which 
MacDonald wanted to introduce. But if Gandhi had done so at the 
Round Table Conference or months before the fast he might not have 
carried the orthodox Hindus with him. One of the negotiators of the 
Poona Agreement subsequently told me that he had always opposed 
Gandhi's politics, but Gandhi was God descended to earth and “the 



3i8 The Life of Mahatma Gandhi 

gates of Heaven were waiting to receive him/' The threat of the 

Mahatma's death won the Hindu leaders for Gandhi s politics. 

Suppose, however, that the Hindu leaders had adopted reservation of 

seats before the fast. Would the fast have been superfluous? Was the 

Mahatma's torment unnecessary? 
The answer to this question is crucial to an understanding of 

Gandhi s role in India's history. By the criterion of cold logic and arid 

legalisms, Gandhi need not have fasted to reach an agreement with 
Ambedkar. But Gandhi's relationship with the Indian people was not 

based on logic and legalism. It was a highly emotional relationship. For 

the Hindus, Gandhi was Mahatma, The Great Soul, a slice of God. 

Were they going to kill him? The moment the fast began, texts, con¬ 

stitutions, awards, elections, etc., lost their significance. Gandhi’s life 

had to be saved. 
From September 13th, when the fast was announced, to the afternoon 

of Septem^r 26th, when Gandhi drank his first orange juice, every 

change in Gandhi's physical condition, every word pronounced by any¬ 

one who had seen him, every journey of the least of the negotiators was 

broadcast to every corner of the country. A mother hovering over the 
crib of a tender child during a high-temperature crisis could be no more 

anxious than the India that watched the white cot of the sinking 

Mahatma, No mystic himself, Gandhi affected others mystically. They 

became one with him, as one as mother and babe. Reason withdrew; 

passionately, frantically, because the end might have come at any 

instant, Hindus were reacting to a single throbbing wish; The Mahatma 
must not die. 

Gandhi had made each Hindu personally responsible for his life. On 

September 15th, in a statement widely disseminated, Gandhi said, ‘‘No 
patched-up agreement between Caste Hindus and rival Depressed Class 

leaders will answer the purpose. The agreement to be valid has to be 

real. If the Hindu mass mind is not yet prepared to banish untouch- 

abiirty root and branch it must sacrifice me without the slightest 
hesitation." 

While the negotiators parleyed, therefore, the Hindu community- 

close to a quarter of a billion persons—experienced a religious-emotional 

upheaval. At the very beginning of the fast week, the famous Kalighat 

Temple of Calcutta and the Ram Mandir of Benares, citadel of Hindu 

orthodoxy, were thrown open to untouchables. In Delhi, Caste Hindus 
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and Harijans demonstratively fraternized in streets and temples. In 

Bombay, a nationalist women s organization organized a poll in front of 

seven big temples. Ballot boxes, watched by volunteers, were placed 

outside the gates, and worshipers were asked to cast their votes on the 

admission of untouchables. The tally was 24,797 445 against. As a 

result, temples in which no Harijan foot had ever trod were opened 

to all. 

The day before the fast started, twelve temples in Allahabad were 
made accessible to Harijans for the first time; on the first day of the 

fast, some of the most sacred temples throughout the country opened 

their doors to untouchables. Every subsequent day, until September 

26th, and then every day from the 27th to October 2nd, Gandhi s birth¬ 

day, which was Anti-Unlouchability Week, scores of holy places 

lowered the bars against Harijans. All temples in the native states of 

Baroda, Kashmir, Bhor, and Kolhapur canceled temple discrimination. 

The newspapers printed the names of the hundreds of temples that 

lifted the ban under the impact of Gandhi s fast. 

Mrs. Swarup Rani Nehru, Jawaharlal s very orthodox mother, let it 

be known that she had accepted food from the hand of an untouchable. 
Thousands of prominent Hindu women followed her example. At the 

strictly Hindu Benares University, Principal Dhruva, with numerous 

Brahmans, dined publicly with street cleaners, cobblers, and scavengers. 

Similar meals were arranged in hundreds of other places. 

In villages, small towns, and big cities, congregations, organizations, 

citizens unions, etc., adopted resolutions promising to stop discriminat¬ 

ing against untouchables; copies of these resolutions formed a man-high 

heap in Gandhi s prison yard. 

Villages and small towns allowed untouchables to use water wells. 

Hindu pupils shared benches formerly reserved for untouchables. 

Roads and streets, from which they were previously excluded, were 

opened to Harijans. 

A spirit of reform, penance, and self-purification swept the land. 

During the six fast days, most Hindus refrained from going to cinemas, 

theaters, or restaurants. Weddings were postponed. 

A cold political agreement between Gandhi and Ambedkar, without 

a fast, would have had no such effect on the nation; it rm'ght have 

redressed a legal Harijan grievance, but it would have remained a dead 

letter as far as the Hindu s personal treatment of untouchables was 
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concerned. Most Hindus would never have heard of it. The political 

pact was important only after the emotional churning which Gandhi's 

fast gave the country. 
The fast could not kill the curse of untouchability which was more 

than three thousand years old. Access to a temple is not access to a 

good job. The Harijans remained the dregs of Indian society. Nor did 
segregation end when Gandhi slowly drank his orange juice. 

But after the fast, untouchability forfeited its public approval; the 

belief in it was destroyed. A practice deeply embedded in a complicated 

religion full of mystic overtones and undercurrents was recognized as 

morally illegitimate. A taboo hallowed by custom, tradition, and ritual 

lost its potency. It had been socially improper to consort with Harijans; 

in many circles now it became socially improper not to consort with 

them. To practice untouchability branded one a bigot, a reactionary. 

Before long, marriages were taking place between Harijans and Hindus; 
Gandhi made a point of attending some. 

Gandhi s ''Epic Fast" snapped a long chain that stretched back into 

antiquity and had enslaved tens of millions. Some links of the chain 

remained. Many wounds from the chain remained. But nobody would 

forge new links, nobody would link the links together again. The future 

promised freedom. 

The Yeravda Pact said, "No one shall be regarded as untouchable by 

reason of his birth. . . ." Orthodox Hindus, with large religious fol¬ 

lowings, signed that statement. It marked a religious reformation, a 

psychological revolution. Hinduism was purging itr^elf of a millennial 

sickness. The mass purified itself in practice. It was good for India's 

moral health. The perpetuation of untouchability would have poisoned 

India’s soul just as the retention of its economic remnants must hamper 

India's progress. 

If Gandhi had done nothing else in his life but shatter the structure 

of untouchability he would have been a great social reformer. In retro¬ 

spect, the wrestling with Ambedkar over seats, primaries, and referen- 

dums seems like that year's melted snow on the Himalayas. The real 

reform was religious and social, not political. 

Five days after the end of the fast Gandhi’s weight had gone up to 

99% pounds, and he was spinning and working for many hours. "The 

fast was really nothing compared with the miseries that the outcastes 
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have undergone (or ages/' he wrote Miss Slade. ''And so/' he added^ 

"I continue to hum 'God is great and merciful.'" 

He remained in prison. 

Gandhi's Fast touched Hindu India's heart. 

Gandhi had a compelling need to communicate with the hearts of 
men; he had an artist's genius (or reaching the heartstrings o( the 

inner man. But how does one communicate with one hundred or two 

hundred or three hundred million persons most of whom are illiterate 

and only five thousand of whom have radios? Gandhi's fasts were means 

of communication. The news of the fast was printed in all papers. Those 

who read told those who did not read that "The Mahatma is fasting." 

The cities knew, and peasants marketing in the cities knew, and thsy 

carried the report to the villages, and travelers did likewise. 
"Why is the Mahatma fasting?" 

"So that we Hindus open our temples to the untouchables and treat 

the untouchables better." 

India’s ear was cocked for more news. 

"The Mahatma is sinking." "The Mahatma is dying." "We must 

hurry." 

Gandhi's agony gave vicarious pain to his adorers who knew they 

must not kill God’s messenger on earth. It was evil to prolong his suf¬ 

fering. It was blessed to save him by being good to those whom he had 

called 'The Children of God." 

CHAPTER THIRTY-FIVE 

Without Politics 

The ‘*Epic Fast" enabled Gandhi to break through a thick, high wall 

into the immense neglected field of social reform. Many of his fidends 

were unhappy because he allowed himself to be "sidetracked" into wel¬ 

fare work for Harijans and peasants. Politicians wanted him to be 

political. But to Gandhi vitamins for villages were the best politics and 

Harijan happiness the highroad to independence. 
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Social refonn was ever his favored activity. “I have always held,” he 

declared on January 25, 1942, in Harijan, “that parliamentary program 

at all times is the least of a nation’s activity. The most important and 

permanent work is done outside.” He wanted the individual to do more 

so the state would do less. The more work at the bottom, the less dicta¬ 

tion from the top. 
Gandhi’s revulsion against government was indeed so strong that he 

promised in the April 27, 1940, Harijan not to participate in the gov¬ 

ernment of free India. He would do his share, he said, "outside the 

official world.” He was too religious to identify himself with any 
government. 

'This being Gandhi’s philosophy, he depended for the success of his 

social uplift work on special-purpose voluntary organizations with many 

active members. 

In February, 1933, Gandhi, still in prison, had started the Harijan 

Sevak Sangh, a society to help Harijans, and Harijan, a new weekly 

which replaced Young India, suspended by the government. On May 

8th, he undertook a three weeks’ fast for self-purification and to impress 

the ashram with the importance of service rather than indulgence; the 

presence of an attractive American woman visitor had caused some 

backsliding. The first day of the fast the government released him. It 

seemed certain, after the physical agony of the seven days of the “Epic 

Fast,” that twenty-one days without food would kill him. And Britain 

did not want a dead Gandhi in its prison walls. 

He survived. 

Why was the short fast almost fatal and the other, three times as 

long, easy to endure? During the former, he negotiated incessantly and 

was consumed by a desire to remove the taint of untouchability; his 

body burned simultaneously. In the twenty-one-day fast, spirit and mind 

were relaxed. His little body was the creature of a powerful will. 

As a gesture of friendship to the government for his release, Gandhi 

suspended for six weeks the civil disobedience campaign which had 

commenced in January, 1933. On July 15th he asked Willingdon for 

an interview. The Viceroy declined. August ist, Gandhi proposed 

to march from Yeravda, where he had been residing, to the village of 

Ras. ’That night, he was arrested with 34 ashramites, but released three 

days later and ordered to remain in the city of Poona. Half an hour later, 
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he disobeyed the order, and was arrested again and sentenced to a 
year s imprisonment. He commenced to fast August i6th, was removed 
to hospital in a precarious condition on August 20th, and uncon¬ 
ditionally released on the 23rd. He nevertheless regarded himself as 
serving the year’s sentence and announced he would not resume civil 
disobedience before August 3, 1934. 

Until 1939, except for a months silence to catch up with his work 
and several long periods of physical breakdown, Gandhi was com¬ 
pletely at the disposal of the organizations he had founded for mass 
welfare and education. He gave Sabarmati Ashram to a Harijan group 
and established headquarters in Wardha, a small town in the Central 
Provinces. From there, on November 7, 1933, he commenced a ten- 
month tour for Harijan welfare; he visited every province in India 
without once going home to relax or rest. 

On January 15, 1934, a large section of Bihar province suffered a 
severe earthquake. Gandhi interrupted his tour and visited the stricken 
area in March; he walked barefoot from village to village, comforting, 
teaching, and preaching. The earthquake, he told the public, ‘‘is a chas¬ 
tisement for your sins,’’ chiefly “the sin of untouchability.” Such super¬ 
stition riled Tagore and other enlightened Indians; the Poet denounced 
the Mahatma. “. . . physical catastrophes,” Tagore declared in a state¬ 
ment to the press which he first sent to Gandhi, “have their inevitable 
and exclusive origin in certain combinations of physical facts ... If 
we associate ethical principles with cosmic phenomena then we shall 
have to admit that human nature is morally superior to the Providence 
that preaches lessons in good behavior in orgies of the worst behavior 
}X)ssible ... As for us, we feel perfectly secure in the faith that our 
sins and errors, however enormous, have not enough force to drag dovm 
the structure of creation to ruins . . . We who are immensely gratehil 
to Mahatmaji for inducing by his wonder-working inspiration a free¬ 
dom from fear and feebleness in the minds of his countrvmen, feel 

•f ' 

profoundly hurt when any words from his mouth may emphasize the 

elements of unreason in those very minds . . 

Gandhi was not shaken. “There is an indissoluble marriage," he 

replied, “between matter and spirit.... The connection between cosmic 

phenomena and human behavior is a living faith and draws me neater 

to God.” The moment Gandhi invoked God there was no arguing with 
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him. In effect, the overzealous Mahatma was harnessing God to his 
propag^da chariot; he was Arjuna using Krishna as charioteer to fight 
for the common people. 

Gandhi’s paramount compulsion was to help the poor, and since 
Gandhi and Gandhi’s God were partners, the Mahatma enlisted the 
Almighty in the task. “To a people famishing and idle,” he wrote, “the 
only acceptable form in which God can dare appear is work and promise 
of food and wages.’’ 

“India lives in her villages, not in her cities,” he wrote in Harijan on 
August 26, 1936; and several issues later, “When I succeed in ridding 
the villages of their poverty, I have won Swaraj. . . .” The idea that 
Gandhi favored poverty is fiction; he merely urged select idealists to 
serve the people through self-abnegation. For the nation as a whole, “No 
one has ever suggested that grinding pauperism can lead to anything 
else than moral degradation,” which is the last thing he wanted. Gandhi 
insisted that “If we do not waste our wealth and energy, the climate 
and natural resources of our country are such that we can become the 
happiest people in the world,” which is what he did want. 

Gandhi decried the extreme of pauperism and the extreme of wealth. 
Between 1933 and 1939, Gandhi allowed few matters to deflect him 

from welfare work. It was not smooth sailing. On June 25, 1935, at 
Poona, in the heart of the late Tilak’s Maratha country, a Hindu sus¬ 
pected of opposing equality for Harijans threw a bomb into an auto¬ 
mobile thinking mistakenly that the Mahatma was in it. Shortly there¬ 
after, a Gandhi supporter belabored an anti-Marijan with a lathi. Gandhi 
fasted seven days in July, 1934, to do penance for both. 

On October 26, 1934, the All-India Village Industries Association 
was launched with Gandhi as patron and Gandhi’s millionaire indus¬ 
trialist friends as backers. 

At village meetings and in Harijan, Gandhi was now giving the 
farming population rudimentary instruction about food. “Milk and 
banana make a perfect meal,” he wrote. Harijan of February 15, 1935, 
contained an article by Gandhi entitled “Green Leaves and Their Food 
Value” in which he reported, “For nearly five months I have been living 
on uncooked foods. 'The addition of green leaves to their meals will 
enable villagers to avoid many diseases from which they are now suffer- 
jng.” He devoted another article to the debate on "Cow’s Milk versus 
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Buffalo’s,” and still a third to the supreme Indian problem: rice. In his 
booklet, “Key to Health,” and el^where, Gandhi warned against 
machine-polished rice. Polishing removes an overcoat rich in vitamins, 
especially Bi, he explained; lacking those vitamins, Indians, (or most of 

whom rice is the chief staple food, are subject to numerous debilitating 
diseases, notably beriberi which means “1 cannot.” Hand-pounded rice, 
Gandhi explained, retains the vitamin-rich coating. 

At other times, Gandhi expatiated on the nutritional value of the 
mango kernel and the groundnut or peanut. Peanuts were poUtics to 
him, as political as primaries. Repeatedly, too, he gave detailed informa¬ 
tion on how to prepare animal manures and how to cure snake bites and 
malaria. 

Gandhi knew that the improvement of seed, the proper use of fer¬ 
tilizer, and the proper care of cattle could solve basic political problems. 
Many a civil war in Asia might have been prevented by an additional 
daily bowl of rice per person. 

Gandhi also paid attention to non-agrarian aspects of village life. “We 
have to concentrate on the village being self-contained, manufacturing 
mainly for use,” he wrote in Harijan on August 29, 1936. “Provided this 
character of village industry is maintained, there would be no objection 
to villagers using even the modern machines and tools that they can 
make and afford to use. Only they should not be used as a means of 
e.xploiting of others." 

In Harijan of July 26, 1942, Gandhi described the ideal Indian 
village: “It is a complete republic, independent of its neighbors for its 
vital wants, and yet interdependent for many other wants in which de¬ 
pendence is a necessity. Thus every village’s first concern will be to 
grow its own food crops and cotton for its cloth. It should have a reserve 
for its cattle, recreation and playground for adults and children. Then if 
there is more land available, it will grow useful money crops, thus ex¬ 
cluding . . . tobacco, opium, and the like. The village will maintain a 
village theater, school and public hall. It will have its own water works 
ensuring clean supply. This can be done through controlled wells and 
tanks [reservoirs]. Education will be compulsory up to the final basic 
course. As far as possible, every activity will be conducted on a co¬ 
operative basis.. . .” To this modest blueprint, which, however, seemed 
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like a sketch of Heaven to India’s permanently underfed farmers, 

Gandhi added another wild dream: electricity in every village home. 

Did Gandhi advocate a land reform for India which would give land* 

less or land-poor peasants the redistributed estates of the big landlords? 

In the January 2, 1937, issue of Hartjan^ Gandhi wrote, *'Land and 

all property is his who will work it”; but he admitted the landlords into 

that category though he knew that the landlord class included a large 

percentage of absentee owners, intermediaries, agents, loan sharks, and 

other unproductive elements. 

“I cannot picture to myself a time when no man shall be richer than 

another,” Gandhi said. “Even in the most perfect world, we shall fail 

to avoid inequalities, but we can and must avoid strife and bitterness. 

There are numerous examples extant of the rich and the poor living in 

perfect friendliness. We have but to multiply such instances.” 

Gandhi would have done it by “trusteeship.” 

In Bengal once, Gandhi was the guest of a landlord who served him 

milk in a gold bowl and fruit on gold plates. 

“Where did he get these golden plates from?” Gandhi said to himself. 

“From the substance of the {)easants,” Gandhi answered. “Where 

their life is one long-drawn-out agony, how dare he have these luxuries?” 

Gandhi spared his host, but he shared these thoughts with a meeting 

of landlords in 1931 and added, “Landlords would do well to take time 

by the forelock. Let them cease to be mere rent collectors. They should 

become trustees and trusted friends of their tenants. • . . They should 

give the peasants fixity of tenure, take a lively inter^-*st in their welfare, 

provide well-managed schools for their children, night schools for adults, 

hospitals and dispensaries for the sick, look after the sanitation of the 

villages, and in a variety of ways make them feel that they, the land¬ 

lords, are their true friends taking only a fixed commission for their 

manifold services.” 

“Exploitation of the poor can be extinguished,” Gandhi wrote in 

Harijan on July 28, 1940, “not by effecting the destruction of a few 

millionaires, but by removing the ignorance of the poor and teaching 

them to non-co-operate with their exploiters. That will convert the 

exploiters also.” 

Gandhi reminded the peasants and workers of their power. “There 

is in English a very potent word, and you have it in French also,” he 
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said. “All the languages of the world have it—it is ‘No'.... Immediately 

Labor comes to recognize that it has got the choice of saying ‘Yes' when 

it wants to say ‘Yes,’ and ‘No' when it wants to say ‘No,' Labor is free 

of Capital, and Capital must woo Labor." The worker can strike; the 

peasant can refuse rent. 

Nevertheless, he declared in Young India of October 7, 1926, “capital 

and labor need not be antagonistic to each other." 

But the passage of time and all Gandhi’s persuasiveness produced few 

trustees. No report of “voluntary abdication" by a landlord or millowner 

reached Gandhi before the day of his death. No one answered his 1929 

appeal to the “model landlord" to “reduce himself to poverty in order 

that the peasant may have the necessities of life." 

Gradually, therefore, Gandhi’s economic views changed. He con¬ 

tinued to advocate class collaboration. But as he moved nearer the end 

of his life and further from the nineteenth century, he sought new 

means of removing poverty. He became reconciled to more state partici¬ 

pation in economic affairs. He wanted the law to help in the leveling 

process. Equality grew more attractive. 

In Harijan of July 31, 1937, Gandhi noted that British income sur¬ 

taxes amounted to 70 j^er cent. “There is no reason why India should 

not go to a much higher figure." And, he added, “Why should there 

not be death duties?" In an article published April 13, 1938, he went 

still further: “A trustee has no heir but the public." The millionaire’s 

wealth should go to the community, not to his son who would only lose 

morally by inheriting material riches, Gandhi declared. 

One of the first acts of a free India would be to give grants to the 

untouchables, he said, out of the pockets of “the moneyed classes." And 

if the rich complain, “1 shall sympathize with them, but I will not be 

able to help them, even if I could possibly do so, because I would seek 

their assistance in that process, and without their assistance it would not 

be possible to raise these people out of the mire." 

In 1941, and again in 1945 in his Constructive Program, Gandhi 

warned the Indian capitalists. “A non-violent system of government," 

he wrote, “is clearly an impossibility so long as the wide gulf between 

the rich and the hungry millions persists. The contrast between the 

palaces of New Delhi and the miserable hovels of the poor laboring 

class nearby cannot last one day in a free India in which the poor will 
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enjoy the same power as the richest in the land. A violent and bloody 

revolution is a certainty one day unless there is a voluntary abdication 

of riches and the power that riches give, and sharing them for the 

common good.” 

The response was nil. 

“The power that riches give” troubled him. He began to search for 

means of diffusing it. “Key industries, industries which the state needs,” 

he wrote on June 28, 1939, “may be centralized.” He was opposed, 

however, to concentration of economic power in the hands of the 

government. He therefore added, “But supposing the state controlled 

paper-making and centralized it, I would expect it to protect all the 

paper that villages can make.” Power houses, he wrote, should be owned 

“by village communities or the state,” preferably by the villages. 

“What would happen in a free India?” 1 asked Gandhi in 1942. 

“What is your program for the improvement of the lot of the peasantry?” 

“The peasants would take the land,” he replied. “We would not have 

to tell them to take it. They would take it.” 

“Would the landlords be compensated?” I asked. 

“No," Gandhi said. “That would be fiscally impossible.” 

An interviewer told Gandhi that the number of textile mills was in¬ 

creasing. “That is a misfortune,” he remarked. Better that textiles be 

made in the homes of the millions of partially employed peasants. 

“God forbid,” Gandhi exclaimed in Harijan on January 28, 1939, 

“that India should ever take to industrialism after the manner of the 

West. The economic imperialism of a single tiny islaad kingdom [Eng¬ 

land] is today keeping the world in chains. If an entire nation of three 

hundred millions took to similar economic exploitation, it would strip 

the world bare like locusts.” 

Nor did Gandhi regard the mere multiplication of material wants and 

of objects to gratify them as the highroad to happiness or godliness. He 

drew no line between economics and ethics. “An economics,” he said in 

Harijan of October 9, 1937, “that inculcates Mammon worship, that 

enables the strong to amass wealth at the expense of the weak, is a false 

and dismal science. It spells death. True economics ... stands for social 

justice” and moral values. Gandhi knew that people with full refriger- 

ators> crowded clothes closets, cars in every garage, and radios in every 

room may sdll be psychologically insecure and unhappy. "Rome," he 
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said, “suffered a moral fall when it attained high material aflBuence.” 

“What shall it avail a man if he gain the whole world and lose his soul?” 

Gandhi quoted. “In modem terms,” he continued, “it is beneath human 

dignity to lose one’s individuality and become a mere cog in the machine. 

1 want every individual to become a full-blooded, fully developed mem¬ 

ber of society.” Next to God, Gandhi's supreme being was man the 

individual. He accordingly regarded himself “the bom democrat.” 

"No society can possibly be built on a denial of individual freedom, 

it is contrary to the very nature of man,” Gandhi wrote. "Just as man 

will not grow horns or a tail so he will not exist as a man if he has no 

mind of his own." Therefore, "democracy is not a state in which people 

act like sheep.” 

Gandhi disliked the word “tolerance" but he found nO substitute. “For 

me,” he said, "every ruler is alien who defies public opinion. . . . In- 

tolerance betrays want of faith in one’s cause. . . . We shut the door of 

reason when we refuse to listen to our opponents or, having hstened, 

make fun of them. 

“Always keep an open mind,” he admonished. 

There could, however, be no democracy without discipUne. “I value 

individual freedom," he wrote, “but you must not forget that man is 

essentially a social being. He has risen to his present status by learning 

to adjust his individualism to the requirements of social progress. Un¬ 

restricted individualism is the law of the beast of the jungle. We must 

learn to strike a mean between individual freedom and social restraint” 

It could be done by self-discipline. If the individual did not discipline 

himself the state would try to discipline the individual, and too much 

official discipline kills democracy. 

“We cannot learn discipline by compulsion," Gandhi affirmed. A 

dictatorship can exact obedience; it can implant the habit of robot com¬ 

pliance; it can, by fear, convert man into a cringing, kowtowing pygmy. 

None of that is discipline. 

Gandhi discouraged the notion that democracy meant economic free¬ 

dom at the expense of personal liberty, or political freedom without 

economic freedom. “My conception of freedom is no narrow concep¬ 

tion,” he declared in Harijan of June 7, 1942. “It is coextensive with 

the freedom of man in all his majesty. . . . 

“If the individual ceases to count, what is left of society?” he asked. 
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To those who argued that dictatorships reduce illiteracy, he replied, 

"Where a choice has to be made between liberty and learning, who will 

not say that the former has to be preferred a thousand times to the 

latter?” 

Democracy means majority rule, Gandhi agreed. But, “In matters of 

conscience,” he said, “the law of majority has no place;... it is slavery 

to be amenable to the majority no matter what its decisions are.” 

Nor was freedom Gandhi’s highest law. “Not even for the freedom of 

India would I resort to an untruth,” he said. “We do not seek our 

independence out of Britain’s ruin.” 

Gandhi’s hostility to violence and untruth, his objection to the omnip¬ 

otent state which embodies both, and his economic ideas made him 

anti-Communist. 

“India does not want Communism,” Gandhi said as early as Novem¬ 

ber 24, 1921. 

“All Communists are not bad, as all Congressmen are not angels,” 

Gandhi declared on January 26, 1941. "I have, therefore, no prejudice 

against Communists as such. Their philosophy, as they have declared it 

to me, I cannot subscribe to.” 

The Communists sent spokesmen to convert him. But his instincts 

led him to reject their teachings. 

"I am yet ignorant of what exactly Bolshevism is,” he wrote on De¬ 

cember II, 1924. “I have not been able to study it. I do not know 

whether it is for the good of Russia in the long run. But I do know 

that in so far as it is based on violence and denial of God, it repels me. 

... 1 am an uncompromising opponent of violent methods even to serve 

the noblest of causes.” 

In 1926, he received some enlightenment and declared, “Let no one 

think that the people in Russia, Italy, and the other countries are happy 

or are independent." 

In 1927, Shapuri Saklatwala, an Indian Communist who was a mem¬ 

ber of the British House of Commons, appealed to Gandhi to forsake his 

mistaken ways and join the Communists. Gandhi replied to the “im¬ 

patient comrade” in Young India of March 17, 1927. “In spite of my 

desire to offer hearty co-operation,” the Mahatma said, “I find myself 

against a blind wall. His facts are fiction and his deductions based upon 
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fiction are necessarily baseless.... I am sorry, but we stand at oppo»te 

poles.” 

Q>mn)unists accused him of consorting with capitalists and taking 

their money. He did not reply that Communists were tarred with the 

same brush. He said he took money from the rich to help the poor. He 

consorted with capitalists to convert them. He consorted with Com¬ 

munists as often as they wished to come. 

“You claim to be Communists,” he said to one group of Communists, 

“but you do not seem to live the life of Communism.” Then he berated 

them for their discourtesy in debate. On another occasion, he attacked 

their lack of scruples. “I have it from some of the literature that passes 

under the name of Communist literature,” he wrote in Harijan on 

December 10, 1930, “that secrecy, camouflage, and the like are enjoined 

as necessary for the accomplishment of the Communist.” This repelled 

him. 

Was Gandhi a Socialist? 

The Communists call themselves Socialists. The full name of Hitler’s 

Nazi party was National Socialist Workers' Party, and Mussolini spoke 

of his regime as “proletarian.” The French Radical Socialists are mild 

and middle class. Socialism is an overworked word. 

Gandhi read Karl Manx's Capital in prison and remarked, “I think I 

could have written it better, assuming, of course, that I had the leisure 

for the study he has put in." If Gandhi meant the style he was cer¬ 

tainly right. But Gandhi was no Marxist; he did not believe in class war. 

Minoo Masani, Indian author and India's first Ambassador to Brazil, 

asked Gandhi’s opinion of the program of the Indian Socialist Party. 

Gandhi replied in a letter dated June 14, 1934. "I welcome the rise of 

the Socialist Party in the Congress,’’ the Mahatma wrote. “But I can’t 

say 1 like the programme as it appears in the printed pamphlet. It seems 

to me to ignore Indian conditions and I do not like the assumption 

underlying many of its propositions which go to show that there is 

necessarily antagonism between the classes and the masses or between 

the labourers and capitalists, such that they can never work for mutual 

good. My own experience covering a fairly long period is to the con¬ 

trary. What is necessary is that labourers or workers should know their 

rights and should also know how to assert them. And since there never 
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has been any right without a corresponding duty, in my opinion, a 

manifesto is incomplete without emphasizing the necessity of per¬ 

formance of duty and showing what duty is.” He invited Masani and 

friends for a discussion. 

Gandhi opposed the Socialists for their class-war doctrine, and he con¬ 

demned them when they used violence. Yet as he observed disturbing 

trends, he became more pro-Socialist and more favorably disposed to 

equality. “Today,” Gandhi wrote in the June i, 1947, Harijan, “there 

is gross economic inequality. The basis of socialism is economic equality. 

There can be no rule of God in the present state of iniquitous inequali¬ 

ties in which a few roil in riches and the masses do not get enough to 

eat. I accepted the theory of Socialism even while I was in South 

Africa.” His, however, was a moral Socialism. 

If India were to carry out most of Gandhi's numerous economic pre¬ 

scriptions the result, two or three decades after his death, might be an 

economy pivoting on a fully employed, self-governing village enjoying 

maximum self-sufficiency and minimum mechanization; a city where 

capitalists and municipal, provincial, and federal governments shared 

industry and trade; strong trade unions and co-operatives; and one- 

generation capitalists whose wealth, since they could not bequeath it, 

would revert to the community. 

Gandhi’s loyalty to truth exceeded his loyalty to political dogma or 

party. He allowed truth to lead him without a map. If it took him into 

an area where he had to discard some intellectual baggage or walk 

alone without past associates, he went. He never impeded his mind with 

STOP signs. Many groups have claimed him. But he was the private 

property of none, not even of Congress. He was its leader for years, 

yet at the Congress convention in Bombay, in December, 1934, having 

immersed himself in Harijan and peasant uplift work, he ceased to be a 

dues-paying member, let alone an officer, of the Congress party. “1 need 

complete detachment and absolute freedom of action,” he said. 

Gandhi’s individualism meant maximum freedom from outward cii- 

ciunstances and maximum development of inner qualities. His antago' 

nism to British rule was part of a lar^r antagonism to fetters of all kinds. 

His goal was Gita detachment, in politics as in religion. 

Gandhi’s intellectual receptivity and flexibility are characteristics of 

the Hindu mind. There is a Hindu orthodoxy but it is not character- 
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istic of Hinduism. In Hinduism it is the intensity and quality of the 

religious zeal, not so much its object, which constitutes leUgion. 

In 1942, when I was Gandhi s house guest for a week, there was only 

one decoration on the mud walls of his hut: a black and white print of 

Jesus Christ with the inscription, “He Is Our Peace.” I asked Gandhi 

about it. “I am a Christian,” he replied. “I am a Christian, and a Hindu, 

and Moslem, and a Jew." 

"All faiths,” Gandhi wrote in From Yerm/da Mandir in an unintended 

definition of religious tolerance, “constitute a revelation of Truth, but 

all are imperfect, and liable to error. Reverence for other faiths need not 

blind us to their faults. We must be keenly alive to the defects of our 

own faith also, yet not leave it on that account, but try to overcome 

those defects. Looking at all religions with an equal eye, we would not 

only not hesitate, but would think it our duty to blend into our faith 

every acceptable feature of other faiths.” 

That paragraph is a portrait of the Gandhi mind; he was the con¬ 

servative who would not change his religion, the reformer who tried to 

alter it, and the tolerant believer who regarded all faiths as aspects of 

the divine. He was loyal yet critical, partisan yet open-minded, devout 

yet not doctrinaire, inside yet outside, attached yet detached, Hindu 

yet Christian, yet Moslem, yet Jew. 

■ Next to Hinduism he was most attracted by Christianity. He loved 

Jesus. Hindu bigots even accused him of being a secret Christian. He 

considered this “both a libel and a compliment—a libel because there 

are men who believe me to be capable of being secretly anything ... a 

compliment in that it is a reluctant acknowledgment of my capacity for 

appreciating the beauties of Christianity. Let me own this. If I could 

call myself, say, a Christian or a Moslem, with my own interpretation 

of the Bible or the Koran, I could not hesitate to call myself either. For 

then Hindu, Christian, and Moslem would be synonymous terms. I do 

believe that in the other world there are neither Hindus, nor Christians 

or Moslems." 

Gandhi was more specific, however, in an address at the Y.M.C.A., 

in Colombo, Ceylon, in 1927. "If then,” he said, "I had to face only 

the Sermon on the Mount and my own interpretation of it, I should 

not hesitate to say, ‘Oh, yes, I am a Christian.’... But negatively I can 

tell you that much of what passes as Christianity is a negation of the 



334 Mahatma Gandhi 

Sermon on the Mount. And please mark my words. I am not at the 

present moment speaking of the Christian conduct. I am speaking of the 

Christian belief, of Christianity as it is understood in the West.” 

Many Christian missionaries came to Gandhi often, and he had long 

friendly talks with Dr. John R. Mott, Bishop Fisher who lived in India 

for years, and others. But Gandhi frowned on proselytizing, whether by 

Christians, Hindus, or Moslems. He said, “I do not believe in people 

telling others of their faith, especially with a view to conversion. . . . 

Faith does not permit of telling. It has to be lived and then it is self- 

propagating.” 

S. K. George, a Syrian Christian of India and lecturer at Bishops 

College, Calcutta, wrote a book entitled, Gandhi's Challenge to Chris- 
tianity and dedicated it 'To Mahatma Gandhi Who Made Jesus and 

His Message Real to Me.” The Reverend K. Mathew Simon, of the 

Syrian Orthodox Church of Malabar, India, writes of Gandhi, ”It was 

his life that proved to me more than anything else that Christianity is 

a practicable religion even in the 20th century.” lliis suggests how 

relevant Gandhi is to the problems of our times. 

Gandhi presented a perplexing problem to Christians in India: he 

was the world s most Christlike person yet not a Christian. "And so,” 

exclaims E. Stanley Jones, "one of the most Christlike men in history 

was not called a Christian at all.” Missionaries frequently tried to con¬ 

vert him to Christianity. (He, speaking softly, tried to do the same for 

them.) But why enroll a saint in a church? 

Gandhi protested that the missionaries fed the starving and healed the 

sick in order to convert them to Christianity. "Make us better Hindus,” 

he pleaded. That would be more Christian. 

Christianity has had a good effect on Hinduism. "The indirect in¬ 

fluence of Christianity has been to quicken Hinduism into life,” Gandhi 

asserted. The fact that the missionaries richest recruiting field was the 

embittered Harijan community may have awakened some Hindus to the 

necessity of supporting Gandhi s Harijan work. And Gandhi probably 

had a good effect on Christianity. Dr. E. Stanley Jones says, "God uses 

many instruments, and he may have used Mahatma Gandhi to help 

Christianize unchristian Christianity.” 

Gandhi never tried to convert Christians to Hinduism. 

Although Gandhi was a Hindu reformer and welcomed the play of 
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outside influences on Hinduism, he departed from Hindu customs and 

beliefs with reluctance. In 1927, Devadas fell in love with Lakshmi, the 

daughter of Rajagopalachari, and wanted to marry her. But Rajago- 

palachari was a Brahman and Gandhi a Vaisya, and members of difiFer- 

ent castes should not marry. Nor should young folks choose their mates; 

marriages are arranged by parents. But the man and maid persisted, and 

finally the illustrious fathers agreed to sanction the union if the couple 

still wanted one another after five years of separation. So Devadas, who 

was bom in 1900, and Lakshmi waited five painful years and married 

with pomp in Poona on June 16, 1933, in the presence of both happy 

papas. Gandhi’s wedding gift was a hymn book and garland of yam 

which he had spun. 

The conservative traditionalist and the radical iconoclast merged in 

Gandhi into a tantalizing, unpredictable mixture. The Mahatma's suc¬ 

cessful assault on untouchability produced the most revolutionary 

change in Hinduism’s millennial existence. It would seem that the 

corollary of the abolition of untouchability was the abolition of caste, for 

if one mingled with outcastes surely the barriers between the higher 

castes should crumble. Yet for many years Gandhi defended caste re¬ 

strictions. 

Defending the four Hindu castes, Gandhi said in 1920, “I consider 

the four divisions to be fundamental, natural, and essential.” “Hindu¬ 

ism.” he wrote in Young India of October 6, 1921, “does most emphati¬ 

cally discourage interdining and intermarriage between divisions. . . . 

Prohibition against intermarriage and interdining is essential for the 

rapid evolution of the soul. ” 

The same man said, “Restriction on intercaste dining and intercaste 

marriage is no part of the Hindu religion. It crept into Hinduism when 

perhaps it was in its decline, and was then probably meant to be a 

temporary protection against the disintegration '’f Hindu society. Today 

those two prohibitions are weakening Hindu society.” This was on 

November 4, 1932. 

In 1921, the prohibition of intermarriage and interdining was “essen¬ 

tial” to the soul; in 1932, it was “weakening Hindu society.” 

Even this, however, was not Gandhi’s final position. Having broken 

with the orthodox tradition, he characteristically continued to travel 

further and further away from it, and on January 5, 1946, he declared, 
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in the Hindustan Standard, “I therefore tell all boys and girls who want 

to marry that they cannot be married at Sevagram Ashram unless one 

of the parties is a Harijan.” Earlier, he had refused to attend a wedding 

imless it was an intercaste marriage. 

From 1921 to 1946 Gandhi had gone full circle: from utter dis- 

apjHTOval of intercaste marriages to approval of only intercaste marriages. 

He had opposed marriages between religions. But he came to favor 

those too. He congratulated Dr. Humayun Kabir, a Moslem writer, on 

taking a Hindu wife, and approved of B. K. Nehru’s marrying a Hun¬ 

garian Jewess. 

Caste is as deeply ingrained in India as the family is in the Western 

world. Yet Gandhi could change his views on it. In later years, his ideas 

on celibacy also moderated. In 1935, Professor J. B. Kripalani, a disciple 

of Gandhi who had first met the Mahatma at Shantiniketan in 1915 

and again in Champaran in 1917, fell in love with a Bengali girl and 

wanted to marry her. Gandhi summoned the girl, Sucheta, and tried to 

dissuade her. "Marriage will ruin him,” he said. It would weaken his 

concentration on social problems. Gandhi advised her to marry some¬ 

body else. 

A year later, however, Gandhi called Sucheta and gave his approval 

to the marriage. "I shall pray for both of you,” he said. Subsequently 

he treated her as a daughter. 

In the ashram, too, Gandhi became more tolerant of marriage and 

stopped insisting that marriages be sexless. 

As a crusader, Gandhi had to be positive about his opinions. As a 

devotee of the truth, he had to be able to change them. He sometimes 

defended his position with a persistence that seemed immodest; yet he 

also altered it, when necessary, with a completeness that embarrassed 

his followers but never him. Though he usually tried to prove his con¬ 

sistency, he admitted his inconsistencies. He could be adamant and 

softly yielding. He dictated to Congress in one period and left it to its 

fate and follies in another. Tremendous power was at his command but 

it often remained unused; in very crucial issues he bowed to the wishes 

of opponents whom he could have broken with a crook of a finger. He 

had the might of a dictator and the mind of a democrat. Power gave him 

no pleasure; he had no distorted psychology to feed. The result was a 
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relaxed man. The problem of maintaining an impression of nmniscience, 

infallibility, omnipotence, and dignity never occupied him. 

Part of every leader’s equipment is a wall. It may be high and made of 

brick and a battalion of guards or it may consist of an unanswered ques¬ 

tion and an enigmatic smile. Its purpose is to lend distance and awe and 

to obscure frailties and secrets, lliere was no wall around Gandhi. T say 

without the least hesitation,” he once declared, “that I have never had 

recourse to cunning in all my life.” His mind and emotions were even 

more exposed than his body. 

"My darkest hour,” Gandhi wrote in Harijan of December 26, 1936, 

at the age of sixty-seven, “was when I was in Bombay a few months ago. 

It was the hour of my temptation. Whilst I was asleep I suddenly felt 

as though 1 wanted to see a woman. Well a man who had tried to rise 

superior to the instinct for nearly forty years was bound to be intensely 

pained when he had this frightful experience. 1 ultimately conquered 

the feeling, but I was face to face with the blackest moment of my life 

and if I had succumbed to it, it would have meant my absolute un¬ 

doing.” Most people are incapable of such nudity and many would 

think it unnecessary. But it is the supreme manifestation of life without 

a wall. He wanted the world to know him, all of him; less than that 

would not have been the truth. And he told the truth about his inner 

struggles and outer contacts so that others might learn from them. “As I 

have all along believed that what is possible for one is possible for all, 

my experiments have not been conducted in the closet, but in the open,” 

Gandhi asserted. To say this sounds somewhat boastful; not to say it 

would have meant suppressing an inspiring messagp. 

Gandhi was the eternal teacher. He accordingly made himself 

accessible to all. The accessibility was not only complete, it was creative. 

In the 1930’s, a young Indian named Atulananda Chakrabarti wrote 

a pamphlet on the increasingly envenomed Hindu-Moslem problem. He 

of course mailed a copy to the Mahatma. Usually a prominent person 

in any country limits his exertion in such cases to the sending of a 

formal, polite acknowledgment. Gandhi read the brochure and wrote 

the unknown author a detailed criticism of its ideas and proposals. He 

also referred to minor matters. For instance, “At pagp 151, you say India 

is ‘thousands of miles wide.’ Is it? As a matter of fact not more than 



338 The Life of Mahatma Gandhi 

1,500. Then you have not given the dates to your quotations in the 

appendix except in one case. . . . And think of the spelling mistakes. 

Unpardonable! But the book should serve a useful purpose in spite of 

the defects, if you have adhered to the truth.” 

Encouraged by this unexpected attention, Atulananda asked whether 

he could come and live in the ashram for a while. Gandhi invited him 

and he stayed for several weeks. They became friends and corresponded 

regularly thereafter. Atulananda kept sending his articles to Gandhi for 

comments; he suggested a culture league to bring Hindus and Moslems 

together. In one reply, dated August 3, 1937, Gandhi wrote; 

Dear Atulananda, 

1 hope your daughter is well and wholly out of danger. I have gone 

through your articles carefully. I still do not see light. It seems to me 

that no culture league will answer the purpose you and I have in view. 

It has got to be done by individuals who have a living faith and who 

would work with missionary zeal. Try again, if I have not seen what 

you fee in your proposal. I shall be patient and attentive. I want to 

help if I can see my way clear. 

Yours sincerely, 

M. K. Gandhi. 

The letter was written by hand in ink on a small sheet of handmade 

paper. 

Atulananda continued to concentrate on the Hindu-Moslem tension 

and suggested a book about it. Replying by postcard on June 17, 1939, 

the Mahatma said, “The disease has gone too deep for books to help. 

Some big action is necessary. What I do not know as yet. Sincerely, 

M. K. Gandhi.” 

Gandhi was in correspondence with many thousands of persons in 

India and elsewhdte. In most cases, a letter became the seed of a pro¬ 

longed personal relationship; he remembered members of the corre¬ 

spondent’s family and mentioned them by name. Originally approached 

on a general political or religious question he would soon be asked for 

advice on private matters. He was a motherly father to multitudes. 

In August, 1947, Gandhi was in Calcutta coping with one of the 

ugliest crises in Indian history. City streets were running with Hindu 

and Moslem blood. One morning, Amiya Chakravarty came to see him. 
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Amiya had been the literary secretary of Tagore. A cousin who was very 

dear to him had just died of an illness, and for comfort he wanted to 

share his sorrow with the Mahatma, fie stood close to the wall in a 

corner of Gandhi's room; Gandhi was writing. When he lifted his head, 

Amiya stepped forward and told him of his cousin’s passing. Gandhi 

made a friendly remark and invited him to the prayer meeting that 

evening. When Amiya arrived in the e\'ening, Gandhi handed him a 

slip of {taper and whispered, “It came straight from the heart so it may 

have some value." The note read; 

Dear Amiya, I am sorry for your loss which in reality is no loss. 

"Death is but a sleep and a forgetting." This is such a sweet sleep that 

the body has not to wake again and the dead load of memory is thrown 

overboard. So far as I know, happily there is no meeting in the beyond 

as we have it today. When the isolated drops melt, they share the 

majesty of the ocean to which they belong. In isolation they die but to 

meet the ocean again. 1 do not know whether I have been clear enough 

to give you any comfort. Love, Bapu. 

The fact that he cared would have been comfort enough. He cared for 

one little person in the midst of his cares for the whole nation. He was 

convinced that politics is worth less than zero unless it is an integral p>art 

of the everyday life of human beings. Gandhi’s unwalled existence was 

directed to the welfare of mankind through concern for green vegetables 

in village diet, the aching heart of a bereaved relative, the choice of a 

girl’s husband, a mud pack for a sick peasant, and an author’s spelling. 

Nobody rises above such little things; they constitute life; nobody lives 

in the rarefied air of isms and theological principles. 

Over a long period of years, Gandhi’s daily post averaged a hundred 

letters, often with enclosures. He answered about ten of them himself 

by hand, dictated the replies to some, and instructed his secretaries how 

to answer others. No communication remained without a response. In 

numerous instances, where the correspondent did not object, Gandhi 

replied in Harijan. His weekly contributions to that magazine invariably 

took him two days of solid work. These too he wrote by hand; very 

rarely he dictated them. 

All the remainder of his long day he gave himself to visitors. Ashram 

members had their personal and general problems; workers in the or- 
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ganizadons which Gandhi had established for Harijan and peasant 

welfare, the popularizadon of khadi, the development of a nadonwide 

language, and for Indian-sponsored educadon wanted guidance; jour¬ 

nalists wanted interviews; foreigners asked his views on every variety of 

subject; and, always, whether he was in polidcs or, as in the 1933 to 

1939 period, ofBcially withdrawn from polidcs, the great and small 

leaders of the Indian nadonal movement sought his advice, approval, 

and support. A few times in his life he spoke on the telephone. Usually, 

his conversadons were face-to-face. It was not difficult to obtain an 

appointment with him. Except with a few important Indians or English¬ 

men, an interview might be attended by ten or more persons, but acdve 

pardcipadon was limited to Gandhi and the interviewer. Mrs. Margaret 

Sanger, birth<ontrol advocate, visited Gandhi in December, 1935; Yone 

Noguchi, the Japanese author, in January, 1936; Lord Lothian, the 

Bridsh statesman, spent three days in Gandhi’s village in January, 1938. 

The list of the Mahatma’s non-Indian guests looked like an internadonal 

Who’s Who. Outsiders felt that their sojourn in India was incomplete 

without a visit to Gandhi. 

They were right; be came as near being India as one person could be. 

He called himself a Harijan, Moslem, Chrisdan, Hindu, farmer, weaver. 

He wove himself into the texture of India. He had the gift of idendfica- 

don with large masses and with many individuals. He aimed to free 

India the hard but lasting way: by Seeing the human beings of India. 

This would be more difficult than political liberation from England. 
How could it be done? “1 can indicate no royal road for bringing about 

the social revolution,” he wrote in 1945, "except that we should repre- 

sent it in every detail of our lives.” Gandhi’s battlefield, therefore, was 

the hearts of men. There he made his home. He knew better than any¬ 

body how little of the battle had been fought and won. Yet without the 

social revolution in man’s daily conduct, he said, "we will not be able 

to leave India happier than when we were bom.” The social revolution 

could not produce a new man. A new type of man would make the 

social revolution. 
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CHAPTER THIRTY-SIX 

Descent into War 

Jawaharlal Nehru was president of the Congress for 1936 and 1937— 

an unusual honor and a heavy burden. But he himself admitted that 

Gandhi was "the permanent Siippr-President” of It obeyed 

him. Thanks to Gandhi’s suggestion, for instance, the twenty-five thou¬ 

sand persons who attended the Haripura annual convention in Feb¬ 

ruary, 1938, were fed hand-pounded rice, hand-ground flour, cow’s (not 

buffalo’s) milk, and cow’s butter; of course everj’body wore khadi. In 

politics or out of politics, Gandhi could, by virtue of his hold on the 

people, and on most Congress leaders, dictate the actions and veto the 

decisions of Congress if he wished. 

Only after Gandhi gave his consent did Congress participate in the 

elections to the provincial and central legislatures held early in 1937, 

under the new British constitution, the Act of India of 1935. “The boy¬ 

cott of the legislatures, let me tell you,’’ Gandhi explained in Harijan 
of May 1, 1937, "is not an eternal principle like that of truth and non¬ 

violence.” 

Congress swept the elections in six of India’s eleven provinces (Bom¬ 

bay, Madras, United Provinces, Bihar, Central Provinces, and Orissa), 

was the largest single party in Assam, Bengal, and the Northwest 

Frontier Province, but obtuned a very small minority of the votes in 

Sind and the Punjab. 

Should the Congress accept office in the provinces where it had won 

a majority? In March, 1937, on the advice of Gandhi, it decided in the 

affirmative on the understanding, however, thSt the British governors 

of the provinces would not interfere, and in the hope of using office to 

organize the country for independence. 

The total Conj^ss membership rose from 3,102,113 at the beginning 

of 1938, to 4,478,720 at the beginning of 1939. But Gandhi, never im¬ 

pressed by mere numbers, warned the party of being corrupted by power 

and office-seekers. He saw “decay” setting in, and confessed that he 

could not undertake civil disobedience because, “though there is non- 
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violence enough among the masses, there is not enough among those 

who have to organize the masses/’ 

This reflected his disappointment with Congress leaders. When, 

therefore, the convention of 1939 elected Subhas Chandra Bose as 

president of Congress—he was president, too, in 1938, and rode to that 

session in an ancient vehicle drawn by fifty-one bulls—Gandhi stepped 

in and forced Bose to resign. Bose openly advocated violence and 

dreamed of an armed revolt against Britain. He was dynamic and popu¬ 

lar and threatened to seize control of Congress from the Vallabhbhai 

Patel machine. 

Gandhi also condemned the Congress provincial governments for 

using force during strikes and religious riots. As the 1930 decade ad¬ 

vanced, Gandhi became more uncompromising in his pacifism. But 

neither Nehru, nor Bose, nor Maulana Abul Kalam Azad, the outstand¬ 

ing Moslem leader of Congress, was a pacifist. Of all India’s prominent 

nationalists, the only one who earned the title of “Gandhi” was Khan 

Abdul Ghaffar Khan, known to the country as "The Frontier Gandhi.” 

He is a Pathan from the wild, legendary northwest frontier region near 

the Khyber inhabited by the unruly Afridis, Wazirs, and other moun¬ 

tain tribes; the British subsidized but never subdued them. Ghaffar 

Khan is six feet four, with a fine, perfectly oval head and a powerful 

muscular body. Gray-black stubble covers his head and face. He was 

sixty when 1 saw him in Devadas’s home in New Delhi in 1942; his 

dark, penetrating, flashing eyes were those of a young man of thirty. His 

father and he were rich, but he renounced wealth to fc flow the Mahatma. 

He lives in a village (when he is not in jail) and lives like the villagers. 

He wears a long, blue-gray blouse and very wide-seat trousers made of 

homespun. His feet are bare. His feet are beautifully molded and his 

big hands are almost white. After he shook hands he touched his hand 

to his heart. As Gandhi was of the soil and sand of India, Ghaffar Khan 

is of its rocks and crags and raging torrents. The hot blood of sharp¬ 

shooting, trigger-happy mountaineers courses in his veins but he has 

adopted the philosophy of complete non-violence and so have the thou¬ 

sands of brother Pathans whom he organized as the Khudai Khidmatgar 

or Servants of God. 

Millions obeyed Gandhi, myriads adored him, multitudes accounted 

themselves his followers, only a handful did as he did. He knew it. The 
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knowledge did not diminish his volcanic energy or Inreak his steel will. 

On the contrary; as he watched the darkness advance during the 1930’s 

across China, Abyssinia, Spain, Czechoslovakia, and above all Germany, 

his zeal for pure pacifism grew. “My faith is brightest in the midst of 
impenetrable darkness,” he said on February 6,1939. He saw the Second 

World War approaching. 

In 1921, he had written that “under independence too 1 would not 

hesitate to advise those who would bear arms to do so and fight for the 

country.” In 1928, answering the French Reverend B. de Ligt, Tolstoy’s 

friend Chertkov, and other European pacifists who criticized him for 

supporting the two South African wars and the First World War, 

Gandhi declared, “I did participate in the three acts of war. I could not, 

it would be madness for me, to sever my connection with the society to 

which I belong.” 

It would have been normal for Gandhi to be a pacifist from the very 

beginning of his public career. But basic attitudes rarely came to Gandhi 

through cogitation. The absolute pacifism at which he arrived in the 

mid-i93o’s was partly the result of his less hopeful relationship toward 

the British Empire in which he had believed earlier. But chiefly, 

Gandhi’s pacifism came out of his own inner development. 

Once, when Gandhi was in prison, a scorpion stung a fellow prisoner; 

Gandhi sucked out the poison. A leper named Parchure Sastri, who was 

a Sanskrit scholar, asked to be admitted to Sevagram Ashram. Some 

members objected; they feared infection. Gandhi not only admitted 

him; he gave him massage.... In March, 1939, Gandhi undertook a fast 

unto death on behalf of the civil liberties of the people of Rajkot, where 

he had gone to school as a boy. The doctors sought to dissuade the 

Mahatma. He showed symptoms of myocarditis, an inflammation or 

hardening of the muscles of the heart. 

But it was a Gandhian principle to subordinate the flesh to the spirit 

When moral considerations made an act imperative, the body had no 

veto. If the flesh was weak it suffered or even died; it could not say no. 

This was the source of Gandhi’s pacifism. In the past, he had fought 

in the wars. He had allowed sympathy for Britain and duty to a country 

to guide him. Nor had he risen above Indian nationalism. Morality did 

not yet completely command him. 

However, by the time the Second World War approached, he had 
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achieved more complete detachment Also, he said, "I was not so dis¬ 

consolate before [between 1914 and 1918] as I am today." He envisage 

the second war as a "greater horror” than the first; “the greater horror 

would prevent me from becoming the self-appointed recruiting sergeant 

that 1 had become during the last war." 

He had litde hope of persuading others. But whereas in the past he 

had resisted all proddings from abroad and pleaded that he could not 

carry non-violence to the West while India remained violent, he advised' 

the Abyssinians in 1935 not to fight. 

"If die Abs3rssians had adopted the atdtude of non-violence of the 

strong,” Gandhi said, “that is, the non-violence which breaks to pieces 

but never bends, Mussolini would have had no interest in Abyssinia. 

Thus if they had simply said; Tou are welcome to reduce us to dust 

and ashes, but you will not find one Abyssinian ready to cooperate 

with you,’ what could Mussolini have done? He did not want a desert. 

... If the Abyssinians had redred from the field and allowed themselves 

to be slaughtered, their seeming inactivity would have been much more 

effective though not for the moment visible. Hitler and Mussolini on 

the one hand and Stalin on the other are able to show the immediate 

effectiveness of violence. But it is as transitory as that of Genghis Khan’s 

slaughter.” 

The tragedy of Czechoslovakia and of Germany’s Jews touched him 

even more deeply. "The peace of Europe gained at Munich,” where 

Chamberlain and Daladier betrayed Czechoslovakia to Hitler in Sep¬ 

tember, 1938, Gandhi wrote, “is a triumph of violence; it is also a 

defeat. . . . England and France . . . quailed before the combined 

violence of Germany and Italy. But what have Germany and Italy 

gained? Have they added anything to the moral wealth of mankind?” 

These words make more sense today than on October 8, 1938, when 

they were published in Harijan. "The war is only postponed,” Gandhi 

continued prophetically. "During the breathing time, I present the way 

of non-violence far acceptance by the Czechs. They do not yet know 

what is in store for them. They can lose nothing by trying the way of 

non-violence. The fate of Republican Spain is hanging in the balance. 

So is that of China. If in the end they all lose, they will do so not 

because their cause is not just ... 1 suggest that, if it is brave, as it is, 
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to die to a man fighting against odds, it is braver still to refuse to figfit 

and yet to refuse to yield to the usurper. .. 

While touring with Ghaifar Khan in October, 1938, among the 

Pathans of the frontier, Gandhi wrote a Harijan article entitled 'If 1 
Were a Czech." "Democracy dreads to spill blood," he said. "The 

philosophy for which the two dictators stand calls it cowardice to shrink 

from carnage. . . . Science of war leads one to dictatorship pure and 

simple. Science of non-violence can alone lead one to pure democracy. 

. . . Russia is out of the picture just now. Russia has a dictator who 

dreams of peace and thinks he will wade to it through a sea of blood.... 

"It was necessary to give this introduction to what 1 want to say to 

the Czechs and through them to all those nationalities which are called 

'small' or 'weak.' I want to speak to the Czechs because their plight 

moved me to the point of physical and mental distress." His advice was: 

“Refuse to obey Hitler’s will and perish unarmed in the attempt. In so 

doing, though I lose the body, I save my soul, that is, my honor.” 

Usually, the pacifist says, “It is evil to kill." He therefore abstains 

from war. He is answered by those who say, "I’d rather kill than be 

killed.” To which, Gandhi replied, “No, I’d rather be killed. 

"Man may and should shed his own blood for establishing what he 

considers to be his 'right,’ ’’ Gandhi wrote in Harijan. “He may not shed 

the blood of his opponent who disputes his ‘right.’ ’’ 

In December, 1938, the International Missionary Conference took 

place at Tambaram, near Madras, and when it was over, Christian 

clergymen, including Dr. John R. Mott, Reverend William Paton, 

secretary of the International Missionary Council, Reverend Leslie B. 

Moss, secretary of the Conference of Missionary Societies of North 

America, and many others sat at Gandhi’s feet in his ashram in 

Sevagram. Pyarelal Nayyar took notes. Soon they were cross-examining 

him on his formula for the Czechs. “You do not know Hitler and Mus¬ 

solini,” one missionary said. “They are incapable of any moral response. 

They have no conscience, and they have made themselves impervious 

to world opinion. Would it not be playing into the hands of these dic¬ 

tators if, for instance, the Czechs, following your advice, con&onted 

them with non-violence?” 

"Your argument," Gandhi objected, “presupposes that the dictators 

like Mussolini and Hitler are beyond redemption." 
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Discussions of a similar and even more challenging character were 

provoked by Gandhi's counsel to the Jews. 

Gandhi wrote in Harijan, November ii, 1938: 

My sympathies are all with the Jews. 'They have been the untouch¬ 

ables of Christianity. ... A Jewish friend has sent me a book called 

The Jewish Contribution to Civilization, by Cecil Roth. It gives a record 

of what the Jews have done to enrich the world’s literature, art, music,, 

drama, science, medicine, agriculture, etc. . . . the German persecu¬ 

tion of the Jews seems to have no parallel in history. The tyrants of 

old never went so mad as Hitler seems to have done. If there ever could 

be a justifiable war in the name of and for humanity, war against 

Germany to prevent the wanton persecution of a whole race would be 

completely justified. But I do not believe in any war. .. . 

Can the Jews resist this organized and shameless persecution? . . . 

If I were a Jew and were bom in Germany and earned my livelihood 

there, I would claim Germany as my home even as the tallest gentile 

German might, and challenge him to shoot me or cast me in the 

dungeon. . . . And for doing this I should not wait for the fellow 

Jews to join me in civil resistance, but would have confidence that in 

the end the rest were bound to follow my example. If one Jew or all the 

Jews were to accept the prescription here offered, he or they cannot be 

worse off than now. . . . The calculated violence of Hitler may even 

result in a general massacre of the Jews by way of his first answer to 

the declaration of such hostilities. But if the Jewish mind could be 

prepared for voluntary sacrifice, even the massacre I have imagined 

could be turned into a day of thanksgiving that Jehovah had wrought 

deliverance of the race even at the hands of a tyrant. For to the God¬ 

fearing, death has no terror. . . . 

The Jews of Germany can offer Satyagraha under infinitely better 

auspices than the Indians of South Africa. The Jews are a compact, 

homogeneous community in Germany. They are far more gifted than 

the Indians of South Africa. And they have organized world opinion 
behind them. I am convinced that if someone with courage and vision 

can arise among them to lead them in non-violent action, the winter 

of their despair can in the twinkling of an eye be turned into the 

summer of hope. And what has today become a degrading manhunt 

can be turned into a calm and determined stand offered by unarmed 
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men and women possessing the strength of suffering given to them by 

Jehovah. . . . The German Jews will score a lasting victory over the 

German gentiles in the sense that they will have converted the latter to 

an appreciation of human dignity. 

The Nazi press assaulted Gandhi savagely for these words. It threat¬ 

ened reprisals against India. '1 should rank myself a coward/' he replied, 

*'if for fear of my country or myself or Indo-German relations being 

harmed^ I hesitated to give what I felt in the innermost recesses of my 

heart to be one hundred per cent sound advice/' 

The missionaries questioned him closely on his statements about the 

Jews. “To be truly non-violent," he said, “I must love [my adversary] 

and pray for him even when he hits me." The Jews should pray for 

Hitler. “If even one Jew acted thus, he would save his self-respect and 

leave an example which, if it became infectious, would save the whole 

of Jewry and leave a rich heritage to mankind besides." 

Herman Kallenbach was living in Sevagram Ashram at the time. 

“He has an intellectual belief in non-violence," Gandhi remarked, “but 

he says he cannot pray for Hitler. ... I do not quarrel with him over 

his anger. He wants to be non-violent, but the sufferings of his fellow 

Jews are too much for him to bear. What is true of him is true of thou¬ 

sands of Jews who have no thought even of loving the enemy.' With 

them, as with millions, ‘revenge is sweet, to forgive is divine.'" There 

were few divine Jews or Christians or Hindus. Only one little Hindu 

and very few of his friends were capable of divine forgiveness. 

Jewish Frontiery a New York magazine, riddled Gandhi's proposal 

in March, 1939, and sent him a copy. He quoted at length from the 

attack. “I did not entertain the hope • . . that the Jews would be at 

once converted to my view," Gandhi replied. “I should have been sat¬ 

isfied if even one Jew had been fully convinced and converted. . . . 

It is highly probable that, as the [Jewish Frontier] writer says, ‘A Jewish 

Gandhi in Germany, should one arise, could function for about five 

minutes and would be promptly taken to the guillotine.' But that does 

not disprove my case or shake my belief in the efficacy of non-violence. 

I can conceive the necessity of the immolation of hundreds^ if not 

thousands, to appease the hunger of dictators. . . . Sufferers need not 

see the result during their lifetime. . . . The method of violence gives 

no greater guarantee than that of non-violence. . • ." Millions sacrifice 
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themselves in war without any guarantee that the world will be better 
as a result or even that the enemy will be defeated. Yet who does not 
fiercely resent the sugg^don that anybody die in deliberate non-violent 
sacrifice? 

I mentioned the subject to Gandhi in 1946 when Hitler was dead. 
“Hitler,” Gandhi said, “killed five million Jews. It is the greatest crime 
of our time. But the Jews should have offered themselves to the butcher’s 
knife. They should have thrown themselves into the sea from cliffs.... 
It would have aroused the world and the people of Germany. ... As 
it is they succumbed anyway in their millions.” 

Gandhi in 1938 and 1939 was seeking a moral substitute for the 
impending war. He knew his ideas would be rejected. But he had to 
express them. 

In £)ecember, 1938, Mr. Takaoka, a member of the Japanese Parlia¬ 
ment, came to Sevagram. He deliberately avoided the subject of the 
Sino-Japanese war; he asked how unity could be achieved between 
India and Japan. 

"It can be possible,” Gandhi replied harshly, “if Japan ceases to throw 
its greedy eyes on India.” 

Takaoka requested a message for the Japanese party which advocated 
Asia for the Asiatics. “I do not subscribe to the doctrine of Asia for the 
Asiatics if it is meant as an anti-European combination,” Gandhi af¬ 
firmed. (Pyarelal published the interview in the December 24, 1938, 
Harijan.') "How can we have Asia for the Asiatics unless we are con¬ 
tent to let Asia remain a frog in the well? . . .” 

A lady cabled from London to Gandhi on August 24th, the day after 
the Stahn-Hitler pact was signed, "Please act. World awaiting lead.” 
The war was a week off. Another woman wirelessed from England, 
“Urge you consider immediate expression of your unshakable faith in 
reason not force to rulers and all peoples.” Similar urgent messages 
deluged Sevagram. 

It was too late. On September 1,1939, the Nazi army invaded Poland. 
Sunday, September 3, 1939, 11 a.m.: British churches were filled; 

the British government declared war on Germany. I spent that after¬ 
noon in the country outside Paris. At 5 p.m. a lone plane flew overhead. 
The radio annotmced that France had gone to war. We drove back to 
town. Women stood in the streets of little towns gazing morosely into 



Winston S. Churchill versus Mohandas K. Gandlu 349 

nowhere, into the bleak iFuture. Some bit their fingernails. Our car 
paused for a long line of farm horses requisitioned by the army—heavy, 
well-groomed, powerful horses. A farmer put his arm around the neck 
of his horse, put his cheek against its head, and talked into its ear. The 
horse shook its head up and down. They were saying good-by. Bef(»e 
it was over in 1945, more than thirty million persons in all parts of the 
world said good-by to life. More than thirty million dead men, women, 
and children; more than a hundred million wounded, hurt, and inca¬ 
pacitated; millions of homes smashed; atom bombs dropped on two 
cities; hopes destroyed; ideals soured; moral values questioned. 

“We have too many men of science, too few men of God,” General 
Omar N. Bradley, Chief of Staff, United States Army, said in Boston 
on November 10, 1948. “We have grasped the mystery of the atom and 
rejected the Sermon on the Mount. . . . The world has achieved bril¬ 
liance without wisdom, power without conscience. Ours is a world of 
nuclear giants and ethical infants. We know more about war than we 
know about peace, more about killing than we know about living.” 

Gandhi rejected the atom and grasped the Sermon on the Mount. 
He was a nuclear infant and an ethical giant. He knew nothing about 
killing and much about living in the 20th century. 

Only those who have no doubts can reject Gandhi completely. 

CHAPTER THIRTY-SEVEN 

Winston S. Churchill versus Mohandas K. Gandhi 

The day the Second World War started, England took India into the 
war by proclamation without consulting any Indians. India resented 
this additional proof of foreign control. The next day, nevertheless, 
Gandhi boarded the first Delhi train to Simla in response to a tele¬ 
graphic summons from the Viceroy, Lord Linlith^w, to come to the 
summer capital. 'We Do Not Want Any Understanding,” the public 
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at the station chanted as the Mahatma walked to the train. It was his 
day of silence, so he smiled and departed. 

The Viceroy and the Mahatma discussed the nature of the coming 
hostilities, “and as I was picturing before him the House of Parliament 
and the Westminster Abbey and their possible destruction, I broke 
down. I have become disconsolate. In the secret of my heart I am in 
perpetual quarrel with God that He should allow such things to go on.” 

Gandhi had a “daily quarrel" with God; non-violence had failed; 
God had failed. But at the end of each quarrel, the Mahatma decided 
that “neither God nor non-violence is impotent. Impotence is in men. 
I must try on without losing faith.” 

Gandhi blamed Hider for the war. “Rightly or wrongly, and irre¬ 
spective of what the other powers have done before under similar cir¬ 
cumstances,” he wrote in Harijan of September i6, 1939, “I have come 
to the conclusion that Hen Hitler is responsible for the war. I do not 
judge his claim. It is highly probable that his right to incorporate Danzig 
is beyond question if the Danzig Germans desire to give up their inde¬ 
pendent status. It may be that his claim to appropriate the Polish Cor¬ 
ridor is a just claim. My complaint is that he will not let the claim be 
examined by an independent tribunal.” 

Critics said he had talked “sentimental twaddle” in the Simla inter¬ 
view with the Viceroy. “My sympathy for England and France,” 
Gandhi replied, “is not the result of momentary emodon or, in cruder 
language, of hysteria.” Equally, “My whole heart is with the Poles in 
the unequal struggle in which they are engaged for the sake of their 
freedom.” 

Hiderism, Gandhi declared, “means naked ruthless force reduced to 
an exact science and worked with sciendfic precision.” It was thoroughly 
abhorrent to him. 

But what could he do? In addition to his daily debate with God, 
Gandhi was involved in an interminable argument with Congress which, 
he admitted, echoed the views of most ardculate Indians. With Gandhi 
non-violence was a creed, with Congress it “was always a policy.” Con¬ 
gress adopted non-violence for the expected gains. Gandhi wanted non- 
violoice irrespecdve of the fruits. 

The day after war's be^nning, Gandhi pledged publicly that he 
would not embarrass the British government. He would also lend moral 
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support to England and her allies; even one who disapproves of war 
should distinguish between aggressor and defender. Further than this, 
however, he could not go; he could riot participate in the war nor 
would he defend India against an aggressor. He did not want India to 
have an army or to use police against Hindu-Moslem rioters. A con* 
stabulary to deal gently with bandits and professional hooligans was 
the maximum violence he might countenance. 

Congress, on the other hand, was ready to support the war effort if 
specified conditions were satisfied. 

From these different positions, Gandhi and Congress fought a friendly 
but hard battle. 

On September 14, 1939, the Working or Executive Committee of 
Congress issued a manifesto which condemned Fascist aggression in 
Poland yet recalled that the Western democracies had condoned or not 
opposed similar developments in Manchuria, Abyssinia, Spain, and 
Czechoslovakia; it said the Western democracies must shed their own 
imperialism before they could convincingly contend that they were 
fighting imperialism and not merely rivals. "A free democratic India 
will gladly associate herself with other free nations for mutual defence 
against aggression and for economic co-operation. . . .” 

Gandhi was present, as a guest, during the four days of discussion that 
fathered this manifesto. After its adoption, he revealed that Jawaharlal 
Nehru had drafted it. “I was sorry,” Gandhi commented, “to find myself 
alone in thinking that whatever support was to be given to the British 
should be given unconditionally” and non-violently. Gandhi disliked 
the tit-for-tat offer: India will fight if you make India free. Nevertheless, 
he commended the manifesto to the country: “I hope that the statement 
will receive the unanimous support of all parties among Congressmen." 

How could he do this, the critics howled; how could he appeal for 
support of a view he had opposed? “I would not serve the cause of non¬ 
violence,” he replied, "if I deserted my best co-workers because they 
could not follow me in an extended application of non-violence. I there¬ 
fore remain with them in the faith that their departure from the non¬ 
violent method will be confined to the narrowest field and will be 
temporary.” 

Haven’t you changed your mind since 1918, some chided. 
“At the time of writing,” he retorted, “I never think of what I have 
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said before. My aim is not to be consistent with my previous statements 
(HI a g^ven question, but to be consistent with the truth as it may present 
itsdf to me at a given moment. The result is that I have grown from 
truth to truth. . . 

Gandhi went beyond his plea for support of a manifesto that con¬ 
flicted with his views; he made himself its spokesman in an interview 
with the Viceroy on September 26th. Lord Linlithgow replied on 
October 17th; England could not yet define her war aims. He cautioned 
India against a too rapid advance toward self-government. After the war, 
there would be change in the direction of Dominion Status, he said. 

Five days later, accordingly, the Working Committee voted against 
aiding Britain. It also instructed the Congress ministries of the provinces 
to resign. Gandhi saw Congress coming closer to him. 

Hider overran Norway, Denmark, Holland, and Belgium. France 
was next. Britain’s stock was low in India. "Let us strike now,” many 
Indians urged. 

Gandhi replied in Harijan on June i, 1940: "I am of the opinion 
that we should wait dll the heat of the battle in the heart of the Allied 
countries subsides and the future is clearer than it is. We do not seek 
our independence out of Britain’s ruin. That is not the way of non¬ 
violence.” 

Time was working for Indian independence. "We are nearing our 
goal without having fired a single shot,” Gandhi said. He wanted only 
the right to preach non-violence. 

France surrendered to Hitler. Panic, and in places hope, seized India. 
There were runs on banks. Gandhi called for order. Soberly he pre¬ 
dicted that "Britain will die hard and heroically even if she has to. We 
may hear of reverses, but we will not hear of demoralization.” 

Whenever Congress rejected Gandhi’s pacifism and volunteered to 
aid the British, he did not interfere. Whenever Congress agreed with 
him and wanted to hinder the war effort, he, objected. 

The Working Committee met in Wardha to review the war crisis. 
On June 21, 1940, it plainly stated that it could not “go to the full 
length with Gandhi” on non-violence. "So, for the first time,” Nehru 
wrote in his autobiography, Gandhi "went one way and the Congress 
Working Committee another. . . .” 

"1 am both happy and unhappy over the result,” Gandhi affirmed. 
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"Happy because I have been able to bear the strain of the break and 
have been given the strength to stand alone. Unhappy because my word 
seemed to lose the power to carry with me those whom it was my proud 
privilege to carry all these many years.” 

The Viceroy summoned the Mahatma for another audience on June 
29th. Lord Linlithgow recognized Gandhi’s indestructible influence; 
he intimated that Britain was ready to grant Indians a broader share in 
the Indian government. 

The Working Committee met in Delhi early in July to weigh the 
offer. Gandhi had no use for it. He encountered the astute opposition 
of Rajagopalachari, the Mahatma’s warm friend. Rajagopalachari con¬ 
verted Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel, the Mahatma’s loyal lieutenant Only 
Ghaffar Khan, the "Frontier Gandhi,” sided with the Mahatma. 

Gandhi printed a report of the proceedings; Rajagopalachari “thinks 
that I suffer from obsession owing to too much brooding on non¬ 
violence. He almost thinks that my vision is blurred. It was no use 
returning the compliment though half-joking I did. ... I at once saw 
as clear as daylight that, if my position was not acceptable, Rajaji's was 
the only real alternative. I therefore encouraged him to persist in his 
effort, though all the time I held him to be hopelessly in the wrong.” 
Rajaji, or Rajagopalachari, won a big majority; five abstained. 

Gandhi failed to convince Congress of the wisdom of pure pacifism 
in the midst of a war. Ail acknowledged that he could have killed 
Rajaji’s resolution; indeed, one firm request from the Mahatma and 
Rajaji would probably have w'ithdrauTi it. That would have been dicta¬ 
tion, however, and Gandhi believed too much in personal liberty to 
exploit his power to make men vote or act against their will. He pre- 
fened to break with Congress rather than break its leaders. 

The Rajaji resolution, adopted, despite Gandhi’s disapproval, on 
July 7th, announced that if India were given complete independence 
and a central Indian government "it will enable Congress to throw its 
full weight in the efforts for the effective organization of the defence 
of the country”; free India would wag^ war as one of the allies. 

Winston Churchill was Prime Minister of Great Britain and stirring 
England to gallant resistance. He had, through the years, made niuner- 
ous statements against Indian independence. He now had the power 
to prevent it. On August 8th, accordingly, Linlithgow stated that he 
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would invite a number of Indians to join his Executive Council and 
establish a War Advisory Council to meet regularly, but, in the para¬ 
phrase of Lord Pethick-Lawrence who became Secretary of State for 
India in 1945, “Britain could not divest herself of the responsibilities 
which her long association with India had imposed on her.” This fore¬ 
shadowed Churchill’s famous dictum of November 10, 1942: “I have 
not become the King’s First Minister in order to preside at the liquida¬ 
tion of the British Empire.” 

Nor, said Linlithgow, could His Majesty’s Government contemplate 
the transfer of their present responsibilities to any Indian government 
whose authority was directly denied by large and powerful elements 
of the population. This indicated that Britain would not allow Congress 
to rule India without Moslem consent. It was the first time Britain gave 
the Moslem community a veto on India’s political future. 

Thoroughly incensed, the Working Committee, according to Lord 
Pethick-Lawrence’s summary of its resolution, “accused the British gov¬ 
ernment of rejecting their friendly and patriotic offer of co-operation 
and making the issue of the minorities an insuperable barrier to India’s 
progress.” 

'Thanks to Churchill, Congress again came back to Gandhi. 
Gandhi explained the new position in a speech to the All-India 

Congress Committee on September 15, 1940, in Bombay: “I do not 
want England to be defeated or humiliated. It hurts me to find St. 
Paul’s Cathedral damaged. ... It is not because I love the British 
nation and hate the German. I do not think the Germans as a nation 
are any worse than the English or the Italians. We are all tarred with 
the same brush; we are all members of the vast human family. I decline 
to draw any distinctions. 1 cannot claim any superiority for Indians. 
. . . I can keep India intact and its freedom intact only if I have 
goodwill towards the whole of the human family and not merely for 
the human family which inhabits this little spot of the earth called 
India.” 

He would ask to see the Viceroy. “I will tell him that this is the 
position to which we have been reduced: We do not want to embarrass 
you and deflect you from your purpose in regard to the war effort. We 
go our way, and you go yours. . . .” But Congress must have freedom 
to peach. Tf we cany the people with us, there will be no war effort 
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on the part of our people. If, on the other hand, without using any but 
moral pressure, you find that the people help the war effort, we can 
have no cause for grumbling. If you get assistance from the Princes, 
from the landlords, from anybody high or low, you can have it, but let 
our voice also be heard. If you accept my proposal... it will certainly 
be a feather in your cap. It will be honorable of you, althou^ 
you are engaged in a life and death struggle, that you have given us this 
liberty. . . . 

“The Viceroy," Gandhi anticipated, “may say, ‘you are a visionary.' 
I may fail in my mission, but we will not quarrel. If he says he is help< 
less, I will not feel helpless." 

The Viceroy said no, orally and in a confirming letter. 
Rebuffed, and eager to protest against the war and India’s helpless¬ 

ness, Gandhi proposed to fast, but he allowed himself to be dissuaded 
by Mahadev Desai and chose instead the alternative of civil disobedi¬ 
ence. He did not, however, launch a campaign of mass Satyagraha. He 
adopted a milder symbolic form which could not impede the war effort; 
he called on individuals selected by him by name to defy the official 
ban on propaganda against the war. He first pointed to Vinoba Bhave, 
a quiet, scholarly Gandhian. Bhave engaged in anti-war propagtmda, 
was arrested, tried, and sentenced to three months’ imprisonment. 

Next, Gandhi designated Nehru. He was arrested and tried. The 
judge gave him four years. 

Patel was chosen next; he informed the government of his intention 
and was arrested before he could make his speech. 

As a Christmas gesture and in order that harassed British officials 
might enjoy their holiday without being called out to make arrests, 
Gandhi suspended the civil disobedience from I>ecember 25, 1940, to 
January 4, 1941. In the interval, however, the government seized 
Maulana Abul Kalam Azad, the president of Congress. 

After a while, provincial and local Congress committees started sub¬ 
mitting to Gandhi lists of potential resisters. In sum, 23,223 persons 
were arrested, most of them in Nehru’s United Provinces. Gan^ had 
promised Congress to stay out of jail. 

The person-by-person civil disobedience continued for about a year 
to the end of 1941. It generated little public enthusiasm. People were 
dred of going to jail. 
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In December, 1941, the British government released those members 
of the Working Committee who had been imprisoned. The Second 
World War had taken a menacing turn: 

On December 7th, Japan struck at Pearl Harbor; the next day, 
Japanese forces occupied Shanghai and Siam (Thailand) and made a 
landing on British Malaya. Twenty-four hours later, the Tokyo navy 
sank two British battleships, the Repulse and the Prince of Wdes, thus 
crippling England’s naval strength in the Pacific. 

The war was moving closer to India. The situation uncovered the 
old split in Congress between the Gandhian non violent non-co-oper- 
ators and those who would barter support of the war effort for an Indian 
national government. Gandhi, accordingly, withdrew once more from 
the Congress leadership. 

Hong Kong fell to the Japanese late in December, 1941. The great 
British base of Singapore surrendered to the Japanese in February, 1942. 
In March, Japan occupied most of Java, Sumatra, and other islands of 
the Dutch East Indies. On March 9th, an imperial Tokyo communique 
announced that Rangoon, the capital of Burma, India’s neighbor, had 
been seized. 

In North Africa, Nazi General Rommel was moving east toward 
Egypt 'The Arabs of Palestine were preparing a friendly welcome for 
him. Observers talked of a possible German-Japanese junction in India. 
From Cairo to Calcutta gloom brooded over the fortunes of the United 
Nations at war. 

The American public was disturbed by the low war morale of the Indian 
people; having been a colony of Britain the United States understood 
India’s aspirations despite the propaganda fog. President Roosevelt sent 
Colonel Louis Johnson as his personal envoy to India; this was an 
extraordinary act, for India was not a sovereign state, and therefore all 
the more calculated to impress the British government with America’s 
concern. In London, United States Ambassador John G. Winant tried 
unsuccessfully to dissuade Prime Minister Churchill from stating pub¬ 
licly that the Atlantic Charter's self-government clause did not apply 
to India. In face-to-face White House and in transatlantic telephone 
conversations, Roosevelt had discussed India with Churchill and urged 
him to make an acceptable offer to the Indian people. Churchill never 
appreciated these prods. 
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Chiang Kai-shek, then in a key war position, made direct representa¬ 
tions to President Roosevelt and to the British government in favor of 
Indian independence. 

The Labor party was in the British wartime coalition government. 
Many of its members were friends of Indian freedom; Labor ministers 
reflected this attitude in Cabinet deliberations. 

Pressed on all sides, Churchill consented to send Sir Stafford Cripps 
to New Delhi with a proposal. But though the British Empire, and 
the Dutch, had lost valuable outposts, the optimistic, resilient British 
Prime Minister had more faith than ever in ultimate military victory, 
and for the cogent reason that Russia and the United States were now 
England’s partners. He was neither depressed nor defeatist about war 
prospects when Cripps went out to India. 

Tall, thin, austere vegetarian, son of a Labor Lord and nephew of 
Beatrice Webb, the famous Fabian Socialist writer, Stafford Cripps at¬ 
tended exclusive schools and became an unorthodox, left-wing Laborite 
Member of Parliament. A brilliant lawyer, he donated a large part of 
his huge professional income to political causes. 

When the Second World War opened. Sir Stafford abandoned his 
lucrative law practice, and in November, 1939, undertook a trip around 
the world to discover what people were thinking. He spent eighteen 
days in India, saw Jinnah, Linlithgow, Tagore, Ambedkar, Jawaharlal 
Nehru, and Gandhi. (Cripps was the same age as Nehru and twenty 
years younger than Gandhi.) The Mahatma lay ill on the floor of his 
hut, but as “a concession to your English bones” he provided a stool for 
Cripps. 

Sir Stafford drafted a plan for Indian constitutional changes which 
he presented to Lord Halifax, the former Irwin, now British Foreign 
Secretary, who filed it in the archives. Cripps’ interest in India was 
recalled when crisis clouds darkened the horizca of Asia in the winter 
of 1942. Meanwhile, his prestige had risen enormously because he was 
serving as British Ambassador in Moscow when Hitler invaded Russia. 
He had been appointed to the small inner War Cabinet and was often 
mentioned as Churchill’s successor. 

Cripps arrived in New Delhi on March 22, 1942, and the same day 
commenced his conferences with British officials. On the 25th, Maulana 
Abul Kalam Azad called at 3 Queen Victoria Road, where Cripps was 



358 The Life of Mahatma Gandhi 

staying. Thetewith began the negotiations with representative Indians. 
Gandhi was in his ashram. He received a telegram from Cripps 

politely asking him to come to Delhi. “I did not wish to go,” Gandhi 
said to me in June, 1942, when I interviewed him at Sevagram, “hut I 
went because I thought it would do some good.” 

On March 27th, at 2:15 p.m., Gandhi arrived at 3 Queen Victoria 
Road and remained with Cripps until 4:25 p.m. Sir Stafford showed 
the Mahatma the as-yet-unpublished proposals of His Majesty’s Gov* 
emment “After a brief study,” Gandhi told me in Sevagram, “1 said to 
Cripps, 'Why did you come if this is what you have to offer? If this is 
your entire proposal to India, I would advise you to take the next plane 
home.”' 

‘1 will consider that,” Cripps replied. 
Cripps did not go home. He proceeded with the conversations. Gandhi 

went home to Sevagram. After that first talk, he had no contact with 
Cripps. 

The deliberations continued tmtil April 9th when Congress finally 
rejected the Cripps offer. Later, the Moslem League, the Sikhs, Hindu 
Mahasabha, the Harijans, and Liberals rejected it. Nobody accepted it. 
The Oripps Mission failed. 

On April 12th, Sir Stafford went home. 
The "Draft Declaration by His Majesty’s Government” brought to 

India by Cripps consisted of Articles A, B, C, and D which dealt with 
the postwar period, and Article E which dealt with India’s war effort. 
The first four articles provided for a fuILfledged Dnminion which, as 
Cripps explained to a press conference, could vote itself out of the 
Commonwealth. 

Congress, and Gandhi, would have accepted that. 
An assembly consisting entirely of Inmans would, after the war, 

frame a constitution for India; the representatives in that body of British 
India would be elected. But one-third of the constituent assembly would 
be appointees of the princes of India with whom the British had con* 
siderable influence. 

This did not satisfy Indians who feared that England would seek to 
retain power in India by manipulating the autocratic maharajas. 

Moreover, any province could, if it did not like the future constitu* 
tion, rrfuse to accede to the Indian Union. With such non-acceding 
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Provinces,” reads the Draft Declaration, "should they desire, His Maj¬ 
esty’s G}vemment will be prepared to agree upon a new constitution, 
gjving them the same full status as the Indian Union. . . 

This could have led to the establishment of many Indias, a Hindu 
India, a Moslem India, a Princely India, perhaps a Sikh India. But 
Gandhi had said that the vivisection of India was a sin. 

The Cripps terms of the future, postwar settlement violated basic 
Congress and Gandhian principles. That Azad, Nehru, and Raja- 
gopalachari, the Congress spokesmen, should nevertheless have negoti¬ 
ated with Cripps shows how eager they were to come to an agreement 
about the present. 

Article E regarding the immediate wartime arrangement stated: "His 
Majesty’s Government must inevitably bear the responsibility for and 
retain control and direction of the defence of India as part of the total 
war effort” but invited the leaders of the Indian people to participate 
in it. 

Gandhi did not wish to fight this war and therefore Article E was to 
him unacceptable. Congress did wish to contribute to the war effort. 
But it found Article E vague and restrictive. All documents show that 
throughout the pourparlers with Cripps the efforts of Azad, Nehru, and 
Rajagnpalachari were directed to expanding the responsibility and ac¬ 
tivity of Indians in the war effort; the British, on the other hand, sought 
to limit them. It was on this point that the talks broke down. 

Official British sources blamed the failure of the Cripps mission on 
Gandhi’s pacifism. Others blamed Cripps and Churchill. Nehru said, 
"After Gandhiji left Delhi there was no consultation with him of any 
kind and it is entirely wrong to imagine that the rejection was due to 
his pressure.” Nehru reiterated this view in his book. The Discovery of 
India, published in 1946, years after the heat of the Cripps controversy 
had dissipated. 

In 1946, Gandhi said to me, "They have asserted that I had influ¬ 
enced the negotiations after I left Delhi. But that is a lie.” 

“Englishmen have told me,” I informed him, “that you telephoned 
from Sevagram to Delhi and instructed Congress to reject the Cripps 
offer. They declare they have a record of that conversation.” 

Tt is all a tissue of lies,” he declared. “If they have a record of the 
telephone conversation let them produce it.” 



360 The Life of Mahatma Gandhi 

It is easy to see how Gandhi’s pacifism would mislead people in inter¬ 
preting tire collapse of the Cripps talks. Gandhi rejected the Cripps 
offer because of Us pacifism and, too, out of devotion to the idea of a 
united India. Since Gandhi could at all times, whether or not he actively 
led Congress, bend it to his will, it would be natural to deduce that in 
rejecting the Cripps proposal. Congress obeyed Gandhi. This appears 
logical but it omits Gandhi’s psychology. On numerous occasions b^re 
Cripps, and on one subsequent occasion which determined the fate of 
Incha, Gandhi gave Congress a free hand even when he disliked the 
intended act of Congress. That was his non-violence. Non-violence was 
more than non-killing to Gandhi, more than non-hurting. It was free¬ 
dom. Had he coerced his followers, he would have been a violent dic¬ 
tator. He knew that many Congress leaders wished to participate in the 
conduct of the war. He would not interfere. 

Some day the official British and American reports on the Cripps 
mission (Louis Johnson functioned as intermediary at one stage) will 
be published. Several interesting documents have already been pub¬ 
lished: 

On March loth, the day before Churchill announced that Cripps 
was going to India, Roosevelt sent a long cable to Churchill about India. 
Dipping into American history between 1783 and 1789 for an analogy, 
the President suggested a stopgap government that would function for 
"five or six years.” "Perhaps,” Roosevelt declared, "some such method 
. . . might cause the people of India to forget hard feelings and to 
become more loyal to the British Empire. . . .” 

India, Roosevelt added in the cable to Churchill, is "none of my 
business” and “for the love of Heaven do not bring me into this, though 
I do want to be of help.” 

Robert E. Sherwood, who quotes this dispatch in his book, Roosevelt 
and Hopkins, declares, “It is probable that the only part of the cable 
with which Churchill agreed was Roosevelt’s admission that it is “none 
ttf my business. . . . Hopkins,” Sherwood continues, “said a long time 
later diat he did not think that any suggestions from the President to 
the Prime Minister in the entire war were so wrathfully received as 
those relating to the solution of the Indian problem. As one of Churchill’s 
closest and most affectionate associates has said to me. The President 
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might have known that India was the one subject on which Winston 
would never move a yard.’" An inch would be more like it 

On Sunday, April iz, 1942, Harry Hopkins was at Chequers, the 
Prime Minister's country residence, when he received a cable request 
from Roosevelt to do everything possible to prevent the breakdown of 
the Cripps negotiations; the President also wired Churchill saying, 

I am unable regretfully to agree with the point of view you express in 
your message to me that the American public believes the negotiations 
have failed on general broad lines. The general impression here is 
quite the contrary. The almost universal feeling is that the deadlock 
has been due to the unwillingness of the British government to concede 
the right of self-government to the Indian people notwithstanding the 
Indians’ willingness to entrust technical military and naval defense 
control to the competent British authorities. American public opinion 
cannot understand why, if the British government is willing to permit 
component parts of India to secede from the British Empire after the 
war, it is not willing to permit them during the war to enjoy what is 
tantamount to self-government. 

Roosevelt added, “I gather that last Thursday night [April 9], agree¬ 
ment was almost reached.” 

Cripps had been working eagerly for an agreement, and when the 
British government’s Draft Declaration was rejected he made a new 
offer to Congress. “Cripps,” Churchill told Hopkins, “had presented a 
new proposal to Nehru without consultation with the Governor General 
[Viceroy].” 

The new offer brought an understanding measurably near. ‘It was 
perfectly clear,” Hopkins reported, “that the Governor General was 
irritated with the whole business.” The Viceroy telegraphed Churchill. 
Churchill ordered Cripps to withdraw the new unauthorized proposal 
and return to England. 

Louis Johnson informed Roosevelt. Roosevelt wired Hopkins to see 
Churchill and try to reopen the negotiations. 

Churchill, “probably with some vehemence,” Sherwood suspects, re¬ 
plied to Roosevelt through Hopkins. The upshot of it was that he did 
not trust Congress. "Churchill said that he personally was quite ready 
to retire to private life if that would be any good in assuagjng American 
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public opinion. ...” In any case, the negotiations could not be re¬ 
opened because Cripps had already left India. “India was one area,” 
Hopkins fdt, “where the minds of Roosevelt and Churchill would never 
meet.” 

Obviously, the minds of Gandhi and Churchill would never meet. 
In 1935, Churchill had declared, “Gandhism and all that it stands 

for must ultimately be grappled with and finally crushed.” It stood for 
India's independence. For the first time since 1935, Churchill was in 
office. Cripps, the Labor anti-imperialist, was the victim of ChurchilL 
He was the envoy of the Churchill government, and "We mean to hold 
our own” was Churchill’s policy on India. Churchill regarded India as 
Britain’s property. How could he have authorized Cripps to give it 
away? Only when Churchill fell victim to Cripps’s Labor party did 
India win independence. 

Churchill and Gandhi were alike in that each gave his life to a single 
cause. A great man is all of one piece like good sculpture. Churchill’s 
absorbing purpose was the preservation of Britain as a first-class power. 
During the war he showed little interest in peace aims. He was bound 
to the past He was a product of the nineteenth century and he loved it. 
He loved Empire, royalty, and caste. Lloyd George despised the British 
upper classes, the generals, the nobility. He fought them. Churchill 
wanted to perpetuate them. His attachment was not so much to them 
as to the nineteenth century that made them. The nineteenth century 
was the British century, the century of Pax Britannica after the defeat 
dF Napoleonic France and before the rise of Kaiser Germany, the cen¬ 
tury of the flowering of the British Empire under Queen Victoria. 
Britain’s past glory was Churchill’s god. The upper classes were syn¬ 
onymous to him with the greatness of his country. So was parliamentary 
democracy. So was India. 

Churchill fought the Second World War to preserve the heritage of 
Britain. Would he permit the half-naked fakir to rob her of that her¬ 
itage? If Churchill could help it, Gandhi yvould not be striding up the 
steps of the Viceroy’s palace to negotiate or parley. 

From the time he became the King’s First Minister in 1940 to the 
day his par^ was ousted from office in 1945, Churchill waged war with 
G^dhi. It was a contest between the past of England and the future 
of Iiidia. 
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A British cartoonist once drew Churchill in a loincloth and, in die 
next panel, Gandhi in top hat, frock coat and striped trousers, smnlring 

a long cigar and carrying a cane and brief case. The device suggested 
how different they were under the surface. 

Churchill is the Byronic Napoleon. Political power is poetry to him. 
Gandhi was the sober saint to whom such power was anathema. The 
British aristocrat and the brown plebeian were both conservatives, but 
Gandhi was a non-conformist conservative. As he grew older Chiuchill 
became more Tory, Gandhi more revolutionary. Churchill loved social 
traditions. Gandhi smashed social barriers. Churchill mixed with every 
class, but lived in his own. Gandhi lived with everybody. To Gandhi, 
the lowliest Indian was a child of God. To Churchill, all Indians were 
the pedestal for a throne. He would have died to keep England free, 
but tried to destroy those who wanted India free. 

CHAPTER THIRTY-EIGHT 

My Week with Gandhi 

What an unhappy country! That was my first impression of India in 
May, 1942, and the impression was deepened by my two months’ stay. 
Rich Indians were unhappy, poor Indians were unhappy, the British 
were imhappy. 

One did not have to be in India for more than a few days to realize 
how abysmally poor the people were. American and many European 
farmers would consider it bad for business to keep their livestock in 
accommodations as unhealthy as the tenements I visited with Dr. 
Ambedkar in Bombay; hundreds of thousand's lived in them. Gandhi 
was fully dressed compared to the nakedness of peasants one saw in 
villages. The vast majority of Indians are always, literally alwa)^ 
hungry. 

"The expectation of life,” says the 1931 British official census repact 
on India, is "26.56 yeats for f^ales and 26.91 for males.” The average 
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perscm bom in India could look forward to only twenty-seven years of 
life. 

According to British figures, one hundred and twenty-five million 
Indians contracted malaria annually and only a few could afford a grain 
of quinine. Half a million Indians died of tuberculosis each year. 

Climate is only part of the explanation; an Indian community had a 
death rate five times higher than a neighboring British settlement. 

Despite disease and mortality, India’s population was increasing five 
million per year. This was the biggest problem of the nation. In 192!, 
India had 304,000,000 inhabitants; in 1931, 338,000,000; in 1941, 
388,000,000. In the same twenty years the area under cultivation was 
practically stable and industry did not appreciably expand. The poorer 
the country the higher the birth rate. The higher the birth rate the 
poorer the country. 

The British in India stressed their achievements. But they did not 
deny the cankers. They blamed the Hindu religion and Moslem back¬ 
wardness; Indians blamed England. It was an atmosphere in which 
work and life were becoming increasingly unsatisfactory for the British. 

Englishmen whose families had made India their career for more 
than a century knew that there was no future for them here. India did 
not want them, and they sensed it and were sad. Sir Gilbert Laithwaite, 
the Viceroy’s private secretary, and Major General Molesworth, Assist¬ 
ant to Wavell as Commander-in-Chief, bicycled to and from work imder 
the hot Indian sun to save gasoline though they had cars and drivers. 
Many of the British were good men, but India preferred to be ruled by 
bad Indians. Governing unwilling India was no longer "fun"; the British 
ofBcials were as sick of India as India was of them. Twenty years of 
Gandhi’s non-violence had destroyed their faith in the future of the 
Empire. 

A typical New Delhi university student delivered a passionate diatribe 
against Britain. I said to him, "Tell me, since you dislike the British so 
violently, would you want Japan to invade and conquer India?” 

"No,” he repU^, “but we Indians pay that God may give the British 
enough strength to stand up under the blows they deserve.” 

Some Indians went to the length of peferring Japan to England. 
No Indian party or group was supporting the war except the Gom- 

munists. After Hitler invaded Russia in June, 1941, they supported 
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Britain, and the British imperialists in India supported them but did not 
relish the unnatural liaison. 

I heard Nehru address a hundred thousand in Bombay. The Com¬ 
munists formed a heckling island in the vast ocean of brown faces and 
white clothes. “This is a people’s war,” they chorused. 

“If you think it is a people’s war go and ask the people,” Nehru 
shouted. That and the public’s hostile reaction silenced them. They 
knew he told the truth, and the British knew it too. 

"I would fight Japan sword in hand,” Nehru declared, “but I can only 
do so as a free man.” 

India could have been held if it had had no freedom, just as a dictator 
can rule by complete suppression. But the moment Nehru was free 
enough to say he was not free, India’s freedom was inevitable. That is 
why Gandhi always insisted on freedom of speech as the irreducible 
minimum. The British administrators in India saw this even when 
London did not. 

“We will be out of here two years after the war ends,” Sir Reginald 
Maxwell, Home Member in the Viceroy’s Council, told me in his home 
at dinner. He was in charge of police and internal order, and the Indians 
hated him, but he had no illusions because to him Empire was a daily 
grind while to Churchill it was romance. 

The Viceroy said to me, "We are not going to remain in India. Of 
course. Congress does not believe this. But we will not stay here. We 
are preparing for our departure.” 

Wlien I reported these opinions to Indians they did not believe them. 
They argued bitterly: Churchill and many lesser Churchills in New 
Delhi and the provinces will obstruct independence or vitiate it by 
vivisecting the country. 

Nehru said to me, “Gandhi has straightened our backs and stiffened 
our spines.” 

You cannot ride a straight back. 
Independence was near. But the present was so black that few could 

see the future. History had stood sdll so long in India that nobody fore¬ 
saw how fast it was about to move. Indians resented the sta^ation; it 
gave them a sense of frustration. 

In Bombay I talked to J. R. D. Tata, the head of the big steel- 
chemicals-airlines-textiles-hotels trust. His father was Parsi, his mother 
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Fiench; he speaks excellent English and French and is intelligent and 
cultured. He said he was unhappy because strangers ruled his country. 
On his desk stood several brighdy polished two-inch anti-tank shells 
which a Tata mill was making for the British—and a plastic plaque of 
Mahatma Gandhi. 

An American general stationed in India said "the British are like a 
drop of oil in a bucket of water.” 

The Viceroy talked about Gandhi. "Make no mistake about it,” he 
asserted. "The old man is the biggest thing in India. . . . He has been 
good to me. ... If he had come from South Africa and been only a 
saint he might have taken India very far. But he was tempted by politics. 
Make no mistake. His influence is very great.” 

Gandhi, he said, was now contemplating some kind of civil disobedi¬ 
ence campaign. “I have been here six years,” Lx>rd Linlithgow declared, 
"and I have learned restraint. I sit here until late in the evening study¬ 
ing reports and carefully digesting them. I will not take precipitate 
action. But if I felt that Gandhi was obstructing the war effort I would 
have to bring him under control.” He struck the desk with his hand and 
the four telephones tinkled. 

I said it would be bad if Gandhi died in jail. 
"I know,” the Viceroy agreed. “He is old, and you know you can't 

feed the old man. He is like a dog and can empty his stomach at will. 
... I hope none of this will be necessary but I have a grave responsibil¬ 
ity and 1 cannot permit the old man to interfere with the war effort.” 

Nehru was going down to Sevagram to consult the Mahatma about 
the contemplated civil disobedience action. I asked him to arrange an 
interview for me. Soon I received a telegram reading: "Welcome. 
Mahadev Desai." 

I got out of the train at the small town of Wardha, was met by an 
emissary from Gandhi, and slept on the roof of a Congress hostel; all 
night the orange-white-green Congress flag played a Morse code in the 
breeze. Early in the morning, 1 took a tonga with Gandhi’s dentist for 
Sevagram. (A tonga is a one-horse, two-wheel vehicle in which pas¬ 
sengers sit behind the driver with their backs to the horse.) I tried to 
make him talk about Gandhi's teeth. He talked about British politics. 

The tonga stopped where the dirt road met the village. There stood 
Gapdhi. He said, "Mr. Fischer,” with a British accent and we shook 
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hands. He greeted the dentist and turned around, and I followed him 

to a bench. He sat down, put his palm on the bench, and said, “Sit 

down.” The way he sat down first and the way he touched the bench 

with his hand was like saying, “This is my house, £ome in.” I felt at 

home immediately. 

Each day I had an hour’s interview with Gandhi; there was also an 

opportunity for conversation at meals; in addition, I walked with him 

once or twice a day. I usually arrived for the morning constitutional 

while he was still sitting on his bed in the open air eating mango pulp. 

Between spoonfuls he plunged into serious discussion. Breakfast fin¬ 

ished, he accepted a towel and a long, rectangular, narrow-necked, 

corked bottle of water from Kasturbai and washed his hands before 

starting on the stroll across nearby fields. Kasturbai, with sunken face, 

straight mouth, and square jaw, seemed to listen attentively, but I did 

not hear or see her say a single word to her husband during the entire 

week, nor he to her. At meals and prayers she sat slightly behind his 

left shoulder fanning him solicitously. She always looked at him; he 

rarely looked at her, yet he wanted her nearest to him and there ap¬ 

peared to be perfect understanding betw'een them. 

During walks, Gandhi kept his arms on the shoulders of two young 

girls or boys but moved forward with long quick strides and kept up a 

rapid conversation without losing breath or, apparently, tiring. The 

walk lasted no less than half an hour. When he returned I was ready 

fcv rest and leaned against a post while he continued to speak. 

Gandhi was well built, with fine muscular bulging chest, thin waist, 

and long thin firm legs, bare from sandals to short, tight loincloth. His 

knees were pronounced bulges and his bones wide and strong; his hands 

were big and the fingers big and firm. His chocolate-colored skin was 

soft, smooth, and healthy. He was seventy-three. His fingernails, hands, 

feet, body were immaculate; the loincloth, the cheesecloth cape he occa¬ 

sionally wore in the sun, and the folded, moistened kerchief on his head 

were bright white. Once a drop of yellow mango juice stained his loin¬ 

cloth and he scratched it intermittently during an hour. 

His body did not look old. He did not give one a feeling that he was 

old. His head showed his age. His head was large, wide at the top, and 

tapering down to a small face; big ears extended away from it abruptly. 

His upper lip, covered with a black-and-white stubble mustache, was 
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so narrow that it almost met the fat, down-pointed nose. The expression 

of his came from his soft and gentle eyes, the sensitive lower lip 

which cmnhined self-control with strength and showed suffering, and 

the ever-present smile revealing naked gums. (He wore his dentures 

rally for eating and took them out and washed them in public; he wore 

gold-rimmed bifocals; he shaved his face every day with a straight razor, 

but somedmes one of the men or women disciples shaved him.) 

His facial futures, with the exception of his quiet, confident eyes, 

were ugly, and in repose his face would have b^n ugly, but it was 

rarely in repose. Whether he was speaking or listening, it was alive and 

lettering actively. He spoke with a low, singsong, undistinguished 

voice (niany Indians have the same singsong when they speak English), 

and he gestured eloquently but not always, with the fingers of one hand. 

His hands were beautiful. 

Lloyd George looked like a great man. One could not help seeing that 

Churchill and Franklin D. Roosevelt had stature and distinction. Not 

Gandhi. (Nor Lenin.) Outwardly he had nothing remarkable about 

him; perhaps the lower lip. His personality was in what he was and 

what he bad done and what he said. I felt no awe in Gandhi’s presence. 

1 felt I was in the presence of a very sweet, gentle, informal, relaxed, 

happy, wise, highly civilized man. I felt, too, the miracle of personality, 

for by sheer force of personality, without an organization—Congress was 

a loose organization—or government behind him, Gandhi had radiated 

his influence to the far ends of a disunited country and, indeed, to every 

corner of a divided world. He did it not through his writings; few 

people anywhere had read his books, and his articles, though known 

abroad and republished widely in India, were not the source of his hold 

on people. He reached people through direct contact, action, example, 

and loyalty to a few simple, universally flouted principles: non-violence, 

truth, and the exaltation of means above ends. 

The big names of recent history: Churchill, Roosevelt, Lloyd George, 

Stalin, Lenin, Hider, Woodrow Wilson, the Kaiser, Lincoln, Napoleon, 

Metternich, Talleyrand, etc., had the power of states at their disposal. 

The only non-official figure comparable to Gandhi in his effect on men’s 

minds is Karl Marx whose dogma, however, was a prescription for a 

system of government. One has to go back centuries to find men who 

appealed as strongly as Gandhi did to the conscience of individuals. 
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They were men of religion, in another era. Gandhi showed that the 

spirit of Christ and of some Christian fathers, and of Buddha and of 

some Hebrew prophets and Greek sages, could be applied in modem 

times and to modem politics. He did not preach about God or religion; 

he was a living sermon. He was a good man in a world where few resist 

the corroding influence of power, wealth, and vanity. There he sat, four- 

fifths naked, on the earth in a mud hut in a tiny Indian village without 

electricity, radio, mnning water, or telephone. It was a situation least 

condudve to awe, pontificadon, or legend. He was in every sense down- 

to-earth. He knew that bfe consists of the details of life. 

“Now put on your shoes and hat,“ Gandhi said. “Those are two in¬ 

dispensable things here. Don’t get a sunstroke.” It was a no and prac¬ 

tically no shade except inside the huts which were like heated ovens. 

"Come along,” he said in a friendly tone of mock command. I followed 

him to the common dining hall which consisted of two long walls of 

matdng connected by a third back wall of the same material. Where 

one entered, the building was open to the elements. 

Gandhi sat down on a cushion near the entrance. At his left.was 

Kasturbai, on his right Narendra Dev, an Indian Socialist leader whom 

the Mahatma had undertaken to cure of asthma. I was Dev’s neighbor. 

'There were about thirty diners. Women sat apart. Several bright-eyed, 

brown-faced youngsters, between the ages of three and eight, were 

opposite me. Everyone had a thin straw mat under him and a brass tray 

in front of him on the ground. Male and female waiters, members of 

the ashram, moved noiselessly on bare feet, depositing food on the trays. 

A number of pots and pans were placed near Gandhi’s legs. He handed 

me a bronze howl filled with a vegetable mush in which I thought I 

discerned chopped spinach leaves and pieces of squash. A woman 

poured some salt on my tray, and another gave me a metal tumbler with 

warm water and another with warm milk. 'Then she came hack with 

two litde boiled potatoes in their jackets and so>ine soft, flat wheatcakes 

baked brown. Gandhi handed me one hard, paper-thin wheatcake from 

a metal container in front of him. 

A gong sounded; a robust man in white shorts stopped waiting on 

the trays, stood erect, closed his eyes leaving only a white slit open—it 

made him look blind—and started a high-pitched chant in which all 
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others, including Gandhi, joined. The prayer ended with "Shahnti, 

Shahnd, Shahnti" which, £)ev said, means “Peace." 

Everyone started eating with their fingers, fishing out the vegetable 

mush with a wheatcake folded in four. I was given a teaspoon and then 

some butter for the cake. Gandhi munched busily, stopping only to 

serve his wife, Dev, and me. 

"You have lived in Russia for fourteen years,” was his first political 

remark to me. “What is your opinion of Stalin?” 

I was very hot, and my hands were sticky, and I had commenced to 

discover my ankles and legs from sitting on them, so I replied briefly, 

“Very able and very ruthless.” 

“As ruthless as Hitler?” he asked. 

“At least.” 

After a pause, he turned to me and said, “Have you seen the Vice¬ 

roy?” I told him I had, but he dropped the subject. 

“You can have all the water you want,” he told me. ‘We take good 

care that it is boiled. And now eat your mango.” I began to peel it and 

several people, Gandhi too, laughed. He explained that they usually 

turned it in their hands and squeezed it to make it soft and then sucked 

on one end, but he added that 1 was right to peel it to see whether it 

was good. 

Lunch was at 11 and dinner just before sundotvn. Kurshed Naoroji, 

a member of the ashram and granddaughter of Dadabhai Naoroji, 

brought my breakfast—tea, biscuits or bread with honey and butter, and 

mango—to the mud-walled, bamboo-roofed guest hut where I lived. 

At lunch on the second day, Gandhi handed me a tablespoon for the 

vegetable dish. He said the tablespoon was more commensurate with my 

size. He offered me a boiled onion from his pot. I asked for a raw one 

instead; it was a relief from the flat food of the menu. 

At lunch on the third day, Gandhi said, “Fischer, give me your bowl 

and I vidll give you some of the vegetables.” I said I had eaten the mess 

of spinach and squash four times in two days and had no desire for 

more. 

"You don’t like vegetables," he commented. 

*1 don’t like the taste of these vegetables three days running." 

"Ah," he exclaimed, "you must add plenty of salt and lemon.” 

‘Tou want me to kill the taste,” 1 interpreted. 
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"No," he laughed, "enrich the taste.” 

"You are so non-violent you would not even kill a taste,” I said. 

"If that were the only thing men killed, I wouldn’t mind,” he 

remarked. 

I wiped the perspiration from my face and neck. “Next time I'm in 

India . . .” Gandhi was chewing, and seemed not to have heard me so 

1 stopped. 

"Yes,” he said, “the next time you are in India ...” 

"You either ought to have air<onditioning in Sevagram or live in the 

Viceroy’s palace.” 

"All right,” Gandhi acquiesced. 

He encouraged banter. One afternoon when I came to his hut for the 

daily interview, he was not there. When he arrived he lay down on his 

bed. “I will take your blows lying down,” he said, inviting questions. 

A Moslem woman gave him a mud pack for his abdomen, “lliis puts me 

in touch with my future,” he said. I did not comment 

“I see you missed that one,” he noted. 

I said I had not missed it but thought he was too young to think about 

returning to the dust. 

"Why,” he declared, “you and I and all of us, some in a hundred 

years, but ail sooner or later, will do it.” 

On another occasion he quoted a statement he had made to Lord 

Sankey in London; "Do you think,” he had said, “I would have reached 

this green old age if I hadn’t taken care of myself? This is one of my 

faults.” 

“I thought you were perfect,” I ventured. 

He laughed, and the eight or ten members of the ashram who usually 

sat in on the interviews laughed. (He had asked me whether I objected 

to their presence.) "No,” he declared, "I am very imperfect. Before you 

are gone you will have discovered a hundred of my faults, and if you 

don’t, I will help you to see them.” 

Usually the hour’s interview began with his finding the coolest place 

in the hut for me to sit. Then with a smile he would say, “Now,” 

inviting “blows.” As the hour was about to end he would, with an un¬ 

erring time s^se, look at his big "dollar” watch and proclaim, “Now, 

your hour is up.” He was minutely punctual. 

One day when I was leaving his hut after a talk, he said, “Go and sit 
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in a tub." 1 wondered whether that was the Indian equivalent of "go 

sit on a tack.” But crossing the sun-haked himdred yards between 

Gandhi’s hut and the guest hut, the heat made the inside of my head 

f^ dry and I ^dded that sitting in a tub would be a very good idea. 

In fact I thought I could improve on it. Adjoining the one livingroom- 

bedroom of the guest hut was a small water room with cement floor on 

which stood a variety of pots, pitchers, tubs, and bowls; an old woman 

kept them filled with water. Six or seven times a day I would step into 

this bathroom, slip off the two pieces of clothing and sandals I wore, 

and take a standing splash bath with the aid of a cup. 

The worst ordeal of the day was typing the complete record of my 

conversations with Gandhi and others in the ashram, and with Nehru 

who came for two days of that week. After five minutes I was tired and 

wet all over with perspiration. Stimulated by Gandhi’s suggestion to sit 

in a tub, I placed a small wooden packing case in one of the tin wash- 

tubs filled with water, put a folded Turkish towel on the packing case, 

then set a somewhat larger wooden packing case just outside the tub 

and placed my portable typewriter on it. These arrangements made, I 

sat down on the box in the tub and typed my notes. At intervals of a 

few minutes, when I began to perspire, 1 dipped a bronze bowl into the 

tub and poured the water over my neck, back and legs. By that method 

I was able to type a whole hour without feeling exhausted. The inno¬ 

vation stirred the ashram to mirth and jolly comment. It was not a glum 

community. Gandhi saw to that. He made eyes at the little children, 

provoked adults to laughter, and joked with all and sundry visitors. 

I asked Gandhi to be photographed with me. "If a photographer is 

around by accident,” he replied, "I have no objection to being seen on a 

photograph with you.” 

"That,” I said, “is the biggest compliment you have paid me.” 

"Do you want compliments?” he inquired. 

"Don’t we aU?” 

‘Tes,” Gandhi agreed, "but sometimes we have to pay too dearly for 

them.” 

During the week he inquired whether 1 knew Upton Sinclair, Dr. 

Kellt^g, the food specialist of Battle Creek, Michigan, and Mrs. Eleanor 

Roosevelt. But I noticed no general curiosity. He focused his attention 

on' issues which he could affect and on questions put to him. 
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I said I had been told that the Congress party was in the hands o( hig 
business and that he himself was supported by Bombay millowners. 
'‘What truth is there in these assertions?” 1 ptol^. 

‘‘Unfortunately they are true,” he affirmed. ‘‘Congress hasn’t enough 
money to conduct its work. We thought in the beginning to collect four 
annas [about eight cents] from each member per year and operate on 
that. But it hasn’t worked.” 

“What proportion of the Congress budget,” I pressed, “is covered by 
rich Indians?” 

“Practically all of it," he admitted. “In this ashram, for instance, we 
could live much more poorly than we do and spend less money. But we 
do not and the money comes from our rich friends.” 

(There is a famous quip attributed to Mrs. Naidu, which Gandhi 
enjoyed tremendously, to the effect that “it costs a great deal of money 
to keep Gandhiji hving in poverty.”) 

“Doesn’t the fact that Congress gets its money from the moneyed 
interests affect Congress politics?” I asked. “Doesn’t it create a moral 
obligation?” 

“It creates a silent debt,” he stated. “But actually we are very little 
influenced by the thinking of the rich. They are sometimes afraid of 
our demand for full independence. . . . The dependence of Congress 
on rich sponsors is unfortunate. I use the word ‘unfortunate.’ It does 
not pervert our policy.” 

“Isn’t one of the results that there is a concentration on nationalism 
almost to the exclusion of social and economic problems?” 

“No,” he replied. "Congress has from time to time, especially under 
the influence of Pandit Nehru, adopted advanced social programs and 
schemes for economic planning. I will have those collected for you.” 

Most of the money for the maintenance of Gandhi’s ashram and of 
Gandhi’s organizations for Harijan and peasant uplift and the teaching 
of a national language came from G. D. Birla, millionaire textile manu¬ 
facturer at whose house in New Delhi the Mahatma sometimes lived. 
Birla first saw Gandhi in 1920 in Calcutta. On Gandhi’s arrival at the 
railway stadon, Birla, then a young broker, and several friends un¬ 
hitched the horses of the Mahatma’s landau and pulled it through the 
streets. Birla became a devotee. He did not agree with some cS the 
Mahatma’s polidcs, but that did not matter; Gandhi was his “father,” 
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he says. Had Birla believed in the spinning wheel he would have had to 
close his mills, but he did not believe in it. After the death of Birla’s 
wif^ he nevn remarried and became a Brahmachari; that was probably 
part cd the bond between him and Gandhi. Gandhi first went to Birla’s 
house in 1933 for ten days. Subsequently, he stayed a number of times 
fw shorter or longer perils. Often, however, Gandhi prefened to make 
his headquarters in the Delhi Harijan colony near Kingsway; his up¬ 
keep there cost Birla fifty rupees a day. (The rupee is about one-third 
of a dollar.) The ashram, including its hospital and dairy, cost Birla an 
estimated fifty thousand rupees a year and he supported it after 1935; 
he never kept accounts of what he gave Gandhi. But Gandhi wrote out 
in his own hand every smallest item of expenditure and presented it to 
Birla who tore it up before Gandhi’s eyes without examining it. In addi¬ 
tion, Birla backed many welfare institutions in which Gandhi was 
interested. His entire outlay for Gandhian enterprises ran into millions. 
Gandhi’s friendship gave Birla prestige and satisfaction and perhaps 
even business advantage, for he learned many political secrets from the 
Mahatma. But had the occasion demanded, Gandhi might have led a 
strike of Birla’s mill workers, as he did in the case of his friend and 
financial backer, Ambalal Sarabhai of Ahmedabad. Gandhi was tolerant 
of capitalists even when he opposed capitalist exploitation; he was 
equally tolerant of Englishmen after he turned against the British Em¬ 
pire. He would undoubtedly have stayed in Churchill’s house. He was 
too sure of his purity and purpose to think he could be contaminated. 
To Gandhi nobody was an untouchable, neither Birla, nor a Commu¬ 
nist, nor a Harijan, nor an imperialist. He fanned the spark of virtue 
wherever he discovered it. He allowed for the diversity of human nature 
and the multiplicity of man’s motives. 

Early in the week I spent at the ashram in June, 1942, it became 
obvious that Gandhi was determined to launch a civil disobedience 
campaign with a view to making England "Quit India.” That was to 
be the slogan. 

Gandhi felt that unless England purg^ herself by quitting India the 
war could not be won and the peace could not be won. 

One afternoon, after Gandhi had talked at length about the reasons 
that were prompting him to start civil disobedience against the British 
government, I said, Tt seems to me that the British cannot possibly quit 
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India altogether. That would mean making a present of India to Japan; 
England would never agree, nor would the United States approve. If 
you demand that the British pack up and go bag and baggage, you are 
simply asking the impossible; you are barking up a tree. You do not 
mean, do you, that they must also withdraw their armies?” 

For at least two minutes Gandhi said nothing. The silence in the 
room was almost audible. 

“You are right,” Gandhi said at last. “No, Britain and America and 
other countries too can keep their armies here and use Indian territory 
as a base for military operations. 1 do not wish Japan to win the war. 
But I am sure that Britain cannot win unless the Indian people become 
free. Britain is weaker and Britain is morally indefensible while she 
rules India. I do not wish to humiliate England.” 

“But if India is to be used as a military base by the democracies, many 
other things are involved. Armies do not exist in a vacuum. For instance, 
the Western allies would need good organization on the railroads.” 

“Oh,” he exclaimed, "they could operate the railroads. They would 
need order in the ports where they received their supplies. They could 
not have riots in Bombay and Calcutta. These matters would require 
co-operation and common effort.” 

“Could the terms of this collaboration be set forth in a treaty of 
alliance?” 

“Yes,” he agreed, "we could have a written agreement. . . .” 
“Why have you not said this?” I asked. "I must confess that when I 

heard of your proposed civil disobedience movement I was prejudiced 
against it. I believed that it would impede the prosecution of the war. I 
think the war has to be fought and won. I sec complete darkness for 
the world if the Axis wins. I think we have a chance for a better world 
if we win.” 

“There I cannot quite agree,” he argued. "Britain often cloaks herself 
in the cloth of hypocrisy, promising what she later does not deliver. But 
I accept the proposition that there is a better chance if the democracies 
win.” 

“It depends on the kind of peace we make," I said. 
“It depends on what you do during the war,” he corrected. T am not 

interested in future promises. I am not interested in independence after: 
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die war. I want independence now. That will help England win the 
war.” 

“Why,” I again inquired, “have you not communicated your plan to 
the Viceroy? He should be told that you have no objection now to the 
use of India as a base for Allied military operations.” 

“No one has asked me,” he replied weakly. 
Several of Gandhi’s most intimate disciples were unhappy over his 

readiness to tolerate British and other armed forces in India. They felt 
his statement to me a serious blunder. He himself admitted publicly 
that he had changed his mind. “There was obviously a gap in my first 
writing,” he said in Harijan shortly after my interview with him. “I 
filled it in as soon as it was discovered by one of my numerous inter¬ 
viewers. Non-violence demands the strictest honesty, cost what it may. 
The public have therefore to suffer my weakness, if weakness it be. I 
could not be guilty of asking the Allies to take a step which would 
involve certain defeat. . . . Abrupt withdrawal of the Allied troops 
might result in Japan’s occupation of India and China’s sure fall. I had 
not the remotest idea of any such catastrophe resulting from my 
action. . . .” 

Before I left the ashram Mahadev E)esai asked me to tell the Viceroy 
that Gandhi wished to see him. 'The Mahatma was prepared to com¬ 
promise and perhaps to abandon the projected civil disobedience move¬ 
ment. In New Delhi, later, I received a letter from Gandhi for 
transmission to President Roosevelt. 'The accompanying note said, char¬ 
acteristically, “If it does not commend itself to you, you may tear it to 

• ff pieces. 
He was malleable. “Tell your President I wish to be dissuaded," he 

told me. He was deeply convinced, however, that India should be 
granted self-government during the war; if the anti-Axis powers did not 
understand this he would call it to their attention by a civil disobedience 
campaign. ‘Tour President,” Gandhi declared one afternoon, “talks 
about the Four Freedoms. Do they include the freedom to be free?” 

Gandhi felt that the democratic position on India was morally inde¬ 
feasible. Roosevelt or Linlithgow could dissuade him by changing the 
position. Otherwise he had no doubts. Nehru and Azad did. Raja- 
gopalachari had resigned from the Congress leadership because of his 
differences with the Mahatma. Gandhi could not be shaken. He con- 
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vinced Ndiru and Azad. Nehru had considered the foreign and domes*' 
dc situation inopportune. "I argued with him for days together," Gandhi 
reported. “He fought against my position with a passion which I have 
no words to describe.” Nehru's personal contacts, Gandhi explained, 
“make him feel much more the misery of the impending ruin of China 
and Russia. ... In that misery he tried to forget his old quarrel with 
[British] imperialism.” But before Nehru left the ashram “the logic of 
facts,” as Gandhi put it, “overwhelmed him.” Indeed, Nehru became 
such a staunch supporter of the proposed civil disobedience campaign 
that when I asked him subsequently in Bombay whether Gandhi ought 
to see the Viceroy, he replied, “No, what for?” Gandhi was still hoping 
for an audience with Linlithgow. 

I left the ashram on June loth in the automobile that took Azad and 
Nehru to the Congress hostel in Wardha. Several hours later, the car 
returned to Sevagram to fetch Gandhi for further consultations with 
the two Congress leaders. At 3 in the afternoon, Gandhi entered the 
hostel alone. Three-quarters of a mile from Wardha the car had broken 
down. Gandhi got out and walked the distance in the broiling Indian 
afternoon June sun. When he reached the house he was in a gay mood; 
if he suffered from fatigue it was not noticeable and must have retreated 
before the pleasure of being able to comment on the unreliability of 
“these new-fangled technical achievements of the industrial ag^.” 

He had great charm. He was a remarkable natural phenomenon, 
quiet and insidiously overwhelming. Intellectual contact with him was 
a delight because he opened his mind and allowed one to see how the 
machine works. He did not attempt to express his ideas in finished form. 
He thought aloud; he revealed each step in his thinking. You heard not 
only words but also his thoughts. You could therefore follow him as he 
moved to a conclusion. This prevented him from talking like a propa¬ 
gandist; he talked like a friend. He was interested in an exchange of 
views, but much more in the establishment of a personal relationship. 

Even when evasive Gandhi was frank. 1 was asking him about his 
dreams of the post-independence India. He argued back and forth. “You 
want to force me into an admission,” he said, “that we would need rapid 
industrialization. I will not be forced into such an admission. Our first 
problem is to get rid of British rule. Then we vrill be free, without 
restraints from the outside, to do what India requires. The British have 
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seen fit to allow us to have some factories and also to prohibit other 
factories. No, for me the paramount problem is the ending of British 
domination.” 

That, obviously, was what he wanted to talk about; he did not con¬ 
ceal his desire. His brain had no blue pencil. He said, for instance, that 
he would go to Japan to try to end the war. He knew, and immediately 
added, that he would never get an opportunity to go, and if he went, 
Japan would not make peace. He knew, too, that his statement would be 
misinterpreted. Tlien why did he make it? Because he thought it. 

. Gandhi asserted that a federal administration would be unnecessary 
in an independent India. I pointed out the difficulties that would 
arise in the absence of a federal administration. He was not convinced. 
I was baffled. Finally he said, T know that despite my personal views 
there will be a central government.” This was a characteristic Gandhi 
cycle: he enunciated a principle, defended it, then admitted with a 
laugh that it was unworkable. In negotiation, this faculty could be 
extremely irritating and time-wasting. In personal conversation, it was 
attractive and even exciting. He himself was sometimes surprised at the 
things he said. His thinking was fluid. Most persons like to be proved 
right. So did Gandhi. But frequently he snatched a victory out of an 
error by admitting it. 

Old people are prone to reminiscences. Lloyd George would com¬ 
mence to answer a question on current events and soon be talking about 
his conduct of the First World War or a campaign for social reform 
early in the century. At seventy-three, Gandhi never reminisced. His 
mind was on things to come. Years did not matter to him because he 
thought in terms of the unending future. Only the hours mattered be¬ 
cause they were the measure of what he could contribute to that future. 

Gandhi had more than influence, he had authority, which is less yet 
better than power. Power is the attribute of a machine; authority is the 
attribute of a person. Statesmen are varying combinations of both. The 
dictator’s constant accretion of power, which he must inevitably abuse, 
steadily robs him of authority. Gandhi’s rejection of power enhanced his 
authoity. Power feeds on the blood and tears of its victims. Authority is 
fed by service, sympathy, and affection. 

One evening I watched Mahadev Desai spin. I said I had been listen¬ 
ing carefully to Gandhi and studying my notes and wondering all the 
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time what was the source of his hold on people; I had come to the 
tentative conclusion that it was his passion. 

"That is right," Desai said. 
"What is the root of his passion?" I asked. 
"This passion," Desai explained, "is the sublimation of all the passions 

that Sesh is heir to." 
"Sex?" 
"Sex and anger and personal ambition. ... Gandhi is under his own 

complete control. That generates tremendous energy and passion." 
It was a subdued, purring passion. He had a soft intensity, a tender 

firmness, and an impatience cotton-wooled in patience. Gandhi's col¬ 
leagues and the British sometimes resented his intensity, firmness, and 
impatience. But he retained their respect, often their love, through his 
softness, tenderness, and patience. 

Gandhi sought approval; he was very happy when the great Tagore 
agreed vrith him. But he could defy the whole world and his political 
next-of-kin. 

Gandhi was a strong individual, and his strength lay in the richness 
of his personality, not in the multitude of his possessions. His goal was 
To Be, not To Have. Happiness came to him through self-realization. 
Fearing nothing, he could live the truth. Having nothing, he could pay 
for his principles. 

Mahatma Gandhi is the symbol of the unity between personal moral¬ 
ity and public action. When conscience dwells at home but not in the 
workshop, office, classroom and marketplace, the road is wide open to 
corruption and cruelty, and to dictatorship. 

Gandhi enriched politics with ethics. He faced each morning’s issues 
in the light of eternal and universal values. He always distilled a per¬ 
manent element out of the ephemeral. Gandhi thus broke through the 
framework of usual assumptions which cramp a man’s action. He dis¬ 
covered a new dimension of action. Unconiined by considerations of 
personal success or comfort, he split the social atom and found a new 
source of energy. It gave him weapons of attack ag^st which there 
was often no defense. His greatness lay in doing what everybody could 
do but doesn’t. 

“Perhaps he will not succeed,” Tagore wrote of the living Gandhi. 
“Perhaps he will fail as the Buddha failed and as Christ fail^ to wean 
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men from their iniquities, but he will always be remembered as one 
who made his life a lesson for all ages to come.” 

CHAPTER THIRTY-NINE 

Will Power 

In May, Jime, and July, 1942, one felt a suffocating airlessness in India. 
Indians seemed desperate. British generals, U.S. General Joseph W. 
Sdlwell and a small armed remnant, and thousands of Indian refugees 
were straggling out of Burma to escape the conquering Japanese. Japan 
was next door to India. England apparently lacked the strength to pro- 

I tect India from invasion. Vocal Indians were irritated and exasperated 
I by their utter helplessness. There was the national emergency; tension 
Iwas mounting; danger threatened; opportunity knocked; but Indians 
'had no voice, and no power to act. 

Gandhi found the situation intolerable. Resignation was alien to his 
nature. He believed and had taught a vast following that Indians must 
shape their own destiny. 

The Cripps mission awakened many hopes; India might gain the 
right to guide her fate. Now the hopes were dashed. Indians were to 
be supine spectators in an hour of decision. Anger swept the country. 

In the light of subsequent events, it appears clear that 1942 or 1943 
or 1944 was the best time to grant India independence. For, since Britain 
and other United Nations would keep their troops in the country as 
long as the war lasted, the transfer of power to a provisional Indian 
government could be achieved smoothly and with the least likelihood of 
riots, chaos, or attempts at a separate peace with Japan. Real power 
would remain in British hands. Tliis would have avoided the hundreds 
of thousands of deaths and the millions of human torments and tragedies 
which attended the liberation of India in 1947. 

Gandhi could not have foreseen the black future, but he did sense 
the ufgent need of an immediate change. He was determined to exert 



Witt Power 381 

maximum pressure on England (or the early establishment o( an inde¬ 
pendent national government 

Gandhi’s formula was: “not to put any obstacle in the way of the 
British forces”; not to assist the British actively; and to offer complete 
passive resistance to the Japanese. 

“If the Japanese come,” Indians asked, “how are we to resist them 
non-violently?” 

“Neither food nor shelter is to be given,” Gandhi replied in the Jime 
14, 1942, Harijan, “nor are any dealings to be established with them. 
They should be made to feel that they are not wanted. But of course 
things are not going to happen quite so smoothly as the question implies. 
It is a superstition to think that they will come as friendlies. ... If the 
people cannot resist fierce attack and arc afraid of death, they must 
evacuate the infested place in order to deny compulsory service to the 
enemy.” 

On July 26th, answering similar questions in Harijan, Gandhi wrote, 
"I would rather be shot than submit to Japanese or any other power.” He 
recommended the same preference to his friends. 

Gandhi, the absolute pacifist, would have wished India to give an 
unprecedented demonstration of a successful non-violent defeat of an 
invading army. Yet he was not so unrealistic as to forget that a fierce 
war to the death of countries raged. In Harijan, of June 14, 1942, 
Gandhi declared, “Assuming that the National government is formed 
and if it answers my expectations, its first act would be to enter into a 
treaty with the United Nations for defensive operations against aggres¬ 
sive powers, it being common cause that India will have nothing to do 
with any of the Fascist powers and India would be morally bound to 
help the United Nations.” 

Asked by Reuters in London to amplify this encouraging pronounce¬ 
ment, Gandhi cabled, “There can be no limit to what friendly inde¬ 
pendent India can do. I had in mind a treaty between the United 
Nations and India (or the defense of China against Japanese aggres¬ 
sion.” 

Would Gandhi, then, assist the war effort? No. United Nations 
armies would be tolerated on Indian soil, and Indians could enlist in 
the British army or render other help. But if he had anything to say, 
the Indian army would be disbanded, and the new Indian national 
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government would use “all its power, prestige, and resources” to bring 
about world peace. 

Did be expect this to happen? No. “After the formation of the Na¬ 
tional Government,” he said, “my voice may be a voice in the wilderness 
and nationalist India may go war-mad.” 

Nationalist India might well have gone “war-mad” if only to shake 
off the oppressive frustration of inaction. Nehru, Azad, and Rajagopal- 
achari were eager to have a national government for its own sake, to be 
sure, but also in order to fight the war. They were militantly anti-fascist. 
Nehru said, “We would fight in every way possible with non-violence 
and with arms, by making it a people’s war, by raising a people’s army, 
by increasing production. . . .” But if Britain did not enable them to 
do these things, they must continue the struggle for independence. 
"Passivity on our part at this moment,” Nehru declared, “would be 
suicidal.... It would destroy and emasculate us.” Fear of India’s emas¬ 
culation was an ever-present motive. “Today the whole of India is 
impotent,” Gandhi complained in the same context. In different ways, 
both Nehru and Gandhi were concerned with building up the manhood 
of their people. Gandhi wanted to give them inner strength through 
confidence. He inspired that feeling in his Indian and foreign visitors. 

As the summer of 1942 wore on, it became clear that London would 
not depart from the spumed Cripps proposal. Nehru had waited for a 
sign from Washington; he had hoped Roosevelt would prevail upon 
Churchill to make another move in India. No sign came. Some Con¬ 
gressmen wondered whether the country would respond to a call for 
dvil disobedience, and some feared that it would respond violently. 
Gandhi had no doubts. He was registering a nation’s blind urge to self- 
assertion. 

He did not contemplate the overthrow of the British government. 
“A non-violent revolution,” he explained, “is not a program of seizure 
of power. It is a program of transformation of relationships ending in a 
peaceful transfer of power....” 

“British rule in India must end immediately,” the Working Commit¬ 
tee of Congress resolved in Wardha on July 14th; foreign domination 
“even at its best" is an evil and a “continuing injury.” 'The frustration 
left by the Cripps Mission “has resulted in a rapid and widespread 
increase of ill-will against Britain and a growing satisfaction at the sue- 
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cess of Japanese arms. The Working G>mnuttee view this development 
with grave apprehension, as this, unless checked, will inevitably l^d to 
a passive acceptance of aggression. The Committee lu>ld that all aggres¬ 
sion must be resisted. . . . lire Congress would change the pesent ill- 
will against Britain into good-will and make India a willing partner in a 
joint enterpise. . . . This is only possible if India feels the glow of 
freedom." 

Congress, the resolution continued, did not wish to embarrass the 
Alli^ powers; it is therefore “agreeable to the stationing of the armed 
forces of the Allies in India. . . ." 

If this appal failed, the resolution concluded. Congress will "be 
reluctantly compiled" to start a civil disobedience campaign which 
“would inevitably be under the leadership of Mahatma Gandhi.” 

The resolution still required the approval of the largp All-India 
Congress Committee summoned to convene in Bombay early in August. 
From Sevagram, meanwhile, Gandhi issued an appal “To Every 
Japanese." “I must confess," he began, “that though I have no ill-will 
against you, I intensely dislike your attack upn China . . . you have 
descended to imprial ambition. You will fail to realize that ambition 
and may become the authors of the dismemberment of Asia, thus un¬ 
wittingly preventing world federation and brotherhood without which 
there can be no hop for humanity.” 

He warned Tokyo not to exploit the situation to invade India. ‘Tou 
will be sadly disillusioned if you believe that you will receive a willing 
welcome from India ... we will not fail in resisting you with all the 
might that our country can muster. . . .” 

Then he went to Bombay. To A. T. Steele, of the New York Herald 
Tribune, Gandhi said, “If anybody could convince me that in the 
midst of war, the British government cannot declare India free without 
jeopardizing the war effort, I should like to hear the argument.” 

“If you were convinced,” Steele asked, “would you call off the cam- 
pign?" 

“Of course,” Gandhi replied. "My complaint is that all these good 
people talk at me, swear at me, but never condescend to talk to me.” 

Linlithgow had talked to him in 1939 and 1940, but not thereafter. 
Several hundred Congress leaders assembled for the A.I.C.C. session 

on August 7th, and after deliberating all day of the 7th and 8th, they 
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adopted a slighdy modified version of the Wardha resolution; they 
dotted one t by declaring that an Indian government would resist aggres¬ 
sion "with all the armed as well as the non-violent forces at its com¬ 
mand”—this was an tui-Gandhian touch inserted by the Nehru-Azad 
school—and crossed one bridge before they reached it by cautioning the 
Congress rank and file that if their leaders were arrested and prevented 
from issuing instructions they must obey the general instructions which 
read, “non-violence is the basis of this movement.” 

Shortly after midnight of August 8th, Gandhi addressed the A.I.C.C. 
delegates. "The actual struggle does not commence this very moment," 
he emphasized. “You have merely placed certain powers in my hands. 
My first act will be to wait upon His Excellency the Viceroy and plead 
with him for the acceptance of the Congress demand. This may take 
two or three weeks. What are you to do in the meanwhile? I will tell 
3rou. There is the spinning wheel. . . . But there is something more you 
have to do. . . . Every one of you should, from this very moment, 
consider himself a free man or woman and even act as if you are free 
and no longer under the heel of this imperialism....” He was reversing 
the matenalistic concept that conditions determine psychology. No, psy¬ 
chology could shape conditions. “What you think you become,” he 
once said. 

The delegates went home to sleep. Gandhi, Nehru, and scores of 
others were awakened by the police a few hours later—before sunrise— 
and carried off to prison. Gandhi was sent into a palace of the Aga Khan 
at Yeravda, near Poona. Mrs. Naidu, Mirabehn, Mahadev Desai, and 
Pyarelal Nayyar, arrested at the same time, were quartered with him. 
The next day, Kasturbai got herself arrested by announcing that she 
would address a meeting in Bombay at which Gandhi had been sched¬ 
uled to speak. She and Dr. Sushila Nayyar, who had been giving her 
medical care, joined the Gandhi jail company. The British were very 
accommodating. 

In an interview with the Viceroy after my week with Gandhi I con- 
v^ed the message entrusted to me at Sevagram: Gandhi wished to talk 
with Linlithgow. The Viceroy replied, “That is a matter of high policy 
and will have to be considered on its merits”; 1942 was Churchill’s first 
opportunity in office to cope with a civil disobedience movement in 
India. The British government preferred suppression to discussion. 
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The moment the prison doors closed behind Gandhi the sluice gates 
of violence opened. Police stations and government buildings were set 
on fire, telegraph lines destroyed, raihoad ties pulled up, and British 
officials assaulted; a number were killed. Individuals and groups dedi* 
cated to destruction roamed the countryside. Soon a powerful under- 
ground movement sprang into existence led, in most cases, by members 
of the Socialist party, a segment of the Congress party. Socialist leaders 
Jaiprakash Narayan, Mrs. Aruna Asaf Ali, and others, poUdcal children 
of Gandhi but recent students of Karl Marx, acquired the halos of heroes 
as they moved secretly across the land fomenting rebellion. Staid citi¬ 
zens harbored and financed them while the British police hunted them. 
His Majesty’s writ no longer ran and his officials no longer appeared in 
many areas where Indians set up independent village, town, and district 
governments. These were, in most cases, skeleton structures whose 
propaganda value exceeded their administrative effectiveness. Yet in 
some regions, notably in Tilak's traditionally militant Maharashtra, it 
was not till 1944 that the British returned to rule. 

Even Gandhi was in a bellicose mood. With that irrepressible ability 
to take the center of the stage, the jailed Mahatma’s personality broke 
through the walls of the Aga Khan’s desolate palace and besieged the 
mind first of the British government and then of the Indian people. 

He was no sooner in jail than he wrote a letter to Sir Roger Lumley, 
the governor of Bombay, protesting against his own transportation from 
the train to the prison by automobile while his comrades went by motor 
truck. He wanted no privileges, he said, “except for the special food.” 
The palace, he wrote, was “commodious”; could not Sardar Patel, who 
had been ill, and his daughter who nursed him, be moved into it? The 
final point: on the train he had seen in a paper the government’s justi¬ 
fication of its policy; it contained “some grossly inaccurate statements 
which I ought to be allowed to correct. This and similar things I cannot 
do, unless I know what is going on outside the jail.” Yet newspapers had 
been forbidden to him. 

Lumley’s secretary replied he could not have newspapers or Patel. He 
might write personal letters to his family. 

Didn’t the government know, Gandhi answered, that "for over thirty- 
five years I have ceased to live a family Ufe” and had been living an 
ashram life? He wanted to be in touch with the various voluntary or- 
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jjnnizations he had (bunded for Harijan uplift, khadi, the development 
(d a national language, etc. The government then made a concession: 
he could write to ashram members on personal questions but not about 
the organizations. Gandhi refused to avail himself of the privilege. 

Gandhi now turned on the Viceroy. Ever since President Roosevelt’s 
intervention in the Indian crisis and Churchill’s offer to “assuage” 
United States public opinion by resigning, a gigantic propaganda battle 
had been going on to win American approval of British policy in India. 
Gandhi knew this. In his first letter from jail to the Viceroy on August 
14th, Gandhi accused the government of “distrwtions and misrepre¬ 
sentations.” 'The letter was many pages long. Linlithgow, addressing 
"Dear Mr. Gandhi,” answered in a paragraph that “it would not be pos¬ 
sible for me either to accept your criticism” or change the policy. 

Gandhi waited several months. On New Year’s Eve, 1942, he wrote, 
"Dear Lord Linlithgow, This is a very personal letter. ... 1 must not 
allow the old year to expire without disburdening myself of what is 
rankling in my breast against you. I have thought we were friends. . . . 
However what has happened since August 9 makes me wonder whether 
you still regard me as a friend. I have not perhaps come in such close 
touch with any occupant of your throne as with you.” Then he voiced 
what apparently hurt him most: “Why did you not, before taking drastic 
action, send for me, tell me your suspicions and make yourself sure of 
your facts? I am quite capable of seeing myself as others see me.” The 
government had charged that he was responsible for the violence 
throughout the country and expected him to condemn it. How could 
he when he had only the official version? By accusing him without giv¬ 
ing him freedom to reply, by holding him and his followers in prison 
despite their good intentions, the government had “wronged innocent 
men.” 

Therefore, Gandhi concluded, he had decided to “crucify the flesh 
fasting.” This was a last resort and he would be glad not to fast. 

"Convince me of my error or errors, and I shall make ample amends. 
You can send for me.. . . There are many other ways if you have the 
will.... May the New Year bring peace to us all! I am. Your sincere 
firiend, M. K. Gandhi.” 

The Viceroy received this letter fourteen days later; minor officials 
had delayed it He answered in a letter marked “Personal.” It was a two- 
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page lettor. Newspapers had been supplied to Gandhi’s prison after 
early period without them. He knew of the arson and murders. Lin* 
lithgow was therefore “profoundly depressed . . . that no word of con¬ 
demnation for that violence and crime should have come from you.” 
If Gandhi wished to dissociate himself from these acts “You know me 
well enough after these many years to believe that I shall be only too 
concerned to read with the same close attention as ever any message 
which I receive from you. . . . Yours sincerely, Linhthgow.” 

“1 had almost despaired of ever hearing from you,” Gandhi’s reply 
began. “Please excuse my impatience. Your letter gladdens me to find 
that I have not lost caste with you. My letter of December 31 was a 
growl against you. Yours is a counter-growl. ... Of course I deplore the 
happenings that have taken place since August 9. But have I not laid 
the blame for them at the door of the Government of India? Moreover, 
I could not express any opinion on events which I cannot influence or 
control and of which 1 have but a one-sided account. ... I am certain 
that nothing but good could have resulted if you had stayed your hand 
and granted me the interview which I had announced, on the night of 
August 8, I was to seek . . . convince me that I was wrong and I will 
make ample amends . . .” 

Linlithgow responded quickly saying he had no choice “but to regard 
the Congress movement, and you as its authorized and fully empowered 
spokesman ... as responsible for the sad campaign of violence and 
crime." He repelled Gandhi’s charge that the government was at fault. 
He asked the Mahatma to “repudiate or dissociate yourself from the 
resolution of August 8, and the policy which the resolution represents” 
and to “give me appropriate assurances as regards the future. . . .” 
He had asked the Governor of Bombay to forward Gandhi’s letter 
without delay. 

It was the government, Gandhi’s return letter stated, that "goaded 
the people to the point of madness.’’ The Congress resolution of August 
8th was friendly to the United Nations and to England. The govern¬ 
ment’s violence was “leonine.” The arrests started the trouble. Yet the 
Viceroy blamed him for the violence though he had worked all his life 
for non-violence. “If then I cannot get soothing balm for my pain, I must 
resort to the law prescribed foe Satyagrahis, namely, a fast according to 
capacity.” It would commence on February 9th, and end twenty-one 
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days later. 'Xlsually, during my fasts, I take water with the addition of 
salts. But nowadays, my system refuses water. This time therefore 1 
jHopose to add juices of citrus fruit to make water drinkable. For my 
wish is not to fast unto death, but to survive the ordeal, if God so wills. 
The fast can be ended sooner by the government giving the needed 
relief.” 

The Viceroy replied immediately, on February 5th, with a many*page 
letter. He sdll held Congress responsible for "the lamentable disorders.” 
Sir Reginald Maxwell, the Home Member of Linlithgow Executive 
Council, had made a full statement of this charge in the assembly and 
this would be sent to the prisoner. The letter reiterated the charge and 
added details. "Let me in conclusion say how greatly I regret, having 
regard to your health and age, the decision” to fast. He hoped he would 
not fast. But it was Gandhi’s responsibility. "I regard the use of a fast 
for political purposes as a form of political blackmail for which there is 
no moral justification, and understood from your own previous writings 
that this was also your view.” 

Besides, Gandhi had written that one may fast only against those who 
love you, not against a tyrant. 

By return post, Gandhi denied that his decision to fast was contrary to 
his previous writings. "I wonder whether you yourself have read those 
writings.... Despite your description of it as *a form of political black¬ 
mail,’ it is on my part an appeal to the Highest Tribunal for justice 
which 1 have failed to secure from you. If I do not survive the ordeal I 
shall go to the Judgment Seat with the fullest faith in my innocence. 
Posterity will judge between you as a representative of an all-powerful 
government and me a humble man who tried to serve his country and 
humanity through it.” 

Two days before the fast was to commence the government offered to 
release Gandhi for its duration. He and his associates in prison could go 
wherever they liked. Gandhi refused. If he was released, he said, he 
would not fast. 'Thereupon, the government announced that he would 
be responsible for any results; meanwhile, he could invite into the jail 
any doctors he wanted to have and also friends from the outside. 

The fast commenced on February 10, 1942, a day later than 
scheduled. 'The first day he was quite cheerful, and for two days he took 
his customary morning and evening half-hour walks. But soon the 
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bulletins became increasingly disquieting. On the sixth day, six 
physicians, including British official doctors, stated that Gandhi’s con¬ 
dition had "further deteriorated.” The next morning Sir Homi Mody, 
Mr. N. R. Sarker, and Mr. Aney, three Indians in the Viceroy’s Execu¬ 
tive Council, whose membership indicated their pro-government and 
anti-Congress attitude, resigned from the Council in protest against the 
government accusations which had caused Gandhi to undertake the fast. 
A debate on the fast took place in the Central Legislature. From all 
over the country, the government was bombarded with demands to 
release the Mahatma. Eleven days after the fast began, Linlithgow 
rejected all suggestions to liberate Gandhi. 

Dr. B. C. Roy came from Calcutta to attend Gandhi. The British 
physicians urged intravenous feeding to save the Mahatma. The Indian 
physicians said it would kill him; he objected to injections. The body 
could reject medicines taken orally, Gandhi always argued, but it was 
helpless before injections, and his mind therefore rebelled against them; 
they were violence. 

Crowds gathered around Yeravda. The government allowed the public 
to come into the palace grounds and file through Gandhi’s room. 
Devadas and Ramdas, his sons, arrived. 

Horace Alexander, the British Friend, attempted to intervene with 
the government. He was rebuffed. Mr. Aney, who had just resigned 
from the Viceroy’s Council, visited the sinking Mahatma. 

Gandhi had been taking water without salt or fruit juice. Nausea 
plagued him. His kidneys began to fail and his blood became thick. On 
the thirteenth day of the fast the pulse grew feeble and his skin was 
cold and moist. Kasturbai knelt before a sacred plant and prayed; she 
thought his death was near. 

Finally, the Mahatma was persuaded to mix a few drops of fresh 
moosambi fruit juice with the drinking water- Vomiting stopped; he 
became more cheerful. 

On March 2nd, Kasturbai handed him a glass containing six ounces 
of orange juice diluted with water. He sipped it for twenty minutes. He 
thanked the doctors and cried copiously while doing so. He lived <m 
orange juice for the next four days and then went on a diet of goat’s 
milk, fruit juice, and fruit pulp. His health improved sbwly. 

India’s prominent non-Cbngress leaders now started agitating for 
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Gandhi’s release and (or a new government policy o( conciliation. Sir 
Tej Bahadur Sapru and others asked permission to see Gandhi; Lin¬ 
lithgow refused. 

On April 25th, William Phillips, Roosevelt’s personal envoy in India, 
and former United States Under-Secretary of State, said to foreign 
correspondents before leaving for home, “I should have liked to meet 
and talk with Mr. Gandhi. I requested the appropriate authorities for 
permission to do so and I was informed that they were unable to grant 
the necessary permission.” 

Onlithgow’s behavior had induced unwonted bitterness in Gandhi, 
and when the Viceroy, whose usual five-year term had been prolonged 
because of the war emergency, was finally preparing to quit India, 
Gandhi wrote to him on September 27, 1943, as follows: 

Dear Lord Linlithgow, 
Qq the eve of your departure from India I would like to send you 

a word. 
Of all the high functionaries I have had the honour of knowing none 

has been the cause of such deep sorrow to me as you have been. It has 
cut me to the quick to have to think of you as having countenanced un¬ 
truth, and that regarding one whom you at one time considered your 
friend. I hope and pray that God will some day put it into your heart to 
realize that you, a representative of a great nation, have been led into 
a grievous error. 

With good wishes, 
I still remain. 
Your friend, 
M. K. Gandhi. 

Linlithgow replied on October 7th: 

Dear Mr. Gandhi, 
I have received your letter of 27th September. I am indeed sorry that 

your feelings about any deeds or words of mine should be as you 
describe. But I must be allowed, as gently as I may, to make plain to 
you that I am quite unable to accept yoiu interpretation of the events 
in question. 
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As for the conecdve virtues of time and reflection, evidently they are 
ubiquitous in their operation and wisely to be rejected by no man. 

I am sincerely, Linlithgow. 

Before and after the fast, Gandhi wrote long letters, some of which 
were of pamphlet length, to Sir Reginald Maxwell, Lord (formerly Sir 
Herbert) Samuel, and others, seeking to controvert their public asser¬ 
tions about events and conditions in India. But none of them was pub¬ 
lished, and his letter to Samuel, sent on May 15, 1943, was not de¬ 
livered in London until July 25, 1944. Throughout, Gandhi continued 
to maintain that he could “accept no responsibility for the unfortunate 
happenings” in India, that he was neither anti-British nor pro-Japanese, 
and that he could have been dissuaded from taking any steps against 
the government. 

The facts are: Gandhi never launched the civil disobedience move¬ 
ment. Congress had merely authorized him to launch it, but he had 
stated that it would not begin until he gave the order. First he would 
seek an interview with the Viceroy. The country was in a violent 
mood; Gandhi knew it; conceivably he might have chosen a form of civil 
disobedience, like the Salt March, which did not lend itself to mass 
violence. Had Gandhi remained at liberty he might have prevented his 
followers from engaging in the destruction of property and persons. He 
might have fasted against them. At least, he could have curbed the gen¬ 
eral violence. He would not have added to it. The British gained 
nothing from Gandhi’s arrest except the satisfaction, tempered by head¬ 
aches, of having him under lock and key. Gandhi’s freedom would have 
mollified many Indians. His arrest inflamed them. It deepened the wide¬ 
spread impression that England did not intend to part with power in 
India. Hence the revolt. It was intensified by the 1943 famine in Ben^ 
in which, according to British official figures, a million and a half 
Indians died. Indians said the government might have prevented the 
famine or, at a minimum, undertaken emergency feeding. That was 
one of Wavell’s first steps on ascending the Viceroy’s throne in October, 

*943- 
For Gandhi, this stay in prison was an unrelieved tragedy. The wide¬ 

spread violence and his inability to check it from jail made him un¬ 
happy. The government’s accusation that he was to blame for the 
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disturbances when it knew his devotion to non-violence and when it 
knew that be had never actually started civil disobedience impressed 
him as tinfair and untrue; the injustice pained him. It was to protest the 
charge—not to force the British to release him—that he had fasted. A 
perfect yop might have remained indifferent to what others said. 
Gandhi vras not completely detached. 

The tragedy was deepened by personal loss. Six days after Gandhi 
entered the Aga Khan's palace, Mahadev Desai, who was arrested with. 
him, had a sudden heart attack and lost consciousness. “Mahadev, 
Mahadev,” Gandhi called. 

Tf only he would open his eyes and look at me he would not die,” 
Gandhi said. 

“Mahadev, look, Bapu is calling you,” Kasturbm exclaimed. 
But it was the end. 
Mahadev Desai, who was past fifty, had served Gandhi devotedly and 

efficiently for twenty-four years as secretary, adviser, chronicler, friend, 
and son. The Mahatma was stunned by the death. He went daily to 
die spot in the palace grounds where the ashes were buried. 

Som a sdll greater personal sorrow overtook Gandhi. 
Gandhi spent much time in prison teaching his wife Indian 

geography and other subjects. She failed, however, to memorize the 
names of the rivers of the Punjab, and on examination by Gandhi, she 
said Lahore, which is the capital of the Punjab, was the capital of Cal¬ 
cutta, a city which is the capital of Bengal. He had as little success in 
his persistent efforts to improve her reading and writing of Gujarati. 
She was seventy-four. 

Ba, or Mother, as everybody called Mrs. Gandhi, still paid homage 
to Brahmans for their high-caste status and regarded them as possessing 
special endowments; she asked one Brahman who worked in the jail 
when they would be released. But she had rid herself of anti-untouch¬ 
able prejudices, was a regular spinner, and a sincere but not uncritical 
Gandhian. One day she was annoyed with Gandhi and said to him, 
“Didn't I tell you not to pick a quarrel with the mighty government? 
You did not listen to me and now we all have to pay the penalty. The 
government is using its limitless strength to crush the people.” 

"Then what do you want me to do . . . write to the government and 
ask for their forgiveness?” 

No, she did not ask that. But, she exclaimed, *'Why do you ask the 
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British to quit India? Our country is vast. We can all live thm. Let 
them stay if they like, but let them stay as brothers.” 

“What else have I done?” Gandhi replied. "1 want them to quit as 
rulers. Once they cease to be our rulers, we have no quarrel with them.” 

Ah, yes, she agreed with that. She apparently worshiped him with¬ 
out understanding. 

Kasturbai had been ailing, and in December, 1943, she became seri¬ 
ously ill with chronic bronchitis. Dr. Gilder and Dr. Nayyar tended her, 
but she asked for Dr. Dinshah Mehta, a nature cure expert who had 
treated Gandhi, and an Aryuvedic or Indian-medicine practitioner. In 
deference to her wishes, Gandhi bombarded the government with 
letters to admit them. The practitioner tried all his art for a number of 
days during which the modem-medicine physicians withdrew from the 
patient. When he confessed defeat. Dr. Gilder, Dr. Nayyar, and Dr. 
Jivraj Mehta resumed their efforts, but they too failed. The government 
gave permission for her sons and grandsons to visit her. Ba especially 
asked for her first-born, Harilal, who had been estranged from his 
parents. 

Gandhi sat by his wife’s bed for many hours. He ordered all medi¬ 
cines stopped and all food except honey and water. It was more im¬ 
portant, he said, for her to have peace with God. “If God wills it,” he 
said, “she will pull through, else I would let her go, but I won’t dmg 
her any longer.” 

Penicillin, then rare in India, was flown from Calcutta; Devadas had 
insisted on it. “Why do you not trust God?” Gandhi said to him. “Do 
you wish to drug your mother even on her deathbed?” 

Gandhi had not known that penicillin was given by injection. On 
being told, he forbade it. Most of the day, Gandhi sat on her bed, hold¬ 
ing her hand. Fellow prisoners sang Hindu hymns. Febmary 21st 
Harilal arrived, summoned hastily by the government. He was drunk 
and had to be removed from Kasturbai's presence. She cried and beat 
her forehead. (Harilal attended his father’s funeral without being 
recognized and spent that night with Devadas. He died, a derelict, in a 
tuberculosis hospital in Bombay on June 19, 1948.) 

The next day, her head resting in Gandhi’s lap, she died. At the 
funeral, Gandhi offered a prayer borrowed from Hindu, Parsi, Moslem, 
and Christian scriptures. Devadas lit the pyre. The ashes were buried 
beside those of Mahadev Desai in the prison grounds. 
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When Gandhi returned from the cremation, he sat on his bed in 
silrace, and then, from time to time, as the thoughts came, he spoke: 
"1 caimot imagine life without Ba. . . . Her passing has left a vacuum 
which never will be filled.... We lived together for sixty-two years.... 
If 1 had allowed the penicillin it would not have saved her.... And she 
passed away in my lap. Could it be better? I am happy beyond measure." 

Gandhi had been in correspondence on political issues with the new 
Viceroy, Lord Wavell. Immediately after Kasturbai’s death, Wavell 
said in a letter to the Mahatma, “I take this opportunity to express to 
you deep sympathy from my wife and myself at the death of Mrs. 
Gandhi. We understand what this loss must mean to you after so many 
years of companionship." 

Gandhi was touched. In his reply he wrote, 'Though for her sake I 
have welcomed her death as bringing freedom from living agony, 1 
feel the loss more than I had thought I should." Then he explained 
their intimate relationship to Wavell whom he had never met. “We 
were a couple outside the ordinary,” he said. Their continence, after 
the age of thirty-seven, “knit us together as never before. We ceased to 
be two different entities. . . . The result was that she became truly my 
better half.” 

Six weeks after Kasturbai’s passing, Gandhi suffered a severe attack 
of benign tertian malaria, during which he was delirious. Temperature 
rose to 105. A blood count showed a very high germ content. At first he 
thought he could cure it with a fruit-juice diet and fasting; he accord¬ 
ingly refused to take quinine. After two days he relented; he took a total 
of thirty-three grains of quinine in two days and the fi ver disappeared. 
In all subsequent examinations, parasites were absent and the malaria 
never recurred. 

On May 3rd Gandhi’s physicians issued a bulletin saying his anemia 
was worse and his blood pressure low. “His general condition is again 
giving rise to severe anxiety.” Agitation for his release swept India. A 
heavy armed guard was placed around the prison. At 8 a.m. May 6th, 
Gandhi and his associates were released. A subsequent analysis showed 
that he had hookworm (ankylostomiasis) and amoebiasis of the in¬ 
testines. 

’This was Gandhi’s last time in jail. Altogether, he spent 1,089 <^^7^ 
in Indian jails, and 249 days in South African prisons. 

Gandhi went to Juhu, by the sea near Bombay, where he stayed in 
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the home of Shantikumar Morarji, whose father from Porbandar, 
Gandhi's birthplace. Mrs. Naidu and Mrs. Vijaya T^atAmi Pandit, 
Jawaharlal Nehru’s sister, were there at the same time. 

Mrs. Morarji suggested that the Mahatma see a moving picture film; 
he had never seen either a silent movie or a talkie. After some urging, 
he agreed. Mission to Moscow was being exhibited in a nearby suburb. 
Mechanical equipment and the film were brought to the Morarji home 
and, together with about one hundred other persons, Gandhi viewed 
Mission to Moscow. 

“How did you like it?” Mrs. Morarji asked. 
"1 didn’t like it,” he said. He hadn’t liked the ballroom dancing and 

the women in scanty dresses; he considered it improper. 
Friends complained that he had viewed a foreign picture, not one of 

Indian manufacture. He accordingly saw Ram Rajya, based on an 
ancient legend of an ideal moral king. 

For his relaxation, somebody read Gandhi a deUghtful, tranquil 
juvenile by Pearl S. Buck entitled The Chinese Children Next Door. 

The doctors were curing Gandhi and he was curing himself with 
silence, “medical silence,” he called it. At first it was total; after a few 
weeks, he would speak between 4 p.m. and 8 p.m., which was prayer 
meeting dme. 

Within several weeks he plunged into work again. 

CHAPTER FORTY 

Jinnah and Gandhi 

Mohamed Ali Jinnah, who considered himself Gandhi’s opposite num¬ 
ber, lived in a large, crescent-shaped marble mansion from which a 

classic flight of marble stairs and a series of carefully molded terraces led 
down to the sea at Bombay. He had built it during the Second WnM 
War, and he apologized, when I saw him in 1942, that it was still 
inadequately furnished. His little study, however, and other parts oi 
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tke great house on Malabar Hill revealed the cultured and opulent 
touch. 

Jiimah was over six feet tall and weighed 120 pounds. He was a very 
thin man. His well-shaped head was covered with thick, long silver-gray 
hair brushed straight back. His shaven face was thin, the nose long 
and aquiline. The temples were sunken and the cheeks were deep holes 
which made his cheekbones stand out like high horizontal ridges. His 
teeth were bad. When not speaking, he would pull in his chin, tighten 
his lips, knit his big brow. The result was a forbidding earnestness. He 
rarely laughed. 

Jinnah wore a knee-length straw-colored tunic, tight white Indian 
trousers that clung to his bony le^, and black patent-leather pumps. A 
monocle dangled from a black cord. He often dressed in European 
clothes. He was “undoubtedly,” wrote George E. Jones in the New York 
Times of May 5, 1946, “one of the best dressed men in the British 
Empire.” 

Jinnah, the first child of a rich skins, hide, and gum-arabic merchant, 
was bom on Christmas Day, 1876—seven years later than Gandhi— 
in the Kathiawar peninsula, Gandhi’s birthplace; his native language 
was Gujarati. “Jinnah” is a Hindu name; the family were recent con¬ 
verts to Islam. Jinnah was a Khoja Moslem. Many Khojas carry Hindu 
names, and maintain the Hindu joint family system. In the eighteenth 
and nineteenth centuries, the Khojas attempted to return to Hinduism 
but were rebuffed. 

Hinduism and Mohammedanism are dissimilar religions, but Hindus 
and Mohammedans are far less dissimilar. Most Moslems of India arc 
converted Hindus, converted by the invading Arabs, Afghans, and 
Persians who began thrusting into India during the eighth century. 
Jinnah said converted Hindus were 75 per cent of the Moslem commu¬ 
nity; Nehm put it at 95 per cent. In parts of India, Moslems worship in 
Hindu temples. There are castes among some Indian Moslems. In many 
areas, Hindus and Moslems are indistinguishable from one another in 
appearance, costume, customs, and language. Hindi and Urdu, the 
pr^ominant tongues of Hindus and Moslems respectively, are written 
widi different scripts, and the former has absorbed more Sanskrit words 
while the latter uses more Persian words, but Hindus understand Urdu 
and Moslems understand Hindi. Hinduism is an insidious, emotional 
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religion, native to India, which clings to the descendants o( those who 

were converted to the Koran by the sword. Religious leaders have suc¬ 

ceeded in widening the gulf and poisoning the relations, yet ties remain. 

Jinnah, Gandhi, Nehru, the Viceroy, Wavell, and all the British officials, 

Hindus, and Moslems one met in India agreed that Hindus and 

Moslems lived peacefully side by side in the villages—and the village is 

80 per cent of India. In the Indian army, moreover, Hindus, Moslems, 

Sikhs, Christians, in fact all religions and races, ate, slept, trained, and 

waged war side by side without friction. 

I suggested to Jinnah that religious hatreds, nationalism, and bound¬ 

aries plagued humanity and had caused the war; the world needed 

harmonv, not new discords. 

“You are an idealist,” he replied. “I am a realist. I deal with what is. 

Take, for instance, France and Italy. Their customs and religion are the 

same. Their languages are similar. Yet they are separate.” 

“Do you want to create here the mess we have in Europe?" I asked. 

“I must deal with the divisive characteristics which exist,” he said. 

Jinnah was not a devout Moslem. He drank alcohol and ate pork, 

which are un-Islamic acts. He seldom visited the mosque, and knew no 

Arabic and little Urdu. In his forties, he went outside his religion to 

marry a Parsi girl of eighteen; when his only child, a beautiful daughter, 

married a Parsi turned Christian, he disowned her. His wife left him 

and died shortly thereafter in 1929. In the remaining years, his sister 

Fatima, a dental surgeon who looked like him, was his constant com¬ 

panion and adviser. “Moslem women are the real force behind their 

men,” she said. 

Early in his career, Jinnah tried to unite Hindus and Moslems. On 

returning from London where he studied law at Lincoln’s Inn, and 

after establishing a lucrative practice in Bombay, he threw himself into 

politics. Addressing the Moslem League in 1917 on the alleged threat 

of Hindu domination, he said, “Fear not. This is a bogy which is put 

before you to scare you away from the co-operation and unity which are 

essential to self-government.” 

Jiimah was once a leader of the Congress party. ‘1 have been in this 

movement for thirty-five years,” he said to me in the first of two inter¬ 

views in his home. “Nehru worked under me in the Home-Rule 

Society. Gandhi worked under me. I was active in the Congress party. 
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When the Moslem League was organized I persuaded Congress to con- 
^tulate the League as a step toward Indian freedom. In 1915, I in¬ 
duced the League and Congress to meet at the same time in Bombay 
so as to create the feeling of unity. My goal was Hindu-Moslem unity. 
The British, seeing a danger in such unity, broke up an open meeting. 
The closed sessions, however, continued. In 1916,1 again persuaded the 
two organizations to meet simultaneously in Lucknow and was instru¬ 
mental in bringing about the Lucknow Pact in which both agreed on 
elections and weightage. So it was until 1920 when Gandhi came into 
the limelight. A deterioration of Hindu-Moslem relations set in. In 1931, 
at the Round Table Conference, I had the distinct feeling that unity 
was hopeless, that Gandhi did not want it. I was a disappointed man. I 
decided to stay in England. I did not even go back to India to sell my 
possessions but sold them through an agent. I remained in England until 
1935. I took up law practice before the Privy Council, and contrary to 
my expectations, I was a success. I had no intention of returning to 
India. But each year friends came from India and told me of conditions 
and told me how much I could do. Finally, 1 agreed to go back.” 

He had been speaking breathlessly, with excitement. He paused, 
puffed on his cigarette. “1 tell you all this,” he continued, “to show that 
Gandhi does not want independence. He does not want the British to 
go. He is first of all a Hindu. Nehru does not want the British to go. 
They want Hindu raj.” 

Writing “In Memory of Jinnah,” in the London Economist of Slep 
tember 17, 1949, a correspondent, who knew Jinnah well, declared that 
while Jinnah was practicing law in London someone "repeated to him 
that Nehru, whom he despised and hated, had imprudently said at a 
private dinner party that ‘Jinnah was finished.’ Outraged, Jinnah packed 
up and sailed back to India at once just to ‘show Nehru.’ ... To 
Cleopatra’s nose as a factor in history one should perhaps add Jinnah’s 
pride.” 

George E. Jones, the New York Times correspondent who interviewed 
Jinnah several times, writes in his book. Tumult in India, “Jinnah is a 
superb political craftsman, a Machiavelli in the amoral sense of that 
(kscription. . . . His personal defects are a somewhat hostile reserve, 
concdt, and a narrow outlook.... He is an extremely suspicious man, 
who feels that he has been wronged many times in his life. His repressed 
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intensity borders on the psychotic. Withdrawn and isolated, Jinnah is 
arrogant to the point of discourtesy...." 

Jinnah withdrew from the G)ngress party just when Gandhi, hacked 
by the masses, ousted the rich lawyers from control. He never liked 
Gandhi. At public meetings in those days, he would refer to Gandhi as 
"Mr. Gandhi” which most Indians regarded as less respectful than 
Mahatma or Gandhiji; yet when members of the audience protested he 
persisted. Later, after he returned to India and became the undisputed 
leader of the anti-Gongress Moslem League, he zealously guarded his 
prestige. In 1939, upon the outbreak of the war, the Viceroy invited 
Gandhi and Jinnah to the palace. Gandhi offered to come to Jinnah’s 
house to fetch him. Jinnah welcomed that appearance of an obeisance. 
But he refused to go in Gandhi’s car. They both rode in his. Subse¬ 
quently, when they conferred, Jinnah insisted that the meetings take 
place in his home. Gandhi, who was completely indifferent to such con¬ 
siderations, gladly complied. 

Vanity, jealousy, and dislike undoubtedly play a major role in 
politics. Some of the great political feuds of history were personal before 
they became political. The Hindu-Moslem problem, to be sure, would 
have existed Jinnah or no Jinnah. His intensity and hates blew on the 
coals and brought forth flames. 

Apart from Jinnah, all the leading figures in his Moslem League were 
large estate owners and landholding noblemen. They watched the rising 
tide of peasant discontent with mounting concern. In the Northwest 
Frontier Province, the Congress party, led by Khan Abdul Ghaffar 
Khan, the “Frontier Gandhi,” was a popular movement of Moslem 
peasants directed against Moslem landowners. In the United Provinces, 
Moslem and Hindu peasants made common cause against Moslem and 
Hindu landlords. 

The landlords who financed the Moslem League used religion to 
divide Moslem from Hindu peasants. 

Owing to Islamic precept, the bulk of Moslem wealth was invested 
in land instead of trade or industry. Hindu and Parsi businessmen often 
preferred to hire their own co-religionists. Mohammedans, moreover, 
encountered considerable difficulty in entering government employ, 
their education was usually inferior to that of Hindus, Parsis, and 
Christians. The Moslem urban middle class, which began to emerge 
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in the twentieth century, looked to Jinnah to g^t them British govern* 
ment jobs, and he did by persuading the authorities to establish quotas 
for Moslems irrespective of qualifications. 

The Moslem upper class (the landlords) and the Moslem middle 
class were ready for Jinnah. But they needed the peasantry for numbers. 
They soon discovered that they could win it by arousing religious pas¬ 
sions. The formula was Pakistan, a separate Moslem state. Such a state 
would be officered by Moslems, and in it Hindu and Parsi firms would 
be at a disadvantage. The landlords believed they had less to fear from a 
country they controlled than from an independent, liberal, secular India 
where a land reform that would dispossess them was expected to be one 
of the first pieces of legislation. 

One hundred million compared to three hundred million Hindus, 
the Moslems could never hope to win a political majority unless re¬ 
ligious goals ceased to dominate politics. The separate religious elec- 
Uvates, introduced by Lord Minto in 1909, militated against such a 
consummation. In a number of districts, however—the Northwest 
Frontier, Punjab, Sind, Baluchistan, Kashmir, and Bengal—Moslems 
formed a majority. Pakistan, as Jinnah conceived it, would embrace the 
sixty million Mohammedans thickly settled in these Moslem-majority 
provinces where they were safe from Hindu domination. But to achieve 
Pakistan, Jinnah would have to inflame Moslem religious and national¬ 
istic sentiments and risk inflaming in turn similar feelings among 
Hindus at the cost of the forty million Moslems dispersed in provinces 
where Hindus were the majority. 

Jinnah was prepared to take this plunge. 
^ The irreligious Jinnah wished to build a religious state. Gandhi, 
wholly religious, wanted a secular state. 

The hope of religious peace in India lay in the unifying nationalism 
written on the Gandhi-Nehru-Azad-Rajagopalachari banner. No doubt, 
the relations between Hindus and Moslems required adjustments and 
mutual concessions and depended greatly on economic expansion which 
would lessen the competition for government jobs and increase business 
opportunities. Gandhi had enough faith in man to think that, with 
patience, it could be done. 

Jinnah, on the other hand, urged immediate bisection. Herbert L. 
Maittheu^ a veteran foreign conespondent of the New York Times, 
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quotes a frank admission by Sikander Hyat Khan, the Moslem prime 
minister of the Punjab, "that he considered a Bengal Moslem as foreign 
as a Chinese.” Yet Jinnah believed that the Punjab and Bengal yearned 
to be one in Pakistan. 

The fact is that India, a backward country without adequate com¬ 
munications, still lived in the grip of provincialism, like Europe in the 
Middle Ages. Gandhi wanted to use the cement of nationalism to make 
it one; Jinnah wanted to use the dynamite of religion to make it two. 

The bisection of India could not be done gently with a surgeon’s 
scalpel. It could only be achieved with a blunt butcher’s knife and heavy 
cleaver and leave broken bones, mutilated muscles, severed nerves, and 
bruised brain matter robbed of the capacity to think. The partitioning 
of the United States or France would be no more painful. 

The tragedy of partition hung over Gandhi’s head from the time of 
his liberation in 1944 to the day of his death in 1948. 

In June, 1944, Gandhi, partially recuperated from his illness, walked 
back into the political arena. He asked Viceroy Wavell to receive him. 
Wavell replied, "In consideration of the radical difference in our points 
of view, a meeting between us at present could have no value.” 

Gandhi now focused his attention on Jinnah. Gandhi had always 
felt that if Congress and the Moslem League came to an agreement, the 
British would have to grant India independence. 

Spurred by Rajagopalachari, who evolved a formula for a Congress- 
League understanding, Gandhi wrote to Jinnah on July 17, 1944, sug¬ 
gesting talks. Gandhi addressed Jinnah as "Brother Jinnah” and signed, 
‘Tour brother, Gandhi.” Jinnah’s reply was addressed to “Dear Mr. 
Gandhi” and was signed "M. A. Jinnah.” In subsequent letters, Gandhi 
addressed Jinnah as “Qaid-e-Azam” or Great Leader, a recently assumed 
title. Jinnah still wrote, “Dear Mr. Gandhi.” 

The correspondence was voluminous. Gandhi arrived at Jinnah’s 
Bombay house for the first meeting at 3:55 p.m. on September 9th, and 
remained till 7 p.m. He returned at 5:30 p.m. on the nth, and stayed 
for two hours. The two men conferred a third time on the 12th for two 
and a half hours, twice on the 13th for a total of three and a half hours, 
again on the 14th, again on the 15th, and so on. After each conversation 
they wrote long letters to one another confirming and continuing the 
oral arguments. At one stage, Gandhi suggested that he be allowed to 
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address the executive council of the Moslem League and, if the council 
rejected his {ooposal, that he go before an open convention of the 
League. Jinnah called the suggestion “most extraordinary and unprece^ 
dented,” and repulsed it. 

The talks broke down on September 26th, and then the entire corre' 
spondence was published in the newspapers. 

The wall between Gandhi and Jinnah was the two-nadon theory. 
"By all the canons of intemadonal law, we are a nadon,” Jinnah wrote. 
"We are a nation with our own distincdve culture and civilization, 
language and literature, art and architecture, names and nomenclature, 
sense of value and proportion, legal laws and moral codes, customs and 
calendar, history and tradidons, apdtudes and ambitions.” 

Gandhi did not make an effort to controvert this large statement. He 
merely said, “I find no parallel in history for a body of converts and 
their descendants claiming to be a nadon apart from the parent stock.” 
Do people change their characteristics when they change their religion? 
Would there be a third nation in India if several million people adopted 
Chrisdanity, and a fourth if several million joined the Jews? 

The cleavage on this cardinal issue was known in advance. Then 
why the discussions? 

“Can we not agree to differ on the question of ‘two nadons,’ ” Gandhi 
pleaded, "and yet solve the problem on the basis of self-determination?” 

Gandhi proposed that Baluchistan, Sind, and the Northwest Fron- 
der Province, where Moslems constituted a majority, and those parts of 
Bengal, Assam, and the Punjab where Moslems wore a majority, vote 
on whether to secede from the Indian Union. "If the vote is in favor 
of separadon,” Gandhi explained, "it shall be agreed upon that these 
areas shall form a separate state as soon as possible after India is free.” 
The two states, he urged, would then set up one, unified “administration 
of foreign affairs, defence, internal communicadons, customs, com¬ 
merce and the like.” 

Jinnah said no three times: he wanted the partidon while the British 
were in India, not after India was free; he wanted complete separation 
with no imified administration; and he had his own remarkable plan 
lot a referendum. 

According to Jinnah’s plan, only Moslems would vote in the plebis¬ 
cite, and if the majority of the voting Moslems voted for separation then 
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the entire province would go to Pakistan. "Separation/’ according to an 
analysis of Jinnah’s views made by the British Embassy in Washington 

"for the information of British officials/’ “must be decided on by the 
votes of Moslems only.’’ 

But the British census gave the Moslem population of Assam as 
3,442,479, the non-Moslem 6,762,254. Yet Jinnah was demanding that 
a majority of the 3,442,479 determine the fate of the entire province. 

The Moslem population of the Punjab was 16,217,242, the non- 
Moslem 12,201,577; the Moslems were not more than 56 per cent of the 
total. Actually, two or three million Moslems, at most, would have been 
entitled to cast ballots. And if a majority of the two or three million 
voted for Pakistan then the entire province of over twenty-eight million 
would become a part of Pakistan. 

In Bengal, Moslems were 52 per cent of the population. A Moslem 
majority for secession would necessarily be a minority of the total num¬ 
ber of inhabitants. 

Gandhi, obviously, could not agree to such a proposition. Jinnah did 
not have the power to effect it by force. Only the British could give it 
to him. 

"Mr. Jinnah,” reads the "Note on the Gandhi-Jinnah Conversations” 
compiled by the British Embassy in Washington (Lord Halifax was 
Ambassador), “is in a strong position; he has something to give which 
Mr. Gandhi wants very badly and without delay, Moslem co-operation 
in putting pressure on the British government to hand over a sub¬ 
stantial instalment of power at once.... Mr. Gandhi, on the other hand, 
has got nothing to give which Mr. Jinnah is not prepared to wait for; in 
Mr. Jinnah’s eyes, the prospect of independence a year or two earlier 
is as nothing compared with security for Moslems. It is obvious that Mr. 
Jinnah is content to wait and see how near Mr. Gandhi will come to 
the price for which he is holding out.” 

This is a shrewd analysis of the tactics of a shrewd bargainer. Jinnah 
could wait for independence. Gandhi felt this was the best time to get 
independence. 

History now intervened to upset Jinnah’s calculations. Then the able 
Jinnah upset history. 
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CHAPTER FORTY-ONE 

On the Eve of Independence 

On August 30, 1944, Wendell Willkie received me in his law office 
overlooking New York harbor. He was a good man. His death, in Sep¬ 
tember, 1944, left America poorer. 

“The war is about seven-tenths won,” he said, “and the peace is about 
nine-tenths lost.” He had toured the East and noted the perpetuation of 
old conflicts between Europe and Asia, white man and colored man, 
free man and colonial slaves. He realized that there would either be a 
new world or a new world war. 

Others, too, were beginning to see that war with a dictatorship creates 
a moral obligation to expand the area of freedom. 

The nearer England came to victory the clearer it became that 
political changes in India could not be delayed. 

By 1945, India was too restive to hold, and Britain had suffered too 
heavily in the war to contemplate the colossal expenditure of men and 
treasure that would have been required to suppress another non-violent 
contest with Gandhi or a violent contest if he lost control. The ex¬ 

haustion which compelled Britain to cut her commitments in Greece, 
Turkey, the Arab countries, and other strategic regions after the war was 
apparent during the war. 

It was especially apparent to Lord Wavell. “The Indian administra¬ 
tion,” Leopold S. Amery, Secretary of State for India, said in the House 

of Commons on June 14, 1945, “overburdened by great tasks laid upon 
it by the war against Japan and by planning for the postwar period, is 
further strained by the political tension that exists.” Wavell directed the 

Indian administration. 
Wavell was a general and a poet, and an unusual person. During my 

first talk with him in New Delhi in 194Z, I remarked that he looked 
tired. *Tes,” he agreed, “I am tired after three years of military defeats 
and setbacks.” Then he paid a tribute to Nazi Marshal Rommel who 
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administered the defeats. At each subsequent meeting, Wavell brought 
the conversation around to Rommel and praised his genius. 

Wavell had a body like a solid thick tree trunk. His legs were thick 
and bent outward. His hair was dense and gray-black. All the wrinkles 
and deep lines of his gnarled face seemed to end in his blind left eye 
which was partly open and riveted one’s attention. Five rows of ribbons 
made a bright patch on the left breast of his khaki uniform. 

He talked philosophy and quoted Matthew Arnold. When I walked 
with him once in the immense garden behind his house in New Delhi 
he reminisced about service in the Caucasus during the First World 
War and sang a verse of “AUahverdi,” a popular Georgian drinking 
song. He was informal and friendly and did not behave like a 
commander-in-chief or an imperial administrator. 

Wavell’s hero was General Allenby under whom he had fought in 
the First World War. He was writing a long biography of Allenby and 
allowed me to read part of the neatly typed manuscript tied in red 
ribbons. The prose was exquisite. The most dramatic episode of the 
hook was Allenby’s fierce conflict with the British government over the 
political status of Egypt. Allenby was High Commissioner of Egypt 
after the First World War. While serving in that capacity he became 
convinced that Britain should end her protectorate and grant Egypt 
independence. But his pleas from Cairo failed to sway the men in 
Whitehall. He accordingly appeared in London to face an all-star 
Cabinet which included Lloyd George, Lord Curzon, Milner, and 
Winston Churchill, all of them opponents of Egyptian independence, 
and "the most determined,” Wavell wrote, "had been Winston Church¬ 
ill.” Allenby’s arguments did not move the ministers. He threatened to 
resign. He was the conqueror of Jerusalem, the man who broke the back 
of the Turks in the war, and had a strong hold, consequently, on the 
loyalty and imagination of the British people. Lloyd George did not 
want to risk an open break with Allenby and capitulated. 

I wrote to Wavell, “Lloyd George, Curzon, and Churchill probably 
adduced as plausible objections to the independence of Egypt as those 
one can hear today in British circles in New Delhi against the inde¬ 
pendence of India, yet Allenby stood his ground and won. You are 
convinced that he was right and the Cabinet wrong. Governments are 
c^ten wrong. The whole history of Europe between 1919 and 1939 is a 
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record of wrong policies. There is little in the recent acts of Brid^ 
Cabinets to sugg^t that London's present attitude to India is a pillar 
of wisdom.” 

Wavell was then Commander-in-Chief and he limited himself to 
military affairs. In 1944, however, Churchill appointed him Viceroy. 

Wavell went to London in March, 1945. 
An editorial in the influential London Times of March 20, 1945, 

summarizing numerous letters in its correspondence columns and its 
own views, said, “There is a general conviction that it is for this country 
to resume the political initiative. . . . First, it is proposed that Britain 
should now begin a gradual remodelling of the structure, staffing, and 
procedure of the governmental machine in preparation for the complete 
transfer of power to Indian hands; and, secondly, that the persistence 
of the antagonisms now sundering the parties and interests of India 
constitute a reproach to British as w'ell as Indian statesmanship. . . .” 

British opinion, even conservative opinion, was deserting Churchill’s 
intransigent stand on India. 

Wavell stayed in London for nearly two months. Prophets were pre¬ 
dicting a Labor party triumph in the impending British general elec¬ 
tion. Policy abroad usually reflects politics at home. And Wavell still 
had four years as Viceroy. 

In April, 1945, on the eve of the San Francisco Conference to draft 
the charter of the United Nations, Indian and foreign correspondents 
sought a statement from Mahatma Gandhi. “India’s nationalism spells 
internationalism,” he declared. 

“There will be no jxjace for the Allies or the w’orld,” he asserted, “un¬ 
less they shed their belief in the efficacy of war and its accompanying 
terrible deception and fraud, and are determined to hammer out a real 
peace based on the freedom and equality of all races and nations. . . . 
Freedom of India will demonstrate to all the exploited races of the earth 
that their freedom is near and that in no case will they henceforth be 
exploited. 

“Peace,” Gandhi added, “must be just. In order to be that it must 
neither be punitive nor vindictive. Germany and Japan should not be 
humiliated. The strong are never vindictive. Therefore the fruits of 
peace must be shared equally. The effort then will be to turn them into 
friends. The Allies can prove their democracy by no other means.” 
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But he feared that behind the San Francisco Conference 'lurk the 
mistrust and fear which breed war.” 

Gandhi saw that freedom was the twin of peace, and fearlessness the 
parent of both. Who could doubt that India would be free before i960, 
and most of Southeast Asia as well? Who could doubt that until they 
were free they could make the West’s life a nightmare and Europe’s 
recovery impossible? To prevent another war the victors would have to 
remove the ills which conduce to the "rotten world” of which Sumner 
Welles had spoken. 

These ideas were beginning to shape Britain’s attitude toward India. 
Government policy is like a ticker tape; the old message is still visible 

when the first words of the new message appear. A country can have 
two conflicting policies or parts of two conflicting policies. Actually 
there is no such thing as a government; there are many men and women 
in a government, and some may pull in one direction and some in 
another. 

Wavell brought back to New Delhi the British government’s approval 
of a new plan for India which he broadcast on June 14th. The same 
day he released Maulana Abul Kalam Azad, the president of the Con¬ 
gress party, Jawaharlal Nehru, and other leaders who had been in jail 
since the early morning of August 9, 1942. He also summoned India’s 
outstanding politicians to Simla, the summer capital, for June 25th. 

Congress leaders showed no bitterness about their long imprisonment 
without trial. They agreed to come. Jinnah .attended as president of 
the Moslem League and Liaquat Ali Khan as secretary of the League. 
Khizr Hyat Khan and Kwaja Sir Nazimuddin were invited in their 
capacity of former prime ministers of their provinces. In addition. 
Master Tara Singh represented the Sikhs and Mr. Sivaraj the Harijans. 
Gandhi was not a delegate but he went to Simla and remained through¬ 
out the discussions. 

According to the Wavell plan the Viceroy and the Commander-in- 
Chief would be the only Englishmen in the Viceroy’s Executive Coun¬ 
cil. All the others would be Indians. Indians would thus take charge of 
foreign affairs, finance, police, etc. 

’The Viceroy would appoint the Indian members of his Council but 
he undertook to do so from lists of names submitted by the several 
parties. The Viceroy would still have the right to veto the decisions of 
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the G}uncil, but he promised publicly that the veto power "will 
course not be exercised unreasonably.” Most political Indians took liim 
at his word, for if he abused the veto the Indians could withdraw from 
the G)uncil and forbid any of their party members to succeed them; 
that would have put an end to the Wavell plan and to government with 
popular support. 

The Simla conference nevertheless failed. Wavell placed the blame 
on Jianah. 

I he plan provided for “equal proportions of Moslems and Caste 
Hindus” in the Viceroy’s Council. This riled the Congress. Confess 
was a much larger organization than the Moslem League. The whole 
history of Congress was a battle against differentiating between caste 
and outcaste Hindus. So eager was Congress for a setdement, however, 
that it accepted the formulation. 

Wavell, who worked indefatigably at Simla, then asked the party 
leaders for their lists. All complied except Jinnah. “I therefore,” Wavell 
said in a public statement, "made my provisional selections, including 
certain Moslem League names. . . . When I explained my solution to 
Mr. Jinnah, he told me that it was not acceptable to the Moslem League, 
and he was so decided that I felt it would be useless to continue the 
discussions.” 

Jinnah torpedoed the Simla conference for one discernible reason: he 
insisted that all Moslems in the Viceroy’s Council must be designated 
by him as the leader of the Moslems of India. 

The Moslem League had gained strength during the war and won most 
elections against Moslem candidates who were not in the League. But 
neither Wavell nor Gandhi, who made Congress policy behind the 
Simla scenes, could admit Jinnah’s claim to represent Moslem India. 
There were many Moslems in Congress; President Azad was a Moslem 
and Congress wanted him in the Viceroy’s Council. Khizr Hyat Khan, 
former premier of the Punjab, was anti-Jinnah and anti-Pakistan; so 
were other outstanding Moslems. 

Moreover, Congress would have been untrue to its secular nature and 
to Gandhi’s principles if it had accepted the role of a purely Hindu 
organization. Gongress aspired to be a national not a religious body; it 
could not allow itself to be identified with one* religious community. 

On this rock, the Simla conference foundered. The British authoii* 
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ties in India, or Britain, were not ready to act without Jinnah's co* 
operation. 

During the Simla conference, the war in Europe had come to an end. 
On July 26th, the Labor party decisively defeated the G^nservatives; 
Clement R. Attlee replaced Winston Churchill as Prime Minister. 

On August 14th, Japan’s surrender was accepted by the Powers. 
The British Labor government immediately announced that it sought 

"an early realization of self-government in India” and summoned 
Wavell to Whitehall. Their conclusions were announced by Attlee in 
London and Wavell in New Delhi on September 19, 1945. 

Elections to the central and provincial legislatures were the first step. 
Then Wavell would renew his efforts to form an Executive Council 
supported by the main Indian parties and to restore popular government 
in the provinces. Guided by the results at the polls, he would convene 
an assembly to draft a constitution for a united India. 

The All-India Congress Committee, habitually distrustful, considered 
the proposals "vague, inadequate and unsatisfactory.” But the govern¬ 
ment was conciliatory; more Congress prisoners were released; three 
high officers of the Indian National Army who had deserted in Malaya 
and Burma and joined the Japanese were brought to trial in Dehi Fort, 
defended by Nehru and other lawyers, sentenced to life imprisonment, 
and then set free. 

All parties agreed to contest the elections. 
Congress won the overwhelming majority of the non-Moslem seats 

in the legislatures, the Moslem League the overwhelming majority of 
the Moslem seats. 

The deadlock remained unbroken. 
In December, 1945, Wavell, speaking in Calcutta, appealed to the 

Indian people to avoid strife and violence when they stood "at the gate 
of political and economic opportunity." 

Candhi was in Calcutta, too. He spent many hours with Richard 
Casey, the Australian who served as British Governor of Bengal. He 
also spent an hour with the Viceroy. As he left the Viceroy’s house in 
Calcutta a vast multitude blocked the road and would not allow his 
automolMle to advance until he had spoken. He stood up in the car 
and said, ‘India has attained her great position in the East because of 
her tnessage of peace.” Thereupon the crowd opened a corridor for him 
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so he could drive to an ashram eight miles outside the dty. Along the 
entire route, Indians touched the dust o( the road before and after he 

The same day, Jinnah made a statement in Bombay. “We could 
settle the Indian problem in ten minutes/’ he declared, “if Mr. nan<<hi 
would say, 1 agree that there should be Pakistan; 1 agree that one-fourth 
of India, composed of six provinces—Sind, Baluchistan, the Punjab, the 
Northwest Frontier Province, Bengal, and Assam—with their jvesent 
boundaries, constitute the Pakistan state.’ ’’ 

But Gandhi could not say that and did not say that; he regarded the 
vivisection of India as “blasphemy.” 

CHAPTER FORTY-TWO 

India in Suspense 

Gandhi had been saying that he wanted to live a hundred and twenty- 
five years but without becoming “an animated corpse, a burden to 
one’s relations and society.” How would he keep physically fit? He first 
explained how he had kept physically fit. In 1901 he threw away the 
medicine bottle and substituted nature cures and regular eating, drink¬ 
ing, and sleeping habits. More important, he developed “detachment 
of mind,” the key to longevity. “Everyone,” Gandhi said, "has a right 
and should desire to live 125 years while performing service without 
an eye to result.” Dedication to service and renunciation of the fruits 
thereof are “an ineffable joy,” a “nectar” which sustains life. It leaves 
“no room for worry or impatience.” Egoism is the killer; unselfishness 
the life preserver. 

The Mahatma now adopted an additional cause: nature cure. He 
called it his “latest bom”; the older children—khadi, village industries, 
the development of a national language, food growing, independence 
for India, freedom for Indians, and world peace—continued to receive 
his energetic care. For the new baby, a trust was set up with Gandhi 
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as one of three trustees. Dr. Dinshah Mehta, Gandhi’s physician, had 
a nature-cure clinic in the city of Poona, and it was therefore agreed, 
as the trust’s first venture, to expand the clinic into a nature-cure 
university. 

But one silent Monday Gandhi abruptly decided to abandon the 
jwoject It “dawned upon me,’’ he confessed, “that I was a fool to think 
that I could ever hope to make an institute for the poor in a town.’’ 
He had to carry natvue cure to the poor and not expect the poor to 
come to him. This mistake had a moral: “Never take anything for 
gospel truth even if it comes from a Mahatma unless it appeals to both 
. . . head and heart.’’ Gandhi disliked automatic obedience. 

He would start nature-cure work in a village; “that is real India,’’ he 
wrote, “my India, for which I live.” He did so immediately. He settled 
down for a short while in Uruli, a village of three thousand inhabitants 
(m the Poona-Sholapur railway line with plenty of water, a good climate, 
firuit farms, a telegraph and post office, but no telephone. 

The first day, thirty peasants appeared at the nature-cure center. 
Gsmdhi himself examined six. In each case, he prescribed the same 
diing: the continuous recitation of God’s name, sun baths, friction and 
hip baths, cow’s milk, buttermilk, fruit juices, and plenty of water. The 
reddng of God’s name, however, should be more than lip movement; 
it must absorb the entire being throughout the recitation and through¬ 
out life. “All mental and physical ailments,” Gandhi explained simply, 
“are due to one common cause. It is therefore but natural that there 
should be a common remedy.” Almost everyone is sick in body or mind, 
he said. Repeating “Rama, Rama, Rama, Rama, Rama” while inten¬ 
sively concentrating on godliness, goodness, service, and selflessness 
paves the way for the remedial functions of mud packs, sitz baths, and 
massage. 

Gandhi was himself a proof of the power of mind and mood over 
matter. 

Gandhi was occupied with health throughout his entire adult life 
and indeed in his youth when he nursed his dying father. He doctored 
everyone within reach. Pain in others pained him. He was capable of 
boundless compassion. 

The loving mother fervently yet vainly wishes she could take her 
diiU’s illness upon herself. Gandhi’s fasts were suffering self-inflicted 
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in the hope of alleviating the sufferings of untouchables, strilcefn, 
Hindus and Moslems. He did penance for those who inflicted pain. 

The inner compulsion to relieve misery and assuage pain comes very 
close to being Gandhi's deepest urge. It is the kin of love, the root of 
non-violence, the spur to service. Gandhi believed his mission was to 
heal. He was India’s doctor. The India of the last two years of his life 
gave him ample work. 

There was famine in the land, food and clothing famine. "Grain and 
cloth dealers must not hoard, must not speculate,” he wrote on Febru¬ 
ary 17, 1946. "Food should be grown on all cultivable areas wherever 
water is or is made available. . . . All ceremonial functions should be 
stopped. . . ." 

He had been wandering over Bengal, Assam, and Madras. In one 
locality, six hundred thousand people came to a meeting. “Grow More 
Food ” was his slogan. “Spin,” he begged. “Every pint of water, whether 
from bathing and ablutions or from the kitchen should be turned into 
backyard ve^table beds,” he told townspeople. “Greens could be grown 
in earthen pots and even in discarded old tins.” 

Hunger raised the question of the nation’s high birth rate. “Let me 
say,” he stated, “that propagation of the race rabbit-wise must undoubt¬ 
edly be stopped, but not so as to bring greater evils in its train. It should 
be stopped by methods which in themselves ennoble the race,” by “the 
sovereign remedy of self-control.” 

Shortages provoked looting of shops and other violent outbursts. 
Heavy rioting took place in Bombay. In Calcutta, Delhi, and other cities 
mobs engaged in arson, compelled passers-by to shout slogans, and 
forced Englishmen to remove their hats. Gandhi reprimanded them 
severely. Indian sailors in the British navy in the harbor of Bombay 
mutinied, and were only with difficulty persuaded by Congress leaders 
to desist. 

"Now that it seems we are coming into our own,” Gandhi wrote on 
February 10, 1946, "indiscipline and hooliganism,” which were increas¬ 
ing, "ought to go, and calmness, rigid discipline, co-operation and good¬ 
will must take their place. ... I hug the hope,” he continued, "that 
when real responsibility comes to the people and the dead weight of a 
foreign army of occupation is removed, we shall be natural, dignified, 
and restrained. .. 
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"Let me affirm that I love the Englishman as well as the Indian,” he 
wrote in March. 

Prime Minister Attlee announced that a British Cabinet Mission, con¬ 
sisting of Lewd Pethick-Lawrence, the Secretary of State for India, Sir 
Stafford Cripps, President of the Board of Trade, and Albert V. Alex¬ 
ander, First Lord of the Admiralty, were coming to India to settle the 
terms of liberation. “Emphatically,” Gandhi affirmed, “it betrays want 
of foresight to disbelieve British declarations and precipitate a quarrel 
in anticipation. Is the official deputation coming to deceive a great 
nation? It is neither manly nor womanly to think so.” 

The Cabinet Mission arrived from England in New Delhi on March 
24th, and immediately began to interview Indian leaders. Gandhi came 
to Delhi to meet the British ministers, and “at my request,” writes 
Pethick-Lawrence, “in spite of the trying weather conditions in Delhi 
during the ensuing months, he remained in touch with us and with 
the Congress Working Committee during the whole progress of the 
negotiations.” Gandhi stayed in the untouchables’ slums where Cripps, 
Pethick-Lawrence, and Alexander, as well as many Indians, visited him 
r^;ularly. Sometimes, too, Gandhi went to 2 Willingdon Crescent, the 
house occupied by the Mission, and on one occasion, by arrangement, 
he encountered Pethick-Lawrence on his evening walk and thus avoided 
the publicity that attended every one of Gandhi’s acts. 

After weeks of goings and comings with no definite result, the 
Cabinet Mission invited the Congress and the Moslem League to send 
four delegates each to a conference in Simla. Candid was not a dele- 
^te but he made himself available in the summer capital for consulta¬ 
tion. At a subsequent stage, Nehru and Jinnah wrestled with the issues 
privately. There was no agreement. The two Indian parties did not wish 
to accept the onus of devising a plan or of agreeing with one another. 

Finally, Gandhi told the Cabinet Mission to suggest a plan to the 
Indian parties. 

'The Cabinet Mission’s plan, pubh'shed on May 16, 1946, was Britain’s 
proposal for the liquidation of British power in India. “Whether you 
like the Cabinet delegation’s announcement or not,” Gandhi told his 
prayer meeting that day, “it is going to be the most momentous one in 
the history of India and therefore requires careful study.” 

Gandhi pondered the announcement for four days and then stated 
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that after “searching examination ... my conviction alndes that it is 
the best document the British government could have produced in the 
circumstances." 

Rejecting a facile and popular Indian charge, Gandhi said in Harijan 
of May 26, 1946, “The Congress and the Moslem League did not, could 
not agree. We would grievously err if at this time we foolishly satisfy 
ourselves that the differences are a British creation." 

The British government’s “one purpose," the Mahatma said, “is to 
end British rule as early as may be.” 

“Voluminous evidence," the Cabinet Mission’s statement declared, 
“has shown an almost universal desire, outside the supporters of the 
Moslem League, for the unity of India." 

Nevertheless, “We were greatly impressed by the very genuine and 
acute anxiety of the Moslems lest they should find themselves subjected 
to a perpetual Hindu-majority rule. This has become so strong and 
widespread amongst the Moslems that it cannot be allayed by mere 
paper safeguards. If there is to be internal peace in India it must be 
secured by measures which will insure to the Moslems a control in 
all matters vital to their culture, religion, and economic and other 
interests." 

The Mission therefore examined “closely and impartially the possi¬ 
bility of a partition of India.” 

What was the result? 
On the basis of statistics given in the statement, the Cabinet Mission 

proved that in the northwestern area of Pakistan the non-Moslem 
minority would constitute 37.93 per cent, and in the northeastern area 
it would amount to 48.31 per cent, while twenty million Moslems would 
remain outside Pakistan as a minority in the other India. “These figures 
show,” the statement said, "that the setting up of a separate sovereign 
State of Pakistan on the lines claimed by the Moslem League would 
not solve the communal minority problem.” 

The Mission then considered whether a smaller Pakistan, which 
excluded non-Moslem areas, was feasible. “Such a Pakistan,” the state¬ 
ment noted, "is regarded by the Moslem League as quite impracticable.” 
It would have necessitated the division of the Punjab, Bengal, and 
Assam between the two new states, whereas Jinnah demanded those 
three provinces in their entirety. ‘We ourselves,” the Ministers affirmed. 
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''aie also convinced that any solution which involves a radical partition 
o| the Punjab and Bengal, as this would do, would be contrary to the 
wishes of a very large percentage of the inhabitants of these Provinces. 
Bengal and the Punjab each has its own common language and a long 
history and tradition. Moreover, any division of the Punjab would of 
necessity divide the Sikhs leaving substantial bodies of Sikhs on both 
sides of the boundary.’* 

The division of India, the Mission said, would weaken the country’s 
defenses and violently tear in two its communications and transporta¬ 
tion systems. “Finally there is the geographical fact that the two halves 
of the proposed Pakistan State are separated by some seven hundred 
miles, and the communications between them both in war and peace 
would be dependent on the goodwill of Hindustan. . . . 

‘We are therefore unable to advise the British government,” the 
statement announced, “that the power which at present resides in British 
hands should be handed over to two entirely separate sovereign States.” 

Instead, the British Ministers recommended a united India, embrac¬ 
ing both British India and the native states, with one federal govern¬ 
ment to deal vrith foreign affairs, defense, and communications. In the 
national legislature, a majority of those voting and a majority of the 
Hindus as well as a majority of the Moslems voting would be required 
to decide any major communal or religious issue. 

Newly elected provincial legislatures would elect the members of a 
national Constituent Assembly. It would draft India’s constitution. 

Meanwhile, the Cabinet Mission announced. Lord Wavell would 
proceed with the formation of an interim or provisional government. 

In a peroration, the Cabinet statement declared that the Indian people 
now had “the opportunity of complete independence ... in the short¬ 
est time and with the least danger of internal disturbance and conflict.” 

That same day. May i6, 1946, Cripps, Pethick-Lawrence, and 
Wavell, speaking on the radio, explained and extolled the plan. Cripps 
called attention to the danger of nationwide famine and the need of 
preventing a breakdown of administrative machinery. “Let no one 
doubt for one moment our intentions,” he begged. Pethick-Lawrence 
addressed his audience as “a great people.” This term had political sig¬ 
nificance, for the Moslem leaders always spoke of “peoples.” He pleaded 
with the Moslems to accept the plan; it gave them the advantages of a 
Pakistan without its disadvantages. Wavell spoke of the necessity of 
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maintaining the union of India and closed with a verse from Long- 
fellow: 

Thou too, sail on, O Ship of State, 
Sail on, O Union, strong and great. 
Humanity with all its fears, 
With all the hopes of future years 
Is hanging breathless on thy Fate. 

Jinnah criticized the Cabinet Mission on May 21st. He insisted that 
Pakistan was the only solution, and deplored the “commonplace and 
exploded arguments aimed at it by Pethick-Lawrence, Cripps, and 
Alexander. ... It seems,” he charged, “that this was done by the 
Mission simply to appease and placate the Congress.” Jinnah said he 
would have preferred a Union with no Union legislature, and an ex¬ 
ecutive branch with an equal number of Moslems and Hindus. If there 
was to be a national legislature, it too should, he felt, consist of as 
many representatives from Pakistan as from Hindustan; and “in regard 
to any matter of a controversial nature,” a three-fourths majority would 
be necessary in the executive and the legislature. All these ideas were 
ignored by the British Ministers, he complained. Small wonder. They 
would have made government impossible. 

On June 4th, nevertheless, the Moslem League accepted the Cabinet 
Mission s plan. 

Everything depended on what the Congress party would do. 
The Congress Working Committee withdrew to Mussoorie, a sum¬ 

mer resort in the hills, to escape the debilitating heat and suffocating 
dust storms of Delhi, and took Gandhi with them. 

India's eyes were on Mussoorie. The Working Committee deliberated 
with Gandhi. The meetings were more fateful than they knew. 

Foreign correspondents followed Gandhi to Mussoorie. “What would 
you do if you were dictator of India for a day?” one of them asked. 

If the journalist had expected Gandhi's answer to contain some hint 
of the long-delayed Congress decision, he was disappointed. T would 
not accept it,” Gandhi replied, but if he did he would spend the day 
cleaning out the hovels of the Harijans in New Delhi and converting 
the Viceroy's palace into a hospital. “Why does the Viceroy need such 
a big house?” he exclaimed. 
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*'Well, sir," the journalist persisted, "suppose they continue your 
dictatorship for a second day?" 

“The second day,” Gandhi said with a laugh, "would be a prolonga¬ 
tion of the first" This provoked general gaiety among the Indians 
present 

Still no word of the Congress response to the Cabinet Mission's 
proposal! 

On June 8th, refreshed by the pine-scented breezes that blew down 
from the cool, wooded slopes, Gandhi returned in an automobile to 
New Delhi where the Congress deliberations would be continued. 
Rajagopalachari, no longer a member of the Working Committee (nor 
was Gandhi), had come from Madras to Delhi to urge acceptance of 
the British plan. 

A week passed, and sdll no word from Congress on whether it would 
accept or reject the Cabinet Mission’s proposal. 

On June i6th Lord Wavell announced that Congress and the Mos¬ 
lem League had failed to agree on the composition of a provisional 
government and he was therefore appointing fourteen Indians to posts 
in that government. 

Congress now had to answer two questions: to join or not to join the 
provisional government; to enter or not to enter the Constituent Assem- 
Uy and draft a new constitution for a free united India. 

CHAPTER FORTY-THREE 

Gandhi Revisited 

I arrived at the New Delhi airport on June 25, 1946, and drove to the 
Imperial Hotel. I was tired from the Sight from Cairo; I needed a bath 
and shave. But I had an uncontrollable impulse to see Gandhi immedi¬ 
ately. My first act in India, I felt, should be to have a word with Gandhi. 
So instp^ of making sure I had a room in the hotel, I left my luggage 
in the lobby and took a taxi to Gandhi’s little stone hut in the Harijan 
colony. 
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He was at his evening prayer meeting in an open space outside the 

hut. Approximately a thousand persons were at the services. Gandhi in 

loincloth, a moist white pad on his head, his feet on his thighs, sat 

in the center of a large elevated wooden platform with several disciples. 

His eyes were closed. Occasionally he opened them and beat time with 
his hands to the singing. On the ground, in front of the platform, sat 

the women worshipers; behind them the men. The curious stood around 

on the periphery of the congregation. The Indian and foreign corre¬ 
spondents were there, also Mrdulla Sarabhai, Nehru, and Lady Cripps. 

I posted myself at the foot of the three wooden steps where Gandhi 

would descend from the prayer platform. ‘'Ah, there you are,*' he said; 

"well, I have not grown better-looking in these four years." 

"I would not dare to differ with you," I replied. He threw back his 

head and laughed. Taking me by the elbow, he walked toward his hut; 

he asked about my trip, my health, and my family. Then, probably 

sensing that I would like to stay for a talk, he said, “Lady Cripps is here 

to see me. Will you walk with me tomorrow morning?" 

Later that evening I went to the house of Abul Kalam Azad, the 

Congress president, for dinner with him, Nehru, Mr. Asaf Ali, and 

other members of the Congress Working Committee. They seemed 

tense, and listened with special attention to the government news broad¬ 

cast. Earlier that day, Congress had finally communicated its decisions 

to the Cabinet Mission and Wavell, but no public announcement had 

yet been made. 
The Working Committee had decided, I learned, to accept the British 

plan for the future constitution of India but not to participate in the 

provisional government. 

The next morning I was up early enough to sip a cup of lukewarm 

black tea and eat a banana and find a taxi which brought me to Gandhi's 

hut at 5:30. We walked for half an hour. He .^alked most of the time 

about the negotiations with the Cabinet Mission. 

I lunched with Patel and Rajagopalachari in Birla House, talked for 

an hour in the same mansion wdth Miss Slade, and spent the evening 

with Patel. 
The following day, June 27th, I went to Gandhi again at 5:30 A.M., 

and walked with him for thirty minutes. Sir Stafford and Lady Crif^ 

received me at 9:30 for a friendly and helpful interview. I kept the taxi 

because I had an appointment with Jinnah for 10:30. 
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After going a short distance, the taxi coughed and coughed and stood 

sdll. The Sikh driver tinkered under the hood, but as the time of my 

meeting with Jinnah drew near I became increasingly alarmed and 

finally, after trying in vain to persuade the chauffeur of a government 

car to earn some extra money, hired a tonga. Hunger had apparently 

made the horse unresponsive to whips and oaths, and I arrived at 

Jinnah’s house thirty-five minutes late. I was admitted into his study 

after a short wait. I offered profuse apologies, explained that my taxi 

had broken down, that no other taxi was available, that the tonga was 

slow, and that I loathed being unpunctual. He said frigidly, "1 trust 

you are not hurt.” I said it was not that kind oF breakdown; the mech¬ 

anism had simply refused to function. He was sympathetic but formal 

and continued to talk about the incident. 

When I could disentangle myself from the discussion of taxi and 

tonga I remarked, Tt seems India is about to become independent.” 

He did not answer. He did not say anything. He pulled in his chin, 

looked sternly at me, stood up, extended his hand, and said, "1 will have 

to go now.” 

I once more apologized for keeping him waiting, I had not reckoned 

with the taxi difficulty, and could I see him another day in New Delhi? 

No, he would be busy. He was going to Bombay and I would soon be 

in Bombay; could I see him there? No, he would be too busy. He had 

by this time brought me to the door. I shall never know whether he was 

offended by my being late or by my statement on the imminence of 

India’s freedom. 

Over the week end, I absorbed as much as possible about the political 

situation. Patel’s sharp mind was my best help. On Monday, July ist, 

I flew to Bombay, and Tuesday evening I commenced a three-day 

sojourn at Dr. Dinshah Mehta’s nature-cure clinic in Poona where 

C^dhi was staying. Part of the time, Nehru was there. 

I traveled with Gandhi to Bombay on July 5th, and spent the 6th 

and 7th at the sessions of the All-India Congress Committee which 

debated the Working Committee’s decisions on the Cabinet Mission 

plan and listened to the Mahatma on the subject. 

Later that month I toured Maharashtra with Jaiprakash Narayan, 

the Socialist leader, and arrived at Panchgani, in the rain-soaked hills, 

on July 16th, for a forty-eight-hour visit with Candhi. 
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Gandhi did not seem to have aged since 1942; his stride was not as 
long and lusty, but walking did not tire him nor did days of interviews. 
He was in almost constant good humor. 

At the beginning of my first morning stroll with him in New Delhi 
he.asked about the rumors of war with Russia. I said there was a good 
deal of talk about war but perhaps it was only talk. ‘Tou should turn 
your attention to the West," 1 added. 

“I?” he replied. “I have not convinced India. There is violence all 
around us. I am a spent bullet." 

Since the end of the Second World War, I sugg^ted, many Euro¬ 
peans and Americans were conscious of a spiritual emptiness. He might 
fill a corner of it. India needs material goods and perhaps had the illu¬ 
sion that they brought happiness. We had the material goods but knew 
they did not bring happiness. The West was groping for a solution. 

“But I am an Asiatic,” he commented. “A mere Asiatic.” He laughed; 
then after a pause, “Jesus was an Asiatic.” 

In this, and in subsequent conversations, I thought I detected a de¬ 
spondent note with an optimistic undertone: if he lived 125 years he 
would have enough time to finish his work. 

It was 8:30 in the evening when 1 arrived at the stone building of 
the Poona nature-cure clinic. I was shown his room and walked in. He 
was sitting on a pallet; a white shawl enveloped him from neck to 
ankles. He did not look up. When he finished writing the postcard, he 
raised his head, and said, “Ah.” I knelt in front of him and we shook 
hands. He had a way, which none of his heirs has inherited, of figura¬ 
tively putting his arms around you and making you feel welcome to 
his house and India. 

‘Tou have come by the Deccan Queen,” he remarked. “On that train 
there is no food.” 

I said I didn’t mind, I had already been promised dinner. “The 
weather here seems wonderful,” I volunteered. ‘Tou tortured yourself 
in the summer heat of Sevagram” where I had seen him in 1942. 

“No,” he objected, “it wasn’t torture. But in New Delhi I would melt 
ice in the bath and sit in it as you did in Sevagram. I was even un¬ 
ashamed to receive people in my bath and dictate in the bath. Hoe in 
Poona the weather is delightful.” He appeared very relaxed. 

Presently, without any question from me, be spoke at length about 
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violence. 'Tirst/' he said, "there is South Africa. A man has been killed 
there in cormecdon with the recent disturbances. He was innocent. 
Also, they have ded Indians to trees and whipped them. This is lynch 
law. And now these riots in Ahmedabad between Hindus and Moslems. 
The trouble is that one side begins stabbing and killing and then the 
other does likewise. If one side did not avenge its deaths the thing 
would stop. It is the same in Palesdne. The Jews have a good case. I. 
told Sidney Silverman, the Bridsh M.P., that the Jews have a good 
case. If the Arabs have a claim to Palestine, the Jews have a prior claim 
because they were there first. Jesus was a Jew. He was the finest flower 
of Judaism. You can see that from the four stories of the four apostles. 
They had untutored minds. They told the truth about Jesus. Paul was 
not a Jew, he was a Greek, he had an oratorical mind, a dialectical 
mind, and he distorted Jesus. Jesus possessed a great force, the love 
force, but Christianity became disfigured when it went to the West. 
It became the religion of kings.” 

He reverted to the Jewish question in Hitler Germany. "But I did 
not intend talking with you tonight,” he declared, “and you have not 
eaten.” 

I rose to go. “Sleep well,” I said. 
-“I always sleep well. Today was my day of silence and I slept four 

times. I fell asleep while I was on the rack.” 
"During his massage,” a woman doctor interpreted. 
“You must get massage here,” Gandhi urged. 
After dinner, I passed Gandhi’s bed on the open-air stone terrace. 

Two women disciples were massaging his feet and shins. His bed was 
a mattress-covered wooden plank with two bricks under it to raise the 
head higher than the feet. A mosquito net hung over the bed. Several 
young women were sitting on the mats near him and laughing. He 
called out to me, "I hope you will be up in time to have breakfast with 
me.” He said first breakfast was at 4. 

T’d rather be excused from that one.” 
"Then second breakfast at 5.” 
I made a face and everybody laughed. 
“You had better have third breakfast with me at 9,” he said. “Get 

up at 6.” 
I was up at 6:30. When I stepped out into the courtyard, Gandhi 
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was chatting with an Indian. He greeted me and we started on his 
morning walk. 

‘Tou said last night/’ 1 recalled, “that Paul altered the teachings of 
Jesus. Will the people around you do the same?” 

“You are not the first to mention this possibility," he replied. ‘1 see 
through them. Yes, I know they may try to do just that. I know India 
is not with me. I have not convinced enough Indians of the wisdom of 
non-violence.” 

Again he talked at length about the persecution of colored races in 
South Africa. He inquired about the treatment of Negroes in the United 
States. “A civilization," he said, “is to be judged by its treatment of 
minorities." 

After a massage by a massive Ceylonese who kneaded the muscles 
till they ached, I felt better and looked into Gandhi’s room. It had no 
door, only a curtain which I pushed aside. He noticed me and said, 
“Come in, you ate always welcome.” He was writing an article for 
Harijan and submitting to questions in the vernacular by three Indians. 
I went in and out until ii a.m. Rajkumari Amrit Kaur, a Christian 
princess who served him as first English-language secretary, was read¬ 
ing Reuters news bulletins to him. Now and then he muttered “Hm.” 
The South African items made him shake his head sadly. “President 
Truman,” a flash radiogram stated, “yesterday signed the Indian immi¬ 
gration and naturalization bill.” Gandhi asked about the provisions of 
the new law. How many Indians would be granted citizenship and how 
many could immigrate? Are Chinese and Japanese admitted into the 
United States? 

“The man who worked hardest for the passage of the bill,” I said to 
Gandhi, “is the President of the India League of America, J. J. Singh. 
Would you write him a letter?” He promised, and gave me the letter a 
few days later. 

Gulbai, Dr. Mehta’s wife, brought me a heaping bowl of peeled and 
sliced fruit and placed it on the mat. Gandhi had already had his third 
breakfast, so I ate while he talked. He said he was trying to create a 
classless and casteless India. He yearned for the day when there would 
be only one caste and Brahmans would marry Harijans. “I am a social 
revolutionist,” he asserted. “Violence is bred by inequality, non-violence 
hy equality.” Gandhi’s religion merged with his sociology. 
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I said I knew that the mounting prejudice against colored peoples 
in South Ahrica disturbed him; he had fought it for twenty years. “But 
I hope,” I added, “you will do nothing violent in this connection. You 
are a violent man.” He laughed. “Some of your fasts are violent,” I 
continued. 

“You want me to confine myself to violent words,” he commented. 
‘Tes.” 
“I do not know when I am going to fast,” he explained. “It is God 

who determines that. It comes to me suddenly. But 1 will not act rashly. 
I have no desire to die.” 

Sudhir Ghosh, a youthful Cambridge University graduate, came in 
to bid Gandhi good-by. He was going to England, and the Mahatma 
was giving him a letter of introduction to Prime Minister Attlee. 
Gandhi’s go-between with the Cabinet Mission, Ghosh had so distin¬ 
guished himself by his intelligent and gracious handling of delicate 
diplomatic tasks that Gandhi was asking him to be his liaison with 
Attlee, Cripps, Pethick-Lawrence, and others in London. Like many a 
head of state, Gandhi wished to be his own “foreign minister.” Usually, 
the official foreign minister resents the intrusion. 

That afternoon, before the prayer meeting, an Indian in his twenties 
approached me and said he was the editor of a Hindu Mahasabha 
weekly published in Poona and would 1 give him a message. 1 said I 
did not approve of the Hindu Mahasabha any more than I approved 
of the Moslem League; both stood for religion in politics. “The Hindu 
Mahasabha,” I declared with some acerbity, “stands for Hindu suprem¬ 
acy. Do you like white supremacy?” We parted. 

Hundreds of Poona citizens stood in a field the other side of the 
clinic’s low fence while Gandhi and his friends conducted the services 
on a wooden platform this side of the fence. During the singing it 
commenced to rain; worshipers put up their black umbrellas. A murmur 
of protest arose from those in the rear and all umbrellas were lowered. 
Somebody held one over Gandhi. A few hundred yards away two 
Indian teams in white flannels were playing cricket. 

Before dinner, Gandhi invited me to walk with him. “Surely you are 
not going to walk in the rain,” I protested lightly. 

"Come along, old man,” he said and stretched out his arm. 
1 had been given a private room that opened on the tenace where 
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Gandhi slept. Late in the evening, when I was about to retire, I passed 
Gandhi's bed. I greeted him silently with a raised hand but he called 
out, "You must sleep well tonight. But we will distiub you with our 
prayers at 4.” 

"I hope not," I said and approached him. 
He addressed himself to Mrs. Mehta in Hindustani, or Gujarati, and 

I thought he was scolding her. "We are talking about you and you are 
curious,” Gandhi remarked. 

"Somehow I knew it,” I replied. "Now you have made it worse by 
telling me but not disclosing what you were talking about. I should offer 
Satyagraha against you until you tell me.” 

“All right,” he laughed. 
"I will sit by your bed all night.” 
"Come along,” he said with a lilt. 
"I will sit here and sing American songs.” 
“All right, you will sing me to sleep." 
Everybody was enjoying the fun. 
Gandhi’s laughter was physical and mental; it was amusement plus 

agreement or at least amusement plus tolerance. It was the laughter of 
a man who is not afraid to be caught with his visor up and his guard 
down. 

It had grown late, and I wished them good night. I talked to Mrs. 
Mehta. Gandhi had scolded her because she served my breakfast in his 
room at 11 instead of 9 and this had held up the noonday meal of the 
others, and besides she had given me special food; no one should re* 
ceive privileged treatment. 

I awoke very fit and went to Gandhi’s room. He invited me to walk. 
I requested his views on the next step in the Indian political situation. 
“The British,” he answered with alacrity, “must ask Congress to form 
a coalition gpvernment. All the minorities will co-operate.” 

“Would you include members of the Moslem League?” 
"Of course,” he replied. "Mr. Jinnah can have a highly important 

post.” 
He left me for a while to talk to a young Indian woman. I had 

noticed him walking up and down the tenace with her the day before 
in agitated conversation. 'Then she had gone away and a young man 
stepped to Gandhi’s side and they talked together for about a quarter 
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of an hour. Pyaielal told me who they were. She was an untouchable 
and limped (tom an accident. The young man, likewise a Hatijan, was 
her husband and he had had a forearm amputated. They were having 
marital difficulties and Gandhi wanted to patch up their relations. 

When we resumed our constitutional, he began a discussion of 
Europe and Russia. I said Moscow had nothing to give the world; it 
had gone nationalistic, imperialistic, and Pan-Slav. This could not feed 
the West. The democracies were beginning to realize that peace would 
come only with internationalism and spiritual regeneration. 

"Why do you want me to go to the West?” 
“Not go to the West, but speak to the West.” 
"Why does the West need me to tell them that two times two are 

four? If they realize that the way of violence and war is evil, why am 
I necessary to point out the obvious truth? Besides, I have unfinished 
work here.” 

“Nevertheless,” I said, “the West needs you. You are the antithesis to 
materialism and therefore the antidote to Stalinism and statism.” He 
talked about the increase of the spirit of violence in India since 1942. 

Pedestrians gathered to watch Gandhi as we moved to and fro on 
the path that led to the city. There were factories nearby and occasion¬ 
ally their whistles blew but he never stopped talking; nor did he lift his 
voice; he talked through the noise. 

I asked whether he had read my book A Week with Gandhi. He had, 
and apart from a few minor errors (I misstated Kasturbai’s age, for 
ii»tance) he thought well of it. He had also read my Men and Politics; 
he read it in his ‘library,” as he called the lavatory where he kept a shelf 
of books. 

Nehru arrived at the clinic with Krishna Menon who later became 
Indian High Commissioner in London. “Nehru,” Gandhi said to me, 
"has an oratorical mind.” Menon, Nehru, I, and several others lunched 
together in the large common dining room. I was served mutton chops. 
By request, I shared my portion with Nehru. 

Gandhi knew that Nehru ate meat and smoked; he did not object. 
But Nehru never smoked in Gandhi’s presence. (Only Maulana Abul 
Kalam Azad did, and Gandhi always reminded the girls in advance 
to bring in an ashtray.) Nehru has infinite charm, grace, tenderness, 
and talent to express himself in words. Gandhi called him an artist. 
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Many years at Harrow and Cambridge made him very British, and 
more years in British jails made him very bitter. During his long 
imprisonment between 1942 and 1945 he had grown completely gray 
and completely bald but no less handsome. In his private life and public 
life he has suffered much. His smile, which reveals two rows of fine 
white teeth, melts the heart alike by its cheer and its unintended sadness. 

Gandhi loved Nehru as a son and Nehru loved Gandhi as a father. 
Nehru never hid the deep difference between his outlook and Gandhi's. 
He spoke and wrote about it frequently. Gandhi welcomed the frank¬ 
ness. Their affection for one another did not depend on agreement. 

Something far down in Nehru’s psyche rebels against surrender. He 
was repelled by the unquestioning obedience which most Indian leaders 
gave Gandhi. He questioned and argued and resisted—and finally sur¬ 
rendered. He fights for the independence of his personality. He balks 
against conquest. When he submits he does so with meekness and grace. 
Gandhi knew his frailties and he himself has come to recognize his 
limitations. In politics all his life, Nehru never mastered the intricacies 
of party politics as the Mahatma and Patel did. He is the tribune not 
the organizer, a spokesman to the outside, not the manipulator inside. 
He appeals most to intellectuals but not with intellect; his appeal is to 
the heart. In India, that is an asset. He is an aristocrat whose love for 
aristocrats is no impediment to his love of the people. One of the 
world’s foremost statesmen, he is not a statesman at all. He is a good 
person lost among statesmen. The people give him adulation; he lends 
it to those who run the machine of government. 

In India, Nehru is addicted to gusts of temper and bursts of indig¬ 
nation. On occasions, he bodily assaulted men who aroused his indigna¬ 
tion. He has endless physical courage. Sometimes, in press conferences, 
he makes unconsidered statements of defiance. These may all be striv¬ 
ings toward strength. There can be no doubt that it was Gandhi’s vast 
inner strength and clarity, among other things, that so fascinated and 
captivated Jawaharlal. 

Nehru’s books show beauty of soul, nobility of ideal, and egocentrism. 
Gandhi seemed entirely extrovert; he was no burden to himself. Nehru 
must always cope with his own problem. 

In the afternoon of that second day at the nature-cure clinic, Nehru 
sat cross-legged on my bed for an hour while I occupied the only chair. 
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He had gone to his beloved native Kashmir on a visit; the Maharaja 
forbade his entry. He grappled with an Indian soldier, equipped with 
bayoneted riBe, who barred his way at the frontier post. Now he said, 
‘1 am conviiKed that the British Agent would not have kept me out of 
Kashmir while I was engaged in the Cabinet Mission negotiations 
without first consulting the Viceroy, and that being so, it does not ap 
pear that they are getting ready to leave India.” 

Krishna Menon shared this skepticism. 
I asked Nehru whether he considered himself a Socialist. “I am a 

Socialist but not a Marxist,” he replied. “I am a Socialist but I don’t 
believe in any dogma.” (In 1948, in New Delhi, he told me that as he 
grew older he judged people "more by their personal character than 
their isms” and that he had moved "closer to Christ and Buddha, espe¬ 
cially Buddha,” and further, therefore, from Marx, Lenin, and Stalin, 
and closer to Gandhi.) 

Nehru spent several hours of the afternoon alone with Gandhi; no¬ 
body disturbed them. Late in the afternoon, 1 went to Gandhi's room 
and found him spinning. I said I thought he had abandoned spinning. 
“No, how could I?” he asked. "There are four hundred million Indians. 
Subtract one hundred million children, waifs, and others; if the remain¬ 
ing three hundred million would spin an hour each day we would have 
Swaraj.” 

“Because of the economic or spiritual effect?” I asked. 
“Both,” he said. “If three hundred million people did the same thing 

once a day not because a Hitler ordered it but beca.ise they were in¬ 
spired by the same ideal we would have enough unity of purpose to 
achieve independence.” 

“When you stop spinning to talk to me you are delaying Swaraj.” 
‘Tes,” he agreed, "you have postponed Swaraj by six yards.” 
Prime Minister Kher of Bombay province and Morarji Desai, the 

Home Member of the province, visited Gandhi to report on the con¬ 
tinuing Ahmedabad intercommunity riots. At 9 in the evening I accom¬ 
panied Nehru and Menon to Desai’s residence in Poona. Desai blamed 
Moslems for the disturbances. Shortly before midnight, Nehru and 
Menon took the train to Bombay. 

The next morning Gandhi and about ten companions and I walked 
to the Pocma station and boarded the express to Bombay. The party had 
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the use of a special third-class carriage with a hard wooden bench down 
the length of each outer wall and another down the center of the car¬ 
riage. It rained heavily throughout the journey, and soon water began 
to pour from the roof and through openings in the window frames and 
doors. Large puddles formed on the floor. At a number of stops en route, 
local Congress leaders boarded the train for conferences with Gandhi. 
Between times, he wrote a brief article for Harijan and corrected another 
article. He looked up at me once and smiled and we exchanged a few 
remarks. When his editorial work was finished he stretched out on the 
wooden bench and in a moment he was sleeping serenely. He slept for 
about fifteen minutes. 

Gandhi occupied a place near a window. At all stations immense 
crowds gathered despite the downpour. At one stop, two boys, about 
fourteen years of age, wet to their brown skins, their hair dripping, 
jumped up and down outside Gandhi*s window, moved their bent arms 
up and down and yelled, 'Gandhiji, Gandhiji, Gandhiji.” He smiled. 

I said, ‘*What are you to them?’' 
He put his fists with thumbs upward to his temples and replied, "A 

man with horns, a spectacle." 
Gandhi left the train at a suburban station to avoid the crowd at the 

Bombay terminal. He and the other Congress leaders were congregat¬ 
ing in Bombay for a meeting of the AlMndia Congress Committee 
(A.I.C.C.) which would debate the Working Committee decisions to 
accept the Cabinet Mission s long-term plan for a constitution but to 
refuse participation in the interim government. 

The two-day session took place in a hall built like a theater. The floor 
of the stage was covered with white cotton homespun. Leaders clothed 
in somewhat finer white homespun sat on the floor of the stage and 
leaned on large bolsters placed against the scene;/. To the left and rear 
of the center of the stage was a big divan covered with white homespun. 
It was unoccupied. Nehru, in clinging white cotton trousers, a white 
blouse reaching halfway down his thighs, and an apricot-colored sleeve¬ 
less vest, presided. He used a microphone erected near his chair. Two 
hundred and fifty-five voting delegates sat in the hall together with 
hundreds of visitors and several score Indian and foreign journalists. 

Access to the stage from the well of the theater was by a short flight 



432 The Life of Mahatma Gandhi 

of wooden steps. A speaker would mount to the top step, leave his or 
her sandals there, and walk barefoot to the microphone. 

During the deliberations, a woman came on stage from behind the 
scenes and put a flat box on the divan. Shortly thereafter, Gandhi 
ivalked on, sat down on the divan, opened the box, and started spinning. 
His entrance was applauded briefly by the standing delegates. He 
acknowledged their welcome with a smile. It is considered undignified 
to make too much noise with hand-clapping or exclamations. 

The second day, Sunday, July 7th, Gandhi, in loincloth, addressed 
the Committee from a sitting position on the wliite divan. He spoke 
Hindustani into a microphone but the mechanism was defective and 
he was barely audible. 

The speech, delivered extemporaneously, was published verbatim in 
Harijan and all Indian dailies. It consisted of about 1,700 words, and 
he pronounced them slowly, in approximately fifteen minutes, as 
though he were talking to one person in his hut. 

He said: 

I have been told that some of my previous remarks about the Cabinet 
Mission’s proposals have caused a good deal of confusion in the public 
mind. As a Satyagrahi it is always my endeavor to speak the whole 
truth and nothing but the truth. I never have a wish to hide anything 
from you. I hate mental reservations. But language is at best an imper¬ 
fect medium of expression. No man can fully express in words what he 
feels or thinks. Even seers and prophets of old have s-iffered under that 
disability.... 

I did say in one of my speeches at Delhi in regard to the Cabinet 
Mission’s proposals that I saw darkness where I saw light before. That 
darkness bas not yet lifted. If possible it has deepened. I could have 
asked the Working Committee to turn down the proposal about the 
Constituent Assembly if I could see my way clearly. You know my 
relations tvith the members of the Working Committee. Babu Rajendra 
Prasad might have been a High Court Judge, but he chose instead to 
act as my interpreter and clerk in Champaran. Then there is the Sardar 
[Patel]. He has earned the nickname of being my Yes-man. He does 
not mind it. He even flaunts it as a compliment. He is a stormy petrel. 
Once he used to dress and dine in the Western style. But ever since he 
decided to cast his lot with me my word has been law to him. But even 
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he cannot see eye to eye with me in this matter. They both tell me that 
whereas on all previous occasions I was able to support my instinct with 
reason and satisfy their head as well as heart, this time I have failed to 
do so. 1 told them in reply that whilst my own heart was filled with 
misgivings I could not adduce any reason for it or else I would have 
asked them to reject the proposals straightaway. It was my duty to pbce 
my misgivings before them to put them on their guard. But they should 
examine what I had said in the cold light of reason and accept my view¬ 
point only if they were convinced of its correctness. 

They were not convinced of its correctness and therefore the Work¬ 
ing Committee took a middle course by approving the provisions for the 
future constitution of India but holding aloof from the interim govern¬ 
ment. The Socialist fraction of the A.LC.C., and some others, were 
fighting the Working Committee s compromise. They advocated absten¬ 
tion from the Constituent Assembly as well as from the interim govern¬ 
ment. They wished to follow Gandhi s instinct even though he had not 
supported it with rational argument. 

. I am surprised that Jaiprakash Narayan said yesterday,Gandhi 
continued, “that it would be dangerous to participate in the proposed 
Constituent Assembly and therefore you should reject the Working 
Committees resolution. I was not prepared to hear such defeatist lan¬ 
guage from the lips of a tried fighter like Jaiprakash. ... A Satyagrahi 
knows no defeat. 

“Nor would I expect a Satyagrahi to say that whatever Englishmen 
do is bad. The English are not necessarily bad. There are good men 
and bad men among the English people as among any other people. 
We ourselves are not free from defects. The English could not have 
risen tb their present strength if they had not some good in them. They 
have come and exploited India because we quarreled amongst ourselves 
and allowed ourselves to be exploited. In God's world unmixed evil 
never prospers. God rules even where Satan holds sway because the 
latter exists only on His sufferance.*' Then he talked about non-violence 
and the 1942 civil disobedience movement. 

“We must have patience and humility and detachment. . . . The 
Constituent Assembly is going to be no bed of roses but only a bed of 
thorns. You may not shirk it. . . . 

“Let us not be cowardly, but approach our task with confidence and 
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courage.... Never mind the darkness that fills my mind. He will turn 
it into Hght.” 

Everybody handclapped two or three times. 
The vote was 204 in favor of the Working Committee’s compromise 

and 51 against. The negative poll was considered large; it reflected the 
doubts present in Gandhi’s, Nehru’s, in fact most members’ minds about 
British intentions. After more than a hundred and fifty years of British, 
tutelage and 89 years of the British Empire, no Indian could completely 
divest himself of distrust. 

I spent a number of days in the hot, dank Bombay of the monsoon 
summer and then left with Jaiprakash Narayan and his wife Prabhavati 
to tour the Maharashtra en route to Gandhi’s new residence in Panch- 
g^. We traveled to Poona by train and thence by automobile. 

The ancient auto broke down several miles outside of town and we 
proceeded by a commercial passenger bus. Arrangements had been made 
for Socialist delegations to greet Jaiprakash along the road. Wherever 
they appeared—six times during the journey—the bus stopped, Jaipra¬ 
kash, Prabhavati, and I stepped out, the local folks made little speeches, 
each of us received a garland of most fragrant blooms placed around the 
neck and a tightly packed bouquet or an armful of bananas to carry. In 
several places, after we had returned to the bus, a woman came in and 
touched our knuckles with a tiny metal hand covered with a colorless, 
perfumed cream. We rode in a cloud of scent. Throughout the repeated 
ceremonies, the passengers in the bus and the driver waited patiently 
without demur. 

Jaiprakash stayed over to address an evening meeting in Satara while 
Prabhavati and I, in a borrowed automobile, drove over the hills and 
through the mists to Panchgani. We arrived near midnight; the town 
was dark and dead. Stray pedestrians could not tell us where Gandhi 
was stopping. We were >x)mpelled to get out of the car at every stone 
summer villa, walk up the steps to the porch, and see whether anybody 
was sleeping there. On one porch, we saw Gandhi lying among his 
disciples. 

In the morning Prabhavati put her head on Gandhi’s feet and he 
patted her with sweet affection. About lunchtime, Jaiprakash arrived. 
He and I were the only visitors so I had ample opportunity for convet- 
sadon with Gandhi. 
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He began by asking me what I had learned. 1 had noticed a sharp 
cleavage between those who believed in the Constituent Assembly and 
those who did not. 

Gandhi: “I do not consider the Constituent Assembly non-revolu¬ 
tionary. I am convinced that it is a perfect substitute for civil dis¬ 
obedience.” 

L.F.: “You think the British are playing the game?” 
Gandhi: “I think the British will play the game this time.” 
L.F.: "You believe they are withdrawing from India?” 
Gandhi: “Yes.” 
L.F.: “I believe it too, but I cannot convince Jaiprakash. But sup¬ 

posing the British do not leave, you will offer your kind of protest, not 
Jaiprakash’s?” 

Gandhi: “No, Jaiprakash will have to join me. I will not pit myself 
against him. In 1942,1 said I was sailing out on uncharted waters. I will 
not do it now. I did not know the people then. I know now what I can 
do and what I cannot.” 

L.F.: "You did not know in 1942 that there would be violence?” 
Gandhi: “Correct.” 
L.F.: “So if the Constituent Assembly fails you will not stage a civil 

disobedience campaign?” 
Gandhi: "Not unless the Socialists and the Coimnunists are subdued 

by that time.” 
L.F.: "That is not likely. . . .” 
Gandhi: “I cannot think of civil disobedience when there is so much 

violence in the air in India. Today some Caste Hindus are not playing 
the game by the untouchables.” 

L.F.: "By some Caste Hindus you mean some Congressmen?” 
Gandhi: “Not many Con^ssmen. But there a.'-e some who have not 

banished untouchability from their hearts. That is the tragedy. . .. The 
Moslems also feel they are wronged. In an orthodox Hindu house a 
Moslem will not be permitted to sit on the same carpet with a Hindu 
and have his meal. That is false religion. India is falsely religious. It 
must get true religion." 

L.F.: ‘Tou have not succeeded with Congress?” 
Gandhi: “No, I have not. I have failed. Something, however, has 

been accoipplished. The Harijans are admitted to the temples in Madura 
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and in many other holy places, and the Caste Hindus worship in the 
same temples.” 

That was the end of our morning talk. Gandhi was "turning the 
searchlight inward/' and instead of finding fault with others, the beam 
helped him find the faults of Congress and the Hindus. Some Hindus 
did not like it. They preferred to blame Jinnah and England. 

In the early afternoon, Jaiprakash had an hour with Gandhi. One of 
the secretaries translated to me part of her notes. 

Jaiprakash: “Congress is not organizing the strength of the country. 
Merit does not count in Congress today. Caste and family relationships 
count. This is the main reason we Socialists will not go into the Con¬ 
stituent Assembly. We felt that the Working Committee was overcome 
by a kind of helplessness. ‘If we do not accept the British proposal what 
can we do?’ they were saying. This is an attitude of weakness. They 
expect the British to devise ways and means of bringing about an agree¬ 
ment between Congress and the Moslem League. We should have said 
to the British, ‘You go. We will settle this ourselves!’ If the British do 
not like it they can put us in jail.” 

Gandhi: "Jail is jail for thieves and bandits. For me it is a palace. I 
was the originator of jail-going even before 1 read Thoreau. Tolstoy 
wrote that I had discovered something new, he wrote it in a Russian 
daily paper. A Russian woman translated it for me. I have fought the 
government from inside jails. Jail-going can bring Swaraj if the philos¬ 
ophy behind it is correct.... But today jail-going would be a farce.” 

Jaiprakash: ‘Today we should send Englishmen to jail.” 
Gandhi: ‘Why? How? There is no need of it. This is a mere figure 

of speech and should not come from lips like yours. Even after violent 
warfare it would not be necessary. This is how Churchill talked of what 
he would do to Hitler. And witness the folly and the wickedness of the 
trial of the Nazi war criminals. Some of those who try the criminals are 
just as criminal.” 

Confess had formed the governments of a number of provinces and 
Jai{vakash, and Gandhi, saw mounting corruption and nepotism there. 
The Socialists, moreover, together with many non-Socialist Congress¬ 
men, would have gloried in one last struggle to oust the British. They 
believed Freedom is not real unless you forcibly expel your master. They 
suspected that the British would, vrith Moslem League connivance, seek 
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to maintain a foothold in India. Jaiprakash, therefote, was in an and* 
constitutional, anti-legal mood, a militant mood, whereas Gandhi, dis¬ 
illusioned by the Socialist and other violence in 1942, 1943, and 1944* 

^was le» militant than ever before in his career. That made his “mis¬ 
givings” about the Cabinet Mission's plan all the more painful. Wide¬ 
spread violence had knocked from his hand the special weapon he had 
forged: civil disobedience. The Constituent As%mbly, consequently, 
was his only alternative. 

Gandhi had entered on the road of anguish that led to his death. 
Gandhi gave me more than an hour in the afternoon. He reverted to 

the Negro question in America. After a while, I said, “Since my arrival 
in India, I have met some intelligent people. . . .” 

Gandhi: “Ah, have you? Not many.” 
L.F.: “You and two or three others.” He laughed. “And some say 

Hindu-Moslem relations are better and some say they are worse.” 
Gandhi: “Jinnah and other Moslem leaders were once members of 

Congress. They left it because they felt the pinch of Hindu patronizing. 
In the beginning the top Congressmen were theosophists. Mrs. Annie 
Besant attracted me very much. Theosophy is the teaching of Madame 
Blavatsky. It is Hinduism at its best. Theosophy is the brotherhood of 
man. They took me to Mrs. Besant’s [in London]. I was a mere Bombay 

. matriculate. 1 could not understand the British accent. It was an ordeal 
for me. I felt quite unworthy of going to Mrs. Besant. Cultivated Mos¬ 
lems joined the theosophists. Later, Congress membership grew and 
with it the Hindu patronizing attitude. The Moslems are religious 
fanatics, but fanaticism cannot be answered with fanaticism. Bad man¬ 
ners irritate. Brilliant Moslems in Congress became disgusted. They 
did not find the brotherhood of man among the Hindus. They say Islam 
is the brotherhood of man. As a matter of fact, it is the brotherhood 
of Moslems. Theosophy is the brotherhood of man. Hindu separatism 
has played a part in creating the rift between Congress and the League. 
Jinnah is an evil genius. He believes he is a prophet.” 

L.F.: "He is a lawyer.” 
Gandhi: 'Tou do him an injustice. I give you the testimony of my 

eighteen days of talks with him in 1944. He really looks upon himself 
as the savior of Islam." 
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L.F.: 'The Moslems are rich in temperament and spirit. They are 
vrarm and friendly." 

Gandhi: ‘Tes." 
L.F.: “But Jinnah is cold. He is a thin man. He pleads a case, he does 

not preach a cause." 
Gandhi: “I agree he is a thin man. But 1 don’t consider him a fraud. 

He has cast a spell over the Moslem who is a simple-minded man.” 
L.F.: “Sometimes 1 think the Moslem-Hindu question is the problem 
finding a place for the new Moslem middle class in an underde¬ 

veloped India. India is even too imderdeveloped to offer a place to the 
poor. Jinnah won the middle class because he helped it compete with 
the older entrenched Hindu middle class. Now he is bridging the chasm 
between the landlord and peasant. He has done it with Pakistan." 

Gandhi: “You are right. But Jinnah has not won the peasant. He is 
trying to win him. The peasant has nothing in common with the land¬ 
lord or middle class. Landlords crush the peasants. The franchise does 
not reach the poor. Even the British electorate is not informed.” 

L.F.: "I think it is. It is better informed than ever.” 
Gandhi: Tt is better informed but not well informed.” 
L.F.: "How can Congress, with its Hindu stamp, win the Moslems?” 
Gandhi: "In the twinkling of an eye, by giving equality to untouch¬ 

ables. Hinduism has to reform itself. I have every hope. Improvement 
is very gradual....” 

L.F.: “1 understand there is less contact between Hindus and 
Moslems.” 

Gandhi: ‘Tolitical contact in the upper stratum is breaking down....” 
L.F.: "Jinnah told me in 1942 you did not want independence.” 
Gandhi: "And what do I want?” 
L.F.: "He said you want Hindu rule.” 
Gandhi: "He is utterly wrong. That is absurd. I am a Moslem, a 

Hindu, a Buddhist, a Christian, a Jew, a Parsi. He does not know me 
when he says I want Hindu rule. He is not speaking the truth. He is 
speaking like a pettifogging lawyer. Only a maniac resorts to such 
charges.... I believe that the Moslem League will go into the Assembly. 
But the Sikhs have refused. They are stiff-necked like the Jews.” 

L.F.: "You are stiff-necked too.” 
Gandhi: T?" 
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L.F.: "You are a sti£F-necked man. You are stubborn. You like every* 
thing your way. You are a sweet-tempered dictator.” This aroused gen¬ 
eral laughter among the secretaries and disciples in which Gandhi 
heartily joined. 

Gandhi: "Dictator? I have no power. I have not changed Congress. 
I have a catalogue of grievances against it.” 

L.F.: “What did you learn from your eighteen days with Jinnah?” 
Gandhi: "I learned that he was a maniac. A maniac leaves off his 

mania and becomes reasonable at times. I have never regretted my talks 
with him. I have never been too stubborn to learn. Every one of my 
failures has been a steppingstone. I could not make any headway with 
Jinnah because he is a maniac, but many Moslems were disgusted with 
Jinnah for his behavior during the talks.” 

L.F.: ‘What is the solution?” 
Gandhi: "Jinnah has 25 years more to work.” 
L.F.: "He wants to live as long as you do.” 
Gandhi: “Then he must live till I am 125.” 
L.F.: "You had better not die, it would kill him, and then you would 

be a murderer.” (Laughter.) “He will die the day after you.” 
Gandhi; "Jinnah is incorruptible and brave. ... If Jinnah stays out 

of the Constituent Assembly the British should be firm and let us work 
the plan alone. The British must not yield to Jinnah’s force. Churchill 
did not yield to Hitler.” 

L.F.: “The British do not yield to force but they yield to the force 
of circumstances. . ..” 

The next morning, 1 heard Sushila Pie, a schoolteacher who had 
joined Gandhi's staff, singing in the next room. When she came out 
onto the veranda I asked why she had been singvig. 

“Because I am happy,” she replied. 
“And why are you happy?” 
‘We are happy because we are near Bapu,” she said. 
Jaiprakash and I were leaving that day for Bombay, Prabhavati was 

staying with Gandhi. She had worked with Gandhi for many years. 
The women in the Mahatma’s entourage—Miss Slade, Rajkumari Amrit 
Kaur, Sushila Nayyar, Prabhavati Naiayan, and others—loved Gandhi, 
and he lov^ them. It was a father-daughter relationship of more than 
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usual warmth and interdependence. Miss Slade became physically ill 
on a number of occasions when she was separated from Bapu or when 
she was worried about his health. Her bond with him was one of the 
remarkable platonic associations of our age. He often said to her, '*When 
this body is no more there will not be separation, but I shall be nearer 
to you. The body is a hindrance.'* 

Rajkumarf amd Miss Slade would kiss his hand; he would stroke their 
cheeks. He said that he deliberately surrounded himself with women 
to prove that his mastery over “lust" was not achieved by avoiding 
women. But after his “lust dream" in 1936 he took a six weeks silence 
and did not put his hand on women s shoulders. He told his women 
secretaries about that dream before he wrote of it in Harijan, He shared 
his innermost thoughts with them. 

Some of the female disciples were jealous when Gandhi appeared to 
favor one above the other. He was aware of it and tried to be impartial. 
He enjoyed their company and devotion. Whether they did not marry 
because of attachment to him or whether they were attached to him 
because they would not marry it is folly to guess. One was married but 
remained continent. They were all valiant Amazons of his causes. 

Tagore, who loved Gandhi, wrote of the Mahatma, “He condemns 
sexual life as inconsistent with the moral progress of man and has a 
horror of sex as great as that of the author of The Kreutzer Sonata, but, 
unlike Tolstoy, he betrays no abhorrence of the sex that tempts his kind. 
In fact, his tenderness for woman is one of the noblest and most con¬ 
sistent traits of his character, and he counts among the women of his 
country some of his best and truest comrades in the great movement he 
is leading." 

On July 18th, I had my last talk with the Mahatma. “If the Working 
Committee had responded to your ‘groping in the dark,' or your instinct, 
as you also called it, they would have rejected the Cabinet Mission’s 
plan for the Constituent Assembly?" I began. 

Gandhi: ‘Tes, but I did not let them." 
L.F.: ‘Tou mean you did not insist." 
Gandhi: “More than that. I prevented them from following my 

instinct unless they felt likewise. It is no use conjecturing what would 
have happened. The fact is, however, that Dr. Rajendra Prasad asked 
me, ‘Does your instinct go so far that you would prevent us from ac¬ 
cepting the long-term proposals whether we understand you or not?’ 
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I said, 'No, follow your reason since my own reason does not support 
my instinct. My instinct rebels against my reason. I have placed my 
misgivings before you because I want to be faithful to you. 1 myself 
have not followed my instinct unless my reason backed it.'" 

L.F.: "But you told me that you follow your instinct when it speaks 
to you on occasions, as, for instance, before certain fasts." 

Gandhi: 'Tes, but even in these cases my reason was there before 
the fast began. . . ." 

L.F.: "Then why do you inject your instinct into the present political 
situation?" 

Gandhi: "I did not. But I was loyal. I wanted to retain my faith in 
the bona fides of the Cabinet Mission. So I told the Cabinet Mission 
that my instinct had misgivings. ‘Supposing,' I said to myself, ‘they 
meant ill; they would be ashamed. They will say, “He says his instinct 
tells him this, but we know the reason." Their guilty conscience would 
prick them.'" 

L.F.: "It did not. Does that mean the Cabinet Mission’s intentions 
were honest?" 

Gandhi: "I do not retract anything from the original certificate I 
gave them. . . 

L.F.: "You are strongly constitutionalist now because you fear 
violence?" 

Gandhi: "I say we must go into the Assembly and work it. If the 
British are dishonest they will be found out. The loss will not be ours 
but theirs and humanity’s." 

L.F.: "I think you are afraid of the spirit of the Indian National Army 
and Subhas Chandra Bose [its hero who went to Germany and Japan 
during the Second World War]. It is widespread. He has captured the 
imagination of the youth, and you are aware of it, and you fear that 
mood. The young generation is indocentric." 

Gandhi: "He has not captured the imagination of the country. It is 
too wide a term, but a section of the youth and of the women follow 
him. . . . The Almighty has reserved mildness for India. The mild 
Hindu' is used as a term of reproach. But I take it as a term of honor, 
just like Churchill's ‘Naked Fakir.' I appropriated it as a compliment 
and even wrote about it to Churchill. I told Churchill I would love to 
be a naked fakir but was not one as yet." 

L.F.: "Did he answer?" 
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Gandhi: 'Tes, he acknowledged my letter through the Viceroy in a 
courteous manner. But to resume. . . . The unsophisticated women, 
untouched and unspoiled by civilization, so-called, are with me.” 

L.F.: "But you admire Bose. You believe he is alive. [He had been 
reported killed in an airplane accident.] 

Gandhi: T do not encourage the Bose legend. I did not agree with 
him. I do not now believe he is alive. Instinct made me believe to the 
contrary at one time, because he had made himself into a legendary 
Robin Hood.” 

L.F.: “My point is this: Bose went to Germany and Japan, both 
fascist countries. If he was pro-fascist you can have no sympathy with 
him. If he was a patriot and believed that India would be saved by 
Germany or Japan, especially in 1944, he was stupid, and statesmen 
cannot afford to be stupid.” 

Gandhi: “You have a high opinion of statesmen. Most of them are 
stupid. ... I have to work against heavy odds. . . . There is an active 
mood of violence that has to be combated, and I am doing it in my own 
way. It is my implicit faith that it is a survival which will kill itself in 
time.... It cannot live. It is so contrary to the spirit of India. But what 
is the use of talking? I believe in an inscrutable Providence that presides 
over our destinies—call it God or by any name you like.” 

CHAPTER FORTY-FOUR 

Pilgrim’s Progress 

Congress would not participate in the provisional government because 
Lord Wavell had, on Jinnah’s insistence, refused to allow it to nominate 
a Moslem for one of the government posts. True, Wavell had stipulated 
publicly that the composition of the interim government would not 
constitute a precedent. Congress feared it would, and refused adamantly 
to recognize Jinnah’s right to veto a Congress Moslem's appointment to 
the Cabinet. 
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Wavell accordingly again asked Congress and the League to submit 

lists of its candidates for positions in the government, but, in deference 

to Congress, stressed that no side could bar the nominees of the other* 

Jinnah thereupon declined the invitation to participate in the pro¬ 

visional government. On August 12, 1946, Wavell commissioned Nehru 

to form the government. Nehru went to see Jinnah and offered him a 

choice of places in the government for the Moslem League. Jinnah 

refused. Nehru then organized a government consisting of six Congress¬ 

men, of whom five were caste Hindus and one a Harijan, and, in addi¬ 

tion, one Christian, one Sikh, one Parsi, and two Moslems who were 

not of the Moslem League. Wavell announced that it was open to the 

Moslem League to name five of its members to the provisional govern¬ 

ment. Jinnah was not interested. 

The Moslem League declared August i6th "Direct Action Day.” 

Savage riots lasting four days broke out in Calcutta. "Official estimates,” 

writes Lord Pethick-Lawrence, "placed the casualties at some five thou¬ 

sand killed and fifteen thousand wounded, and unofficial figures were 

higher still.” 

Sir Shafaat Ahmed Khan, a Moslem who had resigned from the 

Moslem League to join Nehru’s interim government, was waylaid in a 

lonely spot in Simla at dusk on August 24th, and stabbed seven times. 

"Obviously political,” high British authorities said of the assault. 

On September 2nd, Nehru became Prime Minister of India. "Our 

representatives and leaders have broken into the citadel of power,” J. B. 

Krjpalani, the new president of Congress declared. 

Gandhi w'as living in the untouchables’ quarter in New Delhi on 

September 2nd. He woke very early that morning and wrote a letter to 

Nehru on the duties of the new government. This was a red-letter day 

in India’s history, he told his evening prayer meeting, and he felt grate¬ 

ful to the British but in no mood for jubilation. "Sooner, rather than 

later, complete power will be in your hands,” he promised the audience, 

"if Pandit Nehru, your uncrowned king and Prime Minister, and his 

colleagues did their part.” The Moslems were the brothers of the 

Hindus even if they were not in the government as yet, Gandhi con¬ 

tinued, and a brother does not return anger with anger. 

But Jinnah proclaimed September 2nd a day of mourning and in¬ 

structed Moslems to display black flags. The next day in Bombay, 
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Jinnah said: "The Russians may have more than a spectator’s interest 
in Indian affairs, and they are not very far from India either.” 

Sir Firoz Khan Noon, a big Punjab landowner and a Moslem League 
leader had spoken in the same vein. "If our own course is to fight,” he 
asserted, “and if in that fight we go down, the only course for the 
Moslems is to look to Russia.” 

Gandhi did not misread these signs. “We are not yet in the midst of 
civil war,” he stated on September 9th, “but we are nearing it.” Shoot¬ 
ings and stabbings occurred in Bombay throughout September. A' 
Moslem black Sag was like a red flag to a Hindu. Trouble spread to the 
Punjab. Violence shook Bengal and Bihar. 

The Moslem League announced that it would abstain from the 
national G)nstituent Assembly. * 

Alarmed by the disturbed state of the nation, Wavell redoubled his 
efforts to win Moslem League adherence to the new government. Jinnah 
finally agreed, and appointed four Moslem League members and one 
untouchable who was an opponent of Gandhi. The Moslem League 
always proclaimed itself a religious body representing the Moslems of 
India. Why then should it have appointed an untouchable, a Hindu? 
Obviously to annoy Congress and the caste Hindus. It was a bad augury 
for the new government. And, in fact, Nawabzada Liaquat All Khan, 
Finance Member and foremost League spokesman in the government, 
announced that he and his colleagues did not recognize the government 
as a coalition and felt no obligation to co-operate with Nehru and the 
other Congress ministers. The government was a house divided—by 
religion. 

Every day Gandhi preached against the uninterrupted violence be¬ 
tween the two communities. "Some people even rejoice,” he said, "that 
Hindus are now strong enough to kill in return those who tried to kill 
them. I would far rather that Hindus died without retaliation. . . .” 

At the same time he remembered his other causes and stressed the 
need for more khadi production; he protested against mistreatment of 
Harijans: “If there is an epidemic they are beaten and cannot draw 
water from the wells. They live in hovels.” He wanted the Salt Tax 
completely annulled, but he asked the people to be patient in this 
regard; the new ministers were overwhelmed with unaccustomed tasks. 

Most Congress ministers and many of their assistants as well as pro- 
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vincial officials came to Gandhi’s hut in the Harijan quarter (or frequent 
visits—sometimes daily—to ask his advice and approval Gandhi was 
“super-Prime Minister." 

He wrote on leprosy and the need of collective prayer, on the regime 
in Indian jails and discrimination in South Africa, on lagging food pro¬ 
duction and the gods in the Hindu Pantheon. Each day he gave instruc¬ 
tions for his meals the next day. Whenever possible, he made diary 
entries. "It seems to be so very hard," he wrote one night, "to maintain 
detachment of mind in the midst of raging fire.” And he told a friend, 
"Why could I not suffer this anguish with unruffled calmness of spirit? 
1 am afraid I have not the detachment required for living to 125 years." 

The raging fire of Hindu-Moslem strife gave him no rest. Yet his 
faith in human beings persisted. "In Bombay a Hindu gave shelter to 
a Moslem friend the other day,” he wrote on October 15th. ‘This in¬ 
furiated a Hindu mob who demanded the head of the Moslem friend. 
The Hindu would not surrender his friend. So both went down literally 
in deadly embrace. This was how it was described to me authentically. 
Nor is this the first instance of chivalry in the midst of frenzy. During 
the recent blood bath in Calcutta, stories of Moslems having, at the 
peril of their lives, sheltered their Hindu friends and vice versa were 
recorded. Mankind would die if there were no exhibition any time and 
anywhere of the divine in man." 

Gandhi now went in search of the divine in maddened men. 
Widespread Moslem attacks on Hindus had taken place during Oc¬ 

tober in the distant Noakhali and Tippera rural areas of east Bengal. 
These seemed to alarm the Mahatma more than urban disturbances. 
Theretofore, interreligious amity had prevailed in India’s villages. If 
now community hatred invaded the countryside it might doom the 
nation to destruction. Gandhi decided to go to the scene of the trouble. 
Unless he could stem the violence life would have no attraction for him. 
Friends tried to dissuade him. His health was peor. The Congress mem¬ 
bers of the government wanted him nearby. “All I know is that I won’t 
be at peace with myself unless I go there,” he replied. He wondered 
whether he would accomplish anything. But he had to try. He told 
people not to come to the station to see him off and get his blessing. He 
was in no mood for it. 

They came in hordes. The government gave him a special train (the 
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British had done likewise) because when he went by the regular ex¬ 
press the crowds that wanted to catch a glimpse of him delayed the 
train for hours and disrupted all traffic schedules. At the big cities where 
the special stopped, vast multitudes beleaguered the terminals and 
swarmed over ffie tracks. They mounted the roof of the station, broke 
glass windows and wooden shutters, and created an ear-splitting din. 
Several times the conductor gave the signal for departure but someone 
pulled the emergency cord and the train stopped with a jerk. At one 
station the railway authorities turned the fire hose on the people but 
the water flooded Gandhi’s compartment. He anived in Calcutta five 
hours late, tired from the noise and commotion, and sad. 

The day he left New Delhi, 32 persons were killed in another inter¬ 
religious riot in Calcutta; military reinforcements rushed to the scene. 
Police and . troops were kept busy night and day dispersing bands of 
hoodlums who attacked one another with kerosene bombs, bricks, and 
soda-water bottles. The day after his arrival in Calcutta, Candhi paid a 
brief courtesy call on Sir Frederick Burrows, the British governor, and 
a longer visit to Mr. H. S. Suhrawardy, the Moslem prime minister of 
Bengal province. 'The next day, October 31st, he again saw Suhrawardy, 
and together they drove through deserted streets piled two-feet high 
with uncollected garbage and saw many rows of stores and houses gutted 
in the most recent as well as in the August disturbances. He was over¬ 
come, Gandhi said, by “a sinking feeling at the mass madness that can 
turn man into less than a brute.” Yet he remained an optimist. This 
could not go on much longer; he thought the citizens of Calcutta were 
already beginning to sicken at their own hideous excesses. 

He was going to Noakhali, the rural area where Moslems had killed 
Hindus, forcibly converted Hindus to Islam, ravished Hindu women, 
and burned Hindu homes and temples. “It was the cry of outraged 
womanhood,” he told his prayer meeting, "that has peremptorily called 
me to Noakhali. ... I am not going to leave Bengal until the last 
embers of the trouble are stamped out. I may stay on here for a whole 
year or more. If necessary, I will die here. But I will not acquiesce in 
failure. If the only effect of my presence in the flesh is to make people 
look up to me in hope and expectation which I can do nothing to vindi¬ 
cate, it would be far better that my eyes were closed in death.” 

Many members of the congregation wiped tears from their eyes. 
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But worse woes were in store for the sorrowing Mahatma. In the 

neighboring province of Bihar, with a population of 31,000,000 Hindus 

and 5,000,000 Moslems, the events in Noakhali and Tippera had in¬ 

censed the majority community; CXrtober 25th was declared "Noakhali 

Day." Speeches by Congressmen and sensational newspaper headlines 

whipped the Hindus into hysteria, and thousands parad^ the streets 

and country lanes shouting "Blood for blood.” In the next week, "the 

number of persons officials verified as killed by rioters,” wrote the Delhi 

correspondent of the London Times, was 4,580; Gandhi later put the 

total at more than ten thousand. They were preponderantly Moslem. 

The news of the Bihar atrocities reached Gandhi in Calcutta and 

filled him with grief. He addressed a manifesto to the Biharis: “Bihar of 

my dreams seems to have falsified them.. .. The misdeeds of the Bihari 

Hindus may justify Qaid-e-Azam Jinnah’s taunt that the Congress is a 

Hindu organization in spite of its boast that it has in its ranks a few 

Sikhs, Moslems, Christians, Parsis and others. . . . Let not Bihar, which 

has done so much to raise the prestige of Congress, be the first to dig 

its grave.” 

As penance, Gandhi announced, he would keep himself “on the 

lowest diet possible,” and this would become “a fast unto death if the 

erring Biharis have not turned over a new leaf.” 

Expecting vengeance in Bengal for the horrors of Bihar, Nehru and 

Patel, and Liaquat AH Khan and Abdur Rab Nishtar, two Moslem 

members of the interim government, rushed by air from Delhi to Cal¬ 

cutta. Lord Wavell also came. The sacred Islamic festival of the Id 

impended when Moslems might rise to fervor and frenzy. The ministers 

appealed to the populace to remain calm. Soldiers patrolled the city and 

countryside. 

Nehru and Patel begged Gandhi not to fast unto death; they, and the 

nation, needed him. 

From Calcutta, the four ministers flew to Bihar. Infuriated by what 

he saw and heard. Prime Minister Nehru threatened to bomb Bihar 

from the air if the Hindus did not desist from killings. “But that was 

the British way,” Gandhi commented. “By suppressing the riots with 

the aid of the military they would be suppressing India’s freedom,” he 

said. "And yet what was Panditji to do if Congress had lost control over 

the people?” 
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Nehru announced he would remain in Bihar until the province be¬ 

came calm. On November 5th, Gandhi sent a letter to him there saying, 

"The news from Bihar has shaken me. ... If even half of what one 

hears is true, it shows that Bihar has forgotten humanity. . . . My inner 

voice tells me, *¥00 may not live to be a witness to this senseless 

slaughter. . . . Does it not mean that your day is over?’ The logic of 

the argument is driving me inesistibly towards a fast.” 

The Id holiday passed quietly in Calcutta and elsewhere. Reassuring 

message reached the Mahatma from Bihar. His duty lay in Noakhali 

where frightened Hindus were fleeing before Moslem violence. Fear is 

the enemy of freedom and democracy. Non-violent bravery is the anti¬ 

dote to violence. He would teach the Noakhali Hindus to be brave by 

being brave with them. Equally important, Gandhi wanted to know 

whether he could influence Moslems. If they were not accessible to the 

spirit of non-violence and non-retaliation and brotherhood, how could 

there be a free, united India? 

"Supposing someone killed me,” Gandhi said. "You will gain nothing 

by killing someone in retaliation. And if you think over it, who can kill 

Gandhi except Gandhi himself? No one can destroy the soul.” 

. Did he think a Moslem in Noakhali might murder him, and was he 

afraid that in revenge Hindus would massacre Moslems throughout 

India? 

The impulse to go to Noakhali was irresistible. He abandoned the 

idea of a fast for Bihar. 

Gandhi left Calcutta on the morning of November 6th. Noakhali is 

one of the least accessible areas of India. It lies in tho water-logged delta 

of the Ganges and Brahmaputra Rivers. Transportation and daily living 

present gigantic difflculties. Many villages can be reached only by a small 

rowboat. Even the bullock cart, symbol of retarded India, cannot tra¬ 

verse the roads of the district. Phillips Talbot, correspondent of the 

Institute of Current Affairs of New York, spent four days traveling by 

rail, steamer, bicycle, hand-poled ferry, and on foot from Calcutta to a 

settlement where the Mahatma had pitched his camp. The region, 40 

miles square, is thick with human beings, 2,500,000 of them; 80 per 

cent are Moslem. It was rent by civil strife and steeped in religious 

bitterness. Some villages had been laid in ruin. 

Gandhi deliberately accepted the physical and spiritual challenge 
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presented by this remote region. Month after month he persevered. "My 
present mission,” he wrote from Noakhali on December 5th, "is the 
most difficult and complicated one of my life. ... I am prepared for 
any eventuality. ‘Do or Die’ has to be put to the test here. ‘Do’ here 
means Hindus and Mussulmans should learn to live together in peace 
and amity. Otherwise, I should die in the attempt.” 

Several ministers of the Bengal government and a group of Gandhi’s 
secretaries and assistants had accompanied him to Noakhali. He dis¬ 
persed his disciples among the villages and remained alone with Pro¬ 
fessor Nirmal Bose who was his Bengali interpreter, Parasuram, his 
permanent stenographer, and Manu Gandhi. He said he would prepare 
his own food and do his own massage. Friends protested that he needed 
police protection against Moslems; Sushila Nayyar, his doctor, should 
remain near him, they said. No, she and her brother Pyarelal, and 
Sucheta Kripalani and even young Abba, the wife of Kanu Gandhi, 
and Kanu himself, each of them must settle alone in a village, often a 
hostile, isolated village, and by their example and love, wean it from the 
ways of violence. Pyarelal was laid low with malaria. He sent a note to 
Gandhi asking whether Sushila could not come to nurse him. “Those 
who go to the villages have to go there with a determination to live or 
die there,” Gandhi replied. “If they must fall ill they have to get well 
there or die there. Then alone could the going have any meaning. In 
practice this means that they must be content with home remedies or 
the therapy of nature’s ‘five elements.’ Dr. Sushila has her own village 
to look to. Her services are not at present meant for the members of our 
party. They are pre-mortgaged to the village folk of East Bengal.” He 
was subjecting himself to the same cruel, unyielding discipline. 

Gandhi lived in 49 villages during his Noakhali pilgrimage. He 
would rise at 4 in the morning, walk three or four miles on bare feet to 
a village, stay there one or two or three days talking and praying inces¬ 
santly with the inhabitants, and then trek to dse next village. Arrived 
in a place, he would go to a peasant’s hut, preferably a Moslem’s hut, 
and ask to be taken in with his companions. If rebuffed he would try 
the next hut. He subsisted on local fruits and vegetables and goat’s milk 
if he could get it. This was his life from November 7, 1946, to March 2, 
1947. He had just passed his seventy-seventh birthday. 

llie walking was difficult. Gandhi developed chilblains. But he 
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rarely put on sandals. The Noakhali troubles arose because he had failed 
to cure the people of non-violence. This was therefore a pilgrimage of 
penance, and in penance the pilgrim wears no shoes. Sometimes hostile 
elements strewed broken glass, brambles, and filth in his path. He did 
not blame them; they had been misled by their politicians. In many 
places, walking involved the crossing of bridges built over low, marshy 
land. The bridges stood on bamboo stilts often ten or fifteen feet high 
and consisted of four or five bamboo poles about four inches in diameter 
lashed together with jute rope or vines. These crude, shaking structures 
occasionally had one siderail for support, often not. Once Gandhi’s foot 
slipped and he might have fallen to the muddy earth far below, but he 
nimbly regained his balance. To become proficient and fearless in such 
crossings he practiced, wherever he could, on bridges a few inches above 
the ground. 

Mr. Arthur Henderson told the House of Commons on November 4, 
1946, that the dead in the Noakhali and contiguous Tippera districts 
had not yet been counted but “will,” according to estimates, “be low in 
the three figures category.” The Bengal government put the number of 
casualties at 218; some families, however, hid their victims out of fear. 
Over ten thousand houses were looted in the two districts. In Tippera 
9,895 persons were forcibly converted to Islam; in Noakhali inexact data 
su^ested that the number of converts was greater. Thousands of Hindu 
women were abducted and married to Moslems against their will. 
Gandhi was deeply depressed by the conversions and abductions. 

To convert Hindu women Moslems broke their bangles and removed 
the “happiness mark” on their foreheads which showed they were not 
widows. Hindu men were compelled to grow beards, to twist their loin¬ 
cloths the Moslem instead of the Hindu way, and to recite the Koran. 
Stone idols were smashed and Hindu temples desecrated. Worst of all, 
Hindus were made to slaughter their cows if they had any or, fh any 
case, to eat meat. It was felt that the Hindu community would not 
accept back into its fold one who had killed a sacred beast or partaken 
of its flesh. 

In the beginning, several of Gandhi’s associates suggested that he 
urge Hindus to abandon the affected areas and settle in other provinces. 
He passionately rejected such defeatism. To exchange populations 
would he a recognition of the impossibility of keeping India united. 
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Moreover, it would deny a basic tenet o( Gandhi’s faith: that an affinity 
exists or can easily be established between people who are different or 
think themselves different. Love and tolerance between the unlike are 
greater virtues than between the like. 

After he had studied the problem in Noakhali, Gandhi decided it was 
necessary to choose one Moslem and one Hindu in each village who 
would guarantee the safety of all the inhabitants and die, if need be, in 
their protection. With this in view, he interviewed members of both 
religious communities. He was once sitting on the floor of a hut in the 
midst of a group of Moslems and discoursing on the beauties of ntm* 
violence. Sucheta Kripalani passed a note to the Mahatma saying that 
the man on his right had killed a number of Hindus in the recent riots. 
Gandhi smiled faintly and went on speaking. Unless you hang the 
murderer—and Gandhi did not believe in hanging—you must try to cure 
him with goodness. If you imprison him there will be others. Gandhi 
knew he was dealing with a social disease; the liquidation of one or 
many individuals could not extirpate it. The criminals who feared retri¬ 
bution would remain on the highway and repeat their crimes. Gandhi 
therefore forgave them, and told them so, and told the Hindus to for¬ 
give them; indeed he told them that he shared their guilt because he 
had failed to remove Hindu-Moslem antagonisms. 

The world is full of such antagonisms, and the ordinary individual is 
their victim as well as their agent. “But I say unto you. Love your 
enemies, bless them that curse you, do good to them that hate you, and 
pray for them which despitefully use you and persecute you. . . . For if 
ye love them which love you, what reward have ye?” Thus Jesus spoke. 
Thus Gandhi lived. 

Generations back, the ancestors of many Noakhali Moslems to whom 
Gandhi was appealing had been Hindus and were forcibly converted 
to the Koran by the sword. Either they retained part of the Hindu 
temper or the Gandhian method has a univeral application. To one 
village, for instance, Gandhi had sent a young Moslem disdple. Miss 
Amtul Salam. She found that Moslems continued to mistreat their 
Hindu neighbors. “In the Gandhian tradition,” reports Phillips Talbot, 
“she decided not to eat until Moslems returned a sacrificial sword which 
during the October upheaval had been looted from a Hindu home. 
Now, a fast concentrates very heavy social pressure on its objects, as 
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Indians have long since learned. The sword was never found. Possibly 
it had been drop^ into a pond. Whatever had happened, the nervous 
Moslem residents were almost ready to agree to anything when Gandhi 
arrived in that village on the twenty-fifth day of Miss Salam’s fast. Her 
doctor reported that life was ebbing. After hours of discussion Cwhich 
. . . Gandhi took as seriously as the Cabinet Delegation negotiations) 
Gandhi persuaded the village leaders to sign a pledge that they would 
never molest Hindus again.” 

The return of the sword would have symbolized amity, Gandhi' 
explained. 

Gandhi and his associates were working against heavy odds. In the 
beginning of his tour, Moslems fiocked to his prayer meetings. But poli¬ 
ticians in Calcutta discouraged this practice. And Mohammedan priests 
inveighed against it. They charged that the Mahatma was suborning 
the faithful. Sometimes Gandhi would interrupt his services to let the 
Moslems withdraw temporarily to the fringe of the congregation and 
turn west to Mecca and say their prayers. He had an attraction for 
Moslems which neither political Moslems nor religious Moslems 
relished. 

Gandhi addressed his meetings in Hindustani. Then an interpreter 
gave the Bengali translation. Gandhi would sit on the prayer platform 
during the translation and make notes of his own speech which he 
would then publish: "Some Moslems feared that he had come to sup¬ 
press them. He could assure them that he had never suppressed anyone 
in his life.” 

“I have told our people,” Gandhi said in an interview, “not to depend 
on military and police aid. You have to uphold democracy, and democ¬ 
racy and dependence on the military and police are incompatible.” He 
wanted to restore a sense of popular security by changing the minds of 
the people. “For me,” he told a friend, “if this thing is pulled through 
it will be the crowning act of my life. ... 1 don’t want to return from 
Bengal in a defeatist way. 1 would rather die, if need be, at the hand 
of an assassin." 

At times, his closest co-workers were afraid of what might happen to 
them alone in remote villages. “You are not to rush into danger unneces¬ 
sarily,” he instructed them, “but unflinchingly face whatever comes in 
the natural course." 
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January 6tb, was Gandhi’s day of silence, and his prayer-meedng 
address was read to the congregation while he sat and listened and 
nodded assent. They were in the little village of Chandipur and he told 
them why he was there: “I have only one object in view and it is a clear 
one; namely that God should purify the hearts of Hindus and Moslems, 
and the two communities should be free from suspicion and fear of one 
another. Please join with me in this prayer and say that God is the Lord 
of us both and that He may give us success." 

Why did he have to come such a long way to do this? “My answer is 
that during my tour I wish to assure the villagers to the best of my 
capacity that 1 bear not the least ill-will towards any. I can prove this 
only by living and moving among those who mistrust me.” 

In this village Gandhi received information that Hindus who had 
fled during the riots were beginning to return. On the other hand, 
attendance at prayer meetings was dwindling. "But,” Gandhi wrote, 
reporting his own speech, "he said that even then there would be no 
reason for him to give up his mission in despair. He would then roam 
from village to village taking his spinning wheel. With him it was an 
act of service to God.” 

On January 17th, the newspapers stated that during the last six days 
Gandhi had been working twenty hours out of every twenty-four. He 
had spent each of those days in a different village, and the people were 
flocking to his hut for advice, comfort, and confessions. 

At Narayanpur village, a Moslem gave him shelter for the night and 
food during the day. Gandhi thanked him publicly. Such hospitality 
was becoming more frequent. 

His Moslem host asked Gandhi why he did not come to an under¬ 
standing with Jinnah instead of subjecting himself to such a strenuous 
pilgrimage. A leader, he replied, was made by his followers. The people 
must make peace among themselves, and “then their desire for neigh¬ 
borly peace would be reflected by their leaders. ... If a neighbor was 
ailing would they run to the Congress or the League to ask them what 

should be done?” 
Would not literacy help, Gandhi was asked. He held that it was not 

enough. The Germans were literate yet they succumbed to Hitler. Tt 
is not literacy or learning that make a man,” Gandhi said, “but educa* 
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don for real life. What would it matter if they knew everything but did 

not know how to live in brotherliness with their neighbors?” 

“If the question is between taking one’s own life or that of the 

assailant, which would you advise?” 

‘1 have no doubt in my mind,” Gandhi declared, “that the first should 

be the choice.” 

Five thousand persons came to his prayer meeting on January 22nd 

in the village of Paniala where, several weeks earlier, a large intercom 

munity dinner had taken place with Hindus, Moslems, and untouch¬ 

ables sitting shoulder to shoulder. “What in your opinion is the cause 

of the commrmal riots?” someone asked. 

“The idiocy of both communities,” he replied. 

The prayer meeting at Muraim on January 24th was the largest of 

the pilgrimage. Gandhi attributed it to the successful fast of Miss Amtul 

Salam, who was a devout Moslem and a member of the Mahatma’s 

ashram. 

’What should a woman do if she is attacked?” Gandhi was asked at 

Palla on January 27th. “Should she commit suicide?” 

“Surrender,” he answered, “has no room in my plan of life. A woman 

should most certainly take her own life rather than surrender.” 

Was she to carry poison with her or a knife? 

“It is not for me to prescribe the means,” Gandhi said. “And behind 

the approval of suicide in such circumstances is the belief that one whose 

mind is prepared for even suicide will have the requisite courage for 

such mental resistance and such internal purity that her assailant will 

be disarmed.” 

Sometimes economic questions were raised at prayer meetings. Did 

Gandhi think the landowner’s share in crops should be reduced from 

one-half to one-third? 

Yes, he welcomed the move. “The land belongs to the Lord of us all 

and therefore to the worker on it. But until that ideal state of things 

came about the movement toward the reduction of the landlord’s portion 

was in the right direction.” Many of the landlords were Hindus, and the 

riots were partly motivated by resentment against high rents. 

Dr. Sushila Nayyar was stationed in the village of Changirgaon. She 

wanted to go to the hospital in the Sevagram Ashram which she had 

set up, but the Moslem patients begged her to stay and she stayed. Shs, 
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also reported that Moslems were, of their own accord, returning some of 

the loot they took in October* "A happy omen,'* Gandhi called it If the 

infection spread, the courts would have less work to do. He aspired to 

no truce imposed by the military; he wanted a change of heart. 

Four young Moslem men came to Gandhi s hut for an exchange of 

views. Their visit gave him joy; he sought intimate contact with the 

people. He told them, incidentally, that the figures on Moslem killings 

of Hindus in Noakhali had been exaggerated; there were not thousands. 

The Hindus had behaved much worse in Bihar. 

At Srinagar village on February 5th the volunteers had erected a 

platform and canopy. This was a waste of labor and money, Gandhi 

chided them. ‘'All I need," he told the prayer meeting, "is a raised seat 

with something clean and soft to rest my fatless and muscleless bones." 

llien he laughed and showed his toothless gums. 

He lectured next day s congregation on cleanliness. He liked to walk 

barefoot on the village streets and on the road, but why did they spit 

and clear their noses on them? He sometimes had to wear sandals. No 

doubt, chronic poverty was responsible for the prevalence of disease in 

India, but chronic breach of the laws of sanitation was no less re¬ 

sponsible, he said. 

The poorer Moslems attended Gandhi's meetings in larger numbers 

than the rich. Tales reached him that the propertied and educated 

Moslems were threatening the poor with economic sanctions. They dis¬ 

played anti-Gandhi posters. Returning from Bishkatali in the Tippera 

district on February 20th, Gandhi walked through beautiful bamboo 

woods and coconut groves. Hanging from trees he saw placards reading, 

"Remember Bihar, Leave Tippera Immediately"; "Repeatedly you have 

been warned. Yet you insist on roaming from house to house. You must 

leave for your own good"; "Go where you are needed. Your hypocrisy 

will not be tolerated. Accept Pakistan." 

Yet crowds at meetings grew in size. 

In Raipura, on a Sunday, Gandhi was present at a dinner given by 

Hindu merchants to two thousand persons, including caste Hindus, 

Moslems, Harijans, and Christians. The local Moslem priest took 

Gandhi to the village mosque. 

Elsewhere a student asked Gandhi whether it was not true that 

Christianity and Islam were progressive religions and Hinduism static 
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or retrogressive. ‘‘No," he replied, "I have noticed no definite progress in 

any religion. The world would not he the shambles it has become if the 

religions of the world were progressive.” 

“If there is only one God,” a questioner said, "should there not be 

only one religion?” 

"A tree has a million leaves,” Gandhi replied. “There are as many 

religions as there are men and women, but they are all rooted in God.” 

A written query was handed to the Mahatma: “Should religious in¬ 

struction form part of the school curriculum as approved by the state? Do 

you favor separate schools for children belonging to different denomina¬ 

tions for facility of religious instruction?” 

Gandhi replied, “1 do not believe in state religion even though the 

whole community has one religion. State interference will probably 

always be unwelcome. Religion is purely a personal matter. ... I am 

also opposed to state aid partly or wholly to religious bodies. For I know 

that an institution or group which does not manage to finance its own 

religious teaching is a stranger to true religion. This does not mean that 

state schools would not give ethical teaching. The fundamental ethics 

are common to all religions.” 

Moslem critics warned him not to discuss purdah. How dare a Hindu 

tell their women to expose their faces? He nevertheless discussed it. 

Segregation of women was a species of violence and led to other forms 

of compulsion. 

On March 2, 1947, Gandhi left Noakhali for Bihar province. He 

promised to return some day. He promised to return because his mission 

had not been completed. He had not established the brotherhood of 

Hindus and Moslems in Noakhali. Relations had improved perceptibly 

but insufficiently. 

Gandhi’s task in Noakhali consisted in restoring inner calm so that 

the refugee Hindus could return and feel safe and so that Moslems 

would not attack them again. The malady was deep; the violent erup¬ 

tions, however, were infrequent and ephemeral. Gandhi, therefore, did 

not despair. He felt that the local communities, undisturbed by outside 

political propaganda, could live in peace. 

The call of Noakhali had been insistent. Gandhi might have sent 

a message from Delhi or preached a sermon. But he was a man of action, 

a Karma yogi. He believed that the difference between what we do 
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and what we could do would suffice to solve most of the world’s prob¬ 
lems. All his life he endeavored to eliminate that difference. He gave 
his maximum. 

CHAPTER FORTY-FIVE 

Asia’s Message to the West 

Late in November, 1946, Prime Minister Attlee summoned Nehru, 
Defense Minister Baldev Singh, Jinnah, and Liaquat Ali Khan to 10 
Downing Street for an extraordinary conference. 

The Constituent Assembly was to meet in New Delhi on December 
9th; Jinnah had repeatedly declared that the Moslem League would boy¬ 
cott it. The object of the Downing Street conference was to bring the 
Moslem League into the Constituent Assembly. For if the Assembly was 
a predominantly Congress affair, with the Moslems outside, how, the 
argument ran, could England transfer power to it and leave India? 

Originally, the Moslem League had accepted the Cabinet Mission’s 
plan of May 16, 1946, and thereby agreed to go into the Constituent 
Assembly. Later, however, it had withdrawn. 

The issue on which Jinnah withdrew from the Assembly provoked 
hot discussions and fierce hatreds. What was it? 

Article 19 of the Cabinet Mission’s plan stipulated that the Con¬ 
stituent Assembly would first meet in New Delhi for a short, formal 
session and then break up into three sections corresponding to three 
groups of provinces: Group A comprised the center, the heart of India, 
and was overwhelmingly Hindu; Group B Included the Northwest 
Frontier Province, Sind, and the Punjab, and was largely Moslem in 
population; Group C, in the northeast, consisted of Bengal and Assam. 

Each section would draft a constitution for its group of provinces. 
But if a province did not like the constitution it could stay out tff the 
group. 

Thus, Hindu Assam would be required to sh in Section C witli 
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Modem Bengal, and participate in the drafting of a constitution fbi 
Group C. But should Assam dislike the final constitution it could secede 
from Group C and stand alone, or, possibly, join Group A. The sections 
were compulsory, the groups voluntary. 

Gandhi objected. He said it was compulsion and a waste of effort. 
Moreover, Bengal, which would have a big majority in Section C, might 
draw up a constitution that tied Assam to Group C. And why should 
the Northwest Frontier Province, predominantly Moslem yet always 
anti-Jinnah, be forced to sit with the Punjab and Sind? 

The sections and groups were introduced into the Cabinet Mission’s 
plan in order to satisfy Jinnah; they were a halfway or perhaps a quarter¬ 
way house to Pakistan. They divided India into three federated units. 
For that very reason Gandhi rejected them. 

While Gandhi was in Noakhali, the Congress organizations of neigh¬ 
boring Assam sent emissaries to him to ask for guidance. He told them 
hhintly to refuse to go into the sections even if the national Congress 
leaders told them to go in. 

It was to resolve this difficulty that Nehru, Baldev Singh, Jinnah, and 
Liaquat Ali Khan made their hasty airplane trip to London early in 
December. 

During his stay in London, Jinnah declared publicly that he expected 
India to be divided into a Hindu state and a Moslem state. He shared 
Mr. Churchill’s apprehensions, he added, “regarding the possibility of 
civil strife and riots in India.’’ Both halves of the declarations were 
program rather than prophecy. 

'There had already been enough riots to lead the British to expect 
more unless Jinnah got the half-Pakistan or quarter-Pakistan implicit 
in the sections and groups. But although Attlee succeeded, after great 
exertion, in bringing the Congress and League ministers into his 
Downing Street office, the conference ended in disagreement. 

Atdee thereupon announced on December 6th that if the Constituent 
Assembly adopted a constitution without the co-operation of the Moslem 
League “His Majesty’s Government could not, of course, contemplate 
... forcing such a constitution upon any unwilling parts of the country.” 

This meant that one part of India would accept the constitution and 
another part might reject it. Again India faced partition. 

Soon after Nehru’s return foom London he made the long journey 
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from New Delhi to the village of Srirampur in Noakhali and, on De¬ 
cember 27, 1946, reported to the Mahatma on the historic failure to 
agree in Downing Street. 

But Gandhi repeated his advice to Assam, and to the Sikhs, to remain 
aloof from the constitutional sections and groups. He regarded them as 
devices to split India and refused to countenance anything that con¬ 
tributed to division. 

The All-India Congress Committee, however, resolved on January 
6, 1947, by a vote of 99 against 52, to accept the sections. 

Gandhi’s inBuence in Congress was waning. 
Gandhi had gone to Noakhali to reinforce the human bond between 

Hindus and Moslems before politics and legal enactments tore it 
asunder. He dreaded the consequences of the bisection of India. In New 
York, on October 16, 1949, Prime Minister Nehru stated that he would 
have fought to the end against the establishment of Pakistan if he had 
foreseen the dire results that flowed from it. 

Perhaps Gandhi intuitively anticipated these results. The division of 
India caused the violent death of hundreds of thousands of Indians. 
It caused fifteen million refugees to wander unhappily from their homes 
into distant uncertainty. It provoked the war in Kashmir. It brought 
gigantic economic losses to all parts of the country. It fed a continuing 
religious-nationalistic bitterness with disastrous potentialities. 

Even though the Congress leaders were not as perceptive as Gandhi 
they knew that no good could come of partition. Why then did they 
acquiesce in Attlee’s December 6th statement? 

In 1942, Congress President Maulana Azad said to me in Nehru’s 
presence that Congress abhorred the idea of the division of India but 
could not reject it indefinitely if the Moslems wanted it. He was 
opposed, however, he said, to "divorce before marriage.’’ First they must 
try to live together in a united independent India, and if it did not 
work, then there would be time enough to separate. 

Now Nehru, Patel, Azad, and the other Congress members had had 
a taste of marriage; they had been sitting in the government with 
Moslem Leaguers who obviously entered the Cabinet to disrupt it The 
experience was a harrowing one. It frayed the nerves of the Congress 
leaders. It destroyed their faith in Congress-League collaboration. 

Gandhi still believed in Hindu-Moslem friendship. Nehru and Patel 
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were reconciled to the constitutional sections knowing that this might be 
the beginning of Pakistan but seeing no way out except civil war. They 
hoped Jinnah would be happy with the division into three federated 
states and forego Pakistan. 

The next step was a statement by Prime Minister Attlee in the 
House of Commons on February 20, 1947, that England would quit 
India "by a date not later than June, 1948." Simultaneously, it became 
known that Lord (Admiral Louis) Mountbatten, a great grandson of 
Queen Victoria, would succeed Lord Wavell as V’iceroy; he would be 
the twentieth and last British Viceroy of India. 

To whom would Britain transfer power? On this key question Attlee, 
according to Lord Pethick-Lawrence, “was less precise.” His Majesty’s 
Government, Attlee asserted, would have to determine whether power 
should be handed over “to some form of central government” or in some 
areas “to the existing provincial governments” or “in some other way 
as may seem most reasonable and in the best interests of the Indian 
people.” 

Nehru found this rather vague but he welcomed the whole statement 
as “wise and courageous”; it removed "all misconception and suspicion.” 

The Working Committee, in its session during the first week of 
March, officially approved of Attlee’s new utterance and, in view of the 
impending “swift transfer of power,” invited the Moslem League to 
talks. Simultaneously, the Committee took cognizance of the widespread 
bloodshed in the populous Punjab. Indeed, it took such a somber and 
serious view of events there that it envisaged “a division of the Punjab 
into two provinces, so that the predominantly Moslem part may be 
separated from the predominantly non-Moslem part.” 

The Punjab situation was ominous. According to a reply given on 
May 2r, 1946, in the House of Commons by the Earl of Listowel, the 
Secretary of State for India and Burma, 4,014 persons had been killed 
in disturbances in India between November 18, 1946, and May 18, 
1947, and of these, 3,024 were killed in fighting between Moslems and 
Sikhs and Hindus in the Punjab. 

Disturbed by events further west, Gandhi left east Bengal for Bihar. 
Without a da/s respite, he began a tour of the province. In village and 
dty, he chastised the Bihari Hindus. 'They “had forgotten in a fit of 
insanity that they were human beings.” 
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One day he listened for hours to reports by Moslems and Hindus 
about continued tension. Nobody could assure him “that things had 
completely settled down to complete normality." The recital so dr^ him 
mentally that he had to take a brief nap before services. 

Another day he apologized for coming to prayers in an automobile; 
the Biharis “should know the art of welcoming people in a quiet and 
dignified manner instead of the present embarrassing manner.” Thou¬ 
sands had tried to come near enough to touch him or kiss his feet. 

Wherever he went he preached repentance and restitution. All kid¬ 
naped Moslem women should be returned. Compensation should he 
paid for property looted or destroyed. 

A telegram arrived from a Hindu warning the Mahatma not to con¬ 
demn Hindus for what they had done. Gandhi mentioned the telegram 
at his prayer meeting and said, “1 would forfeit my claim to being a 
Hindu if I bolstered the wrongdoing of fellow Hindus or of any other 
fellow being.” He cautioned them against avenging the killings of 
Hindus in the Punjab. 

He knew that even worshipful Hindus were irritated by his message 
of love. Nevertheless, he began collecting money at all his meetings for 
the relief of aggrieved Moslems. In Patna, two thousand rupees were 
gathered at one assembly, and a number of women contributed their 
personal jewelry. 

Before he spoke in any locality, Gandhi visited the ruined homes of 
Moslems or Moslem families who had suffered death or physical injury. 
The deeper he penetrated into the Bihar tragedy the more it obsess^ 
him; he would not leave the province until “both the communities had 
become friendly with one another and no longer needed his services.” 
He insisted that Hindus call back the Moslems who had fled and rebuild 
their huts and re-establish them in business. He summoned Hindus 
guilty of atrocities to surrender. 

The day Gandhi arrived in the town of Masarhi “fifty persons,” he 
reported, “who were wanted in connection with the riot cases” sur¬ 
rendered to the police. He welcomed that, and hoped others would 
follow suit. If the criminals lacked the courage to surrender to the 
authorities they should come to him or to Ghaffar Khan, “the Frondet 
Gandhi,” or to General Shah Nawaz of the Indian National Army, 
who were accompanying him on the tour, and confess. 
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As his automobile moved across the countryside, groups of Hindus 
signaled him to stop and gave him purses for Moslems. This was the 
way to stop violence, not with the aid of the military and the police. 

Hindus were boycotting Moslem stores and firms. He begged them to 
abandon such intolerance. He asked them to recant publicly in order 
to reassure the Moslems. “But he was sorry to say that not one Hindu 
got up to give the needed assurance. . . . There was little cause for 
wonder, therefore, if the Moslems were afraid to return to their villages.”. 
He warned them that “Indians might lose the golden apple of inde¬ 
pendence.” There was renewed agitation among Biharis to avenge the 
Moslem attacks on Hindus and Sikhs in the Punjab. “If ever you be¬ 
come mad again,” he cried out, “you must destroy me first.” It was his 
fourth week in Bihar. 

On March 22, 1947, Lord Mountbatten, handsome in white naval 
uniform, arrived in New Delhi with his wife, Edwina, the Vicereine; 
their charm and informality and his first political declaration made a fine 
impression. Twenty-four hours later, Jinnah stated publicly that par¬ 
tition was the only solution; otherwise there would be “terrific disasters.” 

Within four days of his arrival, Mountbatten invited Gandhi and 
Jinnah to the palace. Gandhi was deep in Bihar. Mountbatten offered 
to bring him out by airplane. Gandhi said he prefened a means of 
locomotion used by the millions. At the station, before the train left 
Patna, the Mahatma collected money for Harijan relief. 

Gandhi conferred with Mountbatten for two and a quarter hours on 
March 31st. 

The next day, Gandhi visited the Asian Relations Conference which 
had been sitting in New Delhi since March 23rd; delegates attended 
from most countries of Asia and from five constituent republics of the 
Soviet Union. Asked to speak, he said he would deliver an address at 
the closing session the next day, but if there were any questions now 
he would try to answer them. 

Did he believe in One World and could it succeed under present 
conditions? 

“I will not like to live in this world if it is not to be one,” Gandhi 
replied. “Certainly I should like to see this dream realized in my life¬ 
time. I hope that all the representatives who have come here from the 
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Asian countries will strive their level best to have only one world.” K 
they worked with "fixed determination” the dream could come true. 

Answering a Chinese delegate's question about a permanent Asia In¬ 
stitute, he drifted far from the subject and discussed what was upper¬ 
most in his mind. “I am sorry,” he said, “that 1 have to refer to the 
conditions we see today [in India]. We do not know how to keep peace 
between ourselves. . . . We think we must resort to the law of the 
jungle. It is an experience which I would not like you to carry to your 
respective countries.” 

He turned to the problem of Asia. “All the Asian representatives have 
come together,” he began. “Is it in order to wage a war against Europe, 
against America, or against other non-Asiatics? I say most emphatically, 
'No,' this is not India’s mission. ... It will be a sorry thing if we go 
away from this conference without a fixed determination that Asia shall 
live and live as free as every Western nation. 1 just wanted to say that 
conferences like the present should meet regularly, and if you ask me 
where, India is the place.” 

The next day he delivered his scheduled address before the con¬ 
ference. He first apologized for speaking English. He admitted that he 
had hoped to collect his thoughts but had no time. On the way to the 
meeting he had asked Ghaffar Khan for a piece of paper and pencil to 
make some notes. “I got a pen instead of a pencil. I tried to scribble a 
few words. You will be sorry to hear that that piece of paper is not by 
my side though I remember what I wanted to say.” 

Then he rambled: They were assembled in a city, but cities were 
not India. The real truth was in the villages and in the untouchable 
homes of the villages. The villages, to be sure, were dungheaps full of 
“miserable sjiecimens of humanity with lustreless eyes.” But in them 
was wisdom. 

The East, he proceeded, had submitted to a cv’tural conquest by the 
West. Yet the West had originally received its wisdom from the East; 
Zoroaster, Buddha, Moses, Jesus, Mohammed, Krishna, Rama, and 
lesser lights. 

He asked the conference to understand the message of Asia. “It is npt 
to be learned through Western spectacles or through the atomic bomb. 
If you want to give a message to the West it must be the message of 
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love and the message of truth. I do not want merely to appeal to your 
head," he said suddenly. ‘1 want to capture your heart.” 

He hoped Asia’s message of love and truth would conquer the West. 
“This conquest will be loved by the West itself. The West is today 
pining for wisdom.” 

It was a structurally poor speech full of essential wisdom and of the 
essence of Gandhi. Most of the delegates had probably not heard such 
simple, sincere words for many years. 

l^tween March 31st and April 12th Gandhi conferred with Mount- 
batten six times. Jinnah had an equal number of talks with the hard¬ 
working Viceroy. 

What did they talk about? “Before I would get down to any actual 
solution of the problem,” Mountbatten said in an address before the 
Council of the Royal Empire Society in London on October 6, 1948, 
when his task in India was done, “1 just wanted to talk to them to get 
to know them, to get together and gossip. Thus Gandhi told me about 
his early life in South Africa, Mr. Jinnah about his early life in London, 
and I told them a bit about my early life. Then, when 1 felt I had some 
sort of understanding with the men 1 was dealing with, I started talking 
to them about the problem before us.” 

The problem was the fate of 400,000,000 people, the fate of India, 
perhaps the fate of Asia. Mountbatten’s assignment was to take Britain 
out of India by June, 1948. The schedule required him to propose a 
solution by the end of 1947. This would allow the British Parliament 
enough time to pass the necessary legislation for the liberation of India 
by June, 1948. But on the spot, he told the Royal Empire Society, he 
and his advisers agreed that this would be too slow. Trouble had started, 
he said, on August 16, 1946, Jinnah’s Direct Action Day. There fol¬ 
lowed the massacres of Hindus in Noakhali and Hindu reprisals in 
Bihar; then “the Moslems massacred the Sikhs at Rawalpindi [in the 
Punjab]” and a rising took place in the Northwest Frontier Province. 
‘1 arrived out there,” Mountbatten stated, "to find this terrible pendulum 
of massacres swinging wider and wider; if it was not stopped there was 
no telling where India might end. . . . 

'Tersonally,” Mountbatten continued, “I was convinced that the right 
solution for then and still would have been to keep a United India” 
under the May 16, 1946, plan of the British Cabinet Mission. But the 
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plan presupposed the cooperation and goodwill o( all parties. “Mr. 
Jinnah,” however, Lord Mountbatten told the Royal Empire Society, 
“made it abundantly clear from the first moment that so long as he liv^ 
he would never accept a United India. He demanded partition, he in¬ 
sisted on Pakistan.” Congress, on the other hand, favored an undivided 
India. But, Mountbatten stated, the Congress leaders agreed that they 
would accept partition in order to avoid a civil war. The Viceroy “was 
convinced that the Moslem League would have fought.” 

But how was India to be divided? Congress refused to let large non- 
Moslem areas go to Pakistan. “That automatically meant,” Mountbatten 
explained, “a partition of the great provinces of the Punjab and 
Bengal.” 

“When I told Mr. Jinnah,” Mountbatten said in his historic review 
before the Royal Empire Society, “that I had their provisional agreement 
to partition he was overjoyed. When I said that it logically followed 
that this would involve partition of the Punjab and Bengal he was 
horrified. He produced the strongest arguments why these provinces 
should not be partitioned. He said that they had national characteristics 
and that partition would be disastrous. 1 agreed, but I said how much 
more must I now feel that the same considerations applied to the par¬ 
titioning of the whole of India. He did not like that, and started ex¬ 
plaining why India had to be partitioned, and so we went round and 
round the mulbeny bush until finally he realized that either he could 
have a United India with an unpartitioned Punjab and Bengal or a 
divided India with a partitioned Punjab and Bengal, and he finally 
accepted the latter solution.” 

Gandhi did not approve of any kind of partition in April, 1947, and 
refused until his death to approve of it. 

On April 15th, at.the request of Mountbatten, Gandhi and Jinnah 
issued a joint statement deploring the “recent acts of lawlessness and 
violence that have brought the utmost disgrace on the fair name of 
India” and denouncing “for all time the use of force to achieve political 
ends.” This came at the end of a fortnight in which Jinnah had con¬ 
vinced Mountbatten that if he did not achieve his political ends India 
would be rent by civil war. 

During that fortnight, Gandhi lived in the untouchables’ quarter on 
Kingsway, Delhi, and c'onducted a public prayer meeting there every 
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evening. The first evening he asked those present whether they would 
object to the recitation of some verses from the Koran, Several objectors 
raised their hands. They said he had no authority to intone an Islamic 
holy book at Hindu services. Gandhi thereupon broke off the meeting. 
He put the same question the second evening. Again there were ob¬ 
jectors; again he refused to pray with the congregation. The same thing 
happened the third evening. 

The fourth evening nobody objected. The objectors had withdrawn. 
If all members of the congregation on the previous three days had ob¬ 
jected, Gandhi explained, he would have read from the Koran and been 
prepared “to die at their hands with the name of God on his lips if 
they wanted to kill him. But he wished to avoid a clash on the prayer 
ground between those who wanted the prayers to be held and those who 
objected. In the end non-violence prevailed.” 

He received angry letters, threatening letters, some of them anony¬ 
mous. He was a bad Hindu, one said. He was a Moslem "fifth colum¬ 
nist” in Hinduism, another said. A third was addressed to “Mohamed 
Gandhi.” 

"How can it be a sin to chant God’s name in Arabic?” he argued. 
Hindu-Moslem unity was his life’s goal. "If Hindustan meant a land 
only for the Hindus, and Pakistan only for Moslems, Pakistan and 
Hindustan would then be lands flowing with poison.” 

On April 13th Gandhi returned to Bihar. 
Action for non-violence and against hate was now the only political 

work that made sense. Unless Gandhi could prove that Hindus and 
Moslems lived in peace, Jinnah was right and Pakistan inevitable. 
Mountbatten would not succumb to the most brilliant debating points; 
Hindu-Moslem tolerance had to be demonstrated in life. 

A victory for non-violence in Bihar or Bengal or the Punjab would 
spell success in the battle for the mind of Mountbatten and Britain and 
(ff those in Congress who had lost faith in a united India. This was a 
case where the people would really decide a major issue—not by their 
votes hut by their behavior, and Gandhi still hoped to alter their be^ 
havior. 'The question was: Is India a nation or a country inhabited by 
warring religious communities? 

One of the world’s worst curses is the longevity of centuries. In India, 
the seventeenth, eighteenth, and nineteenth centuries have survived 
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to plague the twentieth. Religious passions, provincial loyalties, and 
princely states exercised the same debilitating, divisive influence they 
had in Europe before the modem age of industrialism and nationalism. 
India, with four hundred million inhabitants, had only three million 
industrial workers. The country lacked cohesion because nobody pos¬ 
sessed enough unifying power or a sufficiently attractive unifying idea 
to overcome the centrifugal trends of a backward land. Gandhi, the 
towering symbol of unifying nationalism, was himself a mingling of an 
obsolete past, a struggling present, and the unborn world of his high 
ideals. 

Jinnah’s strength was the threat of civil war. The riots were a pre¬ 
view. The only hope of preserving the unity of India was to pacify the 
people and thus prove Jinnah’s threat an empty one. 

Gandhi approached this task without flinching, and alone. 
History was asking whether India is a nation. 

CHAPTER FORTY-SIX 

Tragic Victory 

It is very hot in Bihar in April, and Gandhi could not stand the strain 
of extensive travel among the villages. But he would have to go if 
the Hindus did not repent and bring back the Moslems who had fled 
in fear. He received a letter suggesting that he retire to the forest as 
Krishna had done; the country had lost faith in non-violence, the corre¬ 
spondent stated, and the Bhagavad Gita, moreover, did not teach non¬ 
violence. He reported this to his prayer meeting in Patna. 

He heard of renewed rioting in Noakhali. 
Yet several developments encouraged him. At Gandhi’s request Gen¬ 

eral Shah Nawaz, a Moslem and hero of the Indian National Army, 
had remained in Bihar. Shah Nawaz now said that Moslems were re¬ 
turning to their villages and that Hindus and Sikhs were helping them. 
A Sikh had been invited to a mosque. 
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This infbnnadon made Gandhi feel that “if the Hindus were true 
Hindus and befriended the Moslems the present all-enveloping fire 
would be extinguished.” Bihar was a big province. Its example would 
inspire others. Peace in Bihar would “dissolve" the trouble in Calcutta 
and elsewhere. His mother, “an illiterate village woman,” Gandhi said, 
had taught him that the atom reflected the universe; if he took care of 
his immediate surroundings the universe would take care of itself. 

Nehru telegraphed Gandhi to come back to Delhi. The Congr^s 
Working Committee was convening on May ist for a ^eat historic de¬ 
cision. Gandhi made the five-hundrcd-mile trip by hot train. 

Mountbatten had been extremely active, visiting provinces, talking to 
leaders, steeping himself in the problem of India’s future. As his 
thoughts crystallized he saw no escape from Pakistan. 

Mountbatten accordingly put the question to the Congress party: 
Would they accept the partition of India? Nehru had already told a 
United Provinces Political Conference on April 21st that “The Moslem 
League can have Pakistan if they wish to have it, but on condition that 
they do not take away other parts of India which do not wish to join 
Paldstan.” 

Would the Working Committee take the same stand? 
Gandhi was opposed to it. Patel wavered; he would have put Jinnah’s 

threats to the test of force. He would have used the central government 
to suppress Moslem violence. But in the end he too acquiesced. “I agreed 
to partition as a last resort when we reached a stag^ when we would 
have lost all,” he revealed two and a half years later. Rather than risk a 
civil war or the loss of independence, Congress was reconciled to 
Pakistan. 

Pakistan was the high price they paid for freedom. 
Gandhi made no secret of his chagrin. "The Congress,” he told his 

prayer meeting in the untouchables’ colony in Delhi on May 7th, “has 
accepted Pakistan and demanded the division of the Punjab and Bengal. 
1 am opposed to any division of India now as I always have been. But 
what can 1 do? 'The only thing I can do is to dissociate myself from such 
a scheme. Nobody can force me to accept it except God.” 

Gandhi went to see Mountbatten. His advice to the British was to 
quit with their troops and "take the risk of leaving India to chaos or 
anarchy.” If the British left India, Gandhi explained, there might be 
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chaos for a while; "We would still go through the fire no doubt but 
that fire would purify us.” 

Mountbatten’s mind was too precise and military to build the future" 
on a chance. Yet not only do most individuals do exactly that; in a war, 
nations often gamble with their lives. Every battle is a “calculated risk” 
in which the calculation is quite theoretical. To Gandhi, the division of 
India was an absolute evil, as evil as Britain's submission to Hitler would 
have been in 1940, and rather than resign himself to it he would have 
accepted all the possible material losses. 

This, however, was only the abstract aspect of Gandhi's suggestion. 
In concrete form, its simplicity concealed its astuteness. The British 
could not abandon India without a government. Gandhi's advice to Eng¬ 
land to leave India to chaos meant give India to Congress. If England 
refused, Gandhi wanted Congress to leave the government. The burden 
of maintaining peace in the country would then have rested solely on 
the British who sought no such responsibility. 

The choice that Gandhi put to the British therefore was: Let 
Congress rule India or rule it yourself in these troubled times. 

Gandhi saw that no Pakistan was possible unless the British created, 
it, and the British would not create Pakistan until Congress accepted it; 
they could not split India and antagonize the majority in order to 
placate Jinnah and the minority. Therefore, Congress should not 
accept it. 

Nobody listened to Gandhi. "Our leaders were tired and short¬ 
sighted," writes an intimate collaborator of Gandhi. The Congress 
leaders were afraid to delay independence. Gandhi would have delayed 
it in the hope of ultimately winning freedom for a united country 
instead of independence for two hostile Indias. 

In the summer of 1948, I asked Nehru, Patel, and others in India 
why Gandhi had not attempted to prevent Congress from accepting 
Pakistan; if nothing less had availed he might have coerced them by 
fasting. 

It was not Gandhi's way, their composite reply ran, to compel agree¬ 
ment even on the most crucial issue. That is true, but the complete an¬ 
swer goes deeper. Congress acquiesced in Pakistan and stayed in the. 
government. 'The only alternative would have been to reject Pakistan, 
leave the government, and stake everything on a restoration of the 
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people’s sanity and peaceful inclinations. But Gandhi saw that the 
leaders had no faith in this alternative, tie might have induced them to 
vote for his view in committee; he could not have infused them with 
faith in it except by proving that Hindus and Moslems could live to¬ 
gether amicably. The burden of proof was on Gandhi. And time was 
running out fast. 

Gandhi rushed across the continent to Calcutta. To get Pakistan, 
Bengal would have to be partitioned between Pakistan and Hindustan. 
If he could impress the Bengal Moslems with the painful results of 
such vivisection, and if he could check the rising Hindu sentiment for 
the division of Bengal, he might prevent Pakistan. 

"When everything goes wrong at the top," Gandhi asked in Calcutta, 
“can the goodness of the people at the bottom assert itself against the 
mischievous influence?” This was his hope. 

Bengal has one culture, one language, he argued. Let it stay united. 
They had reunited Bengal after Lord Curzon partitioned it; could they 
not rebuff Jinnah before he partitioned it? 

After six days in Calcutta, Gandhi went to Bihar. Despite the torrid 
heat, he traveled to the villages. His refrain was the same: "If the 
Hindus showed the spirit of brotherliness, it would be good for Bihar, 
for India, and for the world.” 

On May 25th, in response to a summons from Nehru, Gandhi again 
returned to New Delhi. Mountbatten, his mind made up, had flown to 
London. Rumor had it that India would be partitioned, that the plan 
would be announced soon. But why, Gandhi wondered. The Cabinet 
Mission had rejected partition and Pakistan on May 16, 1946. What 
had happened since then to alter the situation? The riots? Were they 
yielding to hooliganism? "I must cling to the hope,” Gandhi said, “that 
Britain will not depart a hair’s breadth from the spirit and letter of the 
Cabinet Mission’s statement of May 16 of last year....” 

"He is burning thd candle at both ends,” Dr. Sushila Nayyar reported. 
He was still striving to reverse the tide toward partition. If the effort 
killed him what did it matter? "In the India that is shaping today there 
is no place for me,” he said; his voice shook with emotion. “I have given 
up the hope of living 125 years. I may last a year or two. That is a 
different matter. But I have no wish to live if India is to be submerged 
in a deluge of violence as it is threatening to do.” 
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Yet he could not be a pessimist for long. Nehru brought Dr. Lo Chia' 
luen, the Chinese Ambassador, to Gandhi’s untouchable hut. “How do 
you think things will shape themselves?" Dr. Lo asked. 

"I am an irrepressible optimist,” Gandhi said. "We have not lived 
and toiled all these years that we should become barbarians as we 
appear to be becoming, looking at all the senseless bloodshed in Bengal, 
Bihar, and the Punjab. But I feel that it is just an indication that, as 
we are throwing off the foreign yoke, all the dirt and froth is coming to 
the surface. When the Ganges is in flood, the water is turbid; the dirt 
comes to the surface. When the flood subsides, you see the clear, blue 
water which soothes the eye. That is what I hope for and live for. I do 
not wish to see Indian humanity becoming barbarian.” 

Mountbatten, meantime, had been working in London on a plan to 
divide India. 

The Mountbatten plan provided for the division not only of India but 
of Bengal, the Punjab, and Assam if their people wished. In the case 
of Bengal and the Punjab, the recently elected provincial legislatures 
would decide. If Bengal voted to partition itself, then the Moslem- 
majority district of Sylhet in Assam would determine by popular refer¬ 
endum whether to join the Moslem part of Bengal. 

“Nor is there anything in this plan,” the text read, "to preclude 
negotiations between communities for a united India.” 

The scheme was thus permissive and involved no legal compulsion by 
Britain. Bengal and the Punjab might vote to remain united, in which 
case there would be no partition and no Pakistan. But even if Pakistan 
came into being, it and the other India could subsequendy unite. 

Before leaving England, Mountbatten saw Churchill who promised 
to support the plan in the House of Commons. 

On June 2, 1947, Herbert L. Matthews, telegraphing to the New 
York Times on the eve of the announcement of the plan, said, “Mr. 
Gandhi is a very real worry, since if he decides to gp on a ‘fast unto 
death’ it would well wreck the whole plan." 

The next day. Prime Minister Attlee announced the plan in the 
House of Commons and Mountbatten revealed it on the New Delhi 
radio. In his broadcast, the last Viceroy said frankly, “I am, of course, 
just as much opposed to the partition of provinces as I am to the partition 
of India herself.” The plan, he knew, was imperfect, especially because 



47^ TTie Life of Mahatma Gandhi 

of its effect on the five million fighting Sikhs of the Punjab. Any con¬ 

ceivable line through that province would leave some Sikl^ in Pakistan 
against their wishes. 

Nehru, Patel, and the Working Committee had approved the plan; 

their approval became official when the All-India Congress Committee, 

sitting in New Delhi, on June 15th voted 153 for the plan, 29 against, 

with some abstentions. 

After the resolution had been adopted. Professor J. B. Kripalani, the 

jnesident of Congress, delivered a brief speech which explained why 

Congress had abandoned Gandhi. 
The Hindu and Moslem "communities," Kripalani said, “have vied 

with each other in the worst orgies of violence. ... I have seen a well 
where women with their children, 107 in all, threw themselves to save 
their honor. In another place, a place of worship, 50 young women 

were killed by their menfolk for the same reason. . . . These ghastly 

experiences have no doubt affected my approach to the question. Some 
members have accused us that we have taken this decision out of fear. 

I must admit the truth of this charge, but not in the sense in which it 

is made. The fear is not for the lives lost or of the widows’ wail or the 
orphans’ cry or of the many houses burned. The fear is that if we go 

on like this, retaliating and heaping indignities on each other, we shall 
pro^essively reduce ourselves to a state of cannibalism and worse. In 
every fresh communal fight the most brutal and degraded acts of the 

previous fight become the norm.” This is the cruel truth of all violence. 
T have been with Gandhiji for the last thirty years,” Kripalani con¬ 

tinued. “I joined him in Champaran. I have never swayed in my loyalty 

to him. It is not a personal but a political loyalty. Even when I have 
differed with him I have considered his political instinct to be more 

correct than my ebborately reasoned attitudes. Today also I feel that he 

with his supreme fearlessness is correct and my stand defective. 
"Why then am I not with him? It is because I feel that he has as yet 

found no way of tackling the problem on a mass basis.” The nation was 

not responding to Gandhi’s plea for peace and brotherhood. 

Gandhi knew this. ‘If only non-Moslem India were with me," he 

declared, “I could show the way to undo the proposed partition. . . . 
Many have invited me to head the opposition. But there is nothing in 

common between them and me except the opposition.... Can love and 

hate combine?” 
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Ninety-five per cent of Gandhi's mail was abusive and hateful The 
Hindu letters asked why he was partial to Moslems, and the Moslem 
letters demanded that he stop obstructing the creation of Pakistan. 

A Marathi couple from the Tilak country came up to Delhi, camped 
near the untouchables' quarter, and announced to Gandhi that they had 
begun a fast which would last until Pakistan was abandoned. He ad¬ 
dressed them at two successive prayer meeting^. Are you fasting against 
Pakistan, he asked, because you hate Moslems or love Moslems? If you 
hate Moslems you may not fast. If you love Moslems, you should go and 
teach other Hindus to love them. The young couple abandoned the fast. 

The Hindus did not love Moslems enough and the Moslems did not 
love Hindus enough. India would therefore be divided between them. 

Gandhi considered partition “a spiritual tragedy.” He noted prepara¬ 
tions for bloody strife. He saw the possibility of a “military dictatorship” 
and then “goodbye to freedom.” “I do not agree with what my closest 
friends have done or are doing,” he said. 

Thirty-two years of work, Gandhi stated, have come to “an inglorious 
end.” On August 15, 1947, India would become independent. But the 
victory was a cold, political arrangement: Indians would sit where 
Englishmen had sat; a tricolor would wave in place of the Union Jack. 
That was the hollow husk of freedom. It was victory with tragpdy, vic¬ 
tory that found the army defeating its own general. 

“I cannot participate in the celebrations of August 15th,” Gandhi 
announced. 

Independence brought sadness to the architect of independence. The 
Father of his Country was disappointed with his country. “I deceived 
myself into the belief that people were wedded to non-violence . . . ,” 
he said. Indians had betrayed non-violence which was more important 
to him than Indian independence. 

Mountbatten told the Royal Empire Society on October 6, 1948, that 
in India Gandhi “was not compared with some great statesman like 
Roosevelt or Churchill. They classified him simply in their minds with 
Mohammed and with Christ.” Millions adored the Mahatma, multi¬ 
tudes tried to kiss his feet or the dust of his footsteps. They paid him 
homage and rejected his teachings. They held his person holy and, 
desecrated his personality. They glorified the shell and trampl^ the 
essence. They believed in him but not in his principles. 

Independence Day, August 15th, found Gandhi in Calcutta fighting 
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riots. He (asted all day and prayed. He issued no message to the nation. 
Invited to the capital to participate in the formal inauguration of the 
nation’s life, he refused to attend. “There is disturbance within,” he 
wrote Rajkumari Amrit Kaur the next day. In the midst of festivities, 
he was sad. “Is there something wrong with me,” he asked, “or are 
things really going wrong?” 

Freedom had come to India and Gandhi was perplexed and per¬ 
turbed; his Gita detachment was impaired. “I am far away from the 
condition of equipoise,” he declared. 

But faith never left him, nor did he contemplate retiring to a cave or 
a wood. “No cause that is intrinsically just can ever be described as 
forlorn,” he asserted. 

‘Tou must not lose faith in humanity,” he wrote Amrit Kaur on 
August 29th. “Humanity is an ocean. If a few drops of the ocean are 
dirty, the ocean does not become dirty.” 

He had kept his faith in man. He had kept his faith in God. He had 
therefore kept his faith in himself. “I am a bom fighter who does not 
know failure,” he assured a prayer-meeting audience. 

Partition was a fact, but “it is always possible by correct conduct to 
lessen an evil and eventually even to bring good out of evil,” Gandhi 
said. 

He still hoped his faith would move people, but how? “I am groping 
today,” he declared. He was full of “searching questions” about Hmself. 
"Have I led the country astray?” 

A lesser man might have sulked or grown bitter or plotted the dis¬ 
comfiture of those who thwarted him. Gandhi turned the searchlight 
inward; perhaps it was his fault. 

“I can echo your prayer that I may realize peace and find myself,” he 
wrote in a letter to Kurshed Naoroji. “It is a difficult task but I am 
after it.” 

“O Lord,” he exclaimed, “Lead us from darkness into light.” 
He was approaching his seventy-eighth birthday. The world he had 

built lay partly in ruins all around him. He must begin building anew. 
Congress was too much a political party; it must become an instrument 
for the constructive uplift of the people. He wrote two articles in Harijan 
on the virtues of non-violent, non-revolutionary, God-loving, equalitarian 
Socialism. He was seeking new directions. He was old in body and 
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young in spirit, old in experience and young in (aith. Future plans 
lifted past troubles from his back. 

He had gone to Calcutta and been taken into a Moslem house in an 
area where the stones were slippery with fresh blood and the air acrid 
with the smoke of burning homes. The Moslem family to whom the 
house belonged were friendly to him. “For the moment I am no enemy,” 
he wrote Amrit Kaur. He rejoiced more in the smallest triumph of 
brothe/hood than in the political independence of a country. 

The bereaved came to him in the lowly house and he wiped their 
tears. He found solace in the balm he gave others. He had discovered 
his new task. It was his old task: to assuage pain, to spread love, to make 
all men brothers. 

St. Francis of Assisi, hoeing his garden, was asked what he would 
do if he were suddenly to learn that he was to die at sunset that day. 

He said: "I would finish hoeing my garden.” 
Gandhi continued to hoe the garden in which he had worked all his 

days. Sinners had thrown stones and filth into the garden. He continued 
to hoe. 

Pertinacity was Gandhi’s antidote to frustration and tragedy. Action 
gave him inner peace. 

CHAPTER FORTY-SEVEN 

Gandhi Hoes His Garden 

The British had left India. Politically literate, ihey had read the hand* 
writing on the Indian wall: “Your day is done. ” The handwriting was 
Gandhi’s. 

By the will of Indians, Lord Mountbatten remained as Governor- 
General of the Indian Union. It had been agreed that Mountbatten 
would also be Governor-General of Pakistan and thus a symbol of unity. 
But Jinnah substituted himself. 

Pakistan bisected India. Pakistan itself was bisected. It counted 
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27,000,000 inhabitants in northwest India and 45,000,000 in northeast 
India. Between the two parts lay nearly 800 miles of the Indian Union. 

In Moslem Pakistan there were many million Hindus and Sikhs. 
Of the 330,000,000 residents of the In^an Union, some 42,000,000 
were Moslems. 

Five hundred and fifty of the 565 native states quiedy acceded to the 
Indian Union. Three joined Pakistan. Most of the maharajas and 
nawabs became overpaid pensioned puppets. Ekphants went beggihg. 

The fronder that divided India in two divid^ families, in two^ it 
separated factories from raw materials, crops from markets. The army 
was divided; the treasury was to be divided. The non-Moslems of 
Pakistan were worried about their future. The Moslems of the Indian 
Union were anxious. In each of the new Dominions, fighdng broke 
out between ruling majority and frightened minority. 

One India could have lived in peace. Vivisecdon sundered vital 
arteries; out of them flowed human blood and the poison of religious 
hate. 

Calcutta and the western part of Bengal province remained in the 
Indian Union. Eastern Bengal went to Pakistan. Twenty-three per cent 
of the populadon of Calcutta was Moslem. The Hindus and Moslems 
fought. 

How does a religious riot commence? On April 17, 1938, three 
Hindus and a Moslem were sitdng on their haunches in the Northbrook 
Gardens in Bombay and playing cards. They had been drinking. They 
quarreled over the game. "Rumors of a Hindu-Moslem disturbance,” 
reads an official report, “spread in the city resuldng in panic which 
was taken advantage of by hooligans, and stray assaults, stabbing and 
stone-throwing commenced. . . . Orders were issued prohibiting the 
carrying of lethal weapons and prescribing the routes for Hindu and 
Moslem funeral processions. Troops were also asked to stand by.... A 
clash that threatened to assume serious proportions was soon brought 
under control. Sporadic assaults, however, continued for a few days, and 
altogether there were 14 deaths and injuries to 98 persons." The police 
arrested 2,488 persons. 

That was in the quiet, normal, pre-Pakistan days of 1938. With 
tension at its peak in 1947, especially in a city like ^kutta where the 
inhabitants are squeezed together herring-barrel fashion in filthy slums, 
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a little Moslem girl pulling a Hindu girl’s hair of a Hindu boy tilling 
a Moslem boy names might precipitate a mortal riot. Passion and 
poverty converted men into tinder. 

On this inflammable material, Gandhi undertook to sprinkle the 
sweet waters of peace. 

Gandhi had arrived in Calcutta on August 9, 1947. For an entire 
year, ever since Jinnah’s Direct Action Day on August 16, 1946, Cal¬ 
cutta had been tom by bloody strife. Gandhi and H. S. Suluawardy, 
the former prime minister of Bengal, walked arm in arm through streets 
tense with religious frenzy. Suhrawardy drove an automobile with 
Gandhi as his passenger through riotous areas. Violence seemed to melt 
away wherever they passed. Thousands of Moslems and Hindus em¬ 
braced one another shouting “Long Live Mahatma Gandhi,” “Long 
Live Hindu-Moslem unity.” Huge crowds fraternized at Gandhi’s daily 
prayer meetings. After August 14th no disturbances were reported in 
Calcutta. Gandhi had calmed the storm. The press paid tributes to the 
magician in loincloth. 

On the night of August 31st Gandhi had gone to bed in the Moslem 
house. At about 10 o’clock he heard angry noises. He lay still. Suhra¬ 
wardy and several female disciples of the Mahatma could be heard 
attempting to pacify some intruders. Then glass crashed; window panes 
had been broken with stones and fists. A number of young men entered 
the house and commenced kicking in doors. Gandhi got out of bed 
and opened the door of his room. He was face to face with enraged 
rioters. He touched his palms together in greeting. A brick was thrown 
at him. It hit a Moslem friend standing by his side. One of the rioters 
swung a lathi stick which narrowly missed Gandhi’s head. The Ma¬ 
hatma shook his head sorrowfully. The police arrived; the police chief 
appealed to Gandhi to retire to his room. Then the officers hustled the 
intruders out of the house. Outside, tear gas was used to disperse an 
unruly mob of Moslems infuriated by the presence of a bandaged 
Moslem who, they alleged, had been stabbed by Hindus. 

Gandhi decided to fast. 
In a statement to the press on September ist, he said, 'To put in an 

appearance before a yelling crowd does not always work. It certainly 
did not last night. What my word in person cannot do, my fast may. 
It may touch the hearts of all the warring factions in the Punjab if it 
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does in Calcutta. I therefore begin fasting from 8:15 tonight to end only 
if and when sanity returns to Calcutta.” 

It was a fast unto death. Unless sanity returned, the Mahatma 
would die. 

September 2nd, groups and delegations commenced streaming to 
Gandhi’s residence. They would do anything to save his life, they said. 
That was the wrong approach, he explained. His fasts were "intended 
to stir the conscience and remove mental sluggishness.” Saving his life 
must be incidental to a change of heart. 

Leaders of all communities and many organizations called on the 
Mahatma. He received them all and talked with them. He would not 
desist from the fast until communal harmony had been restored. Promi¬ 
nent Moslems and an official of the Pakistan Seamen’s Union visited 
Gandhi and assured him they would work to keep the peace. More 
Moslems came. The fast impressed them; it was for their safety, and 
for the rehabilitation of their destroyed homes. 

On September 4th, municipal officials reported to Gandhi that the 
city had been absolutely quiet for twenty-four hours. They also told 
him that as proof of their wish for communal peace 500 policemen 
of North Calcutta, including the British police officers, had commenced 
a twenty-four-hour sympathy fast while remaining on duty. The leaders 
of hooligan bands, burly killers, came and sat at Gandhi’s bedside and 
wept and promised to refrain from their usual depredations. Hindu, 
Moslem, and Christian representatives, workers, merchants, and shop¬ 
keepers gave a pledge in Gandhi’s presence that there would be no 
more trouble in Calcutta. He believed them, he said, but this time he 
wanted a written promise. And before they signed the promise they 
must know this: if the promise was broken he would commence "an 
irrevocable fast” which nothing on earth could stop until he died. 

The city leaders withdrew to deliberate. It was a serious moment and 
they were conscious of the responsibility. They nevertheless drafted and 
signed the pledge. At 9:15 p.m. on ^ptember 4th, Gandhi drank a 
glass of sweet lime juice which Suhrawardy handed him. He had fasted 
seventy-three hours. 

From that day, through the many months when the Punjab and other 
provinces shook with religious massacres, Calcutta and both parts of 
Bengal remained riot-free. Bengal remained true to its plighted word. 
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On September 7th, Gandhi left Calcutta for New Delhi en route to 
the Punjab. Another part of the garden needed hoeing. 

At the Delhi station, Gandhi was met by Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel, 
Rajkumari Amrit Kaur, and others. Gloom covered their faces. Riots 
were raging through Delhi. Sikh and Hindu refugees from the fires 
of the Punjab were flooding the city. They had occupied the untouch¬ 
ables’ colony where the Mahatma used to stay. He would have to live 
in tlie “palatial Birla House,’’ as Gandhi called it. 

Gandhi’s room in Birla House was on the ground floor, about a foot 
above the earth. It was approximately 25 feet by 16 feet in area and 
some 10 feet high. A bathroom adjoined it. When Gandhi arrived he 
had all the furniture removed. Visitors sat on the floor and he slept on 
the terrace outside the room. An electric heater and electric lamp were 
available for use. The room was on the right side of the house and 
furthest from the area of the Birla grounds where the prayer meetings 
were held. To go to prayers Gandhi would step down to the earth 
through a high window and then walk under a long row of red sand¬ 
stone pergolas covered with luxurious vines. 

On arriving at the house Gandhi learned that no fresh fruit or 
vegetables were available; vital services had been disrupted by the riots 
in Delhi which, he said, resembled a “city of the dead.’’ 

With passion and without restraint, Gandhi now gave himself to 
the task of bringing Delhi to its senses—it and the Punjab. Nothing 
else mattered. In former years, he had permitted doctors to measure his 
blood pressure. Now he said, “Leave me alone. 1 must work and do 
not want to know about my blood pressure.” His circulatory system, 
the physicians said, had not deteriorated in ten years, nor did he have 
more wrinkles on his face or body. A cataract discovered in 1939 by an 
eye specialist had not progressed. His ears had become very sensitive 
to loud noises. He slept five to six hours eve’-y night and half an hour 
to an hour during the day; he always slept soundly, and rarely talked 
in his sleep. On one occasion, he made arm motions during his sleep, 
and when he woke. Dr. Nayyar asked him what had happened and 
he said he had dreamt he was scaling a wall. He was idways firesh 
and keen in the morning. 

Despite acute distress over the political situation, Gandhi continued 
to take excellent care of his body. He enjoyed lying for ten to twen^ 
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minutes in a very hot bath at a temperature of 100° or 101° Fahrenheit. 
Sometimes it made him giddy. If a shower was available he finished 
with a cold shower. 

In these months of hard travel and tremendous mental pressure, he 
ate less. His formula was: Undereat when overworked. There was much 
work to be done. 

The very first day in Birla House Gandhi visited Dr. Zakir Hussain 
at Okla, a village fourteen miles outside of New Delhi. 

Zakir Hussain, a stately scholar with a noble head and character, 
presided over the Jamia Millia Islamia, a Moslem religious academy 
at Okla. Gandhi had collected money for the school. He had also ap¬ 
pointed Dr. Zakir Hussain chairman of the national society for basic 
education; he did it at a conference where everybody except Hussain 
had accepted Gandhi’s ideas on training for children. 

The Okla academy, a collection of small, new, clean-looking build¬ 
ings, lies in a region redolent with Moslem tradition and rich in ruins 
of ancient Mogul forts and mosques. But in August, 1947, it found 
itself engulfed in a sea of angry Hindus and Sikhs to whom everything 
Moslem, whether man or building, was hateful. At night the teachers 
and students of the academy stood guard, expecting an assault. All 
lights were out. In a circle around them they could see Moslem villages 
in flames and Moslem homes burning like torches. Nearby is the 
Jumna River. Night after night they could hear Moslems jumping into 
the river to escape their pursuers. But the pursuers would jump in 
after them and then there was a scufBe and splash and the victim 
would be held down dll he drowned or gave one last anguished screech 
as the knife cut his throat. Nearer and nearer the ring of attackers came. 
One dark night a taxicab arrived at the Jamia Millia grounds; out of 
it stepped Jawaharlal Nehru. He had driven alone through the belt 
of madmen that circled Delhi in order to stay with Dr. Hussain and 
his students and protect them if harm came. 

The moment Gandhi heard of the danger that threatened the Moslem 
academy he went out in a car and spent an hour with 2^kir Hussain 
and talked with the teachers and the boys. His presence hallowed the 
academy; after that it was safe. 

The same day Gandhi visited several refugee camps; he was urged 
to go with an armed guard; the Hindus and Sikhs might attack him as 
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pro-Moslem and the Moslems might attack him as a Hindu and aay~ 
body crazed by deaths or abductions in the family might attack him 
without reason. He went without escort. 

Throwing caution and health considerations to the wind, Gandhi 
now developed inordinate energy, crisscrossing the dty many times each 
day to tour riotous areas, visit refuge camps in and outside the dty, 
and speak several times a day to thousand of embittered, uproot^ 
specimens of humanity. “I think of the poor refugee in Delhi, in bodi 
East Punjab [Indian Union] and West Punjab [Pakistan] today while 
it is raining," he told his prayer meeting on September zoth. T have 
heard that a convoy of Hindus and Sikhs 57 miles long is pouring into 
the Indian Union from West Punjab," he said. Tt makes my brain 
reel to think how this can be. Such a happening is unparalleled in the 
history of the world, and it makes me, as it should make you, hang my 
head in shame.” 

Gandhi was not exaggerating; the 57-mile long convey was one of 
several in the Great Migration in which at least 15,000,000 people 
trekked hundreds of miles not to new homes and opportunities but to 
homelessness, sometimes to death and disease. Out of the part of the 
Punjab assigned to Pakistan, moving in the general direction of New 
Delhi, came millions of Hindus and Sikhs Seeing the knives and clubs 
of Moslems. Out of the Indian Union, moving toward Pakistan, came 
millions of Moslems fearing the daggers and lathis of Hindus and 
Sikhs. Police protection had become a thing of the past. Police and 
even military were animated by the same passions as the aggressors 
and often helped them loot and kill. 

A few tired policemen and groups of young volunteers were aU that 
distinguished the "convoys" from disorganized Bights of panicked people. 
They fled in their bullock carts or, if they had never owned a cart or it 
was taken from them, they fled on foot, whole families, adults cart3dng 
children, carrying the sick in baskets, carrying the aged on their shoul¬ 
ders. Frequently the sick were abandoned and left to die on the dusty 
road. Cholera, smallpox, and other diseases scourged the migrant hordes. 
For days and weeks the convoys inched forward leaving axpses behind 
to mark their route. Vultures hovered over the line of march waiting 
for weary wanderers to drop to the ground. Few families had salvajged 
enough food to support health. If they did it was stolen or fought fo^ 
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the losers famished, the victors existed a little longer. Sometimes hostile 
convoys, advancing in opposite directions, camped during the night in 
the vicinity of one another and continued their senseless vendetta. 

The Nehru government set up camps outside Delhi to catch the 
migrants before they entered the city and care for them. But endless 
thousands escaped the cordons. They took what they could seize in 
the town. They slept in doorways and courtyards, on pavements, in 
gutters, on streets. They lay on the asphalt, exhausted. Unheeding 
drivers might run over them. 

The Delhi home of a Moslem ^ne to Pakistan was considered 
legitimate booty; the refugees occupied it. Moslem stores were looted. 
Where Moslems resisted, riots occurred. Reduced to primitive living, 
the displaced persons yielded to primitive passions. 

In this city of the dead and the mad, Mahatma Gandhi tried to 
spread the gospel of love and peace. Moslems must remain even if they 
were molested, he said; “the Hindus and Sikhs who molested them 
discredited their religion and did irreparable harm to India.” He urged 
holders of unlicensed arms to surrender them to him; "driblets have 
been coming to me voluntarily.” 

“I must be pardoned for putting first blame on the Hindus and 
Sikhs,” he told a prayer audience consisting chiefly of Hindus and 
Sikhs. '1 will not rest till every Moslem in the Indian Union who 
wishes to be a loyal citizen of the Union is back in his home living in 
peace and security and until the Hindus and Sikhs have returned to 
their homes.” But the Hindus and Sikhs were afraid to return to Pakis¬ 
tan, nor did they wish to relinquish the homes of Moslems who had 
fled to Pakistan and whom Gandhi was inviting to return. 

Gandhi had planted himself, alone, athwart a raging torrent. 
He went to a meeting of about five hundred members of the Rashtriya 

Sevak Sangha or R.S.S., a highly disciplined organization of young 
militant Hindus. They were fiercely anti-Moslem, and many of them 
were fiercely opposed to him because he tried to protect Moslems. But 
he told them that they would kill Hinduism by their intolerance. If 
Pakistan was mistreating Hindus that was no justification for their 
mistreating Moslems. “There is no gain in returning evil for evil.” He 
was indeed a friend of the Moslems, but also a friend of the Sikhs and 
Hindus. “Both sides appear to have gone crazy. The result can be noth- 
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ing but destruction and misery" for both sides. The R.S.S., Gandhi 
said, was "a well-organized, well-disciplined body. Its strength ccnild be 
used in the interests of India or against it.” Allegations had been made 
against the RS.S., Gandhi declared; it had been accused of fomenting 

riots and planning assassinations. ‘It is for you to show by your uniform 

behavior that the allegations are baseless.” 
After his speech, Gandhi invited questions. One question and answer 

was recorded. 
"Does Hinduism permit killing an evil-doer?” 
“One evil-doer cannot punish another,” Gandhi replied. ‘To punish 

is the function of the government, not of the public.” 
October 2, 1947, was the Mahatma’s seventy-eighth birthday. Lady 

Mountbatten and foreign diplomats came to congratulate him; sheak 
of telegrams were delivered from abroad and all parts of India. Many 
Moslems sent greetings. The rich sent money. Refugees sent flowers. 
“Where do congratulations come in?” Gandhi asked. “Would it not be 
more appropriate to send condolences? There is nothing but anguish 
in my heart. Time was whatever I said the masses followed. Today, 
mine is a lone voice. ... I have lost all desire to live long, let alone 
125 years. ... I cannot live while hatred and killing mar the atmos¬ 
phere. ... I therefore plead with you to give up the present madness.” 

He did not feel depressed; he felt helpless. “I invoke the aid of the 
all-embracing Power to take me away from this ‘vale of tears’ rather than 
make me a helpless witness of the butchery by man become savage.. . . 
If He wants me He will keep me on earth yet a while.” 

He visited refugee camps that were filthy. Refugees who were not 
untouchables refused to clean. He chastised that weakness in Hindus. 
Cold weather was approaching. He appealed for blankets, quilts, and 
cotton sheets for the homeless. 

The Punjab is the granary of India. ’The turmoil in it had stamped 
the harvest into the dust, and the Indian Union was feeling ^eater 
hunger than usual. Gandhi nevertheless opposed rationing because it 
entailed centralization, red tape, speculation, and corruption. 

Each evening he announced how many blankets he had received. 
Blankets were letter than quilts because quilts got wet with dew. But 
quilts, he said, could be covered with old newspapers at night 

Gandhi hoped to leave for the Punjab. But Delhi was not at peace. 
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A Moslem shopkeeper, thinking that things had settled down, opened 
the shutters of his store. The same instant, a bullet killed him. 

One evening Gandhi went to the Delhi Central Jail and conducted 
a j»ayer service for three thousand prisoners. T am a seasoned ex* 
prisoner myself," he told them with a laugh. 

"What should jails be like in free India?” he asked. "All criminals 
should be treated as patients, and the jails should be hospitals admitting 
this kind of patients for treatment and cure.” He closed by exj»essing 
the wish that Hindu, Moslem, and Sikh prisoners live together in 
hratemity. 

The news from Calcutta was good. Why, he asked his prayer meeting 
at Birla House, could Delhi not follow the peaceful example of Calcutta? 

Each evening Gandhi asked his prayer congte^don whether any¬ 
body objected to the reading of some verses from the Koran. Usually 
there were two or three objectors. Then he asked whether the other 
worshipers would harbor any ill feeling for the objectors. They said they 
would not. Would the objectors remain quiet during the Koran read¬ 
ings? They would. He read the verses. This was a lesson in tolerance 
and discipline. He did not expect all to agree. He expected all to remain 
n<m-violent despite disagreements. 

With the re^gees came harrowing tales of savagmy. A man swung 
an infant by its foot and bashed its head against a wall. Two men took 
a child by the feet and tore its body in two down the middle. A Moslem 
mob laid siege to a village; after long resistance, the Hindu and Sikh men 
came out and surrendered; the women had huddled inside the stockade 
which enclosed the village well. The Moslems were coming to fetch 
them; a woman jumped into the well; another woman jumped after her; 
in the next four minutes, 73 women had drowned themselves on top 
of one another in the well. 

These memories bred new atrocities. Assume that some Moslems had 
killed Hindus because they were Hindus and that most Moslems con¬ 
doned those killings. To hate, suspect, and wish to hurt all Moslems 
because they were Moslems made the Hindus as immoral as the Mos¬ 
lems. (The argument could also be applied to Hindu killings of Mos¬ 
lems.) Moreover, if Hindus sou^t to justify their actions ^ proving 
that the Moslems had commenced the atrocities it merely meant that 
the Hindus had allowed themselves to become as evil as the Moslems 
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whom they abominated because of that evil; they had been conquered 
by the spirit of their tormentors. 

Fearing retaliation, Moslems in the Indian Union decided to escape 
to Pakistan. Fearing reprisals, the Hindus and Sikhs in Pakistan were 
trekking to the Indian Union. A vast region was churning with hate, 
murder, and migrating millions. In the midst of the upheaval stood the 
little man in the loincloth. A reprisal for a reprisal, a death for a death, 
he was saying, means death for India. 

Lady Mountbatten visited a refugee camp; she brought Gandhi a 
message; the refugees wanted to see him. Similar messages arrived from 
other camps, Hindu camps and Moslem camps. He went as often as 
he could. Two hundred thousand displaced persons were packed into 
Kurukshetra Camp in east Punjab and more were pouring in each day 
from west Punjab. Gandhi had a session of the Congress Working 
Committee to attend so he addressed the camp by radio on November 
12, r947: T can serve you best by drawing attention to your short¬ 
comings. That has been my life’s motto, for therein lies true friendship 
and my service is not only to you or to India; it extends to the world, 
for I know no barriers of race or creed. If you can get rid of your failings, 
you will benefit not only yourself but the whole of India. 

Tt hurts me to know that so many of you are without shelter. This 
is a real hardship particularly in the cold weather. . . . You must help 
in the maintenance of discipline. . . . You must take the sanitation .of 
the place in your hands. I ask you . . . everyone of you, men, women 
and children to keep Kurukshetra clean . . . share your rations, be 
content with what you get. . . . You must live for others and not only 
for yourselves. Idleness is demoralizing.” He urged them to spin.' 

Sporadic violence in Delhi continued. In the early disturbances 137 
mosques had been damag^; some had been converted into Hindu 
temples with idols. Gandhi considered “such desecration a blot on Hin¬ 
duism and Sikhism.” He went to a Sikh celebration attended by 100,000 
bearded Sikhs and their families. He condemned their violence against 
Moslems. Sikhs, he said, had been drinking and rioting. “Keep your 
hearts clean and you will find that all other communities will follow 
you.” 

Gandhi also criticized the Indian government "Out statesmen,” he 
wrote in a letter to Madame Edmond Privat, "have for over two gen* 
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erations declaimed against the heavy expenditures on armaments under 
the British regime, but now that freedom from political serfdom has 
come, our military expenditure has increased and sdll threatens to 
increase, and of this we are proud. There is not a voice raised against 
it in our legislative chambers.” He called it “mad imitation of the tinsel 
of the West.” But he still hoped that India would "survive this death 
dance” and "occupy the moral height that should belong to her after 
the training, however imperfect, in non-violence for an unbroken period 
of 32 years since I9r5.” 

"When it is relevant,” Gandhi wrote, "truth has to be uttered, how¬ 
ever unpleasant it may be. . . . Misdeeds of the Hindus in the Indian 
Union have to be proclaimed by the Hindus from the housetop if those 
of the Moslems in Pakistan are to be anested or stopped.” As a Hindu 
he was sternest with Hindus. 

CHAPTER FORTY-BIGHT 

The Future of India 

Gandhi seldom made an adverse criticism without suggesting a concrete 
cure. He had criticized the Congress party and the new government of 
independent India. What did he propose? 

Gandhi was quick to see that the freedom of India raised the question 
of freedom in India. How could India remain a democracy? 

There was only one major party, the Congress party, and it enjoyed 
vast prestige as the party of Gandhi, Nehru, and Patel, the party which 
had fought and won the battle for liberation from Britain. Other parties 
like the Hindu Mahasabha and the Communists were insignificant. 

The question Gandhi pondered was: Could the Congress party guide 
and curb the government? He had not studied political conditions in the 
Soviet Union or Franco Spain or other totalitarian countries, but by 
intuition he arrived at conclusions which others had reached after long 
expetimice and analysis: he realized that a one-party system could actu- 
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ally be a no-paity system, for when the government and party are tmcv 
the party is a rubber stamp and leads only a fictitious existence. 

If the one important party of India, the Congress, did not mainfam 
an independent, critical attitude toward the government, who could act 
as a brake on any autocratic tendencies that might develop in the gov¬ 
ernment? 

Without free criticism and potent opposition, democracy dies. • 
Without political criticism and opposition, a nation’s intellect, culture, 

and public morality stagnate; big men are purged and small men become 
kowtowing pygmies. The leaders surround themselves with cowards, 
sycophants, and groveling yes-men whose automatic approval is misread 
as a tribute to greatness. 

Could the Congress party, with aid from Gandhi and from the &ee 
press, prevent such a development in India? 

On November 15, 1947, in the presence of Gandhi, Professor J. B. 
Kripalani, president of Congress, informed the All-India Congress Com¬ 
mittee that he was resigning his top post. He had not been consulted 
by the government nor been taken into its full confidence. Although 
"it is the party from which the government of the day derives its power,” 
Kripalani said, the government ignored the party. Gandhi, Kripalani 
revealed, felt that in these circumstances the resignation was justified. 

Nehru and Patel were the heads of the government. They were also 
leaders of the Congress party. Their popularity and hold on the Con¬ 
gress machine enabled them to dominate the party. They identified 
themselves with the party. Why then should they accept the Congress 
president as a curb on their power? Why should they give him a veto 
on their proposals? 

The choice of a successor to Kripalani assumed key importance. The 
election of a puppet who obeyed the government would sigpalize the 
elimination of effective political opposition. 

Gandhi attended the meeting of the Congress Working Committee 
which was to elect the new president. It was the Mahatma’s day of 
silence. When nominations were opened, he wrote the name of his 
candidate on a small piece of paper and passed it to Nehru. Nehru read 
the name aloud: Narendra Etev, the Socialist leader. Nehru supported 
Narendra Dev’s candidacy. Others opposed it. 

The Socialists were then still inside the Congress party. But their 
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ideolo^cal, political, and personal differences with right-wing Congcess- 
men presumably encouraged Gandhi in the belief that they mig^t be 
able to control and check certain trends within the government. 

The morning session of the Working Committee closed at 10 A.M.; 

no vote was taken. 
At noon, Nehru and Patel summoned Rajendra Prasad and, without 

consulting Gandhi, urged him to be a candidate for the presidency of 
Congress. Dr. Prasad, a member of the Working Committee, was a 
lawyer who first met Gandhi in Champaran in 1917 during the struggle 
for the indigo sharecroppers. 

Prasad went to Gandhi in Birla House at i p.m. and told the Ma¬ 
hatma about the offer. "I don't like it,” Gandhi said. 

”1 cannot remember ever having dared to oppose Gandhi,” Dr. Prasad 
stated in recounting these events. “Even when I differed with him I 
felt he must be right and followed him.” 

On this occasion, too, Prasad agreed with Gandhi and promised to 
withdraw his candidacy. 

Subsequently, however, Prasad was persuaded to change his mind. 
He became the new Congress president. He was a gentle, modest, 
compbant, retiring, well-intentioned, high-minded person more inclined 
to serve than to lead. He was sixty-three. 

Gandhi had been defeated by the Congress machine and by the key 
men in the government. 

Gandhi now tried a different approach. 
During the first half of December, 1947, he held a series of confer¬ 

ences with his most trusted collaborators outside the government. They 
were the Constructive Workers, the men and women who directed the 
several organizations set up by Gandhi over th6 years to remove un- 
touchability, spread the use of Hindustani as the national language, 
extend basic education, improve food cultivation, develop village indus¬ 
tries, and encourage hand spinning. The Constructive Workers were 
devoted to non-violence; they believed in Gandhi not merely because 
he was the chief instrument of India's political independence but be¬ 
cause they considered him the chief agent for India's social reform. 

Gandhi wanted all these organizations to combine. But he did not 
want the Constructive Workers "to go into power politics; it would 
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spell nun. Or else why,” Gandhi asked, "should not I myself have gone 
into politics and tried to run the government my way? Those who are 
holding the reins of power today would easily ^ve stepped aside and 
made room for me, but whilst they are in charge they carry on only 
according to their own lights. 

"But I do not want to take power into my hands,” Gandhi assured 
his friends. "By abjuring power and devoting ourselves to pure, selfless 
stirvice of the voters we can guide and influence them. It would give 
us far more real power than we shall have by going into the government. 
A stage may come when the people themselves may feel and say that 
they want us and no one else to wield power. The question could then 
be considered. 1 shall most probably not be alive then.” 

Unable to steer Congress, Gandhi planned to build a new vehicle 
which would push the government and, in an emer^ncy, carry the 
government’s load. It would be in politics without seeking political 
power except as a last resort. Instead of trying to win votes it would 
teach the masses "to use their votes intelligently,” Gandhi said. 

“Under adult suffrage,” he declared, "if we are worth our salt, we 
should have such a hold on the people that whomsoever we choose 
would be returned.” To assist in this task Gandhi wanted to attract 
more intellectuals. “Our intelligentsia,” he told the conference of Con¬ 
structive Workers, “are not lacking in sympathy. Reason, as a rule, 
follows rh the footsteps of feeling. We have not sufficiently penetrated 
their hearts to convince their reason.” That is a key to Gandhi: heart 
and mind were one, but heart ruled. 

Why could not the constructive welfare work be done by the Con¬ 
gress party or by the government, a delegate asked. 

"B^ause Congressmen aren’t sufficiently interested in constructive 
work,” Gandhi replied simply. “We must recognize the fact that the 
social order of our dreams cannot come through the Congress party 
today. . . . 

“There is so much corruption today,” Gandhi asserted, "that it 
frightens me. Everybody wants to carry so many votes in his pocket, 
because votes give power.” (Kripalani described tbe trouble as "red- 
tapism, jobbery, corruption, bribery, black-marketing and profiteering.”) 
lierefore, Gandhi emphasized, "banish the idea of the capture 
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power and you will be able to guide power and keep it on the right 
path. . . . There is no other way of removing the corruption that 
threatens to strangulate our independence at its very birth." 

He who is immune to the temptation of power can best oppose the 
men in power, Gandhi felt. His limited experience told him that legis¬ 
lators and judges were too close to the machinery and mores of power 
to check-and-balance the executive; only those outside government, he 
contended, could check-and-balance those in government. 

Yet even his own high authority was no match for the power of a 
government bom of his efforts and whose members touched his feet in 
obeisance. 

CHAPTER FORTY-NINE 

The Last Fast 

Richard Symonds, a British Friend who had met Gandhi in Bengal 
while doing relief work there, fell ill with typhoid in New Delhi in 
November, 1947. Gandhi invited the patient to Birla House. 

Once the doctor advised brandy for the sick man. The house was 
searched and a bottle of brandy found; on being asked, Gandhi, a strict 
prohibitionist, said he had no objection to Symonds’ using the liquor. 
He took the same attitude subsequently when sherry was recommended 
to Symonds. 

On the approach of Christmas, Gandhi asked a group of Indian 
Christian girls to decorate Symonds’ room with holly and gay festoons; 
Christmas Eve, at the Mahatma’s suggestion, the girls came and sang 
carols. 

Gandhi spent at least a few minutes, and often much longer, with 
the patient each day. His only interference in the cure was to urgp the 
application of mud packs to the abdomen. For the rest, his chief contri¬ 
bution to the restoration of the Englishman’s health was to make him 
laugh whenever he was with him. 
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Symonds had been to Kashmir and wanted to discuss the situation 
with Gandhi, but except on the Mahatma s day of silence he never got 
a chance, for Gandhi entertained Symonds with funny stories and jokes 
from the moment he came into the room till the moment he left The 
Kashmir problem was too grave for a patient. 

Kashmir, including the beautiful Vale of Kashmir, is at the top of 
the world, in northernmost India. Its Hindu maharaja had ruled his 
8cd,ooo Hindu subjects and 3,200,000 Moslem subjects with equal 
disregard of their welfare and freedom. In September, 1947, the Pakistan 
government abetted incursions into Kashmir by the wild warriors of 
the tribal area between the northwest frontier and Afghanistan; subse¬ 
quently Pakistan regular troops invaded Kashmir. Alarmed and helpless, 
the maharaja asked that his state be admitted into the Indian Union. 
On October 29th, the accession was officially announced, and the 
maharaja thereupon appointed as his prime minister Sheik Abdulla, a 
Moslem, whom he had held in prison for protracted periods. Simul¬ 
taneously, the New Delhi authorities rushed troops to Kashmir by air 
and road. Without the airlift, Kashmir would have been overrun and 
annexed by Pakistan. Soon Kashmir and neighboring Jammu, likewise 
the realm of the maharaja, became the scene of a small war between 
India and Pakistan which seriously drained the financial resources, 
patience, and military establishments of both Dominions. Moslems called 
it "Holy War." 

In a Christmas Day broadcast, Gandhi approved of India’s action in 
sending troops to Kashmir to repel the tribal invaders. He condemned 
suggestions to partition the state between India and Pakistan. He re¬ 
gretted the fact that Nehru had submitted the dispute to the United 
Nations. At the U.N., he told Horace Alexander, the British pacifist, 
considerations of international "power politics" rather than merit would 
determine the attitude of countries toward the Kashmir issue. Gandhi 
therefore urged India and Pakistan to "come to an amicable settlement 
with the assistance of impartial Indians”; that, he said, would "enable 
the Indian Union s representation to the U.N. to be withdravm with 
dignity." If direct negotiations failed, Gandhi contemplated mediation 
by one or two Englishmen; in his talk with Horace Alexander, the 
Mahatma mentioned Philip Noel-Baker, a member of the British Labor 
government, as an acceptable mediator. He also envisaged the possibility 
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of a plebisdte or referendum among the inhahitants of the disputed 
region. 

The Indian government, however, rejected mediation and arbitration; 
bitter U.N. debates continued interminably while tempers and military 
expenditures rose. 

Gandhi always combined high politics with low politics. He talked 
Kashmir with Nehru one day, and the next day he went to a village 
and told the peasants how to mix “the excreta of animals and human 
bein^” with rubbish to make “valuable manure.” They must improve 
their cattle, he advised further. Hindus complained that Moslems Idlled 
cows, Gandhi said, but Hindus killed cows “by inches through ill treat¬ 
ment.” The villagers’ address to him had lauded the virtues of non¬ 
violence. “But 1 know how such an address is prepared,” he stated in 
his reply. “Someone writes it out and someone else reads it parrotwise 
and that is the end of it.” Did they practice non-violence? “There must 
be consistency between one’s thoughts, words, and actions.” 

By this touchstone, Gandhi was great, greater in fact, after India be¬ 
came independent than before. On the eve of his departure from India 
after several months’ sojourn, the Reverend Dr. John Haynes Holmes, of 
the Community Church in New York, wrote to Gandhi saying, “I count 
these last months to be the crown and climax of your unparalleled 
career. You were never so great as in these dark hours.” Dr. Holmes 
had talked with Gandhi and knew his mood. “Of course,” he wrote the 
Mahatma, “you have been sad, well-nigh overborne, by the tragedies of 
recent months, but you must never feel that this involves any break¬ 
down of your life work.” 

Gandhi printed the praise in Harijan of January ii, 1948, under the 
caption: “Is It Deserved?” His answer was, “I wonder if the claim can 
be proved.” In the same issue of the paper, Gandhi printed another 
letter, from a European friend, who had written to comfort him. “I for 
one, and I am sure I speak the heart of untold millions,” the friend 
declared, "feel it my bounden duty to express my deepest gratitude to 
you for giving the whole of your life to what you felt to be the one way 
to salvation for mankind,” non-violence. 

T must not flatter myself with the belief, nor allow friends like you 
to entertain the belief,” Gandhi replied, “that I have exhibited any 
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heroic and demonstrable non-violence in myself. All I can rlaim is ihj 
I am sailing in that direction without a moment's stop. . . ." 

Gandhi’s views on these matters were sober and rarest. But he was 
too involved emotionally in his life work to be objective about it. He 
could not see himseff in historic perspective. He was too disappointed 
by the failure of others to evaluate his own success correctly. 

Would it be right to judge Christ by his crucifiers and detractors? 
Gandhi was too great to succeed. His goals were too high, his follow¬ 

ers too human and frail. 
Gandhi did not belong to India alone. His failures in India in no 

wise detract from his message and meaning to the world. He may be 
very dead in India and very alive outside India. Ultimately he may live 
there and here. 

It is the manner of Gandhi’s life that matters, not his immediate 
effect on his immediate neighbors. 

Jesus may have thought that God had forsaken Him, and Gandhi 
may have thought his people had forsaken him. The verdict of history 
cannot be anticipated by those who make it. 

'The stature of a man is in the eye of the beholder. Harassed, un- 
happy, thwarted by those who adored him, Gandhi could not have seen 
what heights he attained in the last months of his life. In that period 
he did something of endless value to any society: he gave India a con¬ 
crete, living demonstration of a different and better life. He showed 
that men could live as brothers, and that brute man with blood on his 
hands can respond, however briefly, to the touch of the spirit. Without 
such moments humanity would lose faith in itself. Forever after, the 
community must compare that flash of light with the darkness of normal 
existence. 

'The fact that Gandhi’s fast restored Calcutta to its senses and peace, 
the fact that his presence reduced the mass killings in Delhi to occa¬ 
sional outbursts, the fact that his fleeting visit to Dr. Zakir Hussain’s 
Okla academy gave it immunity to violence, the fact that hardened 
bandits laid their arms at his feet, the fact that Hindus would listen to 
Koran verses and that Moslems would not object to hearing the holy 
words of Islam from the mouth of a Hindu—all this remains to inspire 
or haunt those whose actions would surest that they have forgotten it 
It is the seed of conscience and the source of hope. 
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On January 13, 1948, Mahatma Gandhi commenced his last fast. It 
engraved an image of goodness on India’s brain. 

The killings in Delhi had ceased. Gandhi’s presence in the city had 
produced its effect. But he was sdll in “agony.” “It is intolerable to me,” 
he said, “that a person like Dr. Zakir Hussain, for instance, or for that 
matter Shaheed Suhrawardy [the ex-prime minister of Bengal] should 
not be able to move about in Delhi as freely and with as much safety 
as I myself.” Gandhi wanted to go to Pakistan to help the Hindus and 
Sikhs there, but how could he when the Moslems of Delhi had not 
obtained full redress? “I felt helpless,” he said. “I have never put up 
with helplessness in all my life.” 

He therefore fasted; it was an “all-in fast,” to death. "It came to me in 
a flash.” He had not consulted Nehru or Patel or his doctors. To the 
charge that he had acted impatiently when the situation was improving, 
he replied that he had waited patiently since the riots started a year 
ago; the spirit of interreligious killing was still abroad in the land. “It 
was only when in terms of human effort I had exhausted all resources 
. . . that I put my head on God’s lap. . . . God sent me the fast. . . . 
Let our sole prayer be that God may vouchsafe me strength of spirit 
during the fast that the temptation to live may not lead me into a hasty 
or premature termination of the fast.” 

The fast, Gandhi declared on the first day, was directed to “the con¬ 
science of all,” to the Hindus and Moslems in the Indian Union and to 
the Moslems of Pakistan. “If all or any one of the groups respond fully, 
I know the miracle will be achieved. For instance, if the Sikhs respond 
to my appeal as one man I shall be wholly satisfied.” He would go and 
live among the Sikhs of the Punjab. 

"We are steadily losing hold on Delhi,” Gandhi asserted; he feared 
a recrudescence of violence in the capital, and “if Delhi goes, India goes, 
and with that the last hope of world peace.” Hindus had been murdered 
in Karachi, the capital of Pakistan, and elsewhere in the Moslem Do¬ 
minion. With his fingertips, the Mahatma sensed the danger of a new 
wave of riots. In Delhi refugees were ejecting Moslems from their 
homes, and demands had been heard to banish all the Moslem inhabit¬ 
ants of the city. “There is storm within the breast,” Gandhi said; “it may 
burst forth any day.” 

He had brooded over the situation for three days without telling 
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anybody. When at last he decided to fast “it made me happy.” He felt 
happy for the first time in months. 

He knew he might die, “but death for me would be a glorious delhr- 
erance rather than that I should be a helpless witness to the destruction 
of India, Hinduism, Sikhism, and Islam.” His friends, he announced, 
must not rush to Birla House to try to dissuade him. Nor must they be 
anxious. “1 am in God’s hands.” Instead of worrying about him they 
should "turn the searchlight inward, this is essentially a testing time 
for all of us.” 

The first day of the fast he walked to the evening prayer meeting 
and conducted the services as usual. “A fast weakens nob^y during the 
first twenty-four hours after a meal,” he told the congregation with a 
smile. A written question passed to him on the platform asked who 
was to blame for the fast. No one, he replied, “but if the Hindus and 
Sikhs insist on turning out the Moslems of Delhi they will betray India 
and their religions; and it hurts me.” Some taunted him, he said, with 
fasting for the sake of the Moslems. They were right. "All my life I 
have stood, as everyone should stand, for minorities and those in 
need. . . . 

“I expect a thorough cleansing of hearts,” he declared. It did not 
matter what the Moslems in Pakistan were doing. Hindus and Sikhs 
should remember Tagore’s favorite song: “If no one responds to your 
call. Walk alone, Walk alone.” 

He would break his fast when Delhi became peaceful “in the teal 
sense of the term.” 

The second day of the fast the doctors told Gandhi not to go to 
prayers, so he dictated a message to be read to the congregation. But 
then he decided to attend and addressed the worshipers after the hymns 
and holy scriptures had been chanted. He had been deluged with mes¬ 
sages, he said. The most pleasant was froir- Mrdulla Sarabhai in Lahore, 
Pakistan. She wired that his Moslem friends, including some in the 
Moslem League and Pakistan government were anxious for his safety 
and asked what they should do. 

His answer was: “The fast is a process of self-purification and is in¬ 
tended to invite all who are in sympathy with the mission of the fast 
to take part in the process of selLpurification. . . . Supposing ihere is 
a wave of self-purification throughout both parts of India. Pakistan will 
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become pak, pure.... Such a Pakistan can never die. Then, and only 
then, shall I repent that I ever called partition a sin, as I am afraid 1 
must hold today. . . 

As a child, he revealed, after listening to his father’s discussions with 
friends of other communities, he had dreamed of real amity between 
religions. "In the evening of my life, 1 shall jump like a child to feel 
that the dream has been fulfilled." Then his wish to live 125 years 
would be revived. 

"I have not the slightest desire that the fast should be ended as soon 
as possible,” he assured the congregation. “It matters little if the ecstatic 
wishes of a fool like me are never realized and the fast is never broken. 
I am content to wait as long as it may be necessary, but it will hurt me 
to think that people have acted merely to save my life." 

In this fast Gandhi did not wish to be examined by the physicians. 
“I have thrown myself on God," he told them. But Dr. Gilder, the heart 
specialist of Bombay, said the doctors wished to issue daily bulletins 
and could not tell the truth unless they examined him. That convinced 
the Mahatma and he relented. Dr. Sushila Nayyar told him there were 
acetone bodies in his urine. 

"That is because 1 haven’t enough faith," Gandhi said. 

“But this is a chemical,” she protested. 
He looked at her with a faraway look and said, "How little science 

knows. There is more in life than science, and there is more in God 
than in chemistry.” 

He could not drink water; it caused nausea. He refused to add some 
drops of citrus juice or honey to the water to prevent nausea. The kid¬ 
neys were functioning poorly. He had lost much strength; his weight 
dropped two pounds each day. 

The third day he submitted to a high colonic irrigation. At 2:30 in 
the morning he awoke and asked for a hot bath. In the tub he dictated 
a statement to Pyarelal asking the Indian Union government to pay 
the government of Pakistan 550,000,000 rupees, or approximately 
$180,000,000. This was Pakistan’s share in the assets of pre-partition 
India; the New Delhi authorities had delayed payment, and Gandhi 
was demanding immediate transfer of the money. Having dictated the 
memorandum, he felt giddy and Pyarelal lifted him out of the water 
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and sat him in a chair. The Mahatma’s weight was down to 107 pnnw^j 
his blood pressure 140:98. 

The Indian Union government paid out the money. 

That day, Gandhi occupied a cot which stood in an enclosed p(»ch 

at the side of Birla House. Most of the time he lay in a crouched posi¬ 

tion, like an embryo, with his knees pulled up toward his stomach and 

his fists under his chest. The body and head were completely covered 

with a white khadi cloth which framed the face. His eyes were closed 

and he appeared to be asleep or half conscious. An endless queue filed 

past at a distance of ten feet. Indians and foreigners in the line were 

moved to pity as they observed him; many wept and mtirmured a prayer, 

and touched their palms together in a greeting which he did not see. 

Acute pain was written on his face. Yet even in sleep or semi-conscious¬ 

ness,’ the suffering seemed to be sublimated; it was suffering dulled by 

the exhilaration of faith, suffering moderated by an awareness of service. 

His inner being knew that he was making a contribution to peace and 

he was therefore at peace with himself. 

Before prayers at 5 p.m. he was fully awake but he could not walk 

to the prayer ground, and arrangements were made for him to speak 

from his bed* into a microphone connected with a loudspeaker at the 

prayer ground and with the All-India Radio which would broadcast his 

remarks throughout the country. 

“Do not bother about what others are doing,” he said in a weak voice. 

“Each of us should turn the searchlight inward and purify his or her 

heart as much as possible. I am convinced that if you purify yourselves 

sufficiently you will help India and shorten the period of my fast.. . . 

You should think how b«t to improve yourselves and work for the good 

of the country. . . . No one can escape death. Then why be afraid of 

it? In fact, death is a friend who brings deliverance from suffering.” 

He could speak no further. The rest of his message was read for him. 

Journalists had submitted questions to him, and he was answering them 

orally. 
“^^y have you undertaken a fast when there was no disturbance of 

any kind iu any part of the Indian Dominion?” 
"What was it if not a disturbing disturbance," he replied, “for a 

crowd to make an organized and a determined effort to take forcible 

possession of Moslem houses? The disturbance was such that the police 
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had reluctantly to resort to tear gas and even a little shooting, if onl) 
overhead, before the crowd dispersed. It would have been foolish foi 
me to wait till the last Moslem had been turned out of Delhi by subtle, 
undemonstrative methods which 1 would describe as killing by inches." 

It had been charged that he was fasting against Vallabhbhai Patel, 
the assistant Prime Minister and Home Minister, whom some regarded 
as anti-Moslem. Gandhi denied it and said this seemed like an attempt 
to create a gulf between him and Nehru on the one hand and Patel on 
the other. 

The fourth day, Gandhi’s pulse was irregular. He allowed the doc- 
tcws to take an electrocardiogram and give him another irrigation. 
Maulana Abul Kalam Azad pleaded in vain with the Mahatma to drink 
some water with citrus juice. Gandhi had been drinking no water and 
passing no urine. The physicians warned him that even if he survived 
the fast he would suffer permanent, serious injury. Unheeding, he spoke 
to the prayer meeting by microphone from his cot and boasted that 
his voice was stronger than the day before. “I have never felt so well 
on the fourth day of a fast,” he stated. “My sole guide, even dictator, 
is God, the Infallible and Omnipotent. If he has any further use for 
this frail body of mine He will keep it in spite of the prognostications 
of medical men and women. 1 am in His hands. Therefore I hope you 
will believe me when I say that I dread neither death nor permanent 
injury even if I survive. But I do feel that this warning of medical 
friends should, if the country has any use for me, hurry the people up 
to close their ranks.” 

He insisted on addressing the prayer meeting by microphone for two 
minutes. This was followed by the reading of a statement which he had 
dictated earlier. The government of the Indian Union was paying 
Pakistan 550,000,000 rupees. This, Gandhi hoped, would lead to an 
honorable settlement of the Kashmir question and all outstanding dif¬ 
ferences between the two E)ominions. "Friendship should replace the 
present enmity. . . . What will be Pakistan’s countergesture?” 

January 17th, Gandhi’s weight was stabilized at 107 pounds. He was 
accumulating water apparently from the irrigations. He suffered from 
nausea and was restless. But for hours he rested quietly or slept. Nehru 
came and cried. Gandhi sent Pyarelal into the city to ascertain whether 
it was safe for Moslems to return. Hundreds of telegrams arrived from 
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princes, from Moslems in Pakistan, from every comer of InHia. Gandhi 
felt gratified, but his written statement that day was a warning: 
“Neither the Rajas nor Maharajas nor the Hindus or Sikhs or any 
others will serve themselves or India as a whole if at this, what is to 
me sacred juncture they mislead me with a view to terminating my fast 
They should know that I never feel so happy as when I am fasting for 
the spirit. This fast has brought me higher happiness than hithoto. 
No one need disturb this happy state unless he can honestly claim that 
in liis journey he has turned deliberately from Satan toward God.” 

January i8th, Gandhi felt better. He permitted some light massage. 
His weight remained at 107 pounds. 

Ever since ii a.m. on the 13th when Gandhi commenced to fast, 
committees representing numerous communities, organizations, and 
refugee groups in Delhi had been meeting in the house of Dr. Rajendra 
Prasad, the new Congress president, in an effort to establish real peace 
among divergent elements. It was not a matter of obtaining signatures 
to a document. That would not satisfy Gandhi. They must make con¬ 
crete pledges which they knew their followers would carry out. If the 
pledges were broken Gandhi could easily and quickly ascertain the fact, 
and then he would fast irrevocably to death. Conscious of the responsi¬ 
bility, some representatives hesitated and went away to consult their 
conscience and subordinates. 

At last, on the morning of the i8th, the pledge was drafted and 
signed, and over a hundred delegates repaired from Prasad’s home to 
Birla House. Nehru and Azad were already there. The Chief of Police 
of Delhi and his deputy were also present; they too had signed the 
pledge. Hindus, Moslems, Sikhs, Christians, and Jews attended. The 
Hindu Mahasabha and the R.S.S. were represented. 

Jarab Zahid Hussain-Saheb, the High Commissioner (Ambassador) 
of Pakistan in Delhi, was also present. 

Prasad opened the conference with the fasting Mahatma by explain¬ 
ing that their pledge included a promise and program for implementa¬ 
tion. The undertakings were definite. “We take the pledge that we shall 
protect the iile, property and faith of the Moslems and that the inci¬ 
dents which have taken place in Delhi will not happen again.' 

Gandhi listened and nodded. 
"We want to assure Gandhiji,” Point Two, "that the annual fair at 
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Kwaja Qutab^d-Din Mazar will be held this year as in previous years." 
This was a reference to a fair held regularly at a Moslem shrine outside 
the dty. 

The specific nature of this promise seemed to brighten Gandhi’s face. 
“Moslems will be able to move about in Subzimandi, Karol Bagh> 

Pahar^nj and other localities just as they could in the past. 
“The mosques which have been left by Moslems and which are now 

in the possession of Hindus and Sikhs will be returned. The areas which 
have been set apart for Moslems will not be forcibly occupied.” 

Moslems who had fled could return and conduct their business as 
before. 

“These things,” they assured him, “will be done by our personal efforts 
and not with the help of the police or military.” 

Prasad accordingly begged the Mahatma to discontinue the fast. 
A Hindu representative then reported to Gandhi on the touching 

scenes of fraternization that had taken place that morning when a pro¬ 
cession of 150 Moslem residents of Subzimandi was given an ovation 
and then feted by the Hindus of the locality. 

Gandhi had keen kept informed of the deliberations in Rajendra 
Prasad’s house; he had originally formulated several of the points which 
the delegates were presenting to him as adopted. 

Gandhi now addressed the group before him. He was moved, he said, 
by their words. But “your guarantee is nothing worth and I will feel 
and you will one day realize that it was a great blunder for me to give 
up the fast if you hold yourself responsible for the communal peace of 
Delhi only.” The press had reported interreligious troubles in Allahabad. 
Representatives of the Hindu Mahasabha and R.S.S., Gandhi con¬ 
tinued, were in the room and had signed the pledge for Delhi. “If they 
are sincere about their professions surely they cannot be indifferent to 
outbreaks of madness in places other than Delhi.” 'This was a clear 
implication of the guilt of these two organizations. “Delhi,” Gandhi 
continued, “is the heart of the Indian Dominion, and you are the cream 
of Delhi. If you cannot make the whole of India realize that the Hindus, 
Sikhs, and Moslems are all brothers, it will bode ill for the future of 
both Dominions. What will happen to India if they both quarrel?” 

Here Gandhi, overcome with emotion, broke down; tears streamed 
down his hollow cheeks. Onlookers sobbed; many wept. 
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When he resumed his voice was too weak to be heard and Dr. g«««l«aa 
Nayyar repeated aloud what he whispered to her. Were they deceiving 
him, Gandhi asked. Were they merely trying to save his life? Would 
they guarantee peace in Delhi and release him so he could go to Pakistan 
and plead for peace there? Did Moslems regard Hindus as infidels who 
worshiped idols and who should therefore be exterminated? 

Maulana Azad and other Moslem scholars spoke and assured HanrlVii 
tl’At this was not the Islamic attitude. Ganesh Dutt, speaking for the 
R.S.S. and the Hindu Mahasahha, pleaded with Gandhi to break his 
fast. The Pakistan Ambassador also addressed a few friendly words to 
the Mahatma. A Sikh representative added his pledge. 

Gandhi sat on the cot, silent and sunk in thought. The assembly 
waited. Finally he announced that he would break the fast. Parsi, Mos¬ 
lem, and Japanese scriptures were read, and then the Hindu verse: 

Lead me from untruth to truth. 
From darkness to light. 
From death to immortality. 

The girls of Gandhi’s entourage sang a Hindu song and “When 1 
Survey the Wondrous Cross,” Gandhi’s favorite Christian hymn. 

Thereupon, Maulana Azad handed Gandhi a glass filled with eight 
ounces of orange juice which Gandhi slowly drank. 

If the pledge was kept, Gandhi said, it would revive his wish to live 
his full span of life and serve humanity. “That span, according to 
learned opinion,” he declared, “is at least 125 years, some say 133.” 

'The same afternoon, Gandhi had a talk with Arthur Moore, former 
editor of the British-owned daily Statesman. “He was lightsome and 
gay,” Moore wrote, “and his interest while he talked with me was not 
in himself but in me, whom he plied with probing questions." 

When he awoke that morning, Nehru bad decided to fast until eve¬ 
ning in sympathy with Gandhi. Then the Prime Minister was sum¬ 
moned to Birla House where he witnessed the giving of the pledge and 
the breaking of the fast. “See here,” Nehru said to GandU in mock 
censure, “1 have been fasting; and now this will force me to break my 
fast prematurely." 

Gandhi was pleased. In the afternoon he sent some documents to 
Nehru with a note saying he hoped he had ended his fast. “May you 
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long remain the jewel of India," Gandhi added. Jawahar is “jewel” in 
Hindustani. 

Gandhi told his evening prayer meeting that he interpreted the 
pledge as meaning, “Come what may, there will be complete friendship 
between the Hindus, Moslems, Sikhs, Christians, and Jews, a friend¬ 
ship not to be broken.” 

Sir Mohamed Zafrullah Khan, the Foreign Minister of Pakistan, 
informed the U.N. Security Council at Lake Success that “a new and 
tremendous wave of feeling and desire for friendship between the two 
Dominions is sweeping the subcontinent in response to the fast.” 

The national boundary between Pakistan and the Indian Union is 
an unhealed cut through the heart of India and friendship is difficult 
to achieve. Nevertheless, Gandhi’s last fast did perform the miracle 
not merely of pacifying Delhi but of putting an end to religious riots 
and violence throughout both E)ominions. 

That partial solution of a problem which is worldwide stands as a 
monument to the moral force of one man whose desire to serve was 
greater than his attachment to life. Gandhi loved life and wanted to 
hve. But through the readiness to die he recovered the capacity to serve, 
and therein lay happiness. In the twelve days that followed the fast he 
was happy and jolly; despondency had fled and he was full of plans 
for further work. He courted death and found a new lease on life. 

CHAPTER FIFTY 

The Last Act 

The first day after the fast Gandhi was carried to prayers in a chair. In 
his speech, which was only faintly audible, he reported that an official 
of the Hindu Mahasabha, which believed in Hindu supremacy and 
was the parent of the militant anti-Moslem R.S.S., had repudiated the 
Delhi peace pledge. Gandhi said he was sorry. 

The second day he again had to be carried to prayers. In the course 
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of his usual remarks, he declared he hoped to recuperate rapidly and 
then go to Pakistan to pursue the mission of peace. 

At question time, a man urged Gandhi to proclaim himself a remcsm- 
nation of God. "Sit down and he quiet," Gandhi replied widi a dred 
smile. 

While Gandhi was speaking, the noise of an explosion was heard. 
"What is it?" he asked. ‘1 don’t know." 'The audience was agitated. 
"Don’t worry about it,” he said. "Listen to me.” 

A handmade bomb had been thrown at the Mahatma from the nearby 
garden wall. 

The next day Gandhi, having walked to the prayer meeting, told the 
worshipers that congratulations had poured in on him for remaining 
unrufiled during the incident. He said he deserved no praise; he had 
thought it was military practice. "I would deserve praise," he asserted, 
"only if I fell as a result of such an explosion and yet retained a smile 
on my face and no malice against the doer. No one should look down 
on the misguided youth who had thrown the bomb. He probably looks 
upon me as an enemy of Hinduism.” 

The young man, Gandhi continued, should realize that “those who 
differ with him are not necessarily evil.” He urged the supporters of 
such young people to desist from their activity. “This is not the way to 
save Hinduism. Hinduism can only be saved by my method.” 

Sikhs visited Gandhi and assured him that the would-be assailant was 
not a Sikh. “What does it matter,” Gandhi asked, “whether he was a 
Sikh or a Hindu or a Moslem? I wish all perpetrators well." 

An illiterate old woman had grappled with the grenade-thrower and 
held him till the police came. Gandhi commended “the unlettered sister 
on her simple bravery.” He told the Inspector General of Police not to 
molest the young man. Instead, they should try to convert him to right 
thinking and right doing. Nor should the, worshipers be angry with the 
“miscreant.” “You should pity him,” Gandhi said. 

The young man’s name was Madan Lai. He was a refugee from the 
Punjab, had found shelter in a mosque in Delhi and been evicted when 
the police, under pressure of Gandhi’s wishes, commenced clearing 
Moslem places of worship. 

“I had seen with my own eyes horrible thin^ in Pakistan,” Madan 
Lai testified at his trial. “I had also been an eye-witness to the shooting 
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down of Hindus in Punjab towns and in Delhi by troops from the 
south.” 

Aroused, Madan Lai had joined a group of men who were plotting 
to kill Gandhi. When the grenade failed to reach its target and Madan 
Lai was arrested, his fellow conspirator, Nathuram Vinayak Godse, came 
to Delhi. Godse, age thirty-five, was the editor and publisher of a Hindu 
Mahasahha weekly in Poona, in Tilak’s Maratha country, and he was 
a high-degree, Chitpawan Brahman. 

Subsequently, Godse, Madan Lai, and seven others were tried to¬ 
gether. The trial lasted more than six months. Among other things, 
Madan Lai said he was angered by the Indian Union’s payment of 
550,000,000 rupees to Pakistan. This exasperated Godse. 

T sat brooding intensely on the atrocities perpetrated on Hinduism 
and its dark and deadly future if left to face Islam outside and Gandhi 
inside,” Godse testified, "and ... I decided all of a sudden to take the 
extreme step against Gandhi.” 

The success of Gandhi’s last fast especially infuriated Godse. He 
resented the Mahatma’s insistence that refugees he evacuated from the 
mosques. He was bitter because no demands were made on the Moslems. 
He, and his colleagues, dreaded Gandhi’s authority. 

Godse began hovering around Birla House. He wore a khaki jacket. 
In a pocket of the jacket he kept a small pistol. 

Gandhi’s prayer meeting on Sunday, January 25, 1948, had an un¬ 
usually heavy attendance. Gandhi was pleased. He told the people that 
they should bring straw mats or thick khadi to sit on because the ground 
in winter was cold and damp. It gladdened his heart, he continued, to 
be told by Hindu and Moslem friends that Delhi had experienced “a 
reunion of hearts.” In view of this improvement, could not every Hindu 
and Sikh who came to prayers bring along "at least one Moslem”? To 
Gandhi this would be concrete evidence of brotherhood. 

But Hindus like Madan Lai and Godse and their ideological sponsors 
were incensed by the presence of Moslems at Hindu services and the 
reading of selections from the Koran. Moreover, they seemed to hope 
that the death of Gandhi might be the first step toward the violent 
reunification of India. They wished, by removing him, to make the 
Moslems defenseless, little realizing that his assassination would have 
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the opposite effect by showing the country how dangerous and undis¬ 
ciplined extreme anti-Moslems could be. 

Desfnte the relaxation that followed his fast, Gandhi knew the great 
difficulties facing the new, inexperienced government. He had lost con¬ 
fidence in the ability of Congress. Much, very much, now depended on 
the two top government leaders: Prime Minister Nehru and Deputy 
Prime Minister Patel. They did not always see eye to eye. They were 
temperamental opposites. There had been friction between them. It 
worried Gandhi. Indeed, things had come to such a pass that Gandhi 
wondered whether Nehru and Patel could work together in the govern¬ 
ment. Forced to make a choice, the Mahatma might have preferred 
Nehru. He appreciated Patel as an old friend and skilled administrator, 
but loved Nehru and was sure of his equal friendship for Hindus and 
Moslems. Patel had been suspected of political pro-Hinduism. 

In the end, Gandhi decided that Nehru and Patel were indispensable 
to one another. The government would be seriously weakened if it lost 
either. Gandhi accordingly wrote Nehru a note in Engh'sh saying he 
and Patel "must hold together" for the good of the country. At 4 p.m. 

on January 30th, Patel came to see Gandhi in Birla House to hear the 
same message. 

At 5:05, Gandhi, troubled because he was late, left Patel and, leaning 
his arms on Abha and Manu, hurried to the prayer ground. Nathuram 
Godse was in the front row of the congregation, his hand in his pocket 
gripping the small pistol. He had no personal hatred of Gandhi, Godse 
said at Us trial at which he was sentenced to be hanged: "Before I fired 
the shots I actually wished him well and bowed to him in reverence.” 

In response to Godse’s obeisance and the reverential bows of other 
members of the congregation, Gandhi touched his palms together, 
smiled, and blessed them. At that moment, Godse ptilled the trigger. 
Gandhi fell, and died murmuring, "Oh, God.” 
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CHAPTER ONE 

Eye-witness observations of Gandhi s assassination, funeral, and crema¬ 
tion were supplemented by accounts in the New Delhi Hindustan 
Times and the Bombay Times of IndiOy a full file of which for the 
period from January 30, 1948 to February 24, 1948, I brought home 
with me from India in the autumn of 1948.... The February 15, 1948, 
issue of Harijany Gandhi s English-language weekly, contains two in¬ 
valuable articles, by Devadas Gandhi and by Pyarelal, Gandhi s chief 
secretary, which enabled me to piece together and enrich the account 
in this chapter. . . . Under the imprint of the Hindustan Times, 
Devadas, its managing editor, published in 1948 a one-hundred page, 
large-format picture book, Memories of Bapu, whose contents are also 
a record of the funeral and cremation.... A personal letter from Sardar 
Vallabhbhai Patel gave me several details about Gandhi s last day. . . . 
Two letters from Dr. D. P. Bhargava supplied important medical data 
included in the chapter. . , . General Sir Roy Bucher, whom I met in 
New Delhi, sent me a most exact military report on the funeral pro¬ 
cession, giving distances, names of units, numbers of planes, numbers 
of vehicles, etc. . , . The account of the special memorial meeting of 
the United Nations Security Council is based on the official steno¬ 
graphic record. .. . Tributes and eulogies were found in the newspapers 
of various countries, the bulletins of the Government of India Informa¬ 
tion Services in Washington, D. C., Hcnmge to Mahattna Gandhi, a 
pamphlet published by the Indian government in New Delhi, and other 
publications. . . . Several letters from Krishna Nehru Hutheesing, who 
was in New Delhi the day of the murder and the day of the funeral, 
were very helpful. 

CHAPTER TWO 

The chief source of information on Gandhi's early life is his autobiog¬ 
raphy. The introduction appeared in Young India, Gandhi's English- 
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language weekly, on December 3, 1925, and thereafter he wrote a short 
chapter for publication in each issue. He wrote in Gujarati, his native 
tongue, which was rendered into English by Mahadev Desai, his loyal 
secretary and Boswell. In 1927, Part One of the autobiography appeared 
in book form, and in 1929, Part Two. Subsequently they were bound 
in a single volume entitled An Autobiography or the Story of My Ex¬ 
periments with Truth, by M. K. Gandhi (Ahmedahad: Navajivan 
Publishing House) 6i6 pp. 

Gandhi’s autobiography is as indispensable as it is inadequate. It 
begins at birth and ends in 1920, but the twenty one crucial years he 
spent in South Africa are covered so poorly as to be unintelligible with¬ 
out an earlier book by Gandhi, Satyagraha in South Africa (Madras: 
S. Ganesan, 1928). Other periods likewise receive scant attention. 

Moreover, the autobiography was written and published to preach 
morals to the Mahatma’s followers, and it suffers from all the disadvan¬ 
tages of that approach. 

Some facts about Gandhi’s boyhood not found in the autobiography 
were obtained in interviews with Raliatbehn, Gandhi’s sister. The data 
on the house in which Gandhi was bom, the census figures for 1872, 
the names of rulers served by Gandhi’s father, etc., were sent to me by 
Mr. N. M. Buch, of Rajkot, acting on instructions from Sardar Val- 
labhbhai Patel, India’s Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of States. 

Information about Mrs. Gandhi is contained in Sati Kasturba, a Life- 
Sketch with Tributes in Memoriam, edited by R. K. Prabhu; Foreword 
by M. R. Masani (Bombay: Hind Kitabs, 1944), and Kasturba, Wife 
of Gandhi, by Sushiia Nayyar (Wallingford, Pennsylvania: Pendle 
Hill, 1948). In her old age, Kasturbai was called Kasturba, the "Ba” 
meaning “mother.” 

CHAPTER THREE 

'The autobiography furnished most of the material for this chapter. Also 
A Sheaf of Gandhi Anecdotes, by C. Ramchandran, with a Foreword 
by C. Rajagopalachari (Bombay: Hind Kitabs, 1945), p. 33; The 
MiddJe Span, by George Santayana, Vol. II; Persons and Places (New 
York: CWles Scribner’s Sons, 1945), p. 187, etc.; and Harijan, a 
weekly magazine founded by Gandhi, of February 20, 1949. The dates 
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of Gandhi $ enrollment in the Inner Temple and London University 

were ascertained from the records at my request.. . . Dr. Sinha, whose 

description of Gandhi is quoted in this chapter, is the only contemporary 

of Gandhi, the law student, whom I have been able to discover. He was 

still living in Patna, province of Bihar, in 1949, at the ripe age of eighty. 

He was good enough to send me a long account of all his encounteis 
with Gandhi. 

CHAPTER FOUR 

In the preparation of this chapter several translations of the Gita have 

been used. They are The Bhagavadgita, by S. Radhakrishnan (New 
York: Harper and Brothers, 1948); The Bhagavad GitOy by Swami 

Nikhilananda (New York: Ramakrishna-Vivekananda Center, 1944); 

and The Gospel of Selfless Action, the Gita According to Gandhi, by 

Mahadev Desai (Ahmedabad: Navajivan Publishing House, 1946). 

Gita quotations in the chapter are from this last book not only because 

they are from the English version of Gandhi s Gujarati translation but 

because they sound so good. 

Among other b<x)ks used in the preparation of the chapter are 

Hinduism and Buddhism, by Amanda K. Coomaraswamy (New York: 

Philosophical Library); Essence of Hinduism, by Swami Nikhilananda 

(Boston: Beacon Press, 1948); Vedanta for the Western World, edited 

with Introduction by Christopher Isherwood (Hollywood: The Marcel 

Rodd Co., 1945); The Pageant of Indian History, Vol. I, by Gertrude 

Emerson Sen (New York: Longmans, Green and Co., 1948); and In 

the Path of Mahatma Gandhi, by George Catlin (London: Macdonald 

and Co., 1948). 
This chapter was read in manuscript by Swami Nikhilananda, the 

leader of the Ramakrishna-Vivekananda Center, New York. He like¬ 

wise gave me the benefit of his views on Chapters i, 9, 18, 22, 34, 35, 

and 47.1 also borrowed books from the Center s rich library. 

CHAPTER FIVE 

The facts in the chapter are from Gandhis autobiography. 
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CHAPTER SIX 

Books used: Satyagraha in South Africa, by M. K. Gandhi; the auto¬ 

biography; and a rare volume entitled Speeches and Writings of Ma¬ 
hatma Gandhi (Madras: G. A. Natesan and Co., 1933). 

CHAPTER SEVEN 

Chancellor Jan. H. Hofmeyer and Professor Edward Thompson of 

Oxford are quoted from their contributions to Mahatma Gandhi, Essays 
and Reflections on His Life and Work. Being Tributes from Sixty-Two 
Friends and Admirers, Presented to Him on His Seventieth Birthday, 
edited by S. Radhakrishnan (London :'^Allen and Unwin, Ltd., 1939). 

Satyagraha in South Africa, the autobiography, and Speeches and Writ¬ 
ings were found indispensable. 

In recounting the mob assault on Rustomji’s house, Gandhi states in 

the autobiography that he fied in the company of two policemen, and 

in Satyagraha in South Africa that he was accompanied by one disguised 

policeman. I have assumed that the autobiography gives the correct 

version. 

CHAPTER EIGHT 

Lionel Curtis’s statement is quoted in Mahatma Gandhi, Essays and 
Reflections, edited by S. Radhakrishnan. . . . The photographs of 

Gandhi’s Ambulance Corps appear in “The Mahatma Gandhi Memorial 

Number” of Indian Opinion (Phoenix, Natal: March, 1948). .. . The 

Botha and Smuts anti-Indian declarations are reproduced in the “Golden 

Number” of Indian Opinion, entitled Souvenir of the Passive Resistance 
Movement in South Africa, 1906-1914 (Phoenix, Natal: 1914). . . . 

The narrative follows Gandhi’s Satyagraha in South Africa. The auto¬ 

biography supplies general guidance and a few facts. 
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CHAPTER NINE 

All conversations between Gandhi and Kasturbai and their children 
and others which are quoted in this and other chapters are taken ver¬ 
batim from printed records. There is no hctionaUz^ or imagined con¬ 
versation in this book. The argument on the jewelry, for instance, is in 
Gandhi’s own words. 

Satyagraha in South Africa, by M. K. Gandhi, as well as the auto¬ 
biography supplied invaluable material for this chapter. Further data 
were found in Self-Restraint versus Self-Indulgence, by M. K. Gandhi 
(Ahmedabad: Navajivan Publishing House, 1947): Selections from 
Gandhi, by Nirmal Kumar Bose, another helpful Navajivan book which 
appeared in 1948; and The Teachings of Mahatma Gandhi, edited by 
Jag Parvesh Chander (Lahore: Indian Printing Works, 1947).... The 
story of the Indian boy who died of an operation is from Mrs. Millie 
Graham Polak’s contribution to a volume called Incidents of Gandhiji’s 
Life, edited by Chandrashanker Shukla (Bombay: Vora and Co., 1949). 
The Ruskin quotations are from The Political Economy of Art; Unto 
This Last; Sesame and Lilies; The Crovm of Wild Olive, by John 
Ruskin (London: Macmillan and Co., 1912). Discussions with Joseph 
Freeman, author of American Testament and of several novels, helped 
to clarify the philosophy of Ruskin. . . . Gandhi’s statement to Polak 
about marriage appears in the weekly Harijan of September 5, 1948. 

The name of the Moslem boy who taught Gandhi to eat meat and 
later misbehaved in Gandhi’s house was given to me by Manilal Gandhi. 
K. Kalelkar, a disciple of Gandhi, asked the Mahatma, many years later, 
why he had omitted the name from the autobiography. Gandhi rephed 
that the man was still alive at the time, and he added that he left many 

other things out of the autobiography. 
How Gandhi cured the asthma sufferer he told in a letter, published 

in Harijan, of February 6, 1949, which he wrote in jail in 1932 to a 
person who asked him how to get rid of asthma. 

Gandhi’s 1946 statement on the effect of Unto This Last on his life 
was made to Andrew Freeman of the New York Post and was jvintod 

in Harijan of November 17, 1946. 
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CHAPTER TEN 

The text of the speeches and the temperature of the audience at the 
Imperial Theatre meeting are recorded in Satyagraha in South Africa 
by M. K. Gandhi. 

CHAPTER ELEVEN 

Gandhi’s articles on his jail experiences are reprinted in Speeches and 
Writings of Mahatma Gandhi. . . . Gandhi’s letter on Thoreau was 
placed at my disposal by Mrs. Ellen Watumull of Los Angeles, Cali¬ 
fornia. . . . Satyagraha in South Africa, the autobiography, and the 
“Golden Number” of Indian Opinion were as indispensable to the 
preparation of this chapter as of preceding ones. . . . Gandhi’s prison 
card was sent to me from Phoenix by his son Manilal. . . . Thoreau 
quotations are from The Portable Thoreau, edited and with an Intro¬ 
duction by Carl Bode (New York: Viking Press, 1947); Thoreau, by 
Henry Seidel Canby (Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company, >939), con¬ 
tains an illuminating discussion of the inSuence of Hindu scriptures 
on Thoreau’s mind. . . . Additional bibliography: The Story of an 
African Farm, a novel by Ralph Iron (Olive Schreiner) (New York: 
Burt Company, 1883); Dadabhai Naoroji, the Grand Old Man of India, 
by R. P. Masani, with a Foreword by Mahatma Gandhi (London: 
George Allen and Unwin, Ltd., 1939). 

CHAPTER TWELVE 

The original Gandhi letter was mailed to me from Phoenix on Novem¬ 
ber 29, 1948, by Manilal in answer to a request for material about his 
father. It was folded horizontally in four divisions. Despite its age—38 
years—it was perfectly and easily legible. Manilal wrote me that he had 
no copy. Lest something happen to it, I had it photostated immediately 
and then returned it. 1 subsequently discussed it with Manilal. 

'The letter came with several other valuable hitherto-unpublished 
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pieces of Gandhiana which were listed by Manilal with a meticulous^ 
ness which would have pleased Papa. 

Other data in the chapter are culled from Speeches and Writings of 
Mahatma Gandhi; Satyagraha in South Africa; and Mahadev D^’s 
193a diary, published by Navajivan Press, Ahmedabad, in Gujarati, in 
1948, portions of which were translated for me by Mahadev’s younger 
brother Parmanand, a student at Columbia University. 

CHAPTER THIRTEEN 

The Kingdom of God Is Within You was unobtainable as a separate 
publication but is included in ail standard collections of Count Leo 
Tolstoy’s works. These collections also include biographical data. 

The texts of Gandhi’s three letters in the original English and in 
Russian translation, as well as the Russian originals of Tolstoy’s three 
letters and the English translations of the first two, plus the several 
entries in Tolstoy's diary, appeared in a Soviet collection entitled Utera- 
tumoye Nasledstovo (Literary Heritage), Vols. 37-38 (Moscow, 1939), 

PP- 339-351- 
Gandhi’s three letters to Count Leo Tolstoy are in the archive of 

Vladimir G. Chertkov in Moscow. 

CHAPTER FOURTEEN 

The central narrative in this chapter follows Gandhi’s own story in 
Satyagraha in South Africa. To this, the autobiography adds only a 
few details. Gokhale’s speech in Bombay is quoted from Gandhi As We 
Know Him, edited by C. Shukla (^mbay: Vora and Co., 1945). 
Muriel Lester is quoted from Incidents in Gandhiji’s Life (Bombay: 

Vora and Co., 1949), p- *44- 
Gandhi’s boast of his prowess as carpenter and dressmaker for Mrs. 

Gandhi is found in Young India, May 12, 1927. 
Gandhi’s confidential and hitherto unpublished letters to Lord Ampt- 

hill were graciously offered to me by Benarsi Das Chaturvedi, an IndUui 
writer who stayed with Gandhi in India. 
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CHAPTER FIFTEEN 

The Smuts tribute to Gandhi is quoted from Mahatma Gandhi, Essays 
and Reflections on His Life and Work. The copy 1 used was lent to me 
by Leilamani Naidu, daughter of the late Mrs. Sarojini Naidu, Indian 
poet, and is inscribed by Gandhi: “To Leilamani with love Bapu ii-rio- 
40.” ... Other books that helped in the preparation of this chapter are: 
Speeches and Writings of Mahatma Gandhi; Satyagraha in South 
Africa; Incidents in Gandhiji's Life; “Golden Number” of Indian Opin¬ 
ion; Mahatma Gandhi's Ideas, Including Selections from His Writings, 
by C. F. Andrews (New York: Macmillan Co., 1930). 

CHAPTER SIXTEEN 

The information on Sabarmati Ashram was gathered from a number of 
its residents. In the summer of 1948, 1 visited the settlement. Addi¬ 
tional data are from a long and detailed article by P. R. Mehrotra in 
the Ambala (East Punjab) Tribune of January 30, 1949, and Mahatma 
Gandhi, Sketches in Pen, Pencil and Brush, by Kanu Desai, with an 
Essay by Verrier Elwin (London: The Golden Vista Press, 193a). 

Speeches and Writings of Mahatma Gandhi furnishes the text of 
many of Gandhi’s speeches of this period. The autobiography helps.... 
Official facts on the Indian National Congress are found in a gigantic 
tome entitled To the Gates of Liberty, Foreword by Jawaharlal Nehru, 
Congress Commemoration Volume (Calcutta, 1947). The title of this 
Congress history is from a statement by Pearl S. Buck about Gandhi: 
“He has brought his people to the gates of liberty. If they are not opened 
the people of India will open them.” . . . Supplementary light on the 
early years of Congress can be gleaned from Dadabhai Naoroji, the 
Grand Old Man of India, and India, by Sir Valentine Chirol (London: 
Ernest Benn, 1926). 

The library on Rabindranath Tagore is rich and rewarding. The two 
lines of poetry dted in this chapter are from his Gitanjdli (London: 
Macmillan and Co., 1914). Personal sidelights on his fascinating per¬ 
sonality were given me by his literary secretary. Professor Amiya Chakra- 
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varty, Professor of English Literature at Howard University, Washing¬ 
ton, D. C., and by Humayun Kabir, an Indian writer whom 1 met in 
New IJelhi. I interviewed Tagore in the Grand Hotel in Moscow, in 

‘933- 
Knowledge of Gandhi’s passion for chocolate-coated almonds ar I 

other facts about Gandhi's personal life come to me from Manila 1 
Gandhi, with whom I spent much time in New York, in May, 1949. 

Hind Swaraj or Indian Home Rule, by M. K. Gandhi, publish^ by 
Navajivan Publishing House, Ahmedabad, India, has appeared since 
1909 in innumerable editions with new introductions by Gandhi and 
Mahadev Desai. The facsimile of the original manuscript as written by 
Gandhi ambidexterously in Gujarati has also been published by Nava¬ 
jivan bound in greenish homespun. An American edition (Chicago: 
Universal Publishing Co., 1924), with an introduction by John Haynes 
Holmes, and edited by Haridas T. Muzumdar, appeared under the title. 
Sermon on the Sea; its resemblance to the Sermon on the Mount is 
remote. 

CHAPTER SEVENTEEN 

There is no mention in Gandhi’s autobiography of the speech at the 
Benares University or of the episode. The full text of the speech, as 
edited by Gandhi, is printed in Speeches and Writings of Mahatma 
Gandhi. To the Gates of Liberty and Dadabhai Naoroji’s biography 
contain information on Mrs. Annie Besant, as does a speech on Mrs. 
Besant by Sir C. P. Ramaswami Aiyar printed in his Pen-Portraits, 
Essays and Addresses (Bombay: Hind Kitabs, Ltd., 1948). 

CHAPTER EIGHTEEN 

Nehru's statement in the opening sentence of the chapter was made to 
me at Gandhi’s ashram in 1942 and is quoted from my A Week with 
Gandhi (New York: Duell, Sloan and Pearce, 1942). I have also used 
Nehru's The Discovery of India (Calcutta: The Signet Press, 194^)- 
... For the early history of India and for the description of Mohenjo- 
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daro, I have leaned very heavily on and am heavily indebted to Mrs. 
Gertrude Emerson Sen’s excellent, eioriting The Pageant of India’s His¬ 
tory. . . . Other books used: India, by Sir Valentine Chirol; Mahatma 
Gandhi’s Ideas, Including Selections from His Writings, by C. F. An¬ 
drews; Selections from Gandhi, by Nirmal Kumar Bose; Hinduism and 
Buddhism, by Ananda K. Coomaraswamy; Pen-Portraits, Essays and 
Addresses, by Sir C. P. Ramaswami Aiyar; Gandhi’s autobiography; and 
Gandhi and Stalin, by Louis Fischer (New York: Harper and Brothers, 
1948). I also consulted the Encyclopaedia Britannica articles on “Caste,” 
"Untouchables,” “Sanskrit,” and “Aryan.” . .. On the intricate, delicate 
matter of caste, I have questioned dozens of Hindus in India and the 
United States. 

CHAPTER NINETEEN 

Gandhi’s conversation with me about Champaran is recorded in A Week 
with Gandhi, The autobiography supplies considerable information on 
the episode, but omits the very interesting Andrews episode which is 
covered by Rajendra Prasad in a chapter in Incidents in Gandhiji's Life, 
by Fifty-Four Contributors, edited by Chandrashanker Shulka (Bom¬ 
bay: Vora and Co., 1949). . . . Rajendra Prasad, and the Reverend 
Dr. J. Z. Hodge’s chapter in the same Incidents volume, make intel¬ 
ligible the economic problem of the indigo sharecroppers, as Gandhi’s 
autobiography does not. Speeches and Writings of Mahatma Gandhi 
also contains some material on the Champaran campaign. 

When I finished writing this chapter it occurred to me that Rajendra 
Prasad would have additional information on the Champaran episode. 
I put some questions to him in a letter; his interesting reply is below: 

My dear Mr. Fischer, 
I have received your letter dated the ist June and give you the infor¬ 

mation as far as I can from memory. The tenants used to grow other 
crops like paddy, maize, wheat, barley, etc., on the remaining *%oth of 
their holdings; %oth being cultivated with indigo. I cannot give the 
number of peasants involved but it must have been in hundreds of 
thousands. There was hardly any peasant who was not under this obli- 
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gadon. The populadon of the district of Champaran was over 2,000,000 
and most of the people are culdvators of land. The agreement which 
the planters got from the peasants for increase in their rent in lieu of 
Tinkathia (i.e. obligation to grow indigo on %oths of their holdings) 
was obtained by force and coercion. Manufacture of indigo had ceased 
to be a profitable industry for the indigo planters on account of the 
introducdon of synthetic dyes early in the 20th century and they were 
anxious to avoid the consequent loss which they apprehended. They 
took advantage of a provision in the land tenancy law which bid down 
that if a tenant was under obligation to grow a particular crop for the 
benefit of the landlord, the landlord could claim an unlimited enhance¬ 
ment in rent in lieu of giving the tenant freedom from the obligation 
to grow that particular crop notwithstanding another provision of the 
law which limited enhancement in rent to izVi per cent of the existing 
rent and that only after a lapse of twenty years and only when it was 
shown that there had been a general rise in the price of food grains. 
Under this limitation, landlords could not claim any enhancement 
at all if there was no general rise in the price of food grains calculated 
on the basis of the average of ten years’ rent and if they could 
claim any enhancement under this clause they could get it by 
private agreement with the tenants but subject to the maximum of 
12V4 per cent. Both these limitations could be got over if the enhance¬ 
ment was agreed to in lieu of freedom from obligation to grow a par- 
^cular crop. This particular section in the tenancy law had been 
introduced some fifty years earlier at the instance of the pbnters them¬ 
selves and they took advantage of this at that time. The tenants knew 
that indigo manufacture had ceased to be a profitable business and they 
were shrewd enough to understand that sooner or later the planters 
would have to give up that business and t-iey could never have agreed 
willingly to a permanent unlimited enhancement in their rents. They 
were coerced in various ways which I have described in great detail in 
a book wliich I have written. Shortly, they instituted false criminal 
prosecutions against them, had them beaten, their houses were looted, 
their cattle impounded, they were socially boycotted by withdrawing 
from them certain essential services like the services of carpenters and 
blacksmiths to repair their a^cultural instruments, of barbers to shave 
them, of cobblers to supply them with leather gpods which they required 
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for their agricultural purposes, of inidwives, forceful occupation of their 
lands, etc They were cowed down and were unable even to lodge com¬ 
plaints against this tyranny and oppression in courts. The Government 
on the other hand helped the planters by appointing a number of special 
registrars to register the agreements. Under the law, these agreements 
were required to be registered before an official who is known as Regis¬ 
trar of Dociunents. The Government posted these additional re^strars 
at the very places where the planters had had their offices. As thousands 
and thousands of documents had to be registered the ordinary staff 
could not deal with them and therefore additional registrars were posted 
at each factory and they quickly registered the documents. This is how 
these agreements were executed and got. I cannot give the number of 
the peasants who signed these agreements but you can have an idea 
that the amount of additional income derived on account of the en¬ 
hancement of rent by reason of these enhancement agreements was 
about 6o per cent of the existing rent. Some 30,710 enhancement agree¬ 
ments were executed between 1912 and 1914. The total amount of 
enhancement of rent in rupees was anything between 200,000 to 
300,000 aimually. Where the planters did not get this permanent en¬ 
hancement they realized cash compensation which they called Tawan 
and it was estimated at the time that the cash so reaUzed was about 
Rs. 1,000,000/-. All this was not paid in cash. Where the tenants were 
unable to pay in cash in one lump sum, they executed bonds which 
were realized later on by installments in due course. The Tawan as the 
compensation was called was realized on an average of about Rs. 50/- 
to FU. 60/- per acre on which the tenant was supposed to be under 
obligation to g^ow indigo. 

There is no indigo grown there now or anywhere else so far as I 
know. The planters realized that on account of the legislation which the 
Government passed as a result of Mahatma Gandhi’s movement abolish¬ 
ing compulsory Rowing of indigo under the Tinkatia system, they could 
not carry on in any other way and they were anxious somehow to get 
out of the difficulty which was thus created. The tenants on their side 
were anxious somehow or other to get rid of them. 'The planters found 
that with the loss of their prestige and with the advent of synthetic dyes 
diey could no longer profitably grow indigo, and agriculture like the 
ordinary agriculturists was equally unprofitable for them. They there- 
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fore began to sell their lands in small bits which the tenants were only 
too glad to purchase. So whatever land they possessed of their own they 
sold in this way and got good price for it and went away happy. A few 
of them converted their factories into sugar factories and their indigo 
plantations into sugar cane plantations and they are still there, but th^ 
do not have any of their old influence or prestige and are carrying on 
like any other owner of a sugar factory of which we have many in that 
tli&trict owned by Indians. I look upon this settlement of indigo trouble 
there as a very effective illustration of the working of GandUji’s prin- 
ciple of non-violence. When he went there he declared that he had no 
enmity with the planters but only wanted to stop their inequities. The 
planters were happy to get out of the situation which was becoming 
more and more difficult for them and the tenants were happy to get rid 
of their oppression. Both were pleased with the end of the system. 

Mahatma Gandhi was in Champaran for a short period and busy 
with the enquiry and therefore the institutions which he established 
there towards the end of his stay did not flourish and leave any perma¬ 
nent effect in the way in which one would expect an institution to leave 
on the people who grow under its influence. But it was not only in 
Champaran but in the whole province of Bihar which was till then 
regarded as one of the most backward provinces in India that there was 
a great awakening amongst the masses at large and this awakening has 
remained all through the movements which Mahatma Gandhi led in 
India during later years. From being one of the most backward prov¬ 
inces, Bihar came out as one of the most advanced provinces in Gand- 
hiji’s movement. . . . 

Yours sincerely, 
(Signed) Rajendra Prasad 

CHAPTER TWENTY 

The chii'f sources used in this chapter are Gandhi’s autobiography. 
Teachings of Mahatma Gandhi, edited by Jag Parvesh Chander, wiA 
a Foreword by Dr. Rajendra Prasad (ijihore: The Indian Printing 
Works, 1947); and History of Wage Adjustments in the Ahmedabad 
Industry, Vol. IV, Proceedings of the Arbitration Board and Awards of 
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Arbitrators and the Umpire in the Wage Cut and Other Disputes 

C1936-37) Ahmedabad: Labour Office). 

CHAPTER TWENTY-ONE 

Facts and quotes from the autobiography; The Speeches and Writings 

of Mahatnta Gandhi; A Sheaf of Gandhi Anecdotes, by G. Ramchan- 

dran; and Gandhiji, His Life and Work, published on his 75th Birth¬ 

day, October 2, 1944 (Bombay: Kamatak Publishing House, 1944). 

This is a beautifully manufactured and beaudiully illustrated volume 

of 501 large-size pages filled with invaluable matter. The suffix “ji” is a 

mark of respect. Indians rarely speak of Gandhi except as “Gandhiji.” 

CHAPTER TWENTY-TWO 

My chief source for this chapter was The Cambridge History of India, 

Vol. V, British India, t49J-i8s8, edited by H. H. Dodwell (New York: 

Macmillan Co., 1929); and Vol. VI, The Indian Empire, 1858-1918, 

with Chapters on the Development of Administration /818-1858, 

edited by H. H. Dodwell (New York: Macmillan Co., 1932). . . . 1 
had written of the pre-Portuguese invasions of India in The Soviets in 

World Affairs, 2 Vols. (New York; Cape and Smith, 1930). As part of 

the research for that book, I had access to the Czarist archives in Mos¬ 

cow where I copied Napoleon’s letters to the Russian emperors. . . . 

Data on Indian ancient culture was found in The Pageant of India's 

History, by Gertrude Emerson Sen.. . . India, by Sir Valentine Chirol, 

was also helpful. The secret report of Lord Lytton is quoted by Chirol 

who, incidentally, devotes considerable space to Tilak. . . . Subject 

India, by Henry Noel Brailsford (New York: The John Day Co., 

1943); The Problem of India, by R. Palme Dutt (New York: Inter¬ 

national Publishers, 1943); and Toward Freedom, the Autobiography 

of Jawaharldl Nehru (New York: The John Day Co., 1941) provided 

valuable material.... Gandhi’s autobiography, the big Gandhiji volume, 

and To the Gates of Liberty supplied additional data on the develop 

ment of the Indian nationalist movement. . . . Light on Tilak came in 
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Written responses to questions I put by mail to Sir C. P. Ramaswarai 
Aiyar, a former Tilakite and Prime Minister of Travancore, and from 
Narhari Parikh, a close co-worker of Gandhi for many years; I also dis¬ 
cussed Tilak with Sir C. P. in New York. The story of Tilak's bet with 
Gandhi is taken from B. Pattabhisitaramayya’s contribution to Mahatma 
Gandhi, edited by S. Radhakrishnaii. The statements of Lord Canning 
and Professor Rushbrook Williams on British policy toward the native 
Indian states are quoted from Empire, by Louis Fischer (New York: 
Duell, Sloan, and Pearce, 1943). Canning’s declaration will be found, 
too, in Brailsford’s Subject India and many other studies of India 

CHAPTER TWENTY-THREE 

The story of the Amritsar massacre and all the quotes about it are taken 
from East India.., Report of the Committee Appointed by the Govern¬ 
ment of India to Investigate the Disturbances in the Punjab, Etc. (Lon¬ 
don: His Majesty’s Stationery Office, 1920), Cmd 681. Most of the 
decisions of the Hunter Committee were unanimous, but the Report 
also contains a minority report by the three Indian members of the 
Commission who felt that the majority’s strictures of General Dyer were 
too mild.. . . General Dyer’s own full account is printed in Army, Dis¬ 
turbances in the Punjab, Statement by BrigadierGeneral R. E. H. 
Dyer, C.B., Presented to Parliament by Command of his Majesty (Lon¬ 
don: His Majesty’s Stationery Office, 1920), Cmd 771. 

The Congress party commission of inquiry also investigated the 
Amritsar shooting and pubUshed its detailed findings. I have preferred, 
however, to quote the British commission and, more particularly. Gen¬ 

eral Dyer. 
Other sources: Chirol’s India, the Gandhiji volume, and the auto¬ 

biography. Biographical data on Dyer is to be found in the Encyclo¬ 
paedia Britannica, Vol. VII (1947)- Th>s "tide says the Jallianwalla 
Bagh attack caused "over 300 deaths.” The article on Amritsar in the 
same publication gives the figure as "nearly 400 killed by gunfire. 
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CHAPTER TWENTY-FOUR 

The last meager entry in Gandhi s autobiography deals with the Nagpur 
Congress session in E)ecember, 1920. But rich raw material is available 
in the weekly issues of Young India which Gandhi edited. Many of his 
contributions during the 1919-22 period are collected in a book en¬ 
titled Young India, 1919-22, by Mahatma Gandhi, with a Brief Sketch 
of the Non-Co-Operation Movement by Babu Rajendra Prasad, Secre¬ 
tary, Indian National Congress (New York: B. W. Huebsch, Inc., 
1923). The book was loaned to me by Morgan Harris, a Los Angeles 
college instructor. 1 bought the bound volumes of Young India, from 
December, 1921 to 1931, in Bombay in the summer of 1948. 

Invaluable for detail is a two-volume book by Gandhi’s secretary 
Krishadas entitled Seven Months with Mahatma Gandhi, Being an 

Inside View of the Non-Co-Operation Movement (1921-22) (Behar: 
Rambinode Sinha, 1928). To the Gates of Liberty; the official Congress 
history; the Gandhiji birthday publication; and Swaraj in One Year, 

by Mahatma Gandhi (Madras: Ganesh and Co., 1921), supply sup¬ 
plementary data. 

Lord Reading's biography is entitled Rufus Isaacs, First Marquess 

of Reading, by His Son, the Marquess of Reading, 1914-1935 (London: 
Hutchinson and Co., Ltd., 1945). This is the second volume of the 
biography. The first volume tells the romantic life story of the ship’s 
messenger boy who became Viceroy of India and British Foreign Secre¬ 
tary. He was bom October 10, i860, and died December 29, 1935. 

The verbatim proceedings of Gandhi’s 1922 trial-are given in Speeches 
and Writings of Mahatma Gandhi and in The Great Trial of Mahatma 

Gandhi and Mr. Sankarlal Banker, edited by K. P. Kesava Menon, 
Foreword by Mrs. Sarojini Naidu (Madras: Ganesh and Co., 1922). 
'The description of Gandhi's arrest is taken from an article by an eye¬ 
witness, P. R. Mehrota, in the Ambala Tribune, January 30, 1949. 

An illuminating interpretation of the politics of the Non-Co-opera- 
don period is to be found in The Indian Struggle, 1920-34, by Subhas 
C. Bose (London: Wishart and Company, Ltd., 1935). Also in Sir 
Valentine Chirol’s India. Jawaharlal Nehru's Toward Freedom offers 
some personal background. 
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The official British explanation of Gandhi’s popularity is from 
East India (Progress and Conditions) Statement Exhibiting the Moral 

and Material Progress and Condition of India During the Year 1919 
(London: His Majesty’s Stationery Office, 1920), Cmd 950. It contains 
other interesting facts. 

The authorities in London took official cognizance of Gandhi’s jail 
senttsnce, and disbarred him on November 10, 1922. 

CHAPTER TWENTY-FIVE 

Gandhi’s letter to his brother Laxmidas appears in the original Gujarati 
and translation in the big Gandhiji volume, pubbshed on his birthday. 

Manilal Gandhi’s statement of his relations urith liis father ate 
printed in the “Mahatma Gandhi Memorial Number” of Indian 

Opinion. He made oral statements on the same general subject to me. 
A number of Gandhi’s closest collaborators have also talked and written 
to me about Gandhi as father and husband. The interpretations, how¬ 
ever, are my own. 

Horace Alexander’s evidence, which supplements conversations I had 
with him in New Delhi in the summer of 1948, was given in a talk 
to the staff and students of Shantiniketan school on the eve of the 
emersion of Gandhi’s ashes, February ii, 1948. It was then published 
in the Visva-Bharati Quarterly (Calcutta: February-April, 1948). 

The tale of the pencil stump is told by Miss Slade in Incidents of 

Gandhiji's Life; the same volume is the source of Malavankar’s story 
about the telegram which was mailed. 

Mrdulla Sarabhai, Socialist daughter of the big Ahmedabad textile 
millionaire, told me of her attitude to the Mahatma. When 1 Erst met 
her at the Gandhi ashram in Sevagram in 1942,1 christened her “The 
Boss.” "The Boss” is independent, modem, and though ^e avers she 
is no “Gandhian,” she loves him deeply. She has done mme Gandhian 
work than many of his loud followers. 

Kasturbai’s letter to her son Harilal is printed in full, in English and 
Gujarati, in the “Kasturbai Gandhi Memorial Number” ol Indian 

Opinion (Phoenix, Natal: March 22, 1944). The English text is also 
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printed in Sati Kasturba, a Life-Sketch with Tributes in Memoriam, 

edited by R K. Prabhu. 

CHAPTER TWENTY-SIX 

The story of the appendectomy is told in Voting India and the Gandhiji 

volume. The photograph is reproduced in Speeches and Writings of 

Mahatma Gandhi. The nurse who held the flashlight gave details of 
the operation to Dr. Sushila Nayyar, who subsequently became Gandhi’s 
doctor; Dr. Nayyar wrote them to me. Mr. Sastri tells of his visit to 
Gandhi on the evening of the operation in a chapter entitled “At the 
Sassoon Hospital” in Gandhiji As We Know Him, by Seventeen Con¬ 
tributors, edited by Chandrashanker Shulka (Bombay: Vora and Co., 

*945)- 
The facts about Manu Gandhi’s operation and the story of the peni- 

dlhn were told me by Dr. Bhargava. He also gave me two little snap¬ 
shots of the operation. 

Nehru’s autobiography, Toward Freedom, and Subhas Chandra 
Bose’s less personal autobiography, The Indian Struggle, 1920-34, as 
well as Young India and To the Gates of Liberty, throws light on the 
political situation that greeted Gandhi when he came out of prison. 

Gandhi’s letter to Charles Freer Andrews quoted in this chapter is 
one of fifty-two Gandhi letters to Andrews, copies of which were given 
to me by Pandit Benarsi Das Chaturvedi, a resident in the Mahatma’s 
ashram. Excerpts from these letters will be used in other chapters. 
Andrews was closer to Gandhi than any other foreigner and than most 
Indians. Gandhi called him “Charlie” and he called the Mahatma 
"Mohan.” I therefore refer to the letters as the "Charlie-Mohan Letters.” 
As far as 1 know, nobody else addressed Gandhi so familiarly. 

Young India is practically a diary of the fast. Thanks for this achieve¬ 
ment are due to Charles Freer Andrews and to Mahadev Desai, Gandhi’s 
chief secretary, who had an eye to journalism and details. Young India 

appeared in eight pages, eight inches wide by thirteen inches long. 
Gandhi’s letters to Miss Slade in this and other chapters are quoted 

from Bapu’s Letters to Mira, 1924-48 (Ahmedabad: Navajivan Pubhsh- 
ing House, 1949). 
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The first and last verses of Gandhi's favorite Christian hymn read: 

When I survey the wondrous Cross 
On which the Prince of Glory Died, 
My richest gain I count but loss 
And pour contempt on all my pride. 

Were the whole realm of nature mine 
That were an offering far too small. 
Love so amazing, so divine, 
Demands my life, my soul, my all. 

CHAPTER TWENTY-SEVEN 

All quotations are from Young India magazine. Gandhi's statements on 
hand'Spinning and hand-weaving from 1916 to 1940 are collected in a 
fat volume entitled Economics of Khadi, by M. K. Gandhi (Ahmedabad: 
Navajivan Press, 1941). The book shows the development as well as 
the obstinacy of Gandhi's ideas on the subject. 

For the attitude of the Swaraj party and other semi-co-operating 
and quarter-co-operating Indian organizations, reference was made to 
The Indian Struggle, 1920-34, by Subhas C. Bose. 

CHAPTER TWENTY-EIGHT 

Sources: Young India, and the *‘Charlie-Mohan" letters. . . . The mini¬ 
mum marriage age for girls in the ashram was stated by Gandhi in a 
letter to his granddaughter printed in Harijun of June 19, 1949. . . . 
Romain Holland's Mahatma Gandhi was published in 1924 (New 
York and L<mdon; The Century Co.). 

CHAPTER TWENTY-NINE 

I discussed Gandhi's health and physiology with Dr. B. C. Roy of 
Calcutta, Dr. Manchershah Gilder of Bombay, I>r. Dinshah Mehta, 
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the head of the NatuieCuie Clinic in Poona, and Dr. Sushila Na]ryar, 
who lived in Gandhi’s ashram for many years. 

The source material on Gandhi’s tours and meetings derives, in 
the main, ficom Young India. Descriptions of several meetings are to be 
found in India and the Simon Report, by C. F. Andrews (New York: 
Macmillan Co., 1930). 

Viscount Halifax, a Biography, by Alan Campbell Johnson (Nw 
York: Ives Washburn, Inc., 1941) is invaluable for data on Lord 
Irwin’s activities as Viceroy in India. While the biography is not offi¬ 
cial, the author did obtain aid and documents from his subject. 

The official report of the Simon commission was published as Report 
of the Indian Statutory Commission, Volume I—Survey. Presented by 
the Secretary of State for the Home Department to Parliament by 
Command of His Majesty, May, 1930 (London: His Majesty’s Station¬ 
ery Office, 1930), Cmd 3568; and Report of the Indian Statutory Com¬ 
mission, Volume II—Recommendations. Presented by the Secretary of 
State for the Home Department to Parliament by Command of His 
Majesty, May, 1930 (London: His Majesty’s Stationery Office, 1930), 
Cmd 3569. 

CHAPTER THIRTY 

Vallabhbhai Patel’s first impressions of Gandhi are recorded as he re¬ 
membered them during an interview he gave me in New Delhi on 
August 14, 1948, when he was Deputy Prime Minister of India. 

Young India, a classic model of personal journalism, remains the chief 
source of material. Supplementary information comes from the biog¬ 
raphy of Halifax who was Irwin, the Gandhiji volume, the official Con¬ 
gress history: To the Gates of Liberty, Subhas Chandra Bose’s memoirs, 
and Jawaharlal Nehru’s autobiography. 

The story of Bardoli is amply documented and admirably told in a 
323-page bmk, with numerous appendices, entitled The Story of Bar- 
dolt. Being a History of the Bardoli Satyagraha of 1928 and Its Sequel, 
by Mahadev Desai (Ahmedabad: Navajivan Press, 1929). 
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CHAPTER THIRTY-ONE 

The text of Gandhi’s letter to Irwin announcing tlw Salt March was 
published in Young India for March i2, 1930. The same issue amtains 
the brief acknowledgment sent by the Viceroy’s private secretary, 
G. Cunningham. Gandhi’s hesitations and contemplations before arriv¬ 
ing at the decision to march can be followed in Young India which also 
publishes the report of Tagore’s visit to the ashram in January, 1930. 

'The wise comments of Brailsford on events in 1930 are found in 
Mahatma Gandhi, by H. S. L. Polak, H. N. Brailsford, Lord Pethick- 
Lawrence, with a Foreword and Appreciation by Her Excellency 
Sarojini Naidu, Governor of the United Provinces (London: Odhams 
Press, Ltd., 1949). 

The detailed account of the Salt March is pieced together from 
numerous small items in various issues of Young India. The staff 
Gandhi used on the march still stands in a comer of his room in 
Sabannati Ashram where I measured it in 1948. 

The aftermath of the Salt March is described from facts published in 
Young India and Bose’s The Indian Struggle, 1920-34, as well as by 
Brailsford. Irwin’s biographer is strangely silent on the historic march, 
but his testimony on the Viceroy’s “ruthlessness” in suppressing the 
unarmed insurrection is interesting. 

The account of Gandhi’s arrest is based on reports in Young India. 
A painting of the event by V. Masoji is reproduced in rich color in the 
big Gandhiji birthday memorial volume. When Gandhi viewed the 
painting in an art gallery he was asked whether it represented the actual 
occurrence and he said, “Yes, yes, exactly, exactly. They came like that.” 

Webb Miller’s eye-witness account is quoted from Chapter 16 of his 
book, I Found No Peace, the Journal of a Foreign Correspondent (New 
York: The Literary Guild, Inc., 1936). 

Tagore’s poetic interpretations of the psychological changes urrought 
by the Salt March and the events that flowed from it are published as 
appendices in India and the Simon Report, by C. F. Andrews. 

Gandhi’s height and identification marks were printed in Harifan, 
of June 26, 1949, after Kishorlal G. Mashruwala, Gandhi’s successor 
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editor that magazine, had obtained them at my request from the 
Bbinbay government’s jail records. Mashruwala, of whom Gandhi said, 
“He is one of the most thoughtful among the silent workers we have 
in India,” and whom 1 met at Gandhi’s ashram in 1942, has given me 
more assistance in the preparation of this book than any other Indian. 
Whenever I was stopped for want of a fact, document, letter, or book, 
whenever I did not understand an utterance or act of Gandhi’s, I had 
merely to send an airmail letter to Kishorlal Mashruwala at Wardha 
or Bombay, and back, by return airmail usually, would come a detailed, 
carefully considered reply. I had several dozen long letters from him 
about Gandhi; they were extremely helpful. 

CHAPTER THIRTY-TWO 

The preliminaries of the Irwin-Gandhi talks were pieced together from 
items in Nehru’s autobiography; Gandhi Versus the Empire, by Haridas 
T. Muzumdar, with a Foreword by Will Durant (New York: Universal 
Publishing Company, 1932); Young India; and Bose’s The Indian 
Struggle, 1920-34. 

The account of the talks themselves is based on the biography of 
Irwin; on Young India; Naked Faquir, by Robert Bernays (New York: 
Henry Holt and Co., 1932); and H. N. Brailsford's section on the 
“Middle Years (1915-1939)” in Mahatma Gandhi, by H. S. L. Polak, 
H. N. Brailsford and Lord Pethick-Lawrence. 

The full text of the Irwin-Gandhi Pact is published in Speeches and 
Writings of Mahatma Gandhi. Excerpts from it are contained in Gandhi 
Versus the Empire, and in an appendix of The Nation’s Voice, a col¬ 
lection of Gandhi’s speeches in England and Mahadev Desai's account 
of the sojourn (September to December, 1931), edited by C. Rajago- 
palachari and J. C. Kumarappa (Ahrnedabad: Navajivan Publishing 
House, 1932). Comments on the Pact are given by Irwin’s biographer, 
Bose, Nehru, Brailsford, and others. 

Gandhi’s activities in England are described in great detail in the 
above-mentioned The Nation's Voice, and amusingly in The Tragedy 
of Gandhi, by Glomey Bolton (London: George Allen and Unwin, Ltd., 
1934). Some facts are added by Brailsford, and in the contributions of 
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Horace G. Alexander, Muriel Lester, his hostess at Kingsley Hall, and 
Agatha Harrison to Gandhi As We Know Him, Among other things, 
Miss Harrison tells the tale of Gandhi’s two Scotland Yard detecttf^. 

Gandhi’s CBS broadcast from London to America is rea»dei^^ 
Columbia Masterworks: 17523-D; WA 12082. The full text ^ajlll^ 
broadcast is published in Gandhi Versus the Empire. 

The full text of Gandhi’s address to the London Ve^tarian Society 
on November 20, 1931, is printed in Harijan (February 20, 1949). 
Dr. Henry Salt, whom he had met while a law student at the Iimer 
Temple, sat by his side. Gandhi limited his remarks to vegetarianism, 
arguing for its moral, not physical, justification. 

The account of Gandhi’s visit to Oxford, and especially the report 
on his discussion with the Oxford professors, is patchwork. The patches 
are from The Nation's Voice, a contribution by Edward Thompson 
in Mahatma Gandhi, Essays and Reflections on His Life and Work, 

and Lord Lindsay's “Mr. Gandhi at Oxford,’’ in Incidents in Gandhiji's 

Life. 

The official publication on the Round Table Conference is Indian 

Round Table Conference, Second Session, yth September, 1931-15* 
December, 1931, Proceedings (London: His Majesty’s Stationery Office, 
1932), Cmd 3997. This is supplemented by The Nation’s Voice, and 
Speeches and Writings of Mahatma Gandhi. 

Some additional quotations on this period can be found in A Search¬ 

light on Gandhi, by the [anonymous] Author of "India on the Brink” 
(London: P. S. King and Son, Ltd., 1931). 

CHAPTER THIRTY-THREE 

Holland’s report of his talks with Gandhi were nublished years later in 
the Paris weekly Figaro Litteraire. My account has followed this report 
as well as a letter which Rolland wrote at the time to Lucien Price of 
the Boston Globe, who had it printed in the New York Nation of 
February 10, 1932. 

At first, I merely recorded the cold fact that Rolland had played the 
Andante of Beethoven’s Fifth and Gluck’s Les Champs Elysies. But 
then it occurred to me that his choice must have had some significance. 



53^ The life of Mahatma Gandhi 

I ooiDsulted Nicolas Nabokov, a composer, and Richard Kom, a con- 
ductor. I have paraphrased their interpretations. 

RoUand’s book on Gandhi is entitle^ significantly, Mahatma Gandhi: 
die Man Who Became One vnth the Universal Being. Gandhi never 
claimed that he had achieved Nirvana or perfect Gita-detachment. . . . 

Edmond Privat tells how he and his wife decided on the spur of the 
moment to go to India in “With Gandhiji on Deck,” a chapter in 
Incidents in Gandhiji’s Life. ... In the same volume, Madeleine Rol* 
land, the novelist’s sister, recalls Gandhi’s visit to Villeneuve. 

The report of Gandhi’s interview with Mussolini is based on a letter 
sent me by Kishoral G. Mashruwala. . . . Gandhi’s own account was 
given to a friend on August 22, 1934, but not published until CX:tober 
24, 1948, in Harijan. Mussolini was killed on April 28, 1945. The big 
Gandhiji volume records Gandhi’s sentiments on art and the Sistine 
Chapel. A more ample statement of his views appears in Young India 
(November 13, 1924). I have quoted from it in this chapter. 

The Tragedy of Gandhi, by Glomey Bolton, tells the story of Gandhi’s 
figs from a Queen. 

My wife, Markoosha, did some research for me in Italy on Gandhi’s 
Roman sojourn. 

CHAPTER THIRTY-FOUR 

Gandhi’s two speeches in Bombay on December 28, 1931, are published 
verbatim in Speeches and Writings of Mahatma Gandhi. The same 
volume contains the full text of the Gandhi-Willingdon conespondence 
quoted in the early part of this chapter as well as of the correspondence 
between Gandhi and Sir Samuel Hoare and Ramsay MacDonald about 
the separate electorate for untouchables. 

'The fullest account of the government’s actions against the nationalist 
movement in the last weeks of December, 1931, and the first part of 
1932 is to be found in Condition of India, Being a Report of the Dele¬ 
gation sent to India hy the India League, in (London: Essential 
News, 1933). This book, with a preface by Bertrand Russell, represents 
the findings of the India League of Great Britain’s commission consist¬ 
ing of Monica Whately, Ellen Wilkinson, Leonard W. Matters, and 
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V. K. Krishna Menon. It gives the text dt the Emergency Ocduumoes, 

their defense by British o&»als, and their results in terms of poUoe acts 

and arrests. The report also quotes excerpts from the Gandhi-Willingdon 

correspondence. Nehru’s autobiography, Bose’s memoirs, and Brailsford 

in Mahatma Gandhi likewise comment on that chapter of British rule. 

K. Kalelkar, a disciple of Gandhi, tells the stories related in this 

chapter about Gandhi’s relations with the prison authorities. Mahadev 

Desai's notes on the Gandhi-Patel-Desai conversations in jail are pub¬ 
lished in the first volume of his diary. 

From Yeravda Mandir. Ashram Observances, by M. K. Gandhi, Trans¬ 

lated from the Original Gujarati by Vaiji Govindji Desai (Ahmedabad: 

Navajivan Publishing House, 1945)—a reprint of the 1933 edition—is 

67 pages long; the pages measure four by six inches. The views ex¬ 

pressed in it by Gandhi on God and morals are amplified in this chapter 

by Gandhi’s writings in Young Indiar, The Mirtd of Mahatma Gandhi, 
compiled by R. K. Prabhu and U. R. Rao, with a Foreword by Sir 

Sarvepalli Radhakrishnan (Bombay: Oxford University Press, March, 

1945); and Selections from Gandhi, by Nirmal Kumar Bose. Dr. Jones 

is quoted from Mahatma Gandhi, an Interpretation, by E. Stanley Jones 

(New York: Abingdon-Cokesbury Press, 1948). 

The complete, fully documented, and detailed story of Gandhi’s hist 

for the Harijans is told in The Epic Fast, by Pyarelal (Nayyar) (Ahme¬ 

dabad: Navajivan Publishing House, 1932). It has an introduction 

by Rajagopalachari, and contains the full text of the Gandhi-Hoare- 

MacDonald correspondence, of the Yeravda Pact, of many of the reso¬ 

lutions adopted in connection with the fast, and of the speeches by 

Tagore, Gandhi, and the negotiators as well as the statements of 

Gandhi’s physicians on his condition. It also lists the names of the 

temples opened to Harijans. 
In his book. What Congress and Gandhi Have Done to the Untouch¬ 

ables (Bombay: Thacker and Co., 1945), B. R. Ambedkar prints the 

correspondence between Gandhi and MacDonald and Hoare, the text 

of the Poona Pact, and adds one page of his own comments. 
Lord Willingdon in India, by "Victor Trench’’ (Bombay: Kamatak 

House, 1934) is a sympathetic account of the Viceroy wUch supplks 

some data on Gandhi’s work during Willingdon’s Viceroyalty. 

R. N. Tagore, the great poet’s son who lives at Shantiniketan, has 
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most graciously put at my disposal a thick file containing copies of all 
GandU’s letters to Tagore and all Tagore’s letters and telegrams to 
Gandhi. They are quoted in this and other chapters. 

CHAPTER THIRTY-FIVE 

This chapter and several earlier ones as well as Chapters 46, 47 and 48, 
were read with care and a critical eye by Dr. Sushila Nayyar, Gandhi’s 
house physician during the period covered and until his death. She of 
course is not responsible for my views or facts. But her corrections and 
opinions were invaluable. 

From 1933 to the end of Gandhi’s life, Harijan magazine is the best 
source for statements by Gandhi. Many of these statements are con¬ 
veniently collected in anthologies which include his sayings on a uride 
variety of subjects. I have used Selections from Gattdhi, by Nirmal 
Kumar Bose; India of My Dreams, by M. K. Gandhi, compiled by R. K. 
Prabhu, with Foreword by Dr. Rajendra Prasad (Bombay: Hind Kitabs 
Ltd., 15)47): Teachings of Mahatma Gandhi, edited by Jag Parvesh 
Chander, with a Foreword by Babu Rajendra Prasad (Lahore: The 
Indian Printing Works, 1947); and The Mind of Mahatma Gandhi, 
compiled by R. K. Prabhu and U. R. Rao (Bombay: Oxford University 
Press, 1945). 

In addition, there are Gandhi anthologies devoted to separate ques¬ 
tions. One of these, Christian Missions, Their Place in India, by M. K. 
Gandhi (Ahmedabad: Navajivan Press, 1941), helped me in the prep¬ 
aration of this chapter. Gandhi’s relationship to Christianity and Jesus 
is further elucidated in Gandhi’s Chdlenge to Christianity, by S. K. 
George, with Forewords by Professor S. Radhakrishnan and Mr. Horace 
Alexander (Ahmedabad: Navajivan Publishing House, 1947); Ma¬ 
hatma Gandhi, His Ufe, Work and Influence, by Jashwant Rao Chitam- 
bar [an Indian who was a Christian bishop]. Foreword by John R. Mott 
(Chicago: The John C. Winston Company, 1933); and Mahatma 
Gandhi, an Interpreuaion, by E. Stanley Jones (New York: Abingdon- 
Cokesbury Press, 1948). 

Key to Health, by M. K. Gandhi, translated by Sushila Nayyar 
(Alunedabad: Navajivan Publishing House, 1948), is one of the few 
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books which Gandhi wrote; it is not an anthology. (The otha hooks 
authored hy Gandhi are his autobiography, Satyagraha in South Africa, 
and Hind Swaraj.") Key to Health summarizes Gandhi’s knowledge on 
the nature of the human body, on food and drink, on continence, and 
on air, water, and sun cures. He wrote the little book in prison, in 1942. 
He says in a Preface: “Anyone who observes the rules of health men¬ 
tioned in this book will find that he h^s got in it a real key to nnWk 
the gates leading him to health. He will not need to knock at the doors 
of doctors and vaidyas from day to day.” 

Gandhi’s views on economics, education, women’s welfare, etc., are 
set forth in a 31-page pamphlet. Constructive Programme, Its Meaning 
and Place, by M. K. Gandhi (Ahmedabad: Navajivan Publishing 
House, 1941). . . . An attempt to co-ordinate Gandhi’s ideas into a 
rounded scheme has been undertaken in Gandhian Constitution for 
Free India, by Shriman Narayan Agarwal, Foreword by Mahatma 
Gandhi (Kitabistan, Allahabad, 1946); The Gandhian Plan of Eco¬ 
nomic Development of India, by Shriman Narayan Agarwal, Fore¬ 
word by Mahatma Gandhi (Bombay: Padma Publications, Ltd., 1944); 
and Gandhian Plan Reaffirmed, by S. N. Agarwal, Foreword by Dr. 
Rajendra Prasad (Bombay: Padma Publications, Ltd., 1948). In his 
foreword to Agarwal’s Gandhian Constitution, Gandhi warns the reader 
against the mistake of accepting the volume as “being my view in evoy 
detail.” Though he “endeavored to read the Constitution twice, with as 
much attention as I was able to bestow on it during my other engage¬ 
ments, I could not undertake to check every thought and word of it. 
Nor would my sense of propriety and individual freedom permit me 
to commit any such atrocity. . . . There is nothing in it which has 
jarred on me as inconsistent with what I would like to stand for.” How 
gentle the caveat! Gandhi’s foreword to The Gandhian Plan is equally 
affectionate and cautionary. 

Minoo Masani gave me a photostat copy of Gandhi’s letter to him on 
Socialism. Masani’s own analysis of Gandhi as a Socialist constitutes 
a chapter in the big Gandhiji 75th anniversary memorial volume. I have 
discttssed the question with him, with Jaiprakash Narayan, and others. 

Devadas Gandhi told me the story of his marriage. 
Atulananda Chakrabarti gave me the original letters which Gandhi 

wrote him. One day when I was in India in the summer of 1948 col- 
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lecdng material for this book, he simply stepped into my hotel room 
and presented them to me and at the same time told the story of his 
contacts with the Mahatma. . . . Amiya Chakravarty, who taught at 
Howard University, Washington, D. C., supplied me with copies of 
several lettms he had from Gandhi; he also wrote out an account of 
Gandhi’s kindness to him in Calcutta. . . . The general information 
about Gandhi’s correspondence was furnished by Rajkumari Amrit 
Kaur, a Christian princess, for many years his English secretary. . . . 
Except on very rare occasions, no copies were ever made of the many 
letters which Gandhi wrote by hand. Some are lost. Vallabhbhai Patel 
informs me that he received numerous letters from the Mahatma but 
destroyed them after adequate study. However, thousands of Gandhi’s 
letters exist and a number of his friends were generous enough to give 
me the originals <xc copies. 

When Gandhi’s autobiography was published in the United States, 
in 1948, the late George Orwell reviewed it in Partisan Review. 1 tore 
it out at the time and filed it. Orwell, author of the brilliant Animal 
Farm, 1984, and other books, was bom in India and was an Anglo- 
Indian. His review, entitled "Refiections on Gandhi,” is perceptive, 
sensitive, rich in back^und, and friendly to the subject. He makes 
(me comment that bears on the treatment in this chapter. Discussing 
Gandhi as a non-attached saint, he says, “But it is not necessary here 
to argue whether the other-worldly or the humanistic ideal is ‘higher.’ 
The point is that they are incompatible. One must choose between God 
and Man, and all ‘radicals’ and ‘progressives,’ from the mildest Liberal 
to the roost extreme Anarchist, have in effect chosen Man.” I can see 
how the autobiography, a very imperfect reflection of its author, might 
lead one to imagine that Gandhi had chosen God. But I think Gandhi’s 
greatness lay in his ability to choose both God and Man. His other¬ 
worldliness did not preclude worldliness; on the contrary, it compelled 
worldliness. Gandhi enlisted God in the service of Man. 

Additional bibliography: Economic PoUcy and Programme for Post- 
War India, by Nalini R. Barker (Patna: Patna University, 1945); The 
Story of InMa, by F. R. Moraes (Bombay: The Noble Publishing 
House, 1942). Mr. Moraes, an able Indian journalist, calls Gandhi 
“A Great Humanist.” 
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Gandlii’s statement on social ievoluti(m is quoted (com Harijan 
(August 14, 1949). 

The Reverend K. Mathew Simon is quoted (com a letter he wrote me. 

CHAPTER THIRTY-SIX 

All the Gandhi quotations are (rom Harijan. Gandhi’s pronouncements 
on war, peace, and non-violence between 1920 and 1940 are collected 
in Non-Violence in Peace and War, by M. K. Gandhi (Ahmedabad: 
Navajivan Publishing House, 1942). The book contains 551 pages and 
is supplied with an introduction by Mabadev Desai. 

The facts about the Congress are gleaned (rom the InMan NatUnud 
Congress General Secretary's Reports for (i) 1936-37; (2) January, 
1937-February, 1938; (3) Marcl^ 1938-February, 1939—all published 
by the Congress office at Allahabad. 

India and Democracy, by Sir George Schuster and Guy Wint (Lcm- 
don: Macmillan and Co., Ltd., 1941), presents a view of the Act of 
1935 under which India was governed until independence was panted 
in 1947. 

General Bradley is quoted from a press release of the National Mili¬ 
tary Establishment, Department of the Army, Washington, D. C. 

CHAPTER THIRTY-SEVEN 

Gandhi’s writings of this period were published in Harijan. Some ate 
collected in Non-Violence in Peace and War, by M. K. Gandhi. Addi¬ 
tional data on his difFerences with Congress are found in Report of 
the General Secretary of the Indian Natiorud Congress. March, 1939 
to February, 1940 (Allahabad), and Indian Natiowd Congress, Report 
of the General Secretaries, March, tp4o-October, 1946 (Allahabad). 
... Nehru’s autobiography sheds further light on the Gandhi-Conpess 

relationship. 
Cripps, Advocate Extraordinary, by Patricia Strauss (New Yodt: 

Duell, Sloan and Pearce, 1942), and Stafford Cripps, a Biography, hy 
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Eric Estorick (London: William Heinemann, Ltd., >949) contain ma¬ 

terial on the Cripps Mission to India in 1942.... Anot^ view of the 

Cripps Mission is given by Lord Pethick-Lawience in his third of 

Midiatma Gandhi, by H. S. L. Polak, H. N. Brailsford, and Lord 
Pethick-Lawrence. 

When I returned to New York after my stay in India in 1942, I 

presented my version of the Cripps Mission in two articles entitled 

‘Why Cripps Failed,” published in the New York Nation magazine of 

S^ember 19 and September 26,1942. There followed ‘‘A British Reply 

to Louis Fischer” in the Nation on November 14, 1942, by Graham 

Spry, an official associate of Cripps in India. For a while I was tempted 

to include in this chapter a detailed story of the Cripps mission as told 

by available British and Congress documents and explained to me by 

Nehru, Azad, Rajagopalachari, Patel, the Viceroy, Wavell, Louis John¬ 

son, and others. But I refrained. The only part that is germane here is 

Gandhi’s role. Nehru’s comments on it are quoted from The Discovery 
of India, by Jawaharlal Nehru (New York: The John Day Company, 

*946)» Blood and Tears, by J. M. Deb (Bombay:Hind Kitabs, 
1945). In a letter written to me from Delhi on August 20, 1948, in 

response to a question, Pyarelal Nayyar, Gandhi’s daily companion and 

close co-worker during the Cripps talks, states that the Mahatma at¬ 

tached litde importance to the Cripps Draft Declaration “and after¬ 
wards forgot all about it.” 

Ambassador Winant, a lovable man, a sincere friend of freedom, told 
me of his conversations with Churchill on India. 

'The correspondence between Roosevelt and Chiang Kai-shek on 
India is printed in The Great Challenge, by Louis Fischer. 

References to Harry Hopkins are from Roosevelt and Hopkins, an 
Intimate History, by Robert E. Sherwood (New York: Harper and 
Brothers, 1948). 

CHAPTER THIRTY-BIGHT 

The conversations recorded in this chapter were typed out almost im¬ 
mediately after they took place. 

’The statistical data are from the 1931 British census report on India, 



A Note to the Reader 539 

edited by J. H. Hutton, and from earlier and subsequent census reports. 

Gandhi's description of his argument with Nehru was given in a 

letter to the Viceroy dated August 14, 1942, and published in Gatidhiji’s 
Correspondence with the Government, 1942-44 (Ahmedabad: Nava* 

jivan Publishing House, 1945). 

The full text of Mahatma Gandhi’s letter to President Franklin D. 

Roc sevelt follows: 

Sevagram Via Wardha (India) 

July I, 1942 

Dear Friend, 

I twice missed coming to your great country. I have the privilege of 

having numerous friends there both known and unknown to me. Many 

of my countrymen have received and are still receiving higher educa¬ 

tion in America. I know too that several have taken shelter there. I 

have profited greatly by the writings of Thoreau and Emerson. I say 

this to tell you how much I am connected with your country. Of 

Great Britain I need say nothing beyond mentioning that in spite of 

my intense dislike of British rule, I have numerous friends in England 

whom I love as dearly as my own people. I had my legal education 

there. I have therefore nothing but good wishes for your country and 

Great Britain. You will therefore accept my word that my present 

proposal, that the British should unreservedly and without reference 

to the wishes of the people of India immediately withdraw their rule, 

is prompted by the friendliest intention. 1 would like to turn into good 

will the ill will which, whatever may be said to the contrary, exists in 

India towards Great Britain and thus enable the millions of India to 

play their part in the present war. 

My personal position is clear. 1 hate all war. If, therefore, I could 

persuade my countrymen, they would make a most effective and de¬ 

cisive contribution in favor of an honorable peace. But I know that all 

of us have not a living faith in non-violence. Under forei^ rule, how¬ 

ever, we can make no effective contribution of any kind in this war, 

except as helots. 
The policy of the Indian National Congress, largely guided by me, 

has been one of non-embarrassment to Britain, consistently with the 

honorable working of the Congress, admittedly the largest political or- 
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ganization of the longest standing in India. The British policy as ex¬ 

posed hy the Cripps mission and rejected by almost all parties has 

opened our ejres and has driven me to the jnoposal 1 have made. I hold 

that the full acceptance of my proposal and that only can put the Allied 

cause on an unassailable basis. I venture to think that the Allied dec¬ 

laration that the Allies are fighting to make the world safe for the 

fireedom of the individual and for democracy sounds hollow, so long 

as India and for that matter Africa are exploited by Great Britain, and 

America has the Negro problem in her own home. But in order to avoid 

all complications, in my proposal I have confined myself only to India. 

If India becomes free the test must follow, if it does not happen simul¬ 

taneously. 

In order to make my proposal fool-proof I have suggested that if the 

Allies think it necessary they may keep their troops, at their own ex¬ 

pense, in India, not for keeping internal order but for preventing 

Japanese aggression and defending China. So far as India is concerned, 

she must become free even as America and Great Britain are. The 

Allied troops will remain in India during the war under treaty with 

the free India govt, that may be formed by the people of India without 

any outside interfaence, direct or indirect. 

It is on behalf of this proposal that I write this to enlist your active 

sympathy. 

I hope that it would commend itself to you. 

Mr. Louis Fischer is carrying this letter to you. 

If there is any obscurity in my letter, you will have but to send me 

word and I shall try to clear it. 

I hope finally that you will not resent this letter as an intrusion but 

take it as an approach from a friend and well wisher of the Allies. 

I remain 

yours sincerely 

M. K. Gandhi 

The quotation at the end of the chapter is from an article by Rabin¬ 

dranath Tagore in the Calcutta daily The Statesman of February, 1938. 
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OHAPTBR THIRTT-NINB 

The Working Committee’s Resolution of July 14, 1942, the A.I.C.C. 

resolution of August 8,1942, the Gandhi-LinliAgow letters, the Gandhi- 

Wavell letters, and all other communications between Gandhi and the 

government during this period are conveniently collected in Gandhiji's 
Correspondence mth the Government, 1942-44. The same book con¬ 

tains excerpts from Gandhi’s interviews with A. T. Steele and other 

foreign writers as well as quotations from his articles in Harijan on the 

subject of the war and the civil disobedience movement. The same 

material was printed by the British in Correspondence with Mr. Gandhi, 
August, ig^z-April, 1^44 (Published with Authority), Published by 

the Manager (New Delhi: Government of India Press, 1944). A selec¬ 

tion of Gandhi declarations is also found in What Does Gandhi Want} 
by T. A. Raman (New York: Oxford University Press, 1942). 

The Viceroy’s statement to me about the Gandhi interview was noted 

at the time in my diary. 

Dr. B. C. Roy and Dr. Sushila Nayyar have told me about Gandhi’s 

fast. Additional facts about the fast and about Kasturbai’s illness and 

death and Gandhi’s reaction to it are contained in Kasturba, Wife of 
Gandhi, by Sushila Nayyar. Dr. Nayyar has also given me further 

details by letter. 

Lord Pethick-Lawrence’s third of Mahatnut Gandhi, by H. S. L. 

Polak, H. N. Brailsford, and Lord Pethick-Lawrence, reports the 

Famine Enquiry Commission’s finding that "no less than r,5oo,ooo 

people lost their lives either direcdy from starvation or from crmsequent 

disease’’ in the 1943 Bengal famine. 

CHAPTER FORTY 

I am indebted to Major C. B. Ormerod, chief of the British Information 

Services of New York, for facilitating my access to the files and book¬ 

shelves of the British Information Services Library in Rockefeller Cen¬ 

ter in New York where, with the gracious and efficient aid of Miss 

M. Eleanor Henington, the Librarian, and her assistants, I obtained 
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most the material used in this chapter. The Gandhi-Jinnah corre¬ 

spondence was in the form of bulletins issued at the time by the 

Government of India Information Services, Washington, D. C. There 

was also a "Note on the Gandhi-Jinnah Conversations,” drafted by the 

British Embassy in Washington on October 20, 1944, “For the Infor¬ 

mation of British Officials,” as well as the texts of Gandhi and Jinnah 

press interviews and clippings from Indian, British, and American news¬ 

papers, and an article by Sir Frederick Puckle, entitled "The Gandhi- 

Jinnah Conversations,” in Foreign Affairs quarterly (January, 1945). 

Biographical data on Jinnah and comments on his personality were 

found in a number of magazine and newspaper articles and in Tumult 
in Asia, by George E. Jones (New York: EXidd, Mead and Co., 1948). 

The quotation from Herbert L. Matthews appears in The Education 
of a Correspondent, by Herbert L. Matthews (New Ywk: Harcourt, 

Brace and Co., 1946). 

The first forty-one chapters of this book were read critically in manu¬ 

script by Muriel Lester, Gandhi’s hostess in London in 1931. 

CHAPTER FORTY-ONE 

My interview with Willkie was published in Common Sense (Decem¬ 

ber, 1944). 

The contents of this chapter are based, in the main, on the texts of 

official announcements and on newspaper clippings made available to 

me by the British Information Services Library in New York. 

The Congress view is given in Indian Nation Confess, Report of the 
Genertd Secretaries. March, 1940-Octoher, 1^46 (Allahabad). 

CHAPTER FORTY-TWO 

Hanjan, the invaluable files of the British Information Services Library 

in New York, and Pethick-Lawrence’s chapters in Mahatma Gandhi, 
I7 H. S. L. Polak, H. N. Brailsford, and Lmd Pethick-Lawrence, were 

indispensable to the preparation of this chapter. So was The British 
Qdnnet Mission in India, a Documentary Record QAarch-fune, 1946") 
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(Delhi: Rajkamal Publications, 1946), which contains all the British, 
G>ngress, and Moslem League statements of this crucial period. The 
full text of the Cabinet Mission’s proposal of May 16,1946, is published 
in an appendix of Robert Aura Smith’s interesting book, Divided India, 
Whittlesey House, McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc. (New York, 

*947)- 

CHAPTER FORTY-THREE 

This chapter is based on copious notes made after each interview. In 

Panchgani, however, my diary entries were inadequate and I therefore 

availed myself of the notes made by Pyarelal and Sushila Nayyar during 

the talks. I also availed myself of letters I had written from India to 

my wife and two sons and to friends. I reread Nehru on Gandhi, a Selec¬ 
tion, Arranged in the Order of Events, from the Writings and Speeches 
of Jawahard Nehru (New York: The John Day Co., 1948). I had 

lengthy talks about the Mahatma with Rajkumari Amrit Kaur, Prab- 

havati Narayan, and other female, and male, disciples. 

Mr. Jinnah died in September, 1948. 

CHAPTER FORTY-FOUR 

The chief source of information on Gandhi’s walking tour through 

Noakhali is Harijan, which printed his own daily reports with maps. 

Supplementary published material is found in The Pilgrim of Noakhali, 
a Souvenir Album of Gandhiji’s Peace Mission to Noakhali, published 

by Photographer, Braja Kishore Sinha, with his own text (Calcutta, 

1948). I also had long talks about the pilgrimage vrith two of its par¬ 

ticipants, Mrs. Sucheta Kripalani and Dr. Sushila Nayyar. Phillips 

Talbot’s confidential report, mailed to the Institute of Current Affairs 

in New York from New Delhi on February 16, 1947, was invaluable 

for the sober appraisal of an outsider with a judicious mind. 
The Pethick-Lawrence quote is firom Mahatma Gandhi, by Polak, 

Brailsford, and Pethick-Lawrence. 
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CHAPTER FORTY-FIVE 

Gandlii’s travels in Bihar and his activities in New Delhi (including 

the text his statements to the Asian Relations Conference) are cov¬ 

ered in detail in the pages of Harijan. OfiBcial announcements and 

political news were found in the hies of the British Information Services 

Library in New York. Lord Pethick-Lawrence’s chapters in Mahatma 
Gandhi served as a general guide. Lord Mountbatten’s speech is quoted 

fr(»n United Empire, Journal of the Royal Empire Society (London, 

November-December, 1948). I also made good use of the January 1, 

1947, February 8, 1947, and March 26, 1947, issues of Congress Bidle- 
dn, issued by the Office of the All-India Congress Committee (Alla¬ 

habad). 

CHAPTER FORTY-SIX 

Most of this chapter is based on Harijan and on extracts from Indian 

and foreign newspapers of the period as well as official announcements 

by the British and Indian government. . . . Kurshed Naoroji and Raj- 

kumari Amrit Kaur were good enough to give me the Gandhi letters 

from which I have quoted. Kurshed gave me the originals. . . . The 

story of St. Francis is in the words of Dorothy Van Doren in the New 
York Herald Tribune of December 12, 1948. . . . Professor Kripalani’s 

speech and the facts about the Congress session at which he spoke are 

taken from Congress BuUeHn, July 10, 1947. . .. The first 46 chapters 

were carefully read in manuscript by Harry Sigmond, my brother-in- 

law, at whose house in Philadel{dua I wrote part of this book. 

CHAPTER FORTY-SEVEN 

The story of the Bombay riot is from The Bombay Government and Its 
IVorlc Officud Report (Congress in Office) (Bombay, 1938). 

The account of Gandhi’s activities in Calcutta and New Delhi follows 

newspaper reports and Harijan. His speeches are recorded in Harijan. 
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I also used a book called Delhi Diary (.Prayer Speeches from September 

lo, 1947, to January 30, 1948), by M. K. Gandhi CAhmedabad: Nava- 
jivan Publishing House, 1948). 

Dr. Zakir Hussain and others told me about the events in and atmmtl 
the Okla school. 

The facts about Gandhi’s health were pven me by Dr. Sushila 
Nayyar. 

rhere are many descriptions of the Great Migration. But better 

any of these are the excellent photographs in Hdfway to Freedom, a 
Report on the New India in the Words and Photographs by Margaret 

Bourke-White (New York: Simon and Schuster, 1949). 

CHAPTER FORTY-BIGHT 

Professor Kripalani told me the reasons for his resignation when I 

visited him in his New Delhi home in August, 1948. His speech of 

resignation is printed in Congress Bulletin, D^mba 31, 1947. 

Dr. Rajendra Prasad gave me the details of his nomination and elec¬ 

tion, and the exact words he and Gandhi used, in an interview in his 

house in New Delhi on September 4, 1948. His faithful description of 

the episode was confirmed from several other reliable sources. 

The account of the Constructive Workers' Conference is based on an 

eleven-page memorandum furnished me by Pyarelal, Gandhi’s secretary, 

who was present and took copious notes. 

CHAPTER FORTY-NINE 

Richard Symonds and Horace Alexander are authority fw the experi¬ 

ences of the former with Gandhi. Mr. Alexander told me of his talks 

^ith Gandhi on Kashmir. 

Gandhi’s speeches are recorded in Harijan and Delhi Diary. The fost 

tvas reported in Indian and foreign newspapers. 
In addition to commenting in Harijan on Dr. Holmes’s letter to him, 

Gandhi replied to Dr. Holmes in a personal letter dated January 3,1948. 

Dr. Sushila Nayyar gave me a day-by-day account of Gandhi’s hc^th 
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during the fast. Several persons who saw Gandhi during the fast told 

me how he looked and fdt. 

Arthur Moore’s statement is quoted from an Indian magazine called 

Thought in which he recounts his discussions with the Mahatma. 

Nehru told me of his sympathy fast and of Gandhi’s note. 

CHAPTER FIFTY 

Gandhi is quoted from Harijan magazine and Delhi Diary. 
The New York Times of January 21, 1948, published an account of 

Madan Lai’s attempt to kill GandU. The same newspaper of Novem¬ 

ber 8, 1948, quotes Godse’s statement at his trial. 

The trial of Nathuram Godse for the murder of Gandhi, Narain 

Apte for abetment of murder, and of seven others for participation in 

the conspiracy to murder, began on May 26, 1948, when the indictment 

was given to the accused. Public hearings commenced on June 22, 1948; 

the public examination of witnesses took 84 days to complete. The trial 

was omcluded on November 30th, and sentence delivered on February 

10, 1949. Godse and Apte were condemned to death; notwithstanding 

the protests of many Gandhians in India and abroad who felt that 

Gandhi would have shown mercy to those who killed him, they were 

hung. Five other defendants, including Madan Lai, were sentenced to 

life imprisonment; V. D. Savarkar, the ideological leader of the Hindu 

Mahasabha, was acquitted; the ninth defendant, who turned state’s 

witness, was discharged. 'The trial received full and objective coverage 

in the Indian press. 

'The facts about Gandhi’s letter to Nehru were given to me by two 

persons who saw it. 

The entire manuscript of this book was read by Minoo Masani, Indian 

author, diplomat, and parliamentarian. 'The first fifteen chapters were 

read and criticized by Peggy Korn. 
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